
02/20/2018 - Education (11:00 AM - 1:00 PM) 2018 Regular Session 

Committee Packet 02/21/2018 3:21 PM 

Agenda Order  

 

Page 1 of 1 

Tab 1 CS/HB 7055 by APC, EDC, Bileca, Diaz, M.; (Compare to CS/S 00354) Education 

826696  D       S     RE          ED, Hukill               Delete everything after  02/21 02:38 PM   
832342  AA      S     WD          ED, Mayfield             Before L.5:              02/21 02:38 PM   
647426  AA      S     WD          ED, Thurston             Delete L.1091 - 1093:    02/21 02:38 PM   
877956  AA      S     WD          ED, Thurston             Delete L.1139:           02/21 02:38 PM   
682492  AA      S     RE          ED, Stewart              btw L.1796 - 1797:       02/21 02:38 PM   
232740  AA      S     RE          ED, Mayfield             btw L.1972 - 1973:       02/21 02:38 PM   
291336  AA      S     RE          ED, Thurston             btw L.2029 - 2030:       02/21 02:38 PM   
206492  AA      S     WD          ED, Stewart              btw L.2208 - 2209:       02/21 02:38 PM   
675602  AA      S     WD          ED, Lee                  Delete L.2527 - 2529:    02/21 02:38 PM   
913420  AA      S     RE          ED, Thurston             Delete L.2615 - 2645.    02/21 02:38 PM   
775230  AA      S     WD          ED, Mayfield             btw L.2776 - 2777:       02/21 02:38 PM   
114228  AA      S     RE          ED, Mayfield             btw L.2776 - 2777:       02/21 02:38 PM   
467400  SD      S     WD          ED, Thurston             Delete everything after  02/21 02:38 PM   
848558  SD      S     UNFAV       ED, Farmer               Delete everything after  02/21 02:38 PM   
903516  D       S     FAV         ED, Hukill               Delete everything after  02/21 02:38 PM   

 

Tab 2 SB 1804 by Stargel; (Similar to CS/CS/CS/1ST ENG/H 01279) School District Accountability 

419978  D       S     FAV         ED, Stargel              Delete everything after  02/20 03:50 PM   

 

Tab 13 SB 968 by Brandes; (Similar to CS/H 01035) Mastery-based Education 

326084  A       S                 ED, Brandes              Delete L.95:             02/19 11:13 AM   



 

 

 S-036 (10/2008) 
02202018.1401 Page 1 of 3 

2018 Regular Session     The Florida Senate  

 COMMITTEE MEETING EXPANDED AGENDA 

   

    EDUCATION 

 Senator Hukill, Chair 

 Senator Mayfield, Vice Chair 

 
MEETING DATE: Tuesday, February 20, 2018 

TIME: 11:00 a.m.—1:00 p.m. 
PLACE: Pat Thomas Committee Room, 412 Knott Building 

MEMBERS: Senator Hukill, Chair; Senator Mayfield, Vice Chair; Senators Book, Farmer, Galvano, Lee, Perry, 
Simmons, Simpson, Stewart, and Thurston 

 

TAB BILL NO. and INTRODUCER 
BILL DESCRIPTION and 

SENATE COMMITTEE ACTIONS COMMITTEE ACTION 

 
1 
 

 
CS/HB 7055 

Appropriations Committee / 
Education Committee / Bileca / 
Diaz, M. 
(Compare CS/CS/H 1, CS/H 11, 
CS/H 29, H 699, H 777, CS/CS/H 
827, H 845, H 949, CS/H 1035, H 
1191, CS/CS/CS/H 1279, H 1431, 
H 5001, H 5101, H 6051, H 7003, 
CS/S 354, S 436, S 1064, CS/S 
1090, S 1152, CS/S 1172, S 1198, 
S 1534, CS/S 1548, S 1566, S 
1616, S 1618, S 1746, S 1804, S 
1820, S 1848, S 1884, S 2500) 
 

 
Education; Revises provisions relating to 
Commissioner of Education, DOE, school districts, 
school district superintendents, statewide, 
standardized assessments, charter schools, 
educational scholarship programs, principal autonomy 
pilot program initiative, dual enrollment, FLVS, & 
private schools. 
 
ED 02/20/2018 Fav/1 Amendment 
AP   
 

 
Fav/1 Amendment ( 
        Yeas 9 Nays 0 
 

 
2 
 

 
SB 1804 

Stargel 
(Similar CS/CS/CS/H 1279, 
Compare CS/H 11, H 7003, CS/H 
7055, CS/S 354, S 1534) 
 

 
School District Accountability; Prohibiting former 
appointed district school superintendents from 
conducting certain lobbying activities; requiring the 
governing body of a district school board to take 
specified actions under such circumstances; requiring 
the Office of Inspector General to investigate certain 
allegations and reports made by specified individuals; 
requiring a district school board to limit certain 
expenditures by a specified amount if certain financial 
conditions exist for a specified period of time, etc. 
 
ED 02/20/2018 Fav/CS 
AP   
RC   
 

 
Fav/CS 
        Yeas 9 Nays 0 
 

TAB OFFICE and APPOINTMENT (HOME CITY) FOR TERM ENDING COMMITTEE ACTION 

 
 
 

 
Senate Confirmation Hearing: A public hearing will be held for consideration of the below-

named executive appointment to the office indicated.  
 
 

 
 
 

 State Board of Education   

3  Johnson, Marva Brown (Winter Garden) 12/31/2021 Recommend Confirm 
        Yeas 9 Nays 0 

 

  Olenick, Michael H. (Palm City) 12/31/2020 Recommend Confirm 
        Yeas 9 Nays 0 

 

  Tuck, Andy (Sebring) 12/31/2021 Recommend Confirm 
        Yeas 9 Nays 0 

 



COMMITTEE MEETING EXPANDED AGENDA 

Education 
Tuesday, February 20, 2018, 11:00 a.m.—1:00 p.m.            
 

 

 S-036 (10/2008) 
02202018.1401 Page 2 of 3 

TAB OFFICE and APPOINTMENT (HOME CITY) FOR TERM ENDING COMMITTEE ACTION 

  York, Joseph S. (Ponte Vedra Beach) 12/31/2021 Recommend Confirm 
        Yeas 9 Nays 0 

 

 Board of Governors of the State University System   

4  Cerio, Timothy M. (Tallahassee) 01/06/2024 Recommend Confirm 
        Yeas 9 Nays 0 

 

  Frost, Patricia (Miami Beach) 01/06/2024 Recommend Confirm 
        Yeas 9 Nays 0 

 

  Lautenbach, Ned C. (Naples) 01/06/2020 Recommend Confirm 
        Yeas 9 Nays 0 

 

  Patel, Jayprakash S. (Pensacola) 01/06/2019 Recommend Confirm 
        Yeas 9 Nays 0 

 

  Zachariah, Zachariah P., M.D. (Sea Ranch Lakes) 01/06/2019 Recommend Confirm 
        Yeas 9 Nays 0 

 

 Board of Trustees, Florida Atlantic University   

5  Levine, Bradley M. (Boca Raton) 01/06/2023 Recommend Confirm 
        Yeas 9 Nays 0 

 

  McDonald, Mary Beth (Vero Beach) 01/06/2021 Recommend Confirm 
        Yeas 9 Nays 0 

 

 Board of Trustees, University of Central Florida   

6  Gaekwad, Digvijay "Danny" (Ocala) 01/06/2023 Recommend Confirm 
        Yeas 9 Nays 0 

 

 Board of Trustees, Florida State University   

7  Ballard, Kathryn S. (Tallahassee) 01/06/2023 Recommend Confirm 
        Yeas 9 Nays 0 

 

  Gonzalez, Jorge (Miramar Beach) 01/06/2021 Recommend Confirm 
        Yeas 9 Nays 0 

 

 Board of Trustees, Florida Gulf Coast University   

8  Smith, Stephen Moore (Naples) 01/06/2021 Recommend Confirm 
        Yeas 9 Nays 0 

 

 Board of Trustees, Florida Polytechnic University   

9  Wendt, Gary C. (Ft. Lauderdale) 06/30/2022 Recommend Confirm 
        Yeas 9 Nays 0 

 

 Board of Trustees, University of Florida   

10  Kuntz, Thomas G. (Winter Park) 01/06/2023 Recommend Confirm 
        Yeas 9 Nays 0 

 

 Board of Trustees, University of North Florida   

11  Bryan, Thomas A. (Jacksonville) 01/06/2023 Recommend Confirm 
        Yeas 9 Nays 0 

 

 Board of Trustees, University of South Florida   

12  Horton, Oscar J. (Lithia) 01/06/2023 Recommend Confirm 
        Yeas 9 Nays 0 

 



COMMITTEE MEETING EXPANDED AGENDA 

Education 
Tuesday, February 20, 2018, 11:00 a.m.—1:00 p.m.            
 

 

 S-036 (10/2008) 
02202018.1401 Page 3 of 3 

TAB OFFICE and APPOINTMENT (HOME CITY) FOR TERM ENDING COMMITTEE ACTION 

  Muma, Leslie M. (Belleair) 01/06/2023 Recommend Confirm 
        Yeas 9 Nays 0 

 

  Tokarz, Charles (Sarasota) 01/06/2021 Recommend Confirm 
        Yeas 9 Nays 0 

 

TAB BILL NO. and INTRODUCER 
BILL DESCRIPTION and 

SENATE COMMITTEE ACTIONS COMMITTEE ACTION 

 
13 
 

 
SB 968 

Brandes 
(Similar CS/H 1035) 
 

 
Mastery-based Education; Authorizing a district 
school board participating in the Mastery-Based 
Education Pilot Program to award credit based on 
student mastery of certain content and skills; 
renaming the Competency-Based Education Pilot 
Program as the Mastery-Based Education Pilot 
Program; requiring the statewide articulation 
agreement to ensure fair and equitable access for 
students with mastery-based, nontraditional diplomas 
and transcripts, etc. 
 
ED 02/20/2018 Not Considered 
AED   
AP   
 

 
Not Considered 
 

 
 
 

 
Other Related Meeting Documents 
 
 

 
 
 

 



The Florida Senate 

BILL ANALYSIS AND FISCAL IMPACT STATEMENT 
(This document is based on the provisions contained in the legislation as of the latest date listed below.) 

Prepared By: The Professional Staff of the Committee on Education  

 

BILL:  CS/HB 7055 

INTRODUCER:  Appropriations Committee; Education Committee; and Representatives Bileca and Diaz 

SUBJECT:  Education 

DATE:  February 19, 2018 

 

 ANALYST  STAFF DIRECTOR  REFERENCE  ACTION 

1. Androff, Bouck, 

Olenick 

 
Graf 

 
ED 

 
Fav /1 Amendment 

2.     AP   

 

Please see Section IX. for Additional Information: 

AMENDMENTS - Significant amendments were recommended 

 

I. Summary: 

CS/HB 7055 creates education scholarship programs and streamlines state school choice 

scholarship program accountability provisions; specifies district school board oversight 

responsibilities, and promotes education, certification, and licensure opportunities for members 

of the U.S. military. Specifically, the bill: 

 Establishes the Hope Scholarship Program for students subjected to bullying and other 

specified incidents in public schools. 

 Streamlines and strengthens the oversight provisions for private schools participating in state 

school choice scholarship programs. 

 Establishes Reading Scholarship Accounts for struggling readers in grades 3-5. 

 Modifies the charter school application process, charter contract term and consolidation, and 

due process; and revises eligibility requirements for high-performing charter schools and 

allows replication of up to two such schools per year. 

 Provides for district-independent autonomous schools under independent governing boards; 

and specifies flexibilities for such boards. 

 Specifies district school board oversight and fiscal transparency responsibilities; and 

enumerates related duties for the district school superintendents, Auditor General, and 

Department of Education (DOE). 

 Requires employee organizations for instructional personnel to include specified information 

in the application for renewal of registration and specifies recertification requirements for 

employee organizations. 

REVISED:  02/21/18       



BILL: CS/HB 7055   Page 2 

 

 Designates March 25 as “Medal of Honor Day;” specifies related required instruction for 

students in public schools; and creates mechanisms for members of the U.S. military to fulfill 

certain certification and licensure requirements for specified purposes. 

 Requires professional development resources disseminated by the DOE through the web-

based statewide performance-support system to include sample course-at-a-glance and unit 

overview templates that school districts may use when developing curriculum. 

 Requires paper-based administration of statewide, standardized English Language Arts and 

mathematics assessments for grades 7-8 by the 2019-2020 school year. 

 Authorizes the Commissioner of Education to coordinate with specified education entities in 

the event of an emergency situation to assess the need for resources and assistance. 

 Requires each school district to conduct a security risk assessment at each public school and 

conduct a self-assessment of the school districts’ current safety and security practices using a 

format developed by the DOE, and deletes an outdated reference in current law to the Safety 

and Security Best Practices developed by the Office of Program Policy Analysis and 

Government Accountability. 

 Modifies dual enrollment provisions relating to instructional materials for home education 

program students, and compensation by private schools for dual enrollment instruction 

provided by postsecondary education institutions. 

 Deletes the obsolete July 1, 2007, deadline for the DOE to develop and operate an electronic 

individual education plan system for statewide use. 

 

Additionally, the bill modifies funding provisions related to the Schools of Hope Program, 

supplemental academic instruction allocation, research-based reading instruction allocation, and 

teacher bonus for CAPE industry certifications attained by students. 

 

The bill appropriates for the 2018-2019 fiscal year the sum of $19,350,000 in recurring funds 

from the General Revenue Fund and the sum of $850,000 in nonrecurring funds from the 

General Revenue Fund to implement the provisions of this act. 

 

The bill takes effect on July 1, 2018. 

II. Present Situation: 

The present situation for the relevant portions of the bill is discussed in the Effect of Proposed 

Changes section of this bill analysis. 

III. Effect of Proposed Changes: 

School Choice Scholarship - Hope Scholarship 

Present situation 

Florida law has established various scholarship programs to promote school choice and assist 

parents in the placement of their children in diverse educational settings including private 

schools.1 

                                                 
1 Sections 1002.385, 1002.39, and 1002.395, F.S. 



BILL: CS/HB 7055   Page 3 

 

Bullying and Harassment 

Florida law prohibits bullying or harassment of any student or employee of a public K-12 

educational institution, 2 and requires each school district to adopt and review, at least every 

3 years, a policy prohibiting bullying and harassment of a student or employee of a public K-12 

educational institution.3 

 

Currently, the School Environmental Safety Incident Reporting (SESIR) System requires all 

public school districts, including charter schools and traditional public schools, to report 26 types 

of serious safety incidents. SESIR provides data on incidents that occur, statewide and by school 

district, on school grounds, on school transportation, and at off-campus, school-sponsored 

events.4 

 

Motor Vehicle Taxes 

Florida sales and use tax, plus any applicable discretionary sales surtax, is due at the rate of six 

percent on all new or used motor vehicles sold, leased, delivered into, imported into, or used in 

Florida, unless a specific exemption applies.5 

 

Effect of Proposed Changes 

Purpose and Student Eligibility 

The bill creates the Hope Scholarship Program (HSP) to provide the parent of a public school 

student who was subjected to battery; harassment; hazing; bullying; kidnapping; physical attack; 

robbery; sexual offenses, harassment, assault or battery; threat or intimidation; or fighting, an 

opportunity to transfer the student to another public school or to request and receive from the 

state a scholarship for the student to attend an eligible private school. The bill also specifics that 

a hope scholarship must remain in force until the student returns to public school or graduates 

from high school, whichever occurs first. 

 

School District Obligations 

The bill provides that upon receipt of a report of a specified incident, the school principal must 

provide a copy of the report to the parent and investigate the incident to determine if the incident 

must be reported as required by law.6 Upon conclusion of the investigation or within 15 days 

after the incident was reported, whichever occurs first, the school district must notify the parent 

of the HSP and offer that parent an opportunity to enroll his or her student in another public 

school or to request and receive a scholarship to attend an eligible private school, subject to 

available funding. 

 

                                                 
2 Section 1006.147(2), F.S. 
3 Section 1006.147(4), F.S. 
4 Id. 
5 Sections 212.02, 212.05, 212.07, 212.08, F.S.; Rule 12A-1.007, F.A.C.; see Florida Department of Revenue, Sales and Use 

Tax on Motor Vehicles, available at http://floridarevenue.com/Forms_library/current/gt800030.pdf.  
6 Section 1006.09 provides the duties of a school principal relating to student discipline and school safety. 



BILL: CS/HB 7055   Page 4 

 

Parent and Student Responsibilities 

The bill requires a parent to apply for the admission of his or her student to an eligible private 

school, inform the student’s school district when the parent withdraws his or her student to attend 

an eligible private school, and ensure that the student takes norm-referenced assessments offered 

by the private school or the standard statewide assessments. The bill specifies that a parent who 

fails to comply with the responsibilities established in the bill forfeits the scholarship and that 

each parent and student has an obligation to comply with the private school’s published policies, 

including attendance. 

 

Private School Eligibility 

The bill specifies that an eligible private school may be sectarian or nonsectarian and must 

comply with all requirements for private schools to participate in state school choice scholarship 

programs. 

 

Department of Education Obligations 

The bill requires the Department of Education (DOE) to follow all requirements in law with 

respect to state school choice scholarship programs.7 Additionally, the bill requires the DOE to 

contract with an independent entity to provide an annual evaluation of the HSP, which includes a 

review of the school climate and code of student conduct at specified public schools to determine 

best practices and areas for improvement involving reporting, investigating, and communicating 

a parent’s and student’s rights. The bill directs the annual evaluation to survey participating 

parents and students and review student participation. 

 

Scholarship Funding Organization Responsibilities 

The bill requires scholarship funding organizations (SFOs) to establish and distribute HSP 

scholarships for eligible students, notify parents and students regarding the HSP, and submit 

quarterly and annual reports to the DOE. Additionally, the bill requires the auditor general to 

conduct an annual operational audit of each SFO that participates in the program. 

 

Funding 

The bill provides that the maximum amount awarded to a student enrolled in an eligible private 

school must be determined as a percentage of the unweighted full-time equivalent funding 

amount for that state fiscal year and thereafter as follows: 

 88 percent for a student enrolled in kindergarten through grade 5. 

 92 percent for a student enrolled in grade 6 through grade 8. 

 96 percent for a student enrolled in grade 9 through grade 12. 

 

The bill limits the maximum amount awarded to a student enrolled in a Florida public school 

located outside of the district to $750. 

 

                                                 
7 The bill references section 1002.421, F.S. This statute is also revised in CS/HB 7055, sections 20-22, 25. 



BILL: CS/HB 7055   Page 5 

 

Hope Scholarship Program Tax Credit 

The bill specifies that the HSP is funded by taxpayers who make an eligible contribution, limited 

to a single $105 payment, at the time of a vehicle purchase or registration in Florida and 

authorizes a credit of 100 percent of the amount of such eligible contribution by the taxpayer 

against the sales and use tax on the vehicle purchase or registration. Additionally, the bill 

includes accountability provisions to specify that a person who, with intent to unlawfully deprive 

or defraud the program of its moneys or the use or benefit thereof, fails to remit a contribution 

collected under the HSP is guilty of the theft of charitable funds and punishable as specified in 

law. 

 

Rulemaking 

The bill authorizes the State Board of Education and the Department of Revenue to adopt rules to 

administer the bill. 

 

State School Choice Scholarship Program Accountability 

Present Situation 

Florida law has established various scholarship programs to promote school choice and assist 

parents in the placement of their children in diverse educational settings, including private 

schools.8 Currently, the three state school choice scholarship programs available to students to 

attend private schools in the state include the Florida Tax Credit (FTC) Scholarship Program, the 

John M. McKay (McKay) Scholarship for Students with Disabilities Program, and the Gardiner 

Scholarship Program.9 

 

A private school that chooses to participate in a state scholarship program must comply with 

certain statutory requirements, such as meeting the applicable state and local health, safety, and 

welfare laws, code, and rules; employing teachers who meet specified requirements; and 

demonstrating fiscal soundness and accountability.10 

 

Accordingly, a private school that chooses to participate in a state scholarship program must 

submit to the Department of Education (DOE) a Scholarship Compliance Form,11 and has 60 

days to resolve any outstanding compliance issues, if applicable.12 To renew the school’s 

eligibility for participation in a state scholarship program, the participating private school must 

                                                 
8 Sections 1002.385, 1002.39, and 1002.395, F.S. 
9 Id. 
10 Section 1002.421, F.S.; see also ss. 1002.385, 1002.39, and 1002.395, F.S. 
11 The Scholarship Compliance Form delineates private school reporting requirements specified pursuant to Section 1002.42, 

F.S., and statutory and regulatory requirements related to the areas of school location and contact information; school 

ownership; affiliation; financial solvency; school administration; school staffing; school program; student health, safety, and 

welfare; student records; school facility; and submission of the scholarship compliance form. Rule 6A-6.03315(4), F.A.C. 
12 Rule 6A-6.03315(3), F.A.C. 



BILL: CS/HB 7055   Page 6 

 

submit the Scholarship Compliance Form, Private School Annual Survey,13 and fiscal soundness 

documentation.14 

 

Site Visits 

Currently, the DOE: 

 May not make more than 7 site visits each year to private schools that participate in the FTC 

scholarship program.15 However, the department may make additional site visits at any time 

to a school that has received a notice of noncompliance or a notice of proposed action within 

the previous two years.16 

 May not make more than 3 random visits each year and may not make more than 1 random 

visit each year to the same private school that participates in the McKay Scholarship 

Program.17 

 

The Gardiner Scholarship Program requirements do not address site visits. 

 

Teacher Qualifications 

A private school that participates in a state scholarship program must employ or contract with 

teachers who:18 

 Hold baccalaureate or higher degrees; 

 Have at least 3 years of experience in public or private schools; or 

 Have special skills, knowledge, or expertise that qualifies them to provide instruction in 

subjects taught. 

 

Safety Inspection Reporting Requirements 

Florida law specifies the requirements for private schools to participate in state school choice 

scholarship programs.19 The requirements include, but are not limited to, fire safety and building 

safety.20 

 

Currently, fire safety inspections of the private schools that participate in state scholarship 

programs are conducted by local fire departments.21 The fire safety inspection reports are 

submitted by the private schools to the DOE.22 

 

                                                 
13 The Department of Education must organize, maintain, and annually update a database of educational institutions within 

the state coming within the provisions of this section. There must be included in the database of each institution the name, 

address, and telephone number of the institution; the type of institution; the names of administrative officers; the enrollment 

by grade or special group (e.g., career education and exceptional child education); the number of graduates; the number of 

instructional and administrative personnel. Section 1002.42(2)(a), F.S. 
14 Fiscal soundness is demonstrated by filing with the Department of Education a surety bond or letter of credit for the 

amount equal to the scholarship funds for any quarter. Section 1002.421(f)(1), F.S. 
15 Section 1002.395(9)(n)1., F.S. 
16 Section 1002.395(9)(n)1., F.S. 
17 Section 1002.385(6)(f)1., F.S. 
18 Section 1002.421(2)(h), F.S. 
19 Section 1002.421, F.S. 
20 Id. at (2)(g), F.S. 
21 Email, Florida Department of Education (Jan. 11, 2018); see also Rule 6A-6.03315(4), F.A.C. 
22 Id. 



BILL: CS/HB 7055   Page 7 

 

Financial Reporting Requirements 

Florida law specifies financial reporting requirements for private schools and scholarship 

funding organizations (SFOs). 

 

A private school that participates in the FTC scholarship program must provide a report from an 

independent certified public accountant, who performs the agreed-upon procedures developed 

pursuant to the law if the private school receives more than $250,000 in funds in a state fiscal 

year from that scholarship program.23 Florida law specifies a similar provision for the Gardiner 

Scholarship Program.24 

 

SFOs administer both the FTC scholarship program and the Gardiner Scholarship Program.25 

Currently, under the FTC scholarship program, an SFO must participate in the joint development 

of agreed-upon procedures to be performed by an independent certified accountant if the SFO 

provided more than $250,000 in scholarship funds to an eligible private school under the FTC 

scholarship program during the 2009-2010 state fiscal year.26 

 

Effect of Proposed Changes 

The bill clarifies and strengthens the accountability provisions for private schools that participate 

in state school choice scholarship programs; and consolidates common provisions regarding 

private school participation requirements, the DOE’s obligations, and commissioner’s authority 

under s. 1002.421, F.S. 

 

Site Visits 

The bill: 

 Requires the DOE to conduct site visits to private schools entering a scholarship program for 

the first time and specifies that beginning with the 2019-2020 school year, a private school is 

not eligible to receive scholarship payments until a satisfactory site visit has been conducted 

and the private school is in compliance with the specified requirements in law. 

 Authorizes the DOE to conduct site visits to any school participating in a scholarship 

program that has received a complaint about a violation of state law or State Board of 

Education rule or has received a notice of noncompliance or a notice of proposed action 

within the previous 2 years. 

 

Teacher Qualifications 

The bill modifies the private school eligibility requirements for participation in state scholarship 

programs to require such schools to publish on the schools’ websites, or in a written format, 

information for parents regarding the school including, but not limited to, programs, services, 

and the qualifications of classroom teachers. 

 

                                                 
23 Section 1002.395(8)(e), F.S. 
24 Section 1002.385(8)(e), F.S. 
25 Sections 1002.385 and 1002.395, F.S. 
26 Section 1002.395(6)(o)1.a., F.S. 



BILL: CS/HB 7055   Page 8 

 

Safety Inspection Reporting Requirements 

The bill requires the DOE to coordinate with the State Fire Marshal to obtain access to fire 

inspection reports for private schools. The bill specifies that the authority conducting the fire 

safety inspection must certify to the State Fire Marshal, electronically or by means directed by 

the State Fire Marshal, that the annual inspection has been completed and that the private school 

is in full compliance. 

 

Financial Reporting Requirements 

The bill requires a private school that receives more than $250,000 in a state fiscal year from any 

state scholarship program to submit an annual financial report from an independent certified 

public accountant to the SFO or the DOE, as applicable. 

 

The bill also clarifies the conditions for ineligibility for private schools to participate in state 

scholarship programs and requires the owner or operator of a private school to meet the same 

background screening requirements as owners of SFOs, and report results to the DOE. 

 

Reading Instruction and Scholarship 

Present Situation 

Any student in kindergarten through grade 3 who exhibits a substantial deficiency in reading 

based upon screening, diagnostic, progress monitoring, or assessment data; statewide 

assessments; or teacher observations must be provided intensive, explicit, systematic, and 

multisensory reading interventions immediately following the identification of the reading 

deficiency.27 A school may not wait for a student to receive a failing grade at the end of a 

grading period to identify the student as having a substantial reading deficiency and initiate 

intensive reading interventions.28 The student’s reading proficiency must be monitored and the 

intensive interventions must continue until the student demonstrates grade level proficiency in a 

manner determined by the district, which may include achieving a Level 3 on the statewide, 

standardized English Language Arts (ELA) assessment.29 

 

To be promoted to grade 4, a student must score a Level 2 or higher on the statewide, 

standardized ELA assessment required for grade 3.30 The parent of any student who exhibits a 

substantial deficiency in reading, must be notified in writing of information specified in law such 

as a description of current services that are provided to the child and a description of the 

proposed intensive interventions and supports that will be provided to the child that are designed 

to remediate the identified area of reading deficiency.31 

 

                                                 
27 Section 1008.25(5)(a), F.S. 
28 Id. 
29 Id. “Achievement level,” “student achievement,” or “achievement” describes the level of content mastery a student has 

acquired in a particular subject as measured by a statewide, standardized assessment administered pursuant to 

s. 1008.22(3)(a) and (b). There are five achievement levels. Level 1 is the lowest achievement level, level 5 is the highest 

achievement level, and level 3 indicates satisfactory performance. A student passes an assessment if the student achieves a 

level 3, level 4, or level 5. Section 1008.34(1)(a), F.S. 
30 Section 1008.25(5)(b), F.S. 
31 Id. at (5)(c), F.S. 



BILL: CS/HB 7055   Page 9 

 

Each school district that has one or more of the 300 lowest-performing elementary schools based 

on the state reading assessment for the prior year must use supplemental academic instruction 

funds, along with the funds provided in the district’s research-based reading instruction 

allocation32 and other available funds, to provide an additional hour of instruction beyond the 

normal school day for each day of the entire school year for intensive reading instruction for the 

students in each of these schools.33 The additional hour of instruction must be provided by 

teachers or reading specialists who have demonstrated effectiveness in teaching reading or by a 

K-5 mentoring reading program that is supervised by a teacher who is effective at teaching 

reading.34 Students enrolled in these schools who have level 5 assessment scores may participate 

in the additional hour of instruction on an optional basis.35 

 

The designation of the 300 lowest-performing elementary schools must be based on the state 

reading assessment for the prior year.36 After this requirement has been met, supplemental 

instruction strategies may include, but are not limited to: use of a modified curriculum, reading 

instruction, after-school instruction, tutoring, mentoring, a reduction in class size, extended 

school year, intensive skills development in summer school, and other methods of improving 

student achievement.37 Supplemental instruction may be provided to a student in any manner and 

at any time during or beyond the regular 180-day term identified by the school as being the most 

effective and efficient way to best help that student progress from grade to grade and to 

graduate.38 

 

Effect of Proposed Changes 

The bill establishes reading scholarship accounts to provide educational options for students, and 

specifies that each student in grades 3 through 5 who is enrolled in a Florida public school is 

eligible for the reading scholarship if the student scored below a Level 3 on the grade 3 or 

grade 4 statewide, standardized ELA assessment in the prior school year. The eligibility 

requirements for students in grade 3 may apply to students who scored Level 1 on the grade 3 

ELA assessment in the prior school year and were retained in grade 3. The bill authorizes an 

eligible nonprofit scholarship-funding organization (SFO) participating in the Florida Tax Credit 

Scholarship to establish reading scholarship accounts for eligible students. 

 

                                                 
32 The research-based reading instruction allocation is created to provide comprehensive reading instruction to students in 

kindergarten through grade 12. Section 1011.62(9)(a), F.S. 
33 Section 1011.62(1)(f)2., F.S. The intensive reading instruction delivered in the additional hour and for other students must 

include: research-based reading instruction that has been proven to accelerate progress of students exhibiting a reading 

deficiency; differentiated instruction based on screening, diagnostic, progress monitoring, or student assessment data to meet 

students’ specific reading needs; explicit and systematic reading strategies to develop phonemic awareness, phonics, fluency, 

vocabulary, and comprehension, with more extensive opportunities for guided practice, error correction, and feedback; and 

the integration of social studies, science, and mathematics-text reading, text discussion, and writing in response to reading. 

Section 1011.62(9)(a), F.S. Funds for comprehensive, research-based reading instruction must be allocated annually to each 

school district in the amount provided in the General Appropriations Act (GAA). Each eligible school district must receive 

the same minimum amount as specified in the GAA, and any remaining funds must be distributed to eligible school districts 

based on each school district’s proportionate share of K-12 base funding. Section 1011.62(9)(b), F.S. 
34 Section 1011.62(1)(f)2., F.S. 
35 Id. 
36 Id. 
37 Id. 
38 Id. 



BILL: CS/HB 7055   Page 10 

 

The reading scholarship account is designed for the eligible SFO to reimburse the eligible 

students’ parents for qualifying expenditures which may include instructional materials; 

curriculum; tuition and fees for part-time tutoring services provided by a person who holds a 

baccalaureate or graduate degree in the subject area, who holds an adjunct teaching certificate, or 

who has a demonstrate mastery of subject area knowledge; fees for summer education programs; 

after-school education programs; specialized services by approved providers or by a hospital in 

the state which is selected by the parents including, but not limited to, services provided by 

speech language pathologists, occupational therapists, and physical therapists. 

 

The bill also specifies responsibilities for parents of eligible students, school districts, 

Department of Education, and eligible SFOs. 

 

Finally, the bill provides that no state liability arises from the award or use of the reading 

scholarship account. 

 

Charter Schools 

Present Situation 

Charter School Application Process 

Florida law establishes an application and review process for establishing a new charter school.39 

After a charter school application is approved by the sponsor, the initial startup commences with 

the beginning of the public school calendar for the district in which the charter is granted.40 A 

charter school may defer the opening of the school’s operations for up to 2 years to provide time 

for adequate facility planning.41 

 

Charter Contract Term and Consolidation  

The initial term of a charter contract is for 4 or 5 years.42 A charter contract may be modified by 

the consolidation of multiple charters into a single charter if the charters are operated under the 

same governing board and physically located on the same campus, regardless of the renewal 

cycle.43 

 

Due Process 

A charter school sponsor is authorized to not renew or terminate a charter contract for one of the 

following reasons:44 

 Failure to participate in the state’s educational accountability system or meet student 

performance requirements. 

 Failure to meet generally accepted standards of fiscal management. 

 Violation of law. 

 Other good cause shown. 

                                                 
39 Section 1011.62(6)(a), F.S. 
40 Section 1002.33(6)(b)3.c.5., F.S. 
41 Id. at (6), F.S. 
42 Id. at (6)(a)12., F.S. 
43 Id. at (7)(d), F.S. 
44 Id. at (8)(a), F.S. 



BILL: CS/HB 7055   Page 11 

 

At least 90 days before a nonrenewal or termination of a charter contract, the sponsor must notify 

the governing board of the charter school of the proposed action in writing.45 The notice must 

state in reasonable detail the grounds for the proposed action, and stipulate that the school’s 

governing board may, within 14 days after receiving the notice, request a hearing to be 

conducted by the sponsor or an administrative law judge assigned by the Division of 

Administrative Hearings, at the sponsor’s election.46 If the sponsor conducts the hearing, the 

sponsor must decide upon nonrenewal or termination by majority vote and such decision is the 

final order.47 If the sponsor chooses to have a hearing conducted by an administrative law judge, 

the judge must submit a recommended order to the sponsor.48 A majority vote by the sponsor 

must be required to adopt or modify the administrative law judge’s recommended order.49 The 

sponsor must issue a final order.50 

 

Florida law also authorizes a dispute resolution hearing before the Charter School Appeal 

Commission51 if goods and services are made available to the charter school through the contract 

with the school district.52 

 

High-Performing Charter School Designation, Replication, and Facility Capacity 

Charter schools and operators of systems of charter schools with a track record of academic 

excellence and financial stability may earn “high-performing” status.53  A high-performing 

charter school is a charter school that during each of the three previous years:54 

 Received at least two school grades of “A” and no school grade below “B;” 

 Has received an unqualified opinion55 on each annual financial audit; and 

 Has not received an annual financial audit that reveals a financial emergency condition in the 

most recent 3 fiscal years for which the audits are available.56 

 

Among other benefits, the operator of a high-performing charter school may submit a 

streamlined application in any Florida school district to establish and operate a new charter 

school that substantially replicates its educational program.57 A high-performing charter school 

may not be replicated more than once within the state in any given year and may not replicate 

again until each charter school established achieves “high-performing” status.58 

 

                                                 
45 Id. at (8)(b), F.S. 
46 Id. 
47 Id. at (8)(b)1., F.S. 
48 Id. at (8)(b)2., F.S. 
49 Section 1002.33(8)(b)2., F.S. 
50 Id. 
51 The Charter School Appeal Commission Members are appointed by the Commissioner of Education. One-half of the 

members represent currently operating charter schools, and one half of the members represent sponsors. Section 

1002.33(6)(e)3., F.S. 
52 Section 1002.33(20)(b), F.S. 
53 Section 1002.331(1), F.S. provides the eligibility criteria for the “high-performing” designation. 
54 Section 1002.331(1), F.S. 
55 An unqualified audit opinion means that the charter school’s financial statements are materially correct. Telephone 

interview with Florida Auditor General staff (Mar. 24, 2011). 
56 See s. 218.503(1), F.S. (financial emergency conditions). 
57 Section 1002.331(3)(a)1., F.S. 
58 Id. at (3)(b), F.S. 



BILL: CS/HB 7055   Page 12 

 

A “high-performing” charter school is also authorized to increase its enrollment once per school 

year to more than the capacity identified in the charter school contract.59 However, student 

enrollment may not exceed current facility capacity.60 

 

School Leader Preparation Programs 

School leader preparation programs are intended to enable aspiring school leaders to obtain a 

certificate in educational leadership.61 School leader preparation programs must be competency-

based, aligned to the principal leadership standards adopted by the State Board of Education, and 

open to individuals employed by public schools, including charter schools and virtual schools.62 

The Department of Education is required to establish a process for the approval of Level I and 

Level II school leader preparation programs.63 There are two types of such programs:64 

 Level I programs may be offered by school districts and postsecondary institutions and 

lead to initial certification in educational leadership to prepare individuals to serve as school 

administrators. 

 Level II programs may be offered by school districts, build upon Level I training, and 

lead to renewal certification as a school principal. 

 

Effect of Proposed Changes 

Charter School Application Process 

The bill extends, from 2 years to 3 years, the authority of charter schools to defer the opening of 

a school’s operations. 

 

Charter Contract Term and Consolidation 

The bill extends the initial term of a charter contract from 4 or 5 years, as specified in law, to 5 

years, excluding 1 planning year. 

 

The bill authorizes a charter school to consolidate, during any term, multiple charters that are not 

in the same physical location into a single charter if the charters are operated under the same 

governing board, regardless of the renewal cycle. The bill requires the school district to report a 

charter school with a grade “C” or higher that closes as part of a consolidation, as a 

consolidation. 

 

Due Process 

The bill revises the sponsor’s authority to not renew or terminate a charter contract to specify 

that the sponsor may do so only after finding clear and convincing evidence of the disqualifying 

grounds specified in law.65 The bill also modifies such disqualifying grounds to provide that a 

violation of law must be material. 

 

                                                 
59 Id. at (2)(a), F.S. 
60 Id.  
61 Section 1012.562, F.S. 
62 Id. 
63 Section 1012.562, F.S. 
64 Id. 
65 Such grounds are provided in section 1002.33(8)(a), F.S. 



BILL: CS/HB 7055   Page 13 

 

The bill eliminates the opportunity for a charter school governing board to request a direct 

hearing before the sponsor based on the nonrenewal or termination of its charter contract, 

effectively providing that such hearing must be before an administrative law judge. The bill also 

deletes the requirement that a recommended order of an administrative law judge be adopted or 

modified by the sponsor and requires the administrative law judge to award reasonable attorney 

fees and costs to the prevailing party. 

 

The bill also modifies the process by which the charter school can resolve disputes over 

contracted goods and services by eliminating the dispute resolution hearing before the Charter 

School Appeal Commission. Instead, the bill authorizes a party to appeal to an administrative 

law judge appointed by the Division of Administrative Hearings, who is granted final order 

authority to rule on the dispute. The bill provides that the prevailing party must be awarded 

reasonable attorney fees and costs incurred during the mediation process, administrative 

proceeding, and any appeals. 

 

High-Performing Charter School Designation, Replication, and Facility Capacity 

The bill revises the criteria for determining a high-performing charter school by also allowing a 

school that receives two consecutive grades of “A” to be determined a high-performing charter 

school. For schools qualifying under this provision, the bill revises the financial eligibility 

requirements to require only 2 years of financial audits that received an unqualified opinion and 

no state of financial emergency. The bill also specifies that a high-performing charter school 

system must comply with application requirements for such systems, in addition to requirements 

for high-performing charter schools. 

 

The bill also authorizes a high-performing charter school to replicate to two charter schools 

within the state in any year. 

 

The bill specifies that student enrollment may not exceed capacity of the facility at the time of 

enrollment, effectively allowing a high-performing charter school that has expanded its original 

facility or has access to additional facilities, to increase student enrollment without being limited 

to the original facility’s capacity.66 

 

School Leader Preparation Programs 

The bill adds charters schools and charter management organizations to the entities authorized to 

offer Level I or Level II school leader preparation programs. 

 

Autonomous Schools and Independent Boards 

Present situation 

Principal Autonomy Program 

In 2016,67 the Legislature established the Principal Autonomy Pilot Program Initiative (PAPPI) 

within the Department of Education (DOE) to provide the highly effective principal of a 

                                                 
66 The bill provides that facility capacity for purposes of grade level expansion must include any improvements to an existing 

facility or any new facility in which a majority of the students of the high-performing charter school will enroll. 
67 Chapter 2016-223, L.O.F. 



BILL: CS/HB 7055   Page 14 

 

participating school with increased autonomy and authority to operate schools in a way that 

improves student achievement and school management.68 The PAPPI was initially launched in 7 

school districts (Broward, Duval, Jefferson, Madison, Palm Beach, Pinellas, and Seminole 

Counties) and an evaluation of the performance of all participating schools is required at the end 

of the 3 years.69 A participating school is exempt from the school code except for specified laws 

related to assessments, civil rights, students with disabilities, compensation and salary schedules, 

educational facilities, and other topics.70 School districts are authorized to participate in the 

PAPPI for a period of 3 years upon approval of the principal autonomy proposal and are required 

to submit an annual report to the State Board of Education.71 

 

Effect of Proposed Changes 

 

Principal Autonomy Program Initiative 

Beginning with the 2018-2019 school year, the bill expands the principal autonomy program 

from a pilot authorized for three 3 years in 7 school districts to a statewide program. The bill also 

deletes the requirement for a 3-year evaluation of program effectiveness to be performed by the 

Commissioner of Education and annual reporting requirements for participating schools. The bill 

specifies that a school retains the exemptions from law provided in the Principal Autonomy 

Program Initiative (PAPI) as long as the school maintains a grade of “B” or higher. 

 

District-Independent Autonomous Schools and Independent Governing Boards 

The bill establishes district-independent autonomous schools to expand the impact of principals 

participating in the principal autonomy program to manage multiple schools under an 

independent governing board. 

 

The bill also authorizes a district school superintendent to recommend the organization and 

operation of schools by an independent governing board, which are required to operate in 

accordance with the contract between the independent governing board and the district school 

board and the exemptions in law provided in the PAPI. The bill specifies that a school retains 

such exemptions from law beyond the term of the PAPI as long as the school maintains a grade 

of “B” or higher. 

 

The bill authorizes a principal participating in the PAPI who successfully completes specified 

training to manage one or more schools that are operated by an independent governing board 

through a contract with the school board. The bill specifies that members of the governing board 

may not be employees of the school district or any school operated by the governing board. The 

bill also specifies that the salary supplement for each eligible participating principal may not 

exceed $10,000 for three years. 

 

The bill provides that for tort liability purposes, the independent governing board, district-

independent autonomous school, and its employees are governed by the waiver of state sovereign 

                                                 
68 Section 1011.6202, F.S. 
69 Id. at (1). 
70 Section 1011.6202(3)(b), F.S. 
71 Section 1011.6202(5) and (6), F.S. 



BILL: CS/HB 7055   Page 15 

 

immunity contained in law.72 Additionally, the bill clarifies that the school board is not liable for 

civil damages under state law for the employment action or personal injury, property damage, or 

death resulting from an act or omission of an independent governing board, district-independent 

autonomous school, and its employees or agents. 

 

Additionally, the bill provides that the district-independent autonomous school may be a private 

or public employer. The bill specifies that as a public employer, the district-independent 

autonomous school may participate in the Florida Retirement System upon application and 

approval as a covered group. If a district-independent autonomous school participates in the 

Florida Retirement System (FRS), the autonomous school’s employees must be compulsory 

members of the FRS. 

 

District School Board Oversight and Responsibility 

Present Situation 

Investigation and Audit Requirements 

The Auditor General (AG) or a Certificated Public Accountant (CPA) is required to perform 

annual financial audits of district school board, the scope of which includes an examination of 

the financial statements, the issuance of a report on compliance and internal control in 

accordance with generally accepted government auditing standards, and the issuance of a report 

on compliance and internal control for each major Federal program.73 The AG also conducts 

operational audits of district school boards in accordance with Government Auditing Standards 

at least every 3 years.74 Operational audits must include an evaluation of management’s 

performance in establishing and maintaining internal controls, including controls designed to 

prevent and detect fraud, waste, and abuse, and in administering assigned responsibilities.75 

 

The Department of Education’s (DOE’s) Inspector General is responsible for promoting 

accountability, efficiency, and effectiveness and detecting fraud and abuse within school 

districts.76 If the Commissioner of Education (commissioner) determines that the district school 

board is unwilling or unable to address substantiated allegations made by any person relating to 

waste, fraud, or financial mismanagement, the office must conduct, coordinate, or request 

investigations into such substantiated allegations.77 

 

Currently, district school boards are permitted, but not required to employ an internal auditor to 

perform ongoing financial verification of the financial records of the school district.78 

 

                                                 
72 Section 768.28, F.S. provides the specifications of the waiver of sovereign immunity in tort actions. 
73 State of Florida Auditor General, Summary of Significant Findings and Financial Trends Identified in District School 

Board Audit Reports for the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2016, at 1, available at https://flauditor.gov/pages/pdf_files/2018-

030.pdf. Section 11.45(1)(c), F.S. 
74 Id. Section 11.45(2)(f), F.S. 
75 Id. at (1)(g). 
76 Section 1001.20(4)(e), F.S. 
77 Id. 
78 Section 1001.42(12)(l), F.S. 



BILL: CS/HB 7055   Page 16 

 

Budget, Expenditures, and Financial Disclosure Requirements 

District School Board Budget 

Florida law requires district school boards to prepare, adopt, and submit an annual budget to the 

commissioner,79 and post a plain language version of each proposed, tentative, and official 

budget on their website and describe each budget item in terms that are easily understandable to 

the public.80 

 

Expenditures 

Florida law provides that district school board expenditures must be limited to amounts budgeted 

and no expenditures can be authorized or obligations incurred in excess of the budgetary 

appropriation.81 However, a district school board may establish policies that allow expenditures 

to exceed amounts budgeted if the district school board approves the expenditure and amends the 

budget.82 

 

Financial Disclosure 

Currently, the Commission on Ethics (COE or commission) determines whether a person owing 

a public financial disclosure fine is a public officer or public employee.83 If the COE determines 

that the person is a current public officer or public employee, the commission may notify the 

Chief Financial Officer (CFO) or governing body of the amount owed.84 

 

Lobbying, Travel, and Compensation 

Lobbying 

A person who has been elected to a school district office may not personally lobby the school 

district for compensation for a period of 2 years after vacating that office.85 

 

Travel 

Each member of a district school board is allowed, from the district school fund, reimbursement 

of travel expenses as authorized in law.86 Any travel outside the district is governed by the rules 

of the State Board of Education.87 

 

                                                 
79 Section 1011.01(3)(a), F.S. 
80 Section 1011.035(2), F.S. 
81 Section 1011.06, F.S. It is the duty of the superintendent and district school board to take whatever action is necessary 

during the fiscal year to keep expenditures and obligations within the budgeted income. Rules 6A-1.007(1) and 6A-1.007(2), 

F.A.C. The school board must approve amendments to the budget whenever budget changes occur. Id. 
82 Section 1011.06(2), F.S. 
83 Sections 112.3144(5) and (7), and 112.3145(7), F.S. 
84 S. 112.31455(1), F.S. 
85 Section 112.313(14), F.S. 
86 Section 1001.39(1), F.S. Florida law establishes standard travel reimbursement rates, procedures, and limitations. Section 

112.061, F.S. 
87 Rule 6A-1.056, F.A.C. 



BILL: CS/HB 7055   Page 17 

 

Compensation 

Each member of the district school board receives a base salary based on the population of the 

county the district school board member serves.88 However, for the 2010-2011 fiscal year, the 

salary of each district school board member is the amount calculated based on district population 

or the district’s beginning salary for teachers who hold baccalaureate degrees, whichever is 

less.89 

 

Equity in School Level Funding 

Title I, Part A of the Elementary and Secondary Education Act, provides federal funds to LEAs 

and schools with high numbers or high percentages of children from low-income families to help 

ensure that all children meet challenging state academic standards.90 In 2017, the Legislature 

amended the equity in school level funding act to require school districts to provide Title I funds 

directly to all eligible schools and limit the amount the district may withhold as follows:91 

 One percent for parent involvement. 

 A necessary and reasonable amount for administration not to exceed eight percent. 

 A reasonable and necessary amount to provide: 

o Homeless programs; 

o Delinquent and neglected programs; 

o Prekindergarten programs and activities; 

o Private school equitable services; and 

o Transportation for foster care children to their school of origin or choice program. 
 

After providing Title I funds to schools above the 75 percent poverty threshold, the district must 

distribute all remaining Title I funds to all eligible schools in accordance with federal law and 

regulation.92 

 

District School Tax 

Each district school board may levy up to 1.5 mills against the taxable value for fixed capital 

outlay for district schools, including charter schools at the discretion of the school board, to be 

used for purposes specified in law.93 Additionally, district school boards are authorized to 

withhold an administrative fee for certain administrative and educational services provided to 

charter schools.94 

 

                                                 
88 Section 1001.395(1), F.S. 
89 Id. at (3). 
90 U.S. Department of Education, Improving Basic Programs Operated by Local Educational Agencies (Title I, Part A), 

https://www2.ed.gov/programs/titleiparta/index.html?exp=0 (last visited Feb. 18, 2018). 
91 Section 1011.69(5), F.S. 
92 Id. 
93 Section 1011.71(2), F.S. 
94 Section 1002.33(20)(a)2., F.S. 



BILL: CS/HB 7055   Page 18 

 

Charter School Capital Outlay Funding  

Florida law provides that charter school capital outlay funding must consist of revenue which 

results from the discretionary millage district school boards are authorized to levy,95 and state 

funds when such funds are appropriated in the General Appropriations Act.96 

 

District Personnel Policies 

A district school board member may not employ or appoint a relative to work under his or her 

direct supervision.97 

 

Disposal of Property 

Florida law requires that tangible personal property that has been properly classified as surplus 

by a district school board or Florida College System institution board of trustees to be disposed 

of in accordance with disposal procedures contained in law.98 

Construction Flexibility 

A district school board may, with a supermajority vote at a public meeting that begins no earlier 

than 5 p.m., adopt a resolution to implement one or more of the exceptions to the educational 

facilities construction requirements specified in law.99 

 

Before voting on the resolution, a district school board must conduct a cost-benefit analysis 

prepared according to a professionally accepted methodology that describes how each exception 

selected by the district school board achieves cost savings, improves the efficient use of school 

district resources, and impacts the life-cycle costs and life span for each educational facility to be 

constructed, as applicable, and demonstrates that implementation of the exception will not 

compromise student safety or the quality of student instruction.100 The district school board must 

conduct at least one public workshop to discuss and receive public comment on the proposed 

resolution and cost-benefit analysis.101 

 

District school boards may adopt a resolution to implement exceptions to requirements of the 

uniform statewide building code for the planning and construction of public educational and 

ancillary plants adopted pursuant to Florida law relating to:102 

 Interior non-load-bearing walls, by approving the use of fire-rated wood stud walls; 

 Paved walkways, roadways, driveways, and parking areas, by approving the use of 

designated, stabilized, and well-drained gravel or grassed student parking areas; 

 Standards for relocatables used as classroom space, by approving construction specifications 

for installation of relocatable buildings that do not have covered walkways leading to the 

permanent buildings onsite; and 

 Site lighting by approving construction specifications regarding site lighting. 

                                                 
95 Section 1011.71(2), F.S. authorizes district school boards to levy specified discretionary millage. 
96 Section 1012.62(2), F.S. 
97 Section 1012.23(2), F.S. 
98 Section 1013.28(2)(a), F.S. 
99 Section 1013.385(1), F.S. 
100 Id. 
101 Id. 
102 Section 1013.385(2), F.S. 



BILL: CS/HB 7055   Page 19 

 
 

District school boards must adhere to the State Requirements for Educational Facilities 

(SREF),103 the uniform statewide building code for the planning and construction of public 

educational and ancillary plants, when planning and constructing educational facilities and 

ancillary plants. Facilities for non-conversion charter schools must meet the requirements of the 

uniform statewide building code, except for the SREF.104 

 

Effect of Proposed Changes 

Investigation and Audit Requirements 

The bill specifies responsibilities for the AG, the DOE, district school boards, and district school 

superintendents. 

 

The bill requires the AG to contact each district school board regarding operational audit 

findings and recommendations, and to contact the Legislative Auditing Committee (LAC) about 

a district school board’s failure or inability to comply within the specified timeframe. 

The bill requires the DOE’s Office of Inspector General to investigate allegations or reports of 

possible fraud or abuse against a district school board by any member of the Cabinet, presiding 

officer of the Legislature, Chair of a substantive committee with jurisdiction, or the member of a 

board for which an investigation is sought. 

 

Additionally, the bill requires the DOE to contract with an independent third party to conduct an 

investigation of all accounts and records if certain financial conditions existed in the 2015-2016 

school year or thereafter. Such investigation must include a detailed review and analysis of 

specified documents and the results of the investigation must include recommendations for 

corrective action and controls to avoid a reoccurrence of future budget shortfalls. A final report 

must be provided to the district, DOE, LAC, and the district’s financial emergency board, if 

applicable. 

 

Additionally, the bill requires district school boards to: 

 Provide evidence of the initiation of corrective action within 45 days after the date the 

action is requested by the AG and the evidence of completion of such action within 180 days. 

 Employ an internal auditor to perform specified duties including the oversight of every 

functional and program area of the school system, if a school district receives more than $500 

million annually in federal, state, and local funds. 

 Conduct an audit overview at a public meeting if an audit contains a significant 

deficiency or material weakness, including the corrective action to be taken and a timeline for the 

completion of such action. 

 

The bill also authorizes an individual school board member to request budget documents and 

related information, which must be provided to such board member. 

 

                                                 
103 Rule 6A-2.0010, F.A.C. 
104 Section 1002.33(18)(a), F.S. 



BILL: CS/HB 7055   Page 20 

 

The bill also requires the district school superintendent to reduce the district’s administrative 

expenditures if a school district’s approved operating budget general fund falls below 3 percent 

of projected general revenue funds for two consecutive fiscal years. 

 

Budget, Expenditures, and Financial Disclosure Requirements 

District School Board Budget 

The bill adds to the school district’s budget reporting requirements, which must be published on 

the district’s website, to include graphical representations, for each public school within the 

district, of a summary financial of efficiency data and 3-year fiscal trend information on the: 

 Ratio of full-time equivalent (FTE) students to FTE instructional personnel 

 Ratio of FTE students to FTE administrative personnel. 

 Total operating expenses per FTE student. 

 Total instructional expenditures per FTE student. 

 General administrative expenses as a percent of the total budget. 

 Rate of change in the general fund’s ending fund balance which is not classified as 

restricted. 

 

The bill requires the district school board budget website to include a link to a fiscal transparency 

tool, to be developed by the DOE, for taxpayers to evaluate and compare the financial efficiency 

of school districts. 

The bill also requires the district school board to provide a full explanation of any budget 

amendments at the board’s scheduled public meeting. 

 

Expenditures 

The bill establishes a penalty that requires withholding of the salary of each school board 

member and district school superintendent if certain financial conditions, specified in law, exist, 

until such conditions are corrected.105 The bill also restricts district school boards’ travel 

expenditures under specified financial circumstances. 

 

The bill requires the district school board to reimburse the cost of background screening for 

charter schools if the district school board does not notify the charter school of the employment 

eligibility of governing board members and instructional and noninstructional personnel within 

14 days after the charter school submits the fingerprints. 

 

Financial Disclosure 

The bill: 

 Adds district school boards to the entities whom the COE may contact regarding owed fines. 

 Modifies collection methods for fines for failure to timely file disclosure of financial interest 

to require district school boards to withhold a specified amount of funding from employee 

salaries. 

 Authorizes district school boards to retain a portion of the withheld funds to cover 

administrative costs. 

 

                                                 
105 Section 2018.503(1), F.S. specifies such financial conditions. 



BILL: CS/HB 7055   Page 21 

 

Lobbying, Travel, and Compensation 

Lobbying 

The bill applies the restriction on lobbying for 2 years after vacating office to appointed school 

district superintendents,106 which currently applies to locally elected school district officers. 

 

Travel 

The bill requires prior approval from the district school board for reimbursement of travel 

expenses for travel outside the district by a district school board member. The bill also requires a 

detailed, itemized list of travel-related expenses for travel outside the state, after public hearing 

on the request. 

 

Compensation 

The bill aligns school board member salaries with the beginning teacher salaries or the amount 

calculated by statute, whichever is less. In fiscal year 2016-17, the average salary for district 

school board member exceeded the beginning average salary for teachers in the following 12 of 

the 67 school districts in the state: Alachua ($782), Broward ($739), Dade ($850), Duval 

($1,810), Hillsborough ($3,554), Lee ($1,525), Leon ($434), Marion ($528), Orange ($1,091), 

Palm Beach ($747), Pinellas ($544), and Volusia ($416).107 

 

Equity in School Level Funding 

The bill clarifies that when school districts distribute Title I funds to schools above the 75 

percent poverty threshold, the 75 percent may include high schools above the 50 percent 

threshold as permitted by federal law. 

 

The bill also provides that a district may also withhold a necessary and reasonable amount of 

Title I funds, not to exceed 1 percent, for eligible schools to provide: 

 Extended learning opportunities, such as summer school, before-school and after-school 

programs, and additional class periods of instruction during the school day; and 

 Supplemental academic and enrichment services as well as wrap-around services. 
 

The bill excludes from the above specified 1 percent cap on the amount that a district may 

withhold for administration, Title I funds used for district-level educational services provided by 

the school district. 

 

District School Tax 

The bill prohibits a district school board from withholding administrative fees authorized in law 

from any charter school operating in the school district if payments under a lease-purchase 

agreement entered into by the district school board in the aggregate, including agreements 

entered into before June 30, 2009, exceed three-fourths of the proceeds from the discretionary 

millage. 

                                                 
106 Currently, there are 26 appointed district school superintendents and 41 elected district school superintendents. Florida 

Department of Education, Florida Public School Superintendents, http://www.fldoe.org/accountability/data-sys/school-dis-

data/superintendents.stml (last visited Feb. 19, 2018). 
107 Email, Florida Department of Education (Feb. 19, 2018). 



BILL: CS/HB 7055   Page 22 

 

Charter School Capital Outlay Funding 

The bill deletes the requirement that charter school capital outlay must consist of the revenue 

which results from the discretionary millage district school boards are authorized to levy. 

Instead, the bill provides that such revenue must only be included in charter school capital outlay 

if the amount of state funds appropriated for charter school capital outlay in any fiscal year is not 

equal to or is less than the average charter school capital outlay funds per unweighted full-time 

equivalent student for the 2018-2019 fiscal year, and adjusted by changes in the Consumer Price 

Index from the previous year. 

 

The bill also requires each school district to certify to the DOE, by October 1, the amount of debt 

service and participation requirements that can be reduced from the total discretionary millage 

revenue. The bill requires the AG to verify compliance with this provision during annual school 

board audits. 

 

District Personnel Policies 

The bill prohibits a district school superintendent from appointing or employing a relative to 

work under his or her direct supervision. The bill also clarifies that the prohibition does not apply 

to employees appointed or employed before the election or appointment of the board member of 

superintendent. The bill also requires the COE to accept and investigate any alleged violations of 

this prohibition. 

 

Disposal of Property 

The bill requires any tangible personal property that has been properly classified as surplus, 

marked for disposal, or otherwise unused by a district school board to be provided for a charter 

school’s use on the same basis as it is made available to other public schools in the district. The 

bill prohibits a charter school that receives such property from selling or disposing of the 

property without the written permission of the school district. 

 

Construction Flexibility 

The bill expands the available exceptions a district school board may adopt to include any other 

provisions in SREF that limit the ability of a school to operate in a facility on the same basis as a 

charter school. To adopt the exception, the regional planning council must determine that there is 

sufficient shelter capacity within the school district as documented in the Statewide Emergency 

Shelter Plan.108 

 

Collective Bargaining 

Present Situation 

Florida law authorizes employees to bargain collectively through representatives of their own 

choosing.109 Legislative intent directs that district school boards have flexibility through the 

                                                 
108 See s. 252.385(2)(b), F.S. 
109 Section 447.03, F.S. 



BILL: CS/HB 7055   Page 23 

 

collective bargaining process to assign teachers more equitably across the schools in the 

district.110 

 

Every employee organization seeking to become a certified bargaining agent for public 

employees must submit an application for registration which must be renewed annually by filling 

a renewal application under oath with the Public Employees Relations Commission 

(commission).111 If recognized by the public employer, the organization must immediately 

petition the commission for certification and the commission must certify the organization if the 

unit is appropriate.112 The organization, if not recognized by the public employer, may file a 

petition for certification with the commission accompanied by signed, dated statements of 

30 percent of the employees in the unit indicating a desire to be represented for collective 

bargaining purposes by the organization.113 The commission is required to investigate the 

petition for sufficiency, provide for an appropriate hearing, and if found to be sufficient, order an 

election by secret ballot for certification.114 The commission must certify an organization that is 

selected by a majority of employees voting in an election.115 

 

Effect of Proposed Changes 

The bill requires an employee organization that has been certified as the bargaining agent for a 

unit of instructional personnel116 to include the following additional information in its annual 

registration renewal application: 

 Number of employees in the bargaining unit who are eligible for representation by the 

employee organization. 

 Number of employees represented by the organization, specifying the number of 

employees who pay dues and the number of members who do not pay dues. 

 

The bill also requires an employee organization whose dues paying membership is less than 

50 percent of the employees eligible for representation by the organization to petition the 

commission for recertification117 as the exclusive representative of all employees in the unit, 

within 1 month after the date on which the organization applies for registration renewal. The bill 

specifies that the certification of an employee organization is revoked if the organization does 

not comply with the specified requirements. 

                                                 
110 Section 1012.2315(1), F.S. 
111 Section 447.305(1)-(2), F.S. 
112 Section 447.307(1)(a), F.S. 
113 Id. at (2). 
114 Id. at (3)(a), F.S. 
115 Id. at (3)(b), F.S. 
116 Instructional personnel means any K-12 staff member whose function includes the provision of direct instructional 

services to students or to provide direct support in the learning process of students. Section 1012.01(2), F.S. 
117 Section 447.307(2) and (3), F.S. provide the process for employee organization certification. 



BILL: CS/HB 7055   Page 24 

 

Recognition of and Educational Opportunities for Members of the U.S. Military 

Present Situation 

Medal of Honor Day and Required Instruction 

Florida law specifies required instruction for students in public schools.118 Instructional staff 

must teach specified courses of study such as:119 

 A character development program in kindergarten through grade 12; and 

 The sacrifices that veterans have made in serving our country and protecting democratic 

values worldwide, in order to encourage patriotism.120 

 

The State Board of Education (SBE) is encouraged to adopt standards and pursue assessment of 

specified required instruction.121 

 

Training and Licensure 

Military Training to Meet Education and Licensure Requirements 

Florida law provides for the award of college credit for military training and education.122 

Additionally, Florida law requires that for specified professions, to the fullest extent possible, 

military experience, training, or education must apply toward the requirements for licensure if 

such training is substantially similar to the experience, training, or education required for 

licensure.123 

 

Apprenticeship Programs 

The Department of Education (DOE) is responsible for administering apprenticeship124 and 

preapprenticeship125 programs and standards.126 

 

Temporary Certificates 

Temporary Certificate in Educational Leadership 

The SBE is required to establish certification requirements for all school personnel.127 

Additionally, the SBE must adopt rules to allow an individual who meets the following criteria to 

be eligible for a temporary certificate in educational leadership:128 

                                                 
118 Section 1003.42, F.S. 
119 Id. at (2). 
120 Instructional staff are encouraged to use the assistance of local veterans when practicable. Id. at (2)(t). 
121 Id. 
122 Section 1004.096, F.S. 
123 Such requirement applies to the professions of construction contractor (s. 489.1131, F.S.), electrical contractor (s. 489.511, 

F.S.), and private investigation or security officer (s. 493.61035(1), F.S.). 
124 An apprenticeship program is an organized course of instruction, registered and approved by the DOE, which contains all 

terms and conditions for the qualifications, recruitment, selection, employment, and training of apprentices including the 

requirements for a written apprenticeship agreement. Section 446.021(6), F.S. 
125 A preapprenticeship program is an organized course of instruction in the public school system or elsewhere, which is 

designed to prepare a person 16 years of age or older to become an apprentice and which is approved by and registered with 

the DOE and sponsored by a registered apprenticeship program. Section 446.021(5), F.S. 
126 Section 446.041, F.S. See ss. 446.011 to 446.092, F.S. 
127 Section 1012.55(1)(b), F.S. 
128 Id. at (1)(d), F.S. 



BILL: CS/HB 7055   Page 25 

 

 Earn a passing score on the Florida Educational Leadership Examination; 

 Document three years of successful experience in an executive management or leadership 

position; and 

 Document receipt of a bachelor’s degree or higher from an accredited institution of higher 

learning. 

 

There are two types of school leader preparation programs:129 

 Level I programs may be offered by school districts and postsecondary institutions and lead 

to initial certification in educational leadership to prepare individuals to serve as school 

administrators. 

 Level II programs may be offered by school districts, build upon Level I training, and lead to 

renewal certification as a school principal. 

 

Temporary Educator Certificate Validity Period 

Each temporary certificate is valid for 3 school fiscal years and is nonrenewable.130 The SBE 

may authorize the DOE in rule to extend the validity period of a temporary certificate for 2 years 

when the requirements for the professional certificate131 were not completed due to the serious 

illness or injury of the applicant or other extraordinary extenuating circumstances or for 1 year if 

the temporary certificateholder is rated effective or highly effective based solely on a student 

learning growth formula approved by the Commissioner of Education.132 

 

Junior Reserve Officer Training Instructors 

A commissioned or noncommissioned military officer who is an instructor of junior reserve 

officer training is exempt from requirements for teacher certification, subject to conditions 

specified in law.133 

 

Fee Waiver 

The SBE is required to adopt, by rule, separate fees for applications, examinations, certification, 

certification renewal, late renewal, recordmaking, and recordkeeping.134 Florida initial teacher 

certification examination fees are as follows:135 

 General Knowledge Test, First-Time Registration $130.00 

 Professional Education Test, First-Time Registration $150.00 

 Subject Area Examination, First-Time Registration $200.00 

 

Additionally, the fee for an initial temporary or professional certificate is $75.136 

                                                 
129 Section 1012.562, F.S. 
130 Section 1012.56(7), F.S. 
131 The requirements for issuance of a professional certificate are established in law. Section 1012.56(7), F.S. 
132 Section 1012.56(7), F.S. 
133 Section 1012.55(4), F.S. 
134 Section 1012.59(1), F.S. 
135 Rule 6A-4.0021(4)(b), F.A.C. 
136 Rule 6A-4.0012(1)(a), F.A.C. 



BILL: CS/HB 7055   Page 26 

 

Enrollment in the Florida Virtual School 

The Florida Virtual School (FLVS) is intended to develop and deliver online and distance 

learning education.137 The school must serve any student in the state who meets the profile for 

success138 in the online educational environment and must give priority to:139 

 Students who need expanded access to courses in order to meet their educational goals, such 

as home education students and students in inner-city and rural high schools who do not have 

access to higher-level courses. 

 Students seeking accelerated access in order to obtain a high school diploma at least one 

semester early. 

 

Military families living outside the state may enroll, but must maintain their Florida residency.140 

 

Public school students receiving full-time instruction in kindergarten through grade 12 by the 

FLVS must take all statewide assessments.141 Unless alternate sites are agreed to, such statewide 

assessments must be taken at the school to which the student would be assigned according to 

district school board attendance areas.142 A school district must provide the student with access 

to the school’s testing facilities.143 

 

Effect of Proposed Changes 

Medal of Honor Day and Required Instruction 

The bill designates March 25 of each year as “Medal of Honor Day” and authorizes the Governor 

to annually issue a proclamation as such, and call upon public officials and specified entities to 

commemorate the day and honor Medal of Honor144 recipients. 

 

The bill specifies that a character development program that incorporates the values of the 

recipients of the Congressional Medal of Honor and that is offered as part of a social studies, 

English Language Arts, or other schoolwide character building and veteran awareness initiative 

meets the required instruction related to character development and the sacrifices of veterans. 

 

Training and Licensure 

Military Training to Meet Education and Licensure Requirements 

The bill requires a board of examiners or other qualification board regulated under general law to 

accept periods of training and practical experience in the Florida National Guard (FNG) or the 

                                                 
137 Section 1002.37(1)(a), F.S. 
138 The FLVS has identified hard and soft skills and other requirements that facilitate student success in online instruction. 

Such skills include written and oral communication, academic honesty, self-motivation, computer literacy, time management, 

reading competency, personal commitment, and access to technology. Email, Florida Virtual School (Jan. 9, 2018). 
139 Id. 
140 Florida Virtual School, FLVS Student Progression Plan, 2017-18 School Year (August 2017), available at 

https://www.flvs.net/docs/default-source/district/student-progression-plan.pdf?sfvrsn=d3437f2a_4, at 14 and 44.  
141 Section 1002.37(9)(a), F.S. 
142 Section 1002.37(9)(c), F.S. 
143 Id. 
144 The Medal of Honor is the highest award for valor in action against an enemy force which can be bestowed upon an 

individual serving in the Armed Services of the United States. Congressional Medal of Honor Society, The Medal of Honor, 

http://www.cmohs.org/ (last visited Feb. 19, 2018). 



BILL: CS/HB 7055   Page 27 

 

United States Armed Forces Reserves (ASAFR) in place of any interrupted or delayed periods of 

training, study, apprenticeship, or practical experience if a member of the FNG or USAFR is 

called to active duty. The training or practical experience must be accepted if the board finds the 

standard and type of work or training performed in the FNG or USAFR to be substantially the 

same as the standard and type required under the laws of this state. Additionally, the bill requires 

that such members must request licensure or qualification by the respective board of examiners 

or other qualification board within 6 months after release from active duty. 

 

Apprenticeship Programs 

The bill requires the DOE to lead and coordinate outreach efforts to educate veterans about 

apprenticeship and career opportunities. Additionally, the bill specifies that any laws related to 

apprenticeship and preapprenticeship programs, adopted rules, or rules within approved 

apprenticeship agreements do not invalidate any special provisions for veterans, minority 

persons, or women in the standards, qualifications, or operations of apprenticeship programs. 

 

Temporary Certificates 

Temporary Certificate in Educational Leadership 

The bill creates a pathway for veterans to become school principals. The bill requires the DOE to 

issue a 3-year temporary certificate in educational leadership to an individual who: 

 Has earned a passing score on the Florida Educational Leadership Examination; 

 Served as a commissioned or noncommissioned military officer in the U.S. Armed Forces for 

at least 3 years; 

 Has been honorably discharged or has retired from the U.S. Armed forces; and 

 Is employed fulltime in a position for which a Florida educator certificate is required in a 

Florida public school, state-supported school, or nonpublic school that has a Level II 

program. 

 

The bill also requires that a Level II program must admit applicants who hold such temporary 

certificate and requires the DOE to issue a permanent school principal certificate to an individual 

who holds the temporary certificate and successfully completes the Level II program. 

 

Temporary Educator Certificate Validity Period 

The bill adds military service of an applicant’s spouse as a circumstance for which the validity of 

a temporary certificate may be extended by the DOE, which must be adopted in SBE rule. 

 



BILL: CS/HB 7055   Page 28 

 

Junior Reserve Officer Training Instructors 

The bill authorizes junior reserve officer training instructors to be eligible to receive funding 

through the Florida Teachers Classroom Supply Assistance program.145 However, such 

instructors do not meet the definition of a classroom teacher146 under the program. 

 

Fee Waiver 

The bill requires the SBE to waive initial general knowledge, professional education, and subject 

area examination fees and certification fees for: 

 A member of the United States Armed Forces (USAF) or a reserve component who is 

serving or has served on active duty and the spouse of such a member. 

 The surviving spouse of a member of the USAF or a reserve component who was serving on 

active duty at the time of death. 

 An honorably discharged veteran of the USAF or a veteran of a reserve component who 

served on active duty and the spouse or surviving spouse of such a veteran. 

 

Enrollment in the Florida Virtual School 

The bill adds to the list of student groups who must receive priority for FLVS services. 

Specifically, the bill requires the FLVS to also give priority to children of an active duty member 

of the USAF who is not stationed in this state whose home of record147 or state of legal 

residence148 is Florida. 

 

Additionally, the bill requires that industry certification examinations, national assessments, and 

statewide assessments offered by the school district to be available to all FLVS students. The bill 

also requires the school district to provide to the student the date and time of the administration 

of the examination or assessment. 

 

Professional Development 

Present Situation 

The Department of Education (department), public postsecondary educational institutions, public 

school districts, public schools, state education foundations, consortia, and professional 

organizations in this state must work collaboratively to establish a coordinated system of 

                                                 
145 The Florida Teachers Classroom Supply Assistance Program is a fund for public school classroom teachers to purchase 

classroom materials and supplies for the public school students assigned to them. For purposes of the program, “classroom 

teacher” means a certified teacher employed by a public school district or a public charter school in that district. Section 

1012.71 F.S. 
146 For purposes of the Florida Teachers Classroom Supply Assistance Program, the term “classroom teacher” means a 

certified teacher employed by a public school district or a public charter school in that district on or before September 1 of 

each year whose full-time or job-share responsibility is the classroom instruction of students in prekindergarten through grade 

12, including full-time media specialists and certified school counselors serving students in prekindergarten through grade 

12, who are funded through the Florida Education Finance Program. Section 1012.71(1), F.S. 
147 The home of record is defined as the state where a servicemember first enlisted or received a commission from one of the 

branches of armed services. Military.com, HOR vs. SLR: What’s the Difference? https://www.military.com/money/personal-

finance/taxes/home-of-legal-record-for-taxes.html (last visited Feb 19, 2018). 
148 The state of legal residence is considered the servicemember’s permanent home, the legal residence for state income tax 

purposes, qualification for in-state tuition rates, eligibility to vote for federal and state elections, for a will to be probated, and 

where the servicemember intends to live after separation from the military. Id. 



BILL: CS/HB 7055   Page 29 

 

professional development.149 The purpose of the professional development system is to increase 

student achievement, enhance classroom instructional strategies that promote rigor and relevance 

throughout the curriculum, and prepare students for continuing education and the workforce.150 

The system of professional development must align to the standards adopted by the state and 

support the framework for standards adopted by the National Staff Development Council.151 

 

The department must disseminate to the school community proven model professional 

development programs that have demonstrated success in increasing rigorous and relevant 

content, increasing student achievement and engagement, meeting identified student needs, and 

providing effective mentorship activities to new teachers and training to teacher mentors.152 The 

methods of dissemination must include a web-based statewide performance-support system 

including a database of exemplary professional development activities, a listing of available 

professional development resources, training programs, and available technical assistance.153 

 

Effect of Proposed Changes 

The bill specifies that professional development resources must include sample course-at-a-

glance and unit overview templates that school districts may use when developing curriculum. 

The templates must provide an organized structure for addressing the Florida Standards, grade-

level expectations, evidence outcomes, and 21st century skills that build to student’s mastery of 

the standards at each grade level. Each template must support teaching to greater intellectual 

depth and emphasize transfer and application of concepts, content, and skills. The bill requires 

the template to, at least, provide courses or year-long sequencing on concept-based unit 

overviews based on Florida Standards, describe the knowledge and vocabulary necessary for 

comprehension, and promote the instructional shifts required within the standards. 

 

Statewide, Standardized Assessment Program 

The purpose of Florida’s student assessment program is to improve instruction; provide student 

academic achievement and learning gains data to students, parents, teachers, school 

administrators, and school district staff; and assess the cost benefit of the expenditure of taxpayer 

dollars.154 

 

Present Situation 

Statewide, Standardized Assessment Requirements 

The statewide, standardized assessment program consists of: 

 Statewide, standardized comprehensive assessments:155 

                                                 
149 Section 1012.98(1), F.S. 
150 Id. 
151 Id. 
152 Section 1012.98(11), F.S. 
153 Id. 
154 Section 1008.22(1), F.S. 
155 Section 1008.22(3)(a), F.S. Federal law requires students to be tested in reading or language arts and mathematics in each 

of grades 3 through 8 and not less than once in grades 10 through12. With respect to science, students must be tested once 

during grades 3 through 5, grades 6 through 9, and grades 10 through 12. 20 U.S.C. s. 6311(b)(3). The Florida Department of 

Education posts the Statewide Assessment Schedule on its website. Florida Department of Education, Florida Statewide 



BILL: CS/HB 7055   Page 30 

 

o English Language Arts (ELA) (grades 3 through 10); 

o Mathematics (grades 3-8); and 

o Science (once at the elementary grade level and once at the middle grade level).156 

 End-of-Course (EOC) assessments:157 

o Algebra I EOC; 

o Geometry EOC; 

o Biology I EOC; 

o U.S. History EOC; and 

o Civics (at the middle grade level). 

 

Additionally, the statewide, standardized assessment program also includes the Florida Alternate 

Assessment (FAA) to assess students with disabilities in the content knowledge and skills 

necessary for successful grade-to-grade progression and high school graduation.158 

 

Implementation Schedule 

The Commissioner of Education (commissioner) must establish and publish on the department’s 

website an implementation schedule for the ELA assessments and to the Mathematics 

assessments, including the Algebra I and Geometry EOC assessments.159 All such assessments 

must be delivered through computer-based testing, however, the following assessments must be 

delivered in a computer-based format, as follows: the grade 3 Mathematics assessment beginning 

in the 2016-2017 school year; the grade 4 ELA assessment, beginning in the 2015-2016 school 

year; and the grade 4 Mathematics assessment, beginning in the 2016-2017 school year.160 

Notwithstanding the requirements specified in law, statewide, standardized ELA and 

mathematics assessments in grades 3 through 6 must be delivered only in a paper-based format, 

beginning with the 2017-2018 school year, and all such assessments must be paper-based no 

later than the 2018-2019 school year.161 

 

Publication of Assessments 

The DOE must publish each statewide standardized assessment and EOC assessment, excluding 

assessment retakes, at least once on a triennial basis pursuant to a schedule determined by the 

commissioner.162 Each assessment, when published, must have been administered during the 

most recent school year. 

 

                                                 
Assessment Program 2016-2017 Schedule, available at https://info.fldoe.org/docushare/dsweb/Get/Document-7514/dps-

2015-175a.pdf  
156 Rule 6A-1.09422(3)(c), F.A.C., requires all eligible students in grades five and eight to take the statewide Science 

assessment. 
157 Section 1008.22(3)(b)1., F.S. 
158 Id. at (3)(c)1., F.S. A child with medical complexity may be exempt from participating in statewide, standardized 

assessments, including the Florida Alternate Assessment. Section 1008.22(11), F.S. 
159 Id. at (3)(d), F.S. 
160 Section 1008.22(3)(d), F.S. 
161 Id. 
162 Section 1008.22(8)(a), F.S. 



BILL: CS/HB 7055   Page 31 

 

Effect of Proposed Changes 

The bill requires all statewide, standardized ELA and math assessments in grades 7 and 8 to be 

administered in a paper-based format by the 2019-2020 school year. The bill also requires that 

reading passages and writing prompts used in statewide, standardized ELA assessments 

incorporate grade-level Social Studies core curricular content. 

 

Additionally, the bill specifies that the statewide, standardized assessments published by the 

DOE must be in a format that facilitates sharing of assessment items. 

 

Other Provisions 

Present Situation 

Emergency Coordination 

The Commissioner of Education (commissioner) is appointed by the SBE163 and serves as the 

Executive Director of the Department of Education (DOE).164 The DOE is responsible for 

coordinating, when necessary, the use of educational facilities during emergency activations 

among federal and state agencies, local school districts, colleges and universities.165 The DOE 

also serves as the primary liaison in coordinating all phases of emergency response from pre-

disaster planning through post disaster recovery of educational facilities.166 Currently, DOE staff 

members are assigned to serve as contacts (called “Emergency Management (EM) Buddies”) to 

provide the direct communications conduit between the DOE, district school superintendents, 

Florida College System (FCS) institution presidents, and state and local emergency operations 

centers.167 

 

Electronic Individual Education Plan 

In 2006,168 the Legislature enacted legislation to require the DOE to develop and have an 

operating electronic individual education plan (IEP) in place for potential statewide use by 

July 1, 2007.169 The law required the statewide system to be developed collaboratively with 

school districts and include input from school districts at that time developing or operating 

electronic IEP systems.170 

 

                                                 
163 Art. IX, s. 2, Fla. Const. 
164 Section 20.15(2), F.S. 
165 Florida Division of Emergency Management, The State of Florida 2016 Comprehensive Emergency Management Plan, 

2016 Draft Revision, 

http://www.floridadisaster.org/documents/CEMP/2016/2016%20State%20CEMP%20(COMPLETE%20FINAL%20DRAFT)

.pdf, at 10 of ESF 6 Appendix. 
166 Florida Division of Emergency Management, The State of Florida 2016 Comprehensive Emergency Management Plan, 

2016 Draft Revision, 

http://www.floridadisaster.org/documents/CEMP/2016/2016%20State%20CEMP%20(COMPLETE%20FINAL%20DRAFT)

.pdf, at 10 of ESF 6 Appendix. 
167 Florida Department of Education, Presentation to the Senate Committee on Education, Emergency Coordination of State 

and Local Entities (Oct, 9, 2017), available at http://www.flsenate.gov/Committees/Show/ED/Meeting%20Packet/3952, at 3. 
168 Section 31, ch. 2006-74, L.O.F. 
169 Section 1003.576, F.S. 
170 Id. 



BILL: CS/HB 7055   Page 32 

 

Student Discipline and Safety 

Each district school board is required to use the Safety and Security Best Practices developed by 

the Office of Program Policy Analysis and Government Accountability (OPPAGA) to conduct a 

self-assessment of the school districts’ current safety and security practices.171 

 

Based on these self-assessment findings, the district school superintendent must provide 

recommendations to the district school board which identify strategies and activities to improve 

school safety and security.172 

 

Dual Enrollment 

The dual enrollment articulation agreement required between postsecondary education institution 

and private schools in its geographic service area governs available courses and programs, 

student responsibilities, and costs, and must include provisions:173 

 Expressing that costs associated with tuition and fees, including registration, and laboratory 

fees, will not be passed along to the student. 

 Stating whether the private school will compensate the postsecondary institution for the 

standard tuition rate per credit hour for each dual enrollment course taken by its students. 

 

Students who participate in dual enrollment from a home education program or private school 

are responsible for providing their own instructional materials, as specified in the dual 

enrollment articulation agreements for private schools and for home education programs.174 

 

Effect of Proposed Changes 

Emergency Coordination 

The bill authorizes the commissioner to coordinate with school districts, FCS institutions, and 

the satellite offices of the Division of Blind Services and the Division of Vocational 

Rehabilitation to assess their need for resources and assistance in the event of an emergency 

situation. According to the DOE, the expanded authority will likely be helpful in securing 

necessary information in a timely manner before, during, and after any emergency situation.175 

 

Electronic Individual Education Plan 

The bill deletes an obsolete July 1, 2007, deadline for the DOE to develop and operate an 

electronic individual education plan (IEP) system for statewide use. The DOE has developed the 

required IEP system.176 

 

                                                 
171 Section 1006.07(6), F.S. 
172 Id. 
173 Id. 
174 Section 1007.271(13)(a) and (24)(a), F.S. Instructional materials assigned for use within dual enrollment courses must be 

made available to dual enrollment students from Florida public high schools free of charge. Id. at (17), F.S. 
175 Email, Florida Department of Education (March 17, 2017). 
176 Email, Florida Department of Education (Jan. 17, 2018). The electronic IEP system developed by the DOE is within the 

Portal to Exceptional Education Resources (PEER). Id. 



BILL: CS/HB 7055   Page 33 

 

Student Discipline and Safety 

The bill requires each school district to conduct a security risk assessment at each public school 

and conduct a self-assessment of the school districts’ current safety and security practices using a 

format developed by the DOE and deletes an outdated reference in current law to the Safety and 

Security Best Practices developed by the OPPAGA.177 Consequently, the public may be 

informed about school districts’ safety and security practices. 

 

Dual Enrollment 

The bill modifies the dual enrollment eligibility requirements for home education program 

students and the related dual enrollment articulation agreement to remove the requirement that 

home education program students are responsible for their own instructional materials. The bill 

also appropriates $550,000 for instructional materials. 

 

Additionally, the bill removes the requirement for the articulation agreement between a 

postsecondary education institution and a private school to include a provision indicating 

whether a private school will compensate a public postsecondary institution for dual enrollment 

instruction provided by the postsecondary institution to the private school’s students. The bill, 

however, does not specify that the public postsecondary institution may not charge tuition and 

fees to the private school for the dual enrollment of its students. 

 

Funding 

Present Situation 

Schools of Hope Grant Funds 

In 2017, the Legislature created the Schools of Hope Program to provide funds to eligible 

schools of hope for specified purposes and to up to 25 traditional public schools that are required 

to submit a district managed turnaround plan for implementation.178 

 

Supplemental Academic Instruction Allocation 

Each school district that has one or more of the 300 lowest-performing elementary schools based 

on the state reading assessment for the prior year must use supplemental academic instruction 

funds, along with the funds provided in the district’s research-based reading instruction 

allocation179 and other available funds, to provide an additional hour of instruction beyond the 

normal school day for each day of the entire school year for intensive reading instruction for the 

students in each of these schools.180 

 

                                                 
177 In 2014, the Legislature repealed the Best Financial Management Practices Review that authorized the Office of Program 

Policy Analysis and Government Accountability to develop best practices. Section 76, ch. 2014-39, L.O.F. 
178 Section 1002.333(10), F.S. 
179 The research-based reading instruction allocation is created to provide comprehensive reading instruction to students in 

kindergarten through grade 12. Section 1011.62(9)(a), F.S. 
180 Section 1011.62(1)(f)2., F.S. 



BILL: CS/HB 7055   Page 34 

 

Research-based Reading Allocation 

The research-based reading instruction allocation is created to provide comprehensive reading 

instruction to students in kindergarten through grade 12.181 

 

Career and Professional Education Bonus 

Florida law authorizes the award of a bonus calculated as an additional full-time equivalent 

member based on the completion of a Career and Professional Education (CAPE) industry 

certification and authorizes the State Board of Education to adopt rules establishing programs, 

industry certifications and courses for which a student participating in such program may earn 

credit towards high school graduation.182 

  

Effect of Proposed Changes 

Schools of Hope Grant Funds 

The bill authorizes the carryforward, for up to 5 years after July 1 2017, of any funds allocated 

for the Schools of Hope Program which are not disbursed by June 30 of the fiscal year in which 

the funds are allocated. 

 

Supplemental Academic Instruction Allocation 

The bill renames the supplemental academic instruction categorical fund and revises the focus to 

require, beginning in the 2018-2019 school year, each school that earns a “D” or “F” grade to use 

the allocation to implement intervention and support strategies for school improvement and 

salary supplements. The bill also deletes the 300 lowest performing elementary schools from the 

authorized use of the allocation funds183 and adds dropout prevention programs to the authorized 

uses of funds. 

 

Research-based Reading Allocation 

The bill provides priority within each school district to one or more of the 300 lowest-performing 

elementary schools, based on a 3-year average, to provide an additional hour per day of reading 

instruction. The bill authorizes permissive participation in such additional hour for students who 

scored a level 4 or 5 on the ELA assessment in the prior year. The bill requires the use of 

teachers who are certified or endorsed in reading in order to be eligible for the allocation and 

provides that each school district only has to submit a comprehensive reading plan for a school 

that earns a grade below a “B.” 

 

Career and Professional Education Bonus 

The bill provides that a teacher may not be awarded a CAPE industry certification bonus if the 

teacher fails to maintain the security of any CAPE industry certification examination or 

otherwise violates the security or administration protocol of any assessment instrument that may 

result in a bonus being awarded to the teacher. Additionally, the bill expands the authority of the 

                                                 
181 Id. at (9)(a), F.S. 
182 Id. at (1)(o), F.S. 
183 The bill grants these schools priority in the research-based reading allocation. 



BILL: CS/HB 7055   Page 35 

 

SBE to adopt rules by authorizing the SBE to establish the criteria under which a student’s 

industry certification or grade may be rescinded. 

 

Appropriations 

The bill appropriates $19,350,000 in recurring funds from the General Revenue Fund to the 

Department of Education for the following purposes: 

 $9,700,000 for reading scholarship accounts; 

 $300,000 for administrative fees associated with the reading scholarship accounts; 

 $2,000,000 to implement DOE obligations for the Hope Scholarship Program; 

 $5,600,000 to implement paper-based state assessment provisions; 

 $950,000 to implement the revised state scholarship accountability provisions; 

 $250,000 for a competitive grant award to a state university to review the Florida Tax 

Credit scholarship Program; and 

 $550,000 for dual enrollment instructional materials for home education program 

students. 

 

Additionally, the bill appropriates $850,000 in nonrecurring funds from the General Revenue 

Fund to the Department of Education for the following purposes: 

 $750,000 for the DOE to develop a web-based fiscal transparency tool; and 

 $100,000 for the DOE to contract with an independent third party to conduct an 

investigation of certain district school boards’ accounts and records, as specified. 

 

The bill takes effect July 1, 2018. 

IV. Constitutional Issues: 

A. Municipality/County Mandates Restrictions: 

None. 

B. Public Records/Open Meetings Issues: 

None. 

C. Trust Funds Restrictions: 

None. 

V. Fiscal Impact Statement: 

A. Tax/Fee Issues: 

School Choice Scholarship - Hope Scholarship 

 



BILL: CS/HB 7055   Page 36 

 

The revenue estimating conference estimated proposed language similar to SB 1172,184 

except that the pertinent language in the proposal authorized a one-time contribution of 

$20 per vehicle purchase instead of $105 as in the current bill and contained a description 

of what the contribution form, on which the necessary contribution election must be 

made, will contain.185 The contribution form description may impact the participation 

rate, which could affect the bill’s fiscal impact.186 

 

Based on the proposed language with a $20 contribution amount and the form 

description, the revenue estimating conference estimates that the proposed language will 

reduce General Revenue Fund receipts by at least $7.9 million in Fiscal Year 2018-19 

and each year thereafter.187 Using the revenue estimate conference estimate with a $105 

contribution amount specified in the bill, the bill may reduce General Revenue Fund 

receipts by at least $41.5 million. 

B. Private Sector Impact: 

School Choice Scholarship - Hope Scholarship 

 

Private schools that enroll students who receive a Hope Scholarship Program award may 

see an increase in revenue.188 

C. Government Sector Impact: 

None. 

VI. Technical Deficiencies: 

None. 

VII. Related Issues: 

None. 

VIII. Statutes Affected: 

This bill substantially amends the following sections of the Florida Statutes: 11.45, 112.313, 

112.31455, 213.053, 446.041, 446.081, 1001.10, 1001.20, 1001.39, 1001.395, 1001.42, 1001.51, 

1002.33, 1002.331, 1002.333, 1002.37, 1002.385, 1002.39, 1002.395, 1002.421, 1003.42, 

1003.576, 1006.07, 1007.271, 1008.22, 1010.20, 1010.30, 1011.01, 1011.03, 1011.035, 

1011.051, 1011.06, 1011.09, 1011.10, 1011.60, 1011.62, 1011.6202, , 1011.69, 1011.71, 

                                                 
184 SB 1172 is substantively similar to the Hope Scholarship Program provisions in HB 7055. 
185 Florida Office of Economic and Demographic Research, Revenue Estimating Conference, Proposed Language -- Hope 

Scholarship, (Dec. 1, 2017), available at 

http://edr.state.fl.us/Content/conferences/revenueimpact/archives/2018/_pdf/Impact1201.pdf (last visited Jan. 19, 2018). 
186 Id. 
187 Id. 
188 Florida Department of Education, 2018 Agency Legislative Bill Analysis: HB 1, (Nov. 3, 2017), at 12. HB 1 is 

substantively similar to the Hope Scholarship Program provisions in HB 7055. 



BILL: CS/HB 7055   Page 37 

 

1012.23, 1012.2315, 1012.28, 1012.32, 1012.55, 1012.56, 1012.562, 1012.59, 1012.98, 1013.28, 

1013.385, and 1013.62. 

This bill creates the following sections of the Florida Statutes: 212.1832, 250.483, 683.147, 

1002.40, and 1002.411. 

This bill repeals section 1011.64 of the Florida Statutes. 

The bill creates two undesignated sections of Florida Law. 

IX. Additional Information: 

A. Committee Substitute – Statement of Changes: 
(Summarizing differences between the Committee Substitute and the prior version of the bill.) 

None. 

B. Amendments: 

Barcode 903516 by Education on February 20, 2018: 

Compared to CS/HB 7055, the amendment deletes certain provisions and: 

 Modifies the Hope Scholarship Program to provide the parent of a public school 

student who was the victim of a substantiated incident of violence or abuse an 

opportunity to transfer the student to another public school that has capacity or to 

request and receive from the state a scholarship for the student to attend an eligible 

private school. 

 Modifies the accountability provisions for private schools that participate in state 

school choice scholarship programs and applies such provisions consistently to the 

participating schools. 

 Adds the following provisions related to K-12 education enhancements: 

o Creates the mental health assistance allocation within the Florida Education 

Finance Program (FEFP) to provide funds for school-based mental health 

programs and establishes related requirements. 

o Establishes the hope supplemental services allocation within the FEFP to provide 

schools implementing a district-managed turnaround plan or a turnaround option 

specified in law with funds to offer services designed to improve the overall 

academic and community welfare of the schools’ students and their families. 

o Establishes the funding compression allocation within the FEFP to provide 

additional funding to school districts and developmental research schools whose 

total funds per FTE in the prior year were less than the statewide average. 

o Strengthens school improvement and accountability measures in the following 

ways: 

 Provides that a school must complete two years of a district-managed 

turnaround plan before the school is designated as persistently low-performing 

and required to implement a turnaround option. 

 Expands the turnaround options available to a school district for a persistently 

low performing school to include a franchise model school that is led by a 

specified highly effective principal. 

o Revises the school of hope provisions to require a hope operator to submit a 

notice of intent containing an operations plan specifying the hope operator’s 

intent to undertake the operations of the persistently low-performing school and 



BILL: CS/HB 7055   Page 38 

 

incentivizes a hope operator to establish a school of hope at the district-owned 

facilities of the persistently low-performing school. 

o Modifies the eligibility requirements and calculation methodology for specified 

charter school capital outlay provisions and revises the amount of discretionary 

millage that a school district may expend for specified purposes. 

o Renames the Collegiate High School Program as the Structured High School 

Acceleration Program and creates a bonus funding mechanism to incentivize 

school district interest in expanding programs. 

o Clarifies that school districts may construct or renovate facilities without a survey 

recommendation when using funds from specified local revenue sources. 

 Adds the following provisions related to instruction in public schools: 

o Establishes a separate one-half credit requirement in personal financial literacy, 

and specifies financial literacy standards and instruction for students entering 

grade 9 in the 2018-2019 school year and thereafter. 

o Requires each school district to provide students instruction in cardiopulmonary 

resuscitation (CPR) and the use of an automated external defibrillator. 

 Adds a provision to authorize an individual member of the State Legislature to visit 

any district school, including any charter school, in his or her legislative district, on 

any day and at any time at his or her pleasure. 

 Adds a provision to modify the Florida Best and Brightest Teacher Scholarship 

Program to deem a school district employee who, in the prior school year, was rated 

highly effective and met the eligibility requirements of the scholarship as a classroom 

teacher, as eligible to receive a scholarship award during the current school year if he 

or she maintains employment with the school district. 

 Adds a provision to authorize an early learning coalition to refuse to contract with a 

private provider of the Voluntary Prekindergarten Education Program if the provider 

has been cited for a class I violation. 

 Adds a provision to revise the definition of a rare disease for the purposes of the 

Gardiner Scholarship Program and conforms the definition of a rare disease to the 

definition provided by the Orphan Drug Act of 1983, Pub. L. No. 97-414. 

 Modifies school safety requirements in the following ways: 

o Requires a school district to formulate and prescribe policies and procedures for 

emergency drills for hostage and active shooter situations and establish model 

emergency management and emergency preparedness procedures for active 

shooter situations. The amendment specifies that active shooter situation training 

must be conducted by the law enforcement agency or agencies that are designated 

as the first responders to the school’s campus. 

o Requires each school district to conduct security risk assessments at each public 

school and conduct a self-assessment of the school districts’ current safety and 

security practices using a format prescribed by the Department of Education 

(DOE) and develop a plan that includes having a secure, single point of entry onto 

school grounds, using a format prescribed by the DOE. 

o Requires a district school board or a private school principal or governing board 

to allow the law enforcement agency or agencies that are designated as first 

responders to the school’s or districts’ campus tour such campuses once every 3 

years and to document any recommended changes to school safety and emergency 

issues by the law enforcement agency based on a campus tour. 



BILL: CS/HB 7055   Page 39 

 

o Requires a district school board to establish a school resource office program. 

 Modifies appropriations, for the 2018-2019 fiscal year: 

o The sum of $2,596,560 in recurring funds from the General Revenue Fund to the 

DOE for the following purposes: 

 $2 million to implement the Hope Scholarship Program. 

 $596,560 to implement additional state scholarship oversight requirements. 

o The sum of $392,134 in nonrecurring funds from the General Revenue Fund to 

the DOE for the following purposes: 

 $142,134 to implement additional state scholarship oversight requirements. 

 $250,000 to award a competitive grant to study student performance in the 

Florida Tax Credit Scholarship Program as required in law. 

 Specifies a July 1, 2018, effective date, except as otherwise expressly provided. 

This Senate Bill Analysis does not reflect the intent or official position of the bill’s introducer or the Florida Senate. 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì826696\Î826696 

 

Page 1 of 115 

2/16/2018 9:39:34 AM 581-03217-18 

LEGISLATIVE ACTION 

Senate 

Comm: RE 

02/21/2018 

 

 

 

 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

 

House 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Committee on Education (Hukill) recommended the following: 

 

Senate Amendment (with title amendment) 1 

 2 

Delete everything after the enacting clause 3 

and insert: 4 

Section 1. Section 212.1832, Florida Statutes, is created 5 

to read: 6 

212.1832 Credit for contributions to the Hope Scholarship 7 

Program.— 8 

(1) Upon adoption of rules, the purchaser of a motor 9 

vehicle shall be granted a credit of 100 percent of an eligible 10 

contribution made to an eligible nonprofit scholarship-funding 11 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì826696\Î826696 

 

Page 2 of 115 

2/16/2018 9:39:34 AM 581-03217-18 

organization under s. 1002.40 against any tax imposed by the 12 

state and collected from the purchaser by a dealer, designated 13 

agent, or private tag agent as a result of the purchase or 14 

acquisition of a motor vehicle. For purposes of this subsection, 15 

the term “purchase” does not include the lease or rental of a 16 

motor vehicle. 17 

(2) A dealer shall take a credit against any tax imposed by 18 

the state under this chapter on the purchase of a motor vehicle 19 

in an amount equal to the credit granted to the purchaser under 20 

subsection (1). 21 

(3) For purposes of the distributions of tax revenue under 22 

s. 212.20, the department shall disregard any tax credits 23 

allowed under this section to ensure that any reduction in tax 24 

revenue received that is attributable to the tax credits results 25 

only in a reduction in distributions to the General Revenue 26 

Fund. The provisions of s. 1002.40 apply to the credit 27 

authorized by this section. 28 

Section 2. Subsection (21) is added to section 213.053, 29 

Florida Statutes, to read: 30 

213.053 Confidentiality and information sharing.— 31 

(21)(a) The department may provide to an eligible nonprofit 32 

scholarship-funding organization, as defined in s. 1002.40, a 33 

dealer’s name, address, federal employer identification number, 34 

and information related to differences between credits taken by 35 

the dealer pursuant to s. 212.1832(2) and amounts remitted to 36 

the eligible nonprofit scholarship-funding organization under s. 37 

1002.40(13)(b)3. The eligible nonprofit scholarship-funding 38 

organization may use the information for purposes of recovering 39 

eligible contributions designated for that organization that 40 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì826696\Î826696 

 

Page 3 of 115 

2/16/2018 9:39:34 AM 581-03217-18 

were collected by the dealer but never remitted to the 41 

organization. 42 

(b) Nothing in this subsection authorizes the disclosure of 43 

information if such disclosure is prohibited by federal law. An 44 

eligible nonprofit scholarship-funding organization is bound by 45 

the same requirements of confidentiality and the same penalties 46 

for a violation of the requirements as the department. 47 

Section 3. Effective July 1, 2019, chapter 623, Florida 48 

Statutes, consisting of sections 623.01, 623.02, 623.03, 623.04, 49 

623.05, 623.06, 623.07, 623.08, 623.09, 623.10, 623.11, 623.12, 50 

623.13, and 623.14, is repealed. 51 

Section 4. Subsections (4) and (5) of section 1001.10, 52 

Florida Statutes, are amended to read: 53 

1001.10 Commissioner of Education; general powers and 54 

duties.— 55 

(4) The Department of Education shall provide technical 56 

assistance to school districts, charter schools, the Florida 57 

School for the Deaf and the Blind, and private schools that 58 

accept scholarship students under s. 1002.385, s. 1002.39, or s. 59 

1002.395, or another state scholarship program under chapter 60 

1002 in the development of policies, procedures, and training 61 

related to employment practices and standards of ethical conduct 62 

for instructional personnel and school administrators, as 63 

defined in s. 1012.01. 64 

(5) The Department of Education shall provide authorized 65 

staff of school districts, charter schools, the Florida School 66 

for the Deaf and the Blind, and private schools that accept 67 

scholarship students under s. 1002.385, s. 1002.39, or s. 68 

1002.395, or another state scholarship program under chapter 69 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì826696\Î826696 

 

Page 4 of 115 

2/16/2018 9:39:34 AM 581-03217-18 

1002 with access to electronic verification of information from 70 

the following employment screening tools: 71 

(a) The Professional Practices’ Database of Disciplinary 72 

Actions Against Educators; and 73 

(b) The Department of Education’s Teacher Certification 74 

Database. 75 

 76 

This subsection does not require the department to provide these 77 

staff with unlimited access to the databases. However, the 78 

department shall provide the staff with access to the data 79 

necessary for performing employment history checks of the 80 

instructional personnel and school administrators included in 81 

the databases. 82 

Section 5. Section 1001.4205, Florida Statutes, is amended 83 

to read: 84 

1001.4205 Visitation of schools by an individual school 85 

board or charter school governing board member.—An individual 86 

member of a district school board may, on any day and at any 87 

time at his or her pleasure, visit any district school in his or 88 

her school district. An individual member of the State 89 

Legislature may, on any day and at any time at his or her 90 

pleasure, visit any district school, including any charter 91 

school, in his or her legislative district. An individual member 92 

of a charter school governing board member may, on any day and 93 

at any time at his or her pleasure, visit any charter school 94 

governed by the charter school’s governing board. 95 

(1) The visiting individual board member must sign in and 96 

sign out at the school’s main office and wear his or her board 97 

or State Legislature identification badge, as applicable, at all 98 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì826696\Î826696 

 

Page 5 of 115 

2/16/2018 9:39:34 AM 581-03217-18 

times while present on school premises. 99 

(2) The board, the school, or any other person or entity, 100 

including, but not limited to, the principal of the school, the 101 

school superintendent, or any other board member, may not 102 

require the visiting individual board member to provide notice 103 

before visiting the school. 104 

(3) The school may offer, but may not require, an escort to 105 

accompany the a visiting individual board member during the 106 

visit. 107 

(4) A Another board member or a district employee, 108 

including, but not limited to, the superintendent, the school 109 

principal, or the superintendent’s or the principal’s his or her 110 

designee, may not limit the duration or scope of the visit or 111 

direct the a visiting individual board member to leave the 112 

premises. 113 

(5) A board, district, or school administrative policy or 114 

practice may not prohibit or limit the authority granted to the 115 

visiting individual a board member under this section. 116 

Section 6. Section 1002.01, Florida Statutes, is amended to 117 

read: 118 

1002.01 Definitions.— 119 

(1) A “home education program” means the sequentially 120 

progressive instruction of a student directed by his or her 121 

parent in order to satisfy the attendance requirements of ss. 122 

1002.41, 1003.01(13), and 1003.21(1). 123 

(2) A “private school” is a nonpublic school that is 124 

registered in accordance with s. 1002.42 and is defined as an 125 

individual, association, copartnership, or corporation, or 126 

department, division, or section of such organizations, that 127 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì826696\Î826696 

 

Page 6 of 115 

2/16/2018 9:39:34 AM 581-03217-18 

designates itself as an educational center that includes 128 

kindergarten or a higher grade or as an elementary, secondary, 129 

business, technical, or trade school below college level or any 130 

organization that provides instructional services that meet the 131 

intent of s. 1003.01(13) or that gives preemployment or 132 

supplementary training in technology or in fields of trade or 133 

industry or that offers academic, literary, or career training 134 

below college level, or any combination of the above, including 135 

an institution that performs the functions of the above schools 136 

through correspondence or extension, except those licensed under 137 

the provisions of chapter 1005. A private school may be a 138 

parochial, religious, denominational, for-profit, or nonprofit 139 

school attended by a student in order to satisfy the attendance 140 

requirements of s. 1003.01(13). This definition does not include 141 

home education programs conducted in accordance with s. 1002.41. 142 

(3) For purposes of this chapter, a “scholarship program” 143 

means any one of the following: 144 

(a) The Opportunity Scholarship Program established 145 

pursuant to s. 1002.38. 146 

(b) The Gardiner Scholarship Program established pursuant 147 

to s. 1002.385. 148 

(c) The John M. McKay Scholarships for Students with 149 

Disabilities Program established pursuant to s. 1002.39. 150 

(d) The Florida Tax Credit Scholarship Program established 151 

pursuant to s. 1002.395. 152 

(e) The Hope Scholarship Program established pursuant to s. 153 

1002.40. 154 

Section 7. Paragraph (b) of subsection (2) and subsection 155 

(6) of section 1002.20, Florida Statutes, are amended to read: 156 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì826696\Î826696 

 

Page 7 of 115 

2/16/2018 9:39:34 AM 581-03217-18 

1002.20 K-12 student and parent rights.—Parents of public 157 

school students must receive accurate and timely information 158 

regarding their child’s academic progress and must be informed 159 

of ways they can help their child to succeed in school. K-12 160 

students and their parents are afforded numerous statutory 161 

rights including, but not limited to, the following: 162 

(2) ATTENDANCE.— 163 

(b) Regular school attendance.—Parents of students who have 164 

attained the age of 6 years by February 1 of any school year but 165 

who have not attained the age of 16 years must comply with the 166 

compulsory school attendance laws. Parents have the option to 167 

comply with the school attendance laws by attendance of the 168 

student in a public school; a private parochial, religious, or 169 

denominational school; a private school; or a home education 170 

program; or a private tutoring program, in accordance with the 171 

provisions of s. 1003.01(13). 172 

(6) EDUCATIONAL CHOICE.— 173 

(a) Public educational school choices.—Parents of public 174 

school students may seek any public educational school choice 175 

options that are applicable and available to students throughout 176 

the state. These options may include controlled open enrollment, 177 

single-gender programs, lab schools, virtual instruction 178 

programs, charter schools, charter technical career centers, 179 

magnet schools, alternative schools, special programs, auditory-180 

oral education programs, advanced placement, dual enrollment, 181 

International Baccalaureate, International General Certificate 182 

of Secondary Education (pre-AICE), CAPE digital tools, CAPE 183 

industry certifications, collegiate high school programs, 184 

Advanced International Certificate of Education, early 185 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì826696\Î826696 

 

Page 8 of 115 

2/16/2018 9:39:34 AM 581-03217-18 

admissions, credit by examination or demonstration of 186 

competency, the New World School of the Arts, the Florida School 187 

for the Deaf and the Blind, and the Florida Virtual School. 188 

These options may also include the public educational choice 189 

options of the Opportunity Scholarship Program and the McKay 190 

Scholarships for Students with Disabilities Program. 191 

(b) Private educational choices.—The parent of a student 192 

may choose to enroll the student in a private school, as defined 193 

in s. 1002.01(2). Parents of public school students may seek 194 

private educational choice options under certain programs. 195 

1. Under the McKay Scholarships for Students with 196 

Disabilities Program, the parent of a public school student with 197 

a disability may request and receive a McKay Scholarship for the 198 

student to attend a private school in accordance with s. 199 

1002.39. 200 

2. Under the Florida Tax Credit Scholarship Program, the 201 

parent of a student who qualifies for free or reduced-price 202 

school lunch or who is currently placed, or during the previous 203 

state fiscal year was placed, in foster care as defined in s. 204 

39.01 may seek a scholarship from an eligible nonprofit 205 

scholarship-funding organization in accordance with s. 1002.395. 206 

3. Under the Gardiner Scholarship Program Florida Personal 207 

Learning Scholarship Accounts Program, the parent of a student 208 

with a qualifying disability may apply for a Gardiner 209 

Scholarship personal learning scholarship to be used for 210 

individual educational needs in accordance with s. 1002.385. 211 

4. Under the Hope Scholarship Program, the parent of a 212 

student who was the victim of a substantiated incident of 213 

violence or abuse while attending a public school may seek a 214 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì826696\Î826696 

 

Page 9 of 115 

2/16/2018 9:39:34 AM 581-03217-18 

scholarship for the student to attend a private school in 215 

accordance with s. 1002.40. 216 

(c) Home education.—The parent of a student may choose to 217 

place the student in a home education program, as defined in s. 218 

1002.01(1), in accordance with the provisions of s. 1002.41. 219 

(d) Private tutoring.—The parent of a student may choose to 220 

place the student in a private tutoring program in accordance 221 

with the provisions of s. 1002.43(1). 222 

Section 8. Paragraph (b) of subsection (6) of section 223 

1002.33, Florida Statutes, is amended to read: 224 

1002.33 Charter schools.— 225 

(6) APPLICATION PROCESS AND REVIEW.—Charter school 226 

applications are subject to the following requirements: 227 

(b) A sponsor shall receive and review all applications for 228 

a charter school using the evaluation instrument developed by 229 

the Department of Education. A sponsor shall receive and 230 

consider charter school applications received on or before 231 

August 1 of each calendar year for charter schools to be opened 232 

at the beginning of the school district’s next school year, or 233 

to be opened at a time agreed to by the applicant and the 234 

sponsor. A sponsor may not refuse to receive a charter school 235 

application submitted before August 1 and may receive an 236 

application submitted later than August 1 if it chooses. 237 

Beginning in 2018 and thereafter, a sponsor shall receive and 238 

consider charter school applications received on or before 239 

February 1 of each calendar year for charter schools to be 240 

opened 18 months later at the beginning of the school district’s 241 

school year, or to be opened at a time agreed to by the 242 

applicant and the sponsor. A sponsor may not refuse to receive a 243 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì826696\Î826696 

 

Page 10 of 115 

2/16/2018 9:39:34 AM 581-03217-18 

charter school application submitted before February 1 and may 244 

receive an application submitted later than February 1 if it 245 

chooses. A sponsor may not charge an applicant for a charter any 246 

fee for the processing or consideration of an application, and a 247 

sponsor may not base its consideration or approval of a final 248 

application upon the promise of future payment of any kind. 249 

Before approving or denying any application, the sponsor shall 250 

allow the applicant, upon receipt of written notification, at 251 

least 7 calendar days to make technical or nonsubstantive 252 

corrections and clarifications, including, but not limited to, 253 

corrections of grammatical, typographical, and like errors or 254 

missing signatures, if such errors are identified by the sponsor 255 

as cause to deny the final application. 256 

1. In order to facilitate an accurate budget projection 257 

process, a sponsor shall be held harmless for FTE students who 258 

are not included in the FTE projection due to approval of 259 

charter school applications after the FTE projection deadline. 260 

In a further effort to facilitate an accurate budget projection, 261 

within 15 calendar days after receipt of a charter school 262 

application, a sponsor shall report to the Department of 263 

Education the name of the applicant entity, the proposed charter 264 

school location, and its projected FTE. 265 

2. In order to ensure fiscal responsibility, an application 266 

for a charter school shall include a full accounting of expected 267 

assets, a projection of expected sources and amounts of income, 268 

including income derived from projected student enrollments and 269 

from community support, and an expense projection that includes 270 

full accounting of the costs of operation, including start-up 271 

costs. 272 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì826696\Î826696 

 

Page 11 of 115 

2/16/2018 9:39:34 AM 581-03217-18 

3.a. A sponsor shall by a majority vote approve or deny an 273 

application no later than 90 calendar days after the application 274 

is received, unless the sponsor and the applicant mutually agree 275 

in writing to temporarily postpone the vote to a specific date, 276 

at which time the sponsor shall by a majority vote approve or 277 

deny the application. If the sponsor fails to act on the 278 

application, an applicant may appeal to the State Board of 279 

Education as provided in paragraph (c). If an application is 280 

denied, the sponsor shall, within 10 calendar days after such 281 

denial, articulate in writing the specific reasons, based upon 282 

good cause, supporting its denial of the application and shall 283 

provide the letter of denial and supporting documentation to the 284 

applicant and to the Department of Education. 285 

b. An application submitted by a high-performing charter 286 

school identified pursuant to s. 1002.331 or a high-performing 287 

charter school system identified pursuant to s. 1002.332 may be 288 

denied by the sponsor only if the sponsor demonstrates by clear 289 

and convincing evidence that: 290 

(I) The application does not materially comply with the 291 

requirements in paragraph (a); 292 

(II) The charter school proposed in the application does 293 

not materially comply with the requirements in paragraphs 294 

(9)(a)-(f); 295 

(III) The proposed charter school’s educational program 296 

does not substantially replicate that of the applicant or one of 297 

the applicant’s high-performing charter schools; 298 

(IV) The applicant has made a material misrepresentation or 299 

false statement or concealed an essential or material fact 300 

during the application process; or 301 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì826696\Î826696 

 

Page 12 of 115 

2/16/2018 9:39:34 AM 581-03217-18 

(V) The proposed charter school’s educational program and 302 

financial management practices do not materially comply with the 303 

requirements of this section. 304 

 305 

Material noncompliance is a failure to follow requirements or a 306 

violation of prohibitions applicable to charter school 307 

applications, which failure is quantitatively or qualitatively 308 

significant either individually or when aggregated with other 309 

noncompliance. An applicant is considered to be replicating a 310 

high-performing charter school if the proposed school is 311 

substantially similar to at least one of the applicant’s high-312 

performing charter schools and the organization or individuals 313 

involved in the establishment and operation of the proposed 314 

school are significantly involved in the operation of replicated 315 

schools. 316 

c. If the sponsor denies an application submitted by a 317 

high-performing charter school or a high-performing charter 318 

school system, the sponsor must, within 10 calendar days after 319 

such denial, state in writing the specific reasons, based upon 320 

the criteria in sub-subparagraph b., supporting its denial of 321 

the application and must provide the letter of denial and 322 

supporting documentation to the applicant and to the Department 323 

of Education. The applicant may appeal the sponsor’s denial of 324 

the application in accordance with paragraph (c). 325 

4. For budget projection purposes, the sponsor shall report 326 

to the Department of Education the approval or denial of an 327 

application within 10 calendar days after such approval or 328 

denial. In the event of approval, the report to the Department 329 

of Education shall include the final projected FTE for the 330 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì826696\Î826696 

 

Page 13 of 115 

2/16/2018 9:39:34 AM 581-03217-18 

approved charter school. 331 

5. Upon approval of an application, the initial startup 332 

shall commence with the beginning of the public school calendar 333 

for the district in which the charter is granted. A charter 334 

school may defer the opening of the school’s operations for up 335 

to 3 2 years to provide time for adequate facility planning. The 336 

charter school must provide written notice of such intent to the 337 

sponsor and the parents of enrolled students at least 30 338 

calendar days before the first day of school. 339 

Section 9. Subsection (1) of section 1002.331, Florida 340 

Statutes, is amended to read: 341 

1002.331 High-performing charter schools.— 342 

(1) A charter school is a high-performing charter school if 343 

it: 344 

(a) Received at least two school grades of “A” and no 345 

school grade below “B,” pursuant to s. 1008.34, during each of 346 

the previous 3 school years or received at least two consecutive 347 

school grades of “A” in the most recent 2 school years. 348 

(b) Received an unqualified opinion on each annual 349 

financial audit required under s. 218.39 in the most recent 3 350 

fiscal years for which such audits are available. 351 

(c) Did not receive a financial audit that revealed one or 352 

more of the financial emergency conditions set forth in s. 353 

218.503(1) in the most recent 3 fiscal years for which such 354 

audits are available. However, this requirement is deemed met 355 

for a charter school-in-the-workplace if there is a finding in 356 

an audit that the school has the monetary resources available to 357 

cover any reported deficiency or that the deficiency does not 358 

result in a deteriorating financial condition pursuant to s. 359 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì826696\Î826696 

 

Page 14 of 115 

2/16/2018 9:39:34 AM 581-03217-18 

1002.345(1)(a)3. 360 

 361 

For purposes of determining initial eligibility, the 362 

requirements of paragraphs (b) and (c) only apply to the most 363 

recent 2 fiscal years if the charter school earns two 364 

consecutive grades of “A.” A virtual charter school established 365 

under s. 1002.33 is not eligible for designation as a high-366 

performing charter school. 367 

Section 10. Present subsections (11) and (12) of section 368 

1002.333, Florida Statutes, are redesignated as subsections (12) 369 

and (13), respectively, a new subsection (11) is added to that 370 

section, and subsections (1) and (2), paragraph (a) of 371 

subsection (4), paragraphs (b), (g), and (i) of subsection (5), 372 

paragraph (a) of subsection (7), subsection (9), and paragraph 373 

(b) of subsection (10) of that section are amended, to read: 374 

1002.333 Persistently low-performing schools.— 375 

(1) DEFINITIONS.—As used in this section, the term: 376 

(a) “Hope operator” means an entity identified by the 377 

department pursuant to subsection (2). 378 

(b) “Persistently low-performing school” means a school 379 

that has completed 2 school years of a district-managed 380 

turnaround plan required under s. 1008.33(4)(a) and has not 381 

improved its school grade to a “C” or higher, earned three 382 

consecutive grades lower than a “C,” pursuant to s. 1008.34, and 383 

a school that was closed pursuant to s. 1008.33(4) within 2 384 

years after the submission of a notice of intent. 385 

(c) “School of hope” means: 386 

1. A charter school operated by a hope operator which 387 

serves students from one or more persistently low-performing 388 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì826696\Î826696 

 

Page 15 of 115 

2/16/2018 9:39:34 AM 581-03217-18 

schools; is located in the attendance zone of a persistently 389 

low-performing school or within a 5-mile radius of such school, 390 

whichever is greater; and is a Title I eligible school; or 391 

2. A school operated by a hope operator pursuant to s. 392 

1008.33(4)(b)3.b. s. 1008.33(4)(b)3. 393 

(2) HOPE OPERATOR.—A hope operator is a nonprofit 394 

organization with tax exempt status under s. 501(c)(3) of the 395 

Internal Revenue Code which that operates three or more charter 396 

schools that serve students in grades K-12 in Florida or other 397 

states with a record of serving students from low-income 398 

families and is designated by the State Board of Education as a 399 

hope operator based on a determination that: 400 

(a) The past performance of the hope operator meets or 401 

exceeds the following criteria: 402 

1. The achievement of enrolled students exceeds the 403 

district and state averages of the states in which the 404 

operator’s schools operate; 405 

2. The average college attendance rate at all schools 406 

currently operated by the operator exceeds 80 percent, if such 407 

data is available; 408 

3. The percentage of students eligible for a free or 409 

reduced price lunch under the National School Lunch Act enrolled 410 

at all schools currently operated by the operator exceeds 70 411 

percent; 412 

4. The operator is in good standing with the authorizer in 413 

each state in which it operates; 414 

5. The audited financial statements of the operator are 415 

free of material misstatements and going concern issues; and 416 

6. Other outcome measures as determined by the State Board 417 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì826696\Î826696 

 

Page 16 of 115 

2/16/2018 9:39:34 AM 581-03217-18 

of Education; 418 

(b) The operator was awarded a United States Department of 419 

Education Charter School Program Grant for Replication and 420 

Expansion of High-Quality Charter Schools within the preceding 3 421 

years before applying to be a hope operator; 422 

(c) The operator receives funding through the National Fund 423 

of the Charter School Growth Fund to accelerate the growth of 424 

the nation’s best charter schools; or 425 

(d) The operator is selected by a district school board in 426 

accordance with s. 1008.33. 427 

 428 

An entity that meets the requirements of paragraph (b), 429 

paragraph (c), or paragraph (d) before the adoption by the state 430 

board of measurable criteria pursuant to paragraph (a) shall be 431 

designated as a hope operator. After the adoption of the 432 

measurable criteria, an entity, including a governing board that 433 

operates a school established pursuant to s. 1008.33(4)(b)3.b. 434 

s. 1008.33(4)(b)3., shall be designated as a hope operator if it 435 

meets the criteria of paragraph (a). 436 

(4) ESTABLISHMENT OF SCHOOLS OF HOPE.—A hope operator 437 

seeking to open a school of hope must submit a notice of intent 438 

to the school district in which a persistently low-performing 439 

school has been identified by the State Board of Education 440 

pursuant to subsection (10). 441 

(a) The notice of intent must include all of the following: 442 

1. An academic focus and plan. 443 

2. A financial plan. 444 

3. Goals and objectives for increasing student achievement 445 

for the students from low-income families. 446 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì826696\Î826696 

 

Page 17 of 115 

2/16/2018 9:39:34 AM 581-03217-18 

4. A completed or planned community outreach plan. 447 

5. The organizational history of success in working with 448 

students with similar demographics. 449 

6. The grade levels to be served and enrollment 450 

projections. 451 

7. The specific proposed location or geographic area 452 

proposed for the school and its proximity to the persistently 453 

low-performing school or the plan to use the district-owned 454 

facilities of the persistently low-performing school. 455 

8. A staffing plan. 456 

9. An operations plan specifying the operator’s intent to 457 

undertake the operations of the persistently low-performing 458 

school in its entirety or through limited components of the 459 

operations. 460 

(5) PERFORMANCE-BASED AGREEMENT.—The following shall 461 

comprise the entirety of the performance-based agreement: 462 

(b) The location or geographic area proposed for the school 463 

of hope and its proximity to the persistently low-performing 464 

school. 465 

(f)(g) The grounds for termination, including failure to 466 

meet the requirements for student performance established 467 

pursuant to paragraph (d) (e), generally accepted standards of 468 

fiscal management, or material violation of terms of the 469 

agreement. The nonrenewal or termination of a performance-based 470 

agreement must comply with the requirements of s. 1002.33(8). 471 

(h)(i) A provision establishing the initial term as 5 472 

years. The agreement must shall be renewed, upon the request of 473 

the hope operator, unless the school fails to meet the 474 

requirements for student performance established pursuant to 475 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì826696\Î826696 

 

Page 18 of 115 

2/16/2018 9:39:34 AM 581-03217-18 

paragraph (d) (e) or generally accepted standards of fiscal 476 

management or the school of hope materially violates the law or 477 

the terms of the agreement. 478 

(7) FACILITIES.— 479 

(a)1. A school of hope that meets the definition under 480 

subparagraph (1)(c)1. shall use facilities that comply with the 481 

Florida Building Code, except for the State Requirements for 482 

Educational Facilities. A school of hope that uses school 483 

district facilities must comply with the State Requirements for 484 

Educational Facilities only if the school district and the hope 485 

operator have entered into a mutual management plan for the 486 

reasonable maintenance of such facilities. The mutual management 487 

plan shall contain a provision by which the district school 488 

board agrees to maintain the school facilities in the same 489 

manner as its other public schools within the district. 490 

2. A school of hope that meets the definition under 491 

subparagraph (1)(c)2. and that receives funds from the hope 492 

supplemental services allocation under s. 1011.62(16) shall use 493 

the district-owned facilities of the persistently low-performing 494 

school that the school of hope operates. A school of hope that 495 

uses district-owned facilities must enter into a mutual 496 

management plan with the school district for the reasonable 497 

maintenance of the facilities. The mutual management plan must 498 

contain a provision specifying that the district school board 499 

agrees to maintain the school facilities in the same manner as 500 

other public schools within the district. 501 

 502 

The local governing authority shall not adopt or impose any 503 

local building requirements or site-development restrictions, 504 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì826696\Î826696 

 

Page 19 of 115 

2/16/2018 9:39:34 AM 581-03217-18 

such as parking and site-size criteria, student enrollment, and 505 

occupant load, that are addressed by and more stringent than 506 

those found in the State Requirements for Educational Facilities 507 

of the Florida Building Code. A local governing authority must 508 

treat schools of hope equitably in comparison to similar 509 

requirements, restrictions, and site planning processes imposed 510 

upon public schools. The agency having jurisdiction for 511 

inspection of a facility and issuance of a certificate of 512 

occupancy or use shall be the local municipality or, if in an 513 

unincorporated area, the county governing authority. If an 514 

official or employee of the local governing authority refuses to 515 

comply with this paragraph, the aggrieved school or entity has 516 

an immediate right to bring an action in circuit court to 517 

enforce its rights by injunction. An aggrieved party that 518 

receives injunctive relief may be awarded reasonable attorney 519 

fees and court costs. 520 

(9) FUNDING.— 521 

(a) Schools of hope shall be funded in accordance with s. 522 

1002.33(17). 523 

(b) Schools of hope shall receive priority in the 524 

department’s Public Charter School Grant Program competitions. 525 

(c) Schools of hope shall be considered charter schools for 526 

purposes of s. 1013.62, except charter capital outlay may not be 527 

used to purchase real property or for the construction of school 528 

facilities. 529 

(d) Schools of hope that meet the definition under 530 

subparagraph (1)(c)1. are eligible to receive funds from the 531 

Schools of Hope Program. 532 

(e) Schools of hope that meet the definition under 533 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì826696\Î826696 

 

Page 20 of 115 

2/16/2018 9:39:34 AM 581-03217-18 

subparagraph (1)(c)2. are eligible to receive funds from the 534 

hope supplemental services allocation established under s. 535 

1011.62(16). 536 

(10) SCHOOLS OF HOPE PROGRAM.—The Schools of Hope Program 537 

is created within the Department of Education. 538 

(b) A traditional public school that is required to submit 539 

a plan for implementation pursuant to s. 1008.33(4) is eligible 540 

to receive funding for services authorized up to $2,000 per 541 

full-time equivalent student from the hope supplemental services 542 

allocation established under s. 1011.62(16) Schools of Hope 543 

Program based upon the strength of the school’s plan for 544 

implementation and its focus on evidence-based interventions 545 

that lead to student success by providing wrap-around services 546 

that leverage community assets, improve school and community 547 

collaboration, and develop family and community partnerships. 548 

Wrap-around services include, but are not limited to, tutorial 549 

and after-school programs, student counseling, nutrition 550 

education, parental counseling, and adult education. Plans for 551 

implementation may also include models that develop a culture of 552 

attending college, high academic expectations, character 553 

development, dress codes, and an extended school day and school 554 

year. At a minimum, a plan for implementation must: 555 

1. Establish wrap-around services that develop family and 556 

community partnerships. 557 

2. Establish clearly defined and measurable high academic 558 

and character standards. 559 

3. Increase parental involvement and engagement in the 560 

child’s education. 561 

4. Describe how the school district will identify, recruit, 562 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì826696\Î826696 

 

Page 21 of 115 

2/16/2018 9:39:34 AM 581-03217-18 

retain, and reward instructional personnel. The state board may 563 

waive the requirements of s. 1012.22(1)(c)5., and suspend the 564 

requirements of s. 1012.34, to facilitate implementation of the 565 

plan. 566 

5. Identify a knowledge-rich curriculum that the school 567 

will use that focuses on developing a student’s background 568 

knowledge. 569 

6. Provide professional development that focuses on 570 

academic rigor, direct instruction, and creating high academic 571 

and character standards. 572 

(11) SCHOOLS OF HOPE MANAGEMENT.—A hope operator or the 573 

owner of a school of hope may not serve as the principal of any 574 

school that he or she manages. 575 

Section 11. Section 1002.334, Florida Statutes, is created 576 

to read: 577 

1002.334 Franchise model schools.— 578 

(1) As used in this section, the term “franchise model 579 

school” means a persistently low-performing school, as defined 580 

in s. 1002.333(1)(b), which is led by a highly effective 581 

principal in addition to the principal’s currently assigned 582 

school. If a franchise model school achieves a grade of “C” or 583 

higher, the school may retain its status as a franchise model 584 

school at the discretion of the school district. 585 

(2) A school district that has one or more persistently 586 

low-performing schools may use a franchise model school as a 587 

school turnaround option pursuant to s. 1008.33(4)(b)4. 588 

(3) A franchise model school principal: 589 

(a) Must be rated as highly effective pursuant to s. 590 

1012.34; 591 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì826696\Î826696 

 

Page 22 of 115 

2/16/2018 9:39:34 AM 581-03217-18 

(b) May lead two or more schools, including a persistently 592 

low-performing school or a school that was considered a 593 

persistently low-performing school before becoming a franchise 594 

model school; 595 

(c) May allocate resources and personnel between the 596 

schools under his or her administration; however, he or she must 597 

expend hope supplemental services allocation funds, authorized 598 

under s. 1011.62(16), at the franchise model school; and 599 

(d) Is eligible to receive a Best and Brightest Principal 600 

award under s. 1012.732. 601 

Section 12. Paragraph (d) of subsection (2), paragraphs (d) 602 

and (h) of subsection (5), subsection (8), and paragraph (a) of 603 

subsection (11) of section 1002.385, Florida Statutes, are 604 

amended to read: 605 

1002.385 The Gardiner Scholarship.— 606 

(2) DEFINITIONS.—As used in this section, the term: 607 

(d) “Disability” means, for a 3- or 4-year-old child or for 608 

a student in kindergarten to grade 12, autism spectrum disorder, 609 

as defined in the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental 610 

Disorders, Fifth Edition, published by the American Psychiatric 611 

Association; cerebral palsy, as defined in s. 393.063(6); Down 612 

syndrome, as defined in s. 393.063(15); an intellectual 613 

disability, as defined in s. 393.063(24); Phelan-McDermid 614 

syndrome, as defined in s. 393.063(28); Prader-Willi syndrome, 615 

as defined in s. 393.063(29); spina bifida, as defined in s. 616 

393.063(40); being a high-risk child, as defined in s. 617 

393.063(23)(a); muscular dystrophy; Williams syndrome; a rare 618 

disease, a disorder that affects diseases which affect patient 619 

populations of fewer than 200,000 individuals or fewer in the 620 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì826696\Î826696 

 

Page 23 of 115 

2/16/2018 9:39:34 AM 581-03217-18 

United States, as defined by the Orphan Drug Act of 1983, Pub. 621 

L. No. 97-414 National Organization for Rare Disorders; 622 

anaphylaxis; deaf; visually impaired; traumatic brain injured; 623 

hospital or homebound; or identification as dual sensory 624 

impaired, as defined by rules of the State Board of Education 625 

and evidenced by reports from local school districts. The term 626 

“hospital or homebound” includes a student who has a medically 627 

diagnosed physical or psychiatric condition or illness, as 628 

defined by the state board in rule, and who is confined to the 629 

home or hospital for more than 6 months. 630 

(5) AUTHORIZED USES OF PROGRAM FUNDS.—Program funds must be 631 

used to meet the individual educational needs of an eligible 632 

student and may be spent for the following purposes: 633 

(d) Enrollment in, or tuition or fees associated with 634 

enrollment in, a home education program, an eligible private 635 

school, an eligible postsecondary educational institution or a 636 

program offered by the institution, a private tutoring program 637 

authorized under s. 1002.43, a virtual program offered by a 638 

department-approved private online provider that meets the 639 

provider qualifications specified in s. 1002.45(2)(a), the 640 

Florida Virtual School as a private paying student, or an 641 

approved online course offered pursuant to s. 1003.499 or s. 642 

1004.0961. 643 

(h) Tuition and fees for part-time tutoring services 644 

provided by a person who holds a valid Florida educator’s 645 

certificate pursuant to s. 1012.56; a person who holds an 646 

adjunct teaching certificate pursuant to s. 1012.57; or a person 647 

who has demonstrated a mastery of subject area knowledge 648 

pursuant to s. 1012.56(5). As used in this paragraph, the term 649 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì826696\Î826696 

 

Page 24 of 115 

2/16/2018 9:39:34 AM 581-03217-18 

“part-time tutoring services” does not qualify as regular school 650 

attendance as defined in s. 1003.01(13) s. 1003.01(13)(e). 651 

 652 

A provider of any services receiving payments pursuant to this 653 

subsection may not share, refund, or rebate any moneys from the 654 

Gardiner Scholarship with the parent or participating student in 655 

any manner. A parent, student, or provider of any services may 656 

not bill an insurance company, Medicaid, or any other agency for 657 

the same services that are paid for using Gardiner Scholarship 658 

funds. 659 

(8) PRIVATE SCHOOL ELIGIBILITY AND OBLIGATIONS.—An eligible 660 

private school may be sectarian or nonsectarian and shall: 661 

(a) Comply with all requirements for private schools 662 

participating in state school choice scholarship programs 663 

pursuant to s. 1002.421. 664 

(b) Provide to the organization, upon request, all 665 

documentation required for the student’s participation, 666 

including the private school’s and student’s fee schedules. 667 

(c) Be academically accountable to the parent for meeting 668 

the educational needs of the student by: 669 

1. At a minimum, annually providing to the parent a written 670 

explanation of the student’s progress. 671 

2. Annually administering or making provision for students 672 

participating in the program in grades 3 through 10 to take one 673 

of the nationally norm-referenced tests identified by the 674 

Department of Education or the statewide assessments pursuant to 675 

s. 1008.22. Students with disabilities for whom standardized 676 

testing is not appropriate are exempt from this requirement. A 677 

participating private school shall report a student’s scores to 678 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì826696\Î826696 

 

Page 25 of 115 

2/16/2018 9:39:34 AM 581-03217-18 

the parent. 679 

3. Cooperating with the scholarship student whose parent 680 

chooses to have the student participate in the statewide 681 

assessments pursuant to s. 1008.22 or, if a private school 682 

chooses to offer the statewide assessments, administering the 683 

assessments at the school. 684 

a. A participating private school may choose to offer and 685 

administer the statewide assessments to all students who attend 686 

the private school in grades 3 through 10. 687 

b. A participating private school shall submit a request in 688 

writing to the Department of Education by March 1 of each year 689 

in order to administer the statewide assessments in the 690 

subsequent school year. 691 

(d) Employ or contract with teachers who have regular and 692 

direct contact with each student receiving a scholarship under 693 

this section at the school’s physical location. 694 

(e) Provide a report from an independent certified public 695 

accountant who performs the agreed-upon procedures developed 696 

under s. 1002.395(6)(o) if the private school receives more than 697 

$250,000 in funds from scholarships awarded under this chapter 698 

section in a state fiscal year. A private school subject to this 699 

paragraph must annually submit the report by September 15 to the 700 

organization that awarded the majority of the school’s 701 

scholarship funds. The agreed-upon procedures must be conducted 702 

in accordance with attestation standards established by the 703 

American Institute of Certified Public Accountants. 704 

 705 

If a private school fails or refuses is unable to meet the 706 

requirements of this subsection or has consecutive years of 707 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì826696\Î826696 

 

Page 26 of 115 

2/16/2018 9:39:34 AM 581-03217-18 

material exceptions listed in the report required under 708 

paragraph (e), the commissioner may determine that the private 709 

school is ineligible to participate in the program. 710 

(11) PARENT AND STUDENT RESPONSIBILITIES FOR PROGRAM 711 

PARTICIPATION.—A parent who applies for program participation 712 

under this section is exercising his or her parental option to 713 

determine the appropriate placement or the services that best 714 

meet the needs of his or her child. The scholarship award for a 715 

student is based on a matrix that assigns the student to support 716 

Level III services. If a parent receives an IEP and a matrix of 717 

services from the school district pursuant to subsection (7), 718 

the amount of the payment shall be adjusted as needed, when the 719 

school district completes the matrix. 720 

(a) To satisfy or maintain program eligibility, including 721 

eligibility to receive and spend program payments, the parent 722 

must sign an agreement with the organization and annually submit 723 

a notarized, sworn compliance statement to the organization to: 724 

1. Affirm that the student is enrolled in a program that 725 

meets regular school attendance requirements as provided in s. 726 

1003.01(13)(b) or (c) s. 1003.01(13)(b)-(d). 727 

2. Affirm that the program funds are used only for 728 

authorized purposes serving the student’s educational needs, as 729 

described in subsection (5). 730 

3. Affirm that the parent is responsible for the education 731 

of his or her student by, as applicable: 732 

a. Requiring the student to take an assessment in 733 

accordance with paragraph (8)(c); 734 

b. Providing an annual evaluation in accordance with s. 735 

1002.41(1)(c); or 736 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì826696\Î826696 

 

Page 27 of 115 

2/16/2018 9:39:34 AM 581-03217-18 

c. Requiring the child to take any preassessments and 737 

postassessments selected by the provider if the child is 4 years 738 

of age and is enrolled in a program provided by an eligible 739 

Voluntary Prekindergarten Education Program provider. A student 740 

with disabilities for whom a preassessment and postassessment is 741 

not appropriate is exempt from this requirement. A participating 742 

provider shall report a student’s scores to the parent. 743 

4. Affirm that the student remains in good standing with 744 

the provider or school if those options are selected by the 745 

parent. 746 

 747 

A parent who fails to comply with this subsection forfeits the 748 

Gardiner Scholarship. 749 

Section 13. Subsection (3), paragraph (f) of subsection 750 

(6), and subsection (8) of section 1002.39, Florida Statutes, 751 

are amended to read: 752 

1002.39 The John M. McKay Scholarships for Students with 753 

Disabilities Program.—There is established a program that is 754 

separate and distinct from the Opportunity Scholarship Program 755 

and is named the John M. McKay Scholarships for Students with 756 

Disabilities Program. 757 

(3) JOHN M. MCKAY SCHOLARSHIP PROHIBITIONS.—A student is 758 

not eligible for a John M. McKay Scholarship: 759 

(a) While he or she is enrolled in a school operating for 760 

the purpose of providing educational services to youth in 761 

Department of Juvenile Justice commitment programs; 762 

(b) While he or she is receiving a Florida tax credit 763 

scholarship under s. 1002.395; 764 

(c) While he or she is receiving an educational scholarship 765 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì826696\Î826696 

 

Page 28 of 115 

2/16/2018 9:39:34 AM 581-03217-18 

pursuant to this chapter; 766 

(d) While he or she is participating in a home education 767 

program as defined in s. 1002.01(1); 768 

(e) While he or she is participating in a private tutoring 769 

program pursuant to s. 1002.43; 770 

(e)(f) While he or she is participating in a virtual 771 

school, correspondence school, or distance learning program that 772 

receives state funding pursuant to the student’s participation 773 

unless the participation is limited to no more than two courses 774 

per school year; 775 

(f)(g) While he or she is enrolled in the Florida School 776 

for the Deaf and the Blind; 777 

(g)(h) While he or she is not having regular and direct 778 

contact with his or her private school teachers at the school’s 779 

physical location unless he or she is enrolled in the private 780 

school’s transition-to-work program pursuant to subsection (10); 781 

or 782 

(h)(i) If he or she has been issued a temporary 504 783 

accommodation plan under s. 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 784 

1973 which is valid for 6 months or less. 785 

(6) DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION OBLIGATIONS.—The department 786 

shall: 787 

(f)1. Conduct random site visits to private schools 788 

participating in the John M. McKay Scholarships for Students 789 

with Disabilities Program as authorized under s. 1002.421(7). 790 

The purposes purpose of the site visits are is solely to verify 791 

compliance with the provisions of subsection (7) aimed at 792 

protecting the health, safety, and welfare of students and to 793 

verify the information reported by the schools concerning the 794 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì826696\Î826696 

 

Page 29 of 115 

2/16/2018 9:39:34 AM 581-03217-18 

enrollment and attendance of students, the credentials of 795 

teachers, background screening of teachers, and teachers’ 796 

fingerprinting results, which information is required by rules 797 

of the State Board of Education, subsection (8), and s. 798 

1002.421. The Department of Education may not make followup more 799 

than three random site visits at any time to any school that has 800 

received a notice of noncompliance or a notice of proposed 801 

action within the previous 2 years pursuant to subsection (7) 802 

each year and may not make more than one random site visit each 803 

year to the same private school. 804 

2. Annually, by December 15, report to the Governor, the 805 

President of the Senate, and the Speaker of the House of 806 

Representatives the Department of Education’s actions with 807 

respect to implementing accountability in the scholarship 808 

program under this section and s. 1002.421, any substantiated 809 

allegations or violations of law or rule by an eligible private 810 

school under this program concerning the enrollment and 811 

attendance of students, the credentials of teachers, background 812 

screening of teachers, and teachers’ fingerprinting results and 813 

the corrective action taken by the Department of Education. 814 

(8) PRIVATE SCHOOL ELIGIBILITY AND OBLIGATIONS.—To be 815 

eligible to participate in the John M. McKay Scholarships for 816 

Students with Disabilities Program, a private school may be 817 

sectarian or nonsectarian and must: 818 

(a) Comply with all requirements for private schools 819 

participating in state school choice scholarship programs 820 

pursuant to s. 1002.421. 821 

(b) Provide to the department all documentation required 822 

for a student’s participation, including the private school’s 823 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì826696\Î826696 

 

Page 30 of 115 

2/16/2018 9:39:34 AM 581-03217-18 

and student’s fee schedules, at least 30 days before any 824 

quarterly scholarship payment is made for the student pursuant 825 

to paragraph (11)(e). A student is not eligible to receive a 826 

quarterly scholarship payment if the private school fails to 827 

meet this deadline. 828 

(c) Be academically accountable to the parent for meeting 829 

the educational needs of the student by: 830 

1. At a minimum, annually providing to the parent a written 831 

explanation of the student’s progress. 832 

2. Cooperating with the scholarship student whose parent 833 

chooses to participate in the statewide assessments pursuant to 834 

s. 1008.22. 835 

(d) Maintain in this state a physical location where a 836 

scholarship student regularly attends classes. 837 

(e) If the private school that participates in a state 838 

scholarship program under this chapter receives more than 839 

$250,000 in funds from scholarships awarded under chapter 1002 840 

in a state fiscal year, provide an annual report from an 841 

independent certified public accountant who performs the agreed-842 

upon procedures developed under s. 1002.395(6)(o). Such a 843 

private school must annually submit the required report by 844 

September 15 to the organization that awarded the majority of 845 

the school’s scholarship funds. The agreed-upon procedures must 846 

be conducted in accordance with attestation standards 847 

established by the American Institute of Certified Public 848 

Accountants. 849 

 850 

The failure or refusal inability of a private school to meet the 851 

requirements of this subsection shall constitute a basis for the 852 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì826696\Î826696 

 

Page 31 of 115 

2/16/2018 9:39:34 AM 581-03217-18 

ineligibility of the private school to participate in the 853 

scholarship program as determined by the department. 854 

Section 14. Subsection (4), paragraph (o) of subsection 855 

(6), subsection (8), and paragraph (n) of subsection (9) of 856 

section 1002.395, Florida Statutes, are amended to read: 857 

1002.395 Florida Tax Credit Scholarship Program.— 858 

(4) SCHOLARSHIP PROHIBITIONS.—A student is not eligible for 859 

a scholarship while he or she is: 860 

(a) Enrolled in a school operating for the purpose of 861 

providing educational services to youth in Department of 862 

Juvenile Justice commitment programs; 863 

(b) Receiving a scholarship from another eligible nonprofit 864 

scholarship-funding organization under this section; 865 

(c) Receiving an educational scholarship pursuant to 866 

chapter 1002; 867 

(d) Participating in a home education program as defined in 868 

s. 1002.01(1); 869 

(e) Participating in a private tutoring program pursuant to 870 

s. 1002.43; 871 

(e)(f) Participating in a virtual school, correspondence 872 

school, or distance learning program that receives state funding 873 

pursuant to the student’s participation unless the participation 874 

is limited to no more than two courses per school year; or 875 

(f)(g) Enrolled in the Florida School for the Deaf and the 876 

Blind. 877 

(6) OBLIGATIONS OF ELIGIBLE NONPROFIT SCHOLARSHIP-FUNDING 878 

ORGANIZATIONS.—An eligible nonprofit scholarship-funding 879 

organization: 880 

(o)1.a. Must participate in the joint development of 881 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì826696\Î826696 

 

Page 32 of 115 

2/16/2018 9:39:34 AM 581-03217-18 

agreed-upon procedures to be performed by an independent 882 

certified public accountant as required under paragraph (8)(e) 883 

if the scholarship-funding organization provided more than 884 

$250,000 in scholarship funds to an eligible private school 885 

under this chapter section during the 2009-2010 state fiscal 886 

year. The agreed-upon procedures must uniformly apply to all 887 

private schools and must determine, at a minimum, whether the 888 

private school has been verified as eligible by the Department 889 

of Education under paragraph (9)(c); has an adequate accounting 890 

system, system of financial controls, and process for deposit 891 

and classification of scholarship funds; and has properly 892 

expended scholarship funds for education-related expenses. 893 

During the development of the procedures, the participating 894 

scholarship-funding organizations shall specify guidelines 895 

governing the materiality of exceptions that may be found during 896 

the accountant’s performance of the procedures. The procedures 897 

and guidelines shall be provided to private schools and the 898 

Commissioner of Education by March 15, 2011. 899 

b. Must participate in a joint review of the agreed-upon 900 

procedures and guidelines developed under sub-subparagraph a., 901 

by February 2013 and biennially thereafter, if the scholarship-902 

funding organization provided more than $250,000 in scholarship 903 

funds to an eligible private school under this chapter section 904 

during the state fiscal year preceding the biennial review. If 905 

the procedures and guidelines are revised, the revisions must be 906 

provided to private schools and the Commissioner of Education by 907 

March 15, 2013, and biennially thereafter. 908 

c. Must monitor the compliance of a private school with 909 

paragraph (8)(e) if the scholarship-funding organization 910 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì826696\Î826696 

 

Page 33 of 115 

2/16/2018 9:39:34 AM 581-03217-18 

provided the majority of the scholarship funding to the school. 911 

For each private school subject to paragraph (8)(e), the 912 

appropriate scholarship-funding organization shall notify the 913 

Commissioner of Education by October 30, 2011, and annually 914 

thereafter of: 915 

(I) A private school’s failure to submit a report required 916 

under paragraph (8)(e); or 917 

(II) Any material exceptions set forth in the report 918 

required under paragraph (8)(e). 919 

2. Must seek input from the accrediting associations that 920 

are members of the Florida Association of Academic Nonpublic 921 

Schools when jointly developing the agreed-upon procedures and 922 

guidelines under sub-subparagraph 1.a. and conducting a review 923 

of those procedures and guidelines under sub-subparagraph 1.b. 924 

 925 

Information and documentation provided to the Department of 926 

Education and the Auditor General relating to the identity of a 927 

taxpayer that provides an eligible contribution under this 928 

section shall remain confidential at all times in accordance 929 

with s. 213.053. 930 

(8) PRIVATE SCHOOL ELIGIBILITY AND OBLIGATIONS.—An eligible 931 

private school may be sectarian or nonsectarian and must: 932 

(a) Comply with all requirements for private schools 933 

participating in state school choice scholarship programs 934 

pursuant to s. 1002.421. 935 

(b) Provide to the eligible nonprofit scholarship-funding 936 

organization, upon request, all documentation required for the 937 

student’s participation, including the private school’s and 938 

student’s fee schedules. 939 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì826696\Î826696 

 

Page 34 of 115 

2/16/2018 9:39:34 AM 581-03217-18 

(c) Be academically accountable to the parent for meeting 940 

the educational needs of the student by: 941 

1. At a minimum, annually providing to the parent a written 942 

explanation of the student’s progress. 943 

2. Annually administering or making provision for students 944 

participating in the scholarship program in grades 3 through 10 945 

to take one of the nationally norm-referenced tests identified 946 

by the Department of Education or the statewide assessments 947 

pursuant to s. 1008.22. Students with disabilities for whom 948 

standardized testing is not appropriate are exempt from this 949 

requirement. A participating private school must report a 950 

student’s scores to the parent. A participating private school 951 

must annually report by August 15 the scores of all 952 

participating students to the Learning System Institute 953 

described in paragraph (9)(j). 954 

3. Cooperating with the scholarship student whose parent 955 

chooses to have the student participate in the statewide 956 

assessments pursuant to s. 1008.22 or, if a private school 957 

chooses to offer the statewide assessments, administering the 958 

assessments at the school. 959 

a. A participating private school may choose to offer and 960 

administer the statewide assessments to all students who attend 961 

the private school in grades 3 through 10. 962 

b. A participating private school must submit a request in 963 

writing to the Department of Education by March 1 of each year 964 

in order to administer the statewide assessments in the 965 

subsequent school year. 966 

(d) Employ or contract with teachers who have regular and 967 

direct contact with each student receiving a scholarship under 968 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì826696\Î826696 

 

Page 35 of 115 

2/16/2018 9:39:34 AM 581-03217-18 

this section at the school’s physical location. 969 

(e) Provide a report from an independent certified public 970 

accountant who performs the agreed-upon procedures developed 971 

under paragraph (6)(o) if the private school receives more than 972 

$250,000 in funds from scholarships awarded under this chapter 973 

section in a state fiscal year. A private school subject to this 974 

paragraph must annually submit the report by September 15 to the 975 

scholarship-funding organization that awarded the majority of 976 

the school’s scholarship funds. The agreed-upon procedures must 977 

be conducted in accordance with attestation standards 978 

established by the American Institute of Certified Public 979 

Accountants. 980 

 981 

If a private school fails or refuses is unable to meet the 982 

requirements of this subsection or has consecutive years of 983 

material exceptions listed in the report required under 984 

paragraph (e), the commissioner may determine that the private 985 

school is ineligible to participate in the scholarship program 986 

as determined by the Department of Education. 987 

(9) DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION OBLIGATIONS.—The Department of 988 

Education shall: 989 

(n)1. Conduct site visits to private schools participating 990 

in the Florida Tax Credit Scholarship Program as authorized 991 

under s. 1002.421(7). The purposes purpose of the site visits 992 

are is solely to verify compliance with the provisions of 993 

subsection (11) aimed at protecting the health, safety, and 994 

welfare of students and to verify the information reported by 995 

the schools concerning the enrollment and attendance of 996 

students, the credentials of teachers, background screening of 997 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì826696\Î826696 

 

Page 36 of 115 

2/16/2018 9:39:34 AM 581-03217-18 

teachers, and teachers’ fingerprinting results. The Department 998 

of Education may not make more than seven site visits each year; 999 

however, The department may make followup additional site visits 1000 

at any time to any school that, pursuant to subsection (11), has 1001 

received a notice of noncompliance or a notice of proposed 1002 

action within the previous 2 years. 1003 

2. Annually, by December 15, report to the Governor, the 1004 

President of the Senate, and the Speaker of the House of 1005 

Representatives the Department of Education’s actions with 1006 

respect to implementing accountability in the scholarship 1007 

program under this section and s. 1002.421, any substantiated 1008 

allegations or violations of law or rule by an eligible private 1009 

school under this program concerning the enrollment and 1010 

attendance of students, the credentials of teachers, background 1011 

screening of teachers, and teachers’ fingerprinting results and 1012 

the corrective action taken by the Department of Education. 1013 

Section 15. Section 1002.40, Florida Statutes, is created 1014 

to read: 1015 

1002.40 The Hope Scholarship Program.— 1016 

(1) PURPOSE.—The Hope Scholarship Program is established to 1017 

provide the parent of a public school student who was the victim 1018 

of a substantiated incident of violence or abuse, as listed in 1019 

subsection (3), an opportunity to transfer the student to 1020 

another public school that has capacity or to request and 1021 

receive a scholarship for the student to enroll in and attend an 1022 

eligible private school. 1023 

(2) DEFINITIONS.—As used in this section, the term: 1024 

(a) “Department” means the Department of Education. 1025 

(b) “Eligible contribution” or “contribution” means a 1026 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì826696\Î826696 

 

Page 37 of 115 

2/16/2018 9:39:34 AM 581-03217-18 

monetary contribution from a person required to pay sales and 1027 

use tax on the purchase or acquisition of a motor vehicle, 1028 

subject to the restrictions provided in this section, to an 1029 

eligible nonprofit scholarship-funding organization. The 1030 

taxpayer making the contribution may not designate a specific 1031 

student as the beneficiary of the contribution. 1032 

(c) “Eligible nonprofit scholarship-funding organization” 1033 

or “organization” has the same meaning as provided in s. 1034 

1002.395(2)(f), as determined by the department. 1035 

(d) “Eligible private school” has the same meaning as 1036 

provided in s. 1002.395(2)(g), as determined by the department. 1037 

(e) “Motor vehicle” has the same meaning as provided in s. 1038 

320.01(1)(a), but does not include heavy trucks, truck tractors, 1039 

trailers, and motorcycles. 1040 

(f) “Parent” means a resident of this state who is a 1041 

parent, as defined in s. 1000.21, and whose public school 1042 

student was the victim of a reported incident, as listed in 1043 

subsection (3). 1044 

(g) “Principal” means the principal or his or her designee. 1045 

(h) “Program” means the Hope Scholarship Program. 1046 

(i) “School” includes any educational program or activity 1047 

conducted by a public K-12 educational institution, any school-1048 

related or school-sponsored program or activity, and riding on a 1049 

school bus, as defined in s. 1006.25(1), including waiting at a 1050 

school bus stop. 1051 

(j) “Unweighted FTE funding amount” means the statewide 1052 

average total funds per unweighted full-time equivalent funding 1053 

amount that is incorporated by reference in the General 1054 

Appropriations Act for the applicable state fiscal year. 1055 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì826696\Î826696 

 

Page 38 of 115 

2/16/2018 9:39:34 AM 581-03217-18 

(3) PROGRAM ELIGIBILITY.—Beginning with the 2018-2019 1056 

school year, contingent upon available funds, and on a first-1057 

come, first-served basis, a student enrolled full time in a 1058 

Florida public school in kindergarten through grade 12 is 1059 

eligible for a scholarship under this program if all of the 1060 

following conditions are met: 1061 

(a) The student is the victim of a substantiated incident 1062 

of battery; harassment; hazing; bullying; kidnapping; physical 1063 

attack; robbery; sexual offenses, harassment, assault, or 1064 

battery; threat or intimidation; or fighting at school. 1065 

(b) The incident is formally reported by the victim or the 1066 

victim’s parent to the principal. 1067 

(c) Through an investigation, the principal finds that the 1068 

incident is substantiated. 1069 

(d) The principal’s investigation remains open or the 1070 

district’s resolution of issues related to the incident remain 1071 

unresolved after timely notification, deliberative evaluation, 1072 

and 30 days of responsible and appropriate action taken in 1073 

accordance with paragraph (5)(a). 1074 

(4) PROGRAM PROHIBITIONS.—Payment of a scholarship may not 1075 

be made if a student is: 1076 

(a) Enrolled in a public school, including, but not limited 1077 

to, the Florida School for the Deaf and the Blind; the College-1078 

Preparatory Boarding Academy; the Florida Virtual School; a 1079 

developmental research school authorized under s. 1002.32; or a 1080 

charter school authorized under s. 1002.33, s. 1002.331, s. 1081 

1002.332, or s. 1002.333; 1082 

(b) Enrolled in a school operating for the purpose of 1083 

providing educational services to youth in the Department of 1084 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì826696\Î826696 

 

Page 39 of 115 

2/16/2018 9:39:34 AM 581-03217-18 

Juvenile Justice commitment programs; 1085 

(c) Participating in a virtual school, correspondence 1086 

school, or distance learning program that receives state funding 1087 

pursuant to the student’s participation unless the participation 1088 

is limited to no more than two courses per school year; 1089 

(d) Receiving any other educational scholarship pursuant to 1090 

this chapter; or 1091 

(e) Participating in a home education program, as defined 1092 

in s. 1002.01. 1093 

(5) SCHOOL DISTRICT OBLIGATIONS; PARENTAL OPTIONS.— 1094 

(a)1. Within 24 hours after receipt of a formal report of 1095 

an incident listed in subsection (3)(a), the principal shall 1096 

provide a copy of the report to the victim’s parent and the 1097 

alleged offender’s parent. The report must include a statement 1098 

of the expected investigative actions and the timeline for 1099 

reporting the outcome of the investigation. Within 24 hours 1100 

after receipt of the formal report, the principal must also 1101 

provide the superintendent with a copy of the report and 1102 

verification that the parents of the victim and the alleged 1103 

offender have been provided a copy of the incident report and 1104 

other required information. 1105 

2. In accordance with s. 1006.09, the principal must 1106 

investigate the incident to determine if the incident is 1107 

substantiated or unsubstantiated, and if the incident must be 1108 

reported. The principal may, at his or her discretion, determine 1109 

the extent to which each student was engaged in instigating, 1110 

initiating, or reacting to a physical altercation, and may 1111 

consider such information when evaluating and determining 1112 

appropriate disciplinary actions and investigation outcomes. 1113 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì826696\Î826696 

 

Page 40 of 115 

2/16/2018 9:39:34 AM 581-03217-18 

3. During the investigation period, the principal and the 1114 

superintendent shall take all necessary actions to continue the 1115 

educational services of students involved in the reported 1116 

incident while taking every reasonable precaution to keep the 1117 

alleged offender separated from the victim or any sibling of the 1118 

victim while on school grounds or on school transportation, 1119 

pursuant to ss. 1006.09, 1006.13, and 1006.147, as appropriate. 1120 

4. Upon the principal’s determination that an alleged 1121 

incident is unsubstantiated or the resolution of issues related 1122 

to a substantiated incident or within 15 days after the incident 1123 

was reported, whichever occurs first, the principal must report 1124 

to the victim’s parent and the alleged offender’s parent the 1125 

findings, outcome, or status of the investigation. The principal 1126 

shall continue to provide such reports to the parents at least 1127 

every 15 days until the investigation concludes and issues 1128 

associated with the incident are resolved. 1129 

5. If the principal’s investigation into the incident 1130 

remains open more than 30 days after the date a substantiated 1131 

incident was reported or issues associated with the incident 1132 

remain unresolved, the school district, in accordance with the 1133 

school district’s code of student conduct, shall: 1134 

a. Notify the victim’s parent of the availability of the 1135 

program and offer that parent an opportunity to enroll his or 1136 

her student in another public school or to request and receive a 1137 

scholarship to attend an eligible private school, subject to 1138 

available funding; and 1139 

b. Provide the victim’s parent with a written notification 1140 

of the result of the principal’s investigation of the alleged 1141 

incident. The parent must provide such notification to the 1142 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì826696\Î826696 

 

Page 41 of 115 

2/16/2018 9:39:34 AM 581-03217-18 

scholarship-funding organization that verifies the student’s 1143 

eligibility. 1144 

6. To facilitate timely, appropriate, and fiscally 1145 

accountable scholarship payments, school districts must report 1146 

and verify student enrollment information during and outside of 1147 

regular FTE student enrollment survey periods, as requested by 1148 

the department pursuant to paragraph (7)(d). 1149 

(b)1. A parent who, pursuant to s. 1002.31, chooses to 1150 

enroll his or her student in a Florida public school located 1151 

outside the district in which the student resides shall be 1152 

eligible for a scholarship under paragraph (11)(b) to transport 1153 

the student. 1154 

2. For each student participating in the program in a 1155 

private school who chooses to participate in the statewide 1156 

assessments under s. 1008.22 or the Florida Alternate 1157 

Assessment, the school district in which the student resides 1158 

must notify the student and his or her parent about the 1159 

locations and times to take all statewide assessments. 1160 

(6) PRIVATE SCHOOL ELIGIBILITY AND OBLIGATIONS.—An eligible 1161 

private school may be sectarian or nonsectarian and shall: 1162 

(a) Meet the definition of a private school in s. 1002.01 1163 

and comply with all requirements for private schools 1164 

participating in state school choice scholarship programs 1165 

pursuant to this section and s. 1002.421. 1166 

(b) Provide to the organization and the department, upon 1167 

request, all documentation required for the student’s 1168 

participation, including, but not limited to, the private 1169 

school’s and the student’s fee schedules. 1170 

(c) Be academically accountable to the parent for meeting 1171 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì826696\Î826696 

 

Page 42 of 115 

2/16/2018 9:39:34 AM 581-03217-18 

the educational needs of the student by: 1172 

1. At a minimum, annually providing to the parent a written 1173 

explanation of the student’s progress. 1174 

2. Annually administering or making provision for students 1175 

participating in the program in grades 3 through 10 to take one 1176 

of the nationally norm-referenced tests identified by the 1177 

department or the statewide assessments pursuant to s. 1008.22. 1178 

Students with disabilities for whom standardized testing is not 1179 

appropriate are exempt from this requirement. A participating 1180 

private school shall report a student’s scores to his or her 1181 

parent. 1182 

3. Cooperating with the student whose parent chooses to 1183 

have the student participate in the statewide assessments 1184 

pursuant to s. 1008.22 or, if a private school chooses to offer 1185 

the statewide assessments, administering the assessments at the 1186 

school. 1187 

a. A participating private school may choose to offer and 1188 

administer the statewide assessments to all students who attend 1189 

the private school in grades 3 through 10. 1190 

b. A participating private school shall submit a request in 1191 

writing to the department by March 1 of each year in order to 1192 

administer the statewide assessments in the subsequent school 1193 

year. 1194 

(d) Employ or contract with teachers who have regular and 1195 

direct contact with each student receiving a scholarship under 1196 

this section at the school’s physical location. 1197 

(e) Maintain in this state a physical location where a 1198 

scholarship student regularly attends classes. 1199 

(f) Provide a report from an independent certified public 1200 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì826696\Î826696 

 

Page 43 of 115 

2/16/2018 9:39:34 AM 581-03217-18 

accountant who performs the agreed-upon procedures developed 1201 

under s. 1002.395(6)(o) if the private school receives more than 1202 

$250,000 in funds from scholarships awarded under this section 1203 

in a state fiscal year. A private school subject to this 1204 

paragraph must annually submit the report by September 15 to the 1205 

organization that awarded the majority of the school’s 1206 

scholarship funds. The agreed-upon procedures must be conducted 1207 

in accordance with attestation standards established by the 1208 

American Institute of Certified Public Accountants. 1209 

 1210 

The failure of a private school to meet the requirements of this 1211 

subsection constitutes a basis for the ineligibility of the 1212 

private school to participate in the program, as determined by 1213 

the department. 1214 

(7) DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION OBLIGATIONS.—The department 1215 

shall: 1216 

(a) Establish a toll-free hotline that provides parents and 1217 

private schools with information on participation in the 1218 

program. 1219 

(b) Annually verify the eligibility of private schools that 1220 

meet the requirements of subsection (6). 1221 

(c) Require an annual notarized and sworn compliance 1222 

statement by participating private schools certifying compliance 1223 

with state laws and retain such records. 1224 

(d) Cross-check the list of participating students with the 1225 

public school enrollment lists and participation lists in other 1226 

scholarship programs established under this chapter before each 1227 

scholarship payment to avoid duplication. 1228 

(e) Maintain a list of nationally norm-referenced tests 1229 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì826696\Î826696 

 

Page 44 of 115 

2/16/2018 9:39:34 AM 581-03217-18 

identified for purposes of satisfying the testing requirement in 1230 

paragraph (9)(f). The tests must meet industry standards of 1231 

quality in accordance with State Board of Education rule. 1232 

(f) Require quarterly reports by an eligible nonprofit 1233 

scholarship-funding organization regarding the number of 1234 

students participating in the scholarship program, the private 1235 

schools in which the students are enrolled, and other 1236 

information deemed necessary by the department. 1237 

(g) Contract with an independent entity to provide an 1238 

annual evaluation of the program by: 1239 

1. Reviewing the school climate and code of student conduct 1240 

of each public school that reported the occurrence of a monthly 1241 

average of 10 or more substantiated incidents to determine areas 1242 

in the school or school district procedures involving reporting, 1243 

investigating, and communicating a parent’s and student’s rights 1244 

which are in need of improvement. At a minimum, the review must 1245 

include: 1246 

a. An assessment of the investigation time and quality of 1247 

the response of the school and the school district; 1248 

b. An assessment of the effectiveness of communication 1249 

procedures with the students involved in an incident, the 1250 

students’ parents, and the school and school district personnel; 1251 

c. An analysis of school incident and discipline data; and 1252 

d. The challenges and obstacles relating to implementing 1253 

recommendations from this review. 1254 

2. Reviewing the school climate and code of student conduct 1255 

of each public school a student transferred to if the student 1256 

was from a school identified in subparagraph 1. in order to 1257 

identify best practices and make recommendations to a public 1258 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì826696\Î826696 

 

Page 45 of 115 

2/16/2018 9:39:34 AM 581-03217-18 

school at which the incidents occurred. 1259 

3. Reviewing the performance of participating students 1260 

enrolled in a private school in which the majority of the 1261 

school’s total enrolled students in the prior school year 1262 

participated in one or more scholarship programs, as defined in 1263 

s. 1002.01, in which there are at least 10 participating 1264 

students who have scores for tests administered; and reviewing 1265 

the school climate and code of student conduct of the private 1266 

school if one or more scholarship participants were involved in 1267 

a reported incident at the school during the prior school year. 1268 

4. Surveying the parents of participating students to 1269 

determine academic, safety, and school climate satisfaction and 1270 

to identify any challenges or obstacles in addressing the 1271 

incident or relating to the use of the scholarship. 1272 

(h) Upon the request of a participating private school, 1273 

provide at no cost to the school the statewide assessments 1274 

administered under s. 1008.22 and any related materials for 1275 

administering the assessments. Students at a private school may 1276 

be assessed using the statewide assessments if the addition of 1277 

those students and the school does not cause the state to exceed 1278 

its contractual caps for the number of students tested and the 1279 

number of testing sites. The state shall provide the same 1280 

materials and support to a private school that it provides to a 1281 

public school. A private school that chooses to administer 1282 

statewide assessments under s. 1008.22 shall follow the 1283 

requirements set forth in ss. 1008.22 and 1008.24, rules adopted 1284 

by the State Board of Education to implement those sections, and 1285 

district-level testing policies established by the district 1286 

school board. 1287 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì826696\Î826696 

 

Page 46 of 115 

2/16/2018 9:39:34 AM 581-03217-18 

(i) Establish a process by which individuals may notify the 1288 

department of any violation by a parent, private school, or 1289 

school district of state laws relating to program participation. 1290 

The department shall conduct an inquiry or make a referral to 1291 

the appropriate agency for an investigation of any written 1292 

complaint of a violation of this section if the complaint is 1293 

signed by the complainant and is legally sufficient. A complaint 1294 

is legally sufficient if such complaint contains ultimate facts 1295 

that show that a violation of this section or any rule adopted 1296 

by the State Board of Education pursuant to this section has 1297 

occurred. In order to determine legal sufficiency, the 1298 

department may require supporting information or documentation 1299 

from the complainant. A department inquiry is not subject to the 1300 

requirements of chapter 120. 1301 

(j)1. Conduct site visits to participating private schools. 1302 

The purpose of the site visits is solely to verify the 1303 

information reported by the schools concerning the enrollment 1304 

and attendance of students, the credentials of teachers, 1305 

background screening of teachers, teachers’ fingerprinting 1306 

results, and other conditions required pursuant to s. 1002.421 1307 

and this section. The department may not make more than seven 1308 

site visits each year; however, the department may make 1309 

additional site visits at any time to a school that is the 1310 

subject of a violation complaint submitted pursuant to paragraph 1311 

(i), is identified by an organization for a known or suspected 1312 

violation, or has received a notice of noncompliance or a notice 1313 

of proposed action within the current year or the previous 2 1314 

years. 1315 

2. Annually, by December 15, report to the Governor, the 1316 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì826696\Î826696 

 

Page 47 of 115 

2/16/2018 9:39:34 AM 581-03217-18 

President of the Senate, and the Speaker of the House of 1317 

Representatives the department’s actions with respect to 1318 

implementing accountability in the program under this section 1319 

and s. 1002.421, any substantiated allegations or violations of 1320 

law or rule by an eligible private school under this program, 1321 

and the corrective action taken by the department. 1322 

(8) COMMISSIONER OF EDUCATION AUTHORITY AND OBLIGATIONS.— 1323 

(a) The Commissioner of Education: 1324 

1. Shall deny, suspend, or revoke a private school’s 1325 

participation in the program if it is determined that the 1326 

private school has failed to comply with the provisions of this 1327 

section. However, if the noncompliance is correctable within a 1328 

reasonable amount of time and if the health, safety, or welfare 1329 

of the students is not threatened, the commissioner may issue a 1330 

notice of noncompliance which provides the private school with a 1331 

timeframe within which to provide evidence of compliance before 1332 

taking action to suspend or revoke the private school’s 1333 

participation in the program. 1334 

2. May deny, suspend, or revoke a private school’s 1335 

participation in the program if the commissioner determines that 1336 

an owner or operator of the private school is operating or has 1337 

operated an educational institution in this state or in another 1338 

state or jurisdiction in a manner contrary to the health, 1339 

safety, or welfare of the public. 1340 

a. In making such a determination, the commissioner may 1341 

consider factors that include, but are not limited to, acts or 1342 

omissions by an owner or operator which led to a previous denial 1343 

or revocation of participation in an education scholarship 1344 

program; an owner’s or operator’s failure to reimburse the 1345 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì826696\Î826696 

 

Page 48 of 115 

2/16/2018 9:39:34 AM 581-03217-18 

department for scholarship funds improperly received or retained 1346 

by a school; imposition of a prior criminal sanction related to 1347 

an owner’s or operator’s management or operation of an 1348 

educational institution; imposition of a civil fine or 1349 

administrative fine, license revocation or suspension, or 1350 

program eligibility suspension, termination, or revocation 1351 

related to an owner’s or operator’s management or operation of 1352 

an educational institution; or other types of criminal 1353 

proceedings in which an owner or operator was found guilty of, 1354 

regardless of adjudication, or entered a plea of nolo contendere 1355 

or guilty to, any offense involving fraud, deceit, dishonesty, 1356 

or moral turpitude. 1357 

b. For purposes of this subparagraph, the term “owner or 1358 

operator” includes an owner, operator, superintendent, or 1359 

principal of, or a person who has equivalent decisionmaking 1360 

authority over, a private school participating in the 1361 

scholarship program. 1362 

(b) The commissioner’s determination is subject to the 1363 

following: 1364 

1. If the commissioner intends to deny, suspend, or revoke 1365 

a private school’s participation in the program, the department 1366 

shall notify the private school of such proposed action in 1367 

writing by certified mail and regular mail to the private 1368 

school’s address of record with the department. The notification 1369 

shall include the reasons for the proposed action and notice of 1370 

the timelines and procedures set forth in this paragraph. 1371 

2. The private school that is adversely affected by the 1372 

proposed action shall have 15 days after receipt of the notice 1373 

of proposed action to file with the department’s agency clerk a 1374 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì826696\Î826696 

 

Page 49 of 115 

2/16/2018 9:39:34 AM 581-03217-18 

request for a proceeding pursuant to ss. 120.569 and 120.57. If 1375 

the private school is entitled to a hearing under s. 120.57(1), 1376 

the department shall refer the request to the Division of 1377 

Administrative Hearings. 1378 

3. Upon receipt of a request referred pursuant to this 1379 

paragraph, the director of the Division of Administrative 1380 

Hearings shall expedite the hearing and assign an administrative 1381 

law judge who shall commence a hearing within 30 days after the 1382 

receipt of the formal written request by the division and enter 1383 

a recommended order within 30 days after the hearing or within 1384 

30 days after receipt of the hearing transcript, whichever is 1385 

later. Each party shall be allowed 10 days in which to submit 1386 

written exceptions to the recommended order. A final order shall 1387 

be entered by the agency within 30 days after the entry of a 1388 

recommended order. The provisions of this subparagraph may be 1389 

waived upon stipulation by all parties. 1390 

(c) The commissioner may immediately suspend payment of 1391 

scholarship funds if it is determined that there is probable 1392 

cause to believe that there is: 1393 

1. An imminent threat to the health, safety, or welfare of 1394 

the students; or 1395 

2. Fraudulent activity on the part of the private school. 1396 

Notwithstanding s. 1002.22, in incidents of alleged fraudulent 1397 

activity pursuant to this section, the department’s Office of 1398 

Inspector General is authorized to release personally 1399 

identifiable records or reports of students to the following 1400 

persons or organizations: 1401 

a. A court of competent jurisdiction in compliance with an 1402 

order of that court or the attorney of record in accordance with 1403 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì826696\Î826696 

 

Page 50 of 115 

2/16/2018 9:39:34 AM 581-03217-18 

a lawfully issued subpoena, consistent with the Family 1404 

Educational Rights and Privacy Act, 20 U.S.C. s. 1232g. 1405 

b. A person or entity authorized by a court of competent 1406 

jurisdiction in compliance with an order of that court or the 1407 

attorney of record pursuant to a lawfully issued subpoena, 1408 

consistent with the Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act, 1409 

20 U.S.C. s. 1232g. 1410 

c. Any person, entity, or authority issuing a subpoena for 1411 

law enforcement purposes when the court or other issuing agency 1412 

has ordered that the existence or the contents of the subpoena 1413 

or the information furnished in response to the subpoena not be 1414 

disclosed, consistent with the Family Educational Rights and 1415 

Privacy Act, 20 U.S.C. s. 1232g, and 34 C.F.R. s. 99.31. 1416 

 1417 

The commissioner’s suspension of payment pursuant to this 1418 

paragraph may be appealed pursuant to the same procedures and 1419 

timelines as the notice of proposed action set forth in 1420 

paragraph (b). 1421 

(9) PARENT AND STUDENT RESPONSIBILITIES FOR PROGRAM 1422 

PARTICIPATION.—A parent who applies for a Hope Scholarship is 1423 

exercising his or her parental option to place his or her 1424 

student in an eligible private school. 1425 

(a) The parent must select an eligible private school and 1426 

apply for the admission of his or her student. 1427 

(b) The parent must inform the student’s school district 1428 

when the parent withdraws his or her student to attend an 1429 

eligible private school. 1430 

(c) Any student participating in the program must comply 1431 

with the regular attendance requirements of s. 1003.01(13) and 1432 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì826696\Î826696 

 

Page 51 of 115 

2/16/2018 9:39:34 AM 581-03217-18 

remain in attendance throughout the school year unless excused 1433 

by the school for illness or other good cause. 1434 

(d) Each parent and each student has an obligation to the 1435 

private school to comply with the private school’s published 1436 

policies. 1437 

(e) Upon reasonable notice to the department and the school 1438 

district, the parent may remove the student from the private 1439 

school and place the student in a public school in accordance 1440 

with this section. 1441 

(f) The parent must ensure that the student participating 1442 

in the program takes the norm-referenced assessment offered by 1443 

the private school. The parent may also choose to have the 1444 

student participate in the statewide assessments pursuant to s. 1445 

1008.22. If the parent requests that the student participating 1446 

in the program take the statewide assessments pursuant to s. 1447 

1008.22 and the private school has not chosen to offer and 1448 

administer the statewide assessments, the parent is responsible 1449 

for transporting the student to the assessment site designated 1450 

by the school district. 1451 

(g) Upon receipt of a scholarship warrant, the parent to 1452 

whom the warrant is made must restrictively endorse the warrant 1453 

to the private school for deposit into the account of the 1454 

private school. The parent may not designate any entity or 1455 

individual associated with the participating private school as 1456 

the parent’s attorney in fact to endorse a scholarship warrant. 1457 

A parent who fails to comply with this paragraph forfeits the 1458 

scholarship. 1459 

(10) OBLIGATIONS OF NONPROFIT SCHOLARSHIP-FUNDING 1460 

ORGANIZATIONS.—An organization may establish scholarships for 1461 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì826696\Î826696 

 

Page 52 of 115 

2/16/2018 9:39:34 AM 581-03217-18 

eligible students by: 1462 

(a) Receiving applications and determining student 1463 

eligibility in accordance with the requirements of this section. 1464 

(b) Notifying parents of their receipt of a scholarship on 1465 

a first-come, first-served basis, based upon available funds. 1466 

(c) Preparing and submitting quarterly and annual reports 1467 

to the department pursuant to paragraphs (7)(f) and (g). In 1468 

addition, an eligible nonprofit scholarship-funding organization 1469 

must submit in a timely manner any information requested by the 1470 

department relating to the scholarship program. 1471 

(d) Notifying the department of any known or suspected 1472 

violation of this section by a private school, parent, or 1473 

student. 1474 

(11) FUNDING AND PAYMENT.— 1475 

(a) The maximum amount awarded to a student enrolled in an 1476 

eligible private school shall be determined as a percentage of 1477 

the unweighted FTE funding amount for that state fiscal year and 1478 

thereafter as follows: 1479 

1. Eighty-eight percent for a student enrolled in 1480 

kindergarten through grade 5. 1481 

2. Ninety-two percent for a student enrolled in grade 6 1482 

through grade 8. 1483 

3. Ninety-six percent for a student enrolled in grade 9 1484 

through grade 12. 1485 

(b) The maximum amount awarded to a student enrolled in a 1486 

Florida public school located outside of the district in which 1487 

the student resides shall be $750. 1488 

(c) When a student enters the program, the organization 1489 

must receive all documentation required for the student’s 1490 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì826696\Î826696 

 

Page 53 of 115 

2/16/2018 9:39:34 AM 581-03217-18 

participation, including a copy of the report of the 1491 

substantiated incident received pursuant to subsection (5) and 1492 

the private school’s and the student’s fee schedules. The 1493 

initial payment shall be made after verification of admission 1494 

acceptance, and subsequent payments shall be made upon 1495 

verification of continued enrollment and attendance at the 1496 

private school. 1497 

(d) Payment of the scholarship by the eligible nonprofit 1498 

scholarship-funding organization may be by individual warrant 1499 

made payable to the student’s parent or by funds transfer made 1500 

by debit cards, electronic payment cards, or other means of 1501 

payment which the department deems to be commercially viable or 1502 

cost-effective. If payment is made by warrant, the warrant must 1503 

be delivered by the eligible nonprofit scholarship-funding 1504 

organization to the private school of the parent’s choice, and 1505 

the parent shall restrictively endorse the warrant to the 1506 

private school. If payment is made by funds transfer, the parent 1507 

must approve each payment before the scholarship funds may be 1508 

deposited. The parent may not designate any entity or individual 1509 

associated with the participating private school as the parent’s 1510 

attorney in fact to endorse a scholarship warrant or approve a 1511 

funds transfer. 1512 

(e) An eligible nonprofit scholarship-funding organization 1513 

shall obtain verification from the private school of a student’s 1514 

continued attendance at the school for each period covered by a 1515 

scholarship payment. 1516 

(f) Payment of the scholarship shall be made by the 1517 

eligible nonprofit scholarship-funding organization no less 1518 

frequently than on a quarterly basis. 1519 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì826696\Î826696 

 

Page 54 of 115 

2/16/2018 9:39:34 AM 581-03217-18 

(g) An organization may use up to 3 percent of eligible 1520 

contributions received during the state fiscal year in which 1521 

such contributions are collected for administrative expenses if 1522 

the organization has operated as an eligible nonprofit 1523 

scholarship-funding organization for at least the preceding 3 1524 

fiscal years and did not have any findings of material weakness 1525 

or material noncompliance in its most recent audit under s. 1526 

1002.395(6)(m). Such administrative expenses must be reasonable 1527 

and necessary for the organization’s management and distribution 1528 

of eligible contributions under this section. Funds authorized 1529 

under this paragraph may not be used for lobbying or political 1530 

activity or expenses related to lobbying or political activity. 1531 

Up to one-third of the funds authorized for administrative 1532 

expenses under this paragraph may be used for expenses related 1533 

to the recruitment of contributions from taxpayers. An eligible 1534 

nonprofit scholarship-funding organization may not charge an 1535 

application fee. 1536 

(h) Moneys received pursuant to this section do not 1537 

constitute taxable income to the qualified student or his or her 1538 

parent. 1539 

(12) OBLIGATIONS OF THE AUDITOR GENERAL.— 1540 

(a) The Auditor General shall conduct an annual operational 1541 

audit of accounts and records of each organization that 1542 

participates in the program. As part of this audit, the Auditor 1543 

General shall verify, at a minimum, the total number of students 1544 

served and transmit that information to the department. The 1545 

Auditor General shall provide the commissioner with a copy of 1546 

each annual operational audit performed pursuant to this 1547 

subsection within 10 days after the audit is finalized. 1548 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì826696\Î826696 

 

Page 55 of 115 

2/16/2018 9:39:34 AM 581-03217-18 

(b) The Auditor General shall notify the department of any 1549 

organization that fails to comply with a request for 1550 

information. 1551 

(13) SCHOLARSHIP FUNDING TAX CREDITS.— 1552 

(a) A tax credit is available under s. 212.1832 for use by 1553 

a taxpayer that makes an eligible contribution to the program. 1554 

Each eligible contribution is limited to a single payment of $20 1555 

at the time of purchase of a motor vehicle or a single payment 1556 

of $20 at the time of registration of a motor vehicle that was 1557 

not purchased from a dealer. An eligible contribution shall be 1558 

accompanied by an election to contribute to the program and 1559 

shall be made by the purchaser at the time of purchase or at the 1560 

time of registration on a form provided by the Department of 1561 

Revenue. Payments of contributions shall be made to a dealer, as 1562 

defined in chapter 212, at the time of purchase of a motor 1563 

vehicle or to an agent of the Department of Revenue, as 1564 

designated by s. 212.06(10), at the time of registration of a 1565 

motor vehicle that was not purchased from a dealer. 1566 

(b) A tax collector or any person or firm authorized to 1567 

sell or issue a motor vehicle license who is designated as an 1568 

agent of the Department of Revenue pursuant to s. 212.06(10) or 1569 

who is a dealer shall: 1570 

1. Provide the purchaser the contribution election form, as 1571 

prescribed by the Department of Revenue, at the time of purchase 1572 

of a motor vehicle or at the time of registration of a motor 1573 

vehicle that was not purchased from a dealer. 1574 

2. Collect eligible contributions. 1575 

3. Using a form provided by the Department of Revenue, 1576 

which shall include the dealer’s or agent’s federal employer 1577 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì826696\Î826696 

 

Page 56 of 115 

2/16/2018 9:39:34 AM 581-03217-18 

identification number, remit to an organization on or before the 1578 

20th day of each month the total amount of contributions made to 1579 

that organization and collected during the preceding calendar 1580 

month. 1581 

4. Report on each return filed with the Department of 1582 

Revenue the total amount of credits allowed under s. 212.1832 1583 

during the preceding calendar month. 1584 

(c) An organization shall report to the Department of 1585 

Revenue, on or before the 20th day of each month, the total 1586 

amount of contributions received pursuant to paragraph (b) in 1587 

the preceding calendar month on a form provided by the 1588 

Department of Revenue. Such report shall include the federal 1589 

employer identification number of each tax collector, authorized 1590 

agent of the Department of Revenue, or dealer who remitted 1591 

contributions to the organization during that reporting period. 1592 

(d) A person who, with intent to unlawfully deprive or 1593 

defraud the program of its moneys or the use or benefit thereof, 1594 

fails to remit a contribution collected under this section is 1595 

guilty of theft of charitable funds, punishable as follows: 1596 

1. If the total amount stolen is less than $300, the 1597 

offense is a misdemeanor of the second degree, punishable as 1598 

provided in s. 775.082 or s. 775.083. Upon a second conviction, 1599 

the offender is guilty of a misdemeanor of the first degree, 1600 

punishable as provided in s. 775.082 or s. 775.083. Upon a third 1601 

or subsequent conviction, the offender is guilty of a felony of 1602 

the third degree, punishable as provided in s. 775.082, s. 1603 

775.083, or s. 775.084. 1604 

2. If the total amount stolen is $300 or more, but less 1605 

than $20,000, the offense is a felony of the third degree, 1606 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì826696\Î826696 

 

Page 57 of 115 

2/16/2018 9:39:34 AM 581-03217-18 

punishable as provided in s. 775.082, s. 775.083, or s. 775.084. 1607 

3. If the total amount stolen is $20,000 or more, but less 1608 

than $100,000, the offense is a felony of the second degree, 1609 

punishable as provided in s. 775.082, s. 775.083, or s. 775.084. 1610 

4. If the total amount stolen is $100,000 or more, the 1611 

offense is a felony of the first degree, punishable as provided 1612 

in s. 775.082, s. 775.083, or s. 775.084. 1613 

(e) A person convicted of an offense under paragraph (d) 1614 

shall be ordered by the sentencing judge to make restitution to 1615 

the organization in the amount that was stolen from the program. 1616 

(14) LIABILITY.—The state is not liable for the award or 1617 

any use of awarded funds under this section. 1618 

(15) SCOPE OF AUTHORITY.—This section does not expand the 1619 

regulatory authority of this state, its officers, or any school 1620 

district to impose additional regulation on participating 1621 

private schools beyond those reasonably necessary to enforce 1622 

requirements expressly set forth in this section. 1623 

(16) RULES.—The State Board of Education shall adopt rules 1624 

to administer this section. 1625 

Section 16. Present subsection (7) of section 1002.421, 1626 

Florida Statutes, is amended and redesignated as subsection 1627 

(11), a new subsection (7) and subsections (8), (9), and (10) 1628 

are added to that section, and subsection (1), paragraphs (h) 1629 

and (i) of subsection (2), and subsections (4) and (5) of that 1630 

section are amended, to read: 1631 

1002.421 Accountability of private schools participating in 1632 

state school choice scholarship programs.— 1633 

(1)(a) A Florida private school participating in the 1634 

Florida Tax Credit Scholarship Program established pursuant to 1635 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì826696\Î826696 

 

Page 58 of 115 

2/16/2018 9:39:34 AM 581-03217-18 

s. 1002.395 or an educational scholarship program established 1636 

pursuant to this chapter must comply with all requirements of 1637 

this section in addition to private school requirements outlined 1638 

in s. 1002.42, specific requirements identified within 1639 

respective scholarship program laws, and other provisions of 1640 

Florida law that apply to private schools. 1641 

(b) For purposes of this section, the term “owner or 1642 

operator” includes an owner, operator, superintendent, or 1643 

principal of an eligible private school or a person with 1644 

equivalent decisionmaking authority over an eligible private 1645 

school. 1646 

(2) A private school participating in a scholarship program 1647 

must be a Florida private school as defined in s. 1002.01(2), 1648 

must be registered in accordance with s. 1002.42, and must: 1649 

(h) Employ or contract with teachers who: 1650 

1. Unless otherwise specified under this paragraph, hold 1651 

baccalaureate or higher degrees, have at least 3 years of 1652 

teaching experience in public or private schools, or have 1653 

objectively identified special skills, knowledge, or expertise 1654 

that qualifies them to provide instruction in subjects taught. 1655 

2. Hold baccalaureate or higher degrees from a regionally 1656 

or nationally accredited college or university in the United 1657 

States or from a recognized college or university in another 1658 

country. This subparagraph applies to full-time teachers hired 1659 

after July 1, 2018, who are teaching students in grade 2 or 1660 

above. 1661 

 1662 

The private school must report to the department, in a format 1663 

developed by the department, the qualifications of each teacher 1664 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì826696\Î826696 

 

Page 59 of 115 

2/16/2018 9:39:34 AM 581-03217-18 

hired by the school, including, but not limited to, an 1665 

explanation of the objectively identified special skills or 1666 

expertise of such teachers, as applicable. Additionally, the 1667 

private school must provide to the parent of each scholarship 1668 

student, on the school’s website or on a written form provided 1669 

by the school, the qualifications of each classroom teacher. 1670 

(i) Require each employee and contracted personnel with 1671 

direct student contact, upon employment or engagement to provide 1672 

services, to undergo a state and national background screening, 1673 

pursuant to s. 943.0542, by electronically filing with the 1674 

Department of Law Enforcement a complete set of fingerprints 1675 

taken by an authorized law enforcement agency or an employee of 1676 

the private school, a school district, or a private company who 1677 

is trained to take fingerprints and deny employment to or 1678 

terminate an employee if he or she fails to meet the screening 1679 

standards under s. 435.04. Results of the screening shall be 1680 

provided to the participating private school. For purposes of 1681 

this paragraph: 1682 

1. An “employee or contracted personnel with direct student 1683 

contact” means any employee or contracted personnel who has 1684 

unsupervised access to a scholarship student for whom the 1685 

private school is responsible. 1686 

2. The costs of fingerprinting and the background check 1687 

shall not be borne by the state. 1688 

3. Continued employment of an employee or contracted 1689 

personnel after notification that he or she has failed the 1690 

background screening under this paragraph shall cause a private 1691 

school to be ineligible for participation in a scholarship 1692 

program. 1693 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì826696\Î826696 

 

Page 60 of 115 

2/16/2018 9:39:34 AM 581-03217-18 

4. An employee or contracted personnel holding a valid 1694 

Florida teaching certificate who has been fingerprinted pursuant 1695 

to s. 1012.32 and who is not ineligible for employment pursuant 1696 

to s. 1012.315 is not required to comply with the provisions of 1697 

this paragraph. 1698 

(4) A private school that accepts scholarship students 1699 

under this chapter s. 1002.39 or s. 1002.395 must: 1700 

(a) Disqualify instructional personnel and school 1701 

administrators, as defined in s. 1012.01, from employment in any 1702 

position that requires direct contact with students if the 1703 

personnel or administrators are ineligible for such employment 1704 

under s. 1012.315. 1705 

(b) Adopt and faithfully implement policies establishing 1706 

standards of ethical conduct for instructional personnel and 1707 

school administrators. The policies must require all 1708 

instructional personnel and school administrators, as defined in 1709 

s. 1012.01, to complete training on the standards; establish the 1710 

duty of instructional personnel and school administrators to 1711 

report, and procedures for reporting, alleged misconduct by 1712 

other instructional personnel and school administrators which 1713 

affects the health, safety, or welfare of a student; and include 1714 

an explanation of the liability protections provided under ss. 1715 

39.203 and 768.095. A private school, or any of its employees, 1716 

may not enter into a confidentiality agreement regarding 1717 

terminated or dismissed instructional personnel or school 1718 

administrators, or personnel or administrators who resign in 1719 

lieu of termination, based in whole or in part on misconduct 1720 

that affects the health, safety, or welfare of a student, and 1721 

may not provide the instructional personnel or school 1722 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì826696\Î826696 

 

Page 61 of 115 

2/16/2018 9:39:34 AM 581-03217-18 

administrators with employment references or discuss the 1723 

personnel’s or administrators’ performance with prospective 1724 

employers in another educational setting, without disclosing the 1725 

personnel’s or administrators’ misconduct. Any part of an 1726 

agreement or contract that has the purpose or effect of 1727 

concealing misconduct by instructional personnel or school 1728 

administrators which affects the health, safety, or welfare of a 1729 

student is void, is contrary to public policy, and may not be 1730 

enforced. 1731 

(c) Before employing instructional personnel or school 1732 

administrators in any position that requires direct contact with 1733 

students, conduct employment history checks of each of the 1734 

personnel’s or administrators’ previous employers, screen the 1735 

personnel or administrators through use of the educator 1736 

screening tools described in s. 1001.10(5), and document the 1737 

findings. If unable to contact a previous employer, the private 1738 

school must document efforts to contact the employer. 1739 

 1740 

The department shall suspend the payment of funds under this 1741 

chapter ss. 1002.39 and 1002.395 to a private school that 1742 

knowingly fails or refuses to comply with this subsection, and 1743 

shall prohibit the school from enrolling new scholarship 1744 

students, for 1 fiscal year and until the school complies. 1745 

(5) The failure or refusal inability of a private school to 1746 

meet the requirements of this section shall constitute a basis 1747 

for the ineligibility of the private school to participate in a 1748 

scholarship program as determined by the department. 1749 

Additionally, a private school is ineligible to participate in a 1750 

state scholarship program under this chapter if the owner or 1751 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì826696\Î826696 

 

Page 62 of 115 

2/16/2018 9:39:34 AM 581-03217-18 

operator of the private school was a debtor in a voluntary or 1752 

involuntary bankruptcy petition within the most recent 5 years. 1753 

(7)(a) The department must annually visit at least 5 1754 

percent, and may annually visit up to 7 percent, of the private 1755 

schools that participate in the state scholarship programs under 1756 

this chapter. Site visits required under subsection (8) are not 1757 

included in the annual site visits authorized under this 1758 

paragraph. 1759 

(b) The purposes of the site visits are to verify 1760 

compliance with the provisions of this section aimed at 1761 

protecting the health, safety, and welfare of students and to 1762 

verify the information reported by the schools concerning the 1763 

enrollment and attendance of students, the credentials of 1764 

teachers, background screening of teachers, and teachers’ 1765 

fingerprinting results, as required by rules of the State Board 1766 

of Education and this section. 1767 

(c) The department may make followup site visits at any 1768 

time to any school that has received a notice of noncompliance 1769 

or a notice of proposed action within the previous 2 years, or 1770 

for a cause that affects the health, safety, and welfare of a 1771 

student. 1772 

(8)(a) The department shall visit each private school that 1773 

notifies the department of the school’s intent to participate in 1774 

a state scholarship program under this chapter. 1775 

(b) The purpose of the site visit is to determine that the 1776 

school meets the applicable state and local health, safety, and 1777 

welfare codes and rules pursuant to this section. 1778 

(9) The Division of State Fire Marshal shall annually 1779 

provide to the department a fire safety inspection report, 1780 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì826696\Î826696 

 

Page 63 of 115 

2/16/2018 9:39:34 AM 581-03217-18 

prepared by the local fire departments or by entities with whom 1781 

they contract to perform fire safety inspections of private 1782 

schools, for each private school that participates in a state 1783 

scholarship program under this chapter. 1784 

(10) If a private school that participates in a state 1785 

scholarship program under this chapter receives more than 1786 

$250,000 in funds from the scholarships awarded under this 1787 

chapter in a state fiscal year, the school must provide to the 1788 

department a report of the balance sheet and statement of income 1789 

expenditures in accordance with generally accepted accounting 1790 

procedures from an independent certified public accountant who 1791 

performs the agreed-upon procedures. 1792 

(11)(7) The State Board of Education shall adopt rules 1793 

pursuant to ss. 120.536(1) and 120.54 to administer and enforce 1794 

this section. 1795 

Section 17. Section 1002.43, Florida Statutes, is repealed. 1796 

Section 18. Subsection (13) of section 1003.01, Florida 1797 

Statutes, is amended to read: 1798 

1003.01 Definitions.—As used in this chapter, the term: 1799 

(13) “Regular school attendance” means the actual 1800 

attendance of a student during the school day as defined by law 1801 

and rules of the State Board of Education. Regular attendance 1802 

within the intent of s. 1003.21 may be achieved by a student’s 1803 

full-time attendance in one of the following options: 1804 

(a) A public school supported by public funds, including, 1805 

but not limited to, the Florida School for the Deaf and the 1806 

Blind, the Florida Virtual School, a developmental research 1807 

school, and a charter school established pursuant to chapter 1808 

1002.; 1809 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì826696\Î826696 

 

Page 64 of 115 

2/16/2018 9:39:34 AM 581-03217-18 

(b) A parochial, religious, or denominational school; 1810 

(b)(c) A private school, as defined in s. 1002.01(2) and in 1811 

compliance with s. 1002.42, including, but not limited to, a 1812 

private parochial, religious, or denominational school; and a 1813 

private school supported in whole or in part by tuition charges 1814 

or by endowments or gifts. This option includes an eligible 1815 

private school in which a student attends as a participant in a 1816 

scholarship program, as defined in s. 1002.01(3).; 1817 

(c)(d) A home education program, as defined in s. 1818 

1002.01(1), which that meets the requirements of chapter 1002.; 1819 

or 1820 

(e) A private tutoring program that meets the requirements 1821 

of chapter 1002. 1822 

Section 19. Paragraph (f) of subsection (1) of section 1823 

1003.26, Florida Statutes, is amended to read: 1824 

1003.26 Enforcement of school attendance.—The Legislature 1825 

finds that poor academic performance is associated with 1826 

nonattendance and that school districts must take an active role 1827 

in promoting and enforcing attendance as a means of improving 1828 

student performance. It is the policy of the state that each 1829 

district school superintendent be responsible for enforcing 1830 

school attendance of all students subject to the compulsory 1831 

school age in the school district and supporting enforcement of 1832 

school attendance by local law enforcement agencies. The 1833 

responsibility includes recommending policies and procedures to 1834 

the district school board that require public schools to respond 1835 

in a timely manner to every unexcused absence, and every absence 1836 

for which the reason is unknown, of students enrolled in the 1837 

schools. District school board policies shall require the parent 1838 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì826696\Î826696 

 

Page 65 of 115 

2/16/2018 9:39:34 AM 581-03217-18 

of a student to justify each absence of the student, and that 1839 

justification will be evaluated based on adopted district school 1840 

board policies that define excused and unexcused absences. The 1841 

policies must provide that public schools track excused and 1842 

unexcused absences and contact the home in the case of an 1843 

unexcused absence from school, or an absence from school for 1844 

which the reason is unknown, to prevent the development of 1845 

patterns of nonattendance. The Legislature finds that early 1846 

intervention in school attendance is the most effective way of 1847 

producing good attendance habits that will lead to improved 1848 

student learning and achievement. Each public school shall 1849 

implement the following steps to promote and enforce regular 1850 

school attendance: 1851 

(1) CONTACT, REFER, AND ENFORCE.— 1852 

(f)1. If the parent of a child who has been identified as 1853 

exhibiting a pattern of nonattendance enrolls the child in a 1854 

home education program pursuant to chapter 1002, the district 1855 

school superintendent shall provide the parent a copy of s. 1856 

1002.41 and the accountability requirements of this paragraph. 1857 

The district school superintendent shall also refer the parent 1858 

to a home education review committee composed of the district 1859 

contact for home education programs and at least two home 1860 

educators selected by the parent from a district list of all 1861 

home educators who have conducted a home education program for 1862 

at least 3 years and who have indicated a willingness to serve 1863 

on the committee. The home education review committee shall 1864 

review the portfolio of the student, as defined by s. 1002.41, 1865 

every 30 days during the district’s regular school terms until 1866 

the committee is satisfied that the home education program is in 1867 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì826696\Î826696 

 

Page 66 of 115 

2/16/2018 9:39:34 AM 581-03217-18 

compliance with s. 1002.41(1)(b). The first portfolio review 1868 

must occur within the first 30 calendar days of the 1869 

establishment of the program. The provisions of subparagraph 2. 1870 

do not apply once the committee determines the home education 1871 

program is in compliance with s. 1002.41(1)(b). 1872 

2. If the parent fails to provide a portfolio to the 1873 

committee, the committee shall notify the district school 1874 

superintendent. The district school superintendent shall then 1875 

terminate the home education program and require the parent to 1876 

enroll the child in an attendance option that meets the 1877 

definition of “regular school attendance” under s. 1878 

1003.01(13)(a) or (b) s. 1003.01(13)(a), (b), (c), or (e), 1879 

within 3 days. Upon termination of a home education program 1880 

pursuant to this subparagraph, the parent shall not be eligible 1881 

to reenroll the child in a home education program for 180 1882 

calendar days. Failure of a parent to enroll the child in an 1883 

attendance option as required by this subparagraph after 1884 

termination of the home education program pursuant to this 1885 

subparagraph shall constitute noncompliance with the compulsory 1886 

attendance requirements of s. 1003.21 and may result in criminal 1887 

prosecution under s. 1003.27(2). Nothing contained herein shall 1888 

restrict the ability of the district school superintendent, or 1889 

the ability of his or her designee, to review the portfolio 1890 

pursuant to s. 1002.41(1)(b). 1891 

Section 20. Paragraph (d) of subsection (2) of section 1892 

1003.41, Florida Statutes, is amended and paragraph (f) is added 1893 

to that subsection, to read: 1894 

1003.41 Next Generation Sunshine State Standards.— 1895 

(2) Next Generation Sunshine State Standards must meet the 1896 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì826696\Î826696 

 

Page 67 of 115 

2/16/2018 9:39:34 AM 581-03217-18 

following requirements: 1897 

(d) Social Studies standards must establish specific 1898 

curricular content for, at a minimum, geography, United States 1899 

and world history, government, civics, humanities, and 1900 

economics, including financial literacy. Financial literacy 1901 

includes the knowledge, understanding, skills, behaviors, 1902 

attitudes, and values that will enable a student to make 1903 

responsible and effective financial decisions on a daily basis. 1904 

Financial literacy instruction shall be an integral part of 1905 

instruction throughout the entire economics course and include 1906 

information regarding earning income; buying goods and services; 1907 

saving and financial investing; taxes; the use of credit and 1908 

credit cards; budgeting and debt management, including student 1909 

loans and secured loans; banking and financial services; 1910 

planning for one’s financial future, including higher education 1911 

and career planning; credit reports and scores; and fraud and 1912 

identity theft prevention. The requirements for financial 1913 

literacy specified under this paragraph do not apply to students 1914 

entering grade 9 in the 2018-2019 school year and thereafter. 1915 

(f) Effective for students entering grade 9 in the 2018-1916 

2019 school year and thereafter, financial literacy standards 1917 

must establish specific curricular content for, at a minimum, 1918 

personal financial literacy and money management. Financial 1919 

literacy includes instruction in the areas specified in s. 1920 

1003.4282(3)(h). 1921 

Section 21. Paragraphs (d) and (g) of subsection (3) of 1922 

section 1003.4282, Florida Statutes, are amended, and paragraph 1923 

(h) is added to that subsection, to read: 1924 

1003.4282 Requirements for a standard high school diploma.— 1925 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì826696\Î826696 

 

Page 68 of 115 

2/16/2018 9:39:34 AM 581-03217-18 

(3) STANDARD HIGH SCHOOL DIPLOMA; COURSE AND ASSESSMENT 1926 

REQUIREMENTS.— 1927 

(d) Three credits in social studies.—A student must earn 1928 

one credit in United States History; one credit in World 1929 

History; one-half credit in economics, which must include 1930 

financial literacy; and one-half credit in United States 1931 

Government. The United States History EOC assessment constitutes 1932 

30 percent of the student’s final course grade. However, for a 1933 

student entering grade 9 in the 2018-2019 school year or 1934 

thereafter, financial literacy is not a required component of 1935 

the one-half credit in economics. 1936 

(g) Eight Credits in Electives.—School districts must 1937 

develop and offer coordinated electives so that a student may 1938 

develop knowledge and skills in his or her area of interest, 1939 

such as electives with a STEM or liberal arts focus. Such 1940 

electives must include opportunities for students to earn 1941 

college credit, including industry-certified career education 1942 

programs or series of career-themed courses that result in 1943 

industry certification or articulate into the award of college 1944 

credit, or career education courses for which there is a 1945 

statewide or local articulation agreement and which lead to 1946 

college credit. A student entering grade 9 before the 2018-2019 1947 

school year must earn eight credits in electives. A student 1948 

entering grade 9 in the 2018-2019 school year or thereafter must 1949 

earn seven and one-half credits in electives. 1950 

(h) One-half credit in personal financial literacy.—1951 

Beginning with students entering grade 9 in the 2018-2019 school 1952 

year, each student shall earn one-half credit in personal 1953 

financial literacy and money management. This instruction must 1954 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì826696\Î826696 

 

Page 69 of 115 

2/16/2018 9:39:34 AM 581-03217-18 

include discussion of or instruction in the following: 1955 

1. Types of bank accounts offered, opening and managing a 1956 

bank account, and assessing the quality of a depository 1957 

institution’s services. 1958 

2. Balancing a checkbook. 1959 

3. Basic principles of money management, such as spending, 1960 

credit, credit scores, and managing debt, including retail and 1961 

credit card debt. 1962 

4. Completing a loan application. 1963 

5. Receiving an inheritance and related implications. 1964 

6. Basic principles of personal insurance policies. 1965 

7. Computing federal income taxes. 1966 

8. Local tax assessments. 1967 

9. Computing interest rates by various mechanisms. 1968 

10. Simple contracts. 1969 

11. Contesting an incorrect billing statement. 1970 

12. Types of savings and investments. 1971 

13. State and federal laws concerning finance. 1972 

Section 22. Section 1006.061, Florida Statutes, is amended 1973 

to read: 1974 

1006.061 Child abuse, abandonment, and neglect policy.—Each 1975 

district school board, charter school, and private school that 1976 

accepts scholarship students under s. 1002.385, s. 1002.39, or 1977 

s. 1002.395, or another state scholarship program under chapter 1978 

1002 shall: 1979 

(1) Post in a prominent place in each school a notice that, 1980 

pursuant to chapter 39, all employees and agents of the district 1981 

school board, charter school, or private school have an 1982 

affirmative duty to report all actual or suspected cases of 1983 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì826696\Î826696 

 

Page 70 of 115 

2/16/2018 9:39:34 AM 581-03217-18 

child abuse, abandonment, or neglect; have immunity from 1984 

liability if they report such cases in good faith; and have a 1985 

duty to comply with child protective investigations and all 1986 

other provisions of law relating to child abuse, abandonment, 1987 

and neglect. The notice shall also include the statewide toll-1988 

free telephone number of the central abuse hotline. 1989 

(2) Post in a prominent place at each school site and on 1990 

each school’s Internet website, if available, the policies and 1991 

procedures for reporting alleged misconduct by instructional 1992 

personnel or school administrators which affects the health, 1993 

safety, or welfare of a student; the contact person to whom the 1994 

report is made; and the penalties imposed on instructional 1995 

personnel or school administrators who fail to report suspected 1996 

or actual child abuse or alleged misconduct by other 1997 

instructional personnel or school administrators. 1998 

(3) Require the principal of the charter school or private 1999 

school, or the district school superintendent, or the 2000 

superintendent’s designee, at the request of the Department of 2001 

Children and Families, to act as a liaison to the Department of 2002 

Children and Families and the child protection team, as defined 2003 

in s. 39.01, when in a case of suspected child abuse, 2004 

abandonment, or neglect or an unlawful sexual offense involving 2005 

a child the case is referred to such a team; except that this 2006 

does not relieve or restrict the Department of Children and 2007 

Families from discharging its duty and responsibility under the 2008 

law to investigate and report every suspected or actual case of 2009 

child abuse, abandonment, or neglect or unlawful sexual offense 2010 

involving a child. 2011 

(4)(a) Post in a prominent place in a clearly visible 2012 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì826696\Î826696 

 

Page 71 of 115 

2/16/2018 9:39:34 AM 581-03217-18 

location and public area of the school which is readily 2013 

accessible to and widely used by students a sign in English and 2014 

Spanish that contains: 2015 

1. The statewide toll-free telephone number of the central 2016 

abuse hotline as provided in chapter 39; 2017 

2. Instructions to call 911 for emergencies; and 2018 

3. Directions for accessing the Department of Children and 2019 

Families Internet website for more information on reporting 2020 

abuse, neglect, and exploitation. 2021 

(b) The information in paragraph (a) must be put on at 2022 

least one poster in each school, on a sheet that measures at 2023 

least 11 inches by 17 inches, produced in large print, and 2024 

placed at student eye level for easy viewing. 2025 

 2026 

The Department of Education shall develop, and publish on the 2027 

department’s Internet website, sample notices suitable for 2028 

posting in accordance with subsections (1), (2), and (4). 2029 

Section 23. Section 1007.273, Florida Statutes, is amended 2030 

to read: 2031 

1007.273 Structured high school acceleration programs 2032 

Collegiate high school program.— 2033 

(1) Each Florida College System institution shall work with 2034 

each district school board in its designated service area to 2035 

establish one or more structured programs, including, but not 2036 

limited to, collegiate high school programs. As used in this 2037 

section, the term “structured program” means a structured high 2038 

school acceleration program. 2039 

(1)(2) PURPOSE.—At a minimum, structured collegiate high 2040 

school programs must include an option for public school 2041 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì826696\Î826696 

 

Page 72 of 115 

2/16/2018 9:39:34 AM 581-03217-18 

students in grade 11 or grade 12 participating in the structured 2042 

program, for at least 1 full school year, to earn CAPE industry 2043 

certifications pursuant to s. 1008.44, and to successfully 2044 

complete at least 30 credit hours through the dual enrollment 2045 

program under s. 1007.271. The structured program must 2046 

prioritize dual enrollment courses that are applicable toward 2047 

general education core courses or common prerequisite course 2048 

requirements under s. 1007.25 over dual enrollment courses 2049 

applicable as electives toward at least the first year of 2050 

college for an associate degree or baccalaureate degree while 2051 

enrolled in the structured program. A district school board may 2052 

not limit the number of eligible public school students who may 2053 

enroll in such structured programs. 2054 

(2)(3) REQUIRED STRUCTURED PROGRAM CONTRACTS.— 2055 

(a) Each district school board and its local Florida 2056 

College System institution shall execute a contract to establish 2057 

one or more structured collegiate high school programs at a 2058 

mutually agreed upon location or locations. Beginning with the 2059 

2015-2016 school year, If the local Florida College System 2060 

institution does not establish a structured program with a 2061 

district school board in its designated service area, another 2062 

Florida College System institution may execute a contract with 2063 

that district school board to establish the structured program. 2064 

The contract must be executed by January 1 of each school year 2065 

for implementation of the structured program during the next 2066 

school year. By August 1, 2018, a contract entered into before 2067 

January 1, 2018, for the 2018-2019 school year must be modified 2068 

to include the provisions of paragraph (b). 2069 

(b) The contract must: 2070 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì826696\Î826696 

 

Page 73 of 115 

2/16/2018 9:39:34 AM 581-03217-18 

1.(a) Identify the grade levels to be included in the 2071 

structured collegiate high school program; which must, at a 2072 

minimum, include grade 12. 2073 

2.(b) Describe the structured collegiate high school 2074 

program, including a list of the meta-major academic pathways 2075 

approved pursuant to s. 1008.30(4), which are available to 2076 

participating students through the partner Florida College 2077 

System institution or other eligible partner postsecondary 2078 

institutions; the delineation of courses that must, at a 2079 

minimum, include general education core courses and common 2080 

prerequisite course requirements pursuant to s. 1007.25; and 2081 

industry certifications offered, including online course 2082 

availability; the high school and college credits earned for 2083 

each postsecondary course completed and industry certification 2084 

earned; student eligibility criteria; and the enrollment process 2085 

and relevant deadlines;. 2086 

3.(c) Describe the methods, medium, and process by which 2087 

students and their parents are annually informed about the 2088 

availability of the structured collegiate high school program, 2089 

the return on investment associated with participation in the 2090 

structured program, and the information described in 2091 

subparagraphs 1. and 2.; paragraphs (a) and (b). 2092 

4.(d) Identify the delivery methods for instruction and the 2093 

instructors for all courses;. 2094 

5.(e) Identify student advising services and progress 2095 

monitoring mechanisms;. 2096 

6.(f) Establish a program review and reporting mechanism 2097 

regarding student performance outcomes; and. 2098 

7.(g) Describe the terms of funding arrangements to 2099 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì826696\Î826696 

 

Page 74 of 115 

2/16/2018 9:39:34 AM 581-03217-18 

implement the structured collegiate high school program pursuant 2100 

to paragraph (5)(a). 2101 

(3) STUDENT PERFORMANCE CONTRACT AND NOTIFICATION.— 2102 

(a)(4) Each student participating in a structured 2103 

collegiate high school program must enter into a student 2104 

performance contract which must be signed by the student, the 2105 

parent, and a representative of the school district and the 2106 

applicable Florida College System institution, state university, 2107 

or other institution participating pursuant to subsection (4) 2108 

(5). The performance contract must, at a minimum, specify 2109 

include the schedule of courses, by semester, and industry 2110 

certifications to be taken by the student, if any; student 2111 

attendance requirements;, and course grade requirements; and the 2112 

applicability of such courses to an associate degree or a 2113 

baccalaureate degree. 2114 

(b) By September 1 of each school year, each district 2115 

school board must notify each student enrolled in grades 9, 10, 2116 

11, and 12 in a public school within the school district about 2117 

the structured program, including, but not limited to: 2118 

1. The method for earning college credit through 2119 

participation in the structured program. The notification must 2120 

include website links to the dual enrollment course equivalency 2121 

list approved by the State Board of Education; the common degree 2122 

program prerequisite requirements published by the Articulation 2123 

Coordinating Committee pursuant to s. 1007.01(3)(f); the 2124 

industry certification articulation agreements adopted by the 2125 

State Board of Education in rule; and the approved meta-major 2126 

academic pathways of the partner Florida College System 2127 

institution and other eligible partner postsecondary 2128 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì826696\Î826696 

 

Page 75 of 115 

2/16/2018 9:39:34 AM 581-03217-18 

institutions participating pursuant to subsection (4); and 2129 

2. The estimated cost savings to students and their 2130 

families resulting from students successfully completing 30 2131 

credit hours applicable toward general education core courses or 2132 

common prerequisite course requirements before graduating from 2133 

high school versus the cost of earning such credit hours after 2134 

graduating from high school. 2135 

(4)(5) AUTHORIZED STRUCTURED PROGRAM CONTRACTS.—In addition 2136 

to executing a contract with the local Florida College System 2137 

institution under this section, a district school board may 2138 

execute a contract to establish a structured collegiate high 2139 

school program with a state university or an institution that is 2140 

eligible to participate in the William L. Boyd, IV, Florida 2141 

Resident Access Grant Program, that is a nonprofit independent 2142 

college or university located and chartered in this state, and 2143 

that is accredited by the Commission on Colleges of the Southern 2144 

Association of Colleges and Schools to grant baccalaureate 2145 

degrees. Such university or institution must meet the 2146 

requirements specified under subsections (2) (3) and (3). A 2147 

charter school may execute a contract directly with the local 2148 

Florida College System institution or another institution as 2149 

authorized under this section to establish a structured program 2150 

at a mutually agreed upon location (4). 2151 

(5) FUNDING.— 2152 

(a)(6) The structured collegiate high school program shall 2153 

be funded pursuant to ss. 1007.271 and 1011.62. The State Board 2154 

of Education shall enforce compliance with this section by 2155 

withholding the transfer of funds for the school districts and 2156 

the Florida College System institutions in accordance with s. 2157 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì826696\Î826696 

 

Page 76 of 115 

2/16/2018 9:39:34 AM 581-03217-18 

1008.32. Annually, by December 31, the State Board of Education 2158 

shall enforce compliance with this section by withholding the 2159 

transfer of funds for the Florida College System institutions in 2160 

accordance with s. 1008.32 2161 

(b) A student who enrolls in the structured program and 2162 

successfully completes at least 30 college credit hours during a 2163 

school year through the dual enrollment program under s. 2164 

1007.271 generates a 0.5 full-time equivalent (FTE) bonus. A 2165 

student who enrolls in the structured program and successfully 2166 

completes an additional 30 college credit hours during a school 2167 

year, resulting in at least 60 college credit hours through the 2168 

dual enrollment program under s. 1007.271 applicable toward 2169 

fulfilling the requirements for an associate in arts degree or 2170 

an associate in science degree or a baccalaureate degree 2171 

pursuant to the student performance contract under subsection 2172 

(3), before graduating from high school, generates an additional 2173 

0.5 FTE bonus. Each district school board that is a contractual 2174 

partner with a Florida College System institution or other 2175 

eligible postsecondary institution shall report to the 2176 

commissioner the total FTE bonus for each structured program for 2177 

the students from that school district. The total FTE bonus 2178 

shall be added to each school district’s total weighted FTE for 2179 

funding in the subsequent fiscal year. 2180 

(c) For any industry certification a student attains under 2181 

this section, the FTE bonus shall be calculated and awarded in 2182 

accordance with s. 1011.62(1)(o). 2183 

(6) REPORTING REQUIREMENTS.— 2184 

(a) By September 1 of each school year, each district 2185 

school superintendent shall report to the commissioner, at a 2186 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì826696\Î826696 

 

Page 77 of 115 

2/16/2018 9:39:34 AM 581-03217-18 

minimum, the following information on each structured program 2187 

administered during the prior school year: 2188 

1. The number of students in public schools within the 2189 

school district who enrolled in the structured program, and the 2190 

partnering postsecondary institutions pursuant to subsections 2191 

(2) and (4); 2192 

2. The total and average number of dual enrollment courses 2193 

completed, high school and college credits earned, standard high 2194 

school diplomas and associate and baccalaureate degrees awarded, 2195 

and the number of industry certifications attained, if any, by 2196 

the students who enrolled in the structured program; 2197 

3. The projected student enrollment in the structured 2198 

program during the next school year; and 2199 

4. Any barriers to executing contracts to establish one or 2200 

more structured programs. 2201 

(b) By November 30 of each school year, the commissioner 2202 

must report to the Governor, the President of the Senate, and 2203 

the Speaker of the House of Representatives the status of 2204 

structured programs, including, at a minimum, a summary of 2205 

student enrollment and completion information pursuant to this 2206 

subsection; barriers, if any, to establishing such programs; and 2207 

recommendations for expanding access to such programs statewide. 2208 

Section 24. Paragraph (c) of subsection (3) and subsection 2209 

(4) of section 1008.33, Florida Statutes, are amended to read: 2210 

1008.33 Authority to enforce public school improvement.— 2211 

(3) 2212 

(c) The state board shall adopt by rule a differentiated 2213 

matrix of intervention and support strategies for assisting 2214 

traditional public schools identified under this section and 2215 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì826696\Î826696 

 

Page 78 of 115 

2/16/2018 9:39:34 AM 581-03217-18 

rules for implementing s. 1002.33(9)(n), relating to charter 2216 

schools. 2217 

1. The intervention and support strategies must address 2218 

efforts to improve student performance through one or more of 2219 

the following strategies: and may include 2220 

a. Improvement planning; 2221 

b. Leadership quality improvement; 2222 

c. Educator quality improvement; 2223 

d. Professional development; 2224 

e. Curriculum review, pacing, and alignment across grade 2225 

levels to improve background knowledge in social studies, 2226 

science, and the arts; and 2227 

f. The use of continuous improvement and monitoring plans 2228 

and processes. 2229 

2. In addition, The state board may prescribe reporting 2230 

requirements to review and monitor the progress of the schools. 2231 

The rule must define the intervention and support strategies for 2232 

school improvement for schools earning a grade of “D” or “F” and 2233 

the roles for the district and department. 2234 

(4)(a) The state board shall apply intensive intervention 2235 

and support strategies tailored to the needs of schools earning 2236 

two consecutive grades of “D” or a grade of “F.” In the first 2237 

full school year after a school initially earns two consecutive 2238 

grades of “D” or a grade of “F,” the school district must 2239 

immediately implement intervention and support strategies 2240 

prescribed in rule under paragraph (3)(c) and, by September 1, 2241 

provide the department with the memorandum of understanding 2242 

negotiated pursuant to s. 1001.42(21) and, by October 1, a 2243 

district-managed turnaround plan for approval by the state 2244 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì826696\Î826696 

 

Page 79 of 115 

2/16/2018 9:39:34 AM 581-03217-18 

board. The district-managed turnaround plan may include a 2245 

proposal for the district to implement an extended school day, a 2246 

summer program, or a combination of an extended school day and 2247 

summer program. Upon approval by the state board, the school 2248 

district must implement the plan for the remainder of the school 2249 

year and continue the plan for 1 full school year. The state 2250 

board may allow a school an additional year of implementation 2251 

before the school must implement a turnaround option required 2252 

under paragraph (b) if it determines that the school is likely 2253 

to improve to a grade of “C” or higher after the first full 2254 

school year of implementation. 2255 

(b) Unless an additional year of implementation is provided 2256 

pursuant to paragraph (a), a school that has completed 2 school 2257 

years of a district-managed turnaround plan required under 2258 

paragraph (a) and has not improved its school grade to a “C” or 2259 

higher, pursuant to s. 1008.34, earns three consecutive grades 2260 

below a “C” must implement one of the following options: 2261 

1. Reassign students to another school and monitor the 2262 

progress of each reassigned student.; 2263 

2. Close the school and reopen the school as one or more 2264 

charter schools, each with a governing board that has a 2265 

demonstrated record of effectiveness. Such charter schools are 2266 

eligible for funding from the hope supplemental services 2267 

allocation established by s. 1011.62(16).; or 2268 

3. Contract with an outside entity that has a demonstrated 2269 

record of effectiveness to operate the school. An outside entity 2270 

may include: 2271 

a. A district-managed charter school in which all 2272 

instructional personnel are not employees of the school 2273 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì826696\Î826696 

 

Page 80 of 115 

2/16/2018 9:39:34 AM 581-03217-18 

district, but are employees of an independent governing board 2274 

composed of members who did not participate in the review or 2275 

approval of the charter. A district-managed charter school is 2276 

eligible for funding from the hope supplemental services 2277 

allocation established by s. 1011.62(16); or 2278 

b. A hope operator that submits to a school district a 2279 

notice of intent of a performance-based agreement pursuant to s. 2280 

1002.333. A school of hope established pursuant to this sub-2281 

subparagraph is eligible for funding from the hope supplemental 2282 

services allocation for up to 5 years, beginning in the school 2283 

year in which the school of hope is established, if the school 2284 

of hope: 2285 

(I) Is established at the district-owned facilities of the 2286 

persistently low-performing school; 2287 

(II) Gives priority enrollment to students who are enrolled 2288 

in, or are eligible to attend and are living in the attendance 2289 

area of, the persistently low-performing school that the school 2290 

of hope operates, consistent with the enrollment lottery 2291 

exemption provided under s. 1002.333(5)(c); and 2292 

(III) Meets the requirements of its performance-based 2293 

agreement pursuant to s. 1002.333. 2294 

4. Implement a franchise model school in which a highly 2295 

effective principal, pursuant to s. 1012.34, leads the 2296 

persistently low-performing school in addition to the 2297 

principal’s currently assigned school. The franchise model 2298 

school principal may allocate resources and personnel between 2299 

the schools he or she leads. The persistently low-performing 2300 

school is eligible for funding from the hope supplemental 2301 

services allocation established under s. 1011.62(16). 2302 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì826696\Î826696 

 

Page 81 of 115 

2/16/2018 9:39:34 AM 581-03217-18 

(c) Implementation of the turnaround option is no longer 2303 

required if the school improves to a grade of “C” or higher. 2304 

(d) If a school earning two consecutive grades of “D” or a 2305 

grade of “F” does not improve to a grade of “C” or higher after 2306 

2 full school years of implementing the turnaround option 2307 

selected by the school district under paragraph (b), the school 2308 

district must implement another turnaround option. 2309 

Implementation of the turnaround option must begin the school 2310 

year following the implementation period of the existing 2311 

turnaround option, unless the state board determines that the 2312 

school is likely to improve to a grade of “C” or higher if 2313 

additional time is provided to implement the existing turnaround 2314 

option. 2315 

Section 25. Present subsections (16) and (17) of section 2316 

1011.62, Florida Statutes, are redesignated as subsections (19) 2317 

and (20), respectively, new subsections (16) and (17) and 2318 

subsection (18) are added to that section, and paragraph (a) of 2319 

subsection (4) and subsection (14) of that section are amended, 2320 

to read: 2321 

1011.62 Funds for operation of schools.—If the annual 2322 

allocation from the Florida Education Finance Program to each 2323 

district for operation of schools is not determined in the 2324 

annual appropriations act or the substantive bill implementing 2325 

the annual appropriations act, it shall be determined as 2326 

follows: 2327 

(4) COMPUTATION OF DISTRICT REQUIRED LOCAL EFFORT.—The 2328 

Legislature shall prescribe the aggregate required local effort 2329 

for all school districts collectively as an item in the General 2330 

Appropriations Act for each fiscal year. The amount that each 2331 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì826696\Î826696 

 

Page 82 of 115 

2/16/2018 9:39:34 AM 581-03217-18 

district shall provide annually toward the cost of the Florida 2332 

Education Finance Program for kindergarten through grade 12 2333 

programs shall be calculated as follows: 2334 

(a) Estimated taxable value calculations.— 2335 

1.a. Not later than 2 working days before July 19, the 2336 

Department of Revenue shall certify to the Commissioner of 2337 

Education its most recent estimate of the taxable value for 2338 

school purposes in each school district and the total for all 2339 

school districts in the state for the current calendar year 2340 

based on the latest available data obtained from the local 2341 

property appraisers. The value certified shall be the taxable 2342 

value for school purposes for that year, and no further 2343 

adjustments shall be made, except those made pursuant to 2344 

paragraphs (c) and (d), or an assessment roll change required by 2345 

final judicial decisions as specified in paragraph (19)(b) 2346 

(16)(b). Not later than July 19, the Commissioner of Education 2347 

shall compute a millage rate, rounded to the next highest one 2348 

one-thousandth of a mill, which, when applied to 96 percent of 2349 

the estimated state total taxable value for school purposes, 2350 

would generate the prescribed aggregate required local effort 2351 

for that year for all districts. The Commissioner of Education 2352 

shall certify to each district school board the millage rate, 2353 

computed as prescribed in this subparagraph, as the minimum 2354 

millage rate necessary to provide the district required local 2355 

effort for that year. 2356 

b. The General Appropriations Act shall direct the 2357 

computation of the statewide adjusted aggregate amount for 2358 

required local effort for all school districts collectively from 2359 

ad valorem taxes to ensure that no school district’s revenue 2360 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì826696\Î826696 

 

Page 83 of 115 

2/16/2018 9:39:34 AM 581-03217-18 

from required local effort millage will produce more than 90 2361 

percent of the district’s total Florida Education Finance 2362 

Program calculation as calculated and adopted by the 2363 

Legislature, and the adjustment of the required local effort 2364 

millage rate of each district that produces more than 90 percent 2365 

of its total Florida Education Finance Program entitlement to a 2366 

level that will produce only 90 percent of its total Florida 2367 

Education Finance Program entitlement in the July calculation. 2368 

2. On the same date as the certification in sub-2369 

subparagraph 1.a., the Department of Revenue shall certify to 2370 

the Commissioner of Education for each district: 2371 

a. Each year for which the property appraiser has certified 2372 

the taxable value pursuant to s. 193.122(2) or (3), if 2373 

applicable, since the prior certification under sub-subparagraph 2374 

1.a. 2375 

b. For each year identified in sub-subparagraph a., the 2376 

taxable value certified by the appraiser pursuant to s. 2377 

193.122(2) or (3), if applicable, since the prior certification 2378 

under sub-subparagraph 1.a. This is the certification that 2379 

reflects all final administrative actions of the value 2380 

adjustment board. 2381 

(14) QUALITY ASSURANCE GUARANTEE.—The Legislature may 2382 

annually in the General Appropriations Act determine a 2383 

percentage increase in funds per K-12 unweighted FTE as a 2384 

minimum guarantee to each school district. The guarantee shall 2385 

be calculated from prior year base funding per unweighted FTE 2386 

student which shall include the adjusted FTE dollars as provided 2387 

in subsection (19) (16), quality guarantee funds, and actual 2388 

nonvoted discretionary local effort from taxes. From the base 2389 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì826696\Î826696 

 

Page 84 of 115 

2/16/2018 9:39:34 AM 581-03217-18 

funding per unweighted FTE, the increase shall be calculated for 2390 

the current year. The current year funds from which the 2391 

guarantee shall be determined shall include the adjusted FTE 2392 

dollars as provided in subsection (19) (16) and potential 2393 

nonvoted discretionary local effort from taxes. A comparison of 2394 

current year funds per unweighted FTE to prior year funds per 2395 

unweighted FTE shall be computed. For those school districts 2396 

which have less than the legislatively assigned percentage 2397 

increase, funds shall be provided to guarantee the assigned 2398 

percentage increase in funds per unweighted FTE student. Should 2399 

appropriated funds be less than the sum of this calculated 2400 

amount for all districts, the commissioner shall prorate each 2401 

district’s allocation. This provision shall be implemented to 2402 

the extent specifically funded. 2403 

(16) HOPE SUPPLEMENTAL SERVICES ALLOCATION.-The hope 2404 

supplemental services allocation is created to provide district-2405 

managed turnaround schools, as required under s. 1008.33(4)(a), 2406 

charter schools authorized under s. 1008.33(4)(b)2., district-2407 

managed charter schools authorized under s. 1008.33(4)(b)3.a., 2408 

schools of hope authorized under s. 1008.33(4)(b)3.b., and 2409 

franchise model schools as authorized under s. 1008.33(4)(b)4., 2410 

with funds to offer services designed to improve the overall 2411 

academic and community welfare of the schools’ students and 2412 

their families. 2413 

(a) Services funded by the allocation may include, but are 2414 

not limited to, tutorial and after-school programs, student 2415 

counseling, nutrition education, and parental counseling. In 2416 

addition, services may also include models that develop a 2417 

culture that encourages students to complete high school and to 2418 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì826696\Î826696 

 

Page 85 of 115 

2/16/2018 9:39:34 AM 581-03217-18 

attend college or career training, set high academic 2419 

expectations, inspire character development, and include an 2420 

extended school day and school year. 2421 

(b) Prior to distribution of the allocation, a school 2422 

district, for a district turnaround school and persistently low-2423 

performing schools that use a franchise model; a hope operator, 2424 

for a school of hope; or the charter school governing board for 2425 

a charter school, as applicable, shall develop and submit a plan 2426 

for implementation to its respective governing body for approval 2427 

no later than August 1 of the fiscal year. 2428 

(c) At a minimum, the plans required under paragraph (b) 2429 

must: 2430 

1. Establish comprehensive support services that develop 2431 

family and community partnerships; 2432 

2. Establish clearly defined and measurable high academic 2433 

and character standards; 2434 

3. Increase parental involvement and engagement in the 2435 

child’s education; 2436 

4. Describe how instructional personnel will be identified, 2437 

recruited, retained, and rewarded; 2438 

5. Provide professional development that focuses on 2439 

academic rigor, direct instruction, and creating high academic 2440 

and character standards; and 2441 

6. Provide focused instruction to improve student academic 2442 

proficiency, which may include additional instruction time 2443 

beyond the normal school day or school year. 2444 

(d) Each school district and hope operator shall submit 2445 

approved plans to the commissioner by September 1 of each fiscal 2446 

year. 2447 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì826696\Î826696 

 

Page 86 of 115 

2/16/2018 9:39:34 AM 581-03217-18 

(e) For the 2018-2019 fiscal year, a school that is 2448 

selected to receive funding in the 2017-2018 fiscal year 2449 

pursuant to s. 1002.333(10)(c) shall receive $2,000 per FTE. A 2450 

district-managed turnaround school required under s. 2451 

1008.33(4)(a), charter school authorized under s. 2452 

1008.33(4)(b)2., district-managed charter school authorized 2453 

under s. 1008.33(4)(b)3.a., school of hope authorized under s. 2454 

1008.33(4)(b)3.b., and franchise model school authorized under 2455 

s. 1008.33(4)(b)4. are eligible for the remaining funds based on 2456 

the school’s unweighted FTE, up to $2,000 per FTE or as provided 2457 

in the General Appropriations Act. 2458 

(f) For the 2019-2020 fiscal year and thereafter, each 2459 

school district’s allocation shall be based on the unweighted 2460 

FTE student enrollment at the eligible schools and a per-FTE 2461 

funding amount of up to $2,000 per FTE or as provided in the 2462 

General Appropriations Act. If the calculated funds for 2463 

unweighted FTE student enrollment at the eligible schools exceed 2464 

the per-FTE funds appropriated, the allocation of funds to each 2465 

school district must be prorated based on each school district’s 2466 

share of the total unweighted FTE student enrollment for the 2467 

eligible schools. 2468 

(17) MENTAL HEALTH ASSISTANCE ALLOCATION.—The mental health 2469 

assistance allocation is created to provide supplemental funding 2470 

to assist school districts in establishing or expanding 2471 

comprehensive school-based mental health programs that increase 2472 

awareness of mental health issues among children and school-age 2473 

youth; train educators and other school staff in detecting and 2474 

responding to mental health issues; and connect children, youth, 2475 

and families who may experience behavioral health issues with 2476 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì826696\Î826696 

 

Page 87 of 115 

2/16/2018 9:39:34 AM 581-03217-18 

appropriate services. These funds may be allocated annually in 2477 

the General Appropriations Act to each eligible school district 2478 

and developmental research school based on each entity’s 2479 

proportionate share of Florida Education Finance Program base 2480 

funding. The district funding allocation must include a minimum 2481 

amount as specified in the General Appropriations Act. Upon 2482 

submission and approval of a plan that includes the elements 2483 

specified in paragraph (b), charter schools are also entitled to 2484 

a proportionate share of district funding for this program. The 2485 

allocated funds may not supplant funds that are provided for 2486 

this purpose from other operating funds and may not be used to 2487 

increase salaries or provide bonuses. 2488 

(a) Prior to the distribution of the allocation: 2489 

1. The district must annually develop and submit a detailed 2490 

plan outlining the local program and planned expenditures to the 2491 

district school board for approval. 2492 

2. A charter school must annually develop and submit a 2493 

detailed plan outlining the local program and planned 2494 

expenditures of the funds in the plan to its governing body for 2495 

approval. After the plan is approved by the governing body, it 2496 

must be provided to its school district for submission to the 2497 

commissioner. 2498 

(b) The plans required under paragraph (a) must include, at 2499 

a minimum, all of the following elements: 2500 

1. A collaborative effort or partnership between the school 2501 

district and at least one local community program or agency 2502 

involved in mental health to provide or to improve prevention, 2503 

diagnosis, and treatment services for students; 2504 

2. Programs to assist students in dealing with bullying, 2505 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì826696\Î826696 

 

Page 88 of 115 

2/16/2018 9:39:34 AM 581-03217-18 

trauma, and violence; 2506 

3. Strategies or programs to reduce the likelihood of at-2507 

risk students developing social, emotional, or behavioral health 2508 

problems or substance use disorders; 2509 

4. Strategies to improve the early identification of 2510 

social, emotional, or behavioral problems or substance use 2511 

disorders and to improve the provision of early intervention 2512 

services; 2513 

5. Strategies to enhance the availability of school-based 2514 

crisis intervention services and appropriate referrals for 2515 

students in need of mental health services; and 2516 

6. Training opportunities for school personnel in the 2517 

techniques and supports needed to identify students who have 2518 

trauma histories and who have or are at risk of having a mental 2519 

illness, and in the use of referral mechanisms that effectively 2520 

link such students to appropriate treatment and intervention 2521 

services in the school and in the community. 2522 

(c) The districts shall submit approved plans to the 2523 

commissioner by August 1 of each fiscal year. 2524 

(d) Beginning September 30, 2019, and by each September 30 2525 

thereafter, each entity that receives an allocation under this 2526 

subsection shall submit to the commissioner, in a format 2527 

prescribed by the department, a final report on its program 2528 

outcomes and its expenditures for each element of the program. 2529 

(18) FUNDING COMPRESSION ALLOCATION.—The Legislature may 2530 

provide an annual funding compression allocation in the General 2531 

Appropriations Act. The allocation is created to provide 2532 

additional funding to school districts and developmental 2533 

research schools whose total funds per FTE in the prior year 2534 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì826696\Î826696 

 

Page 89 of 115 

2/16/2018 9:39:34 AM 581-03217-18 

were less than the statewide average. Using the most recent 2535 

prior year FEFP calculation for each eligible school district, 2536 

the total funds per FTE shall be subtracted from the state 2537 

average funds per FTE, not including any adjustments made 2538 

pursuant to paragraph (19)(b). The resulting funds per FTE 2539 

difference, or a portion thereof, as designated in the General 2540 

Appropriations Act, shall then be multiplied by the school 2541 

district’s total unweighted FTE to provide the allocation. If 2542 

the calculated funds are greater than the amount included in the 2543 

General Appropriations Act, they must be prorated to the 2544 

appropriation amount based on each participating school 2545 

district’s share. 2546 

Section 26. Subsection (5) of section 1011.69, Florida 2547 

Statutes, is amended to read: 2548 

1011.69 Equity in School-Level Funding Act.— 2549 

(5) After providing Title I, Part A, Basic funds to schools 2550 

above the 75 percent poverty threshold, which may include high 2551 

schools above the 50 percent threshold as allowed by federal 2552 

law, school districts shall provide any remaining Title I, Part 2553 

A, Basic funds directly to all eligible schools as provided in 2554 

this subsection. For purposes of this subsection, an eligible 2555 

school is a school that is eligible to receive Title I funds, 2556 

including a charter school. The threshold for identifying 2557 

eligible schools may not exceed the threshold established by a 2558 

school district for the 2016-2017 school year or the statewide 2559 

percentage of economically disadvantaged students, as determined 2560 

annually. 2561 

(a) Prior to the allocation of Title I funds to eligible 2562 

schools, a school district may withhold funds only as follows: 2563 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì826696\Î826696 

 

Page 90 of 115 

2/16/2018 9:39:34 AM 581-03217-18 

1. One percent for parent involvement, in addition to the 2564 

one percent the district must reserve under federal law for 2565 

allocations to eligible schools for parent involvement; 2566 

2. A necessary and reasonable amount for administration;, 2567 

3. which includes The district’s approved indirect cost 2568 

rate, not to exceed a total of 8 percent; and 2569 

4.3. A reasonable and necessary amount to provide: 2570 

a. Homeless programs; 2571 

b. Delinquent and neglected programs; 2572 

c. Prekindergarten programs and activities; 2573 

d. Private school equitable services; and 2574 

e. Transportation for foster care children to their school 2575 

of origin or choice programs; and. 2576 

5. A necessary and reasonable amount for eligible schools 2577 

to provide: 2578 

a. Extended learning opportunities, such as summer school, 2579 

before-school and after-school programs, and additional class 2580 

periods of instruction during the school day; and 2581 

b. Supplemental academic and enrichment services, staff 2582 

development, and planning and curriculum, as well as wrap-around 2583 

services. 2584 

(b) All remaining Title I funds shall be distributed to all 2585 

eligible schools in accordance with federal law and regulation. 2586 

To maximize the efficient use of resources, school districts may 2587 

allow eligible schools, not including charter schools, to An 2588 

eligible school may use funds under this subsection for 2589 

district-level to participate in discretionary educational 2590 

services provided by the school district. 2591 

Section 27. Subsection (5) of section 1011.71, Florida 2592 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì826696\Î826696 

 

Page 91 of 115 

2/16/2018 9:39:34 AM 581-03217-18 

Statutes, is amended to read: 2593 

1011.71 District school tax.— 2594 

(5) Effective July 1, 2008, A school district may expend, 2595 

subject to the provisions of s. 200.065, up to $150 $100 per 2596 

unweighted full-time equivalent student from the revenue 2597 

generated by the millage levy authorized by subsection (2) to 2598 

fund, in addition to expenditures authorized in paragraphs 2599 

(2)(a)-(j), expenses for the following: 2600 

(a) The purchase, lease-purchase, or lease of driver’s 2601 

education vehicles; motor vehicles used for the maintenance or 2602 

operation of plants and equipment; security vehicles; or 2603 

vehicles used in storing or distributing materials and 2604 

equipment. 2605 

(b) Payment of the cost of premiums, as defined in s. 2606 

627.403, for property and casualty insurance necessary to insure 2607 

school district educational and ancillary plants. As used in 2608 

this paragraph, casualty insurance has the same meaning as in s. 2609 

624.605(1)(d), (f), (g), (h), and (m). Operating revenues that 2610 

are made available through the payment of property and casualty 2611 

insurance premiums from revenues generated under this subsection 2612 

may be expended only for nonrecurring operational expenditures 2613 

of the school district. 2614 

Section 28. Subsection (4) of section 1012.2315, Florida 2615 

Statutes, is amended to read: 2616 

1012.2315 Assignment of teachers.— 2617 

(4) COLLECTIVE BARGAINING.—  2618 

(a) Notwithstanding provisions of chapter 447 relating to 2619 

district school board collective bargaining, collective 2620 

bargaining provisions may not preclude a school district from 2621 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì826696\Î826696 

 

Page 92 of 115 

2/16/2018 9:39:34 AM 581-03217-18 

providing incentives to high-quality teachers and assigning such 2622 

teachers to low-performing schools.  2623 

(b)1. In addition to the provisions under s. 447.305(2), an 2624 

employee organization that has been certified as the bargaining 2625 

agent for a unit of instructional personnel as defined in s. 2626 

1012.01(2) must include for each such certified bargaining unit 2627 

the following information in its application for renewal of 2628 

registration: 2629 

a. The number of employees in the bargaining unit who are 2630 

eligible for representation by the employee organization. 2631 

b. The number of employees who are represented by the 2632 

employee organization, specifying the number of members who pay 2633 

dues and the number of members who do not pay dues. 2634 

2. Notwithstanding the provisions of chapter 447 relating 2635 

to collective bargaining, an employee organization whose dues 2636 

paying membership is less than 50 percent of the employees 2637 

eligible for representation in the unit, as identified in 2638 

subparagraph 1., must petition the Public Employees Relations 2639 

Commission pursuant to s. 447.307(2) and (3) for recertification 2640 

as the exclusive representative of all employees in the unit 2641 

within 1 month after the date on which the organization applies 2642 

for renewal of registration pursuant to s. 447.305(2). The 2643 

certification of an employee organization that does not comply 2644 

with this paragraph is revoked. 2645 

Section 29. Section 1012.315, Florida Statutes, is amended 2646 

to read: 2647 

1012.315 Disqualification from employment.—A person is 2648 

ineligible for educator certification, and instructional 2649 

personnel and school administrators, as defined in s. 1012.01, 2650 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì826696\Î826696 

 

Page 93 of 115 

2/16/2018 9:39:34 AM 581-03217-18 

are ineligible for employment in any position that requires 2651 

direct contact with students in a district school system, 2652 

charter school, or private school that accepts scholarship 2653 

students under s. 1002.385, s. 1002.39, or s. 1002.395, or 2654 

another state scholarship program under chapter 1002, if the 2655 

person, instructional personnel, or school administrator has 2656 

been convicted of: 2657 

(1) Any felony offense prohibited under any of the 2658 

following statutes: 2659 

(a) Section 393.135, relating to sexual misconduct with 2660 

certain developmentally disabled clients and reporting of such 2661 

sexual misconduct. 2662 

(b) Section 394.4593, relating to sexual misconduct with 2663 

certain mental health patients and reporting of such sexual 2664 

misconduct. 2665 

(c) Section 415.111, relating to adult abuse, neglect, or 2666 

exploitation of aged persons or disabled adults. 2667 

(d) Section 782.04, relating to murder. 2668 

(e) Section 782.07, relating to manslaughter, aggravated 2669 

manslaughter of an elderly person or disabled adult, aggravated 2670 

manslaughter of a child, or aggravated manslaughter of an 2671 

officer, a firefighter, an emergency medical technician, or a 2672 

paramedic. 2673 

(f) Section 784.021, relating to aggravated assault. 2674 

(g) Section 784.045, relating to aggravated battery. 2675 

(h) Section 784.075, relating to battery on a detention or 2676 

commitment facility staff member or a juvenile probation 2677 

officer. 2678 

(i) Section 787.01, relating to kidnapping. 2679 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì826696\Î826696 

 

Page 94 of 115 

2/16/2018 9:39:34 AM 581-03217-18 

(j) Section 787.02, relating to false imprisonment. 2680 

(k) Section 787.025, relating to luring or enticing a 2681 

child. 2682 

(l) Section 787.04(2), relating to leading, taking, 2683 

enticing, or removing a minor beyond the state limits, or 2684 

concealing the location of a minor, with criminal intent pending 2685 

custody proceedings. 2686 

(m) Section 787.04(3), relating to leading, taking, 2687 

enticing, or removing a minor beyond the state limits, or 2688 

concealing the location of a minor, with criminal intent pending 2689 

dependency proceedings or proceedings concerning alleged abuse 2690 

or neglect of a minor. 2691 

(n) Section 790.115(1), relating to exhibiting firearms or 2692 

weapons at a school-sponsored event, on school property, or 2693 

within 1,000 feet of a school. 2694 

(o) Section 790.115(2)(b), relating to possessing an 2695 

electric weapon or device, destructive device, or other weapon 2696 

at a school-sponsored event or on school property. 2697 

(p) Section 794.011, relating to sexual battery. 2698 

(q) Former s. 794.041, relating to sexual activity with or 2699 

solicitation of a child by a person in familial or custodial 2700 

authority. 2701 

(r) Section 794.05, relating to unlawful sexual activity 2702 

with certain minors. 2703 

(s) Section 794.08, relating to female genital mutilation. 2704 

(t) Chapter 796, relating to prostitution. 2705 

(u) Chapter 800, relating to lewdness and indecent 2706 

exposure. 2707 

(v) Section 806.01, relating to arson. 2708 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì826696\Î826696 

 

Page 95 of 115 

2/16/2018 9:39:34 AM 581-03217-18 

(w) Section 810.14, relating to voyeurism. 2709 

(x) Section 810.145, relating to video voyeurism. 2710 

(y) Section 812.014(6), relating to coordinating the 2711 

commission of theft in excess of $3,000. 2712 

(z) Section 812.0145, relating to theft from persons 65 2713 

years of age or older. 2714 

(aa) Section 812.019, relating to dealing in stolen 2715 

property. 2716 

(bb) Section 812.13, relating to robbery. 2717 

(cc) Section 812.131, relating to robbery by sudden 2718 

snatching. 2719 

(dd) Section 812.133, relating to carjacking. 2720 

(ee) Section 812.135, relating to home-invasion robbery. 2721 

(ff) Section 817.563, relating to fraudulent sale of 2722 

controlled substances. 2723 

(gg) Section 825.102, relating to abuse, aggravated abuse, 2724 

or neglect of an elderly person or disabled adult. 2725 

(hh) Section 825.103, relating to exploitation of an 2726 

elderly person or disabled adult. 2727 

(ii) Section 825.1025, relating to lewd or lascivious 2728 

offenses committed upon or in the presence of an elderly person 2729 

or disabled person. 2730 

(jj) Section 826.04, relating to incest. 2731 

(kk) Section 827.03, relating to child abuse, aggravated 2732 

child abuse, or neglect of a child. 2733 

(ll) Section 827.04, relating to contributing to the 2734 

delinquency or dependency of a child. 2735 

(mm) Section 827.071, relating to sexual performance by a 2736 

child. 2737 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì826696\Î826696 

 

Page 96 of 115 

2/16/2018 9:39:34 AM 581-03217-18 

(nn) Section 843.01, relating to resisting arrest with 2738 

violence. 2739 

(oo) Chapter 847, relating to obscenity. 2740 

(pp) Section 874.05, relating to causing, encouraging, 2741 

soliciting, or recruiting another to join a criminal street 2742 

gang. 2743 

(qq) Chapter 893, relating to drug abuse prevention and 2744 

control, if the offense was a felony of the second degree or 2745 

greater severity. 2746 

(rr) Section 916.1075, relating to sexual misconduct with 2747 

certain forensic clients and reporting of such sexual 2748 

misconduct. 2749 

(ss) Section 944.47, relating to introduction, removal, or 2750 

possession of contraband at a correctional facility. 2751 

(tt) Section 985.701, relating to sexual misconduct in 2752 

juvenile justice programs. 2753 

(uu) Section 985.711, relating to introduction, removal, or 2754 

possession of contraband at a juvenile detention facility or 2755 

commitment program. 2756 

(2) Any misdemeanor offense prohibited under any of the 2757 

following statutes: 2758 

(a) Section 784.03, relating to battery, if the victim of 2759 

the offense was a minor. 2760 

(b) Section 787.025, relating to luring or enticing a 2761 

child. 2762 

(3) Any criminal act committed in another state or under 2763 

federal law which, if committed in this state, constitutes an 2764 

offense prohibited under any statute listed in subsection (1) or 2765 

subsection (2). 2766 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì826696\Î826696 

 

Page 97 of 115 

2/16/2018 9:39:34 AM 581-03217-18 

(4) Any delinquent act committed in this state or any 2767 

delinquent or criminal act committed in another state or under 2768 

federal law which, if committed in this state, qualifies an 2769 

individual for inclusion on the Registered Juvenile Sex Offender 2770 

List under s. 943.0435(1)(h)1.d. 2771 

Section 30. Paragraph (c) of subsection (3) of section 2772 

1012.731, Florida Statutes, is amended to read: 2773 

1012.731 The Florida Best and Brightest Teacher Scholarship 2774 

Program.— 2775 

(3) 2776 

(c) Notwithstanding the requirements of this subsection, 2777 

for the 2017-2018, 2018-2019, and 2019-2020 school years, any 2778 

classroom teacher who: 2779 

1. Was evaluated as highly effective pursuant to s. 1012.34 2780 

in the school year immediately preceding the year in which the 2781 

scholarship will be awarded shall receive a scholarship of 2782 

$1200, including a classroom teacher who received an award 2783 

pursuant to paragraph (a). 2784 

2. Was evaluated as effective pursuant to s. 1012.34 in the 2785 

school year immediately preceding the year in which the 2786 

scholarship will be awarded a scholarship of up to $800. If the 2787 

number of eligible classroom teachers under this subparagraph 2788 

exceeds the total allocation, the department shall prorate the 2789 

per-teacher scholarship amount. 2790 

 2791 

This paragraph expires July 1, 2020. 2792 

Section 31. Subsections (2), (3), and (4) of section 2793 

1012.732, Florida Statutes, are amended to read: 2794 

1012.732 The Florida Best and Brightest Principal 2795 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì826696\Î826696 

 

Page 98 of 115 

2/16/2018 9:39:34 AM 581-03217-18 

Scholarship Program.— 2796 

(2) There is created the Florida Best and Brightest 2797 

Principal Scholarship Program to be administered by the 2798 

Department of Education. The program shall provide categorical 2799 

funding for scholarships to be awarded to school principals, as 2800 

defined in s. 1012.01(3)(c)1., who are serving as a franchise 2801 

model school principal or who have recruited and retained a high 2802 

percentage of best and brightest teachers. 2803 

(3)(a) A school principal identified pursuant to s. 2804 

1012.731(4)(c) is eligible to receive a scholarship under this 2805 

section if he or she has served as school principal at his or 2806 

her school for at least 2 consecutive school years including the 2807 

current school year and his or her school has a ratio of best 2808 

and brightest teachers to other classroom teachers that is at 2809 

the 80th percentile or higher for schools within the same grade 2810 

group, statewide, including elementary schools, middle schools, 2811 

high schools, and schools with a combination of grade levels. 2812 

(b) A principal of a franchise model school, as defined in 2813 

s. 1002.334, is eligible to receive a scholarship under this 2814 

section. 2815 

(4) Annually, by February 1, the department shall identify 2816 

eligible school principals and disburse funds to each school 2817 

district for each eligible school principal to receive a 2818 

scholarship. 2819 

(a) A scholarship of $10,000 $5,000 must be awarded to each 2820 

franchise model school principal who is every eligible under 2821 

paragraph (3)(b). 2822 

(b) A scholarship of $5,000 must be awarded to each school 2823 

principal assigned to a Title I school and a scholarship of 2824 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì826696\Î826696 

 

Page 99 of 115 

2/16/2018 9:39:34 AM 581-03217-18 

$4,000 to each every eligible school principal who is not 2825 

assigned to a Title I school and who is eligible under paragraph 2826 

(3)(a). 2827 

Section 32. Paragraph (e) of subsection (1) of section 2828 

1012.796, Florida Statutes, is amended to read: 2829 

1012.796 Complaints against teachers and administrators; 2830 

procedure; penalties.— 2831 

(1) 2832 

(e) If allegations arise against an employee who is 2833 

certified under s. 1012.56 and employed in an educator-2834 

certificated position in any public school, charter school or 2835 

governing board thereof, or private school that accepts 2836 

scholarship students under s. 1002.385, s. 1002.39, or s. 2837 

1002.395, or another state scholarship program under chapter 2838 

1002, the school shall file in writing with the department a 2839 

legally sufficient complaint within 30 days after the date on 2840 

which the subject matter of the complaint came to the attention 2841 

of the school. A complaint is legally sufficient if it contains 2842 

ultimate facts that show a violation has occurred as provided in 2843 

s. 1012.795 and defined by rule of the State Board of Education. 2844 

The school shall include all known information relating to the 2845 

complaint with the filing of the complaint. This paragraph does 2846 

not limit or restrict the power and duty of the department to 2847 

investigate complaints, regardless of the school’s untimely 2848 

filing, or failure to file, complaints and followup reports. 2849 

Section 33. Present paragraphs (a) through (d) of 2850 

subsection (1) of section 1013.31, Florida Statutes, are 2851 

redesignated as paragraphs (b) through (e), respectively, and a 2852 

new paragraph (a) is added to that subsection, to read: 2853 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì826696\Î826696 

 

Page 100 of 115 

2/16/2018 9:39:34 AM 581-03217-18 

1013.31 Educational plant survey; localized need 2854 

assessment; PECO project funding.— 2855 

(1) At least every 5 years, each board shall arrange for an 2856 

educational plant survey, to aid in formulating plans for 2857 

housing the educational program and student population, faculty, 2858 

administrators, staff, and auxiliary and ancillary services of 2859 

the district or campus, including consideration of the local 2860 

comprehensive plan. The Department of Education shall document 2861 

the need for additional career and adult education programs and 2862 

the continuation of existing programs before facility 2863 

construction or renovation related to career or adult education 2864 

may be included in the educational plant survey of a school 2865 

district or Florida College System institution that delivers 2866 

career or adult education programs. Information used by the 2867 

Department of Education to establish facility needs must 2868 

include, but need not be limited to, labor market data, needs 2869 

analysis, and information submitted by the school district or 2870 

Florida College System institution. 2871 

(a) Educational plant survey and localized need assessment 2872 

for capital outlay purposes.—A district may only use funds from 2873 

the following sources for educational, auxiliary, and ancillary 2874 

plant capital outlay purposes without needing a survey 2875 

recommendation: 2876 

1. The local capital outlay improvement fund, consisting of 2877 

funds that come from and are a part of the district’s basic 2878 

operating budget; 2879 

2. If a board decides to build an educational, auxiliary, 2880 

or ancillary facility without a survey recommendation and the 2881 

taxpayers approve a bond referendum, the voted bond referendum; 2882 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì826696\Î826696 

 

Page 101 of 115 

2/16/2018 9:39:34 AM 581-03217-18 

3. One-half cent sales surtax revenue; 2883 

4. One cent local governmental surtax revenue; 2884 

5. Impact fees; and 2885 

6. Private gifts or donations. 2886 

Section 34. Paragraph (e) is added to subsection (2) of 2887 

section 1013.385, Florida Statutes, to read: 2888 

1013.385 School district construction flexibility.— 2889 

(2) A resolution adopted under this section may propose 2890 

implementation of exceptions to requirements of the uniform 2891 

statewide building code for the planning and construction of 2892 

public educational and ancillary plants adopted pursuant to ss. 2893 

553.73 and 1013.37 relating to: 2894 

(e) Any other provisions that limit the ability of a school 2895 

to operate in a facility on the same basis as a charter school 2896 

pursuant to s. 1002.33(18) if the regional planning council 2897 

determines that there is sufficient shelter capacity within the 2898 

school district as documented in the Statewide Emergency Shelter 2899 

Plan. 2900 

Section 35. Subsection (3) of section 1013.62, Florida 2901 

Statutes, is amended, and paragraph (c) is added to subsection 2902 

(1) of that section, to read: 2903 

1013.62 Charter schools capital outlay funding.— 2904 

(1) Charter school capital outlay funding shall consist of 2905 

revenue resulting from the discretionary millage authorized in 2906 

s. 1011.71(2) and state funds when such funds are appropriated 2907 

in the General Appropriations Act. 2908 

(c) It is the intent of the Legislature that the public 2909 

interest be protected by prohibiting personal financial 2910 

enrichment by owners, operators, managers, real estate 2911 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì826696\Î826696 

 

Page 102 of 115 

2/16/2018 9:39:34 AM 581-03217-18 

developers, and other affiliated parties of charter schools. 2912 

Therefore, a charter school is not eligible for a funding 2913 

allocation unless the chair of the governing board and the chief 2914 

administrative officer of the charter school annually certify 2915 

under oath that the funds will be used solely and exclusively 2916 

for constructing, renovating, or improving charter school 2917 

facilities that are: 2918 

1. Owned by a school district, a political subdivision of 2919 

the state, a municipality, a Florida College System institution, 2920 

or a state university; 2921 

2. Owned by an organization that is qualified as an exempt 2922 

organization under s. 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code 2923 

whose articles of incorporation specify that, upon the 2924 

organization’s dissolution, the subject property will be 2925 

transferred to a school district, a political subdivision of the 2926 

state, a municipality, a Florida College System institution, or 2927 

a state university; or 2928 

3. Owned by and leased, at a fair market value in the 2929 

school district in which the charter school is located, from a 2930 

person or entity that is not an affiliated party of the charter 2931 

school. For the purposes of this subparagraph, the term 2932 

“affiliated party of the charter school” means the applicant for 2933 

the charter school pursuant to s. 1002.33; the governing board 2934 

of the charter school or a member of the governing board; the 2935 

charter school owner; the charter school principal; an employee 2936 

of the charter school; an independent contractor of the charter 2937 

school or the governing board of the charter school; a relative, 2938 

as defined in s. 1002.33(24)(a)2., of a charter school governing 2939 

board member, a charter school owner, a charter school 2940 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì826696\Î826696 

 

Page 103 of 115 

2/16/2018 9:39:34 AM 581-03217-18 

principal, a charter school employee, or an independent 2941 

contractor of a charter school or charter school governing 2942 

board; a subsidiary corporation, a service corporation, an 2943 

affiliated corporation, a parent corporation, a limited 2944 

liability company, a limited partnership, a trust, a 2945 

partnership, or a related party that, individually or through 2946 

one or more entities, shares common ownership or control and 2947 

directly or indirectly manages, administers, controls, or 2948 

oversees the operation of the charter school; or any person or 2949 

entity, individually or through one or more entities that share 2950 

common ownership, which directly or indirectly manages, 2951 

administers, controls, or oversees the operation of any of the 2952 

foregoing. 2953 

(3) If the school board levies the discretionary millage 2954 

authorized in s. 1011.71(2), the department shall use the 2955 

following calculation methodology to determine the amount of 2956 

revenue that a school district must distribute to each eligible 2957 

charter school: 2958 

(a) Reduce the total discretionary millage revenue by the 2959 

school district’s annual debt service obligation incurred as of 2960 

March 1, 2017, and any amount of participation requirement 2961 

pursuant to s. 1013.64(2)(a)8. that is being satisfied by 2962 

revenues raised by the discretionary millage. 2963 

(b) Divide the school district’s adjusted discretionary 2964 

millage revenue by the district’s total capital outlay full-time 2965 

equivalent membership and the total number of unweighted full-2966 

time equivalent students of each eligible charter school to 2967 

determine a capital outlay allocation per full-time equivalent 2968 

student. 2969 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì826696\Î826696 

 

Page 104 of 115 

2/16/2018 9:39:34 AM 581-03217-18 

(c) Multiply the capital outlay allocation per full-time 2970 

equivalent student by the total number of full-time equivalent 2971 

students for all of each eligible charter schools within the 2972 

district school to determine the total charter school capital 2973 

outlay allocation for each district charter school. 2974 

(d) If applicable, reduce the capital outlay allocation 2975 

identified in paragraph (c) by the total amount of state funds 2976 

allocated pursuant to subsection (2) to all each eligible 2977 

charter schools within a district school in subsection (2) to 2978 

determine the net total maximum calculated capital outlay 2979 

allocation from local funds. If state funds are not allocated 2980 

pursuant to subsection (2), the amount determined in paragraph 2981 

(c) is equal to the net total calculated capital outlay 2982 

allocation from local funds for each district. 2983 

(e) For each charter school within each district, the net 2984 

capital outlay amount from local funds shall be calculated in 2985 

the same manner as the state funds in paragraphs (2)(a)-(d), 2986 

except that the base charter school per weighted FTE allocation 2987 

amount shall be determined by dividing the net total capital 2988 

outlay amount from local funds by the total weighted FTE for all 2989 

eligible charter schools within the district. The per weighted 2990 

FTE allocation amount from local funds shall be multiplied by 2991 

the weighted FTE for each charter school to determine each 2992 

charter school’s capital outlay allocation from local funds. 2993 

(f)(e) School districts shall distribute capital outlay 2994 

funds to charter schools no later than February 1 of each year, 2995 

beginning on February 1, 2018, for the 2017-2018 fiscal year. 2996 

Section 36. Effective July 1, 2019, subsection (13) of 2997 

section 212.08, Florida Statutes, is amended to read: 2998 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì826696\Î826696 

 

Page 105 of 115 

2/16/2018 9:39:34 AM 581-03217-18 

212.08 Sales, rental, use, consumption, distribution, and 2999 

storage tax; specified exemptions.—The sale at retail, the 3000 

rental, the use, the consumption, the distribution, and the 3001 

storage to be used or consumed in this state of the following 3002 

are hereby specifically exempt from the tax imposed by this 3003 

chapter. 3004 

(13) No transactions shall be exempt from the tax imposed 3005 

by this chapter except those expressly exempted herein. All laws 3006 

granting tax exemptions, to the extent they may be inconsistent 3007 

or in conflict with this chapter, including, but not limited to, 3008 

the following designated laws, shall yield to and be superseded 3009 

by the provisions of this subsection: ss. 125.019, 153.76, 3010 

154.2331, 159.15, 159.31, 159.50, 159.708, 163.385, 163.395, 3011 

215.76, 243.33, 315.11, 348.65, 348.762, 349.13, 403.1834, and 3012 

616.07, and 623.09, and the following Laws of Florida, acts of 3013 

the year indicated: s. 31, chapter 30843, 1955; s. 19, chapter 3014 

30845, 1955; s. 12, chapter 30927, 1955; s. 8, chapter 31179, 3015 

1955; s. 15, chapter 31263, 1955; s. 13, chapter 31343, 1955; s. 3016 

16, chapter 59-1653; s. 13, chapter 59-1356; s. 12, chapter 61-3017 

2261; s. 19, chapter 61-2754; s. 10, chapter 61-2686; s. 11, 3018 

chapter 63-1643; s. 11, chapter 65-1274; s. 16, chapter 67-1446; 3019 

and s. 10, chapter 67-1681. This subsection does not supersede 3020 

the authority of a local government to adopt financial and local 3021 

government incentives pursuant to s. 163.2517. 3022 

Section 37. For the 2018-2019 fiscal year, the sum of 3023 

$2,596,560 in recurring funds from the General Revenue Fund and 3024 

the sum of $392,134 in nonrecurring funds from the General 3025 

Revenue Fund are appropriated to the Department of Education to 3026 

implement this act as follows: the sum of $2 million in 3027 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì826696\Î826696 

 

Page 106 of 115 

2/16/2018 9:39:34 AM 581-03217-18 

recurring funds shall be used to implement the Hope Scholarship 3028 

Program created pursuant to s. 1002.40, Florida Statutes, the 3029 

sum of $596,560 in recurring funds and $142,134 in nonrecurring 3030 

funds shall be used to implement the additional oversight 3031 

requirements pursuant to s. 1002.421, Florida Statutes, and the 3032 

sum of $250,000 in nonrecurring funds shall be used to issue a 3033 

competitive grant award pursuant to s. 1002.395(9), Florida 3034 

Statutes. 3035 

Section 38. The Department of Revenue may, and all 3036 

conditions are deemed met to, adopt emergency rules pursuant to 3037 

ss. 120.536(1) and 120.54, Florida Statutes, to administer this 3038 

act. 3039 

Section 39. Except as otherwise expressly provided in this 3040 

act, this act shall take effect July 1, 2018 3041 

 3042 

================= T I T L E  A M E N D M E N T ================ 3043 

And the title is amended as follows: 3044 

Delete everything before the enacting clause 3045 

and insert: 3046 

A bill to be entitled 3047 

An act relating to education; creating s. 212.1832, 3048 

F.S.; authorizing certain persons to receive a tax 3049 

credit for certain contributions to eligible nonprofit 3050 

scholarship-funding organizations for the Hope 3051 

Scholarship Program; providing requirements for motor 3052 

vehicle dealers; requiring the Department of Revenue 3053 

to disregard certain tax credits for specified 3054 

purposes; providing that specified provisions apply to 3055 

certain provisions; amending s. 213.053, F.S.; 3056 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì826696\Î826696 

 

Page 107 of 115 

2/16/2018 9:39:34 AM 581-03217-18 

authorizing the Department of Revenue to share 3057 

specified information with eligible nonprofit 3058 

scholarship-funding organizations; providing that 3059 

certain requirements apply to such organizations; 3060 

repealing ch. 623, F.S., relating to private school 3061 

corporations, on a specified date; amending s. 3062 

1001.10, F.S.; revising the private schools to which 3063 

the Department of Education is required to provide 3064 

technical assistance and authorized staff; amending s. 3065 

1001.4205, F.S.; authorizing a member of the State 3066 

Legislature to visit any district school, including 3067 

any charter school, in his or her legislative 3068 

district; amending s. 1002.01, F.S.; revising and 3069 

defining terms; amending s. 1002.20; updating 3070 

educational options and terminology; amending s. 3071 

1002.33, F.S.; extending the period of time for which 3072 

a charter school may defer its opening for specified 3073 

reasons; amending s. 1002.331, F.S.; revising the 3074 

requirements for a charter school to be considered a 3075 

high-performing charter school; amending s. 1002.333, 3076 

F.S.; redefining the terms “persistently low-3077 

performing school” and “school of hope”; revising the 3078 

required contents of a school of hope notice of intent 3079 

and performance-based agreement; revising school of 3080 

hope facility requirements; specifying that certain 3081 

schools of hope are eligible to receive hope 3082 

supplemental service allocation funds; requiring the 3083 

State Board of Education to provide awards to all 3084 

eligible schools that meet certain requirements; 3085 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì826696\Î826696 

 

Page 108 of 115 

2/16/2018 9:39:34 AM 581-03217-18 

prohibiting a school of hope operator or owner from 3086 

serving as the principal of a school of hope that he 3087 

or she manages; conforming cross-references; creating 3088 

s. 1002.334, F.S.; defining the term “franchise model 3089 

school”; authorizing specified schools to use a 3090 

franchise model school as a turnaround option; 3091 

specifying requirements for a franchise model school 3092 

principal; amending s. 1002.385, F.S.; revising the 3093 

meaning of a rare disease within the definition of a 3094 

“disability” for purposes of the Gardiner Scholarship 3095 

Program; revising requirements for private schools 3096 

that participate in the program; specifying that the 3097 

failure or refusal, rather than the inability of, a 3098 

private school to meet certain requirements 3099 

constitutes a basis for program ineligibility; 3100 

conforming cross-references; amending s. 1002.39, 3101 

F.S.; revising the purpose of department site visits 3102 

at private schools participating in the John M. McKay 3103 

Scholarships for Students with Disabilities Program; 3104 

authorizing the department to make followup site 3105 

visits at any time to certain private schools; 3106 

requiring participating private schools to provide a 3107 

specified report from an independent certified public 3108 

accountant under certain circumstances; specifying 3109 

that the failure or refusal, rather than the inability 3110 

of, a private school to meet certain requirements 3111 

constitutes a basis for program ineligibility; 3112 

conforming provisions to changes made by the act; 3113 

amending s. 1002.395, F.S.; revising obligations of 3114 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì826696\Î826696 

 

Page 109 of 115 

2/16/2018 9:39:34 AM 581-03217-18 

eligible nonprofit scholarship-funding organizations 3115 

participating in the Florida Tax Credit Scholarship 3116 

Program; specifying that the failure or refusal, 3117 

rather than the inability of, a private school to meet 3118 

certain requirements constitutes a basis for program 3119 

ineligibility; revising the purpose of department site 3120 

visits at private schools participating in the Florida 3121 

Tax Credit Scholarship Program; authorizing the 3122 

department to make followup site visits at any time to 3123 

certain private schools; conforming provisions to 3124 

changes made by the act; creating s. 1002.40, F.S.; 3125 

establishing the Hope Scholarship Program; providing 3126 

the purpose of the program; defining terms; providing 3127 

eligibility requirements; prohibiting the payment of a 3128 

scholarship under certain circumstances; requiring a 3129 

principal to provide copies of a report of physical 3130 

violence or emotional abuse to certain individuals 3131 

within specified timeframes; requiring the principal 3132 

to investigate such incidents; requiring a school 3133 

district to notify an eligible student’s parent of the 3134 

program under certain circumstances; requiring a 3135 

school district to provide certain information 3136 

relating to the statewide assessment program; 3137 

providing requirements and obligations for eligible 3138 

private schools; providing Department of Education 3139 

obligations relating to participating students and 3140 

private schools and program requirements; providing 3141 

Commissioner of Education obligations; requiring the 3142 

commissioner to deny, suspend, or revoke a private 3143 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì826696\Î826696 

 

Page 110 of 115 

2/16/2018 9:39:34 AM 581-03217-18 

school’s participation in the program or the payment 3144 

of scholarship funds under certain circumstances; 3145 

defining the term “owner or operator”; providing a 3146 

process for review of a decision from the commissioner 3147 

under certain circumstances; providing for the release 3148 

of personally identifiable student information under 3149 

certain circumstances; providing parent and student 3150 

responsibilities for initial and continued 3151 

participation in the program; providing nonprofit 3152 

scholarship-funding organization obligations; 3153 

providing for the calculation of the scholarship 3154 

amount; providing the scholarship amount for students 3155 

transferred to certain public schools; requiring 3156 

verification of specified information before a 3157 

scholarship may be disbursed; providing requirements 3158 

for the scholarship payments; providing funds for 3159 

administrative expenses for certain nonprofit 3160 

scholarship-funding organizations; providing 3161 

requirements for administrative expenses; prohibiting 3162 

a nonprofit scholarship-funding organization from 3163 

charging an application fee; providing Auditor General 3164 

obligations; providing requirements for taxpayer 3165 

elections to contribute to the program; requiring the 3166 

Department of Revenue to adopt forms to administer the 3167 

program; providing requirements for certain agents of 3168 

the Department of Revenue and motor vehicle dealers; 3169 

providing reporting requirements for nonprofit 3170 

scholarship-funding organizations relating to taxpayer 3171 

contributions; providing penalties; providing for the 3172 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì826696\Î826696 

 

Page 111 of 115 

2/16/2018 9:39:34 AM 581-03217-18 

restitution of specified funds under certain 3173 

circumstances; providing the state is not liable for 3174 

the award or use of program funds; prohibiting 3175 

additional regulations for private schools 3176 

participating in the program beyond those necessary to 3177 

enforce program requirements; requiring the State 3178 

Board of Education to adopt rules to administer the 3179 

program; amending s. 1002.421, F.S.; defining the term 3180 

“owner or operator”; requiring a private school to 3181 

employ or contract with teachers who meet certain 3182 

qualifications and provide information about such 3183 

qualifications to the department and parents; revising 3184 

the conditions under which a private school employee 3185 

may be exempted from background screening 3186 

requirements; specifying that a private school is 3187 

ineligible to participate in certain scholarship 3188 

programs under certain circumstances; requiring the 3189 

department to annually visit a certain percentage of 3190 

certain private schools; authorizing the department to 3191 

make certain followup site visits at any time; 3192 

requiring the Division of State Fire Marshal to 3193 

annually provide the department with fire safety 3194 

inspection reports for certain private schools; 3195 

requiring that certain private schools provide the 3196 

department with a report from an independent certified 3197 

public accountant under certain circumstances; 3198 

repealing s. 1002.43, F.S., relating to private 3199 

tutoring programs; amending s. 1003.01, F.S.; 3200 

redefining the term “regular school attendance”; 3201 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì826696\Î826696 

 

Page 112 of 115 

2/16/2018 9:39:34 AM 581-03217-18 

amending s. 1003.26, F.S.; conforming a cross-3202 

reference; amending s. 1003.41, F.S.; revising the 3203 

requirements for the Next Generation Sunshine State 3204 

Standards to include financial literacy; amending s. 3205 

1003.4282, F.S.; revising the required credits for a 3206 

standard high school diploma to include one-half 3207 

credit of instruction in personal financial literacy 3208 

and money management and seven and one-half, rather 3209 

than eight, credits in electives; amending s. 3210 

1006.061, F.S.; revising the applicability of certain 3211 

child abuse, abandonment, and neglect provisions; 3212 

amending s. 1007.273, F.S.; defining the term 3213 

“structured program”; providing additional options for 3214 

students participating in a structured program; 3215 

prohibiting a district school board from limiting the 3216 

number of public school students who may participate 3217 

in a structured program; revising contract 3218 

requirements; requiring each district school board to 3219 

annually notify students in certain grades of certain 3220 

information about the structured program, by a 3221 

specified date; revising provisions relating to 3222 

funding; requiring the state board to enforce 3223 

compliance with certain provisions by a specified date 3224 

each year; providing reporting requirements; amending 3225 

s. 1008.33, F.S.; revising the turnaround options 3226 

available for certain schools; amending s. 1011.62, 3227 

F.S.; creating the hope supplemental services 3228 

allocation; providing the purpose of the allocation; 3229 

specifying the services that may be funded by the 3230 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì826696\Î826696 

 

Page 113 of 115 

2/16/2018 9:39:34 AM 581-03217-18 

allocation; providing that implementation plans may 3231 

include certain models; providing requirements for 3232 

implementation plans; providing for the allocation of 3233 

funds in specified fiscal years; creating the mental 3234 

health assistance allocation; providing the purpose of 3235 

the allocation; providing for the annual allocation of 3236 

such funds on a specified basis; prohibiting the use 3237 

of allocated funds to supplant funds provided from 3238 

other operating funds, to increase salaries, or to 3239 

provide bonuses; providing requirements for school 3240 

districts and charter schools; providing that required 3241 

plans must include certain elements; requiring school 3242 

districts to annually submit approved plans to the 3243 

Commissioner of Education by a specified date; 3244 

requiring that entities that receive such allocations 3245 

annually submit a final report on program outcomes and 3246 

specific expenditures to the commissioner by a 3247 

specified date; creating the funding compression 3248 

allocation; providing the purpose of the allocation; 3249 

authorizing funding for the annual allocation; 3250 

providing the calculation for the allocation; amending 3251 

s. 1011.69, F.S.; authorizing certain high schools to 3252 

receive Title I funds; providing that a school 3253 

district may withhold Title I funds for specified 3254 

purposes; authorizing certain schools to use Title I 3255 

funds for specified purposes; amending s. 1011.71, 3256 

F.S.; increasing the amount that a school district may 3257 

expend from a specified millage levy for certain 3258 

expenses; amending s. 1012.2315, F.S.; requiring 3259 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì826696\Î826696 

 

Page 114 of 115 

2/16/2018 9:39:34 AM 581-03217-18 

certain employee organizations to include specified 3260 

information in a specified application and to petition 3261 

for recertification for specified purposes; amending 3262 

s. 1012.315, F.S.; revising the applicability of 3263 

certain provisions related to disqualification from 3264 

employment for the conviction of specified offenses; 3265 

amending s. 1012.731, F.S.; deleting Florida Best and 3266 

Brightest Teacher Scholarship Program scholarship 3267 

awards authorized for specific school years; amending 3268 

s. 1012.732, F.S.; specifying that a franchise model 3269 

school principal is eligible to receive a Florida Best 3270 

and Brightest Principal scholarship; requiring 3271 

specified awards for eligible principals; amending s. 3272 

1012.796, F.S.; revising the applicability of a 3273 

requirement that certain private schools file 3274 

specified reports with the department for certain 3275 

allegations against its employees; amending s. 3276 

1013.31, F.S.; authorizing a district to use certain 3277 

sources of funds for educational, auxiliary, and 3278 

ancillary plant capital outlay purposes without 3279 

needing a survey recommendation; amending s. 1013.385, 3280 

F.S.; providing additional exceptions to certain 3281 

building code regulations for school districts; 3282 

amending s. 1013.62, F.S.; providing legislative 3283 

intent; prohibiting a charter school from being 3284 

eligible for capital outlay funds unless the chair of 3285 

the governing board and the chief administrative 3286 

officer of the charter school annually certify certain 3287 

information; defining the term “affiliated party of 3288 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì826696\Î826696 

 

Page 115 of 115 

2/16/2018 9:39:34 AM 581-03217-18 

the charter school”; revising the Department of 3289 

Education’s calculation methodology for a school 3290 

district’s distribution of discretionary millage to 3291 

its eligible charter schools; amending s. 212.08, 3292 

F.S.; conforming a cross-reference; providing 3293 

appropriations; providing appropriations; authorizing 3294 

the Department of Revenue to adopt emergency rules for 3295 

specified purposes; providing effective dates. 3296 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì832342|Î832342 

 

Page 1 of 7 

2/19/2018 10:09:26 AM 581-03329A-18 

LEGISLATIVE ACTION 

Senate 

Comm: WD 

02/21/2018 

 

 

 

 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

 

House 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Committee on Education (Mayfield) recommended the following: 

 

Senate Amendment to Amendment (826696) (with title 1 

amendment) 2 

 3 

Before line 5 4 

insert: 5 

Section 1. Paragraph (b) of subsection (13) of section 6 

121.091, Florida Statutes, is amended to read: 7 

121.091 Benefits payable under the system.—Benefits may not 8 

be paid under this section unless the member has terminated 9 

employment as provided in s. 121.021(39)(a) or begun 10 

participation in the Deferred Retirement Option Program as 11 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì832342|Î832342 

 

Page 2 of 7 

2/19/2018 10:09:26 AM 581-03329A-18 

provided in subsection (13), and a proper application has been 12 

filed in the manner prescribed by the department. The department 13 

may cancel an application for retirement benefits when the 14 

member or beneficiary fails to timely provide the information 15 

and documents required by this chapter and the department’s 16 

rules. The department shall adopt rules establishing procedures 17 

for application for retirement benefits and for the cancellation 18 

of such application when the required information or documents 19 

are not received. 20 

(13) DEFERRED RETIREMENT OPTION PROGRAM.—In general, and 21 

subject to this section, the Deferred Retirement Option Program, 22 

hereinafter referred to as DROP, is a program under which an 23 

eligible member of the Florida Retirement System may elect to 24 

participate, deferring receipt of retirement benefits while 25 

continuing employment with his or her Florida Retirement System 26 

employer. The deferred monthly benefits shall accrue in the 27 

Florida Retirement System on behalf of the member, plus interest 28 

compounded monthly, for the specified period of the DROP 29 

participation, as provided in paragraph (c). Upon termination of 30 

employment, the member shall receive the total DROP benefits and 31 

begin to receive the previously determined normal retirement 32 

benefits. Participation in the DROP does not guarantee 33 

employment for the specified period of DROP. Participation in 34 

DROP by an eligible member beyond the initial 60-month period as 35 

authorized in this subsection shall be on an annual contractual 36 

basis for all participants. 37 

(b) Participation in DROP.—Except as provided in this 38 

paragraph, an eligible member may elect to participate in DROP 39 

for a period not to exceed a maximum of 60 calendar months. 40 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì832342|Î832342 

 

Page 3 of 7 

2/19/2018 10:09:26 AM 581-03329A-18 

1.a. An eligible member may elect to participate in DROP 41 

for a period not to exceed a maximum of 60 calendar months. 42 

However, members who are instructional personnel employed by the 43 

Florida School for the Deaf and the Blind and authorized by the 44 

Board of Trustees of the Florida School for the Deaf and the 45 

Blind, who are instructional personnel as defined in s. 46 

1012.01(2)(a)-(d) in grades K-12 and authorized by the district 47 

school superintendent, or who are instructional personnel as 48 

defined in s. 1012.01(2)(a) employed by a developmental research 49 

school and authorized by the school’s director, or if the school 50 

has no director, by the school’s principal, may participate in 51 

DROP for up to 36 calendar months beyond the 60-month period. 52 

Effective July 1, 2018, instructional personnel who are 53 

authorized to extend DROP participation beyond the 60-month 54 

period must have a termination date that is the last day of the 55 

last calendar month of the school year within the DROP extension 56 

granted by the employer. If, on July 1, 2018, the member’s DROP 57 

participation has already been extended for the maximum 36 58 

calendar months and the extension period concludes before the 59 

end of the school year, the member’s DROP participation may be 60 

extended through the last day of the last calendar month of that 61 

school year. The employer shall notify the division of the 62 

change in termination date and the additional period of DROP 63 

participation for the affected instructional personnel. 64 

b. Administrative personnel in grades K-12, as defined in 65 

s. 1012.01(3), who have a DROP termination date on or after July 66 

1, 2018, may be authorized to extend DROP participation beyond 67 

the initial 60 calendar month period if the administrative 68 

personnel’s termination date is before the end of the school 69 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì832342|Î832342 

 

Page 4 of 7 

2/19/2018 10:09:26 AM 581-03329A-18 

year. Such administrative personnel may have DROP participation 70 

extended until the last day of the last calendar month of the 71 

school year in which their original DROP termination date 72 

occurred if a date other than the last day of the last calendar 73 

month of the school year is designated. The employer shall 74 

notify the division of the change in termination date and the 75 

additional period of DROP participation for the affected 76 

administrative personnel. 77 

2. Upon deciding to participate in DROP, the member shall 78 

submit, on forms required by the division: 79 

a. A written election to participate in DROP; 80 

b. Selection of DROP participation and termination dates 81 

that satisfy the limitations stated in paragraph (a) and 82 

subparagraph 1. The termination date must be in a binding letter 83 

of resignation to the employer establishing a deferred 84 

termination date. The member may change the termination date 85 

within the limitations of subparagraph 1., but only with the 86 

written approval of the employer; 87 

c. A properly completed DROP application for service 88 

retirement as provided in this section; and 89 

d. Any other information required by the division. 90 

3. The DROP participant is a retiree under the Florida 91 

Retirement System for all purposes, except for paragraph (5)(f) 92 

and subsection (9) and ss. 112.3173, 112.363, 121.053, and 93 

121.122. DROP participation is final and may not be canceled by 94 

the participant after the first payment is credited during the 95 

DROP participation period. However, participation in DROP does 96 

not alter the participant’s employment status, and the member is 97 

not deemed retired from employment until his or her deferred 98 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì832342|Î832342 

 

Page 5 of 7 

2/19/2018 10:09:26 AM 581-03329A-18 

resignation is effective and termination occurs as defined in s. 99 

121.021. 100 

4. Elected officers are eligible to participate in DROP 101 

subject to the following: 102 

a. An elected officer who reaches normal retirement date 103 

during a term of office may defer the election to participate 104 

until the next succeeding term in that office. An elected 105 

officer who exercises this option may participate in DROP for up 106 

to 60 calendar months or no longer than the succeeding term of 107 

office, whichever is less. 108 

b. An elected or a nonelected participant may run for a 109 

term of office while participating in DROP and, if elected, 110 

extend the DROP termination date accordingly; however, if such 111 

additional term of office exceeds the 60-month limitation 112 

established in subparagraph 1., and the officer does not resign 113 

from office within such 60-month limitation, the retirement and 114 

the participant’s DROP is null and void as provided in sub-115 

subparagraph (c)5.d. 116 

c. An elected officer who is dually employed and elects to 117 

participate in DROP must terminate all employment relationships 118 

as provided in s. 121.021(39) for the nonelected position within 119 

the original 60-month period or maximum participation period as 120 

provided in subparagraph 1. For DROP participation ending: 121 

(I) Before July 1, 2010, the officer may continue 122 

employment as an elected officer as provided in s. 121.053. The 123 

elected officer shall be enrolled as a renewed member in the 124 

Elected Officers’ Class or the Regular Class, as provided in ss. 125 

121.053 and 121.122, on the first day of the month after 126 

termination of employment in the nonelected position and 127 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì832342|Î832342 

 

Page 6 of 7 

2/19/2018 10:09:26 AM 581-03329A-18 

termination of DROP. Distribution of the DROP benefits shall be 128 

made as provided in paragraph (c). 129 

(II) On or after July 1, 2010, the officer may continue 130 

employment as an elected officer but must defer termination as 131 

provided in s. 121.053. 132 

Section 2. The Legislature finds that a proper and 133 

legitimate state purpose is served when employees and retirees 134 

of the state and its political subdivisions, and the dependents, 135 

survivors, and beneficiaries of such employees and retirees, are 136 

extended the basic protections afforded by governmental 137 

retirement systems. These persons must be provided benefits that 138 

are fair and adequate and that are managed, administered, and 139 

funded in an actuarially sound manner, as required by s. 14, 140 

Article X of the State Constitution and part VII of chapter 112, 141 

Florida Statutes. Therefore, the Legislature determines and 142 

declares that the amendments made to s. 121.091, Florida 143 

Statutes, by this act fulfills an important state interest. 144 

 145 

================= T I T L E  A M E N D M E N T ================ 146 

And the title is amended as follows: 147 

Delete line 3048 148 

and insert: 149 

An act relating to education; amending s. 121.091, 150 

F.S.; revising limitations on the maximum length of 151 

participation in the Deferred Retirement Option 152 

Program for certain instructional personnel and 153 

administrative personnel; requiring an employer to 154 

notify the Division of Retirement of the Department of 155 

Management Services regarding any change in 156 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì832342|Î832342 

 

Page 7 of 7 

2/19/2018 10:09:26 AM 581-03329A-18 

termination date and program participation for each 157 

affected member; providing a statement of important 158 

state interest; creating s. 212.1832, 159 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì6474266Î647426 

 

Page 1 of 1 

2/19/2018 3:23:02 PM 581-03357-18 

LEGISLATIVE ACTION 

Senate 

Comm: WD 

02/21/2018 

 

 

 

 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

 

House 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Committee on Education (Thurston) recommended the following: 

 

Senate Amendment to Amendment (826696)  1 

 2 

Delete lines 1091 - 1093 3 

and insert: 4 

this chapter; 5 

(e) Participating in a home education program, as defined 6 

in s. 1002.01; or 7 

(f) Engaging in a substantiated incident of battery; 8 

harassment; hazing; bullying; kidnapping; physical attack; 9 

robbery; sexual offenses, harassment, assault, or battery; 10 

threat or intimidation; or fighting at school. 11 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì877956aÎ877956 

 

Page 1 of 2 

2/19/2018 3:24:01 PM 581-03358-18 

LEGISLATIVE ACTION 

Senate 

Comm: WD 

02/21/2018 

 

 

 

 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

 

House 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Committee on Education (Thurston) recommended the following: 

 

Senate Amendment to Amendment (826696)  1 

 2 

Delete line 1139 3 

and insert: 4 

available funding; 5 

b. Provide the victim, the alleged offender, and the 6 

student’s parent with the contact information for not-for-profit 7 

community mental health centers or school-based mental health 8 

programs that offer one-on-one wrap-around services, including, 9 

but not limited to, student counseling and parental counseling 10 

that address the needs of the student and his or her family. The 11 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì877956aÎ877956 

 

Page 2 of 2 

2/19/2018 3:24:01 PM 581-03358-18 

cost of the services shall be covered using the Hope 12 

Supplemental Services Allocation and Mental Health Assistance 13 

Allocation, as provided in the General Appropriations Act. 14 

School districts may contract with not-for-profit community 15 

mental health centers to provide one-on-one wrap-around 16 

services; and 17 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì682492:Î682492 

 

Page 1 of 2 

2/19/2018 10:41:22 AM 581-03359-18 

LEGISLATIVE ACTION 

Senate 

Comm: RE 

02/21/2018 

 

 

 

 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

 

House 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Committee on Education (Stewart) recommended the following: 

 

Senate Amendment to Amendment (826696) (with title 1 

amendment) 2 

 3 

Between lines 1796 and 1797 4 

insert: 5 

Section 18. Subsection (5) of section 1002.55, Florida 6 

Statutes, is amended to read: 7 

1002.55 School-year prekindergarten program delivered by 8 

private prekindergarten providers.— 9 

(5)(a) Notwithstanding paragraph (3)(b), a private 10 

prekindergarten provider may not participate in the Voluntary 11 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì682492:Î682492 

 

Page 2 of 2 

2/19/2018 10:41:22 AM 581-03359-18 

Prekindergarten Education Program if the provider has child 12 

disciplinary policies that do not prohibit children from being 13 

subjected to discipline that is severe, humiliating, 14 

frightening, or associated with food, rest, toileting, spanking, 15 

or any other form of physical punishment as provided in s. 16 

402.305(12). 17 

(b) Notwithstanding any other provision of law, if a 18 

private prekindergarten provider has been cited for a class I 19 

violation, as defined by rule, the coalition may refuse to 20 

contract with the provider. 21 

 22 

================= T I T L E  A M E N D M E N T ================ 23 

And the title is amended as follows: 24 

Delete line 3200 25 

and insert: 26 

tutoring programs; amending s. 1002.55, F.S.; 27 

authorizing an early learning coalition to refuse to 28 

contract with certain private prekindergarten 29 

providers; amending s. 1003.01, F.S.; 30 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì232740zÎ232740 

 

Page 1 of 3 

2/18/2018 4:24:38 PM 581-03331-18 

LEGISLATIVE ACTION 

Senate 

Comm: RE 

02/21/2018 

 

 

 

 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

 

House 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Committee on Education (Mayfield) recommended the following: 

 

Senate Amendment to Amendment (826696) (with title 1 

amendment) 2 

 3 

Between lines 1972 and 1973 4 

insert: 5 

Section 22. Section 1003.457, Florida Statutes, is created 6 

to read: 7 

1003.457 Instruction in cardiopulmonary resuscitation.— 8 

(1) Each school district shall provide instruction in 9 

cardiopulmonary resuscitation (CPR) and the use of an automated 10 

external defibrillator. Students shall study and practice the 11 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì232740zÎ232740 

 

Page 2 of 3 

2/18/2018 4:24:38 PM 581-03331-18 

psychomotor skills associated with performing CPR at least once 12 

before graduating from high school. The instruction shall be a 13 

part of the physical education curriculum or another required 14 

curriculum selected by the school district. 15 

(2) The instruction shall be based on an instructional 16 

program established by: 17 

(a) The American Heart Association; 18 

(b) The American Red Cross; or 19 

(c) Another nationally recognized program that uses the 20 

most current evidence-based emergency cardiovascular care 21 

guidelines. 22 

(3) A student with a disability, as defined in s. 1007.02, 23 

is exempt from the requirements of this section. 24 

Section 23. Subsection (3) of section 1003.453, Florida 25 

Statutes, is amended to read: 26 

1003.453 School wellness and physical education policies; 27 

nutrition guidelines.— 28 

(3) School districts are encouraged to provide basic 29 

training in first aid, including cardiopulmonary resuscitation, 30 

for all students, beginning in grade 6 and every 2 years 31 

thereafter. Private and public partnerships for providing 32 

training or necessary funding are encouraged. 33 

 34 

================= T I T L E  A M E N D M E N T ================ 35 

And the title is amended as follows: 36 

Delete line 3210 37 

and insert: 38 

than eight, credits in electives; creating s. 39 

1003.457, F.S.; requiring school districts to provide 40 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì232740zÎ232740 

 

Page 3 of 3 

2/18/2018 4:24:38 PM 581-03331-18 

instruction in cardiopulmonary resuscitation (CPR) and 41 

the use of an automated external defibrillator; 42 

requiring students to study and practice psychomotor 43 

skills associated with CPR at least once before 44 

graduating from high school; requiring the instruction 45 

to be a part of a required curriculum; providing 46 

instruction to be based on certain programs; providing 47 

an exemption; amending s. 1003.453, F.S.; conforming 48 

provisions to changes made by the act; amending s. 49 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì291336+Î291336 

 

Page 1 of 5 

2/19/2018 7:33:24 PM 581-03392A-18 

LEGISLATIVE ACTION 

Senate 

Comm: RE 

02/21/2018 

 

 

 

 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

 

House 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Committee on Education (Thurston) recommended the following: 

 

Senate Amendment to Amendment (826696) (with title 1 

amendment) 2 

 3 

Between lines 2029 and 2030 4 

insert: 5 

Section 23. Subsections (4) and (6) of section 1006.07, 6 

Florida Statutes, are amended, and subsection (7) is added to 7 

that section, to read: 8 

1006.07 District school board duties relating to student 9 

discipline and school safety.—The district school board shall 10 

provide for the proper accounting for all students, for the 11 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì291336+Î291336 

 

Page 2 of 5 

2/19/2018 7:33:24 PM 581-03392A-18 

attendance and control of students at school, and for proper 12 

attention to health, safety, and other matters relating to the 13 

welfare of students, including: 14 

(4) EMERGENCY DRILLS; EMERGENCY PROCEDURES.— 15 

(a) Formulate and prescribe policies and procedures for 16 

emergency drills and for actual emergencies, including, but not 17 

limited to, fires, natural disasters, hostage and active shooter 18 

situations, and bomb threats, for all the public schools of the 19 

district which comprise grades K-12. District school board 20 

policies shall include commonly used alarm system responses for 21 

specific types of emergencies and verification by each school 22 

that drills have been provided as required by law and fire 23 

protection codes. The emergency response agency that is 24 

responsible for notifying the school district for each type of 25 

emergency must be listed in the district’s emergency response 26 

policy. 27 

(b) Establish model emergency management and emergency 28 

preparedness procedures, including emergency notification 29 

procedures pursuant to paragraph (a), for the following life-30 

threatening emergencies: 31 

1. Weapon-use, and hostage, and active shooter situations. 32 

The active shooter situation training for each school must be 33 

conducted by the law enforcement agency or agencies that are 34 

designated as first responders to the school’s campus. 35 

2. Hazardous materials or toxic chemical spills. 36 

3. Weather emergencies, including hurricanes, tornadoes, 37 

and severe storms. 38 

4. Exposure as a result of a manmade emergency. 39 

(6) SAFETY AND SECURITY BEST PRACTICES.—Each school 40 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì291336+Î291336 

 

Page 3 of 5 

2/19/2018 7:33:24 PM 581-03392A-18 

district shall: Use the Safety and Security Best Practices 41 

developed by the Office of Program Policy Analysis and 42 

Government Accountability to 43 

(a) Conduct security risk assessments at each public school 44 

and conduct a self-assessment of the school districts’ current 45 

safety and security practices using a format prescribed by the 46 

department. Based on these self-assessment findings, the 47 

district school superintendent shall provide recommendations to 48 

the district school board which identify strategies and 49 

activities that the district school board should implement in 50 

order to improve school safety and security. Annually each 51 

district school board must receive such findings and the 52 

superintendent’s recommendations the self-assessment results at 53 

a publicly noticed district school board meeting to provide the 54 

public an opportunity to hear the district school board members 55 

discuss and take action on the report findings and 56 

recommendations. Each district school superintendent shall 57 

report such findings the self-assessment results and school 58 

board action to the commissioner within 30 days after the 59 

district school board meeting. 60 

(b) Using a format prescribed by the department, develop a 61 

plan that includes having a secure, single point of entry onto 62 

school grounds. 63 

(7) SAFETY IN CONSTRUCTION PLANNING.—A district school 64 

board or private school principal or governing board must allow 65 

the law enforcement agency or agencies that are designated as 66 

first responders to the school’s or district’s campus to tour 67 

such campus once every 3 years. Any changes related to school 68 

safety and emergency issues recommended by a law enforcement 69 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì291336+Î291336 

 

Page 4 of 5 

2/19/2018 7:33:24 PM 581-03392A-18 

agency based on a campus tour must be documented by the district 70 

school board or private school principal or governing board. 71 

Section 24. Subsection (1) and paragraph (b) of subsection 72 

(2) section 1006.12, Florida Statutes, are amended to read: 73 

1006.12 School resource officers and school safety 74 

officers.— 75 

(1) District school boards shall may establish school 76 

resource officer programs, through a cooperative agreement with 77 

law enforcement agencies or in accordance with subsection (2). 78 

(a) School resource officers shall be certified law 79 

enforcement officers, as defined in s. 943.10(1), who are 80 

employed by a law enforcement agency as defined in s. 943.10(4). 81 

The powers and duties of a law enforcement officer shall 82 

continue throughout the employee’s tenure as a school resource 83 

officer. 84 

(b) School resource officers shall abide by district school 85 

board policies and shall consult with and coordinate activities 86 

through the school principal, but shall be responsible to the 87 

law enforcement agency in all matters relating to employment, 88 

subject to agreements between a district school board and a law 89 

enforcement agency. Activities conducted by the school resource 90 

officer which are part of the regular instructional program of 91 

the school shall be under the direction of the school principal. 92 

(2) 93 

(b) A district school board shall may commission one or 94 

more school safety officers for the protection and safety of 95 

school personnel, property, and students at each district school 96 

facility within the school district. The district school 97 

superintendent may recommend and the district school board may 98 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì291336+Î291336 

 

Page 5 of 5 

2/19/2018 7:33:24 PM 581-03392A-18 

appoint one or more school safety officers. 99 

 100 

================= T I T L E  A M E N D M E N T ================ 101 

And the title is amended as follows: 102 

Between lines 3212 and 3213 103 

insert: 104 

amending s. 1006.07, F.S.; requiring district school 105 

boards to formulate and prescribe policies and 106 

procedures for active shooter situations; requiring 107 

that active shooter situation training for each school 108 

be conducted by the law enforcement agency or agencies 109 

that are designated as first responders to the 110 

school’s campus; requiring each school district to 111 

conduct certain assessments in a specified format; 112 

requiring a district school superintendent to provide 113 

specified agencies with certain findings and certain 114 

strategy and activity recommendations to improve 115 

school safety and security; requiring that district 116 

school boards and private school principals or 117 

governing boards allow campus tours by such law 118 

enforcement agency or agencies at specified times and 119 

for specified purposes; requiring that certain 120 

recommendations be documented by such board or 121 

principal; amending s. 1006.12, F.S.; requiring, 122 

rather than authorizing, district school boards to 123 

establish certain school resource officer programs; 124 

requiring a district school board to commission one or 125 

more school safety officers at each district school 126 

facility within the district; 127 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì2064922Î206492 

 

Page 1 of 3 

2/19/2018 4:31:11 PM 581-03360-18 

LEGISLATIVE ACTION 

Senate 

Comm: WD 

02/21/2018 

 

 

 

 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

 

House 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Committee on Education (Stewart) recommended the following: 

 

Senate Amendment to Amendment (826696) (with title 1 

amendment) 2 

 3 

Between lines 2208 and 2209 4 

insert: 5 

Section 24. Subsections (9) and (10) of section 1008.22, 6 

Florida Statutes, are amended to read: 7 

1008.22 Student assessment program for public schools.— 8 

(9) CONCORDANT SCORES.—The Commissioner of Education must 9 

identify scores on the SAT, and ACT, the Spanish language 10 

College Assessment and Admission Test (PEAU), and the revised 11 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì2064922Î206492 

 

Page 2 of 3 

2/19/2018 4:31:11 PM 581-03360-18 

version of the Spanish language University Admission Test (PAA) 12 

which that if achieved satisfy the graduation requirement that a 13 

student pass the grade 10 statewide, standardized Reading 14 

assessment or, upon implementation, the grade 10 ELA assessment. 15 

The commissioner may identify concordant scores on assessments 16 

other than the SAT, and ACT, PEAU, and PAA. The commissioner may 17 

waive passage of the grade 10 ELA assessment for students who 18 

earn the identified concordant scores on the PEAU or PAA. If the 19 

content or scoring procedures change for the grade 10 Reading 20 

assessment or, upon implementation, the grade 10 ELA assessment, 21 

new concordant scores must be determined. If new concordant 22 

scores are not timely adopted, the last-adopted concordant 23 

scores remain in effect until such time as new scores are 24 

adopted. The state board shall adopt concordant scores in rule. 25 

(10) COMPARATIVE SCORES FOR END-OF-COURSE (EOC) 26 

ASSESSMENT.— 27 

(a) The Commissioner of Education must identify: 28 

1. One or more comparative scores for the Algebra I EOC 29 

assessment. If the content or scoring procedures change for the 30 

EOC assessment, new comparative scores must be determined. If 31 

new comparative scores are not timely adopted, the last-adopted 32 

comparative scores remain in effect until such time as new 33 

scores are adopted; and. 34 

2. Comparative scores on the PEAU and the PAA assessments 35 

for the EOC assessments required under paragraph (3)(b). If the 36 

content or scoring procedures change for an EOC assessment, the 37 

commissioner must identify new comparative scores. If new 38 

comparative scores are not timely adopted, the last-adopted 39 

comparative scores remain in effect until such time as new 40 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì2064922Î206492 

 

Page 3 of 3 

2/19/2018 4:31:11 PM 581-03360-18 

scores are adopted. 41 

(b) The state board shall adopt comparative scores in rule. 42 

 43 

================= T I T L E  A M E N D M E N T ================ 44 

And the title is amended as follows: 45 

Between lines 3225 and 3226 46 

insert: 47 

s. 1008.22, F.S.; requiring the Commissioner of 48 

Education to identify concordant and comparative 49 

scores on specified Spanish language college admission 50 

tests which satisfy certain graduation requirements; 51 

authorizing the commissioner to waive passage of the 52 

grade 10 ELA for certain students; requiring the 53 

commissioner to identify new scores under certain 54 

circumstances; amending 55 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì675602ÇÎ675602 

 

Page 1 of 2 

2/20/2018 8:15:42 AM 581-03388A-18 

LEGISLATIVE ACTION 

Senate 

Comm: WD 

02/21/2018 

 

 

 

 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

 

House 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Committee on Education (Lee) recommended the following: 

 

Senate Amendment to Amendment (826696) (with title 1 

amendment) 2 

 3 

Delete lines 2527 - 2529 4 

and insert: 5 

subsection shall submit to the commissioner, the President of 6 

the Senate, and the Speaker of the House of Representatives, in 7 

a format prescribed by the department, a final report on its 8 

program outcomes and its expenditures for each element of the 9 

program. The report must contain, at a minimum: 10 

1. The number of each of the following: 11 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì675602ÇÎ675602 

 

Page 2 of 2 

2/20/2018 8:15:42 AM 581-03388A-18 

a. Student incidents reported; 12 

b. Students identified as at-risk; 13 

c. Students who receive school-based services or 14 

assistance; 15 

d. Students who receive services through a local community 16 

program or agency involved in mental health; 17 

e. Parents or guardians notified; 18 

f. Parents or guardians who followed up after notification 19 

to seek services for their students; 20 

g. School personnel who are trained to engage in the 21 

services, techniques, strategies, or programs identified in the 22 

plan required under this subsection; 23 

h. Student cases that result in the completion of the 24 

delivery of services; and 25 

i. Student cases that are re-referred; and 26 

2. The origin of the referral for each student. 27 

 28 

================= T I T L E  A M E N D M E N T ================ 29 

And the title is amended as follows: 30 

Delete line 3247 31 

and insert: 32 

specific expenditures to the commissioner and the 33 

Legislature by a 34 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì913420jÎ913420 

 

Page 1 of 1 

2/19/2018 5:41:09 PM 581-03356-18 

LEGISLATIVE ACTION 

Senate 

Comm: RE 

02/21/2018 

 

 

 

 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

 

House 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Committee on Education (Thurston) recommended the following: 

 

Senate Amendment to Amendment (826696) (with title 1 

amendment) 2 

 3 

Delete lines 2615 - 2645. 4 

 5 

================= T I T L E  A M E N D M E N T ================ 6 

And the title is amended as follows: 7 

Delete lines 3259 - 3262 8 

and insert: 9 

expenses; amending 10 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì775230wÎ775230 

 

Page 1 of 2 

2/18/2018 4:16:17 PM 581-03328-18 

LEGISLATIVE ACTION 

Senate 

Comm: WD 

02/21/2018 

 

 

 

 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

 

House 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Committee on Education (Mayfield) recommended the following: 

 

Senate Amendment to Amendment (826696) (with directory and 1 

title amendments) 2 

 3 

Between lines 2776 and 2777 4 

insert: 5 

(b) In order to demonstrate eligibility for an award, an 6 

eligible classroom teacher must submit to the school district, 7 

no later than November 1, an official record of his or her 8 

qualifying assessment score and, beginning with the 2020-2021 9 

school year, an official transcript demonstrating that he or she 10 

graduated cum laude or higher with a baccalaureate degree, if 11 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì775230wÎ775230 

 

Page 2 of 2 

2/18/2018 4:16:17 PM 581-03328-18 

applicable. Once a classroom teacher is deemed eligible by the 12 

school district, the teacher shall remain eligible as long as he 13 

or she remains employed by the school district as a classroom 14 

teacher at the time of the award and receives an annual 15 

performance evaluation rating of highly effective pursuant to s. 16 

1012.34 or is evaluated as highly effective based on a 17 

commissioner-approved student learning growth formula pursuant 18 

to s. 1012.34(8) for the 2019-2020 school year or thereafter. 19 

 20 

====== D I R E C T O R Y  C L A U S E  A M E N D M E N T ====== 21 

And the directory clause is amended as follows: 22 

Delete lines 2772 - 2773 23 

and insert: 24 

Section 30. Paragraphs (b) and (c) of subsection (3) of 25 

section 1012.731, Florida Statutes, are amended to read: 26 

 27 

================= T I T L E  A M E N D M E N T ================ 28 

And the title is amended as follows: 29 

Delete lines 3266 - 3267 30 

and insert: 31 

amending s. 1012.731, F.S.; revising the continuing 32 

eligibility requirements for a Florida Best and 33 

Brightest Teacher Scholarship Program award; deleting 34 

scholarship 35 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì114228&Î114228 

 

Page 1 of 3 

2/19/2018 7:01:07 PM 581-03406-18 

LEGISLATIVE ACTION 

Senate 

Comm: RE 

02/21/2018 

 

 

 

 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

 

House 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Committee on Education (Mayfield) recommended the following: 

 

Senate Amendment to Amendment (826696) (with directory and 1 

title amendments) 2 

 3 

Between lines 2776 and 2777 4 

insert: 5 

(b)1. In order to demonstrate eligibility for an award, an 6 

eligible classroom teacher must submit to the school district, 7 

no later than November 1, an official record of his or her 8 

qualifying assessment score and, beginning with the 2020-2021 9 

school year, an official transcript demonstrating that he or she 10 

graduated cum laude or higher with a baccalaureate degree, if 11 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì114228&Î114228 

 

Page 2 of 3 

2/19/2018 7:01:07 PM 581-03406-18 

applicable. Once a classroom teacher is deemed eligible by the 12 

school district, the teacher shall remain eligible as long as he 13 

or she remains employed by the school district as a classroom 14 

teacher at the time of the award and receives an annual 15 

performance evaluation rating of highly effective pursuant to s. 16 

1012.34 or is evaluated as highly effective based on a 17 

commissioner-approved student learning growth formula pursuant 18 

to s. 1012.34(8) for the 2019-2020 school year or thereafter. 19 

2. A school district employee who, in the prior school 20 

year, was rated highly effective and met the eligibility 21 

requirements under this section as a classroom teacher, is 22 

eligible to receive a scholarship award during the current 23 

school year if he or she maintains employment with the school 24 

district. 25 

 26 

====== D I R E C T O R Y  C L A U S E  A M E N D M E N T ====== 27 

And the directory clause is amended as follows: 28 

Delete lines 2772 - 2773 29 

and insert: 30 

Section 30. Paragraphs (b) and (c) of subsection (3) of 31 

section 1012.731, Florida Statutes, are amended to read: 32 

 33 

================= T I T L E  A M E N D M E N T ================ 34 

And the title is amended as follows: 35 

Delete lines 3266 - 3267 36 

and insert: 37 

amending s. 1012.731, F.S.; extending eligibility for 38 

the Florida Best and Brightest Teacher Scholarship 39 

Program to school district employees who, in the 40 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì114228&Î114228 

 

Page 3 of 3 

2/19/2018 7:01:07 PM 581-03406-18 

immediately preceding school year, were classroom 41 

teachers and met eligibility requirements; deleting 42 

scholarship 43 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì467400qÎ467400 

 

Page 1 of 76 

2/19/2018 5:42:27 PM 581-03354-18 

LEGISLATIVE ACTION 

Senate 

Comm: WD 

02/21/2018 

 

 

 

 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

 

House 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Committee on Education (Thurston) recommended the following: 

 

Senate Substitute for Amendment (826696) (with title 1 

amendment) 2 

 3 

Delete everything after the enacting clause 4 

and insert: 5 

Section 1. Subsections (4) and (5) of section 1001.10, 6 

Florida Statutes, are amended to read: 7 

1001.10 Commissioner of Education; general powers and 8 

duties.— 9 

(4) The Department of Education shall provide technical 10 

assistance to school districts, charter schools, the Florida 11 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì467400qÎ467400 

 

Page 2 of 76 

2/19/2018 5:42:27 PM 581-03354-18 

School for the Deaf and the Blind, and private schools that 12 

accept scholarship students under s. 1002.385, s. 1002.39, or s. 13 

1002.395, or another state scholarship program under chapter 14 

1002 in the development of policies, procedures, and training 15 

related to employment practices and standards of ethical conduct 16 

for instructional personnel and school administrators, as 17 

defined in s. 1012.01. 18 

(5) The Department of Education shall provide authorized 19 

staff of school districts, charter schools, the Florida School 20 

for the Deaf and the Blind, and private schools that accept 21 

scholarship students under s. 1002.385, s. 1002.39, or s. 22 

1002.395, or another state scholarship program under chapter 23 

1002 with access to electronic verification of information from 24 

the following employment screening tools: 25 

(a) The Professional Practices’ Database of Disciplinary 26 

Actions Against Educators; and 27 

(b) The Department of Education’s Teacher Certification 28 

Database. 29 

 30 

This subsection does not require the department to provide these 31 

staff with unlimited access to the databases. However, the 32 

department shall provide the staff with access to the data 33 

necessary for performing employment history checks of the 34 

instructional personnel and school administrators included in 35 

the databases. 36 

Section 2. Section 1001.4205, Florida Statutes, is amended 37 

to read: 38 

1001.4205 Visitation of schools by an individual school 39 

board or charter school governing board member.—An individual 40 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì467400qÎ467400 

 

Page 3 of 76 

2/19/2018 5:42:27 PM 581-03354-18 

member of a district school board may, on any day and at any 41 

time at his or her pleasure, visit any district school in his or 42 

her school district. An individual member of the State 43 

Legislature may, on any day and at any time at his or her 44 

pleasure, visit any district school, including any charter 45 

school, in his or her legislative district. An individual member 46 

of a charter school governing board member may, on any day and 47 

at any time at his or her pleasure, visit any charter school 48 

governed by the charter school’s governing board. 49 

(1) The visiting individual board member must sign in and 50 

sign out at the school’s main office and wear his or her board 51 

or State Legislature identification badge, as applicable, at all 52 

times while present on school premises. 53 

(2) The board, the school, or any other person or entity, 54 

including, but not limited to, the principal of the school, the 55 

school superintendent, or any other board member, may not 56 

require the visiting individual board member to provide notice 57 

before visiting the school. 58 

(3) The school may offer, but may not require, an escort to 59 

accompany the a visiting individual board member during the 60 

visit. 61 

(4) A Another board member or a district employee, 62 

including, but not limited to, the superintendent, the school 63 

principal, or the superintendent’s or the principal’s his or her 64 

designee, may not limit the duration or scope of the visit or 65 

direct the a visiting individual board member to leave the 66 

premises. 67 

(5) A board, district, or school administrative policy or 68 

practice may not prohibit or limit the authority granted to the 69 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì467400qÎ467400 

 

Page 4 of 76 

2/19/2018 5:42:27 PM 581-03354-18 

visiting individual a board member under this section. 70 

Section 3. Paragraph (b) of subsection (6) of section 71 

1002.33, Florida Statutes, is amended to read: 72 

1002.33 Charter schools.— 73 

(6) APPLICATION PROCESS AND REVIEW.—Charter school 74 

applications are subject to the following requirements: 75 

(b) A sponsor shall receive and review all applications for 76 

a charter school using the evaluation instrument developed by 77 

the Department of Education. A sponsor shall receive and 78 

consider charter school applications received on or before 79 

August 1 of each calendar year for charter schools to be opened 80 

at the beginning of the school district’s next school year, or 81 

to be opened at a time agreed to by the applicant and the 82 

sponsor. A sponsor may not refuse to receive a charter school 83 

application submitted before August 1 and may receive an 84 

application submitted later than August 1 if it chooses. 85 

Beginning in 2018 and thereafter, a sponsor shall receive and 86 

consider charter school applications received on or before 87 

February 1 of each calendar year for charter schools to be 88 

opened 18 months later at the beginning of the school district’s 89 

school year, or to be opened at a time agreed to by the 90 

applicant and the sponsor. A sponsor may not refuse to receive a 91 

charter school application submitted before February 1 and may 92 

receive an application submitted later than February 1 if it 93 

chooses. A sponsor may not charge an applicant for a charter any 94 

fee for the processing or consideration of an application, and a 95 

sponsor may not base its consideration or approval of a final 96 

application upon the promise of future payment of any kind. 97 

Before approving or denying any application, the sponsor shall 98 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì467400qÎ467400 

 

Page 5 of 76 

2/19/2018 5:42:27 PM 581-03354-18 

allow the applicant, upon receipt of written notification, at 99 

least 7 calendar days to make technical or nonsubstantive 100 

corrections and clarifications, including, but not limited to, 101 

corrections of grammatical, typographical, and like errors or 102 

missing signatures, if such errors are identified by the sponsor 103 

as cause to deny the final application. 104 

1. In order to facilitate an accurate budget projection 105 

process, a sponsor shall be held harmless for FTE students who 106 

are not included in the FTE projection due to approval of 107 

charter school applications after the FTE projection deadline. 108 

In a further effort to facilitate an accurate budget projection, 109 

within 15 calendar days after receipt of a charter school 110 

application, a sponsor shall report to the Department of 111 

Education the name of the applicant entity, the proposed charter 112 

school location, and its projected FTE. 113 

2. In order to ensure fiscal responsibility, an application 114 

for a charter school shall include a full accounting of expected 115 

assets, a projection of expected sources and amounts of income, 116 

including income derived from projected student enrollments and 117 

from community support, and an expense projection that includes 118 

full accounting of the costs of operation, including start-up 119 

costs. 120 

3.a. A sponsor shall by a majority vote approve or deny an 121 

application no later than 90 calendar days after the application 122 

is received, unless the sponsor and the applicant mutually agree 123 

in writing to temporarily postpone the vote to a specific date, 124 

at which time the sponsor shall by a majority vote approve or 125 

deny the application. If the sponsor fails to act on the 126 

application, an applicant may appeal to the State Board of 127 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì467400qÎ467400 

 

Page 6 of 76 

2/19/2018 5:42:27 PM 581-03354-18 

Education as provided in paragraph (c). If an application is 128 

denied, the sponsor shall, within 10 calendar days after such 129 

denial, articulate in writing the specific reasons, based upon 130 

good cause, supporting its denial of the application and shall 131 

provide the letter of denial and supporting documentation to the 132 

applicant and to the Department of Education. 133 

b. An application submitted by a high-performing charter 134 

school identified pursuant to s. 1002.331 or a high-performing 135 

charter school system identified pursuant to s. 1002.332 may be 136 

denied by the sponsor only if the sponsor demonstrates by clear 137 

and convincing evidence that: 138 

(I) The application does not materially comply with the 139 

requirements in paragraph (a); 140 

(II) The charter school proposed in the application does 141 

not materially comply with the requirements in paragraphs 142 

(9)(a)-(f); 143 

(III) The proposed charter school’s educational program 144 

does not substantially replicate that of the applicant or one of 145 

the applicant’s high-performing charter schools; 146 

(IV) The applicant has made a material misrepresentation or 147 

false statement or concealed an essential or material fact 148 

during the application process; or 149 

(V) The proposed charter school’s educational program and 150 

financial management practices do not materially comply with the 151 

requirements of this section. 152 

 153 

Material noncompliance is a failure to follow requirements or a 154 

violation of prohibitions applicable to charter school 155 

applications, which failure is quantitatively or qualitatively 156 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì467400qÎ467400 

 

Page 7 of 76 

2/19/2018 5:42:27 PM 581-03354-18 

significant either individually or when aggregated with other 157 

noncompliance. An applicant is considered to be replicating a 158 

high-performing charter school if the proposed school is 159 

substantially similar to at least one of the applicant’s high-160 

performing charter schools and the organization or individuals 161 

involved in the establishment and operation of the proposed 162 

school are significantly involved in the operation of replicated 163 

schools. 164 

c. If the sponsor denies an application submitted by a 165 

high-performing charter school or a high-performing charter 166 

school system, the sponsor must, within 10 calendar days after 167 

such denial, state in writing the specific reasons, based upon 168 

the criteria in sub-subparagraph b., supporting its denial of 169 

the application and must provide the letter of denial and 170 

supporting documentation to the applicant and to the Department 171 

of Education. The applicant may appeal the sponsor’s denial of 172 

the application in accordance with paragraph (c). 173 

4. For budget projection purposes, the sponsor shall report 174 

to the Department of Education the approval or denial of an 175 

application within 10 calendar days after such approval or 176 

denial. In the event of approval, the report to the Department 177 

of Education shall include the final projected FTE for the 178 

approved charter school. 179 

5. Upon approval of an application, the initial startup 180 

shall commence with the beginning of the public school calendar 181 

for the district in which the charter is granted. A charter 182 

school may defer the opening of the school’s operations for up 183 

to 3 2 years to provide time for adequate facility planning. The 184 

charter school must provide written notice of such intent to the 185 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì467400qÎ467400 

 

Page 8 of 76 

2/19/2018 5:42:27 PM 581-03354-18 

sponsor and the parents of enrolled students at least 30 186 

calendar days before the first day of school. 187 

Section 4. Subsection (1) of section 1002.331, Florida 188 

Statutes, is amended to read: 189 

1002.331 High-performing charter schools.— 190 

(1) A charter school is a high-performing charter school if 191 

it: 192 

(a) Received at least two school grades of “A” and no 193 

school grade below “B,” pursuant to s. 1008.34, during each of 194 

the previous 3 school years or received at least two consecutive 195 

school grades of “A” in the most recent 2 school years. 196 

(b) Received an unqualified opinion on each annual 197 

financial audit required under s. 218.39 in the most recent 3 198 

fiscal years for which such audits are available. 199 

(c) Did not receive a financial audit that revealed one or 200 

more of the financial emergency conditions set forth in s. 201 

218.503(1) in the most recent 3 fiscal years for which such 202 

audits are available. However, this requirement is deemed met 203 

for a charter school-in-the-workplace if there is a finding in 204 

an audit that the school has the monetary resources available to 205 

cover any reported deficiency or that the deficiency does not 206 

result in a deteriorating financial condition pursuant to s. 207 

1002.345(1)(a)3. 208 

 209 

For purposes of determining initial eligibility, the 210 

requirements of paragraphs (b) and (c) only apply to the most 211 

recent 2 fiscal years if the charter school earns 2 consecutive 212 

grades of “A.” A virtual charter school established under s. 213 

1002.33 is not eligible for designation as a high-performing 214 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì467400qÎ467400 

 

Page 9 of 76 

2/19/2018 5:42:27 PM 581-03354-18 

charter school. 215 

Section 5. Present subsections (11) and (12) of section 216 

1002.333, Florida Statutes, are redesignated as subsections (12) 217 

and (13), respectively, a new subsection (11) is added to that 218 

section, and subsections (1) and (2), paragraph (a) of 219 

subsection (4), paragraphs (b), (g), and (i) of subsection (5), 220 

paragraph (a) of subsection (7), subsection (9), and paragraph 221 

(b) of subsection (10) of that section are amended, to read: 222 

1002.333 Persistently low-performing schools.— 223 

(1) DEFINITIONS.—As used in this section, the term: 224 

(a) “Hope operator” means an entity identified by the 225 

department pursuant to subsection (2). 226 

(b) “Persistently low-performing school” means a school 227 

that has completed 2 school years of a district-managed 228 

turnaround plan required under s. 1008.33(4)(a) and has not 229 

improved its school grade to a “C” or higher, earned three 230 

consecutive grades lower than a “C,” pursuant to s. 1008.34, and 231 

a school that was closed pursuant to s. 1008.33(4) within 2 232 

years after the submission of a notice of intent. 233 

(c) “School of hope” means: 234 

1. A charter school operated by a hope operator which 235 

serves students from one or more persistently low-performing 236 

schools,; is located in the attendance zone of a persistently 237 

low-performing school, or within a 5-mile radius of such school, 238 

whichever is greater; and is a Title I eligible school; or 239 

2. A school operated by a hope operator pursuant to s. 240 

1008.33(4)(b)3.b. s. 1008.33(4)(b)3. 241 

(2) HOPE OPERATOR.—A hope operator is a nonprofit 242 

organization with tax exempt status under s. 501(c)(3) of the 243 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì467400qÎ467400 

 

Page 10 of 76 

2/19/2018 5:42:27 PM 581-03354-18 

Internal Revenue Code which that operates three or more charter 244 

schools that serve students in grades K-12 in Florida or other 245 

states with a record of serving students from low-income 246 

families and is designated by the State Board of Education as a 247 

hope operator based on a determination that: 248 

(a) The past performance of the hope operator meets or 249 

exceeds the following criteria: 250 

1. The achievement of enrolled students exceeds the 251 

district and state averages of the states in which the 252 

operator’s schools operate; 253 

2. The average college attendance rate at all schools 254 

currently operated by the operator exceeds 80 percent, if such 255 

data is available; 256 

3. The percentage of students eligible for a free or 257 

reduced price lunch under the National School Lunch Act enrolled 258 

at all schools currently operated by the operator exceeds 70 259 

percent; 260 

4. The operator is in good standing with the authorizer in 261 

each state in which it operates; 262 

5. The audited financial statements of the operator are 263 

free of material misstatements and going concern issues; and 264 

6. Other outcome measures as determined by the State Board 265 

of Education; 266 

(b) The operator was awarded a United States Department of 267 

Education Charter School Program Grant for Replication and 268 

Expansion of High-Quality Charter Schools within the preceding 3 269 

years before applying to be a hope operator; 270 

(c) The operator receives funding through the National Fund 271 

of the Charter School Growth Fund to accelerate the growth of 272 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì467400qÎ467400 

 

Page 11 of 76 

2/19/2018 5:42:27 PM 581-03354-18 

the nation’s best charter schools; or 273 

(d) The operator is selected by a district school board in 274 

accordance with s. 1008.33. 275 

 276 

An entity that meets the requirements of paragraph (b), 277 

paragraph (c), or paragraph (d) before the adoption by the state 278 

board of measurable criteria pursuant to paragraph (a) shall be 279 

designated as a hope operator. After the adoption of the 280 

measurable criteria, an entity, including a governing board that 281 

operates a school established pursuant to s. 1008.33(4)(b)3.b. 282 

s. 1008.33(4)(b)3., shall be designated as a hope operator if it 283 

meets the criteria of paragraph (a). 284 

(4) ESTABLISHMENT OF SCHOOLS OF HOPE.—A hope operator 285 

seeking to open a school of hope must submit a notice of intent 286 

to the school district in which a persistently low-performing 287 

school has been identified by the State Board of Education 288 

pursuant to subsection (10). 289 

(a) The notice of intent must include all of the following: 290 

1. An academic focus and plan. 291 

2. A financial plan. 292 

3. Goals and objectives for increasing student achievement 293 

for the students from low-income families. 294 

4. A completed or planned community outreach plan. 295 

5. The organizational history of success in working with 296 

students with similar demographics. 297 

6. The grade levels to be served and enrollment 298 

projections. 299 

7. The specific proposed location or geographic area 300 

proposed for the school and its proximity to the persistently 301 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì467400qÎ467400 

 

Page 12 of 76 

2/19/2018 5:42:27 PM 581-03354-18 

low-performing school or the plan to use the district-owned 302 

facilities of the persistently low-performing school. 303 

8. A staffing plan. 304 

9. An operations plan specifying the operator’s intent to 305 

undertake the operations of the persistently low-performing 306 

school in its entirety or through limited components of the 307 

operations. 308 

(5) PERFORMANCE-BASED AGREEMENT.—The following shall 309 

comprise the entirety of the performance-based agreement: 310 

(b) The location or geographic area proposed for the school 311 

of hope and its proximity to the persistently low-performing 312 

school. 313 

(f)(g) The grounds for termination, including failure to 314 

meet the requirements for student performance established 315 

pursuant to paragraph (d) (e), generally accepted standards of 316 

fiscal management, or material violation of terms of the 317 

agreement. The nonrenewal or termination of a performance-based 318 

agreement must comply with the requirements of s. 1002.33(8). 319 

(h)(i) A provision establishing the initial term as 5 320 

years. The agreement must shall be renewed, upon the request of 321 

the hope operator, unless the school fails to meet the 322 

requirements for student performance established pursuant to 323 

paragraph (d) (e) or generally accepted standards of fiscal 324 

management or the school of hope materially violates the law or 325 

the terms of the agreement. 326 

(7) FACILITIES.— 327 

(a)1. A school of hope that meets the definition under 328 

subparagraph (1)(c)1. shall use facilities that comply with the 329 

Florida Building Code, except for the State Requirements for 330 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì467400qÎ467400 

 

Page 13 of 76 

2/19/2018 5:42:27 PM 581-03354-18 

Educational Facilities. A school of hope that uses school 331 

district facilities must comply with the State Requirements for 332 

Educational Facilities only if the school district and the hope 333 

operator have entered into a mutual management plan for the 334 

reasonable maintenance of such facilities. The mutual management 335 

plan shall contain a provision by which the district school 336 

board agrees to maintain the school facilities in the same 337 

manner as its other public schools within the district. 338 

2. A school of hope that meets the definition under 339 

subparagraph (1)(c)2. and that receives funds from the hope 340 

supplemental services allocation under s. 1011.62(16) shall use 341 

the district-owned facilities of the persistently low-performing 342 

school that the school of hope operates. A school of hope that 343 

uses district-owned facilities must enter into a mutual 344 

management plan with the school district for the reasonable 345 

maintenance of the facilities. The mutual management plan must 346 

contain a provision specifying that the district school board 347 

agrees to maintain the school facilities in the same manner as 348 

other public schools within the district. 349 

 350 

The local governing authority shall not adopt or impose any 351 

local building requirements or site-development restrictions, 352 

such as parking and site-size criteria, student enrollment, and 353 

occupant load, that are addressed by and more stringent than 354 

those found in the State Requirements for Educational Facilities 355 

of the Florida Building Code. A local governing authority must 356 

treat schools of hope equitably in comparison to similar 357 

requirements, restrictions, and site planning processes imposed 358 

upon public schools. The agency having jurisdiction for 359 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì467400qÎ467400 

 

Page 14 of 76 

2/19/2018 5:42:27 PM 581-03354-18 

inspection of a facility and issuance of a certificate of 360 

occupancy or use shall be the local municipality or, if in an 361 

unincorporated area, the county governing authority. If an 362 

official or employee of the local governing authority refuses to 363 

comply with this paragraph, the aggrieved school or entity has 364 

an immediate right to bring an action in circuit court to 365 

enforce its rights by injunction. An aggrieved party that 366 

receives injunctive relief may be awarded reasonable attorney 367 

fees and court costs. 368 

(9) FUNDING.— 369 

(a) Schools of hope shall be funded in accordance with s. 370 

1002.33(17). 371 

(b) Schools of hope shall receive priority in the 372 

department’s Public Charter School Grant Program competitions. 373 

(c) Schools of hope shall be considered charter schools for 374 

purposes of s. 1013.62, except charter capital outlay may not be 375 

used to purchase real property or for the construction of school 376 

facilities. 377 

(d) Schools of hope that meet the definition under 378 

subparagraph (1)(c)1. are eligible to receive funds from the 379 

Schools of Hope Program. 380 

(e) Schools of hope that meet the definition under 381 

subparagraph (1)(c)2. are eligible to receive funds from the 382 

hope supplemental services allocation established under s. 383 

1011.62(16). 384 

(10) SCHOOLS OF HOPE PROGRAM.—The Schools of Hope Program 385 

is created within the Department of Education. 386 

(b) A traditional public school that is required to submit 387 

a plan for implementation pursuant to s. 1008.33(4) is eligible 388 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì467400qÎ467400 

 

Page 15 of 76 

2/19/2018 5:42:27 PM 581-03354-18 

to receive funding for services authorized up to $2,000 per 389 

full-time equivalent student from the hope supplemental services 390 

allocation established under s. 1011.62(16) Schools of Hope 391 

Program based upon the strength of the school’s plan for 392 

implementation and its focus on evidence-based interventions 393 

that lead to student success by providing wrap-around services 394 

that leverage community assets, improve school and community 395 

collaboration, and develop family and community partnerships. 396 

Wrap-around services include, but are not limited to, tutorial 397 

and after-school programs, student counseling, nutrition 398 

education, parental counseling, and adult education. Plans for 399 

implementation may also include models that develop a culture of 400 

attending college, high academic expectations, character 401 

development, dress codes, and an extended school day and school 402 

year. At a minimum, a plan for implementation must: 403 

1. Establish wrap-around services that develop family and 404 

community partnerships. 405 

2. Establish clearly defined and measurable high academic 406 

and character standards. 407 

3. Increase parental involvement and engagement in the 408 

child’s education. 409 

4. Describe how the school district will identify, recruit, 410 

retain, and reward instructional personnel. The state board may 411 

waive the requirements of s. 1012.22(1)(c)5., and suspend the 412 

requirements of s. 1012.34, to facilitate implementation of the 413 

plan. 414 

5. Identify a knowledge-rich curriculum that the school 415 

will use that focuses on developing a student’s background 416 

knowledge. 417 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì467400qÎ467400 

 

Page 16 of 76 

2/19/2018 5:42:27 PM 581-03354-18 

6. Provide professional development that focuses on 418 

academic rigor, direct instruction, and creating high academic 419 

and character standards. 420 

(11) SCHOOLS OF HOPE MANAGEMENT.—A hope operator or the 421 

owner of a school of hope may not serve as the principal of any 422 

school that he or she manages. 423 

Section 6. Section 1002.334, Florida Statutes, is created 424 

to read: 425 

1002.334 Franchise model schools.— 426 

(1) As used in this section, the term “franchise model 427 

school” means a persistently low-performing school, as defined 428 

in s. 1002.333(1)(b), which is led by a highly effective 429 

principal in addition to the principal’s currently assigned 430 

school. If a franchise model school achieves a grade of “C” or 431 

higher, the school may retain its status as a franchise model 432 

school at the discretion of the school district. 433 

(2) A school district that has one or more persistently 434 

low-performing schools may use a franchise model school as a 435 

school turnaround option pursuant to s. 1008.33(4)(b)4. 436 

(3) A franchise model school principal: 437 

(a) Must be rated as highly effective pursuant to s. 438 

1012.34; 439 

(b) May lead two or more schools, including a persistently 440 

low-performing school or a school that was considered a 441 

persistently low-performing school before becoming a franchise 442 

model school; 443 

(c) May allocate resources and personnel between the 444 

schools under his or her administration; however, he or she must 445 

expend hope supplemental services allocation funds, authorized 446 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì467400qÎ467400 

 

Page 17 of 76 

2/19/2018 5:42:27 PM 581-03354-18 

under s. 1011.62(16), at the franchise model school; and 447 

(d) Is eligible to receive a Best and Brightest Principal 448 

award under s. 1012.732. 449 

Section 7. Paragraph (d) of subsection (2) and subsection 450 

(8) of section 1002.385, Florida Statutes, are amended to read: 451 

1002.385 The Gardiner Scholarship.— 452 

(2) DEFINITIONS.—As used in this section, the term: 453 

(d) “Disability” means, for a 3- or 4-year-old child or for 454 

a student in kindergarten to grade 12, autism spectrum disorder, 455 

as defined in the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental 456 

Disorders, Fifth Edition, published by the American Psychiatric 457 

Association; cerebral palsy, as defined in s. 393.063(6); Down 458 

syndrome, as defined in s. 393.063(15); an intellectual 459 

disability, as defined in s. 393.063(24); Phelan-McDermid 460 

syndrome, as defined in s. 393.063(28); Prader-Willi syndrome, 461 

as defined in s. 393.063(29); spina bifida, as defined in s. 462 

393.063(40); being a high-risk child, as defined in s. 463 

393.063(23)(a); muscular dystrophy; Williams syndrome; a rare 464 

disease, a disorder that affects diseases which affect patient 465 

populations of fewer than 200,000 individuals or fewer in the 466 

United States, as defined by the Orphan Drug Act of 1983, Pub. 467 

L. No. 97-414 National Organization for Rare Disorders; 468 

anaphylaxis; deaf; visually impaired; traumatic brain injured; 469 

hospital or homebound; or identification as dual sensory 470 

impaired, as defined by rules of the State Board of Education 471 

and evidenced by reports from local school districts. The term 472 

“hospital or homebound” includes a student who has a medically 473 

diagnosed physical or psychiatric condition or illness, as 474 

defined by the state board in rule, and who is confined to the 475 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì467400qÎ467400 

 

Page 18 of 76 

2/19/2018 5:42:27 PM 581-03354-18 

home or hospital for more than 6 months. 476 

(8) PRIVATE SCHOOL ELIGIBILITY AND OBLIGATIONS.—An eligible 477 

private school may be sectarian or nonsectarian and shall: 478 

(a) Comply with all requirements for private schools 479 

participating in state school choice scholarship programs 480 

pursuant to s. 1002.421. 481 

(b) Provide to the organization, upon request, all 482 

documentation required for the student’s participation, 483 

including the private school’s and student’s fee schedules. 484 

(c) Be academically accountable to the parent for meeting 485 

the educational needs of the student by: 486 

1. At a minimum, annually providing to the parent a written 487 

explanation of the student’s progress. 488 

2. Annually administering or making provision for students 489 

participating in the program in grades 3 through 10 to take one 490 

of the nationally norm-referenced tests identified by the 491 

Department of Education or the statewide assessments pursuant to 492 

s. 1008.22. Students with disabilities for whom standardized 493 

testing is not appropriate are exempt from this requirement. A 494 

participating private school shall report a student’s scores to 495 

the parent. 496 

3. Cooperating with the scholarship student whose parent 497 

chooses to have the student participate in the statewide 498 

assessments pursuant to s. 1008.22 or, if a private school 499 

chooses to offer the statewide assessments, administering the 500 

assessments at the school. 501 

a. A participating private school may choose to offer and 502 

administer the statewide assessments to all students who attend 503 

the private school in grades 3 through 10. 504 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì467400qÎ467400 

 

Page 19 of 76 

2/19/2018 5:42:27 PM 581-03354-18 

b. A participating private school shall submit a request in 505 

writing to the Department of Education by March 1 of each year 506 

in order to administer the statewide assessments in the 507 

subsequent school year. 508 

(d) Employ or contract with teachers who have regular and 509 

direct contact with each student receiving a scholarship under 510 

this section at the school’s physical location. 511 

(e) Provide a report from an independent certified public 512 

accountant who performs the agreed-upon procedures developed 513 

under s. 1002.395(6)(o) if the private school receives more than 514 

$250,000 in funds from scholarships awarded under this chapter 515 

section in a state fiscal year. A private school subject to this 516 

paragraph must annually submit the report by September 15 to the 517 

organization that awarded the majority of the school’s 518 

scholarship funds. The agreed-upon procedures must be conducted 519 

in accordance with attestation standards established by the 520 

American Institute of Certified Public Accountants. 521 

 522 

If a private school fails or refuses is unable to meet the 523 

requirements of this subsection or has consecutive years of 524 

material exceptions listed in the report required under 525 

paragraph (e), the commissioner may determine that the private 526 

school is ineligible to participate in the program. 527 

Section 8. Paragraph (f) of subsection (6) and subsection 528 

(8) of section 1002.39, Florida Statutes, are amended to read: 529 

1002.39 The John M. McKay Scholarships for Students with 530 

Disabilities Program.—There is established a program that is 531 

separate and distinct from the Opportunity Scholarship Program 532 

and is named the John M. McKay Scholarships for Students with 533 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì467400qÎ467400 

 

Page 20 of 76 

2/19/2018 5:42:27 PM 581-03354-18 

Disabilities Program. 534 

(6) DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION OBLIGATIONS.—The department 535 

shall: 536 

(f)1. Conduct random site visits to private schools 537 

participating in the John M. McKay Scholarships for Students 538 

with Disabilities Program as authorized under s. 1002.421(7). 539 

The purposes purpose of the site visits are is solely to verify 540 

compliance with the provisions of subsection (7) aimed at 541 

protecting the health, safety, and welfare of students and to 542 

verify the information reported by the schools concerning the 543 

enrollment and attendance of students, the credentials of 544 

teachers, background screening of teachers, and teachers’ 545 

fingerprinting results, which information is required by rules 546 

of the State Board of Education, subsection (8), and s. 547 

1002.421. The Department of Education may not make followup more 548 

than three random site visits at any time to any school that has 549 

received a notice of noncompliance or a notice of proposed 550 

action within the previous 2 years pursuant to subsection (7) 551 

each year and may not make more than one random site visit each 552 

year to the same private school. 553 

2. Annually, by December 15, report to the Governor, the 554 

President of the Senate, and the Speaker of the House of 555 

Representatives the Department of Education’s actions with 556 

respect to implementing accountability in the scholarship 557 

program under this section and s. 1002.421, any substantiated 558 

allegations or violations of law or rule by an eligible private 559 

school under this program concerning the enrollment and 560 

attendance of students, the credentials of teachers, background 561 

screening of teachers, and teachers’ fingerprinting results and 562 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì467400qÎ467400 

 

Page 21 of 76 

2/19/2018 5:42:27 PM 581-03354-18 

the corrective action taken by the Department of Education. 563 

(8) PRIVATE SCHOOL ELIGIBILITY AND OBLIGATIONS.—To be 564 

eligible to participate in the John M. McKay Scholarships for 565 

Students with Disabilities Program, a private school may be 566 

sectarian or nonsectarian and must: 567 

(a) Comply with all requirements for private schools 568 

participating in state school choice scholarship programs 569 

pursuant to s. 1002.421. 570 

(b) Provide to the department all documentation required 571 

for a student’s participation, including the private school’s 572 

and student’s fee schedules, at least 30 days before any 573 

quarterly scholarship payment is made for the student pursuant 574 

to paragraph (11)(e). A student is not eligible to receive a 575 

quarterly scholarship payment if the private school fails to 576 

meet this deadline. 577 

(c) Be academically accountable to the parent for meeting 578 

the educational needs of the student by: 579 

1. At a minimum, annually providing to the parent a written 580 

explanation of the student’s progress. 581 

2. Cooperating with the scholarship student whose parent 582 

chooses to participate in the statewide assessments pursuant to 583 

s. 1008.22. 584 

(d) Maintain in this state a physical location where a 585 

scholarship student regularly attends classes. 586 

(e) If the private school that participates in a state 587 

scholarship program under this chapter receives more than 588 

$250,000 in funds from scholarships awarded under chapter 1002 589 

in a state fiscal year, provide an annual report from an 590 

independent certified public accountant who performs the agreed-591 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì467400qÎ467400 

 

Page 22 of 76 

2/19/2018 5:42:27 PM 581-03354-18 

upon procedures developed under s. 1002.395(6)(o). Such a 592 

private school must annually submit the required report by 593 

September 15 to the organization that awarded the majority of 594 

the school’s scholarship funds. The agreed-upon procedures must 595 

be conducted in accordance with attestation standards 596 

established by the American Institute of Certified Public 597 

Accountants. 598 

 599 

The failure or refusal inability of a private school to meet the 600 

requirements of this subsection shall constitute a basis for the 601 

ineligibility of the private school to participate in the 602 

scholarship program as determined by the department. 603 

Section 9. Paragraph (o) of subsection (6), subsection (8), 604 

and paragraph (n) of subsection (9) of section 1002.395, Florida 605 

Statutes, are amended to read: 606 

1002.395 Florida Tax Credit Scholarship Program.— 607 

(6) OBLIGATIONS OF ELIGIBLE NONPROFIT SCHOLARSHIP-FUNDING 608 

ORGANIZATIONS.—An eligible nonprofit scholarship-funding 609 

organization: 610 

(o)1.a. Must participate in the joint development of 611 

agreed-upon procedures to be performed by an independent 612 

certified public accountant as required under paragraph (8)(e) 613 

if the scholarship-funding organization provided more than 614 

$250,000 in scholarship funds to an eligible private school 615 

under this chapter section during the 2009-2010 state fiscal 616 

year. The agreed-upon procedures must uniformly apply to all 617 

private schools and must determine, at a minimum, whether the 618 

private school has been verified as eligible by the Department 619 

of Education under paragraph (9)(c); has an adequate accounting 620 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì467400qÎ467400 

 

Page 23 of 76 

2/19/2018 5:42:27 PM 581-03354-18 

system, system of financial controls, and process for deposit 621 

and classification of scholarship funds; and has properly 622 

expended scholarship funds for education-related expenses. 623 

During the development of the procedures, the participating 624 

scholarship-funding organizations shall specify guidelines 625 

governing the materiality of exceptions that may be found during 626 

the accountant’s performance of the procedures. The procedures 627 

and guidelines shall be provided to private schools and the 628 

Commissioner of Education by March 15, 2011. 629 

b. Must participate in a joint review of the agreed-upon 630 

procedures and guidelines developed under sub-subparagraph a., 631 

by February 2013 and biennially thereafter, if the scholarship-632 

funding organization provided more than $250,000 in scholarship 633 

funds to an eligible private school under this chapter section 634 

during the state fiscal year preceding the biennial review. If 635 

the procedures and guidelines are revised, the revisions must be 636 

provided to private schools and the Commissioner of Education by 637 

March 15, 2013, and biennially thereafter. 638 

c. Must monitor the compliance of a private school with 639 

paragraph (8)(e) if the scholarship-funding organization 640 

provided the majority of the scholarship funding to the school. 641 

For each private school subject to paragraph (8)(e), the 642 

appropriate scholarship-funding organization shall notify the 643 

Commissioner of Education by October 30, 2011, and annually 644 

thereafter of: 645 

(I) A private school’s failure to submit a report required 646 

under paragraph (8)(e); or 647 

(II) Any material exceptions set forth in the report 648 

required under paragraph (8)(e). 649 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì467400qÎ467400 

 

Page 24 of 76 

2/19/2018 5:42:27 PM 581-03354-18 

2. Must seek input from the accrediting associations that 650 

are members of the Florida Association of Academic Nonpublic 651 

Schools when jointly developing the agreed-upon procedures and 652 

guidelines under sub-subparagraph 1.a. and conducting a review 653 

of those procedures and guidelines under sub-subparagraph 1.b. 654 

 655 

Information and documentation provided to the Department of 656 

Education and the Auditor General relating to the identity of a 657 

taxpayer that provides an eligible contribution under this 658 

section shall remain confidential at all times in accordance 659 

with s. 213.053. 660 

(8) PRIVATE SCHOOL ELIGIBILITY AND OBLIGATIONS.—An eligible 661 

private school may be sectarian or nonsectarian and must: 662 

(a) Comply with all requirements for private schools 663 

participating in state school choice scholarship programs 664 

pursuant to s. 1002.421. 665 

(b) Provide to the eligible nonprofit scholarship-funding 666 

organization, upon request, all documentation required for the 667 

student’s participation, including the private school’s and 668 

student’s fee schedules. 669 

(c) Be academically accountable to the parent for meeting 670 

the educational needs of the student by: 671 

1. At a minimum, annually providing to the parent a written 672 

explanation of the student’s progress. 673 

2. Annually administering or making provision for students 674 

participating in the scholarship program in grades 3 through 10 675 

to take one of the nationally norm-referenced tests identified 676 

by the Department of Education or the statewide assessments 677 

pursuant to s. 1008.22. Students with disabilities for whom 678 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì467400qÎ467400 

 

Page 25 of 76 

2/19/2018 5:42:27 PM 581-03354-18 

standardized testing is not appropriate are exempt from this 679 

requirement. A participating private school must report a 680 

student’s scores to the parent. A participating private school 681 

must annually report by August 15 the scores of all 682 

participating students to the Learning System Institute 683 

described in paragraph (9)(j). 684 

3. Cooperating with the scholarship student whose parent 685 

chooses to have the student participate in the statewide 686 

assessments pursuant to s. 1008.22 or, if a private school 687 

chooses to offer the statewide assessments, administering the 688 

assessments at the school. 689 

a. A participating private school may choose to offer and 690 

administer the statewide assessments to all students who attend 691 

the private school in grades 3 through 10. 692 

b. A participating private school must submit a request in 693 

writing to the Department of Education by March 1 of each year 694 

in order to administer the statewide assessments in the 695 

subsequent school year. 696 

(d) Employ or contract with teachers who have regular and 697 

direct contact with each student receiving a scholarship under 698 

this section at the school’s physical location. 699 

(e) Provide a report from an independent certified public 700 

accountant who performs the agreed-upon procedures developed 701 

under paragraph (6)(o) if the private school receives more than 702 

$250,000 in funds from scholarships awarded under this chapter 703 

section in a state fiscal year. A private school subject to this 704 

paragraph must annually submit the report by September 15 to the 705 

scholarship-funding organization that awarded the majority of 706 

the school’s scholarship funds. The agreed-upon procedures must 707 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì467400qÎ467400 

 

Page 26 of 76 

2/19/2018 5:42:27 PM 581-03354-18 

be conducted in accordance with attestation standards 708 

established by the American Institute of Certified Public 709 

Accountants. 710 

 711 

If a private school fails or refuses is unable to meet the 712 

requirements of this subsection or has consecutive years of 713 

material exceptions listed in the report required under 714 

paragraph (e), the commissioner may determine that the private 715 

school is ineligible to participate in the scholarship program 716 

as determined by the Department of Education. 717 

(9) DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION OBLIGATIONS.—The Department of 718 

Education shall: 719 

(n)1. Conduct site visits to private schools participating 720 

in the Florida Tax Credit Scholarship Program as authorized 721 

under s. 1002.421(7). The purposes purpose of the site visits 722 

are is solely to verify compliance with the provisions of 723 

subsection (11) aimed at protecting the health, safety, and 724 

welfare of students and to verify the information reported by 725 

the schools concerning the enrollment and attendance of 726 

students, the credentials of teachers, background screening of 727 

teachers, and teachers’ fingerprinting results. The Department 728 

of Education may not make more than seven site visits each year; 729 

however, The department may make followup additional site visits 730 

at any time to any school that, pursuant to subsection (11), has 731 

received a notice of noncompliance or a notice of proposed 732 

action within the previous 2 years. 733 

2. Annually, by December 15, report to the Governor, the 734 

President of the Senate, and the Speaker of the House of 735 

Representatives the Department of Education’s actions with 736 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì467400qÎ467400 

 

Page 27 of 76 

2/19/2018 5:42:27 PM 581-03354-18 

respect to implementing accountability in the scholarship 737 

program under this section and s. 1002.421, any substantiated 738 

allegations or violations of law or rule by an eligible private 739 

school under this program concerning the enrollment and 740 

attendance of students, the credentials of teachers, background 741 

screening of teachers, and teachers’ fingerprinting results and 742 

the corrective action taken by the Department of Education. 743 

Section 10. Present subsection (7) of section 1002.421, 744 

Florida Statutes, is amended and redesignated as subsection 745 

(11), a new subsection (7) and subsections (8), (9), and (10) 746 

are added to that section, and subsection (1), paragraphs (h) 747 

and (i) of subsection (2), and subsections (4) and (5) of that 748 

section are amended, to read: 749 

1002.421 Accountability of private schools participating in 750 

state school choice scholarship programs.— 751 

(1)(a) A Florida private school participating in the 752 

Florida Tax Credit Scholarship Program established pursuant to 753 

s. 1002.395 or an educational scholarship program established 754 

pursuant to this chapter must comply with all requirements of 755 

this section in addition to private school requirements outlined 756 

in s. 1002.42, specific requirements identified within 757 

respective scholarship program laws, and other provisions of 758 

Florida law that apply to private schools. 759 

(b) For purposes of this section, the term “owner or 760 

operator” includes an owner, operator, superintendent, or 761 

principal of an eligible private school or a person with 762 

equivalent decisionmaking authority over an eligible private 763 

school. 764 

(2) A private school participating in a scholarship program 765 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì467400qÎ467400 

 

Page 28 of 76 

2/19/2018 5:42:27 PM 581-03354-18 

must be a Florida private school as defined in s. 1002.01(2), 766 

must be registered in accordance with s. 1002.42, and must: 767 

(h) Employ or contract with teachers who: 768 

1. Unless otherwise specified under this paragraph, hold 769 

baccalaureate or higher degrees, have at least 3 years of 770 

teaching experience in public or private schools, or have 771 

objectively identified special skills, knowledge, or expertise 772 

that qualifies them to provide instruction in subjects taught. 773 

2. Hold baccalaureate or higher degrees from a regionally 774 

or nationally accredited college or university in the United 775 

States or from a recognized college or university in another 776 

country. This subparagraph applies to full-time teachers hired 777 

after July 1, 2018, who are teaching students in grade 2 or 778 

above. 779 

 780 

The private school must report to the department, in a format 781 

developed by the department, the qualifications of each teacher 782 

hired by the school, including, but not limited to, an 783 

explanation of the objectively identified special skills or 784 

expertise of such teachers, as applicable. Additionally, the 785 

private school must provide to the parent of each scholarship 786 

student, on the school’s website or on a written form provided 787 

by the school, the qualifications of each classroom teacher. 788 

(i) Require each employee and contracted personnel with 789 

direct student contact, upon employment or engagement to provide 790 

services, to undergo a state and national background screening, 791 

pursuant to s. 943.0542, by electronically filing with the 792 

Department of Law Enforcement a complete set of fingerprints 793 

taken by an authorized law enforcement agency or an employee of 794 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì467400qÎ467400 

 

Page 29 of 76 

2/19/2018 5:42:27 PM 581-03354-18 

the private school, a school district, or a private company who 795 

is trained to take fingerprints and deny employment to or 796 

terminate an employee if he or she fails to meet the screening 797 

standards under s. 435.04. Results of the screening shall be 798 

provided to the participating private school. For purposes of 799 

this paragraph: 800 

1. An “employee or contracted personnel with direct student 801 

contact” means any employee or contracted personnel who has 802 

unsupervised access to a scholarship student for whom the 803 

private school is responsible. 804 

2. The costs of fingerprinting and the background check 805 

shall not be borne by the state. 806 

3. Continued employment of an employee or contracted 807 

personnel after notification that he or she has failed the 808 

background screening under this paragraph shall cause a private 809 

school to be ineligible for participation in a scholarship 810 

program. 811 

4. An employee or contracted personnel holding a valid 812 

Florida teaching certificate who has been fingerprinted pursuant 813 

to s. 1012.32 and who is not ineligible for employment pursuant 814 

to s. 1012.315 is not required to comply with the provisions of 815 

this paragraph. 816 

(4) A private school that accepts scholarship students 817 

under this chapter s. 1002.39 or s. 1002.395 must: 818 

(a) Disqualify instructional personnel and school 819 

administrators, as defined in s. 1012.01, from employment in any 820 

position that requires direct contact with students if the 821 

personnel or administrators are ineligible for such employment 822 

under s. 1012.315. 823 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì467400qÎ467400 

 

Page 30 of 76 

2/19/2018 5:42:27 PM 581-03354-18 

(b) Adopt and faithfully implement policies establishing 824 

standards of ethical conduct for instructional personnel and 825 

school administrators. The policies must require all 826 

instructional personnel and school administrators, as defined in 827 

s. 1012.01, to complete training on the standards; establish the 828 

duty of instructional personnel and school administrators to 829 

report, and procedures for reporting, alleged misconduct by 830 

other instructional personnel and school administrators which 831 

affects the health, safety, or welfare of a student; and include 832 

an explanation of the liability protections provided under ss. 833 

39.203 and 768.095. A private school, or any of its employees, 834 

may not enter into a confidentiality agreement regarding 835 

terminated or dismissed instructional personnel or school 836 

administrators, or personnel or administrators who resign in 837 

lieu of termination, based in whole or in part on misconduct 838 

that affects the health, safety, or welfare of a student, and 839 

may not provide the instructional personnel or school 840 

administrators with employment references or discuss the 841 

personnel’s or administrators’ performance with prospective 842 

employers in another educational setting, without disclosing the 843 

personnel’s or administrators’ misconduct. Any part of an 844 

agreement or contract that has the purpose or effect of 845 

concealing misconduct by instructional personnel or school 846 

administrators which affects the health, safety, or welfare of a 847 

student is void, is contrary to public policy, and may not be 848 

enforced. 849 

(c) Before employing instructional personnel or school 850 

administrators in any position that requires direct contact with 851 

students, conduct employment history checks of each of the 852 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì467400qÎ467400 

 

Page 31 of 76 

2/19/2018 5:42:27 PM 581-03354-18 

personnel’s or administrators’ previous employers, screen the 853 

personnel or administrators through use of the educator 854 

screening tools described in s. 1001.10(5), and document the 855 

findings. If unable to contact a previous employer, the private 856 

school must document efforts to contact the employer. 857 

 858 

The department shall suspend the payment of funds under this 859 

chapter ss. 1002.39 and 1002.395 to a private school that 860 

knowingly fails or refuses to comply with this subsection, and 861 

shall prohibit the school from enrolling new scholarship 862 

students, for 1 fiscal year and until the school complies. 863 

(5) The failure or refusal inability of a private school to 864 

meet the requirements of this section shall constitute a basis 865 

for the ineligibility of the private school to participate in a 866 

scholarship program as determined by the department. 867 

Additionally, a private school is ineligible to participate in a 868 

state scholarship program under this chapter if the owner or 869 

operator of the private school was a debtor in a voluntary or 870 

involuntary bankruptcy petition within the most recent 5 years. 871 

(7)(a) The department must annually visit at least 5 872 

percent, and may annually visit up to 7 percent, of the private 873 

schools that participate in the state scholarship programs under 874 

this chapter. Site visits required under subsection (8) are not 875 

included in the annual site visits authorized under this 876 

paragraph. 877 

(b) The purposes of the site visits are to verify 878 

compliance with the provisions of this section aimed at 879 

protecting the health, safety, and welfare of students and to 880 

verify the information reported by the schools concerning the 881 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì467400qÎ467400 

 

Page 32 of 76 

2/19/2018 5:42:27 PM 581-03354-18 

enrollment and attendance of students, the credentials of 882 

teachers, background screening of teachers, and teachers’ 883 

fingerprinting results, as required by rules of the State Board 884 

of Education and this section. 885 

(c) The department may make followup site visits at any 886 

time to any school that has received a notice of noncompliance 887 

or a notice of proposed action within the previous 2 years, or 888 

for a cause that affects the health, safety, and welfare of a 889 

student. 890 

(8)(a) The department shall visit each private school that 891 

notifies the department of the school’s intent to participate in 892 

a state scholarship program under this chapter. 893 

(b) The purpose of the site visit is to determine that the 894 

school meets the applicable state and local health, safety, and 895 

welfare codes and rules pursuant to this section. 896 

(9) The Division of State Fire Marshal shall annually 897 

provide to the department a fire safety inspection report, 898 

prepared by the local fire departments or by entities with whom 899 

they contract to perform fire safety inspections of private 900 

schools, for each private school that participates in a state 901 

scholarship program under this chapter. 902 

(10) If a private school that participates in a state 903 

scholarship program under this chapter receives more than 904 

$250,000 in funds from the scholarships awarded under this 905 

chapter in a state fiscal year, the school must provide to the 906 

department a report of the balance sheet and statement of income 907 

expenditures in accordance with generally accepted accounting 908 

procedures from an independent certified public accountant who 909 

performs the agreed-upon procedures. 910 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì467400qÎ467400 

 

Page 33 of 76 

2/19/2018 5:42:27 PM 581-03354-18 

(11)(7) The State Board of Education shall adopt rules 911 

pursuant to ss. 120.536(1) and 120.54 to administer and enforce 912 

this section. 913 

Section 11. Paragraph (d) of subsection (2) of section 914 

1003.41, Florida Statutes, is amended, and paragraph (f) is 915 

added to that subsection, to read: 916 

1003.41 Next Generation Sunshine State Standards.— 917 

(2) Next Generation Sunshine State Standards must meet the 918 

following requirements: 919 

(d) Social Studies standards must establish specific 920 

curricular content for, at a minimum, geography, United States 921 

and world history, government, civics, humanities, and 922 

economics, including financial literacy. Financial literacy 923 

includes the knowledge, understanding, skills, behaviors, 924 

attitudes, and values that will enable a student to make 925 

responsible and effective financial decisions on a daily basis. 926 

Financial literacy instruction shall be an integral part of 927 

instruction throughout the entire economics course and include 928 

information regarding earning income; buying goods and services; 929 

saving and financial investing; taxes; the use of credit and 930 

credit cards; budgeting and debt management, including student 931 

loans and secured loans; banking and financial services; 932 

planning for one’s financial future, including higher education 933 

and career planning; credit reports and scores; and fraud and 934 

identity theft prevention. The requirements for financial 935 

literacy specified under this paragraph do not apply to students 936 

entering grade 9 in the 2018-2019 school year and thereafter. 937 

(f) Effective for students entering grade 9 in the 2018-938 

2019 school year and thereafter, financial literacy standards 939 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì467400qÎ467400 

 

Page 34 of 76 

2/19/2018 5:42:27 PM 581-03354-18 

must establish specific curricular content for, at a minimum, 940 

personal financial literacy and money management. Financial 941 

literacy includes instruction in the areas specified in s. 942 

1003.4282(3)(h). 943 

Section 12. Paragraphs (d) and (g) of subsection (3) of 944 

section 1003.4282, Florida Statutes, are amended, and paragraph 945 

(h) is added to that subsection, to read: 946 

1003.4282 Requirements for a standard high school diploma.— 947 

(3) STANDARD HIGH SCHOOL DIPLOMA; COURSE AND ASSESSMENT 948 

REQUIREMENTS.— 949 

(d) Three credits in social studies.—A student must earn 950 

one credit in United States History; one credit in World 951 

History; one-half credit in economics, which must include 952 

financial literacy; and one-half credit in United States 953 

Government. The United States History EOC assessment constitutes 954 

30 percent of the student’s final course grade. However, for a 955 

student entering grade 9 in the 2018-2019 school year or 956 

thereafter, financial literacy is not a required component of 957 

the one-half credit in economics. 958 

(g) Eight Credits in Electives.—School districts must 959 

develop and offer coordinated electives so that a student may 960 

develop knowledge and skills in his or her area of interest, 961 

such as electives with a STEM or liberal arts focus. Such 962 

electives must include opportunities for students to earn 963 

college credit, including industry-certified career education 964 

programs or series of career-themed courses that result in 965 

industry certification or articulate into the award of college 966 

credit, or career education courses for which there is a 967 

statewide or local articulation agreement and which lead to 968 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì467400qÎ467400 

 

Page 35 of 76 

2/19/2018 5:42:27 PM 581-03354-18 

college credit. A student entering grade 9 before the 2018-2019 969 

school year must earn eight credits in electives. A student 970 

entering grade 9 in the 2018-2019 school year or thereafter must 971 

earn seven and one-half credits in electives. 972 

(h) One-half credit in personal financial literacy.—973 

Beginning with students entering grade 9 in the 2018-2019 school 974 

year, each student shall earn one-half credit in personal 975 

financial literacy and money management. This instruction must 976 

include discussion of or instruction in the following: 977 

1. Types of bank accounts offered, opening and managing a 978 

bank account, and assessing the quality of a depository 979 

institution’s services. 980 

2. Balancing a checkbook. 981 

3. Basic principles of money management, such as spending, 982 

credit, credit scores, and managing debt, including retail and 983 

credit card debt. 984 

4. Completing a loan application. 985 

5. Receiving an inheritance and related implications. 986 

6. Basic principles of personal insurance policies. 987 

7. Computing federal income taxes. 988 

8. Local tax assessments. 989 

9. Computing interest rates by various mechanisms. 990 

10. Simple contracts. 991 

11. Contesting an incorrect billing statement. 992 

12. Types of savings and investments. 993 

13. State and federal laws concerning finance. 994 

Section 13. Section 1006.061, Florida Statutes, is amended 995 

to read: 996 

1006.061 Child abuse, abandonment, and neglect policy.—Each 997 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì467400qÎ467400 

 

Page 36 of 76 

2/19/2018 5:42:27 PM 581-03354-18 

district school board, charter school, and private school that 998 

accepts scholarship students under s. 1002.385, s. 1002.39, or 999 

s. 1002.395, or another state scholarship program under chapter 1000 

1002 shall: 1001 

(1) Post in a prominent place in each school a notice that, 1002 

pursuant to chapter 39, all employees and agents of the district 1003 

school board, charter school, or private school have an 1004 

affirmative duty to report all actual or suspected cases of 1005 

child abuse, abandonment, or neglect; have immunity from 1006 

liability if they report such cases in good faith; and have a 1007 

duty to comply with child protective investigations and all 1008 

other provisions of law relating to child abuse, abandonment, 1009 

and neglect. The notice shall also include the statewide toll-1010 

free telephone number of the central abuse hotline. 1011 

(2) Post in a prominent place at each school site and on 1012 

each school’s Internet website, if available, the policies and 1013 

procedures for reporting alleged misconduct by instructional 1014 

personnel or school administrators which affects the health, 1015 

safety, or welfare of a student; the contact person to whom the 1016 

report is made; and the penalties imposed on instructional 1017 

personnel or school administrators who fail to report suspected 1018 

or actual child abuse or alleged misconduct by other 1019 

instructional personnel or school administrators. 1020 

(3) Require the principal of the charter school or private 1021 

school, or the district school superintendent, or the 1022 

superintendent’s designee, at the request of the Department of 1023 

Children and Families, to act as a liaison to the Department of 1024 

Children and Families and the child protection team, as defined 1025 

in s. 39.01, when in a case of suspected child abuse, 1026 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì467400qÎ467400 

 

Page 37 of 76 

2/19/2018 5:42:27 PM 581-03354-18 

abandonment, or neglect or an unlawful sexual offense involving 1027 

a child the case is referred to such a team; except that this 1028 

does not relieve or restrict the Department of Children and 1029 

Families from discharging its duty and responsibility under the 1030 

law to investigate and report every suspected or actual case of 1031 

child abuse, abandonment, or neglect or unlawful sexual offense 1032 

involving a child. 1033 

(4)(a) Post in a prominent place in a clearly visible 1034 

location and public area of the school which is readily 1035 

accessible to and widely used by students a sign in English and 1036 

Spanish that contains: 1037 

1. The statewide toll-free telephone number of the central 1038 

abuse hotline as provided in chapter 39; 1039 

2. Instructions to call 911 for emergencies; and 1040 

3. Directions for accessing the Department of Children and 1041 

Families Internet website for more information on reporting 1042 

abuse, neglect, and exploitation. 1043 

(b) The information in paragraph (a) must be put on at 1044 

least one poster in each school, on a sheet that measures at 1045 

least 11 inches by 17 inches, produced in large print, and 1046 

placed at student eye level for easy viewing. 1047 

 1048 

The Department of Education shall develop, and publish on the 1049 

department’s Internet website, sample notices suitable for 1050 

posting in accordance with subsections (1), (2), and (4). 1051 

Section 14. Section 1007.273, Florida Statutes, is amended 1052 

to read: 1053 

1007.273 Structured high school acceleration programs 1054 

Collegiate high school program.— 1055 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì467400qÎ467400 

 

Page 38 of 76 

2/19/2018 5:42:27 PM 581-03354-18 

(1) Each Florida College System institution shall work with 1056 

each district school board in its designated service area to 1057 

establish one or more structured programs, including, but not 1058 

limited to, collegiate high school programs. As used in this 1059 

section, the term “structured program” means a structured high 1060 

school acceleration program. 1061 

(1)(2) PURPOSE.—At a minimum, structured collegiate high 1062 

school programs must include an option for public school 1063 

students in grade 11 or grade 12 participating in the structured 1064 

program, for at least 1 full school year, to earn CAPE industry 1065 

certifications pursuant to s. 1008.44, and to successfully 1066 

complete at least 30 credit hours through the dual enrollment 1067 

program under s. 1007.271. The structured program must 1068 

prioritize dual enrollment courses that are applicable toward 1069 

general education core courses or common prerequisite course 1070 

requirements under s. 1007.25 over dual enrollment courses 1071 

applicable as electives toward at least the first year of 1072 

college for an associate degree or baccalaureate degree while 1073 

enrolled in the structured program. A district school board may 1074 

not limit the number of eligible public school students who may 1075 

enroll in such structured programs. 1076 

(2)(3) REQUIRED STRUCTURED PROGRAM CONTRACTS.— 1077 

(a) Each district school board and its local Florida 1078 

College System institution shall execute a contract to establish 1079 

one or more structured collegiate high school programs at a 1080 

mutually agreed upon location or locations. Beginning with the 1081 

2015-2016 school year, If the local Florida College System 1082 

institution does not establish a structured program with a 1083 

district school board in its designated service area, another 1084 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì467400qÎ467400 

 

Page 39 of 76 

2/19/2018 5:42:27 PM 581-03354-18 

Florida College System institution may execute a contract with 1085 

that district school board to establish the structured program. 1086 

The contract must be executed by January 1 of each school year 1087 

for implementation of the structured program during the next 1088 

school year. By August 1, 2018, a contract entered into before 1089 

January 1, 2018, for the 2018-2019 school year must be modified 1090 

to include the provisions of paragraph (b). 1091 

(b) The contract must: 1092 

1.(a) Identify the grade levels to be included in the 1093 

structured collegiate high school program; which must, at a 1094 

minimum, include grade 12. 1095 

2.(b) Describe the structured collegiate high school 1096 

program, including a list of the meta-major academic pathways 1097 

approved pursuant to s. 1008.30(4), which are available to 1098 

participating students through the partner Florida College 1099 

System institution or other eligible partner postsecondary 1100 

institutions; the delineation of courses that must, at a 1101 

minimum, include general education core courses and common 1102 

prerequisite course requirements pursuant to s. 1007.25; and 1103 

industry certifications offered, including online course 1104 

availability; the high school and college credits earned for 1105 

each postsecondary course completed and industry certification 1106 

earned; student eligibility criteria; and the enrollment process 1107 

and relevant deadlines;. 1108 

3.(c) Describe the methods, medium, and process by which 1109 

students and their parents are annually informed about the 1110 

availability of the structured collegiate high school program, 1111 

the return on investment associated with participation in the 1112 

structured program, and the information described in 1113 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì467400qÎ467400 

 

Page 40 of 76 

2/19/2018 5:42:27 PM 581-03354-18 

subparagraphs 1. and 2.; paragraphs (a) and (b). 1114 

4.(d) Identify the delivery methods for instruction and the 1115 

instructors for all courses;. 1116 

5.(e) Identify student advising services and progress 1117 

monitoring mechanisms;. 1118 

6.(f) Establish a program review and reporting mechanism 1119 

regarding student performance outcomes; and. 1120 

7.(g) Describe the terms of funding arrangements to 1121 

implement the structured collegiate high school program pursuant 1122 

to paragraph (5)(a). 1123 

(3) STUDENT PERFORMANCE CONTRACT AND NOTIFICATION.— 1124 

(a)(4) Each student participating in a structured 1125 

collegiate high school program must enter into a student 1126 

performance contract which must be signed by the student, the 1127 

parent, and a representative of the school district and the 1128 

applicable Florida College System institution, state university, 1129 

or other institution participating pursuant to subsection (4) 1130 

(5). The performance contract must, at a minimum, specify 1131 

include the schedule of courses, by semester, and industry 1132 

certifications to be taken by the student, if any; student 1133 

attendance requirements;, and course grade requirements; and the 1134 

applicability of such courses to an associate degree or a 1135 

baccalaureate degree. 1136 

(b) By September 1 of each school year, each district 1137 

school board must notify each student enrolled in grades 9, 10, 1138 

11, and 12 in a public school within the school district about 1139 

the structured program, including, but not limited to: 1140 

1. The method for earning college credit through 1141 

participation in the structured program. The notification must 1142 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì467400qÎ467400 

 

Page 41 of 76 

2/19/2018 5:42:27 PM 581-03354-18 

include website links to the dual enrollment course equivalency 1143 

list approved by the State Board of Education; the common degree 1144 

program prerequisite requirements published by the Articulation 1145 

Coordinating Committee pursuant to s. 1007.01(3)(f); the 1146 

industry certification articulation agreements adopted by the 1147 

State Board of Education in rule; and the approved meta-major 1148 

academic pathways of the partner Florida College System 1149 

institution and other eligible partner postsecondary 1150 

institutions participating pursuant to subsection (4); and 1151 

2. The estimated cost savings to students and their 1152 

families resulting from students successfully completing 30 1153 

credit hours applicable toward general education core courses or 1154 

common prerequisite course requirements before graduating from 1155 

high school versus the cost of earning such credit hours after 1156 

graduating from high school. 1157 

(4)(5) AUTHORIZED STRUCTURED PROGRAM CONTRACTS.—In addition 1158 

to executing a contract with the local Florida College System 1159 

institution under this section, a district school board may 1160 

execute a contract to establish a structured collegiate high 1161 

school program with a state university or an institution that is 1162 

eligible to participate in the William L. Boyd, IV, Florida 1163 

Resident Access Grant Program, that is a nonprofit independent 1164 

college or university located and chartered in this state, and 1165 

that is accredited by the Commission on Colleges of the Southern 1166 

Association of Colleges and Schools to grant baccalaureate 1167 

degrees. Such university or institution must meet the 1168 

requirements specified under subsections (2) (3) and (3). A 1169 

charter school may execute a contract directly with the local 1170 

Florida College System institution or another institution as 1171 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì467400qÎ467400 

 

Page 42 of 76 

2/19/2018 5:42:27 PM 581-03354-18 

authorized under this section to establish a structured program 1172 

at a mutually agreed upon location (4). 1173 

(5) FUNDING.— 1174 

(a)(6) The structured collegiate high school program shall 1175 

be funded pursuant to ss. 1007.271 and 1011.62. The State Board 1176 

of Education shall enforce compliance with this section by 1177 

withholding the transfer of funds for the school districts and 1178 

the Florida College System institutions in accordance with s. 1179 

1008.32. Annually, by December 31, the State Board of Education 1180 

shall enforce compliance with this section by withholding the 1181 

transfer of funds for the Florida College System institutions in 1182 

accordance with s. 1008.32 1183 

(b) A student who enrolls in the structured program and 1184 

successfully completes at least 30 college credit hours during a 1185 

school year through the dual enrollment program under s. 1186 

1007.271 generates a 0.5 full-time equivalent (FTE) bonus. A 1187 

student who enrolls in the structured program and successfully 1188 

completes an additional 30 college credit hours during a school 1189 

year, resulting in at least 60 college credit hours through the 1190 

dual enrollment program under s. 1007.271 applicable toward 1191 

fulfilling the requirements for an associate in arts degree or 1192 

an associate in science degree or a baccalaureate degree 1193 

pursuant to the student performance contract under subsection 1194 

(3), before graduating from high school, generates an additional 1195 

0.5 FTE bonus. Each district school board that is a contractual 1196 

partner with a Florida College System institution or other 1197 

eligible postsecondary institution shall report to the 1198 

commissioner the total FTE bonus for each structured program for 1199 

the students from that school district. The total FTE bonus 1200 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì467400qÎ467400 

 

Page 43 of 76 

2/19/2018 5:42:27 PM 581-03354-18 

shall be added to each school district’s total weighted FTE for 1201 

funding in the subsequent fiscal year. 1202 

(c) For any industry certification a student attains under 1203 

this section, the FTE bonus shall be calculated and awarded in 1204 

accordance with s. 1011.62(1)(o). 1205 

(6) REPORTING REQUIREMENTS.— 1206 

(a) By September 1 of each school year, each district 1207 

school superintendent shall report to the commissioner, at a 1208 

minimum, the following information on each structured program 1209 

administered during the prior school year: 1210 

1. The number of students in public schools within the 1211 

school district who enrolled in the structured program, and the 1212 

partnering postsecondary institutions pursuant to subsections 1213 

(2) and (4); 1214 

2. The total and average number of dual enrollment courses 1215 

completed, high school and college credits earned, standard high 1216 

school diplomas and associate and baccalaureate degrees awarded, 1217 

and the number of industry certifications attained, if any, by 1218 

the students who enrolled in the structured program; 1219 

3. The projected student enrollment in the structured 1220 

program during the next school year; and 1221 

4. Any barriers to executing contracts to establish one or 1222 

more structured programs. 1223 

(b) By November 30 of each school year, the commissioner 1224 

must report to the Governor, the President of the Senate, and 1225 

the Speaker of the House of Representatives the status of 1226 

structured programs, including, at a minimum, a summary of 1227 

student enrollment and completion information pursuant to this 1228 

subsection; barriers, if any, to establishing such programs; and 1229 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì467400qÎ467400 

 

Page 44 of 76 

2/19/2018 5:42:27 PM 581-03354-18 

recommendations for expanding access to such programs statewide. 1230 

Section 15. Paragraph (c) of subsection (3) and subsection 1231 

(4) of section 1008.33, Florida Statutes, are amended to read: 1232 

1008.33 Authority to enforce public school improvement.— 1233 

(3) 1234 

(c) The state board shall adopt by rule a differentiated 1235 

matrix of intervention and support strategies for assisting 1236 

traditional public schools identified under this section and 1237 

rules for implementing s. 1002.33(9)(n), relating to charter 1238 

schools. 1239 

1. The intervention and support strategies must address 1240 

efforts to improve student performance through one or more of 1241 

the following strategies: and may include 1242 

a. Improvement planning; 1243 

b. Leadership quality improvement; 1244 

c. Educator quality improvement; 1245 

d. Professional development; 1246 

e. Curriculum review, pacing, and alignment across grade 1247 

levels to improve background knowledge in social studies, 1248 

science, and the arts; and 1249 

f. The use of continuous improvement and monitoring plans 1250 

and processes. 1251 

2. In addition, The state board may prescribe reporting 1252 

requirements to review and monitor the progress of the schools. 1253 

The rule must define the intervention and support strategies for 1254 

school improvement for schools earning a grade of “D” or “F” and 1255 

the roles for the district and department. 1256 

(4)(a) The state board shall apply intensive intervention 1257 

and support strategies tailored to the needs of schools earning 1258 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì467400qÎ467400 

 

Page 45 of 76 

2/19/2018 5:42:27 PM 581-03354-18 

two consecutive grades of “D” or a grade of “F.” In the first 1259 

full school year after a school initially earns two consecutive 1260 

grades of “D” or a grade of “F,” the school district must 1261 

immediately implement intervention and support strategies 1262 

prescribed in rule under paragraph (3)(c) and, by September 1, 1263 

provide the department with the memorandum of understanding 1264 

negotiated pursuant to s. 1001.42(21) and, by October 1, a 1265 

district-managed turnaround plan for approval by the state 1266 

board. The district-managed turnaround plan may include a 1267 

proposal for the district to implement an extended school day, a 1268 

summer program, or a combination of an extended school day and 1269 

summer program. Upon approval by the state board, the school 1270 

district must implement the plan for the remainder of the school 1271 

year and continue the plan for 1 full school year. The state 1272 

board may allow a school an additional year of implementation 1273 

before the school must implement a turnaround option required 1274 

under paragraph (b) if it determines that the school is likely 1275 

to improve to a grade of “C” or higher after the first full 1276 

school year of implementation. 1277 

(b) Unless an additional year of implementation is provided 1278 

pursuant to paragraph (a), a school that has completed 2 school 1279 

years of a district-managed turnaround plan required under 1280 

paragraph (a) and has not improved its school grade to a “C” or 1281 

higher, pursuant to s. 1008.34, earns three consecutive grades 1282 

below a “C” must implement one of the following options: 1283 

1. Reassign students to another school and monitor the 1284 

progress of each reassigned student.; 1285 

2. Close the school and reopen the school as one or more 1286 

charter schools, each with a governing board that has a 1287 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì467400qÎ467400 

 

Page 46 of 76 

2/19/2018 5:42:27 PM 581-03354-18 

demonstrated record of effectiveness. Such charter schools are 1288 

eligible for funding from the hope supplemental services 1289 

allocation established by s. 1011.62(16).; or 1290 

3. Contract with an outside entity that has a demonstrated 1291 

record of effectiveness to operate the school. An outside entity 1292 

may include: 1293 

a. A district-managed charter school in which all 1294 

instructional personnel are not employees of the school 1295 

district, but are employees of an independent governing board 1296 

composed of members who did not participate in the review or 1297 

approval of the charter. A district-managed charter school is 1298 

eligible for funding from the hope supplemental services 1299 

allocation established by s. 1011.62(16); or 1300 

b. A hope operator that submits to a school district a 1301 

notice of intent of a performance-based agreement pursuant to s. 1302 

1002.333. A school of hope established pursuant to this sub-1303 

subparagraph is eligible for funding from the hope supplemental 1304 

services allocation for up to 5 years, beginning in the school 1305 

year in which the school of hope is established, if the school 1306 

of hope: 1307 

(I) Is established at the district-owned facilities of the 1308 

persistently low-performing school; 1309 

(II) Gives priority enrollment to students who are enrolled 1310 

in, or are eligible to attend and are living in the attendance 1311 

area of, the persistently low-performing school that the school 1312 

of hope operates, consistent with the enrollment lottery 1313 

exemption provided under s. 1002.333(5)(c); and 1314 

(III) Meets the requirements of its performance-based 1315 

agreement pursuant to s. 1002.333. 1316 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì467400qÎ467400 

 

Page 47 of 76 

2/19/2018 5:42:27 PM 581-03354-18 

4. Implement a franchise model school in which a highly 1317 

effective principal, pursuant to s. 1012.34, leads the 1318 

persistently low-performing school in addition to the 1319 

principal’s currently assigned school. The franchise model 1320 

school principal may allocate resources and personnel between 1321 

the schools he or she leads. The persistently low-performing 1322 

school is eligible for funding from the hope supplemental 1323 

services allocation established under s. 1011.62(16). 1324 

(c) Implementation of the turnaround option is no longer 1325 

required if the school improves to a grade of “C” or higher. 1326 

(d) If a school earning two consecutive grades of “D” or a 1327 

grade of “F” does not improve to a grade of “C” or higher after 1328 

2 full school years of implementing the turnaround option 1329 

selected by the school district under paragraph (b), the school 1330 

district must implement another turnaround option. 1331 

Implementation of the turnaround option must begin the school 1332 

year following the implementation period of the existing 1333 

turnaround option, unless the state board determines that the 1334 

school is likely to improve to a grade of “C” or higher if 1335 

additional time is provided to implement the existing turnaround 1336 

option. 1337 

Section 16. Present subsections (16) and (17) of section 1338 

1011.62, Florida Statutes, are redesignated as subsections (19) 1339 

and (20), respectively, new subsections (16) and (17) and 1340 

subsection (18) are added to that section, and paragraph (a) of 1341 

subsection (4) and subsection (14) of that section are amended, 1342 

to read: 1343 

1011.62 Funds for operation of schools.—If the annual 1344 

allocation from the Florida Education Finance Program to each 1345 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì467400qÎ467400 

 

Page 48 of 76 

2/19/2018 5:42:27 PM 581-03354-18 

district for operation of schools is not determined in the 1346 

annual appropriations act or the substantive bill implementing 1347 

the annual appropriations act, it shall be determined as 1348 

follows: 1349 

(4) COMPUTATION OF DISTRICT REQUIRED LOCAL EFFORT.—The 1350 

Legislature shall prescribe the aggregate required local effort 1351 

for all school districts collectively as an item in the General 1352 

Appropriations Act for each fiscal year. The amount that each 1353 

district shall provide annually toward the cost of the Florida 1354 

Education Finance Program for kindergarten through grade 12 1355 

programs shall be calculated as follows: 1356 

(a) Estimated taxable value calculations.— 1357 

1.a. Not later than 2 working days before July 19, the 1358 

Department of Revenue shall certify to the Commissioner of 1359 

Education its most recent estimate of the taxable value for 1360 

school purposes in each school district and the total for all 1361 

school districts in the state for the current calendar year 1362 

based on the latest available data obtained from the local 1363 

property appraisers. The value certified shall be the taxable 1364 

value for school purposes for that year, and no further 1365 

adjustments shall be made, except those made pursuant to 1366 

paragraphs (c) and (d), or an assessment roll change required by 1367 

final judicial decisions as specified in paragraph (19)(b) 1368 

(16)(b). Not later than July 19, the Commissioner of Education 1369 

shall compute a millage rate, rounded to the next highest one 1370 

one-thousandth of a mill, which, when applied to 96 percent of 1371 

the estimated state total taxable value for school purposes, 1372 

would generate the prescribed aggregate required local effort 1373 

for that year for all districts. The Commissioner of Education 1374 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì467400qÎ467400 

 

Page 49 of 76 

2/19/2018 5:42:27 PM 581-03354-18 

shall certify to each district school board the millage rate, 1375 

computed as prescribed in this subparagraph, as the minimum 1376 

millage rate necessary to provide the district required local 1377 

effort for that year. 1378 

b. The General Appropriations Act shall direct the 1379 

computation of the statewide adjusted aggregate amount for 1380 

required local effort for all school districts collectively from 1381 

ad valorem taxes to ensure that no school district’s revenue 1382 

from required local effort millage will produce more than 90 1383 

percent of the district’s total Florida Education Finance 1384 

Program calculation as calculated and adopted by the 1385 

Legislature, and the adjustment of the required local effort 1386 

millage rate of each district that produces more than 90 percent 1387 

of its total Florida Education Finance Program entitlement to a 1388 

level that will produce only 90 percent of its total Florida 1389 

Education Finance Program entitlement in the July calculation. 1390 

2. On the same date as the certification in sub-1391 

subparagraph 1.a., the Department of Revenue shall certify to 1392 

the Commissioner of Education for each district: 1393 

a. Each year for which the property appraiser has certified 1394 

the taxable value pursuant to s. 193.122(2) or (3), if 1395 

applicable, since the prior certification under sub-subparagraph 1396 

1.a. 1397 

b. For each year identified in sub-subparagraph a., the 1398 

taxable value certified by the appraiser pursuant to s. 1399 

193.122(2) or (3), if applicable, since the prior certification 1400 

under sub-subparagraph 1.a. This is the certification that 1401 

reflects all final administrative actions of the value 1402 

adjustment board. 1403 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì467400qÎ467400 

 

Page 50 of 76 

2/19/2018 5:42:27 PM 581-03354-18 

(14) QUALITY ASSURANCE GUARANTEE.—The Legislature may 1404 

annually in the General Appropriations Act determine a 1405 

percentage increase in funds per K-12 unweighted FTE as a 1406 

minimum guarantee to each school district. The guarantee shall 1407 

be calculated from prior year base funding per unweighted FTE 1408 

student which shall include the adjusted FTE dollars as provided 1409 

in subsection (19) (16), quality guarantee funds, and actual 1410 

nonvoted discretionary local effort from taxes. From the base 1411 

funding per unweighted FTE, the increase shall be calculated for 1412 

the current year. The current year funds from which the 1413 

guarantee shall be determined shall include the adjusted FTE 1414 

dollars as provided in subsection (19) (16) and potential 1415 

nonvoted discretionary local effort from taxes. A comparison of 1416 

current year funds per unweighted FTE to prior year funds per 1417 

unweighted FTE shall be computed. For those school districts 1418 

which have less than the legislatively assigned percentage 1419 

increase, funds shall be provided to guarantee the assigned 1420 

percentage increase in funds per unweighted FTE student. Should 1421 

appropriated funds be less than the sum of this calculated 1422 

amount for all districts, the commissioner shall prorate each 1423 

district’s allocation. This provision shall be implemented to 1424 

the extent specifically funded. 1425 

(16) HOPE SUPPLEMENTAL SERVICES ALLOCATION.-The hope 1426 

supplemental services allocation is created to provide district-1427 

managed turnaround schools, as required under s. 1008.33(4)(a), 1428 

charter schools authorized under s. 1008.33(4)(b)2., district-1429 

managed charter schools authorized under s. 1008.33(4)(b)3.a., 1430 

schools of hope authorized under s. 1008.33(4)(b)3.b., and 1431 

franchise model schools as authorized under s. 1008.33(4)(b)4., 1432 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì467400qÎ467400 

 

Page 51 of 76 

2/19/2018 5:42:27 PM 581-03354-18 

with funds to offer services designed to improve the overall 1433 

academic and community welfare of the schools’ students and 1434 

their families. 1435 

(a) Services funded by the allocation may include, but are 1436 

not limited to, tutorial and after-school programs, student 1437 

counseling, nutrition education, and parental counseling. In 1438 

addition, services may also include models that develop a 1439 

culture that encourages students to complete high school and to 1440 

attend college or career training, set high academic 1441 

expectations, inspire character development, and include an 1442 

extended school day and school year. 1443 

(b) Prior to distribution of the allocation, a school 1444 

district, for a district turnaround school and persistently low-1445 

performing schools that use a franchise model; a hope operator, 1446 

for a school of hope; or the charter school governing board for 1447 

a charter school, as applicable, shall develop and submit a plan 1448 

for implementation to its respective governing body for approval 1449 

no later than August 1 of the fiscal year. 1450 

(c) At a minimum, the plans required under paragraph (b) 1451 

must: 1452 

1. Establish comprehensive support services that develop 1453 

family and community partnerships; 1454 

2. Establish clearly defined and measurable high academic 1455 

and character standards; 1456 

3. Increase parental involvement and engagement in the 1457 

child’s education; 1458 

4. Describe how instructional personnel will be identified, 1459 

recruited, retained, and rewarded; 1460 

5. Provide professional development that focuses on 1461 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì467400qÎ467400 

 

Page 52 of 76 

2/19/2018 5:42:27 PM 581-03354-18 

academic rigor, direct instruction, and creating high academic 1462 

and character standards; and 1463 

6. Provide focused instruction to improve student academic 1464 

proficiency, which may include additional instruction time 1465 

beyond the normal school day or school year. 1466 

(d) Each school district and hope operator shall submit 1467 

approved plans to the commissioner by September 1 of each fiscal 1468 

year. 1469 

(e) For the 2018-2019 fiscal year, a school that is 1470 

selected to receive funding in the 2017-2018 fiscal year 1471 

pursuant to s. 1002.333(10)(c) shall receive $2,000 per FTE. A 1472 

district-managed turnaround school required under s. 1473 

1008.33(4)(a), charter school authorized under s. 1474 

1008.33(4)(b)2., district-managed charter school authorized 1475 

under s. 1008.33(4)(b)3.a., school of hope authorized under s. 1476 

1008.33(4)(b)3.b., and franchise model school authorized under 1477 

s. 1008.33(4)(b)4. are eligible for the remaining funds based on 1478 

the school’s unweighted FTE, up to $2,000 per FTE or as provided 1479 

in the General Appropriations Act. 1480 

(f) For the 2019-2020 fiscal year and thereafter, each 1481 

school district’s allocation shall be based on the unweighted 1482 

FTE student enrollment at the eligible schools and a per-FTE 1483 

funding amount of up to $2,000 per FTE or as provided in the 1484 

General Appropriations Act. If the calculated funds for 1485 

unweighted FTE student enrollment at the eligible schools exceed 1486 

the per-FTE funds appropriated, the allocation of funds to each 1487 

school district must be prorated based on each school district’s 1488 

share of the total unweighted FTE student enrollment for the 1489 

eligible schools. 1490 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì467400qÎ467400 

 

Page 53 of 76 

2/19/2018 5:42:27 PM 581-03354-18 

(17) MENTAL HEALTH ASSISTANCE ALLOCATION.—The mental health 1491 

assistance allocation is created to provide supplemental funding 1492 

to assist school districts in establishing or expanding 1493 

comprehensive school-based mental health programs that increase 1494 

awareness of mental health issues among children and school-age 1495 

youth; train educators and other school staff in detecting and 1496 

responding to mental health issues; and connect children, youth, 1497 

and families who may experience behavioral health issues with 1498 

appropriate services. These funds may be allocated annually in 1499 

the General Appropriations Act to each eligible school district 1500 

and developmental research school based on each entity’s 1501 

proportionate share of Florida Education Finance Program base 1502 

funding. The district funding allocation must include a minimum 1503 

amount as specified in the General Appropriations Act. Upon 1504 

submission and approval of a plan that includes the elements 1505 

specified in paragraph (b), charter schools are also entitled to 1506 

a proportionate share of district funding for this program. The 1507 

allocated funds may not supplant funds that are provided for 1508 

this purpose from other operating funds and may not be used to 1509 

increase salaries or provide bonuses. 1510 

(a) Prior to the distribution of the allocation: 1511 

1. The district must annually develop and submit a detailed 1512 

plan outlining the local program and planned expenditures to the 1513 

district school board for approval. 1514 

2. A charter school must annually develop and submit a 1515 

detailed plan outlining the local program and planned 1516 

expenditures of the funds in the plan to its governing body for 1517 

approval. After the plan is approved by the governing body, it 1518 

must be provided to its school district for submission to the 1519 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì467400qÎ467400 

 

Page 54 of 76 

2/19/2018 5:42:27 PM 581-03354-18 

commissioner. 1520 

(b) The plans required under paragraph (a) must include, at 1521 

a minimum, all of the following elements: 1522 

1. A collaborative effort or partnership between the school 1523 

district and at least one local community program or agency 1524 

involved in mental health to provide or to improve prevention, 1525 

diagnosis, and treatment services for students; 1526 

2. Programs to assist students in dealing with bullying, 1527 

trauma, and violence; 1528 

3. Strategies or programs to reduce the likelihood of at-1529 

risk students developing social, emotional, or behavioral health 1530 

problems or substance use disorders; 1531 

4. Strategies to improve the early identification of 1532 

social, emotional, or behavioral problems or substance use 1533 

disorders and to improve the provision of early intervention 1534 

services; 1535 

5. Strategies to enhance the availability of school-based 1536 

crisis intervention services and appropriate referrals for 1537 

students in need of mental health services; and 1538 

6. Training opportunities for school personnel in the 1539 

techniques and supports needed to identify students who have 1540 

trauma histories and who have or are at risk of having a mental 1541 

illness, and in the use of referral mechanisms that effectively 1542 

link such students to appropriate treatment and intervention 1543 

services in the school and in the community. 1544 

(c) The districts shall submit approved plans to the 1545 

commissioner by August 1 of each fiscal year. 1546 

(d) Beginning September 30, 2019, and by each September 30 1547 

thereafter, each entity that receives an allocation under this 1548 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì467400qÎ467400 

 

Page 55 of 76 

2/19/2018 5:42:27 PM 581-03354-18 

subsection shall submit to the commissioner, in a format 1549 

prescribed by the department, a final report on its program 1550 

outcomes and its expenditures for each element of the program. 1551 

(18) FUNDING COMPRESSION ALLOCATION.—The Legislature may 1552 

provide an annual funding compression allocation in the General 1553 

Appropriations Act. The allocation is created to provide 1554 

additional funding to school districts and developmental 1555 

research schools whose total funds per FTE in the prior year 1556 

were less than the statewide average. Using the most recent 1557 

prior year FEFP calculation for each eligible school district, 1558 

the total funds per FTE shall be subtracted from the state 1559 

average funds per FTE, not including any adjustments made 1560 

pursuant to paragraph (19)(b). The resulting funds per FTE 1561 

difference, or a portion thereof, as designated in the General 1562 

Appropriations Act, shall then be multiplied by the school 1563 

district’s total unweighted FTE to provide the allocation. If 1564 

the calculated funds are greater than the amount included in the 1565 

General Appropriations Act, they must be prorated to the 1566 

appropriation amount based on each participating school 1567 

district’s share. 1568 

Section 17. Subsection (5) of section 1011.69, Florida 1569 

Statutes, is amended to read: 1570 

1011.69 Equity in School-Level Funding Act.— 1571 

(5) After providing Title I, Part A, Basic funds to schools 1572 

above the 75 percent poverty threshold, which may include high 1573 

schools above the 50 percent threshold as allowed by federal 1574 

law, school districts shall provide any remaining Title I, Part 1575 

A, Basic funds directly to all eligible schools as provided in 1576 

this subsection. For purposes of this subsection, an eligible 1577 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì467400qÎ467400 

 

Page 56 of 76 

2/19/2018 5:42:27 PM 581-03354-18 

school is a school that is eligible to receive Title I funds, 1578 

including a charter school. The threshold for identifying 1579 

eligible schools may not exceed the threshold established by a 1580 

school district for the 2016-2017 school year or the statewide 1581 

percentage of economically disadvantaged students, as determined 1582 

annually. 1583 

(a) Prior to the allocation of Title I funds to eligible 1584 

schools, a school district may withhold funds only as follows: 1585 

1. One percent for parent involvement, in addition to the 1586 

one percent the district must reserve under federal law for 1587 

allocations to eligible schools for parent involvement; 1588 

2. A necessary and reasonable amount for administration;, 1589 

3. which includes The district’s approved indirect cost 1590 

rate, not to exceed a total of 8 percent; and 1591 

4.3. A reasonable and necessary amount to provide: 1592 

a. Homeless programs; 1593 

b. Delinquent and neglected programs; 1594 

c. Prekindergarten programs and activities; 1595 

d. Private school equitable services; and 1596 

e. Transportation for foster care children to their school 1597 

of origin or choice programs; and. 1598 

5. A necessary and reasonable amount for eligible schools 1599 

to provide: 1600 

a. Extended learning opportunities, such as summer school, 1601 

before-school and after-school programs, and additional class 1602 

periods of instruction during the school day; and 1603 

b. Supplemental academic and enrichment services, staff 1604 

development, and planning and curriculum, as well as wrap-around 1605 

services. 1606 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì467400qÎ467400 

 

Page 57 of 76 

2/19/2018 5:42:27 PM 581-03354-18 

(b) All remaining Title I funds shall be distributed to all 1607 

eligible schools in accordance with federal law and regulation. 1608 

To maximize the efficient use of resources, school districts may 1609 

allow eligible schools, not including charter schools, to An 1610 

eligible school may use funds under this subsection for 1611 

district-level to participate in discretionary educational 1612 

services provided by the school district. 1613 

Section 18. Subsection (5) of section 1011.71, Florida 1614 

Statutes, is amended to read: 1615 

1011.71 District school tax.— 1616 

(5) Effective July 1, 2008, A school district may expend, 1617 

subject to the provisions of s. 200.065, up to $150 $100 per 1618 

unweighted full-time equivalent student from the revenue 1619 

generated by the millage levy authorized by subsection (2) to 1620 

fund, in addition to expenditures authorized in paragraphs 1621 

(2)(a)-(j), expenses for the following: 1622 

(a) The purchase, lease-purchase, or lease of driver’s 1623 

education vehicles; motor vehicles used for the maintenance or 1624 

operation of plants and equipment; security vehicles; or 1625 

vehicles used in storing or distributing materials and 1626 

equipment. 1627 

(b) Payment of the cost of premiums, as defined in s. 1628 

627.403, for property and casualty insurance necessary to insure 1629 

school district educational and ancillary plants. As used in 1630 

this paragraph, casualty insurance has the same meaning as in s. 1631 

624.605(1)(d), (f), (g), (h), and (m). Operating revenues that 1632 

are made available through the payment of property and casualty 1633 

insurance premiums from revenues generated under this subsection 1634 

may be expended only for nonrecurring operational expenditures 1635 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì467400qÎ467400 

 

Page 58 of 76 

2/19/2018 5:42:27 PM 581-03354-18 

of the school district. 1636 

Section 19. Section 1012.315, Florida Statutes, is amended 1637 

to read: 1638 

1012.315 Disqualification from employment.—A person is 1639 

ineligible for educator certification, and instructional 1640 

personnel and school administrators, as defined in s. 1012.01, 1641 

are ineligible for employment in any position that requires 1642 

direct contact with students in a district school system, 1643 

charter school, or private school that accepts scholarship 1644 

students under s. 1002.385, s. 1002.39, or s. 1002.395, or 1645 

another state scholarship program under chapter 1002, if the 1646 

person, instructional personnel, or school administrator has 1647 

been convicted of: 1648 

(1) Any felony offense prohibited under any of the 1649 

following statutes: 1650 

(a) Section 393.135, relating to sexual misconduct with 1651 

certain developmentally disabled clients and reporting of such 1652 

sexual misconduct. 1653 

(b) Section 394.4593, relating to sexual misconduct with 1654 

certain mental health patients and reporting of such sexual 1655 

misconduct. 1656 

(c) Section 415.111, relating to adult abuse, neglect, or 1657 

exploitation of aged persons or disabled adults. 1658 

(d) Section 782.04, relating to murder. 1659 

(e) Section 782.07, relating to manslaughter, aggravated 1660 

manslaughter of an elderly person or disabled adult, aggravated 1661 

manslaughter of a child, or aggravated manslaughter of an 1662 

officer, a firefighter, an emergency medical technician, or a 1663 

paramedic. 1664 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì467400qÎ467400 

 

Page 59 of 76 

2/19/2018 5:42:27 PM 581-03354-18 

(f) Section 784.021, relating to aggravated assault. 1665 

(g) Section 784.045, relating to aggravated battery. 1666 

(h) Section 784.075, relating to battery on a detention or 1667 

commitment facility staff member or a juvenile probation 1668 

officer. 1669 

(i) Section 787.01, relating to kidnapping. 1670 

(j) Section 787.02, relating to false imprisonment. 1671 

(k) Section 787.025, relating to luring or enticing a 1672 

child. 1673 

(l) Section 787.04(2), relating to leading, taking, 1674 

enticing, or removing a minor beyond the state limits, or 1675 

concealing the location of a minor, with criminal intent pending 1676 

custody proceedings. 1677 

(m) Section 787.04(3), relating to leading, taking, 1678 

enticing, or removing a minor beyond the state limits, or 1679 

concealing the location of a minor, with criminal intent pending 1680 

dependency proceedings or proceedings concerning alleged abuse 1681 

or neglect of a minor. 1682 

(n) Section 790.115(1), relating to exhibiting firearms or 1683 

weapons at a school-sponsored event, on school property, or 1684 

within 1,000 feet of a school. 1685 

(o) Section 790.115(2)(b), relating to possessing an 1686 

electric weapon or device, destructive device, or other weapon 1687 

at a school-sponsored event or on school property. 1688 

(p) Section 794.011, relating to sexual battery. 1689 

(q) Former s. 794.041, relating to sexual activity with or 1690 

solicitation of a child by a person in familial or custodial 1691 

authority. 1692 

(r) Section 794.05, relating to unlawful sexual activity 1693 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì467400qÎ467400 

 

Page 60 of 76 

2/19/2018 5:42:27 PM 581-03354-18 

with certain minors. 1694 

(s) Section 794.08, relating to female genital mutilation. 1695 

(t) Chapter 796, relating to prostitution. 1696 

(u) Chapter 800, relating to lewdness and indecent 1697 

exposure. 1698 

(v) Section 806.01, relating to arson. 1699 

(w) Section 810.14, relating to voyeurism. 1700 

(x) Section 810.145, relating to video voyeurism. 1701 

(y) Section 812.014(6), relating to coordinating the 1702 

commission of theft in excess of $3,000. 1703 

(z) Section 812.0145, relating to theft from persons 65 1704 

years of age or older. 1705 

(aa) Section 812.019, relating to dealing in stolen 1706 

property. 1707 

(bb) Section 812.13, relating to robbery. 1708 

(cc) Section 812.131, relating to robbery by sudden 1709 

snatching. 1710 

(dd) Section 812.133, relating to carjacking. 1711 

(ee) Section 812.135, relating to home-invasion robbery. 1712 

(ff) Section 817.563, relating to fraudulent sale of 1713 

controlled substances. 1714 

(gg) Section 825.102, relating to abuse, aggravated abuse, 1715 

or neglect of an elderly person or disabled adult. 1716 

(hh) Section 825.103, relating to exploitation of an 1717 

elderly person or disabled adult. 1718 

(ii) Section 825.1025, relating to lewd or lascivious 1719 

offenses committed upon or in the presence of an elderly person 1720 

or disabled person. 1721 

(jj) Section 826.04, relating to incest. 1722 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì467400qÎ467400 

 

Page 61 of 76 

2/19/2018 5:42:27 PM 581-03354-18 

(kk) Section 827.03, relating to child abuse, aggravated 1723 

child abuse, or neglect of a child. 1724 

(ll) Section 827.04, relating to contributing to the 1725 

delinquency or dependency of a child. 1726 

(mm) Section 827.071, relating to sexual performance by a 1727 

child. 1728 

(nn) Section 843.01, relating to resisting arrest with 1729 

violence. 1730 

(oo) Chapter 847, relating to obscenity. 1731 

(pp) Section 874.05, relating to causing, encouraging, 1732 

soliciting, or recruiting another to join a criminal street 1733 

gang. 1734 

(qq) Chapter 893, relating to drug abuse prevention and 1735 

control, if the offense was a felony of the second degree or 1736 

greater severity. 1737 

(rr) Section 916.1075, relating to sexual misconduct with 1738 

certain forensic clients and reporting of such sexual 1739 

misconduct. 1740 

(ss) Section 944.47, relating to introduction, removal, or 1741 

possession of contraband at a correctional facility. 1742 

(tt) Section 985.701, relating to sexual misconduct in 1743 

juvenile justice programs. 1744 

(uu) Section 985.711, relating to introduction, removal, or 1745 

possession of contraband at a juvenile detention facility or 1746 

commitment program. 1747 

(2) Any misdemeanor offense prohibited under any of the 1748 

following statutes: 1749 

(a) Section 784.03, relating to battery, if the victim of 1750 

the offense was a minor. 1751 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì467400qÎ467400 

 

Page 62 of 76 

2/19/2018 5:42:27 PM 581-03354-18 

(b) Section 787.025, relating to luring or enticing a 1752 

child. 1753 

(3) Any criminal act committed in another state or under 1754 

federal law which, if committed in this state, constitutes an 1755 

offense prohibited under any statute listed in subsection (1) or 1756 

subsection (2). 1757 

(4) Any delinquent act committed in this state or any 1758 

delinquent or criminal act committed in another state or under 1759 

federal law which, if committed in this state, qualifies an 1760 

individual for inclusion on the Registered Juvenile Sex Offender 1761 

List under s. 943.0435(1)(h)1.d. 1762 

Section 20. Paragraph (c) of subsection (3) of section 1763 

1012.731, Florida Statutes, is amended to read: 1764 

1012.731 The Florida Best and Brightest Teacher Scholarship 1765 

Program.— 1766 

(3) 1767 

(c) Notwithstanding the requirements of this subsection, 1768 

for the 2017-2018, 2018-2019, and 2019-2020 school years, any 1769 

classroom teacher who: 1770 

1. Was evaluated as highly effective pursuant to s. 1012.34 1771 

in the school year immediately preceding the year in which the 1772 

scholarship will be awarded shall receive a scholarship of 1773 

$1200, including a classroom teacher who received an award 1774 

pursuant to paragraph (a). 1775 

2. Was evaluated as effective pursuant to s. 1012.34 in the 1776 

school year immediately preceding the year in which the 1777 

scholarship will be awarded a scholarship of up to $800. If the 1778 

number of eligible classroom teachers under this subparagraph 1779 

exceeds the total allocation, the department shall prorate the 1780 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì467400qÎ467400 

 

Page 63 of 76 

2/19/2018 5:42:27 PM 581-03354-18 

per-teacher scholarship amount. 1781 

 1782 

This paragraph expires July 1, 2020. 1783 

Section 21. Subsections (2), (3), and (4) of section 1784 

1012.732, Florida Statutes, are amended to read: 1785 

1012.732 The Florida Best and Brightest Principal 1786 

Scholarship Program.— 1787 

(2) There is created the Florida Best and Brightest 1788 

Principal Scholarship Program to be administered by the 1789 

Department of Education. The program shall provide categorical 1790 

funding for scholarships to be awarded to school principals, as 1791 

defined in s. 1012.01(3)(c)1., who are serving as a franchise 1792 

model school principal or who have recruited and retained a high 1793 

percentage of best and brightest teachers. 1794 

(3)(a) A school principal identified pursuant to s. 1795 

1012.731(4)(c) is eligible to receive a scholarship under this 1796 

section if he or she has served as school principal at his or 1797 

her school for at least 2 consecutive school years including the 1798 

current school year and his or her school has a ratio of best 1799 

and brightest teachers to other classroom teachers that is at 1800 

the 80th percentile or higher for schools within the same grade 1801 

group, statewide, including elementary schools, middle schools, 1802 

high schools, and schools with a combination of grade levels. 1803 

(b) A principal of a franchise model school, as defined in 1804 

s. 1002.334, is eligible to receive a scholarship under this 1805 

section. 1806 

(4) Annually, by February 1, the department shall identify 1807 

eligible school principals and disburse funds to each school 1808 

district for each eligible school principal to receive a 1809 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì467400qÎ467400 

 

Page 64 of 76 

2/19/2018 5:42:27 PM 581-03354-18 

scholarship. 1810 

(a) A scholarship of $10,000 $5,000 must be awarded to each 1811 

franchise model school principal who is every eligible under 1812 

paragraph (3)(b). 1813 

(b) A scholarship of $5,000 must be awarded to each school 1814 

principal assigned to a Title I school and a scholarship of 1815 

$4,000 to each every eligible school principal who is not 1816 

assigned to a Title I school and who is eligible under paragraph 1817 

(3)(a). 1818 

Section 22. Paragraph (e) of subsection (1) of section 1819 

1012.796, Florida Statutes, is amended to read: 1820 

1012.796 Complaints against teachers and administrators; 1821 

procedure; penalties.— 1822 

(1) 1823 

(e) If allegations arise against an employee who is 1824 

certified under s. 1012.56 and employed in an educator-1825 

certificated position in any public school, charter school or 1826 

governing board thereof, or private school that accepts 1827 

scholarship students under s. 1002.385, s. 1002.39, or s. 1828 

1002.395, or another state scholarship program under chapter 1829 

1002, the school shall file in writing with the department a 1830 

legally sufficient complaint within 30 days after the date on 1831 

which the subject matter of the complaint came to the attention 1832 

of the school. A complaint is legally sufficient if it contains 1833 

ultimate facts that show a violation has occurred as provided in 1834 

s. 1012.795 and defined by rule of the State Board of Education. 1835 

The school shall include all known information relating to the 1836 

complaint with the filing of the complaint. This paragraph does 1837 

not limit or restrict the power and duty of the department to 1838 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì467400qÎ467400 

 

Page 65 of 76 

2/19/2018 5:42:27 PM 581-03354-18 

investigate complaints, regardless of the school’s untimely 1839 

filing, or failure to file, complaints and followup reports. 1840 

Section 23. Present paragraphs (a) through (d) of 1841 

subsection (1) of section 1013.31, Florida Statutes, are 1842 

redesignated as paragraphs (b) through (e), respectively, and a 1843 

new paragraph (a) is added to that subsection, to read: 1844 

1013.31 Educational plant survey; localized need 1845 

assessment; PECO project funding.— 1846 

(1) At least every 5 years, each board shall arrange for an 1847 

educational plant survey, to aid in formulating plans for 1848 

housing the educational program and student population, faculty, 1849 

administrators, staff, and auxiliary and ancillary services of 1850 

the district or campus, including consideration of the local 1851 

comprehensive plan. The Department of Education shall document 1852 

the need for additional career and adult education programs and 1853 

the continuation of existing programs before facility 1854 

construction or renovation related to career or adult education 1855 

may be included in the educational plant survey of a school 1856 

district or Florida College System institution that delivers 1857 

career or adult education programs. Information used by the 1858 

Department of Education to establish facility needs must 1859 

include, but need not be limited to, labor market data, needs 1860 

analysis, and information submitted by the school district or 1861 

Florida College System institution. 1862 

(a) Educational plant survey and localized need assessment 1863 

for capital outlay purposes.—A district may only use funds from 1864 

the following sources for educational, auxiliary, and ancillary 1865 

plant capital outlay purposes without needing a survey 1866 

recommendation: 1867 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì467400qÎ467400 

 

Page 66 of 76 

2/19/2018 5:42:27 PM 581-03354-18 

1. The local capital outlay improvement fund, consisting of 1868 

funds that come from and are a part of the district’s basic 1869 

operating budget; 1870 

2. If a board decides to build an educational, auxiliary, 1871 

or ancillary facility without a survey recommendation and the 1872 

taxpayers approve a bond referendum, the voted bond referendum; 1873 

3. One-half cent sales surtax revenue; 1874 

4. One cent local governmental surtax revenue; 1875 

5. Impact fees; and 1876 

6. Private gifts or donations. 1877 

Section 24. Paragraph (e) is added to subsection (2) of 1878 

section 1013.385, Florida Statutes, to read: 1879 

1013.385 School district construction flexibility.— 1880 

(2) A resolution adopted under this section may propose 1881 

implementation of exceptions to requirements of the uniform 1882 

statewide building code for the planning and construction of 1883 

public educational and ancillary plants adopted pursuant to ss. 1884 

553.73 and 1013.37 relating to: 1885 

(e) Any other provisions that limit the ability of a school 1886 

to operate in a facility on the same basis as a charter school 1887 

pursuant to s. 1002.33(18) if the regional planning council 1888 

determines that there is sufficient shelter capacity within the 1889 

school district as documented in the Statewide Emergency Shelter 1890 

Plan. 1891 

Section 25. Subsection (3) of section 1013.62, Florida 1892 

Statutes, is amended, and paragraph (c) is added to subsection 1893 

(1) of that section, to read: 1894 

1013.62 Charter schools capital outlay funding.— 1895 

(1) Charter school capital outlay funding shall consist of 1896 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì467400qÎ467400 

 

Page 67 of 76 

2/19/2018 5:42:27 PM 581-03354-18 

revenue resulting from the discretionary millage authorized in 1897 

s. 1011.71(2) and state funds when such funds are appropriated 1898 

in the General Appropriations Act. 1899 

(c) It is the intent of the Legislature that the public 1900 

interest be protected by prohibiting personal financial 1901 

enrichment by owners, operators, managers, real estate 1902 

developers, and other affiliated parties of charter schools. 1903 

Therefore, a charter school is not eligible for a funding 1904 

allocation unless the chair of the governing board and the chief 1905 

administrative officer of the charter school annually certify 1906 

under oath that the funds will be used solely and exclusively 1907 

for constructing, renovating, or improving charter school 1908 

facilities that are: 1909 

1. Owned by a school district, a political subdivision of 1910 

the state, a municipality, a Florida College System institution, 1911 

or a state university; 1912 

2. Owned by an organization that is qualified as an exempt 1913 

organization under s. 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code 1914 

whose articles of incorporation specify that, upon the 1915 

organization’s dissolution, the subject property will be 1916 

transferred to a school district, a political subdivision of the 1917 

state, a municipality, a Florida College System institution, or 1918 

a state university; or 1919 

3. Owned by and leased, at a fair market value in the 1920 

school district in which the charter school is located, from a 1921 

person or entity that is not an affiliated party of the charter 1922 

school. For the purposes of this subparagraph, the term 1923 

“affiliated party of the charter school” means the applicant for 1924 

the charter school pursuant to s. 1002.33; the governing board 1925 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì467400qÎ467400 

 

Page 68 of 76 

2/19/2018 5:42:27 PM 581-03354-18 

of the charter school or a member of the governing board; the 1926 

charter school owner; the charter school principal; an employee 1927 

of the charter school; an independent contractor of the charter 1928 

school or the governing board of the charter school; a relative, 1929 

as defined in s. 1002.33(24)(a)2., of a charter school governing 1930 

board member, a charter school owner, a charter school 1931 

principal, a charter school employee, or an independent 1932 

contractor of a charter school or charter school governing 1933 

board; a subsidiary corporation, a service corporation, an 1934 

affiliated corporation, a parent corporation, a limited 1935 

liability company, a limited partnership, a trust, a 1936 

partnership, or a related party that, individually or through 1937 

one or more entities, shares common ownership or control and 1938 

directly or indirectly manages, administers, controls, or 1939 

oversees the operation of the charter school; or any person or 1940 

entity, individually or through one or more entities that share 1941 

common ownership, which directly or indirectly manages, 1942 

administers, controls, or oversees the operation of any of the 1943 

foregoing. 1944 

(3) If the school board levies the discretionary millage 1945 

authorized in s. 1011.71(2), the department shall use the 1946 

following calculation methodology to determine the amount of 1947 

revenue that a school district must distribute to each eligible 1948 

charter school: 1949 

(a) Reduce the total discretionary millage revenue by the 1950 

school district’s annual debt service obligation incurred as of 1951 

March 1, 2017, and any amount of participation requirement 1952 

pursuant to s. 1013.64(2)(a)8. that is being satisfied by 1953 

revenues raised by the discretionary millage. 1954 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì467400qÎ467400 

 

Page 69 of 76 

2/19/2018 5:42:27 PM 581-03354-18 

(b) Divide the school district’s adjusted discretionary 1955 

millage revenue by the district’s total capital outlay full-time 1956 

equivalent membership and the total number of unweighted full-1957 

time equivalent students of each eligible charter school to 1958 

determine a capital outlay allocation per full-time equivalent 1959 

student. 1960 

(c) Multiply the capital outlay allocation per full-time 1961 

equivalent student by the total number of full-time equivalent 1962 

students for all of each eligible charter schools within the 1963 

district school to determine the total charter school capital 1964 

outlay allocation for each district charter school. 1965 

(d) If applicable, reduce the capital outlay allocation 1966 

identified in paragraph (c) by the total amount of state funds 1967 

allocated pursuant to subsection (2) to all each eligible 1968 

charter schools within a district school in subsection (2) to 1969 

determine the net total maximum calculated capital outlay 1970 

allocation from local funds. If state funds are not allocated 1971 

pursuant to subsection (2), the amount determined in paragraph 1972 

(c) is equal to the net total calculated capital outlay 1973 

allocation from local funds for each district. 1974 

(e) For each charter school within each district, the net 1975 

capital outlay amount from local funds shall be calculated in 1976 

the same manner as the state funds in paragraphs (2)(a)-(d), 1977 

except that the base charter school per weighted FTE allocation 1978 

amount shall be determined by dividing the net total capital 1979 

outlay amount from local funds by the total weighted FTE for all 1980 

eligible charter schools within the district. The per weighted 1981 

FTE allocation amount from local funds shall be multiplied by 1982 

the weighted FTE for each charter school to determine each 1983 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì467400qÎ467400 

 

Page 70 of 76 

2/19/2018 5:42:27 PM 581-03354-18 

charter school’s capital outlay allocation from local funds. 1984 

(f)(e) School districts shall distribute capital outlay 1985 

funds to charter schools no later than February 1 of each year, 1986 

beginning on February 1, 2018, for the 2017-2018 fiscal year. 1987 

Section 26. For the 2018-2019 fiscal year, the sum of 1988 

$596,560 in recurring funds from the General Revenue Fund and 1989 

the sum of $392,134 in nonrecurring funds from the General 1990 

Revenue Fund are appropriated to the Department of Education to 1991 

implement this act as follows: the sum of $596,560 in recurring 1992 

funds and $142,134 in nonrecurring funds shall be used to 1993 

implement the additional oversight requirements pursuant to s. 1994 

1002.421, Florida Statutes, and the sum of $250,000 in 1995 

nonrecurring funds shall be used to issue a competitive grant 1996 

award pursuant to s. 1002.395(9), Florida Statutes. 1997 

Section 27. This act shall take effect July 1, 2018. 1998 

 1999 

================= T I T L E  A M E N D M E N T ================ 2000 

And the title is amended as follows: 2001 

Delete everything before the enacting clause 2002 

and insert: 2003 

A bill to be entitled 2004 

An act relating to education; amending s. 1001.10, 2005 

F.S.; revising the private schools to which the 2006 

Department of Education is required to provide 2007 

technical assistance and authorized staff; amending s. 2008 

1001.4205, F.S.; authorizing a member of the State 2009 

Legislature to visit any district school, including 2010 

any charter school, in his or her legislative 2011 

district; amending s. 1002.33, F.S.; extending the 2012 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì467400qÎ467400 

 

Page 71 of 76 

2/19/2018 5:42:27 PM 581-03354-18 

period of time for which a charter school may defer 2013 

its opening for specified reasons; amending s. 2014 

1002.331, F.S.; revising the requirements for a 2015 

charter school to be considered a high-performing 2016 

charter school; amending s. 1002.333, F.S.; redefining 2017 

the terms “persistently low-performing school” and 2018 

“school of hope”; revising the required contents of a 2019 

school of hope notice of intent and performance-based 2020 

agreement; revising school of hope facility 2021 

requirements; specifying that certain schools of hope 2022 

are eligible to receive hope supplemental service 2023 

allocation funds; requiring the State Board of 2024 

Education to provide awards to all eligible schools 2025 

that meet certain requirements; prohibiting a school 2026 

of hope operator or owner from serving as the 2027 

principal of a school of hope that he or she manages; 2028 

conforming cross-references; creating s. 1002.334, 2029 

F.S.; defining the term “franchise model school”; 2030 

authorizing specified schools to use a franchise model 2031 

school as a turnaround option; specifying requirements 2032 

for a franchise model school principal; amending s. 2033 

1002.385, F.S.; revising the meaning of a rare disease 2034 

within the definition of a “disability” for purposes 2035 

of the Gardiner Scholarship Program; specifying that 2036 

the failure or refusal, rather than the inability of, 2037 

a private school to meet certain requirements 2038 

constitutes a basis for program ineligibility; 2039 

amending s. 1002.39, F.S.; revising the purpose of 2040 

department site visits at private schools 2041 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì467400qÎ467400 

 

Page 72 of 76 

2/19/2018 5:42:27 PM 581-03354-18 

participating in the John M. McKay Scholarships for 2042 

Students with Disabilities Program; authorizing the 2043 

department to make followup site visits at any time to 2044 

certain private schools; requiring participating 2045 

private schools to provide a specified report from an 2046 

independent certified public accountant under certain 2047 

circumstances; specifying that the failure or refusal, 2048 

rather than the inability of, a private school to meet 2049 

certain requirements constitutes a basis for program 2050 

ineligibility; conforming provisions to changes made 2051 

by the act; amending s. 1002.395, F.S.; revising 2052 

obligations of eligible nonprofit scholarship-funding 2053 

organizations participating in the Florida Tax Credit 2054 

Scholarship Program; specifying that the failure or 2055 

refusal, rather than the inability of, a private 2056 

school to meet certain requirements constitutes a 2057 

basis for program ineligibility; revising the purpose 2058 

of department site visits at private schools 2059 

participating in the Florida Tax Credit Scholarship 2060 

Program; authorizing the department to make followup 2061 

site visits at any time to certain private schools; 2062 

conforming provisions to changes made by the act; 2063 

amending s. 1002.421, F.S.; defining the term “owner 2064 

or operator”; requiring a private school to employ or 2065 

contract with teachers who meet certain qualifications 2066 

and provide information about such qualifications to 2067 

the department and parents; revising the conditions 2068 

under which a private school employee may be exempted 2069 

from background screening requirements; specifying 2070 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì467400qÎ467400 

 

Page 73 of 76 

2/19/2018 5:42:27 PM 581-03354-18 

that a private school is ineligible to participate in 2071 

certain scholarship programs under certain 2072 

circumstances; requiring the department to annually 2073 

visit a certain percentage of certain private schools; 2074 

authorizing the department to make certain followup 2075 

site visits at any time; requiring the Division of 2076 

State Fire Marshal to annually provide the department 2077 

with fire safety inspection reports for certain 2078 

private schools; requiring that certain private 2079 

schools provide the department with a report from an 2080 

independent certified public accountant under certain 2081 

circumstances; amending s. 1003.41, F.S.; revising the 2082 

requirements for the Next Generation Sunshine State 2083 

Standards to include financial literacy; amending s. 2084 

1003.4282, F.S.; revising the required credits for a 2085 

standard high school diploma to include one-half 2086 

credit of instruction in personal financial literacy 2087 

and money management and seven and one-half, rather 2088 

than eight, credits in electives; amending s. 2089 

1006.061, F.S.; revising the applicability of certain 2090 

child abuse, abandonment, and neglect provisions; 2091 

amending s. 1007.273, F.S.; defining the term 2092 

“structured program”; providing additional options for 2093 

students participating in a structured program; 2094 

prohibiting a district school board from limiting the 2095 

number of public school students who may participate 2096 

in a structured program; revising contract 2097 

requirements; requiring each district school board to 2098 

annually notify students in certain grades of certain 2099 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì467400qÎ467400 

 

Page 74 of 76 

2/19/2018 5:42:27 PM 581-03354-18 

information about the structured program by a 2100 

specified date; revising provisions relating to 2101 

funding; requiring the state board to enforce 2102 

compliance with certain provisions by a specified date 2103 

each year; providing reporting requirements; amending 2104 

s. 1008.33, F.S.; revising the turnaround options 2105 

available for certain schools; amending s. 1011.62, 2106 

F.S.; creating the hope supplemental services 2107 

allocation; providing the purpose of the allocation; 2108 

specifying the services that may be funded by the 2109 

allocation; providing that implementation plans may 2110 

include certain models; providing requirements for 2111 

implementation plans; providing for the allocation of 2112 

funds in specified fiscal years; creating the mental 2113 

health assistance allocation; providing the purpose of 2114 

the allocation; providing for the annual allocation of 2115 

such funds on a specified basis; prohibiting the use 2116 

of allocated funds to supplant funds provided from 2117 

other operating funds, to increase salaries, or to 2118 

provide bonuses; providing requirements for school 2119 

districts and charter schools; providing that required 2120 

plans must include certain elements; requiring school 2121 

districts to annually submit approved plans to the 2122 

Commissioner of Education by a specified date; 2123 

requiring that entities that receive such allocations 2124 

annually submit a final report on program outcomes and 2125 

specific expenditures to the commissioner by a 2126 

specified date; creating the funding compression 2127 

allocation; providing the purpose of the allocation; 2128 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì467400qÎ467400 

 

Page 75 of 76 

2/19/2018 5:42:27 PM 581-03354-18 

authorizing funding for the annual allocation; 2129 

providing the calculation for the allocation; amending 2130 

s. 1011.69, F.S.; authorizing certain high schools to 2131 

receive Title I funds; providing that a school 2132 

district may withhold Title I funds for specified 2133 

purposes; authorizing certain schools to use Title I 2134 

funds for specified purposes; amending s. 1011.71, 2135 

F.S.; increasing the amount that a school district may 2136 

expend from a specified millage levy for certain 2137 

expenses; amending s. 1012.315, F.S.; revising the 2138 

applicability of certain provisions related to 2139 

disqualification from employment for the conviction of 2140 

specified offenses; amending s. 1012.731, F.S.; 2141 

deleting Florida Best and Brightest Teacher 2142 

Scholarship Program scholarship awards authorized for 2143 

specific school years; amending s. 1012.732, F.S.; 2144 

specifying that a franchise model school principal is 2145 

eligible to receive a Florida Best and Brightest 2146 

Principal scholarship; requiring specified awards for 2147 

eligible principals; amending s. 1012.796, F.S.; 2148 

revising the applicability of a requirement that 2149 

certain private schools file specified reports with 2150 

the department for certain allegations against its 2151 

employees; amending s. 1013.31, F.S.; authorizing a 2152 

district to use certain sources of funds for 2153 

educational, auxiliary, and ancillary plant capital 2154 

outlay purposes without needing a survey 2155 

recommendation; amending s. 1013.385, F.S.; providing 2156 

additional exceptions to certain building code 2157 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì467400qÎ467400 

 

Page 76 of 76 

2/19/2018 5:42:27 PM 581-03354-18 

regulations for school districts; amending s. 1013.62, 2158 

F.S.; providing legislative intent; prohibiting a 2159 

charter school from being eligible for capital outlay 2160 

funds unless the chair of the governing board and the 2161 

chief administrative officer of the charter school 2162 

annually certify certain information; defining the 2163 

term “affiliated party of the charter school”; 2164 

revising the Department of Education’s calculation 2165 

methodology for a school district’s distribution of 2166 

discretionary millage to its eligible charter schools; 2167 

providing appropriations; providing an effective date. 2168 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì848558ZÎ848558 

 

Page 1 of 45 

2/19/2018 10:12:48 PM 581-03353-18 

LEGISLATIVE ACTION 

Senate 

Comm: UNFAV 

02/21/2018 

 

 

 

 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

 

House 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Committee on Education (Farmer) recommended the following: 

 

Senate Substitute for Amendment (826696) (with title 1 

amendment) 2 

 3 

Delete everything after the enacting clause 4 

and insert: 5 

Section 1. Paragraph (b) of subsection (6) of section 6 

1002.33, Florida Statutes, is amended to read: 7 

1002.33 Charter schools.— 8 

(6) APPLICATION PROCESS AND REVIEW.—Charter school 9 

applications are subject to the following requirements: 10 

(b) A sponsor shall receive and review all applications for 11 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì848558ZÎ848558 

 

Page 2 of 45 

2/19/2018 10:12:48 PM 581-03353-18 

a charter school using the evaluation instrument developed by 12 

the Department of Education. A sponsor shall receive and 13 

consider charter school applications received on or before 14 

August 1 of each calendar year for charter schools to be opened 15 

at the beginning of the school district’s next school year, or 16 

to be opened at a time agreed to by the applicant and the 17 

sponsor. A sponsor may not refuse to receive a charter school 18 

application submitted before August 1 and may receive an 19 

application submitted later than August 1 if it chooses. 20 

Beginning in 2018 and thereafter, a sponsor shall receive and 21 

consider charter school applications received on or before 22 

February 1 of each calendar year for charter schools to be 23 

opened 18 months later at the beginning of the school district’s 24 

school year, or to be opened at a time agreed to by the 25 

applicant and the sponsor. A sponsor may not refuse to receive a 26 

charter school application submitted before February 1 and may 27 

receive an application submitted later than February 1 if it 28 

chooses. A sponsor may not charge an applicant for a charter any 29 

fee for the processing or consideration of an application, and a 30 

sponsor may not base its consideration or approval of a final 31 

application upon the promise of future payment of any kind. 32 

Before approving or denying any application, the sponsor shall 33 

allow the applicant, upon receipt of written notification, at 34 

least 7 calendar days to make technical or nonsubstantive 35 

corrections and clarifications, including, but not limited to, 36 

corrections of grammatical, typographical, and like errors or 37 

missing signatures, if such errors are identified by the sponsor 38 

as cause to deny the final application. 39 

1. In order to facilitate an accurate budget projection 40 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì848558ZÎ848558 

 

Page 3 of 45 

2/19/2018 10:12:48 PM 581-03353-18 

process, a sponsor shall be held harmless for FTE students who 41 

are not included in the FTE projection due to approval of 42 

charter school applications after the FTE projection deadline. 43 

In a further effort to facilitate an accurate budget projection, 44 

within 15 calendar days after receipt of a charter school 45 

application, a sponsor shall report to the Department of 46 

Education the name of the applicant entity, the proposed charter 47 

school location, and its projected FTE. 48 

2. In order to ensure fiscal responsibility, an application 49 

for a charter school shall include a full accounting of expected 50 

assets, a projection of expected sources and amounts of income, 51 

including income derived from projected student enrollments and 52 

from community support, and an expense projection that includes 53 

full accounting of the costs of operation, including start-up 54 

costs. 55 

3.a. A sponsor shall by a majority vote approve or deny an 56 

application no later than 90 calendar days after the application 57 

is received, unless the sponsor and the applicant mutually agree 58 

in writing to temporarily postpone the vote to a specific date, 59 

at which time the sponsor shall by a majority vote approve or 60 

deny the application. If the sponsor fails to act on the 61 

application, an applicant may appeal to the State Board of 62 

Education as provided in paragraph (c). If an application is 63 

denied, the sponsor shall, within 10 calendar days after such 64 

denial, articulate in writing the specific reasons, based upon 65 

good cause, supporting its denial of the application and shall 66 

provide the letter of denial and supporting documentation to the 67 

applicant and to the Department of Education. 68 

b. An application submitted by a high-performing charter 69 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì848558ZÎ848558 

 

Page 4 of 45 

2/19/2018 10:12:48 PM 581-03353-18 

school identified pursuant to s. 1002.331 or a high-performing 70 

charter school system identified pursuant to s. 1002.332 may be 71 

denied by the sponsor only if the sponsor demonstrates by clear 72 

and convincing evidence that: 73 

(I) The application does not materially comply with the 74 

requirements in paragraph (a); 75 

(II) The charter school proposed in the application does 76 

not materially comply with the requirements in paragraphs 77 

(9)(a)-(f); 78 

(III) The proposed charter school’s educational program 79 

does not substantially replicate that of the applicant or one of 80 

the applicant’s high-performing charter schools; 81 

(IV) The applicant has made a material misrepresentation or 82 

false statement or concealed an essential or material fact 83 

during the application process; or 84 

(V) The proposed charter school’s educational program and 85 

financial management practices do not materially comply with the 86 

requirements of this section. 87 

 88 

Material noncompliance is a failure to follow requirements or a 89 

violation of prohibitions applicable to charter school 90 

applications, which failure is quantitatively or qualitatively 91 

significant either individually or when aggregated with other 92 

noncompliance. An applicant is considered to be replicating a 93 

high-performing charter school if the proposed school is 94 

substantially similar to at least one of the applicant’s high-95 

performing charter schools and the organization or individuals 96 

involved in the establishment and operation of the proposed 97 

school are significantly involved in the operation of replicated 98 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì848558ZÎ848558 

 

Page 5 of 45 

2/19/2018 10:12:48 PM 581-03353-18 

schools. 99 

c. If the sponsor denies an application submitted by a 100 

high-performing charter school or a high-performing charter 101 

school system, the sponsor must, within 10 calendar days after 102 

such denial, state in writing the specific reasons, based upon 103 

the criteria in sub-subparagraph b., supporting its denial of 104 

the application and must provide the letter of denial and 105 

supporting documentation to the applicant and to the Department 106 

of Education. The applicant may appeal the sponsor’s denial of 107 

the application in accordance with paragraph (c). 108 

4. For budget projection purposes, the sponsor shall report 109 

to the Department of Education the approval or denial of an 110 

application within 10 calendar days after such approval or 111 

denial. In the event of approval, the report to the Department 112 

of Education shall include the final projected FTE for the 113 

approved charter school. 114 

5. Upon approval of an application, the initial startup 115 

shall commence with the beginning of the public school calendar 116 

for the district in which the charter is granted. A charter 117 

school may defer the opening of the school’s operations for up 118 

to 3 2 years to provide time for adequate facility planning. The 119 

charter school must provide written notice of such intent to the 120 

sponsor and the parents of enrolled students at least 30 121 

calendar days before the first day of school. 122 

Section 2. Subsection (1) of section 1002.331, Florida 123 

Statutes, is amended to read: 124 

1002.331 High-performing charter schools.— 125 

(1) A charter school is a high-performing charter school if 126 

it: 127 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì848558ZÎ848558 

 

Page 6 of 45 

2/19/2018 10:12:48 PM 581-03353-18 

(a) Received at least two school grades of “A” and no 128 

school grade below “B,” pursuant to s. 1008.34, during each of 129 

the previous 3 school years or received at least two consecutive 130 

school grades of “A” in the most recent 2 school years. 131 

(b) Received an unqualified opinion on each annual 132 

financial audit required under s. 218.39 in the most recent 3 133 

fiscal years for which such audits are available. 134 

(c) Did not receive a financial audit that revealed one or 135 

more of the financial emergency conditions set forth in s. 136 

218.503(1) in the most recent 3 fiscal years for which such 137 

audits are available. However, this requirement is deemed met 138 

for a charter school-in-the-workplace if there is a finding in 139 

an audit that the school has the monetary resources available to 140 

cover any reported deficiency or that the deficiency does not 141 

result in a deteriorating financial condition pursuant to s. 142 

1002.345(1)(a)3. 143 

 144 

For purposes of determining initial eligibility, the 145 

requirements of paragraphs (b) and (c) only apply to the most 146 

recent 2 fiscal years if the charter school earns two 147 

consecutive grades of “A.” A virtual charter school established 148 

under s. 1002.33 is not eligible for designation as a high-149 

performing charter school. 150 

Section 3. Present subsections (11) and (12) of section 151 

1002.333, Florida Statutes, are redesignated as subsections (12) 152 

and (13), respectively, a new subsection (11) is added to that 153 

section, and subsections (1) and (2), paragraph (a) of 154 

subsection (4), paragraphs (b), (g), and (i) of subsection (5), 155 

paragraph (a) of subsection (7), subsection (9), and paragraph 156 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì848558ZÎ848558 

 

Page 7 of 45 

2/19/2018 10:12:48 PM 581-03353-18 

(b) of subsection (10) of that section are amended, to read: 157 

1002.333 Persistently low-performing schools.— 158 

(1) DEFINITIONS.—As used in this section, the term: 159 

(a) “Hope operator” means an entity identified by the 160 

department pursuant to subsection (2). 161 

(b) “Persistently low-performing school” means a school 162 

that has completed 2 school years of a district-managed 163 

turnaround plan required under s. 1008.33(4)(a) and has not 164 

improved its school grade to a “C” or higher, earned three 165 

consecutive grades lower than a “C,” pursuant to s. 1008.34, and 166 

a school that was closed pursuant to s. 1008.33(4) within 2 167 

years after the submission of a notice of intent. 168 

(c) “School of hope” means: 169 

1. A charter school operated by a hope operator which 170 

serves students from one or more persistently low-performing 171 

schools; is located in the attendance zone of a persistently 172 

low-performing school or within a 5-mile radius of such school, 173 

whichever is greater; and is a Title I eligible school; or 174 

2. A school operated by a hope operator pursuant to s. 175 

1008.33(4)(b)3.b. s. 1008.33(4)(b)3. 176 

(2) HOPE OPERATOR.—A hope operator is a nonprofit 177 

organization with tax exempt status under s. 501(c)(3) of the 178 

Internal Revenue Code which that operates three or more charter 179 

schools that serve students in grades K-12 in Florida or other 180 

states with a record of serving students from low-income 181 

families and is designated by the State Board of Education as a 182 

hope operator based on a determination that: 183 

(a) The past performance of the hope operator meets or 184 

exceeds the following criteria: 185 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì848558ZÎ848558 

 

Page 8 of 45 

2/19/2018 10:12:48 PM 581-03353-18 

1. The achievement of enrolled students exceeds the 186 

district and state averages of the states in which the 187 

operator’s schools operate; 188 

2. The average college attendance rate at all schools 189 

currently operated by the operator exceeds 80 percent, if such 190 

data is available; 191 

3. The percentage of students eligible for a free or 192 

reduced price lunch under the National School Lunch Act enrolled 193 

at all schools currently operated by the operator exceeds 70 194 

percent; 195 

4. The operator is in good standing with the authorizer in 196 

each state in which it operates; 197 

5. The audited financial statements of the operator are 198 

free of material misstatements and going concern issues; and 199 

6. Other outcome measures as determined by the State Board 200 

of Education; 201 

(b) The operator was awarded a United States Department of 202 

Education Charter School Program Grant for Replication and 203 

Expansion of High-Quality Charter Schools within the preceding 3 204 

years before applying to be a hope operator; 205 

(c) The operator receives funding through the National Fund 206 

of the Charter School Growth Fund to accelerate the growth of 207 

the nation’s best charter schools; or 208 

(d) The operator is selected by a district school board in 209 

accordance with s. 1008.33. 210 

 211 

An entity that meets the requirements of paragraph (b), 212 

paragraph (c), or paragraph (d) before the adoption by the state 213 

board of measurable criteria pursuant to paragraph (a) shall be 214 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì848558ZÎ848558 

 

Page 9 of 45 

2/19/2018 10:12:48 PM 581-03353-18 

designated as a hope operator. After the adoption of the 215 

measurable criteria, an entity, including a governing board that 216 

operates a school established pursuant to s. 1008.33(4)(b)3.b. 217 

s. 1008.33(4)(b)3., shall be designated as a hope operator if it 218 

meets the criteria of paragraph (a). 219 

(4) ESTABLISHMENT OF SCHOOLS OF HOPE.—A hope operator 220 

seeking to open a school of hope must submit a notice of intent 221 

to the school district in which a persistently low-performing 222 

school has been identified by the State Board of Education 223 

pursuant to subsection (10). 224 

(a) The notice of intent must include all of the following: 225 

1. An academic focus and plan. 226 

2. A financial plan. 227 

3. Goals and objectives for increasing student achievement 228 

for the students from low-income families. 229 

4. A completed or planned community outreach plan. 230 

5. The organizational history of success in working with 231 

students with similar demographics. 232 

6. The grade levels to be served and enrollment 233 

projections. 234 

7. The specific proposed location or geographic area 235 

proposed for the school and its proximity to the persistently 236 

low-performing school or the plan to use the district-owned 237 

facilities of the persistently low-performing school. 238 

8. A staffing plan. 239 

9. An operations plan specifying the operator’s intent to 240 

undertake the operations of the persistently low-performing 241 

school in its entirety or through limited components of the 242 

operations. 243 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì848558ZÎ848558 

 

Page 10 of 45 

2/19/2018 10:12:48 PM 581-03353-18 

(5) PERFORMANCE-BASED AGREEMENT.—The following shall 244 

comprise the entirety of the performance-based agreement: 245 

(b) The location or geographic area proposed for the school 246 

of hope and its proximity to the persistently low-performing 247 

school. 248 

(f)(g) The grounds for termination, including failure to 249 

meet the requirements for student performance established 250 

pursuant to paragraph (d) (e), generally accepted standards of 251 

fiscal management, or material violation of terms of the 252 

agreement. The nonrenewal or termination of a performance-based 253 

agreement must comply with the requirements of s. 1002.33(8). 254 

(h)(i) A provision establishing the initial term as 5 255 

years. The agreement must shall be renewed, upon the request of 256 

the hope operator, unless the school fails to meet the 257 

requirements for student performance established pursuant to 258 

paragraph (d) (e) or generally accepted standards of fiscal 259 

management or the school of hope materially violates the law or 260 

the terms of the agreement. 261 

(7) FACILITIES.— 262 

(a)1. A school of hope that meets the definition under 263 

subparagraph (1)(c)1. shall use facilities that comply with the 264 

Florida Building Code, except for the State Requirements for 265 

Educational Facilities. A school of hope that uses school 266 

district facilities must comply with the State Requirements for 267 

Educational Facilities only if the school district and the hope 268 

operator have entered into a mutual management plan for the 269 

reasonable maintenance of such facilities. The mutual management 270 

plan shall contain a provision by which the district school 271 

board agrees to maintain the school facilities in the same 272 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì848558ZÎ848558 

 

Page 11 of 45 

2/19/2018 10:12:48 PM 581-03353-18 

manner as its other public schools within the district. 273 

2. A school of hope that meets the definition under 274 

subparagraph (1)(c)2. and that receives funds from the hope 275 

supplemental services allocation under s. 1011.62(16) shall use 276 

the district-owned facilities of the persistently low-performing 277 

school that the school of hope operates. A school of hope that 278 

uses district-owned facilities must enter into a mutual 279 

management plan with the school district for the reasonable 280 

maintenance of the facilities. The mutual management plan must 281 

contain a provision specifying that the district school board 282 

agrees to maintain the school facilities in the same manner as 283 

other public schools within the district. 284 

 285 

The local governing authority shall not adopt or impose any 286 

local building requirements or site-development restrictions, 287 

such as parking and site-size criteria, student enrollment, and 288 

occupant load, that are addressed by and more stringent than 289 

those found in the State Requirements for Educational Facilities 290 

of the Florida Building Code. A local governing authority must 291 

treat schools of hope equitably in comparison to similar 292 

requirements, restrictions, and site planning processes imposed 293 

upon public schools. The agency having jurisdiction for 294 

inspection of a facility and issuance of a certificate of 295 

occupancy or use shall be the local municipality or, if in an 296 

unincorporated area, the county governing authority. If an 297 

official or employee of the local governing authority refuses to 298 

comply with this paragraph, the aggrieved school or entity has 299 

an immediate right to bring an action in circuit court to 300 

enforce its rights by injunction. An aggrieved party that 301 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì848558ZÎ848558 

 

Page 12 of 45 

2/19/2018 10:12:48 PM 581-03353-18 

receives injunctive relief may be awarded reasonable attorney 302 

fees and court costs. 303 

(9) FUNDING.— 304 

(a) Schools of hope shall be funded in accordance with s. 305 

1002.33(17). 306 

(b) Schools of hope shall receive priority in the 307 

department’s Public Charter School Grant Program competitions. 308 

(c) Schools of hope shall be considered charter schools for 309 

purposes of s. 1013.62, except charter capital outlay may not be 310 

used to purchase real property or for the construction of school 311 

facilities. 312 

(d) Schools of hope that meet the definition under 313 

subparagraph (1)(c)1. are eligible to receive funds from the 314 

Schools of Hope Program. 315 

(e) Schools of hope that meet the definition under 316 

subparagraph (1)(c)2. are eligible to receive funds from the 317 

hope supplemental services allocation established under s. 318 

1011.62(16). 319 

(10) SCHOOLS OF HOPE PROGRAM.—The Schools of Hope Program 320 

is created within the Department of Education. 321 

(b) A traditional public school that is required to submit 322 

a plan for implementation pursuant to s. 1008.33(4) is eligible 323 

to receive funding for services authorized up to $2,000 per 324 

full-time equivalent student from the hope supplemental services 325 

allocation established under s. 1011.62(16). Schools of Hope 326 

Program based upon the strength of the school’s plan for 327 

implementation and its focus on evidence-based interventions 328 

that lead to student success by providing wrap-around services 329 

that leverage community assets, improve school and community 330 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì848558ZÎ848558 

 

Page 13 of 45 

2/19/2018 10:12:48 PM 581-03353-18 

collaboration, and develop family and community partnerships. 331 

Wrap-around services include, but are not limited to, tutorial 332 

and after-school programs, student counseling, nutrition 333 

education, parental counseling, and adult education. Plans for 334 

implementation may also include models that develop a culture of 335 

attending college, high academic expectations, character 336 

development, dress codes, and an extended school day and school 337 

year. At a minimum, a plan for implementation must: 338 

1. Establish wrap-around services that develop family and 339 

community partnerships. 340 

2. Establish clearly defined and measurable high academic 341 

and character standards. 342 

3. Increase parental involvement and engagement in the 343 

child’s education. 344 

4. Describe how the school district will identify, recruit, 345 

retain, and reward instructional personnel. The state board may 346 

waive the requirements of s. 1012.22(1)(c)5., and suspend the 347 

requirements of s. 1012.34, to facilitate implementation of the 348 

plan. 349 

5. Identify a knowledge-rich curriculum that the school 350 

will use that focuses on developing a student’s background 351 

knowledge. 352 

6. Provide professional development that focuses on 353 

academic rigor, direct instruction, and creating high academic 354 

and character standards. 355 

(11) SCHOOLS OF HOPE MANAGEMENT.—A hope operator or the 356 

owner of a school of hope may not serve as the principal of any 357 

school that he or she manages. 358 

Section 4. Section 1002.334, Florida Statutes, is created 359 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì848558ZÎ848558 

 

Page 14 of 45 

2/19/2018 10:12:48 PM 581-03353-18 

to read: 360 

1002.334 Franchise model schools.— 361 

(1) As used in this section, the term “franchise model 362 

school” means a persistently low-performing school, as defined 363 

in s. 1002.333(1)(b), which is led by a highly effective 364 

principal in addition to the principal’s currently assigned 365 

school. If a franchise model school achieves a grade of “C” or 366 

higher, the school may retain its status as a franchise model 367 

school at the discretion of the school district. 368 

(2) A school district that has one or more persistently 369 

low-performing schools may use a franchise model school as a 370 

school turnaround option pursuant to s. 1008.33(4)(b)4. 371 

(3) A franchise model school principal: 372 

(a) Must be rated as highly effective pursuant to s. 373 

1012.34; 374 

(b) May lead two or more schools, including a persistently 375 

low-performing school or a school that was considered a 376 

persistently low-performing school before becoming a franchise 377 

model school; 378 

(c) May allocate resources and personnel between the 379 

schools under his or her administration; however, he or she must 380 

expend hope supplemental services allocation funds, authorized 381 

under s. 1011.62(16), at the franchise model school; and 382 

(d) Is eligible to receive a Best and Brightest Principal 383 

award under s. 1012.732. 384 

Section 5. Section 1007.273, Florida Statutes, is amended 385 

to read: 386 

1007.273 Structured high school acceleration programs 387 

Collegiate high school program.— 388 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì848558ZÎ848558 

 

Page 15 of 45 

2/19/2018 10:12:48 PM 581-03353-18 

(1) Each Florida College System institution shall work with 389 

each district school board in its designated service area to 390 

establish one or more structured programs, including, but not 391 

limited to, collegiate high school programs. As used in this 392 

section, the term “structured program” means a structured high 393 

school acceleration program. 394 

(1)(2) PURPOSE.—At a minimum, structured collegiate high 395 

school programs must include an option for public school 396 

students in grade 11 or grade 12 participating in the structured 397 

program, for at least 1 full school year, to earn CAPE industry 398 

certifications pursuant to s. 1008.44, and to successfully 399 

complete at least 30 credit hours through the dual enrollment 400 

program under s. 1007.271. The structured program must 401 

prioritize dual enrollment courses that are applicable toward 402 

general education core courses or common prerequisite course 403 

requirements under s. 1007.25 over dual enrollment courses 404 

applicable as electives toward at least the first year of 405 

college for an associate degree or baccalaureate degree while 406 

enrolled in the structured program. A district school board may 407 

not limit the number of eligible public school students who may 408 

enroll in such structured programs. 409 

(2)(3) REQUIRED STRUCTURED PROGRAM CONTRACTS.— 410 

(a) Each district school board and its local Florida 411 

College System institution shall execute a contract to establish 412 

one or more structured collegiate high school programs at a 413 

mutually agreed upon location or locations. Beginning with the 414 

2015-2016 school year, If the local Florida College System 415 

institution does not establish a structured program with a 416 

district school board in its designated service area, another 417 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì848558ZÎ848558 

 

Page 16 of 45 

2/19/2018 10:12:48 PM 581-03353-18 

Florida College System institution may execute a contract with 418 

that district school board to establish the structured program. 419 

The contract must be executed by January 1 of each school year 420 

for implementation of the structured program during the next 421 

school year. By August 1, 2018, a contract entered into before 422 

January 1, 2018, for the 2018-2019 school year must be modified 423 

to include the provisions of paragraph (b). 424 

(b) The contract must: 425 

1.(a) Identify the grade levels to be included in the 426 

structured collegiate high school program; which must, at a 427 

minimum, include grade 12. 428 

2.(b) Describe the structured collegiate high school 429 

program, including a list of the meta-major academic pathways 430 

approved pursuant to s. 1008.30(4), which are available to 431 

participating students through the partner Florida College 432 

System institution or other eligible partner postsecondary 433 

institutions; the delineation of courses that must, at a 434 

minimum, include general education core courses and common 435 

prerequisite course requirements pursuant to s. 1007.25; and 436 

industry certifications offered, including online course 437 

availability; the high school and college credits earned for 438 

each postsecondary course completed and industry certification 439 

earned; student eligibility criteria; and the enrollment process 440 

and relevant deadlines;. 441 

3.(c) Describe the methods, medium, and process by which 442 

students and their parents are annually informed about the 443 

availability of the structured collegiate high school program, 444 

the return on investment associated with participation in the 445 

structured program, and the information described in 446 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì848558ZÎ848558 

 

Page 17 of 45 

2/19/2018 10:12:48 PM 581-03353-18 

subparagraphs 1. and 2.; paragraphs (a) and (b). 447 

4.(d) Identify the delivery methods for instruction and the 448 

instructors for all courses;. 449 

5.(e) Identify student advising services and progress 450 

monitoring mechanisms;. 451 

6.(f) Establish a program review and reporting mechanism 452 

regarding student performance outcomes; and. 453 

7.(g) Describe the terms of funding arrangements to 454 

implement the structured collegiate high school program pursuant 455 

to paragraph (5)(a). 456 

(3) STUDENT PERFORMANCE CONTRACT AND NOTIFICATION.— 457 

(a)(4) Each student participating in a structured 458 

collegiate high school program must enter into a student 459 

performance contract which must be signed by the student, the 460 

parent, and a representative of the school district and the 461 

applicable Florida College System institution, state university, 462 

or other institution participating pursuant to subsection (4) 463 

(5). The performance contract must, at a minimum, specify 464 

include the schedule of courses, by semester, and industry 465 

certifications to be taken by the student, if any; student 466 

attendance requirements;, and course grade requirements; and the 467 

applicability of such courses to an associate degree or a 468 

baccalaureate degree. 469 

(b) By September 1 of each school year, each district 470 

school board must notify each student enrolled in grades 9, 10, 471 

11, and 12 in a public school within the school district about 472 

the structured program, including, but not limited to: 473 

1. The method for earning college credit through 474 

participation in the structured program. The notification must 475 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì848558ZÎ848558 

 

Page 18 of 45 

2/19/2018 10:12:48 PM 581-03353-18 

include website links to the dual enrollment course equivalency 476 

list approved by the State Board of Education; the common degree 477 

program prerequisite requirements published by the Articulation 478 

Coordinating Committee pursuant to s. 1007.01(3)(f); the 479 

industry certification articulation agreements adopted by the 480 

State Board of Education in rule; and the approved meta-major 481 

academic pathways of the partner Florida College System 482 

institution and other eligible partner postsecondary 483 

institutions participating pursuant to subsection (4); and 484 

2. The estimated cost savings to students and their 485 

families resulting from students successfully completing 30 486 

credit hours applicable toward general education core courses or 487 

common prerequisite course requirements before graduating from 488 

high school versus the cost of earning such credit hours after 489 

graduating from high school. 490 

(4)(5) AUTHORIZED STRUCTURED PROGRAM CONTRACTS.—In addition 491 

to executing a contract with the local Florida College System 492 

institution under this section, a district school board may 493 

execute a contract to establish a structured collegiate high 494 

school program with a state university or an institution that is 495 

eligible to participate in the William L. Boyd, IV, Florida 496 

Resident Access Grant Program, that is a nonprofit independent 497 

college or university located and chartered in this state, and 498 

that is accredited by the Commission on Colleges of the Southern 499 

Association of Colleges and Schools to grant baccalaureate 500 

degrees. Such university or institution must meet the 501 

requirements specified under subsections (2) (3) and (3) (4). A 502 

charter school may execute a contract directly with the local 503 

Florida College System institution or another institution as 504 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì848558ZÎ848558 

 

Page 19 of 45 

2/19/2018 10:12:48 PM 581-03353-18 

authorized under this section to establish a structured program 505 

at a mutually agreed upon location. 506 

(5) FUNDING.— 507 

(a)(6) The structured collegiate high school program shall 508 

be funded pursuant to ss. 1007.271 and 1011.62. The State Board 509 

of Education shall enforce compliance with this section by 510 

withholding the transfer of funds for the school districts and 511 

the Florida College System institutions in accordance with s. 512 

1008.32. Annually, by December 31, the State Board of Education 513 

shall enforce compliance with this section by withholding the 514 

transfer of funds for the Florida College System institutions in 515 

accordance with s. 1008.32. 516 

(b) A student who enrolls in the structured program and 517 

successfully completes at least 30 college credit hours during a 518 

school year through the dual enrollment program under s. 519 

1007.271 generates a 0.5 full-time equivalent (FTE) bonus. A 520 

student who enrolls in the structured program and successfully 521 

completes an additional 30 college credit hours during a school 522 

year, resulting in at least 60 college credit hours through the 523 

dual enrollment program under s. 1007.271 applicable toward 524 

fulfilling the requirements for an associate in arts degree or 525 

an associate in science degree or a baccalaureate degree 526 

pursuant to the student performance contract under subsection 527 

(3), before graduating from high school, generates an additional 528 

0.5 FTE bonus. Each district school board that is a contractual 529 

partner with a Florida College System institution or other 530 

eligible postsecondary institution shall report to the 531 

commissioner the total FTE bonus for each structured program for 532 

the students from that school district. The total FTE bonus 533 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì848558ZÎ848558 

 

Page 20 of 45 

2/19/2018 10:12:48 PM 581-03353-18 

shall be added to each school district’s total weighted FTE for 534 

funding in the subsequent fiscal year. 535 

(c) For any industry certification a student attains under 536 

this section, the FTE bonus shall be calculated and awarded in 537 

accordance with s. 1011.62(1)(o). 538 

(6) REPORTING REQUIREMENTS.— 539 

(a) By September 1 of each school year, each district 540 

school superintendent shall report to the commissioner, at a 541 

minimum, the following information on each structured program 542 

administered during the prior school year: 543 

1. The number of students in public schools within the 544 

school district who enrolled in the structured program, and the 545 

partnering postsecondary institutions pursuant to subsections 546 

(2) and (4); 547 

2. The total and average number of dual enrollment courses 548 

completed, high school and college credits earned, standard high 549 

school diplomas and associate and baccalaureate degrees awarded, 550 

and the number of industry certifications attained, if any, by 551 

the students who enrolled in the structured program; 552 

3. The projected student enrollment in the structured 553 

program during the next school year; and 554 

4. Any barriers to executing contracts to establish one or 555 

more structured programs. 556 

(b) By November 30 of each school year, the commissioner 557 

must report to the Governor, the President of the Senate, and 558 

the Speaker of the House of Representatives the status of 559 

structured programs, including, at a minimum, a summary of 560 

student enrollment and completion information pursuant to this 561 

subsection; barriers, if any, to establishing such programs; and 562 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì848558ZÎ848558 

 

Page 21 of 45 

2/19/2018 10:12:48 PM 581-03353-18 

recommendations for expanding access to such programs statewide. 563 

Section 6. Paragraph (c) of subsection (3) and subsection 564 

(4) of section 1008.33, Florida Statutes, are amended to read: 565 

1008.33 Authority to enforce public school improvement.— 566 

(3) 567 

(c) The state board shall adopt by rule a differentiated 568 

matrix of intervention and support strategies for assisting 569 

traditional public schools identified under this section and 570 

rules for implementing s. 1002.33(9)(n), relating to charter 571 

schools. 572 

1. The intervention and support strategies must address 573 

efforts to improve student performance through one or more of 574 

the following strategies: and may include 575 

a. Improvement planning; 576 

b. Leadership quality improvement; 577 

c. Educator quality improvement; 578 

d. Professional development; 579 

e. Curriculum review, pacing, and alignment across grade 580 

levels to improve background knowledge in social studies, 581 

science, and the arts; and 582 

f. The use of continuous improvement and monitoring plans 583 

and processes. 584 

2. In addition, The state board may prescribe reporting 585 

requirements to review and monitor the progress of the schools. 586 

The rule must define the intervention and support strategies for 587 

school improvement for schools earning a grade of “D” or “F” and 588 

the roles for the district and department. 589 

(4)(a) The state board shall apply intensive intervention 590 

and support strategies tailored to the needs of schools earning 591 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì848558ZÎ848558 

 

Page 22 of 45 

2/19/2018 10:12:48 PM 581-03353-18 

two consecutive grades of “D” or a grade of “F.” In the first 592 

full school year after a school initially earns two consecutive 593 

grades of “D” or a grade of “F,” the school district must 594 

immediately implement intervention and support strategies 595 

prescribed in rule under paragraph (3)(c) and, by September 1, 596 

provide the department with the memorandum of understanding 597 

negotiated pursuant to s. 1001.42(21) and, by October 1, a 598 

district-managed turnaround plan for approval by the state 599 

board. The district-managed turnaround plan may include a 600 

proposal for the district to implement an extended school day, a 601 

summer program, or a combination of an extended school day and 602 

summer program. Upon approval by the state board, the school 603 

district must implement the plan for the remainder of the school 604 

year and continue the plan for 1 full school year. The state 605 

board may allow a school an additional year of implementation 606 

before the school must implement a turnaround option required 607 

under paragraph (b) if it determines that the school is likely 608 

to improve to a grade of “C” or higher after the first full 609 

school year of implementation. 610 

(b) Unless an additional year of implementation is provided 611 

pursuant to paragraph (a), a school that has completed 2 school 612 

years of a district-managed turnaround plan required under 613 

paragraph (a) and has not improved its school grade to a “C” or 614 

higher, pursuant to s. 1008.34, earns three consecutive grades 615 

below a “C” must implement one of the following options: 616 

1. Reassign students to another school and monitor the 617 

progress of each reassigned student.; 618 

2. Close the school and reopen the school as one or more 619 

charter schools, each with a governing board that has a 620 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì848558ZÎ848558 

 

Page 23 of 45 

2/19/2018 10:12:48 PM 581-03353-18 

demonstrated record of effectiveness. Such charter schools are 621 

eligible for funding from the hope supplemental services 622 

allocation established under s. 1011.62(16).; or 623 

3. Contract with an outside entity that has a demonstrated 624 

record of effectiveness to operate the school. An outside entity 625 

may include: 626 

a. A district-managed charter school in which all 627 

instructional personnel are not employees of the school 628 

district, but are employees of an independent governing board 629 

composed of members who did not participate in the review or 630 

approval of the charter. A district-managed charter school is 631 

eligible for funding from the hope supplemental services 632 

allocation established in s. 1011.62(16); or 633 

b. A hope operator that submits to a school district a 634 

notice of intent of a performance-based agreement pursuant to s. 635 

1002.333. A school of hope established pursuant to this sub-636 

subparagraph is eligible for funding from the hope supplemental 637 

services allocation for up to 5 years, beginning in the school 638 

year in which the school of hope is established, if the school 639 

of hope: 640 

(I) Is established at the district-owned facilities of the 641 

persistently low-performing school; 642 

(II) Gives priority enrollment to students who are enrolled 643 

in, or are eligible to attend and are living in the attendance 644 

area of, the persistently low-performing school that the school 645 

of hope operates, consistent with the enrollment lottery 646 

exemption provided under s. 1002.333(5)(c); and 647 

(III) Meets the requirements of its performance-based 648 

agreement pursuant to s. 1002.333. 649 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì848558ZÎ848558 

 

Page 24 of 45 

2/19/2018 10:12:48 PM 581-03353-18 

4. Implement a franchise model school in which a highly 650 

effective principal, pursuant to s. 1012.34, leads the 651 

persistently low-performing school in addition to the 652 

principal’s currently assigned school. The franchise model 653 

school principal may allocate resources and personnel between 654 

the schools he or she leads. The persistently low-performing 655 

school is eligible for funding from the hope supplemental 656 

services allocation established under s. 1011.62(16). 657 

(c) Implementation of the turnaround option is no longer 658 

required if the school improves to a grade of “C” or higher. 659 

(d) If a school earning two consecutive grades of “D” or a 660 

grade of “F” does not improve to a grade of “C” or higher after 661 

2 full school years of implementing the turnaround option 662 

selected by the school district under paragraph (b), the school 663 

district must implement another turnaround option. 664 

Implementation of the turnaround option must begin the school 665 

year following the implementation period of the existing 666 

turnaround option, unless the state board determines that the 667 

school is likely to improve to a grade of “C” or higher if 668 

additional time is provided to implement the existing turnaround 669 

option. 670 

Section 7. Present subsections (16) and (17) of section 671 

1011.62, Florida Statutes, are redesignated as subsections (19) 672 

and (20), respectively, new subsections (16) and (17) and 673 

subsection (18) are added to that section, and paragraph (a) of 674 

subsection (4) and subsection (14) of that section are amended, 675 

to read: 676 

1011.62 Funds for operation of schools.—If the annual 677 

allocation from the Florida Education Finance Program to each 678 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì848558ZÎ848558 

 

Page 25 of 45 

2/19/2018 10:12:48 PM 581-03353-18 

district for operation of schools is not determined in the 679 

annual appropriations act or the substantive bill implementing 680 

the annual appropriations act, it shall be determined as 681 

follows: 682 

(4) COMPUTATION OF DISTRICT REQUIRED LOCAL EFFORT.—The 683 

Legislature shall prescribe the aggregate required local effort 684 

for all school districts collectively as an item in the General 685 

Appropriations Act for each fiscal year. The amount that each 686 

district shall provide annually toward the cost of the Florida 687 

Education Finance Program for kindergarten through grade 12 688 

programs shall be calculated as follows: 689 

(a) Estimated taxable value calculations.— 690 

1.a. Not later than 2 working days before July 19, the 691 

Department of Revenue shall certify to the Commissioner of 692 

Education its most recent estimate of the taxable value for 693 

school purposes in each school district and the total for all 694 

school districts in the state for the current calendar year 695 

based on the latest available data obtained from the local 696 

property appraisers. The value certified shall be the taxable 697 

value for school purposes for that year, and no further 698 

adjustments shall be made, except those made pursuant to 699 

paragraphs (c) and (d), or an assessment roll change required by 700 

final judicial decisions as specified in paragraph (19)(b) 701 

(16)(b). Not later than July 19, the Commissioner of Education 702 

shall compute a millage rate, rounded to the next highest one 703 

one-thousandth of a mill, which, when applied to 96 percent of 704 

the estimated state total taxable value for school purposes, 705 

would generate the prescribed aggregate required local effort 706 

for that year for all districts. The Commissioner of Education 707 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì848558ZÎ848558 

 

Page 26 of 45 

2/19/2018 10:12:48 PM 581-03353-18 

shall certify to each district school board the millage rate, 708 

computed as prescribed in this subparagraph, as the minimum 709 

millage rate necessary to provide the district required local 710 

effort for that year. 711 

b. The General Appropriations Act shall direct the 712 

computation of the statewide adjusted aggregate amount for 713 

required local effort for all school districts collectively from 714 

ad valorem taxes to ensure that no school district’s revenue 715 

from required local effort millage will produce more than 90 716 

percent of the district’s total Florida Education Finance 717 

Program calculation as calculated and adopted by the 718 

Legislature, and the adjustment of the required local effort 719 

millage rate of each district that produces more than 90 percent 720 

of its total Florida Education Finance Program entitlement to a 721 

level that will produce only 90 percent of its total Florida 722 

Education Finance Program entitlement in the July calculation. 723 

2. On the same date as the certification in sub-724 

subparagraph 1.a., the Department of Revenue shall certify to 725 

the Commissioner of Education for each district: 726 

a. Each year for which the property appraiser has certified 727 

the taxable value pursuant to s. 193.122(2) or (3), if 728 

applicable, since the prior certification under sub-subparagraph 729 

1.a. 730 

b. For each year identified in sub-subparagraph a., the 731 

taxable value certified by the appraiser pursuant to s. 732 

193.122(2) or (3), if applicable, since the prior certification 733 

under sub-subparagraph 1.a. This is the certification that 734 

reflects all final administrative actions of the value 735 

adjustment board. 736 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì848558ZÎ848558 

 

Page 27 of 45 

2/19/2018 10:12:48 PM 581-03353-18 

(14) QUALITY ASSURANCE GUARANTEE.—The Legislature may 737 

annually in the General Appropriations Act determine a 738 

percentage increase in funds per K-12 unweighted FTE as a 739 

minimum guarantee to each school district. The guarantee shall 740 

be calculated from prior year base funding per unweighted FTE 741 

student which shall include the adjusted FTE dollars as provided 742 

in subsection (19) (16), quality guarantee funds, and actual 743 

nonvoted discretionary local effort from taxes. From the base 744 

funding per unweighted FTE, the increase shall be calculated for 745 

the current year. The current year funds from which the 746 

guarantee shall be determined shall include the adjusted FTE 747 

dollars as provided in subsection (19) (16) and potential 748 

nonvoted discretionary local effort from taxes. A comparison of 749 

current year funds per unweighted FTE to prior year funds per 750 

unweighted FTE shall be computed. For those school districts 751 

which have less than the legislatively assigned percentage 752 

increase, funds shall be provided to guarantee the assigned 753 

percentage increase in funds per unweighted FTE student. Should 754 

appropriated funds be less than the sum of this calculated 755 

amount for all districts, the commissioner shall prorate each 756 

district’s allocation. This provision shall be implemented to 757 

the extent specifically funded. 758 

(16) HOPE SUPPLEMENTAL SERVICES ALLOCATION.-The hope 759 

supplemental services allocation is created to provide district-760 

managed turnaround schools, as required under s. 1008.33(4)(a), 761 

charter schools authorized under s. 1008.33(4)(b)2., district-762 

managed charter schools authorized under s. 1008.33(4)(b)3.a., 763 

schools of hope authorized under s. 1008.33(4)(b)3.b., and 764 

franchise model schools as authorized under s. 1008.33(4)(b)4., 765 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì848558ZÎ848558 

 

Page 28 of 45 

2/19/2018 10:12:48 PM 581-03353-18 

with funds to offer services designed to improve the overall 766 

academic and community welfare of the schools’ students and 767 

their families. 768 

(a) Services funded by the allocation may include, but are 769 

not limited to, tutorial and after-school programs, student 770 

counseling, nutrition education, and parental counseling. In 771 

addition, services may also include models that develop a 772 

culture that encourages students to complete high school and to 773 

attend college or career training, set high academic 774 

expectations, inspire character development, and include an 775 

extended school day and school year. 776 

(b) Prior to distribution of the allocation, a school 777 

district, for a district turnaround school and persistently low-778 

performing schools that use a franchise model; a hope operator, 779 

for a school of hope; or the charter school governing board for 780 

a charter school, as applicable, shall develop and submit a plan 781 

for implementation to its respective governing body for approval 782 

no later than August 1 of the fiscal year. 783 

(c) At a minimum, the plans required under paragraph (b) 784 

must: 785 

1. Establish comprehensive support services that develop 786 

family and community partnerships; 787 

2. Establish clearly defined and measurable high academic 788 

and character standards; 789 

3. Increase parental involvement and engagement in the 790 

child’s education; 791 

4. Describe how instructional personnel will be identified, 792 

recruited, retained, and rewarded; 793 

5. Provide professional development that focuses on 794 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì848558ZÎ848558 

 

Page 29 of 45 

2/19/2018 10:12:48 PM 581-03353-18 

academic rigor, direct instruction, and creating high academic 795 

and character standards; and 796 

6. Provide focused instruction to improve student academic 797 

proficiency, which may include additional instruction time 798 

beyond the normal school day or school year. 799 

(d) Each school district and hope operator shall submit 800 

approved plans to the commissioner by September 1 of each fiscal 801 

year. 802 

(e) For the 2018-2019 fiscal year, a school that is 803 

selected to receive funding in the 2017-2018 fiscal year 804 

pursuant to s. 1002.333(10)(c) shall receive $2,000 per FTE. A 805 

district-managed turnaround school required under s. 806 

1008.33(4)(a), charter school authorized under s. 807 

1008.33(4)(b)2., district-managed charter school authorized 808 

under s. 1008.33(4)(b)3.a., school of hope authorized under s. 809 

1008.33(4)(b)3.b., and franchise model school authorized under 810 

s. 1008.33(4)(b)4. are eligible for the remaining funds based on 811 

the school’s unweighted FTE, up to $2,000 per FTE or as provided 812 

in the General Appropriations Act. 813 

(f) For the 2019-2020 fiscal year and thereafter, each 814 

school district’s allocation shall be based on the unweighted 815 

FTE student enrollment at the eligible schools and a per-FTE 816 

funding amount of up to $2,000 per FTE or as provided in the 817 

General Appropriations Act. If the calculated funds for 818 

unweighted FTE student enrollment at the eligible schools exceed 819 

the per-FTE funds appropriated, the allocation of funds to each 820 

school district must be prorated based on each school district’s 821 

share of the total unweighted FTE student enrollment for the 822 

eligible schools. 823 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì848558ZÎ848558 

 

Page 30 of 45 

2/19/2018 10:12:48 PM 581-03353-18 

(17) MENTAL HEALTH ASSISTANCE ALLOCATION.—The mental health 824 

assistance allocation is created to provide supplemental funding 825 

to assist school districts in establishing or expanding 826 

comprehensive school-based mental health programs that increase 827 

awareness of mental health issues among children and school-age 828 

youth; train educators and other school staff in detecting and 829 

responding to mental health issues; and connect children, youth, 830 

and families who may experience behavioral health issues with 831 

appropriate services. These funds may be allocated annually in 832 

the General Appropriations Act to each eligible school district 833 

and developmental research school based on each entity’s 834 

proportionate share of Florida Education Finance Program base 835 

funding. The district funding allocation must include a minimum 836 

amount as specified in the General Appropriations Act. Upon 837 

submission and approval of a plan that includes the elements 838 

specified in paragraph (b), charter schools are also entitled to 839 

a proportionate share of district funding for this program. The 840 

allocated funds may not supplant funds that are provided for 841 

this purpose from other operating funds and may not be used to 842 

increase salaries or provide bonuses. 843 

(a) Prior to the distribution of the allocation: 844 

1. The district must annually develop and submit a detailed 845 

plan outlining the local program and planned expenditures to the 846 

district school board for approval. 847 

2. A charter school must annually develop and submit a 848 

detailed plan outlining the local program and planned 849 

expenditures of the funds in the plan to its governing body for 850 

approval. After the plan is approved by the governing body, it 851 

must be provided to its school district for submission to the 852 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì848558ZÎ848558 

 

Page 31 of 45 

2/19/2018 10:12:48 PM 581-03353-18 

commissioner. 853 

(b) The plans required under paragraph (a) must include, at 854 

a minimum, all of the following elements: 855 

1. A collaborative effort or partnership between the school 856 

district and at least one local community program or agency 857 

involved in mental health to provide or to improve prevention, 858 

diagnosis, and treatment services for students; 859 

2. Programs to assist students in dealing with bullying, 860 

trauma, and violence; 861 

3. Strategies or programs to reduce the likelihood of at-862 

risk students developing social, emotional, or behavioral health 863 

problems or substance use disorders; 864 

4. Strategies to improve the early identification of 865 

social, emotional, or behavioral problems or substance use 866 

disorders and to improve the provision of early intervention 867 

services; 868 

5. Strategies to enhance the availability of school-based 869 

crisis intervention services and appropriate referrals for 870 

students in need of mental health services; and 871 

6. Training opportunities for school personnel in the 872 

techniques and supports needed to identify students who have 873 

trauma histories and who have or are at risk of having a mental 874 

illness, and in the use of referral mechanisms that effectively 875 

link such students to appropriate treatment and intervention 876 

services in the school and in the community. 877 

(c) The districts shall submit approved plans to the 878 

commissioner by August 1 of each fiscal year. 879 

(d) Beginning September 30, 2019, and by each September 30 880 

thereafter, each entity that receives an allocation under this 881 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì848558ZÎ848558 

 

Page 32 of 45 

2/19/2018 10:12:48 PM 581-03353-18 

subsection shall submit to the commissioner, in a format 882 

prescribed by the department, a final report on its program 883 

outcomes and its expenditures for each element of the program. 884 

(18) FUNDING COMPRESSION ALLOCATION.—The Legislature may 885 

provide an annual funding compression allocation in the General 886 

Appropriations Act. The allocation is created to provide 887 

additional funding to school districts and developmental 888 

research schools whose total funds per FTE in the prior year 889 

were less than the statewide average. Using the most recent 890 

prior year FEFP calculation for each eligible school district, 891 

the total funds per FTE shall be subtracted from the state 892 

average funds per FTE, not including any adjustments made 893 

pursuant to paragraph (19)(b). The resulting funds per FTE 894 

difference, or a portion thereof, as designated in the General 895 

Appropriations Act, shall then be multiplied by the school 896 

district’s total unweighted FTE to provide the allocation. If 897 

the calculated funds are greater than the amount included in the 898 

General Appropriations Act, they must be prorated to the 899 

appropriation amount based on each participating school 900 

district’s share. 901 

Section 8. Subsection (5) of section 1011.69, Florida 902 

Statutes, is amended to read: 903 

1011.69 Equity in School-Level Funding Act.— 904 

(5) After providing Title I, Part A, Basic funds to schools 905 

above the 75 percent poverty threshold, which may include high 906 

schools above the 50 percent threshold as allowed by federal 907 

law, school districts shall provide any remaining Title I, Part 908 

A, Basic funds directly to all eligible schools as provided in 909 

this subsection. For purposes of this subsection, an eligible 910 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì848558ZÎ848558 

 

Page 33 of 45 

2/19/2018 10:12:48 PM 581-03353-18 

school is a school that is eligible to receive Title I funds, 911 

including a charter school. The threshold for identifying 912 

eligible schools may not exceed the threshold established by a 913 

school district for the 2016-2017 school year or the statewide 914 

percentage of economically disadvantaged students, as determined 915 

annually. 916 

(a) Prior to the allocation of Title I funds to eligible 917 

schools, a school district may withhold funds only as follows: 918 

1. One percent for parent involvement, in addition to the 919 

one percent the district must reserve under federal law for 920 

allocations to eligible schools for parent involvement; 921 

2. A necessary and reasonable amount for administration;, 922 

3. which includes The district’s approved indirect cost 923 

rate, not to exceed a total of 8 percent; and 924 

4.3. A reasonable and necessary amount to provide: 925 

a. Homeless programs; 926 

b. Delinquent and neglected programs; 927 

c. Prekindergarten programs and activities; 928 

d. Private school equitable services; and 929 

e. Transportation for foster care children to their school 930 

of origin or choice programs; and. 931 

5. A necessary and reasonable amount for eligible schools 932 

to provide: 933 

a. Extended learning opportunities, such as summer school, 934 

before-school and after-school programs, and additional class 935 

periods of instruction during the school day; and 936 

b. Supplemental academic and enrichment services, staff 937 

development, and planning and curriculum, as well as wrap-around 938 

services. 939 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì848558ZÎ848558 

 

Page 34 of 45 

2/19/2018 10:12:48 PM 581-03353-18 

(b) All remaining Title I funds shall be distributed to all 940 

eligible schools in accordance with federal law and regulation. 941 

To maximize the efficient use of resources, school districts may 942 

allow eligible schools, not including charter schools, to An 943 

eligible school may use funds under this subsection for 944 

district-level to participate in discretionary educational 945 

services provided by the school district. 946 

Section 9. Subsection (5) of section 1011.71, Florida 947 

Statutes, is amended to read: 948 

1011.71 District school tax.— 949 

(5) Effective July 1, 2008, A school district may expend, 950 

subject to the provisions of s. 200.065, up to $150 $100 per 951 

unweighted full-time equivalent student from the revenue 952 

generated by the millage levy authorized by subsection (2) to 953 

fund, in addition to expenditures authorized in paragraphs 954 

(2)(a)-(j), expenses for the following: 955 

(a) The purchase, lease-purchase, or lease of driver’s 956 

education vehicles; motor vehicles used for the maintenance or 957 

operation of plants and equipment; security vehicles; or 958 

vehicles used in storing or distributing materials and 959 

equipment. 960 

(b) Payment of the cost of premiums, as defined in s. 961 

627.403, for property and casualty insurance necessary to insure 962 

school district educational and ancillary plants. As used in 963 

this paragraph, casualty insurance has the same meaning as in s. 964 

624.605(1)(d), (f), (g), (h), and (m). Operating revenues that 965 

are made available through the payment of property and casualty 966 

insurance premiums from revenues generated under this subsection 967 

may be expended only for nonrecurring operational expenditures 968 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì848558ZÎ848558 

 

Page 35 of 45 

2/19/2018 10:12:48 PM 581-03353-18 

of the school district. 969 

Section 10. Paragraph (c) of subsection (3) of section 970 

1012.731, Florida Statutes, is amended to read: 971 

1012.731 The Florida Best and Brightest Teacher Scholarship 972 

Program.— 973 

(3) 974 

(c) Notwithstanding the requirements of this subsection, 975 

for the 2017-2018, 2018-2019, and 2019-2020 school years, any 976 

classroom teacher who: 977 

1. Was evaluated as highly effective pursuant to s. 1012.34 978 

in the school year immediately preceding the year in which the 979 

scholarship will be awarded shall receive a scholarship of 980 

$1200, including a classroom teacher who received an award 981 

pursuant to paragraph (a). 982 

2. Was evaluated as effective pursuant to s. 1012.34 in the 983 

school year immediately preceding the year in which the 984 

scholarship will be awarded a scholarship of up to $800. If the 985 

number of eligible classroom teachers under this subparagraph 986 

exceeds the total allocation, the department shall prorate the 987 

per-teacher scholarship amount. 988 

 989 

This paragraph expires July 1, 2020. 990 

Section 11. Subsections (2), (3), and (4) of section 991 

1012.732, Florida Statutes, are amended to read: 992 

1012.732 The Florida Best and Brightest Principal 993 

Scholarship Program.— 994 

(2) There is created the Florida Best and Brightest 995 

Principal Scholarship Program to be administered by the 996 

Department of Education. The program shall provide categorical 997 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì848558ZÎ848558 

 

Page 36 of 45 

2/19/2018 10:12:48 PM 581-03353-18 

funding for scholarships to be awarded to school principals, as 998 

defined in s. 1012.01(3)(c)1., who are serving as a franchise 999 

model school principal or who have recruited and retained a high 1000 

percentage of best and brightest teachers. 1001 

(3)(a) A school principal identified pursuant to s. 1002 

1012.731(4)(c) is eligible to receive a scholarship under this 1003 

section if he or she has served as school principal at his or 1004 

her school for at least 2 consecutive school years including the 1005 

current school year and his or her school has a ratio of best 1006 

and brightest teachers to other classroom teachers that is at 1007 

the 80th percentile or higher for schools within the same grade 1008 

group, statewide, including elementary schools, middle schools, 1009 

high schools, and schools with a combination of grade levels. 1010 

(b) A principal of a franchise model school, as defined in 1011 

s. 1002.334, is eligible to receive a scholarship under this 1012 

section. 1013 

(4) Annually, by February 1, the department shall identify 1014 

eligible school principals and disburse funds to each school 1015 

district for each eligible school principal to receive a 1016 

scholarship. 1017 

(a) A scholarship of $10,000 $5,000 must be awarded to each 1018 

franchise model school principal who is every eligible under 1019 

paragraph (3)(b). 1020 

(b) A scholarship of $5,000 must be awarded to each school 1021 

principal assigned to a Title I school and a scholarship of 1022 

$4,000 to each every eligible school principal who is not 1023 

assigned to a Title I school and who is eligible under paragraph 1024 

(3)(a). 1025 

Section 12. Present paragraphs (a) through (d) of 1026 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì848558ZÎ848558 

 

Page 37 of 45 

2/19/2018 10:12:48 PM 581-03353-18 

subsection (1) of section 1013.31, Florida Statutes, are 1027 

redesignated as paragraphs (b) through (e), respectively, and a 1028 

new paragraph (a) is added to that subsection, to read: 1029 

1013.31 Educational plant survey; localized need 1030 

assessment; PECO project funding.— 1031 

(1) At least every 5 years, each board shall arrange for an 1032 

educational plant survey, to aid in formulating plans for 1033 

housing the educational program and student population, faculty, 1034 

administrators, staff, and auxiliary and ancillary services of 1035 

the district or campus, including consideration of the local 1036 

comprehensive plan. The Department of Education shall document 1037 

the need for additional career and adult education programs and 1038 

the continuation of existing programs before facility 1039 

construction or renovation related to career or adult education 1040 

may be included in the educational plant survey of a school 1041 

district or Florida College System institution that delivers 1042 

career or adult education programs. Information used by the 1043 

Department of Education to establish facility needs must 1044 

include, but need not be limited to, labor market data, needs 1045 

analysis, and information submitted by the school district or 1046 

Florida College System institution. 1047 

(a) Educational plant survey and localized need assessment 1048 

for capital outlay purposes.—A district may only use funds from 1049 

the following sources for educational, auxiliary, and ancillary 1050 

plant capital outlay purposes without needing a survey 1051 

recommendation: 1052 

1. The local capital outlay improvement fund, consisting of 1053 

funds that come from and are a part of the district’s basic 1054 

operating budget; 1055 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì848558ZÎ848558 

 

Page 38 of 45 

2/19/2018 10:12:48 PM 581-03353-18 

2. If a board decides to build an educational, auxiliary, 1056 

or ancillary facility without a survey recommendation and the 1057 

taxpayers approve a bond referendum, the voted bond referendum; 1058 

3. One-half cent sales surtax revenue; 1059 

4. One cent local governmental surtax revenue; 1060 

5. Impact fees; and 1061 

6. Private gifts or donations. 1062 

Section 13. Paragraph (e) is added to subsection (2) of 1063 

section 1013.385, Florida Statutes, to read: 1064 

1013.385 School district construction flexibility.— 1065 

(2) A resolution adopted under this section may propose 1066 

implementation of exceptions to requirements of the uniform 1067 

statewide building code for the planning and construction of 1068 

public educational and ancillary plants adopted pursuant to ss. 1069 

553.73 and 1013.37 relating to: 1070 

(e) Any other provisions that limit the ability of a school 1071 

to operate in a facility on the same basis as a charter school 1072 

pursuant to s. 1002.33(18) if the regional planning council 1073 

determines that there is sufficient shelter capacity within the 1074 

school district as documented in the Statewide Emergency Shelter 1075 

Plan. 1076 

Section 14. Subsection (3) of section 1013.62, Florida 1077 

Statutes, is amended, and paragraph (c) is added to subsection 1078 

(1) of that section, to read: 1079 

1013.62 Charter schools capital outlay funding.— 1080 

(1) Charter school capital outlay funding shall consist of 1081 

revenue resulting from the discretionary millage authorized in 1082 

s. 1011.71(2) and state funds when such funds are appropriated 1083 

in the General Appropriations Act. 1084 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì848558ZÎ848558 

 

Page 39 of 45 

2/19/2018 10:12:48 PM 581-03353-18 

(c) It is the intent of the Legislature that the public 1085 

interest be protected by prohibiting personal financial 1086 

enrichment by owners, operators, managers, real estate 1087 

developers, and other affiliated parties of charter schools. 1088 

Therefore, a charter school is not eligible for a funding 1089 

allocation unless the chair of the governing board and the chief 1090 

administrative officer of the charter school annually certify 1091 

under oath that the funds will be used solely and exclusively 1092 

for constructing, renovating, or improving charter school 1093 

facilities that are: 1094 

1. Owned by a school district, a political subdivision of 1095 

the state, a municipality, a Florida College System institution, 1096 

or a state university; 1097 

2. Owned by an organization that is qualified as an exempt 1098 

organization under s. 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code 1099 

whose articles of incorporation specify that, upon the 1100 

organization’s dissolution, the subject property will be 1101 

transferred to a school district, a political subdivision of the 1102 

state, a municipality, a Florida College System institution, or 1103 

a state university; or 1104 

3. Owned by and leased, at a fair market value in the 1105 

school district in which the charter school is located, from a 1106 

person or entity that is not an affiliated party of the charter 1107 

school. For the purposes of this subparagraph, the term 1108 

“affiliated party of the charter school” means the applicant for 1109 

the charter school pursuant to s. 1002.33; the governing board 1110 

of the charter school or a member of the governing board; the 1111 

charter school owner; the charter school principal; an employee 1112 

of the charter school; an independent contractor of the charter 1113 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì848558ZÎ848558 

 

Page 40 of 45 

2/19/2018 10:12:48 PM 581-03353-18 

school or the governing board of the charter school; a relative, 1114 

as defined in s. 1002.33(24)(a)2., of a charter school governing 1115 

board member, a charter school owner, a charter school 1116 

principal, a charter school employee, or an independent 1117 

contractor of a charter school or charter school governing 1118 

board; a subsidiary corporation, a service corporation, an 1119 

affiliated corporation, a parent corporation, a limited 1120 

liability company, a limited partnership, a trust, a 1121 

partnership, or a related party that, individually or through 1122 

one or more entities, shares common ownership or control and 1123 

directly or indirectly manages, administers, controls, or 1124 

oversees the operation of the charter school; or any person or 1125 

entity, individually or through one or more entities that share 1126 

common ownership, which directly or indirectly manages, 1127 

administers, controls, or oversees the operation of any of the 1128 

foregoing. 1129 

(3) If the school board levies the discretionary millage 1130 

authorized in s. 1011.71(2), the department shall use the 1131 

following calculation methodology to determine the amount of 1132 

revenue that a school district must distribute to each eligible 1133 

charter school: 1134 

(a) Reduce the total discretionary millage revenue by the 1135 

school district’s annual debt service obligation incurred as of 1136 

March 1, 2017, and any amount of participation requirement 1137 

pursuant to s. 1013.64(2)(a)8. that is being satisfied by 1138 

revenues raised by the discretionary millage. 1139 

(b) Divide the school district’s adjusted discretionary 1140 

millage revenue by the district’s total capital outlay full-time 1141 

equivalent membership and the total number of unweighted full-1142 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì848558ZÎ848558 

 

Page 41 of 45 

2/19/2018 10:12:48 PM 581-03353-18 

time equivalent students of each eligible charter school to 1143 

determine a capital outlay allocation per full-time equivalent 1144 

student. 1145 

(c) Multiply the capital outlay allocation per full-time 1146 

equivalent student by the total number of full-time equivalent 1147 

students for all of each eligible charter schools within the 1148 

district school to determine the total charter school capital 1149 

outlay allocation for each district charter school. 1150 

(d) If applicable, reduce the capital outlay allocation 1151 

identified in paragraph (c) by the total amount of state funds 1152 

allocated pursuant to subsection (2) to all each eligible 1153 

charter schools within a district school in subsection (2) to 1154 

determine the net total maximum calculated capital outlay 1155 

allocation from local funds. If state funds are not allocated 1156 

pursuant to subsection (2), the amount determined in paragraph 1157 

(c) is equal to the net total calculated capital outlay 1158 

allocation from local funds for each district. 1159 

(e) For each charter school within each district, the net 1160 

capital outlay amount from local funds shall be calculated in 1161 

the same manner as the state funds in paragraphs (2)(a)-(d), 1162 

except that the base charter school per weighted FTE allocation 1163 

amount shall be determined by dividing the net total capital 1164 

outlay amount from local funds by the total weighted FTE for all 1165 

eligible charter schools within the district. The per weighted 1166 

FTE allocation amount from local funds shall be multiplied by 1167 

the weighted FTE for each charter school to determine each 1168 

charter school’s capital outlay allocation from local funds. 1169 

(f)(e) School districts shall distribute capital outlay 1170 

funds to charter schools no later than February 1 of each year, 1171 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì848558ZÎ848558 

 

Page 42 of 45 

2/19/2018 10:12:48 PM 581-03353-18 

beginning on February 1, 2018, for the 2017-2018 fiscal year. 1172 

Section 15. This act shall take effect July 1, 2018. 1173 

 1174 

================= T I T L E  A M E N D M E N T ================ 1175 

And the title is amended as follows: 1176 

Delete everything before the enacting clause 1177 

and insert: 1178 

A bill to be entitled 1179 

An act relating to K-12 education; amending s. 1180 

1002.33, F.S.; extending the period of time for which 1181 

a charter school may defer its opening for specified 1182 

reasons; amending s. 1002.331, F.S.; revising the 1183 

requirements for a charter school to be considered a 1184 

high-performing charter school; amending s. 1002.333, 1185 

F.S.; redefining the terms “persistently low-1186 

performing school” and “school of hope”; revising the 1187 

contents of a school of hope notice of intent and 1188 

performance-based agreement; revising school of hope 1189 

facility requirements; specifying that certain schools 1190 

of hope are eligible to receive hope supplemental 1191 

service allocation funds; requiring the State Board of 1192 

Education to provide awards to all eligible schools 1193 

that meet certain requirements; prohibiting a school 1194 

of hope operator or owner from serving as the 1195 

principal of a school of hope that he or she manages; 1196 

conforming cross-references; creating s. 1002.334, 1197 

F.S.; defining the term “franchise model school”; 1198 

authorizing specified schools to use a franchise model 1199 

school as a turnaround option; specifying requirements 1200 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì848558ZÎ848558 

 

Page 43 of 45 

2/19/2018 10:12:48 PM 581-03353-18 

for a franchise model school principal; amending s. 1201 

1007.273, F.S.; defining the term “structured 1202 

program”; providing additional options for students 1203 

participating in a structured program; prohibiting a 1204 

district school board from limiting the number of 1205 

public school students who may participate in a 1206 

structured program; revising contract requirements; 1207 

requiring each district school board to annually 1208 

notify students in certain grades of certain 1209 

information about the structured program, by a 1210 

specified date; revising provisions relating to 1211 

funding; requiring the state board to enforce 1212 

compliance with certain provisions by a specified date 1213 

each year; providing reporting requirements; amending 1214 

s. 1008.33, F.S.; revising the turnaround options 1215 

available for certain schools; amending s. 1011.62, 1216 

F.S.; creating the hope supplemental services 1217 

allocation; providing the purpose of the allocation; 1218 

specifying the services that may be funded by the 1219 

allocation; providing that implementation plans may 1220 

include certain models; providing requirements for 1221 

implementation plans; providing for the allocation of 1222 

funds in specified fiscal years; creating the mental 1223 

health assistance allocation; providing the purpose of 1224 

the allocation; providing for the annual allocation of 1225 

such funds on a specified basis; prohibiting the use 1226 

of allocated funds to supplant funds provided from 1227 

other operating funds, to increase salaries, or to 1228 

provide bonuses; providing requirements for school 1229 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì848558ZÎ848558 

 

Page 44 of 45 

2/19/2018 10:12:48 PM 581-03353-18 

districts and charter schools; providing that required 1230 

plans must include certain elements; requiring school 1231 

districts to annually submit approved plans to the 1232 

Commissioner of Education by a specified date; 1233 

requiring that entities that receive such allocations 1234 

annually submit a final report on program outcomes and 1235 

specific expenditures to the commissioner by a 1236 

specified date; creating the funding compression 1237 

allocation; providing the purpose of the allocation; 1238 

authorizing funding for the annual allocation for 1239 

specified purposes; providing the calculation for the 1240 

allocation; amending s. 1011.69, F.S.; revising the 1241 

types of funds school districts may withhold before 1242 

allocating certain Title I funds to eligible schools; 1243 

authorizing school districts to use such funds for 1244 

specified purposes; amending s. 1011.71, F.S.; 1245 

increasing the amount that a school district may 1246 

expend from a specified millage levy for certain 1247 

expenses; amending s. 1012.731, F.S.; deleting Florida 1248 

Best and Brightest Teacher Scholarship Program 1249 

scholarship awards authorized for specific school 1250 

years; amending s. 1012.732, F.S.; specifying that a 1251 

franchise model school principal is eligible to 1252 

receive a Florida Best and Brightest Principal 1253 

scholarship; requiring specified awards for eligible 1254 

principals; amending s. 1013.31, F.S.; authorizing a 1255 

district to use certain sources of funds for 1256 

educational, auxiliary, and ancillary plant capital 1257 

outlay purposes without needing a survey 1258 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì848558ZÎ848558 

 

Page 45 of 45 

2/19/2018 10:12:48 PM 581-03353-18 

recommendation; amending s. 1013.385, F.S.; providing 1259 

additional exceptions to certain building code 1260 

regulations for school districts; amending s. 1013.62, 1261 

F.S.; providing legislative intent; prohibiting a 1262 

charter school from being eligible for capital outlay 1263 

funds unless the chair of the governing board and the 1264 

chief administrative officer of the charter school 1265 

annually certify certain information; defining the 1266 

term “affiliated party of the charter school”; 1267 

revising the Department of Education’s calculation 1268 

methodology for a school district’s distribution of 1269 

discretionary millage to its eligible charter schools; 1270 

providing an effective date. 1271 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 1 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

LEGISLATIVE ACTION 

Senate 

Comm: FAV 

02/21/2018 

 

 

 

 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

 

House 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Committee on Education (Hukill) recommended the following: 

 

Senate Amendment (with title amendment) 1 

 2 

Delete everything after the enacting clause 3 

and insert: 4 

Section 1. Section 212.1832, Florida Statutes, is created 5 

to read: 6 

212.1832 Credit for contributions to the Hope Scholarship 7 

Program.— 8 

(1) Upon adoption of rules, the purchaser of a motor 9 

vehicle shall be granted a credit of 100 percent of an eligible 10 

contribution made to an eligible nonprofit scholarship-funding 11 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 2 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

organization under s. 1002.40 against any tax imposed by the 12 

state and collected from the purchaser by a dealer, designated 13 

agent, or private tag agent as a result of the purchase or 14 

acquisition of a motor vehicle. For purposes of this subsection, 15 

the term “purchase” does not include the lease or rental of a 16 

motor vehicle. 17 

(2) A dealer shall take a credit against any tax imposed by 18 

the state under this chapter on the purchase of a motor vehicle 19 

in an amount equal to the credit granted to the purchaser under 20 

subsection (1). 21 

(3) For purposes of the distributions of tax revenue under 22 

s. 212.20, the department shall disregard any tax credits 23 

allowed under this section to ensure that any reduction in tax 24 

revenue received that is attributable to the tax credits results 25 

only in a reduction in distributions to the General Revenue 26 

Fund. The provisions of s. 1002.40 apply to the credit 27 

authorized by this section. 28 

Section 2. Subsection (21) is added to section 213.053, 29 

Florida Statutes, to read: 30 

213.053 Confidentiality and information sharing.— 31 

(21)(a) The department may provide to an eligible nonprofit 32 

scholarship-funding organization, as defined in s. 1002.40, a 33 

dealer’s name, address, federal employer identification number, 34 

and information related to differences between credits taken by 35 

the dealer pursuant to s. 212.1832(2) and amounts remitted to 36 

the eligible nonprofit scholarship-funding organization under s. 37 

1002.40(13)(b)3. The eligible nonprofit scholarship-funding 38 

organization may use the information for purposes of recovering 39 

eligible contributions designated for that organization that 40 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 3 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

were collected by the dealer but never remitted to the 41 

organization. 42 

(b) Nothing in this subsection authorizes the disclosure of 43 

information if such disclosure is prohibited by federal law. An 44 

eligible nonprofit scholarship-funding organization is bound by 45 

the same requirements of confidentiality and the same penalties 46 

for a violation of the requirements as the department. 47 

Section 3. Effective July 1, 2019, chapter 623, Florida 48 

Statutes, consisting of sections 623.01, 623.02, 623.03, 623.04, 49 

623.05, 623.06, 623.07, 623.08, 623.09, 623.10, 623.11, 623.12, 50 

623.13, and 623.14, is repealed. 51 

Section 4. Subsections (4) and (5) of section 1001.10, 52 

Florida Statutes, are amended to read: 53 

1001.10 Commissioner of Education; general powers and 54 

duties.— 55 

(4) The Department of Education shall provide technical 56 

assistance to school districts, charter schools, the Florida 57 

School for the Deaf and the Blind, and private schools that 58 

accept scholarship students under s. 1002.385, s. 1002.39, or s. 59 

1002.395, or another state scholarship program under chapter 60 

1002 in the development of policies, procedures, and training 61 

related to employment practices and standards of ethical conduct 62 

for instructional personnel and school administrators, as 63 

defined in s. 1012.01. 64 

(5) The Department of Education shall provide authorized 65 

staff of school districts, charter schools, the Florida School 66 

for the Deaf and the Blind, and private schools that accept 67 

scholarship students under s. 1002.385, s. 1002.39, or s. 68 

1002.395, or another state scholarship program under chapter 69 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 4 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

1002 with access to electronic verification of information from 70 

the following employment screening tools: 71 

(a) The Professional Practices’ Database of Disciplinary 72 

Actions Against Educators; and 73 

(b) The Department of Education’s Teacher Certification 74 

Database. 75 

 76 

This subsection does not require the department to provide these 77 

staff with unlimited access to the databases. However, the 78 

department shall provide the staff with access to the data 79 

necessary for performing employment history checks of the 80 

instructional personnel and school administrators included in 81 

the databases. 82 

Section 5. Section 1001.4205, Florida Statutes, is amended 83 

to read: 84 

1001.4205 Visitation of schools by an individual school 85 

board or charter school governing board member.—An individual 86 

member of a district school board may, on any day and at any 87 

time at his or her pleasure, visit any district school in his or 88 

her school district. An individual member of the State 89 

Legislature may, on any day and at any time at his or her 90 

pleasure, visit any district school, including any charter 91 

school, in his or her legislative district. An individual member 92 

of a charter school governing board member may, on any day and 93 

at any time at his or her pleasure, visit any charter school 94 

governed by the charter school’s governing board. 95 

(1) The visiting individual board member must sign in and 96 

sign out at the school’s main office and wear his or her board 97 

or State Legislature identification badge, as applicable, at all 98 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 5 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

times while present on school premises. 99 

(2) The board, the school, or any other person or entity, 100 

including, but not limited to, the principal of the school, the 101 

school superintendent, or any other board member, may not 102 

require the visiting individual board member to provide notice 103 

before visiting the school. 104 

(3) The school may offer, but may not require, an escort to 105 

accompany the a visiting individual board member during the 106 

visit. 107 

(4) A Another board member or a district employee, 108 

including, but not limited to, the superintendent, the school 109 

principal, or the superintendent’s or the principal’s his or her 110 

designee, may not limit the duration or scope of the visit or 111 

direct the a visiting individual board member to leave the 112 

premises. 113 

(5) A board, district, or school administrative policy or 114 

practice may not prohibit or limit the authority granted to the 115 

visiting individual a board member under this section. 116 

Section 6. Section 1002.01, Florida Statutes, is amended to 117 

read: 118 

1002.01 Definitions.— 119 

(1) A “home education program” means the sequentially 120 

progressive instruction of a student directed by his or her 121 

parent in order to satisfy the attendance requirements of ss. 122 

1002.41, 1003.01(13), and 1003.21(1). 123 

(2) A “private school” is a nonpublic school that is 124 

registered in accordance with s. 1002.42 and is defined as an 125 

individual, association, copartnership, or corporation, or 126 

department, division, or section of such organizations, that 127 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 6 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

designates itself as an educational center that includes 128 

kindergarten or a higher grade or as an elementary, secondary, 129 

business, technical, or trade school below college level or any 130 

organization that provides instructional services that meet the 131 

intent of s. 1003.01(13) or that gives preemployment or 132 

supplementary training in technology or in fields of trade or 133 

industry or that offers academic, literary, or career training 134 

below college level, or any combination of the above, including 135 

an institution that performs the functions of the above schools 136 

through correspondence or extension, except those licensed under 137 

the provisions of chapter 1005. A private school may be a 138 

parochial, religious, denominational, for-profit, or nonprofit 139 

school attended by a student in order to satisfy the attendance 140 

requirements of s. 1003.01(13). This definition does not include 141 

home education programs conducted in accordance with s. 1002.41. 142 

(3) For purposes of this chapter, a “scholarship program” 143 

means any one of the following: 144 

(a) The Opportunity Scholarship Program established 145 

pursuant to s. 1002.38. 146 

(b) The Gardiner Scholarship Program established pursuant 147 

to s. 1002.385. 148 

(c) The John M. McKay Scholarships for Students with 149 

Disabilities Program established pursuant to s. 1002.39. 150 

(d) The Florida Tax Credit Scholarship Program established 151 

pursuant to s. 1002.395. 152 

(e) The Hope Scholarship Program established pursuant to s. 153 

1002.40. 154 

Section 7. Paragraph (b) of subsection (2) and subsection 155 

(6) of section 1002.20, Florida Statutes, are amended to read: 156 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 7 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

1002.20 K-12 student and parent rights.—Parents of public 157 

school students must receive accurate and timely information 158 

regarding their child’s academic progress and must be informed 159 

of ways they can help their child to succeed in school. K-12 160 

students and their parents are afforded numerous statutory 161 

rights including, but not limited to, the following: 162 

(2) ATTENDANCE.— 163 

(b) Regular school attendance.—Parents of students who have 164 

attained the age of 6 years by February 1 of any school year but 165 

who have not attained the age of 16 years must comply with the 166 

compulsory school attendance laws. Parents have the option to 167 

comply with the school attendance laws by attendance of the 168 

student in a public school; a private parochial, religious, or 169 

denominational school; a private school; or a home education 170 

program; or a private tutoring program, in accordance with the 171 

provisions of s. 1003.01(13). 172 

(6) EDUCATIONAL CHOICE.— 173 

(a) Public educational school choices.—Parents of public 174 

school students may seek any public educational school choice 175 

options that are applicable and available to students throughout 176 

the state. These options may include controlled open enrollment, 177 

single-gender programs, lab schools, virtual instruction 178 

programs, charter schools, charter technical career centers, 179 

magnet schools, alternative schools, special programs, auditory-180 

oral education programs, advanced placement, dual enrollment, 181 

International Baccalaureate, International General Certificate 182 

of Secondary Education (pre-AICE), CAPE digital tools, CAPE 183 

industry certifications, collegiate high school programs, 184 

Advanced International Certificate of Education, early 185 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 8 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

admissions, credit by examination or demonstration of 186 

competency, the New World School of the Arts, the Florida School 187 

for the Deaf and the Blind, and the Florida Virtual School. 188 

These options may also include the public educational choice 189 

options of the Opportunity Scholarship Program and the McKay 190 

Scholarships for Students with Disabilities Program. 191 

(b) Private educational choices.—The parent of a student 192 

may choose to enroll the student in a private school, as defined 193 

in s. 1002.01(2). Parents of public school students may seek 194 

private educational choice options under certain programs. 195 

1. Under the McKay Scholarships for Students with 196 

Disabilities Program, the parent of a public school student with 197 

a disability may request and receive a McKay Scholarship for the 198 

student to attend a private school in accordance with s. 199 

1002.39. 200 

2. Under the Florida Tax Credit Scholarship Program, the 201 

parent of a student who qualifies for free or reduced-price 202 

school lunch or who is currently placed, or during the previous 203 

state fiscal year was placed, in foster care as defined in s. 204 

39.01 may seek a scholarship from an eligible nonprofit 205 

scholarship-funding organization in accordance with s. 1002.395. 206 

3. Under the Gardiner Scholarship Program Florida Personal 207 

Learning Scholarship Accounts Program, the parent of a student 208 

with a qualifying disability may apply for a Gardiner 209 

Scholarship personal learning scholarship to be used for 210 

individual educational needs in accordance with s. 1002.385. 211 

4. Under the Hope Scholarship Program, the parent of a 212 

student who was the victim of a substantiated incident of 213 

violence or abuse while attending a public school may seek a 214 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 9 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

scholarship for the student to attend a private school in 215 

accordance with s. 1002.40. 216 

(c) Home education.—The parent of a student may choose to 217 

place the student in a home education program, as defined in s. 218 

1002.01(1), in accordance with the provisions of s. 1002.41. 219 

(d) Private tutoring.—The parent of a student may choose to 220 

place the student in a private tutoring program in accordance 221 

with the provisions of s. 1002.43(1). 222 

Section 8. Paragraph (b) of subsection (6) of section 223 

1002.33, Florida Statutes, is amended to read: 224 

1002.33 Charter schools.— 225 

(6) APPLICATION PROCESS AND REVIEW.—Charter school 226 

applications are subject to the following requirements: 227 

(b) A sponsor shall receive and review all applications for 228 

a charter school using the evaluation instrument developed by 229 

the Department of Education. A sponsor shall receive and 230 

consider charter school applications received on or before 231 

August 1 of each calendar year for charter schools to be opened 232 

at the beginning of the school district’s next school year, or 233 

to be opened at a time agreed to by the applicant and the 234 

sponsor. A sponsor may not refuse to receive a charter school 235 

application submitted before August 1 and may receive an 236 

application submitted later than August 1 if it chooses. 237 

Beginning in 2018 and thereafter, a sponsor shall receive and 238 

consider charter school applications received on or before 239 

February 1 of each calendar year for charter schools to be 240 

opened 18 months later at the beginning of the school district’s 241 

school year, or to be opened at a time agreed to by the 242 

applicant and the sponsor. A sponsor may not refuse to receive a 243 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 10 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

charter school application submitted before February 1 and may 244 

receive an application submitted later than February 1 if it 245 

chooses. A sponsor may not charge an applicant for a charter any 246 

fee for the processing or consideration of an application, and a 247 

sponsor may not base its consideration or approval of a final 248 

application upon the promise of future payment of any kind. 249 

Before approving or denying any application, the sponsor shall 250 

allow the applicant, upon receipt of written notification, at 251 

least 7 calendar days to make technical or nonsubstantive 252 

corrections and clarifications, including, but not limited to, 253 

corrections of grammatical, typographical, and like errors or 254 

missing signatures, if such errors are identified by the sponsor 255 

as cause to deny the final application. 256 

1. In order to facilitate an accurate budget projection 257 

process, a sponsor shall be held harmless for FTE students who 258 

are not included in the FTE projection due to approval of 259 

charter school applications after the FTE projection deadline. 260 

In a further effort to facilitate an accurate budget projection, 261 

within 15 calendar days after receipt of a charter school 262 

application, a sponsor shall report to the Department of 263 

Education the name of the applicant entity, the proposed charter 264 

school location, and its projected FTE. 265 

2. In order to ensure fiscal responsibility, an application 266 

for a charter school shall include a full accounting of expected 267 

assets, a projection of expected sources and amounts of income, 268 

including income derived from projected student enrollments and 269 

from community support, and an expense projection that includes 270 

full accounting of the costs of operation, including start-up 271 

costs. 272 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 11 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

3.a. A sponsor shall by a majority vote approve or deny an 273 

application no later than 90 calendar days after the application 274 

is received, unless the sponsor and the applicant mutually agree 275 

in writing to temporarily postpone the vote to a specific date, 276 

at which time the sponsor shall by a majority vote approve or 277 

deny the application. If the sponsor fails to act on the 278 

application, an applicant may appeal to the State Board of 279 

Education as provided in paragraph (c). If an application is 280 

denied, the sponsor shall, within 10 calendar days after such 281 

denial, articulate in writing the specific reasons, based upon 282 

good cause, supporting its denial of the application and shall 283 

provide the letter of denial and supporting documentation to the 284 

applicant and to the Department of Education. 285 

b. An application submitted by a high-performing charter 286 

school identified pursuant to s. 1002.331 or a high-performing 287 

charter school system identified pursuant to s. 1002.332 may be 288 

denied by the sponsor only if the sponsor demonstrates by clear 289 

and convincing evidence that: 290 

(I) The application does not materially comply with the 291 

requirements in paragraph (a); 292 

(II) The charter school proposed in the application does 293 

not materially comply with the requirements in paragraphs 294 

(9)(a)-(f); 295 

(III) The proposed charter school’s educational program 296 

does not substantially replicate that of the applicant or one of 297 

the applicant’s high-performing charter schools; 298 

(IV) The applicant has made a material misrepresentation or 299 

false statement or concealed an essential or material fact 300 

during the application process; or 301 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 12 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

(V) The proposed charter school’s educational program and 302 

financial management practices do not materially comply with the 303 

requirements of this section. 304 

 305 

Material noncompliance is a failure to follow requirements or a 306 

violation of prohibitions applicable to charter school 307 

applications, which failure is quantitatively or qualitatively 308 

significant either individually or when aggregated with other 309 

noncompliance. An applicant is considered to be replicating a 310 

high-performing charter school if the proposed school is 311 

substantially similar to at least one of the applicant’s high-312 

performing charter schools and the organization or individuals 313 

involved in the establishment and operation of the proposed 314 

school are significantly involved in the operation of replicated 315 

schools. 316 

c. If the sponsor denies an application submitted by a 317 

high-performing charter school or a high-performing charter 318 

school system, the sponsor must, within 10 calendar days after 319 

such denial, state in writing the specific reasons, based upon 320 

the criteria in sub-subparagraph b., supporting its denial of 321 

the application and must provide the letter of denial and 322 

supporting documentation to the applicant and to the Department 323 

of Education. The applicant may appeal the sponsor’s denial of 324 

the application in accordance with paragraph (c). 325 

4. For budget projection purposes, the sponsor shall report 326 

to the Department of Education the approval or denial of an 327 

application within 10 calendar days after such approval or 328 

denial. In the event of approval, the report to the Department 329 

of Education shall include the final projected FTE for the 330 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 13 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

approved charter school. 331 

5. Upon approval of an application, the initial startup 332 

shall commence with the beginning of the public school calendar 333 

for the district in which the charter is granted. A charter 334 

school may defer the opening of the school’s operations for up 335 

to 3 2 years to provide time for adequate facility planning. The 336 

charter school must provide written notice of such intent to the 337 

sponsor and the parents of enrolled students at least 30 338 

calendar days before the first day of school. 339 

Section 9. Subsection (1) of section 1002.331, Florida 340 

Statutes, is amended to read: 341 

1002.331 High-performing charter schools.— 342 

(1) A charter school is a high-performing charter school if 343 

it: 344 

(a) Received at least two school grades of “A” and no 345 

school grade below “B,” pursuant to s. 1008.34, during each of 346 

the previous 3 school years or received at least two consecutive 347 

school grades of “A” in the most recent 2 school years. 348 

(b) Received an unqualified opinion on each annual 349 

financial audit required under s. 218.39 in the most recent 3 350 

fiscal years for which such audits are available. 351 

(c) Did not receive a financial audit that revealed one or 352 

more of the financial emergency conditions set forth in s. 353 

218.503(1) in the most recent 3 fiscal years for which such 354 

audits are available. However, this requirement is deemed met 355 

for a charter school-in-the-workplace if there is a finding in 356 

an audit that the school has the monetary resources available to 357 

cover any reported deficiency or that the deficiency does not 358 

result in a deteriorating financial condition pursuant to s. 359 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 14 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

1002.345(1)(a)3. 360 

 361 

For purposes of determining initial eligibility, the 362 

requirements of paragraphs (b) and (c) only apply to the most 363 

recent 2 fiscal years if the charter school earns two 364 

consecutive grades of “A.” A virtual charter school established 365 

under s. 1002.33 is not eligible for designation as a high-366 

performing charter school. 367 

Section 10. Present subsections (11) and (12) of section 368 

1002.333, Florida Statutes, are redesignated as subsections (12) 369 

and (13), respectively, a new subsection (11) is added to that 370 

section, and subsections (1) and (2), paragraph (a) of 371 

subsection (4), paragraphs (b), (g), and (i) of subsection (5), 372 

paragraph (a) of subsection (7), subsection (9), and paragraph 373 

(b) of subsection (10) of that section are amended, to read: 374 

1002.333 Persistently low-performing schools.— 375 

(1) DEFINITIONS.—As used in this section, the term: 376 

(a) “Hope operator” means an entity identified by the 377 

department pursuant to subsection (2). 378 

(b) “Persistently low-performing school” means a school 379 

that has completed 2 school years of a district-managed 380 

turnaround plan required under s. 1008.33(4)(a) and has not 381 

improved its school grade to a “C” or higher, earned three 382 

consecutive grades lower than a “C,” pursuant to s. 1008.34, and 383 

a school that was closed pursuant to s. 1008.33(4) within 2 384 

years after the submission of a notice of intent. 385 

(c) “School of hope” means: 386 

1. A charter school operated by a hope operator which 387 

serves students from one or more persistently low-performing 388 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 15 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

schools; is located in the attendance zone of a persistently 389 

low-performing school or within a 5-mile radius of such school, 390 

whichever is greater; and is a Title I eligible school; or 391 

2. A school operated by a hope operator pursuant to s. 392 

1008.33(4)(b)3.b. s. 1008.33(4)(b)3. 393 

(2) HOPE OPERATOR.—A hope operator is a nonprofit 394 

organization with tax exempt status under s. 501(c)(3) of the 395 

Internal Revenue Code which that operates three or more charter 396 

schools that serve students in grades K-12 in Florida or other 397 

states with a record of serving students from low-income 398 

families and is designated by the State Board of Education as a 399 

hope operator based on a determination that: 400 

(a) The past performance of the hope operator meets or 401 

exceeds the following criteria: 402 

1. The achievement of enrolled students exceeds the 403 

district and state averages of the states in which the 404 

operator’s schools operate; 405 

2. The average college attendance rate at all schools 406 

currently operated by the operator exceeds 80 percent, if such 407 

data is available; 408 

3. The percentage of students eligible for a free or 409 

reduced price lunch under the National School Lunch Act enrolled 410 

at all schools currently operated by the operator exceeds 70 411 

percent; 412 

4. The operator is in good standing with the authorizer in 413 

each state in which it operates; 414 

5. The audited financial statements of the operator are 415 

free of material misstatements and going concern issues; and 416 

6. Other outcome measures as determined by the State Board 417 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 16 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

of Education; 418 

(b) The operator was awarded a United States Department of 419 

Education Charter School Program Grant for Replication and 420 

Expansion of High-Quality Charter Schools within the preceding 3 421 

years before applying to be a hope operator; 422 

(c) The operator receives funding through the National Fund 423 

of the Charter School Growth Fund to accelerate the growth of 424 

the nation’s best charter schools; or 425 

(d) The operator is selected by a district school board in 426 

accordance with s. 1008.33. 427 

 428 

An entity that meets the requirements of paragraph (b), 429 

paragraph (c), or paragraph (d) before the adoption by the state 430 

board of measurable criteria pursuant to paragraph (a) shall be 431 

designated as a hope operator. After the adoption of the 432 

measurable criteria, an entity, including a governing board that 433 

operates a school established pursuant to s. 1008.33(4)(b)3.b. 434 

s. 1008.33(4)(b)3., shall be designated as a hope operator if it 435 

meets the criteria of paragraph (a). 436 

(4) ESTABLISHMENT OF SCHOOLS OF HOPE.—A hope operator 437 

seeking to open a school of hope must submit a notice of intent 438 

to the school district in which a persistently low-performing 439 

school has been identified by the State Board of Education 440 

pursuant to subsection (10). 441 

(a) The notice of intent must include all of the following: 442 

1. An academic focus and plan. 443 

2. A financial plan. 444 

3. Goals and objectives for increasing student achievement 445 

for the students from low-income families. 446 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 17 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

4. A completed or planned community outreach plan. 447 

5. The organizational history of success in working with 448 

students with similar demographics. 449 

6. The grade levels to be served and enrollment 450 

projections. 451 

7. The specific proposed location or geographic area 452 

proposed for the school and its proximity to the persistently 453 

low-performing school or the plan to use the district-owned 454 

facilities of the persistently low-performing school. 455 

8. A staffing plan. 456 

9. An operations plan specifying the operator’s intent to 457 

undertake the operations of the persistently low-performing 458 

school in its entirety or through limited components of the 459 

operations. 460 

(5) PERFORMANCE-BASED AGREEMENT.—The following shall 461 

comprise the entirety of the performance-based agreement: 462 

(b) The location or geographic area proposed for the school 463 

of hope and its proximity to the persistently low-performing 464 

school. 465 

(f)(g) The grounds for termination, including failure to 466 

meet the requirements for student performance established 467 

pursuant to paragraph (d) (e), generally accepted standards of 468 

fiscal management, or material violation of terms of the 469 

agreement. The nonrenewal or termination of a performance-based 470 

agreement must comply with the requirements of s. 1002.33(8). 471 

(h)(i) A provision establishing the initial term as 5 472 

years. The agreement must shall be renewed, upon the request of 473 

the hope operator, unless the school fails to meet the 474 

requirements for student performance established pursuant to 475 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 18 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

paragraph (d) (e) or generally accepted standards of fiscal 476 

management or the school of hope materially violates the law or 477 

the terms of the agreement. 478 

(7) FACILITIES.— 479 

(a)1. A school of hope that meets the definition under 480 

subparagraph (1)(c)1. shall use facilities that comply with the 481 

Florida Building Code, except for the State Requirements for 482 

Educational Facilities. A school of hope that uses school 483 

district facilities must comply with the State Requirements for 484 

Educational Facilities only if the school district and the hope 485 

operator have entered into a mutual management plan for the 486 

reasonable maintenance of such facilities. The mutual management 487 

plan shall contain a provision by which the district school 488 

board agrees to maintain the school facilities in the same 489 

manner as its other public schools within the district. 490 

2. A school of hope that meets the definition under 491 

subparagraph (1)(c)2. and that receives funds from the hope 492 

supplemental services allocation under s. 1011.62(16) shall use 493 

the district-owned facilities of the persistently low-performing 494 

school that the school of hope operates. A school of hope that 495 

uses district-owned facilities must enter into a mutual 496 

management plan with the school district for the reasonable 497 

maintenance of the facilities. The mutual management plan must 498 

contain a provision specifying that the district school board 499 

agrees to maintain the school facilities in the same manner as 500 

other public schools within the district. 501 

 502 

The local governing authority shall not adopt or impose any 503 

local building requirements or site-development restrictions, 504 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 19 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

such as parking and site-size criteria, student enrollment, and 505 

occupant load, that are addressed by and more stringent than 506 

those found in the State Requirements for Educational Facilities 507 

of the Florida Building Code. A local governing authority must 508 

treat schools of hope equitably in comparison to similar 509 

requirements, restrictions, and site planning processes imposed 510 

upon public schools. The agency having jurisdiction for 511 

inspection of a facility and issuance of a certificate of 512 

occupancy or use shall be the local municipality or, if in an 513 

unincorporated area, the county governing authority. If an 514 

official or employee of the local governing authority refuses to 515 

comply with this paragraph, the aggrieved school or entity has 516 

an immediate right to bring an action in circuit court to 517 

enforce its rights by injunction. An aggrieved party that 518 

receives injunctive relief may be awarded reasonable attorney 519 

fees and court costs. 520 

(9) FUNDING.— 521 

(a) Schools of hope shall be funded in accordance with s. 522 

1002.33(17). 523 

(b) Schools of hope shall receive priority in the 524 

department’s Public Charter School Grant Program competitions. 525 

(c) Schools of hope shall be considered charter schools for 526 

purposes of s. 1013.62, except charter capital outlay may not be 527 

used to purchase real property or for the construction of school 528 

facilities. 529 

(d) Schools of hope that meet the definition under 530 

subparagraph (1)(c)1. are eligible to receive funds from the 531 

Schools of Hope Program. 532 

(e) Schools of hope that meet the definition under 533 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 20 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

subparagraph (1)(c)2. are eligible to receive funds from the 534 

hope supplemental services allocation established under s. 535 

1011.62(16). 536 

(10) SCHOOLS OF HOPE PROGRAM.—The Schools of Hope Program 537 

is created within the Department of Education. 538 

(b) A traditional public school that is required to submit 539 

a plan for implementation pursuant to s. 1008.33(4) is eligible 540 

to receive funding for services authorized up to $2,000 per 541 

full-time equivalent student from the hope supplemental services 542 

allocation established under s. 1011.62(16) Schools of Hope 543 

Program based upon the strength of the school’s plan for 544 

implementation and its focus on evidence-based interventions 545 

that lead to student success by providing wrap-around services 546 

that leverage community assets, improve school and community 547 

collaboration, and develop family and community partnerships. 548 

Wrap-around services include, but are not limited to, tutorial 549 

and after-school programs, student counseling, nutrition 550 

education, parental counseling, and adult education. Plans for 551 

implementation may also include models that develop a culture of 552 

attending college, high academic expectations, character 553 

development, dress codes, and an extended school day and school 554 

year. At a minimum, a plan for implementation must: 555 

1. Establish wrap-around services that develop family and 556 

community partnerships. 557 

2. Establish clearly defined and measurable high academic 558 

and character standards. 559 

3. Increase parental involvement and engagement in the 560 

child’s education. 561 

4. Describe how the school district will identify, recruit, 562 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 21 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

retain, and reward instructional personnel. The state board may 563 

waive the requirements of s. 1012.22(1)(c)5., and suspend the 564 

requirements of s. 1012.34, to facilitate implementation of the 565 

plan. 566 

5. Identify a knowledge-rich curriculum that the school 567 

will use that focuses on developing a student’s background 568 

knowledge. 569 

6. Provide professional development that focuses on 570 

academic rigor, direct instruction, and creating high academic 571 

and character standards. 572 

(11) SCHOOLS OF HOPE MANAGEMENT.—A hope operator or the 573 

owner of a school of hope may not serve as the principal of any 574 

school that he or she manages. 575 

Section 11. Section 1002.334, Florida Statutes, is created 576 

to read: 577 

1002.334 Franchise model schools.— 578 

(1) As used in this section, the term “franchise model 579 

school” means a persistently low-performing school, as defined 580 

in s. 1002.333(1)(b), which is led by a highly effective 581 

principal in addition to the principal’s currently assigned 582 

school. If a franchise model school achieves a grade of “C” or 583 

higher, the school may retain its status as a franchise model 584 

school at the discretion of the school district. 585 

(2) A school district that has one or more persistently 586 

low-performing schools may use a franchise model school as a 587 

school turnaround option pursuant to s. 1008.33(4)(b)4. 588 

(3) A franchise model school principal: 589 

(a) Must be rated as highly effective pursuant to s. 590 

1012.34; 591 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 22 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

(b) May lead two or more schools, including a persistently 592 

low-performing school or a school that was considered a 593 

persistently low-performing school before becoming a franchise 594 

model school; 595 

(c) May allocate resources and personnel between the 596 

schools under his or her administration; however, he or she must 597 

expend hope supplemental services allocation funds, authorized 598 

under s. 1011.62(16), at the franchise model school; and 599 

(d) Is eligible to receive a Best and Brightest Principal 600 

award under s. 1012.732. 601 

Section 12. Paragraph (d) of subsection (2), paragraphs (d) 602 

and (h) of subsection (5), subsection (8), and paragraph (a) of 603 

subsection (11) of section 1002.385, Florida Statutes, are 604 

amended to read: 605 

1002.385 The Gardiner Scholarship.— 606 

(2) DEFINITIONS.—As used in this section, the term: 607 

(d) “Disability” means, for a 3- or 4-year-old child or for 608 

a student in kindergarten to grade 12, autism spectrum disorder, 609 

as defined in the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental 610 

Disorders, Fifth Edition, published by the American Psychiatric 611 

Association; cerebral palsy, as defined in s. 393.063(6); Down 612 

syndrome, as defined in s. 393.063(15); an intellectual 613 

disability, as defined in s. 393.063(24); Phelan-McDermid 614 

syndrome, as defined in s. 393.063(28); Prader-Willi syndrome, 615 

as defined in s. 393.063(29); spina bifida, as defined in s. 616 

393.063(40); being a high-risk child, as defined in s. 617 

393.063(23)(a); muscular dystrophy; Williams syndrome; a rare 618 

disease, a disorder that affects diseases which affect patient 619 

populations of fewer than 200,000 individuals or fewer in the 620 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 23 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

United States, as defined by the Orphan Drug Act of 1983, Pub. 621 

L. No. 97-414 National Organization for Rare Disorders; 622 

anaphylaxis; deaf; visually impaired; traumatic brain injured; 623 

hospital or homebound; or identification as dual sensory 624 

impaired, as defined by rules of the State Board of Education 625 

and evidenced by reports from local school districts. The term 626 

“hospital or homebound” includes a student who has a medically 627 

diagnosed physical or psychiatric condition or illness, as 628 

defined by the state board in rule, and who is confined to the 629 

home or hospital for more than 6 months. 630 

(5) AUTHORIZED USES OF PROGRAM FUNDS.—Program funds must be 631 

used to meet the individual educational needs of an eligible 632 

student and may be spent for the following purposes: 633 

(d) Enrollment in, or tuition or fees associated with 634 

enrollment in, a home education program, an eligible private 635 

school, an eligible postsecondary educational institution or a 636 

program offered by the institution, a private tutoring program 637 

authorized under s. 1002.43, a virtual program offered by a 638 

department-approved private online provider that meets the 639 

provider qualifications specified in s. 1002.45(2)(a), the 640 

Florida Virtual School as a private paying student, or an 641 

approved online course offered pursuant to s. 1003.499 or s. 642 

1004.0961. 643 

(h) Tuition and fees for part-time tutoring services 644 

provided by a person who holds a valid Florida educator’s 645 

certificate pursuant to s. 1012.56; a person who holds an 646 

adjunct teaching certificate pursuant to s. 1012.57; or a person 647 

who has demonstrated a mastery of subject area knowledge 648 

pursuant to s. 1012.56(5). As used in this paragraph, the term 649 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 24 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

“part-time tutoring services” does not qualify as regular school 650 

attendance as defined in s. 1003.01(13) s. 1003.01(13)(e). 651 

 652 

A provider of any services receiving payments pursuant to this 653 

subsection may not share, refund, or rebate any moneys from the 654 

Gardiner Scholarship with the parent or participating student in 655 

any manner. A parent, student, or provider of any services may 656 

not bill an insurance company, Medicaid, or any other agency for 657 

the same services that are paid for using Gardiner Scholarship 658 

funds. 659 

(8) PRIVATE SCHOOL ELIGIBILITY AND OBLIGATIONS.—An eligible 660 

private school may be sectarian or nonsectarian and shall: 661 

(a) Comply with all requirements for private schools 662 

participating in state school choice scholarship programs 663 

pursuant to s. 1002.421. 664 

(b) Provide to the organization, upon request, all 665 

documentation required for the student’s participation, 666 

including the private school’s and student’s fee schedules. 667 

(c) Be academically accountable to the parent for meeting 668 

the educational needs of the student by: 669 

1. At a minimum, annually providing to the parent a written 670 

explanation of the student’s progress. 671 

2. Annually administering or making provision for students 672 

participating in the program in grades 3 through 10 to take one 673 

of the nationally norm-referenced tests identified by the 674 

Department of Education or the statewide assessments pursuant to 675 

s. 1008.22. Students with disabilities for whom standardized 676 

testing is not appropriate are exempt from this requirement. A 677 

participating private school shall report a student’s scores to 678 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 25 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

the parent. 679 

3. Cooperating with the scholarship student whose parent 680 

chooses to have the student participate in the statewide 681 

assessments pursuant to s. 1008.22 or, if a private school 682 

chooses to offer the statewide assessments, administering the 683 

assessments at the school. 684 

a. A participating private school may choose to offer and 685 

administer the statewide assessments to all students who attend 686 

the private school in grades 3 through 10. 687 

b. A participating private school shall submit a request in 688 

writing to the Department of Education by March 1 of each year 689 

in order to administer the statewide assessments in the 690 

subsequent school year. 691 

(d) Employ or contract with teachers who have regular and 692 

direct contact with each student receiving a scholarship under 693 

this section at the school’s physical location. 694 

(e) Provide a report from an independent certified public 695 

accountant who performs the agreed-upon procedures developed 696 

under s. 1002.395(6)(o) if the private school receives more than 697 

$250,000 in funds from scholarships awarded under this chapter 698 

section in a state fiscal year. A private school subject to this 699 

paragraph must annually submit the report by September 15 to the 700 

organization that awarded the majority of the school’s 701 

scholarship funds. The agreed-upon procedures must be conducted 702 

in accordance with attestation standards established by the 703 

American Institute of Certified Public Accountants. 704 

 705 

If a private school fails or refuses is unable to meet the 706 

requirements of this subsection or has consecutive years of 707 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 26 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

material exceptions listed in the report required under 708 

paragraph (e), the commissioner may determine that the private 709 

school is ineligible to participate in the program. 710 

(11) PARENT AND STUDENT RESPONSIBILITIES FOR PROGRAM 711 

PARTICIPATION.—A parent who applies for program participation 712 

under this section is exercising his or her parental option to 713 

determine the appropriate placement or the services that best 714 

meet the needs of his or her child. The scholarship award for a 715 

student is based on a matrix that assigns the student to support 716 

Level III services. If a parent receives an IEP and a matrix of 717 

services from the school district pursuant to subsection (7), 718 

the amount of the payment shall be adjusted as needed, when the 719 

school district completes the matrix. 720 

(a) To satisfy or maintain program eligibility, including 721 

eligibility to receive and spend program payments, the parent 722 

must sign an agreement with the organization and annually submit 723 

a notarized, sworn compliance statement to the organization to: 724 

1. Affirm that the student is enrolled in a program that 725 

meets regular school attendance requirements as provided in s. 726 

1003.01(13)(b) or (c) s. 1003.01(13)(b)-(d). 727 

2. Affirm that the program funds are used only for 728 

authorized purposes serving the student’s educational needs, as 729 

described in subsection (5). 730 

3. Affirm that the parent is responsible for the education 731 

of his or her student by, as applicable: 732 

a. Requiring the student to take an assessment in 733 

accordance with paragraph (8)(c); 734 

b. Providing an annual evaluation in accordance with s. 735 

1002.41(1)(c); or 736 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 27 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

c. Requiring the child to take any preassessments and 737 

postassessments selected by the provider if the child is 4 years 738 

of age and is enrolled in a program provided by an eligible 739 

Voluntary Prekindergarten Education Program provider. A student 740 

with disabilities for whom a preassessment and postassessment is 741 

not appropriate is exempt from this requirement. A participating 742 

provider shall report a student’s scores to the parent. 743 

4. Affirm that the student remains in good standing with 744 

the provider or school if those options are selected by the 745 

parent. 746 

 747 

A parent who fails to comply with this subsection forfeits the 748 

Gardiner Scholarship. 749 

Section 13. Subsection (3), paragraph (f) of subsection 750 

(6), and subsection (8) of section 1002.39, Florida Statutes, 751 

are amended to read: 752 

1002.39 The John M. McKay Scholarships for Students with 753 

Disabilities Program.—There is established a program that is 754 

separate and distinct from the Opportunity Scholarship Program 755 

and is named the John M. McKay Scholarships for Students with 756 

Disabilities Program. 757 

(3) JOHN M. MCKAY SCHOLARSHIP PROHIBITIONS.—A student is 758 

not eligible for a John M. McKay Scholarship: 759 

(a) While he or she is enrolled in a school operating for 760 

the purpose of providing educational services to youth in 761 

Department of Juvenile Justice commitment programs; 762 

(b) While he or she is receiving a Florida tax credit 763 

scholarship under s. 1002.395; 764 

(c) While he or she is receiving an educational scholarship 765 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 28 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

pursuant to this chapter; 766 

(d) While he or she is participating in a home education 767 

program as defined in s. 1002.01(1); 768 

(e) While he or she is participating in a private tutoring 769 

program pursuant to s. 1002.43; 770 

(e)(f) While he or she is participating in a virtual 771 

school, correspondence school, or distance learning program that 772 

receives state funding pursuant to the student’s participation 773 

unless the participation is limited to no more than two courses 774 

per school year; 775 

(f)(g) While he or she is enrolled in the Florida School 776 

for the Deaf and the Blind; 777 

(g)(h) While he or she is not having regular and direct 778 

contact with his or her private school teachers at the school’s 779 

physical location unless he or she is enrolled in the private 780 

school’s transition-to-work program pursuant to subsection (10); 781 

or 782 

(h)(i) If he or she has been issued a temporary 504 783 

accommodation plan under s. 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 784 

1973 which is valid for 6 months or less. 785 

(6) DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION OBLIGATIONS.—The department 786 

shall: 787 

(f)1. Conduct random site visits to private schools 788 

participating in the John M. McKay Scholarships for Students 789 

with Disabilities Program as authorized under s. 1002.421(7). 790 

The purposes purpose of the site visits are is solely to verify 791 

compliance with the provisions of subsection (7) aimed at 792 

protecting the health, safety, and welfare of students and to 793 

verify the information reported by the schools concerning the 794 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 29 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

enrollment and attendance of students, the credentials of 795 

teachers, background screening of teachers, and teachers’ 796 

fingerprinting results, which information is required by rules 797 

of the State Board of Education, subsection (8), and s. 798 

1002.421. The Department of Education may not make followup more 799 

than three random site visits at any time to any school that has 800 

received a notice of noncompliance or a notice of proposed 801 

action within the previous 2 years pursuant to subsection (7) 802 

each year and may not make more than one random site visit each 803 

year to the same private school. 804 

2. Annually, by December 15, report to the Governor, the 805 

President of the Senate, and the Speaker of the House of 806 

Representatives the Department of Education’s actions with 807 

respect to implementing accountability in the scholarship 808 

program under this section and s. 1002.421, any substantiated 809 

allegations or violations of law or rule by an eligible private 810 

school under this program concerning the enrollment and 811 

attendance of students, the credentials of teachers, background 812 

screening of teachers, and teachers’ fingerprinting results and 813 

the corrective action taken by the Department of Education. 814 

(8) PRIVATE SCHOOL ELIGIBILITY AND OBLIGATIONS.—To be 815 

eligible to participate in the John M. McKay Scholarships for 816 

Students with Disabilities Program, a private school may be 817 

sectarian or nonsectarian and must: 818 

(a) Comply with all requirements for private schools 819 

participating in state school choice scholarship programs 820 

pursuant to s. 1002.421. 821 

(b) Provide to the department all documentation required 822 

for a student’s participation, including the private school’s 823 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 30 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

and student’s fee schedules, at least 30 days before any 824 

quarterly scholarship payment is made for the student pursuant 825 

to paragraph (11)(e). A student is not eligible to receive a 826 

quarterly scholarship payment if the private school fails to 827 

meet this deadline. 828 

(c) Be academically accountable to the parent for meeting 829 

the educational needs of the student by: 830 

1. At a minimum, annually providing to the parent a written 831 

explanation of the student’s progress. 832 

2. Cooperating with the scholarship student whose parent 833 

chooses to participate in the statewide assessments pursuant to 834 

s. 1008.22. 835 

(d) Maintain in this state a physical location where a 836 

scholarship student regularly attends classes. 837 

(e) If the private school that participates in a state 838 

scholarship program under this chapter receives more than 839 

$250,000 in funds from scholarships awarded under chapter 1002 840 

in a state fiscal year, provide an annual report from an 841 

independent certified public accountant who performs the agreed-842 

upon procedures developed under s. 1002.395(6)(o). Such a 843 

private school must annually submit the required report by 844 

September 15 to the organization that awarded the majority of 845 

the school’s scholarship funds. The agreed-upon procedures must 846 

be conducted in accordance with attestation standards 847 

established by the American Institute of Certified Public 848 

Accountants. 849 

 850 

The failure or refusal inability of a private school to meet the 851 

requirements of this subsection shall constitute a basis for the 852 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 31 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

ineligibility of the private school to participate in the 853 

scholarship program as determined by the department. 854 

Section 14. Subsection (4), paragraph (o) of subsection 855 

(6), subsection (8), and paragraph (n) of subsection (9) of 856 

section 1002.395, Florida Statutes, are amended to read: 857 

1002.395 Florida Tax Credit Scholarship Program.— 858 

(4) SCHOLARSHIP PROHIBITIONS.—A student is not eligible for 859 

a scholarship while he or she is: 860 

(a) Enrolled in a school operating for the purpose of 861 

providing educational services to youth in Department of 862 

Juvenile Justice commitment programs; 863 

(b) Receiving a scholarship from another eligible nonprofit 864 

scholarship-funding organization under this section; 865 

(c) Receiving an educational scholarship pursuant to 866 

chapter 1002; 867 

(d) Participating in a home education program as defined in 868 

s. 1002.01(1); 869 

(e) Participating in a private tutoring program pursuant to 870 

s. 1002.43; 871 

(e)(f) Participating in a virtual school, correspondence 872 

school, or distance learning program that receives state funding 873 

pursuant to the student’s participation unless the participation 874 

is limited to no more than two courses per school year; or 875 

(f)(g) Enrolled in the Florida School for the Deaf and the 876 

Blind. 877 

(6) OBLIGATIONS OF ELIGIBLE NONPROFIT SCHOLARSHIP-FUNDING 878 

ORGANIZATIONS.—An eligible nonprofit scholarship-funding 879 

organization: 880 

(o)1.a. Must participate in the joint development of 881 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 32 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

agreed-upon procedures to be performed by an independent 882 

certified public accountant as required under paragraph (8)(e) 883 

if the scholarship-funding organization provided more than 884 

$250,000 in scholarship funds to an eligible private school 885 

under this chapter section during the 2009-2010 state fiscal 886 

year. The agreed-upon procedures must uniformly apply to all 887 

private schools and must determine, at a minimum, whether the 888 

private school has been verified as eligible by the Department 889 

of Education under paragraph (9)(c); has an adequate accounting 890 

system, system of financial controls, and process for deposit 891 

and classification of scholarship funds; and has properly 892 

expended scholarship funds for education-related expenses. 893 

During the development of the procedures, the participating 894 

scholarship-funding organizations shall specify guidelines 895 

governing the materiality of exceptions that may be found during 896 

the accountant’s performance of the procedures. The procedures 897 

and guidelines shall be provided to private schools and the 898 

Commissioner of Education by March 15, 2011. 899 

b. Must participate in a joint review of the agreed-upon 900 

procedures and guidelines developed under sub-subparagraph a., 901 

by February 2013 and biennially thereafter, if the scholarship-902 

funding organization provided more than $250,000 in scholarship 903 

funds to an eligible private school under this chapter section 904 

during the state fiscal year preceding the biennial review. If 905 

the procedures and guidelines are revised, the revisions must be 906 

provided to private schools and the Commissioner of Education by 907 

March 15, 2013, and biennially thereafter. 908 

c. Must monitor the compliance of a private school with 909 

paragraph (8)(e) if the scholarship-funding organization 910 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 33 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

provided the majority of the scholarship funding to the school. 911 

For each private school subject to paragraph (8)(e), the 912 

appropriate scholarship-funding organization shall notify the 913 

Commissioner of Education by October 30, 2011, and annually 914 

thereafter of: 915 

(I) A private school’s failure to submit a report required 916 

under paragraph (8)(e); or 917 

(II) Any material exceptions set forth in the report 918 

required under paragraph (8)(e). 919 

2. Must seek input from the accrediting associations that 920 

are members of the Florida Association of Academic Nonpublic 921 

Schools when jointly developing the agreed-upon procedures and 922 

guidelines under sub-subparagraph 1.a. and conducting a review 923 

of those procedures and guidelines under sub-subparagraph 1.b. 924 

 925 

Information and documentation provided to the Department of 926 

Education and the Auditor General relating to the identity of a 927 

taxpayer that provides an eligible contribution under this 928 

section shall remain confidential at all times in accordance 929 

with s. 213.053. 930 

(8) PRIVATE SCHOOL ELIGIBILITY AND OBLIGATIONS.—An eligible 931 

private school may be sectarian or nonsectarian and must: 932 

(a) Comply with all requirements for private schools 933 

participating in state school choice scholarship programs 934 

pursuant to s. 1002.421. 935 

(b) Provide to the eligible nonprofit scholarship-funding 936 

organization, upon request, all documentation required for the 937 

student’s participation, including the private school’s and 938 

student’s fee schedules. 939 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 34 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

(c) Be academically accountable to the parent for meeting 940 

the educational needs of the student by: 941 

1. At a minimum, annually providing to the parent a written 942 

explanation of the student’s progress. 943 

2. Annually administering or making provision for students 944 

participating in the scholarship program in grades 3 through 10 945 

to take one of the nationally norm-referenced tests identified 946 

by the Department of Education or the statewide assessments 947 

pursuant to s. 1008.22. Students with disabilities for whom 948 

standardized testing is not appropriate are exempt from this 949 

requirement. A participating private school must report a 950 

student’s scores to the parent. A participating private school 951 

must annually report by August 15 the scores of all 952 

participating students to the Learning System Institute 953 

described in paragraph (9)(j). 954 

3. Cooperating with the scholarship student whose parent 955 

chooses to have the student participate in the statewide 956 

assessments pursuant to s. 1008.22 or, if a private school 957 

chooses to offer the statewide assessments, administering the 958 

assessments at the school. 959 

a. A participating private school may choose to offer and 960 

administer the statewide assessments to all students who attend 961 

the private school in grades 3 through 10. 962 

b. A participating private school must submit a request in 963 

writing to the Department of Education by March 1 of each year 964 

in order to administer the statewide assessments in the 965 

subsequent school year. 966 

(d) Employ or contract with teachers who have regular and 967 

direct contact with each student receiving a scholarship under 968 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 35 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

this section at the school’s physical location. 969 

(e) Provide a report from an independent certified public 970 

accountant who performs the agreed-upon procedures developed 971 

under paragraph (6)(o) if the private school receives more than 972 

$250,000 in funds from scholarships awarded under this chapter 973 

section in a state fiscal year. A private school subject to this 974 

paragraph must annually submit the report by September 15 to the 975 

scholarship-funding organization that awarded the majority of 976 

the school’s scholarship funds. The agreed-upon procedures must 977 

be conducted in accordance with attestation standards 978 

established by the American Institute of Certified Public 979 

Accountants. 980 

 981 

If a private school fails or refuses is unable to meet the 982 

requirements of this subsection or has consecutive years of 983 

material exceptions listed in the report required under 984 

paragraph (e), the commissioner may determine that the private 985 

school is ineligible to participate in the scholarship program 986 

as determined by the Department of Education. 987 

(9) DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION OBLIGATIONS.—The Department of 988 

Education shall: 989 

(n)1. Conduct site visits to private schools participating 990 

in the Florida Tax Credit Scholarship Program as authorized 991 

under s. 1002.421(7). The purposes purpose of the site visits 992 

are is solely to verify compliance with the provisions of 993 

subsection (11) aimed at protecting the health, safety, and 994 

welfare of students and to verify the information reported by 995 

the schools concerning the enrollment and attendance of 996 

students, the credentials of teachers, background screening of 997 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 36 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

teachers, and teachers’ fingerprinting results. The Department 998 

of Education may not make more than seven site visits each year; 999 

however, The department may make followup additional site visits 1000 

at any time to any school that, pursuant to subsection (11), has 1001 

received a notice of noncompliance or a notice of proposed 1002 

action within the previous 2 years. 1003 

2. Annually, by December 15, report to the Governor, the 1004 

President of the Senate, and the Speaker of the House of 1005 

Representatives the Department of Education’s actions with 1006 

respect to implementing accountability in the scholarship 1007 

program under this section and s. 1002.421, any substantiated 1008 

allegations or violations of law or rule by an eligible private 1009 

school under this program concerning the enrollment and 1010 

attendance of students, the credentials of teachers, background 1011 

screening of teachers, and teachers’ fingerprinting results and 1012 

the corrective action taken by the Department of Education. 1013 

Section 15. Section 1002.40, Florida Statutes, is created 1014 

to read: 1015 

1002.40 The Hope Scholarship Program.— 1016 

(1) PURPOSE.—The Hope Scholarship Program is established to 1017 

provide the parent of a public school student who was the victim 1018 

of a substantiated incident of violence or abuse, as listed in 1019 

subsection (3), an opportunity to transfer the student to 1020 

another public school that has capacity or to request and 1021 

receive a scholarship for the student to enroll in and attend an 1022 

eligible private school. 1023 

(2) DEFINITIONS.—As used in this section, the term: 1024 

(a) “Department” means the Department of Education. 1025 

(b) “Eligible contribution” or “contribution” means a 1026 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 37 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

monetary contribution from a person required to pay sales and 1027 

use tax on the purchase or acquisition of a motor vehicle, 1028 

subject to the restrictions provided in this section, to an 1029 

eligible nonprofit scholarship-funding organization. The 1030 

taxpayer making the contribution may not designate a specific 1031 

student as the beneficiary of the contribution. 1032 

(c) “Eligible nonprofit scholarship-funding organization” 1033 

or “organization” has the same meaning as provided in s. 1034 

1002.395(2)(f), as determined by the department. 1035 

(d) “Eligible private school” has the same meaning as 1036 

provided in s. 1002.395(2)(g), as determined by the department. 1037 

(e) “Motor vehicle” has the same meaning as provided in s. 1038 

320.01(1)(a), but does not include heavy trucks, truck tractors, 1039 

trailers, and motorcycles. 1040 

(f) “Parent” means a resident of this state who is a 1041 

parent, as defined in s. 1000.21, and whose public school 1042 

student was the victim of a reported incident, as listed in 1043 

subsection (3). 1044 

(g) “Principal” means the principal or his or her designee. 1045 

(h) “Program” means the Hope Scholarship Program. 1046 

(i) “School” includes any educational program or activity 1047 

conducted by a public K-12 educational institution, any school-1048 

related or school-sponsored program or activity, and riding on a 1049 

school bus, as defined in s. 1006.25(1), including waiting at a 1050 

school bus stop. 1051 

(j) “Unweighted FTE funding amount” means the statewide 1052 

average total funds per unweighted full-time equivalent funding 1053 

amount that is incorporated by reference in the General 1054 

Appropriations Act for the applicable state fiscal year. 1055 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 38 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

(3) PROGRAM ELIGIBILITY.—Beginning with the 2018-2019 1056 

school year, contingent upon available funds, and on a first-1057 

come, first-served basis, a student enrolled full time in a 1058 

Florida public school in kindergarten through grade 12 is 1059 

eligible for a scholarship under this program if all of the 1060 

following conditions are met: 1061 

(a) The student is the victim of a substantiated incident 1062 

of battery; harassment; hazing; bullying; kidnapping; physical 1063 

attack; robbery; sexual offenses, harassment, assault, or 1064 

battery; threat or intimidation; or fighting at school. 1065 

(b) The incident is formally reported by the victim or the 1066 

victim’s parent to the principal. 1067 

(c) Through an investigation, the principal finds that the 1068 

incident is substantiated. 1069 

(d) The principal’s investigation remains open or the 1070 

district’s resolution of issues related to the incident remain 1071 

unresolved after timely notification, deliberative evaluation, 1072 

and 30 days of responsible and appropriate action taken in 1073 

accordance with paragraph (5)(a). 1074 

(4) PROGRAM PROHIBITIONS.—Payment of a scholarship may not 1075 

be made if a student is: 1076 

(a) Enrolled in a public school, including, but not limited 1077 

to, the Florida School for the Deaf and the Blind; the College-1078 

Preparatory Boarding Academy; the Florida Virtual School; a 1079 

developmental research school authorized under s. 1002.32; or a 1080 

charter school authorized under s. 1002.33, s. 1002.331, s. 1081 

1002.332, or s. 1002.333; 1082 

(b) Enrolled in a school operating for the purpose of 1083 

providing educational services to youth in the Department of 1084 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 39 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

Juvenile Justice commitment programs; 1085 

(c) Participating in a virtual school, correspondence 1086 

school, or distance learning program that receives state funding 1087 

pursuant to the student’s participation unless the participation 1088 

is limited to no more than two courses per school year; 1089 

(d) Receiving any other educational scholarship pursuant to 1090 

this chapter; or 1091 

(e) Participating in a home education program, as defined 1092 

in s. 1002.01. 1093 

(5) SCHOOL DISTRICT OBLIGATIONS; PARENTAL OPTIONS.— 1094 

(a)1. Within 24 hours after receipt of a formal report of 1095 

an incident listed in subsection (3)(a), the principal shall 1096 

provide a copy of the report to the victim’s parent and the 1097 

alleged offender’s parent. The report must include a statement 1098 

of the expected investigative actions and the timeline for 1099 

reporting the outcome of the investigation. Within 24 hours 1100 

after receipt of the formal report, the principal must also 1101 

provide the superintendent with a copy of the report and 1102 

verification that the parents of the victim and the alleged 1103 

offender have been provided a copy of the incident report and 1104 

other required information. 1105 

2. In accordance with s. 1006.09, the principal must 1106 

investigate the incident to determine if the incident is 1107 

substantiated or unsubstantiated, and if the incident must be 1108 

reported. The principal may, at his or her discretion, determine 1109 

the extent to which each student was engaged in instigating, 1110 

initiating, or reacting to a physical altercation, and may 1111 

consider such information when evaluating and determining 1112 

appropriate disciplinary actions and investigation outcomes. 1113 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 40 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

3. During the investigation period, the principal and the 1114 

superintendent shall take all necessary actions to continue the 1115 

educational services of students involved in the reported 1116 

incident while taking every reasonable precaution to keep the 1117 

alleged offender separated from the victim or any sibling of the 1118 

victim while on school grounds or on school transportation, 1119 

pursuant to ss. 1006.09, 1006.13, and 1006.147, as appropriate. 1120 

4. Upon the principal’s determination that an alleged 1121 

incident is unsubstantiated or the resolution of issues related 1122 

to a substantiated incident or within 15 days after the incident 1123 

was reported, whichever occurs first, the principal must report 1124 

to the victim’s parent and the alleged offender’s parent the 1125 

findings, outcome, or status of the investigation. The principal 1126 

shall continue to provide such reports to the parents at least 1127 

every 15 days until the investigation concludes and issues 1128 

associated with the incident are resolved. 1129 

5. If the principal’s investigation into the incident 1130 

remains open more than 30 days after the date a substantiated 1131 

incident was reported or issues associated with the incident 1132 

remain unresolved, the school district, in accordance with the 1133 

school district’s code of student conduct, shall: 1134 

a. Notify the victim’s parent of the availability of the 1135 

program and offer that parent an opportunity to enroll his or 1136 

her student in another public school or to request and receive a 1137 

scholarship to attend an eligible private school, subject to 1138 

available funding; and 1139 

b. Provide the victim’s parent with a written notification 1140 

of the result of the principal’s investigation of the alleged 1141 

incident. The parent must provide such notification to the 1142 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 41 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

scholarship-funding organization that verifies the student’s 1143 

eligibility. 1144 

6. To facilitate timely, appropriate, and fiscally 1145 

accountable scholarship payments, school districts must report 1146 

and verify student enrollment information during and outside of 1147 

regular FTE student enrollment survey periods, as requested by 1148 

the department pursuant to paragraph (7)(d). 1149 

(b)1. A parent who, pursuant to s. 1002.31, chooses to 1150 

enroll his or her student in a Florida public school located 1151 

outside the district in which the student resides shall be 1152 

eligible for a scholarship under paragraph (11)(b) to transport 1153 

the student. 1154 

2. For each student participating in the program in a 1155 

private school who chooses to participate in the statewide 1156 

assessments under s. 1008.22 or the Florida Alternate 1157 

Assessment, the school district in which the student resides 1158 

must notify the student and his or her parent about the 1159 

locations and times to take all statewide assessments. 1160 

(6) PRIVATE SCHOOL ELIGIBILITY AND OBLIGATIONS.—An eligible 1161 

private school may be sectarian or nonsectarian and shall: 1162 

(a) Meet the definition of a private school in s. 1002.01 1163 

and comply with all requirements for private schools 1164 

participating in state school choice scholarship programs 1165 

pursuant to this section and s. 1002.421. 1166 

(b) Provide to the organization and the department, upon 1167 

request, all documentation required for the student’s 1168 

participation, including, but not limited to, the private 1169 

school’s and the student’s fee schedules. 1170 

(c) Be academically accountable to the parent for meeting 1171 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 42 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

the educational needs of the student by: 1172 

1. At a minimum, annually providing to the parent a written 1173 

explanation of the student’s progress. 1174 

2. Annually administering or making provision for students 1175 

participating in the program in grades 3 through 10 to take one 1176 

of the nationally norm-referenced tests identified by the 1177 

department or the statewide assessments pursuant to s. 1008.22. 1178 

Students with disabilities for whom standardized testing is not 1179 

appropriate are exempt from this requirement. A participating 1180 

private school shall report a student’s scores to his or her 1181 

parent. 1182 

3. Cooperating with the student whose parent chooses to 1183 

have the student participate in the statewide assessments 1184 

pursuant to s. 1008.22 or, if a private school chooses to offer 1185 

the statewide assessments, administering the assessments at the 1186 

school. 1187 

a. A participating private school may choose to offer and 1188 

administer the statewide assessments to all students who attend 1189 

the private school in grades 3 through 10. 1190 

b. A participating private school shall submit a request in 1191 

writing to the department by March 1 of each year in order to 1192 

administer the statewide assessments in the subsequent school 1193 

year. 1194 

(d) Employ or contract with teachers who have regular and 1195 

direct contact with each student receiving a scholarship under 1196 

this section at the school’s physical location. 1197 

(e) Maintain in this state a physical location where a 1198 

scholarship student regularly attends classes. 1199 

(f) Provide a report from an independent certified public 1200 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 43 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

accountant who performs the agreed-upon procedures developed 1201 

under s. 1002.395(6)(o) if the private school receives more than 1202 

$250,000 in funds from scholarships awarded under this section 1203 

in a state fiscal year. A private school subject to this 1204 

paragraph must annually submit the report by September 15 to the 1205 

organization that awarded the majority of the school’s 1206 

scholarship funds. The agreed-upon procedures must be conducted 1207 

in accordance with attestation standards established by the 1208 

American Institute of Certified Public Accountants. 1209 

 1210 

The failure of a private school to meet the requirements of this 1211 

subsection constitutes a basis for the ineligibility of the 1212 

private school to participate in the program, as determined by 1213 

the department. 1214 

(7) DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION OBLIGATIONS.—The department 1215 

shall: 1216 

(a) Establish a toll-free hotline that provides parents and 1217 

private schools with information on participation in the 1218 

program. 1219 

(b) Annually verify the eligibility of private schools that 1220 

meet the requirements of subsection (6). 1221 

(c) Require an annual notarized and sworn compliance 1222 

statement by participating private schools certifying compliance 1223 

with state laws and retain such records. 1224 

(d) Cross-check the list of participating students with the 1225 

public school enrollment lists and participation lists in other 1226 

scholarship programs established under this chapter before each 1227 

scholarship payment to avoid duplication. 1228 

(e) Maintain a list of nationally norm-referenced tests 1229 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 44 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

identified for purposes of satisfying the testing requirement in 1230 

paragraph (9)(f). The tests must meet industry standards of 1231 

quality in accordance with State Board of Education rule. 1232 

(f) Require quarterly reports by an eligible nonprofit 1233 

scholarship-funding organization regarding the number of 1234 

students participating in the scholarship program, the private 1235 

schools in which the students are enrolled, and other 1236 

information deemed necessary by the department. 1237 

(g) Contract with an independent entity to provide an 1238 

annual evaluation of the program by: 1239 

1. Reviewing the school climate and code of student conduct 1240 

of each public school that reported the occurrence of a monthly 1241 

average of 10 or more substantiated incidents to determine areas 1242 

in the school or school district procedures involving reporting, 1243 

investigating, and communicating a parent’s and student’s rights 1244 

which are in need of improvement. At a minimum, the review must 1245 

include: 1246 

a. An assessment of the investigation time and quality of 1247 

the response of the school and the school district; 1248 

b. An assessment of the effectiveness of communication 1249 

procedures with the students involved in an incident, the 1250 

students’ parents, and the school and school district personnel; 1251 

c. An analysis of school incident and discipline data; and 1252 

d. The challenges and obstacles relating to implementing 1253 

recommendations from this review. 1254 

2. Reviewing the school climate and code of student conduct 1255 

of each public school a student transferred to if the student 1256 

was from a school identified in subparagraph 1. in order to 1257 

identify best practices and make recommendations to a public 1258 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 45 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

school at which the incidents occurred. 1259 

3. Reviewing the performance of participating students 1260 

enrolled in a private school in which the majority of the 1261 

school’s total enrolled students in the prior school year 1262 

participated in one or more scholarship programs, as defined in 1263 

s. 1002.01, in which there are at least 10 participating 1264 

students who have scores for tests administered; and reviewing 1265 

the school climate and code of student conduct of the private 1266 

school if one or more scholarship participants were involved in 1267 

a reported incident at the school during the prior school year. 1268 

4. Surveying the parents of participating students to 1269 

determine academic, safety, and school climate satisfaction and 1270 

to identify any challenges or obstacles in addressing the 1271 

incident or relating to the use of the scholarship. 1272 

(h) Upon the request of a participating private school, 1273 

provide at no cost to the school the statewide assessments 1274 

administered under s. 1008.22 and any related materials for 1275 

administering the assessments. Students at a private school may 1276 

be assessed using the statewide assessments if the addition of 1277 

those students and the school does not cause the state to exceed 1278 

its contractual caps for the number of students tested and the 1279 

number of testing sites. The state shall provide the same 1280 

materials and support to a private school that it provides to a 1281 

public school. A private school that chooses to administer 1282 

statewide assessments under s. 1008.22 shall follow the 1283 

requirements set forth in ss. 1008.22 and 1008.24, rules adopted 1284 

by the State Board of Education to implement those sections, and 1285 

district-level testing policies established by the district 1286 

school board. 1287 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 46 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

(i) Establish a process by which individuals may notify the 1288 

department of any violation by a parent, private school, or 1289 

school district of state laws relating to program participation. 1290 

The department shall conduct an inquiry or make a referral to 1291 

the appropriate agency for an investigation of any written 1292 

complaint of a violation of this section if the complaint is 1293 

signed by the complainant and is legally sufficient. A complaint 1294 

is legally sufficient if such complaint contains ultimate facts 1295 

that show that a violation of this section or any rule adopted 1296 

by the State Board of Education pursuant to this section has 1297 

occurred. In order to determine legal sufficiency, the 1298 

department may require supporting information or documentation 1299 

from the complainant. A department inquiry is not subject to the 1300 

requirements of chapter 120. 1301 

(j)1. Conduct site visits to participating private schools. 1302 

The purpose of the site visits is solely to verify the 1303 

information reported by the schools concerning the enrollment 1304 

and attendance of students, the credentials of teachers, 1305 

background screening of teachers, teachers’ fingerprinting 1306 

results, and other conditions required pursuant to s. 1002.421 1307 

and this section. The department may not make more than seven 1308 

site visits each year; however, the department may make 1309 

additional site visits at any time to a school that is the 1310 

subject of a violation complaint submitted pursuant to paragraph 1311 

(i), is identified by an organization for a known or suspected 1312 

violation, or has received a notice of noncompliance or a notice 1313 

of proposed action within the current year or the previous 2 1314 

years. 1315 

2. Annually, by December 15, report to the Governor, the 1316 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 47 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

President of the Senate, and the Speaker of the House of 1317 

Representatives the department’s actions with respect to 1318 

implementing accountability in the program under this section 1319 

and s. 1002.421, any substantiated allegations or violations of 1320 

law or rule by an eligible private school under this program, 1321 

and the corrective action taken by the department. 1322 

(8) COMMISSIONER OF EDUCATION AUTHORITY AND OBLIGATIONS.— 1323 

(a) The Commissioner of Education: 1324 

1. Shall deny, suspend, or revoke a private school’s 1325 

participation in the program if it is determined that the 1326 

private school has failed to comply with the provisions of this 1327 

section. However, if the noncompliance is correctable within a 1328 

reasonable amount of time and if the health, safety, or welfare 1329 

of the students is not threatened, the commissioner may issue a 1330 

notice of noncompliance which provides the private school with a 1331 

timeframe within which to provide evidence of compliance before 1332 

taking action to suspend or revoke the private school’s 1333 

participation in the program. 1334 

2. May deny, suspend, or revoke a private school’s 1335 

participation in the program if the commissioner determines that 1336 

an owner or operator of the private school is operating or has 1337 

operated an educational institution in this state or in another 1338 

state or jurisdiction in a manner contrary to the health, 1339 

safety, or welfare of the public. 1340 

a. In making such a determination, the commissioner may 1341 

consider factors that include, but are not limited to, acts or 1342 

omissions by an owner or operator which led to a previous denial 1343 

or revocation of participation in an education scholarship 1344 

program; an owner’s or operator’s failure to reimburse the 1345 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 48 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

department for scholarship funds improperly received or retained 1346 

by a school; imposition of a prior criminal sanction related to 1347 

an owner’s or operator’s management or operation of an 1348 

educational institution; imposition of a civil fine or 1349 

administrative fine, license revocation or suspension, or 1350 

program eligibility suspension, termination, or revocation 1351 

related to an owner’s or operator’s management or operation of 1352 

an educational institution; or other types of criminal 1353 

proceedings in which an owner or operator was found guilty of, 1354 

regardless of adjudication, or entered a plea of nolo contendere 1355 

or guilty to, any offense involving fraud, deceit, dishonesty, 1356 

or moral turpitude. 1357 

b. For purposes of this subparagraph, the term “owner or 1358 

operator” includes an owner, operator, superintendent, or 1359 

principal of, or a person who has equivalent decisionmaking 1360 

authority over, a private school participating in the 1361 

scholarship program. 1362 

(b) The commissioner’s determination is subject to the 1363 

following: 1364 

1. If the commissioner intends to deny, suspend, or revoke 1365 

a private school’s participation in the program, the department 1366 

shall notify the private school of such proposed action in 1367 

writing by certified mail and regular mail to the private 1368 

school’s address of record with the department. The notification 1369 

shall include the reasons for the proposed action and notice of 1370 

the timelines and procedures set forth in this paragraph. 1371 

2. The private school that is adversely affected by the 1372 

proposed action shall have 15 days after receipt of the notice 1373 

of proposed action to file with the department’s agency clerk a 1374 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 49 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

request for a proceeding pursuant to ss. 120.569 and 120.57. If 1375 

the private school is entitled to a hearing under s. 120.57(1), 1376 

the department shall refer the request to the Division of 1377 

Administrative Hearings. 1378 

3. Upon receipt of a request referred pursuant to this 1379 

paragraph, the director of the Division of Administrative 1380 

Hearings shall expedite the hearing and assign an administrative 1381 

law judge who shall commence a hearing within 30 days after the 1382 

receipt of the formal written request by the division and enter 1383 

a recommended order within 30 days after the hearing or within 1384 

30 days after receipt of the hearing transcript, whichever is 1385 

later. Each party shall be allowed 10 days in which to submit 1386 

written exceptions to the recommended order. A final order shall 1387 

be entered by the agency within 30 days after the entry of a 1388 

recommended order. The provisions of this subparagraph may be 1389 

waived upon stipulation by all parties. 1390 

(c) The commissioner may immediately suspend payment of 1391 

scholarship funds if it is determined that there is probable 1392 

cause to believe that there is: 1393 

1. An imminent threat to the health, safety, or welfare of 1394 

the students; or 1395 

2. Fraudulent activity on the part of the private school. 1396 

Notwithstanding s. 1002.22, in incidents of alleged fraudulent 1397 

activity pursuant to this section, the department’s Office of 1398 

Inspector General is authorized to release personally 1399 

identifiable records or reports of students to the following 1400 

persons or organizations: 1401 

a. A court of competent jurisdiction in compliance with an 1402 

order of that court or the attorney of record in accordance with 1403 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 50 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

a lawfully issued subpoena, consistent with the Family 1404 

Educational Rights and Privacy Act, 20 U.S.C. s. 1232g. 1405 

b. A person or entity authorized by a court of competent 1406 

jurisdiction in compliance with an order of that court or the 1407 

attorney of record pursuant to a lawfully issued subpoena, 1408 

consistent with the Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act, 1409 

20 U.S.C. s. 1232g. 1410 

c. Any person, entity, or authority issuing a subpoena for 1411 

law enforcement purposes when the court or other issuing agency 1412 

has ordered that the existence or the contents of the subpoena 1413 

or the information furnished in response to the subpoena not be 1414 

disclosed, consistent with the Family Educational Rights and 1415 

Privacy Act, 20 U.S.C. s. 1232g, and 34 C.F.R. s. 99.31. 1416 

 1417 

The commissioner’s suspension of payment pursuant to this 1418 

paragraph may be appealed pursuant to the same procedures and 1419 

timelines as the notice of proposed action set forth in 1420 

paragraph (b). 1421 

(9) PARENT AND STUDENT RESPONSIBILITIES FOR PROGRAM 1422 

PARTICIPATION.—A parent who applies for a Hope Scholarship is 1423 

exercising his or her parental option to place his or her 1424 

student in an eligible private school. 1425 

(a) The parent must select an eligible private school and 1426 

apply for the admission of his or her student. 1427 

(b) The parent must inform the student’s school district 1428 

when the parent withdraws his or her student to attend an 1429 

eligible private school. 1430 

(c) Any student participating in the program must comply 1431 

with the regular attendance requirements of s. 1003.01(13) and 1432 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 51 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

remain in attendance throughout the school year unless excused 1433 

by the school for illness or other good cause. 1434 

(d) Each parent and each student has an obligation to the 1435 

private school to comply with the private school’s published 1436 

policies. 1437 

(e) Upon reasonable notice to the department and the school 1438 

district, the parent may remove the student from the private 1439 

school and place the student in a public school in accordance 1440 

with this section. 1441 

(f) The parent must ensure that the student participating 1442 

in the program takes the norm-referenced assessment offered by 1443 

the private school. The parent may also choose to have the 1444 

student participate in the statewide assessments pursuant to s. 1445 

1008.22. If the parent requests that the student participating 1446 

in the program take the statewide assessments pursuant to s. 1447 

1008.22 and the private school has not chosen to offer and 1448 

administer the statewide assessments, the parent is responsible 1449 

for transporting the student to the assessment site designated 1450 

by the school district. 1451 

(g) Upon receipt of a scholarship warrant, the parent to 1452 

whom the warrant is made must restrictively endorse the warrant 1453 

to the private school for deposit into the account of the 1454 

private school. The parent may not designate any entity or 1455 

individual associated with the participating private school as 1456 

the parent’s attorney in fact to endorse a scholarship warrant. 1457 

A parent who fails to comply with this paragraph forfeits the 1458 

scholarship. 1459 

(10) OBLIGATIONS OF NONPROFIT SCHOLARSHIP-FUNDING 1460 

ORGANIZATIONS.—An organization may establish scholarships for 1461 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 52 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

eligible students by: 1462 

(a) Receiving applications and determining student 1463 

eligibility in accordance with the requirements of this section. 1464 

(b) Notifying parents of their receipt of a scholarship on 1465 

a first-come, first-served basis, based upon available funds. 1466 

(c) Preparing and submitting quarterly and annual reports 1467 

to the department pursuant to paragraphs (7)(f) and (g). In 1468 

addition, an eligible nonprofit scholarship-funding organization 1469 

must submit in a timely manner any information requested by the 1470 

department relating to the scholarship program. 1471 

(d) Notifying the department of any known or suspected 1472 

violation of this section by a private school, parent, or 1473 

student. 1474 

(11) FUNDING AND PAYMENT.— 1475 

(a) The maximum amount awarded to a student enrolled in an 1476 

eligible private school shall be determined as a percentage of 1477 

the unweighted FTE funding amount for that state fiscal year and 1478 

thereafter as follows: 1479 

1. Eighty-eight percent for a student enrolled in 1480 

kindergarten through grade 5. 1481 

2. Ninety-two percent for a student enrolled in grade 6 1482 

through grade 8. 1483 

3. Ninety-six percent for a student enrolled in grade 9 1484 

through grade 12. 1485 

(b) The maximum amount awarded to a student enrolled in a 1486 

Florida public school located outside of the district in which 1487 

the student resides shall be $750. 1488 

(c) When a student enters the program, the organization 1489 

must receive all documentation required for the student’s 1490 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 53 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

participation, including a copy of the report of the 1491 

substantiated incident received pursuant to subsection (5) and 1492 

the private school’s and the student’s fee schedules. The 1493 

initial payment shall be made after verification of admission 1494 

acceptance, and subsequent payments shall be made upon 1495 

verification of continued enrollment and attendance at the 1496 

private school. 1497 

(d) Payment of the scholarship by the eligible nonprofit 1498 

scholarship-funding organization may be by individual warrant 1499 

made payable to the student’s parent or by funds transfer made 1500 

by debit cards, electronic payment cards, or other means of 1501 

payment which the department deems to be commercially viable or 1502 

cost-effective. If payment is made by warrant, the warrant must 1503 

be delivered by the eligible nonprofit scholarship-funding 1504 

organization to the private school of the parent’s choice, and 1505 

the parent shall restrictively endorse the warrant to the 1506 

private school. If payment is made by funds transfer, the parent 1507 

must approve each payment before the scholarship funds may be 1508 

deposited. The parent may not designate any entity or individual 1509 

associated with the participating private school as the parent’s 1510 

attorney in fact to endorse a scholarship warrant or approve a 1511 

funds transfer. 1512 

(e) An eligible nonprofit scholarship-funding organization 1513 

shall obtain verification from the private school of a student’s 1514 

continued attendance at the school for each period covered by a 1515 

scholarship payment. 1516 

(f) Payment of the scholarship shall be made by the 1517 

eligible nonprofit scholarship-funding organization no less 1518 

frequently than on a quarterly basis. 1519 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 54 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

(g) An organization may use up to 3 percent of eligible 1520 

contributions received during the state fiscal year in which 1521 

such contributions are collected for administrative expenses if 1522 

the organization has operated as an eligible nonprofit 1523 

scholarship-funding organization for at least the preceding 3 1524 

fiscal years and did not have any findings of material weakness 1525 

or material noncompliance in its most recent audit under s. 1526 

1002.395(6)(m). Such administrative expenses must be reasonable 1527 

and necessary for the organization’s management and distribution 1528 

of eligible contributions under this section. Funds authorized 1529 

under this paragraph may not be used for lobbying or political 1530 

activity or expenses related to lobbying or political activity. 1531 

Up to one-third of the funds authorized for administrative 1532 

expenses under this paragraph may be used for expenses related 1533 

to the recruitment of contributions from taxpayers. An eligible 1534 

nonprofit scholarship-funding organization may not charge an 1535 

application fee. 1536 

(h) Moneys received pursuant to this section do not 1537 

constitute taxable income to the qualified student or his or her 1538 

parent. 1539 

(12) OBLIGATIONS OF THE AUDITOR GENERAL.— 1540 

(a) The Auditor General shall conduct an annual operational 1541 

audit of accounts and records of each organization that 1542 

participates in the program. As part of this audit, the Auditor 1543 

General shall verify, at a minimum, the total number of students 1544 

served and transmit that information to the department. The 1545 

Auditor General shall provide the commissioner with a copy of 1546 

each annual operational audit performed pursuant to this 1547 

subsection within 10 days after the audit is finalized. 1548 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 55 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

(b) The Auditor General shall notify the department of any 1549 

organization that fails to comply with a request for 1550 

information. 1551 

(13) SCHOLARSHIP FUNDING TAX CREDITS.— 1552 

(a) A tax credit is available under s. 212.1832 for use by 1553 

a taxpayer that makes an eligible contribution to the program. 1554 

Each eligible contribution is limited to a single payment of $20 1555 

at the time of purchase of a motor vehicle or a single payment 1556 

of $20 at the time of registration of a motor vehicle that was 1557 

not purchased from a dealer. An eligible contribution shall be 1558 

accompanied by an election to contribute to the program and 1559 

shall be made by the purchaser at the time of purchase or at the 1560 

time of registration on a form provided by the Department of 1561 

Revenue. Payments of contributions shall be made to a dealer, as 1562 

defined in chapter 212, at the time of purchase of a motor 1563 

vehicle or to an agent of the Department of Revenue, as 1564 

designated by s. 212.06(10), at the time of registration of a 1565 

motor vehicle that was not purchased from a dealer. 1566 

(b) A tax collector or any person or firm authorized to 1567 

sell or issue a motor vehicle license who is designated as an 1568 

agent of the Department of Revenue pursuant to s. 212.06(10) or 1569 

who is a dealer shall: 1570 

1. Provide the purchaser the contribution election form, as 1571 

prescribed by the Department of Revenue, at the time of purchase 1572 

of a motor vehicle or at the time of registration of a motor 1573 

vehicle that was not purchased from a dealer. 1574 

2. Collect eligible contributions. 1575 

3. Using a form provided by the Department of Revenue, 1576 

which shall include the dealer’s or agent’s federal employer 1577 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 56 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

identification number, remit to an organization on or before the 1578 

20th day of each month the total amount of contributions made to 1579 

that organization and collected during the preceding calendar 1580 

month. 1581 

4. Report on each return filed with the Department of 1582 

Revenue the total amount of credits allowed under s. 212.1832 1583 

during the preceding calendar month. 1584 

(c) An organization shall report to the Department of 1585 

Revenue, on or before the 20th day of each month, the total 1586 

amount of contributions received pursuant to paragraph (b) in 1587 

the preceding calendar month on a form provided by the 1588 

Department of Revenue. Such report shall include the federal 1589 

employer identification number of each tax collector, authorized 1590 

agent of the Department of Revenue, or dealer who remitted 1591 

contributions to the organization during that reporting period. 1592 

(d) A person who, with intent to unlawfully deprive or 1593 

defraud the program of its moneys or the use or benefit thereof, 1594 

fails to remit a contribution collected under this section is 1595 

guilty of theft of charitable funds, punishable as follows: 1596 

1. If the total amount stolen is less than $300, the 1597 

offense is a misdemeanor of the second degree, punishable as 1598 

provided in s. 775.082 or s. 775.083. Upon a second conviction, 1599 

the offender is guilty of a misdemeanor of the first degree, 1600 

punishable as provided in s. 775.082 or s. 775.083. Upon a third 1601 

or subsequent conviction, the offender is guilty of a felony of 1602 

the third degree, punishable as provided in s. 775.082, s. 1603 

775.083, or s. 775.084. 1604 

2. If the total amount stolen is $300 or more, but less 1605 

than $20,000, the offense is a felony of the third degree, 1606 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 57 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

punishable as provided in s. 775.082, s. 775.083, or s. 775.084. 1607 

3. If the total amount stolen is $20,000 or more, but less 1608 

than $100,000, the offense is a felony of the second degree, 1609 

punishable as provided in s. 775.082, s. 775.083, or s. 775.084. 1610 

4. If the total amount stolen is $100,000 or more, the 1611 

offense is a felony of the first degree, punishable as provided 1612 

in s. 775.082, s. 775.083, or s. 775.084. 1613 

(e) A person convicted of an offense under paragraph (d) 1614 

shall be ordered by the sentencing judge to make restitution to 1615 

the organization in the amount that was stolen from the program. 1616 

(14) LIABILITY.—The state is not liable for the award or 1617 

any use of awarded funds under this section. 1618 

(15) SCOPE OF AUTHORITY.—This section does not expand the 1619 

regulatory authority of this state, its officers, or any school 1620 

district to impose additional regulation on participating 1621 

private schools beyond those reasonably necessary to enforce 1622 

requirements expressly set forth in this section. 1623 

(16) RULES.—The State Board of Education shall adopt rules 1624 

to administer this section. 1625 

Section 16. Present subsection (7) of section 1002.421, 1626 

Florida Statutes, is amended and redesignated as subsection 1627 

(11), a new subsection (7) and subsections (8), (9), and (10) 1628 

are added to that section, and subsection (1), paragraphs (h) 1629 

and (i) of subsection (2), and subsections (4) and (5) of that 1630 

section are amended, to read: 1631 

1002.421 Accountability of private schools participating in 1632 

state school choice scholarship programs.— 1633 

(1)(a) A Florida private school participating in the 1634 

Florida Tax Credit Scholarship Program established pursuant to 1635 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 58 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

s. 1002.395 or an educational scholarship program established 1636 

pursuant to this chapter must comply with all requirements of 1637 

this section in addition to private school requirements outlined 1638 

in s. 1002.42, specific requirements identified within 1639 

respective scholarship program laws, and other provisions of 1640 

Florida law that apply to private schools. 1641 

(b) For purposes of this section, the term “owner or 1642 

operator” includes an owner, operator, superintendent, or 1643 

principal of an eligible private school or a person with 1644 

equivalent decisionmaking authority over an eligible private 1645 

school. 1646 

(2) A private school participating in a scholarship program 1647 

must be a Florida private school as defined in s. 1002.01(2), 1648 

must be registered in accordance with s. 1002.42, and must: 1649 

(h) Employ or contract with teachers who: 1650 

1. Unless otherwise specified under this paragraph, hold 1651 

baccalaureate or higher degrees, have at least 3 years of 1652 

teaching experience in public or private schools, or have 1653 

objectively identified special skills, knowledge, or expertise 1654 

that qualifies them to provide instruction in subjects taught. 1655 

2. Hold baccalaureate or higher degrees from a regionally 1656 

or nationally accredited college or university in the United 1657 

States or from a recognized college or university in another 1658 

country. This subparagraph applies to full-time teachers hired 1659 

after July 1, 2018, who are teaching students in grade 2 or 1660 

above. 1661 

 1662 

The private school must report to the department, in a format 1663 

developed by the department, the qualifications of each teacher 1664 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 59 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

hired by the school, including, but not limited to, an 1665 

explanation of the objectively identified special skills or 1666 

expertise of such teachers, as applicable. Additionally, the 1667 

private school must provide to the parent of each scholarship 1668 

student, on the school’s website or on a written form provided 1669 

by the school, the qualifications of each classroom teacher. 1670 

(i) Require each employee and contracted personnel with 1671 

direct student contact, upon employment or engagement to provide 1672 

services, to undergo a state and national background screening, 1673 

pursuant to s. 943.0542, by electronically filing with the 1674 

Department of Law Enforcement a complete set of fingerprints 1675 

taken by an authorized law enforcement agency or an employee of 1676 

the private school, a school district, or a private company who 1677 

is trained to take fingerprints and deny employment to or 1678 

terminate an employee if he or she fails to meet the screening 1679 

standards under s. 435.04. Results of the screening shall be 1680 

provided to the participating private school. For purposes of 1681 

this paragraph: 1682 

1. An “employee or contracted personnel with direct student 1683 

contact” means any employee or contracted personnel who has 1684 

unsupervised access to a scholarship student for whom the 1685 

private school is responsible. 1686 

2. The costs of fingerprinting and the background check 1687 

shall not be borne by the state. 1688 

3. Continued employment of an employee or contracted 1689 

personnel after notification that he or she has failed the 1690 

background screening under this paragraph shall cause a private 1691 

school to be ineligible for participation in a scholarship 1692 

program. 1693 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 60 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

4. An employee or contracted personnel holding a valid 1694 

Florida teaching certificate who has been fingerprinted pursuant 1695 

to s. 1012.32 and who is not ineligible for employment pursuant 1696 

to s. 1012.315 is not required to comply with the provisions of 1697 

this paragraph. 1698 

(4) A private school that accepts scholarship students 1699 

under this chapter s. 1002.39 or s. 1002.395 must: 1700 

(a) Disqualify instructional personnel and school 1701 

administrators, as defined in s. 1012.01, from employment in any 1702 

position that requires direct contact with students if the 1703 

personnel or administrators are ineligible for such employment 1704 

under s. 1012.315. 1705 

(b) Adopt and faithfully implement policies establishing 1706 

standards of ethical conduct for instructional personnel and 1707 

school administrators. The policies must require all 1708 

instructional personnel and school administrators, as defined in 1709 

s. 1012.01, to complete training on the standards; establish the 1710 

duty of instructional personnel and school administrators to 1711 

report, and procedures for reporting, alleged misconduct by 1712 

other instructional personnel and school administrators which 1713 

affects the health, safety, or welfare of a student; and include 1714 

an explanation of the liability protections provided under ss. 1715 

39.203 and 768.095. A private school, or any of its employees, 1716 

may not enter into a confidentiality agreement regarding 1717 

terminated or dismissed instructional personnel or school 1718 

administrators, or personnel or administrators who resign in 1719 

lieu of termination, based in whole or in part on misconduct 1720 

that affects the health, safety, or welfare of a student, and 1721 

may not provide the instructional personnel or school 1722 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 61 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

administrators with employment references or discuss the 1723 

personnel’s or administrators’ performance with prospective 1724 

employers in another educational setting, without disclosing the 1725 

personnel’s or administrators’ misconduct. Any part of an 1726 

agreement or contract that has the purpose or effect of 1727 

concealing misconduct by instructional personnel or school 1728 

administrators which affects the health, safety, or welfare of a 1729 

student is void, is contrary to public policy, and may not be 1730 

enforced. 1731 

(c) Before employing instructional personnel or school 1732 

administrators in any position that requires direct contact with 1733 

students, conduct employment history checks of each of the 1734 

personnel’s or administrators’ previous employers, screen the 1735 

personnel or administrators through use of the educator 1736 

screening tools described in s. 1001.10(5), and document the 1737 

findings. If unable to contact a previous employer, the private 1738 

school must document efforts to contact the employer. 1739 

 1740 

The department shall suspend the payment of funds under this 1741 

chapter ss. 1002.39 and 1002.395 to a private school that 1742 

knowingly fails or refuses to comply with this subsection, and 1743 

shall prohibit the school from enrolling new scholarship 1744 

students, for 1 fiscal year and until the school complies. 1745 

(5) The failure or refusal inability of a private school to 1746 

meet the requirements of this section shall constitute a basis 1747 

for the ineligibility of the private school to participate in a 1748 

scholarship program as determined by the department. 1749 

Additionally, a private school is ineligible to participate in a 1750 

state scholarship program under this chapter if the owner or 1751 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 62 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

operator of the private school was a debtor in a voluntary or 1752 

involuntary bankruptcy petition within the most recent 5 years. 1753 

(7)(a) The department must annually visit at least 5 1754 

percent, and may annually visit up to 7 percent, of the private 1755 

schools that participate in the state scholarship programs under 1756 

this chapter. Site visits required under subsection (8) are not 1757 

included in the annual site visits authorized under this 1758 

paragraph. 1759 

(b) The purposes of the site visits are to verify 1760 

compliance with the provisions of this section aimed at 1761 

protecting the health, safety, and welfare of students and to 1762 

verify the information reported by the schools concerning the 1763 

enrollment and attendance of students, the credentials of 1764 

teachers, background screening of teachers, and teachers’ 1765 

fingerprinting results, as required by rules of the State Board 1766 

of Education and this section. 1767 

(c) The department may make followup site visits at any 1768 

time to any school that has received a notice of noncompliance 1769 

or a notice of proposed action within the previous 2 years, or 1770 

for a cause that affects the health, safety, and welfare of a 1771 

student. 1772 

(8)(a) The department shall visit each private school that 1773 

notifies the department of the school’s intent to participate in 1774 

a state scholarship program under this chapter. 1775 

(b) The purpose of the site visit is to determine that the 1776 

school meets the applicable state and local health, safety, and 1777 

welfare codes and rules pursuant to this section. 1778 

(9) The Division of State Fire Marshal shall annually 1779 

provide to the department a fire safety inspection report, 1780 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 63 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

prepared by the local fire departments or by entities with whom 1781 

they contract to perform fire safety inspections of private 1782 

schools, for each private school that participates in a state 1783 

scholarship program under this chapter. 1784 

(10) If a private school that participates in a state 1785 

scholarship program under this chapter receives more than 1786 

$250,000 in funds from the scholarships awarded under this 1787 

chapter in a state fiscal year, the school must provide to the 1788 

department a report of the balance sheet and statement of income 1789 

expenditures in accordance with generally accepted accounting 1790 

procedures from an independent certified public accountant who 1791 

performs the agreed-upon procedures. 1792 

(11)(7) The State Board of Education shall adopt rules 1793 

pursuant to ss. 120.536(1) and 120.54 to administer and enforce 1794 

this section. 1795 

Section 17. Section 1002.43, Florida Statutes, is repealed. 1796 

Section 18. Subsection (5) of section 1002.55, Florida 1797 

Statutes, is amended to read: 1798 

1002.55 School-year prekindergarten program delivered by 1799 

private prekindergarten providers.— 1800 

(5)(a) Notwithstanding paragraph (3)(b), a private 1801 

prekindergarten provider may not participate in the Voluntary 1802 

Prekindergarten Education Program if the provider has child 1803 

disciplinary policies that do not prohibit children from being 1804 

subjected to discipline that is severe, humiliating, 1805 

frightening, or associated with food, rest, toileting, spanking, 1806 

or any other form of physical punishment as provided in s. 1807 

402.305(12). 1808 

(b) Notwithstanding any other provision of law, if a 1809 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 64 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

private prekindergarten provider has been cited for a class I 1810 

violation, as defined by rule, the coalition may refuse to 1811 

contract with the provider. 1812 

Section 19. Subsection (13) of section 1003.01, Florida 1813 

Statutes, is amended to read: 1814 

1003.01 Definitions.—As used in this chapter, the term: 1815 

(13) “Regular school attendance” means the actual 1816 

attendance of a student during the school day as defined by law 1817 

and rules of the State Board of Education. Regular attendance 1818 

within the intent of s. 1003.21 may be achieved by a student’s 1819 

full-time attendance in one of the following options: 1820 

(a) A public school supported by public funds, including, 1821 

but not limited to, the Florida School for the Deaf and the 1822 

Blind, the Florida Virtual School, a developmental research 1823 

school, and a charter school established pursuant to chapter 1824 

1002.; 1825 

(b) A parochial, religious, or denominational school; 1826 

(b)(c) A private school, as defined in s. 1002.01(2) and in 1827 

compliance with s. 1002.42, including, but not limited to, a 1828 

private parochial, religious, or denominational school; and a 1829 

private school supported in whole or in part by tuition charges 1830 

or by endowments or gifts. This option includes an eligible 1831 

private school in which a student attends as a participant in a 1832 

scholarship program, as defined in s. 1002.01(3).; 1833 

(c)(d) A home education program, as defined in s. 1834 

1002.01(1), which that meets the requirements of chapter 1002.; 1835 

or 1836 

(e) A private tutoring program that meets the requirements 1837 

of chapter 1002. 1838 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 65 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

Section 20. Paragraph (f) of subsection (1) of section 1839 

1003.26, Florida Statutes, is amended to read: 1840 

1003.26 Enforcement of school attendance.—The Legislature 1841 

finds that poor academic performance is associated with 1842 

nonattendance and that school districts must take an active role 1843 

in promoting and enforcing attendance as a means of improving 1844 

student performance. It is the policy of the state that each 1845 

district school superintendent be responsible for enforcing 1846 

school attendance of all students subject to the compulsory 1847 

school age in the school district and supporting enforcement of 1848 

school attendance by local law enforcement agencies. The 1849 

responsibility includes recommending policies and procedures to 1850 

the district school board that require public schools to respond 1851 

in a timely manner to every unexcused absence, and every absence 1852 

for which the reason is unknown, of students enrolled in the 1853 

schools. District school board policies shall require the parent 1854 

of a student to justify each absence of the student, and that 1855 

justification will be evaluated based on adopted district school 1856 

board policies that define excused and unexcused absences. The 1857 

policies must provide that public schools track excused and 1858 

unexcused absences and contact the home in the case of an 1859 

unexcused absence from school, or an absence from school for 1860 

which the reason is unknown, to prevent the development of 1861 

patterns of nonattendance. The Legislature finds that early 1862 

intervention in school attendance is the most effective way of 1863 

producing good attendance habits that will lead to improved 1864 

student learning and achievement. Each public school shall 1865 

implement the following steps to promote and enforce regular 1866 

school attendance: 1867 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 66 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

(1) CONTACT, REFER, AND ENFORCE.— 1868 

(f)1. If the parent of a child who has been identified as 1869 

exhibiting a pattern of nonattendance enrolls the child in a 1870 

home education program pursuant to chapter 1002, the district 1871 

school superintendent shall provide the parent a copy of s. 1872 

1002.41 and the accountability requirements of this paragraph. 1873 

The district school superintendent shall also refer the parent 1874 

to a home education review committee composed of the district 1875 

contact for home education programs and at least two home 1876 

educators selected by the parent from a district list of all 1877 

home educators who have conducted a home education program for 1878 

at least 3 years and who have indicated a willingness to serve 1879 

on the committee. The home education review committee shall 1880 

review the portfolio of the student, as defined by s. 1002.41, 1881 

every 30 days during the district’s regular school terms until 1882 

the committee is satisfied that the home education program is in 1883 

compliance with s. 1002.41(1)(b). The first portfolio review 1884 

must occur within the first 30 calendar days of the 1885 

establishment of the program. The provisions of subparagraph 2. 1886 

do not apply once the committee determines the home education 1887 

program is in compliance with s. 1002.41(1)(b). 1888 

2. If the parent fails to provide a portfolio to the 1889 

committee, the committee shall notify the district school 1890 

superintendent. The district school superintendent shall then 1891 

terminate the home education program and require the parent to 1892 

enroll the child in an attendance option that meets the 1893 

definition of “regular school attendance” under s. 1894 

1003.01(13)(a) or (b) s. 1003.01(13)(a), (b), (c), or (e), 1895 

within 3 days. Upon termination of a home education program 1896 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 67 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

pursuant to this subparagraph, the parent shall not be eligible 1897 

to reenroll the child in a home education program for 180 1898 

calendar days. Failure of a parent to enroll the child in an 1899 

attendance option as required by this subparagraph after 1900 

termination of the home education program pursuant to this 1901 

subparagraph shall constitute noncompliance with the compulsory 1902 

attendance requirements of s. 1003.21 and may result in criminal 1903 

prosecution under s. 1003.27(2). Nothing contained herein shall 1904 

restrict the ability of the district school superintendent, or 1905 

the ability of his or her designee, to review the portfolio 1906 

pursuant to s. 1002.41(1)(b). 1907 

Section 21. Paragraph (d) of subsection (2) of section 1908 

1003.41, Florida Statutes, is amended and paragraph (f) is added 1909 

to that subsection, to read: 1910 

1003.41 Next Generation Sunshine State Standards.— 1911 

(2) Next Generation Sunshine State Standards must meet the 1912 

following requirements: 1913 

(d) Social Studies standards must establish specific 1914 

curricular content for, at a minimum, geography, United States 1915 

and world history, government, civics, humanities, and 1916 

economics, including financial literacy. Financial literacy 1917 

includes the knowledge, understanding, skills, behaviors, 1918 

attitudes, and values that will enable a student to make 1919 

responsible and effective financial decisions on a daily basis. 1920 

Financial literacy instruction shall be an integral part of 1921 

instruction throughout the entire economics course and include 1922 

information regarding earning income; buying goods and services; 1923 

saving and financial investing; taxes; the use of credit and 1924 

credit cards; budgeting and debt management, including student 1925 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 68 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

loans and secured loans; banking and financial services; 1926 

planning for one’s financial future, including higher education 1927 

and career planning; credit reports and scores; and fraud and 1928 

identity theft prevention. The requirements for financial 1929 

literacy specified under this paragraph do not apply to students 1930 

entering grade 9 in the 2018-2019 school year and thereafter. 1931 

(f) Effective for students entering grade 9 in the 2018-1932 

2019 school year and thereafter, financial literacy standards 1933 

must establish specific curricular content for, at a minimum, 1934 

personal financial literacy and money management. Financial 1935 

literacy includes instruction in the areas specified in s. 1936 

1003.4282(3)(h). 1937 

Section 22. Paragraphs (d) and (g) of subsection (3) of 1938 

section 1003.4282, Florida Statutes, are amended, and paragraph 1939 

(h) is added to that subsection, to read: 1940 

1003.4282 Requirements for a standard high school diploma.— 1941 

(3) STANDARD HIGH SCHOOL DIPLOMA; COURSE AND ASSESSMENT 1942 

REQUIREMENTS.— 1943 

(d) Three credits in social studies.—A student must earn 1944 

one credit in United States History; one credit in World 1945 

History; one-half credit in economics, which must include 1946 

financial literacy; and one-half credit in United States 1947 

Government. The United States History EOC assessment constitutes 1948 

30 percent of the student’s final course grade. However, for a 1949 

student entering grade 9 in the 2018-2019 school year or 1950 

thereafter, financial literacy is not a required component of 1951 

the one-half credit in economics. 1952 

(g) Eight Credits in Electives.—School districts must 1953 

develop and offer coordinated electives so that a student may 1954 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 69 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

develop knowledge and skills in his or her area of interest, 1955 

such as electives with a STEM or liberal arts focus. Such 1956 

electives must include opportunities for students to earn 1957 

college credit, including industry-certified career education 1958 

programs or series of career-themed courses that result in 1959 

industry certification or articulate into the award of college 1960 

credit, or career education courses for which there is a 1961 

statewide or local articulation agreement and which lead to 1962 

college credit. A student entering grade 9 before the 2018-2019 1963 

school year must earn eight credits in electives. A student 1964 

entering grade 9 in the 2018-2019 school year or thereafter must 1965 

earn seven and one-half credits in electives. 1966 

(h) One-half credit in personal financial literacy.—1967 

Beginning with students entering grade 9 in the 2018-2019 school 1968 

year, each student shall earn one-half credit in personal 1969 

financial literacy and money management. This instruction must 1970 

include discussion of or instruction in the following: 1971 

1. Types of bank accounts offered, opening and managing a 1972 

bank account, and assessing the quality of a depository 1973 

institution’s services. 1974 

2. Balancing a checkbook. 1975 

3. Basic principles of money management, such as spending, 1976 

credit, credit scores, and managing debt, including retail and 1977 

credit card debt. 1978 

4. Completing a loan application. 1979 

5. Receiving an inheritance and related implications. 1980 

6. Basic principles of personal insurance policies. 1981 

7. Computing federal income taxes. 1982 

8. Local tax assessments. 1983 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 70 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

9. Computing interest rates by various mechanisms. 1984 

10. Simple contracts. 1985 

11. Contesting an incorrect billing statement. 1986 

12. Types of savings and investments. 1987 

13. State and federal laws concerning finance. 1988 

Section 23. Section 1003.457, Florida Statutes, is created 1989 

to read: 1990 

1003.457 Instruction in cardiopulmonary resuscitation.— 1991 

(1) Each school district shall provide instruction in 1992 

cardiopulmonary resuscitation (CPR) and the use of an automated 1993 

external defibrillator. Students shall study and practice the 1994 

psychomotor skills associated with performing CPR at least once 1995 

before graduating from high school. The instruction shall be a 1996 

part of the physical education curriculum or another required 1997 

curriculum selected by the school district. 1998 

(2) The instruction shall be based on an instructional 1999 

program established by: 2000 

(a) The American Heart Association; 2001 

(b) The American Red Cross; or 2002 

(c) Another nationally recognized program that uses the 2003 

most current evidence-based emergency cardiovascular care 2004 

guidelines. 2005 

(3) A student with a disability, as defined in s. 1007.02, 2006 

is exempt from the requirements of this section. 2007 

Section 24. Subsection (3) of section 1003.453, Florida 2008 

Statutes, is amended to read: 2009 

1003.453 School wellness and physical education policies; 2010 

nutrition guidelines.— 2011 

(3) School districts are encouraged to provide basic 2012 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 71 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

training in first aid, including cardiopulmonary resuscitation, 2013 

for all students, beginning in grade 6 and every 2 years 2014 

thereafter. Private and public partnerships for providing 2015 

training or necessary funding are encouraged. 2016 

Section 25. Section 1006.061, Florida Statutes, is amended 2017 

to read: 2018 

1006.061 Child abuse, abandonment, and neglect policy.—Each 2019 

district school board, charter school, and private school that 2020 

accepts scholarship students under s. 1002.385, s. 1002.39, or 2021 

s. 1002.395, or another state scholarship program under chapter 2022 

1002 shall: 2023 

(1) Post in a prominent place in each school a notice that, 2024 

pursuant to chapter 39, all employees and agents of the district 2025 

school board, charter school, or private school have an 2026 

affirmative duty to report all actual or suspected cases of 2027 

child abuse, abandonment, or neglect; have immunity from 2028 

liability if they report such cases in good faith; and have a 2029 

duty to comply with child protective investigations and all 2030 

other provisions of law relating to child abuse, abandonment, 2031 

and neglect. The notice shall also include the statewide toll-2032 

free telephone number of the central abuse hotline. 2033 

(2) Post in a prominent place at each school site and on 2034 

each school’s Internet website, if available, the policies and 2035 

procedures for reporting alleged misconduct by instructional 2036 

personnel or school administrators which affects the health, 2037 

safety, or welfare of a student; the contact person to whom the 2038 

report is made; and the penalties imposed on instructional 2039 

personnel or school administrators who fail to report suspected 2040 

or actual child abuse or alleged misconduct by other 2041 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 72 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

instructional personnel or school administrators. 2042 

(3) Require the principal of the charter school or private 2043 

school, or the district school superintendent, or the 2044 

superintendent’s designee, at the request of the Department of 2045 

Children and Families, to act as a liaison to the Department of 2046 

Children and Families and the child protection team, as defined 2047 

in s. 39.01, when in a case of suspected child abuse, 2048 

abandonment, or neglect or an unlawful sexual offense involving 2049 

a child the case is referred to such a team; except that this 2050 

does not relieve or restrict the Department of Children and 2051 

Families from discharging its duty and responsibility under the 2052 

law to investigate and report every suspected or actual case of 2053 

child abuse, abandonment, or neglect or unlawful sexual offense 2054 

involving a child. 2055 

(4)(a) Post in a prominent place in a clearly visible 2056 

location and public area of the school which is readily 2057 

accessible to and widely used by students a sign in English and 2058 

Spanish that contains: 2059 

1. The statewide toll-free telephone number of the central 2060 

abuse hotline as provided in chapter 39; 2061 

2. Instructions to call 911 for emergencies; and 2062 

3. Directions for accessing the Department of Children and 2063 

Families Internet website for more information on reporting 2064 

abuse, neglect, and exploitation. 2065 

(b) The information in paragraph (a) must be put on at 2066 

least one poster in each school, on a sheet that measures at 2067 

least 11 inches by 17 inches, produced in large print, and 2068 

placed at student eye level for easy viewing. 2069 

 2070 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 73 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

The Department of Education shall develop, and publish on the 2071 

department’s Internet website, sample notices suitable for 2072 

posting in accordance with subsections (1), (2), and (4). 2073 

Section 26. Subsections (4) and (6) of section 1006.07, 2074 

Florida Statutes, are amended, and subsection (7) is added to 2075 

that section, to read: 2076 

1006.07 District school board duties relating to student 2077 

discipline and school safety.—The district school board shall 2078 

provide for the proper accounting for all students, for the 2079 

attendance and control of students at school, and for proper 2080 

attention to health, safety, and other matters relating to the 2081 

welfare of students, including: 2082 

(4) EMERGENCY DRILLS; EMERGENCY PROCEDURES.— 2083 

(a) Formulate and prescribe policies and procedures for 2084 

emergency drills and for actual emergencies, including, but not 2085 

limited to, fires, natural disasters, hostage and active shooter 2086 

situations, and bomb threats, for all the public schools of the 2087 

district which comprise grades K-12. District school board 2088 

policies shall include commonly used alarm system responses for 2089 

specific types of emergencies and verification by each school 2090 

that drills have been provided as required by law and fire 2091 

protection codes. The emergency response agency that is 2092 

responsible for notifying the school district for each type of 2093 

emergency must be listed in the district’s emergency response 2094 

policy. 2095 

(b) Establish model emergency management and emergency 2096 

preparedness procedures, including emergency notification 2097 

procedures pursuant to paragraph (a), for the following life-2098 

threatening emergencies: 2099 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 74 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

1. Weapon-use, and hostage, and active shooter situations. 2100 

The active shooter situation training for each school must be 2101 

conducted by the law enforcement agency or agencies that are 2102 

designated as first responders to the school’s campus. 2103 

2. Hazardous materials or toxic chemical spills. 2104 

3. Weather emergencies, including hurricanes, tornadoes, 2105 

and severe storms. 2106 

4. Exposure as a result of a manmade emergency. 2107 

(6) SAFETY AND SECURITY BEST PRACTICES.—Each school 2108 

district shall: Use the Safety and Security Best Practices 2109 

developed by the Office of Program Policy Analysis and 2110 

Government Accountability to 2111 

(a) Conduct security risk assessments at each public school 2112 

and conduct a self-assessment of the school districts’ current 2113 

safety and security practices using a format prescribed by the 2114 

department. Based on these self-assessment findings, the 2115 

district school superintendent shall provide recommendations to 2116 

the district school board which identify strategies and 2117 

activities that the district school board should implement in 2118 

order to improve school safety and security. Annually each 2119 

district school board must receive such findings and the 2120 

superintendent’s recommendations the self-assessment results at 2121 

a publicly noticed district school board meeting to provide the 2122 

public an opportunity to hear the district school board members 2123 

discuss and take action on the report findings and 2124 

recommendations. Each district school superintendent shall 2125 

report such findings the self-assessment results and school 2126 

board action to the commissioner within 30 days after the 2127 

district school board meeting. 2128 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 75 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

(b) Using a format prescribed by the department, develop a 2129 

plan that includes having a secure, single point of entry onto 2130 

school grounds. 2131 

(7) SAFETY IN CONSTRUCTION PLANNING.—A district school 2132 

board or private school principal or governing board must allow 2133 

the law enforcement agency or agencies that are designated as 2134 

first responders to the school’s or district’s campus to tour 2135 

such campus once every 3 years. Any changes related to school 2136 

safety and emergency issues recommended by a law enforcement 2137 

agency based on a campus tour must be documented by the district 2138 

school board or private school principal or governing board. 2139 

Section 27. Subsection (1) and paragraph (b) of subsection 2140 

(2) section 1006.12, Florida Statutes, are amended to read: 2141 

1006.12 School resource officers and school safety 2142 

officers.— 2143 

(1) District school boards shall may establish school 2144 

resource officer programs, through a cooperative agreement with 2145 

law enforcement agencies or in accordance with subsection (2). 2146 

(a) School resource officers shall be certified law 2147 

enforcement officers, as defined in s. 943.10(1), who are 2148 

employed by a law enforcement agency as defined in s. 943.10(4). 2149 

The powers and duties of a law enforcement officer shall 2150 

continue throughout the employee’s tenure as a school resource 2151 

officer. 2152 

(b) School resource officers shall abide by district school 2153 

board policies and shall consult with and coordinate activities 2154 

through the school principal, but shall be responsible to the 2155 

law enforcement agency in all matters relating to employment, 2156 

subject to agreements between a district school board and a law 2157 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 76 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

enforcement agency. Activities conducted by the school resource 2158 

officer which are part of the regular instructional program of 2159 

the school shall be under the direction of the school principal. 2160 

(2) 2161 

(b) A district school board shall may commission one or 2162 

more school safety officers for the protection and safety of 2163 

school personnel, property, and students at each district school 2164 

facility within the school district. The district school 2165 

superintendent may recommend and the district school board may 2166 

appoint one or more school safety officers. 2167 

Section 28. Section 1007.273, Florida Statutes, is amended 2168 

to read: 2169 

1007.273 Structured high school acceleration programs 2170 

Collegiate high school program.— 2171 

(1) Each Florida College System institution shall work with 2172 

each district school board in its designated service area to 2173 

establish one or more structured programs, including, but not 2174 

limited to, collegiate high school programs. As used in this 2175 

section, the term “structured program” means a structured high 2176 

school acceleration program. 2177 

(1)(2) PURPOSE.—At a minimum, structured collegiate high 2178 

school programs must include an option for public school 2179 

students in grade 11 or grade 12 participating in the structured 2180 

program, for at least 1 full school year, to earn CAPE industry 2181 

certifications pursuant to s. 1008.44, and to successfully 2182 

complete at least 30 credit hours through the dual enrollment 2183 

program under s. 1007.271. The structured program must 2184 

prioritize dual enrollment courses that are applicable toward 2185 

general education core courses or common prerequisite course 2186 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 77 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

requirements under s. 1007.25 over dual enrollment courses 2187 

applicable as electives toward at least the first year of 2188 

college for an associate degree or baccalaureate degree while 2189 

enrolled in the structured program. A district school board may 2190 

not limit the number of eligible public school students who may 2191 

enroll in such structured programs. 2192 

(2)(3) REQUIRED STRUCTURED PROGRAM CONTRACTS.— 2193 

(a) Each district school board and its local Florida 2194 

College System institution shall execute a contract to establish 2195 

one or more structured collegiate high school programs at a 2196 

mutually agreed upon location or locations. Beginning with the 2197 

2015-2016 school year, If the local Florida College System 2198 

institution does not establish a structured program with a 2199 

district school board in its designated service area, another 2200 

Florida College System institution may execute a contract with 2201 

that district school board to establish the structured program. 2202 

The contract must be executed by January 1 of each school year 2203 

for implementation of the structured program during the next 2204 

school year. By August 1, 2018, a contract entered into before 2205 

January 1, 2018, for the 2018-2019 school year must be modified 2206 

to include the provisions of paragraph (b). 2207 

(b) The contract must: 2208 

1.(a) Identify the grade levels to be included in the 2209 

structured collegiate high school program; which must, at a 2210 

minimum, include grade 12. 2211 

2.(b) Describe the structured collegiate high school 2212 

program, including a list of the meta-major academic pathways 2213 

approved pursuant to s. 1008.30(4), which are available to 2214 

participating students through the partner Florida College 2215 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 78 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

System institution or other eligible partner postsecondary 2216 

institutions; the delineation of courses that must, at a 2217 

minimum, include general education core courses and common 2218 

prerequisite course requirements pursuant to s. 1007.25; and 2219 

industry certifications offered, including online course 2220 

availability; the high school and college credits earned for 2221 

each postsecondary course completed and industry certification 2222 

earned; student eligibility criteria; and the enrollment process 2223 

and relevant deadlines;. 2224 

3.(c) Describe the methods, medium, and process by which 2225 

students and their parents are annually informed about the 2226 

availability of the structured collegiate high school program, 2227 

the return on investment associated with participation in the 2228 

structured program, and the information described in 2229 

subparagraphs 1. and 2.; paragraphs (a) and (b). 2230 

4.(d) Identify the delivery methods for instruction and the 2231 

instructors for all courses;. 2232 

5.(e) Identify student advising services and progress 2233 

monitoring mechanisms;. 2234 

6.(f) Establish a program review and reporting mechanism 2235 

regarding student performance outcomes; and. 2236 

7.(g) Describe the terms of funding arrangements to 2237 

implement the structured collegiate high school program pursuant 2238 

to paragraph (5)(a). 2239 

(3) STUDENT PERFORMANCE CONTRACT AND NOTIFICATION.— 2240 

(a)(4) Each student participating in a structured 2241 

collegiate high school program must enter into a student 2242 

performance contract which must be signed by the student, the 2243 

parent, and a representative of the school district and the 2244 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 79 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

applicable Florida College System institution, state university, 2245 

or other institution participating pursuant to subsection (4) 2246 

(5). The performance contract must, at a minimum, specify 2247 

include the schedule of courses, by semester, and industry 2248 

certifications to be taken by the student, if any; student 2249 

attendance requirements;, and course grade requirements; and the 2250 

applicability of such courses to an associate degree or a 2251 

baccalaureate degree. 2252 

(b) By September 1 of each school year, each district 2253 

school board must notify each student enrolled in grades 9, 10, 2254 

11, and 12 in a public school within the school district about 2255 

the structured program, including, but not limited to: 2256 

1. The method for earning college credit through 2257 

participation in the structured program. The notification must 2258 

include website links to the dual enrollment course equivalency 2259 

list approved by the State Board of Education; the common degree 2260 

program prerequisite requirements published by the Articulation 2261 

Coordinating Committee pursuant to s. 1007.01(3)(f); the 2262 

industry certification articulation agreements adopted by the 2263 

State Board of Education in rule; and the approved meta-major 2264 

academic pathways of the partner Florida College System 2265 

institution and other eligible partner postsecondary 2266 

institutions participating pursuant to subsection (4); and 2267 

2. The estimated cost savings to students and their 2268 

families resulting from students successfully completing 30 2269 

credit hours applicable toward general education core courses or 2270 

common prerequisite course requirements before graduating from 2271 

high school versus the cost of earning such credit hours after 2272 

graduating from high school. 2273 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 80 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

(4)(5) AUTHORIZED STRUCTURED PROGRAM CONTRACTS.—In addition 2274 

to executing a contract with the local Florida College System 2275 

institution under this section, a district school board may 2276 

execute a contract to establish a structured collegiate high 2277 

school program with a state university or an institution that is 2278 

eligible to participate in the William L. Boyd, IV, Florida 2279 

Resident Access Grant Program, that is a nonprofit independent 2280 

college or university located and chartered in this state, and 2281 

that is accredited by the Commission on Colleges of the Southern 2282 

Association of Colleges and Schools to grant baccalaureate 2283 

degrees. Such university or institution must meet the 2284 

requirements specified under subsections (2) (3) and (3). A 2285 

charter school may execute a contract directly with the local 2286 

Florida College System institution or another institution as 2287 

authorized under this section to establish a structured program 2288 

at a mutually agreed upon location (4). 2289 

(5) FUNDING.— 2290 

(a)(6) The structured collegiate high school program shall 2291 

be funded pursuant to ss. 1007.271 and 1011.62. The State Board 2292 

of Education shall enforce compliance with this section by 2293 

withholding the transfer of funds for the school districts and 2294 

the Florida College System institutions in accordance with s. 2295 

1008.32. Annually, by December 31, the State Board of Education 2296 

shall enforce compliance with this section by withholding the 2297 

transfer of funds for the Florida College System institutions in 2298 

accordance with s. 1008.32 2299 

(b) A student who enrolls in the structured program and 2300 

successfully completes at least 30 college credit hours during a 2301 

school year through the dual enrollment program under s. 2302 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 81 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

1007.271 generates a 0.5 full-time equivalent (FTE) bonus. A 2303 

student who enrolls in the structured program and successfully 2304 

completes an additional 30 college credit hours during a school 2305 

year, resulting in at least 60 college credit hours through the 2306 

dual enrollment program under s. 1007.271 applicable toward 2307 

fulfilling the requirements for an associate in arts degree or 2308 

an associate in science degree or a baccalaureate degree 2309 

pursuant to the student performance contract under subsection 2310 

(3), before graduating from high school, generates an additional 2311 

0.5 FTE bonus. Each district school board that is a contractual 2312 

partner with a Florida College System institution or other 2313 

eligible postsecondary institution shall report to the 2314 

commissioner the total FTE bonus for each structured program for 2315 

the students from that school district. The total FTE bonus 2316 

shall be added to each school district’s total weighted FTE for 2317 

funding in the subsequent fiscal year. 2318 

(c) For any industry certification a student attains under 2319 

this section, the FTE bonus shall be calculated and awarded in 2320 

accordance with s. 1011.62(1)(o). 2321 

(6) REPORTING REQUIREMENTS.— 2322 

(a) By September 1 of each school year, each district 2323 

school superintendent shall report to the commissioner, at a 2324 

minimum, the following information on each structured program 2325 

administered during the prior school year: 2326 

1. The number of students in public schools within the 2327 

school district who enrolled in the structured program, and the 2328 

partnering postsecondary institutions pursuant to subsections 2329 

(2) and (4); 2330 

2. The total and average number of dual enrollment courses 2331 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 82 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

completed, high school and college credits earned, standard high 2332 

school diplomas and associate and baccalaureate degrees awarded, 2333 

and the number of industry certifications attained, if any, by 2334 

the students who enrolled in the structured program; 2335 

3. The projected student enrollment in the structured 2336 

program during the next school year; and 2337 

4. Any barriers to executing contracts to establish one or 2338 

more structured programs. 2339 

(b) By November 30 of each school year, the commissioner 2340 

must report to the Governor, the President of the Senate, and 2341 

the Speaker of the House of Representatives the status of 2342 

structured programs, including, at a minimum, a summary of 2343 

student enrollment and completion information pursuant to this 2344 

subsection; barriers, if any, to establishing such programs; and 2345 

recommendations for expanding access to such programs statewide. 2346 

Section 29. Paragraph (c) of subsection (3) and subsection 2347 

(4) of section 1008.33, Florida Statutes, are amended to read: 2348 

1008.33 Authority to enforce public school improvement.— 2349 

(3) 2350 

(c) The state board shall adopt by rule a differentiated 2351 

matrix of intervention and support strategies for assisting 2352 

traditional public schools identified under this section and 2353 

rules for implementing s. 1002.33(9)(n), relating to charter 2354 

schools. 2355 

1. The intervention and support strategies must address 2356 

efforts to improve student performance through one or more of 2357 

the following strategies: and may include 2358 

a. Improvement planning; 2359 

b. Leadership quality improvement; 2360 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 83 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

c. Educator quality improvement; 2361 

d. Professional development; 2362 

e. Curriculum review, pacing, and alignment across grade 2363 

levels to improve background knowledge in social studies, 2364 

science, and the arts; and 2365 

f. The use of continuous improvement and monitoring plans 2366 

and processes. 2367 

2. In addition, The state board may prescribe reporting 2368 

requirements to review and monitor the progress of the schools. 2369 

The rule must define the intervention and support strategies for 2370 

school improvement for schools earning a grade of “D” or “F” and 2371 

the roles for the district and department. 2372 

(4)(a) The state board shall apply intensive intervention 2373 

and support strategies tailored to the needs of schools earning 2374 

two consecutive grades of “D” or a grade of “F.” In the first 2375 

full school year after a school initially earns two consecutive 2376 

grades of “D” or a grade of “F,” the school district must 2377 

immediately implement intervention and support strategies 2378 

prescribed in rule under paragraph (3)(c) and, by September 1, 2379 

provide the department with the memorandum of understanding 2380 

negotiated pursuant to s. 1001.42(21) and, by October 1, a 2381 

district-managed turnaround plan for approval by the state 2382 

board. The district-managed turnaround plan may include a 2383 

proposal for the district to implement an extended school day, a 2384 

summer program, or a combination of an extended school day and 2385 

summer program. Upon approval by the state board, the school 2386 

district must implement the plan for the remainder of the school 2387 

year and continue the plan for 1 full school year. The state 2388 

board may allow a school an additional year of implementation 2389 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 84 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

before the school must implement a turnaround option required 2390 

under paragraph (b) if it determines that the school is likely 2391 

to improve to a grade of “C” or higher after the first full 2392 

school year of implementation. 2393 

(b) Unless an additional year of implementation is provided 2394 

pursuant to paragraph (a), a school that has completed 2 school 2395 

years of a district-managed turnaround plan required under 2396 

paragraph (a) and has not improved its school grade to a “C” or 2397 

higher, pursuant to s. 1008.34, earns three consecutive grades 2398 

below a “C” must implement one of the following options: 2399 

1. Reassign students to another school and monitor the 2400 

progress of each reassigned student.; 2401 

2. Close the school and reopen the school as one or more 2402 

charter schools, each with a governing board that has a 2403 

demonstrated record of effectiveness. Such charter schools are 2404 

eligible for funding from the hope supplemental services 2405 

allocation established by s. 1011.62(16).; or 2406 

3. Contract with an outside entity that has a demonstrated 2407 

record of effectiveness to operate the school. An outside entity 2408 

may include: 2409 

a. A district-managed charter school in which all 2410 

instructional personnel are not employees of the school 2411 

district, but are employees of an independent governing board 2412 

composed of members who did not participate in the review or 2413 

approval of the charter. A district-managed charter school is 2414 

eligible for funding from the hope supplemental services 2415 

allocation established by s. 1011.62(16); or 2416 

b. A hope operator that submits to a school district a 2417 

notice of intent of a performance-based agreement pursuant to s. 2418 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 85 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

1002.333. A school of hope established pursuant to this sub-2419 

subparagraph is eligible for funding from the hope supplemental 2420 

services allocation for up to 5 years, beginning in the school 2421 

year in which the school of hope is established, if the school 2422 

of hope: 2423 

(I) Is established at the district-owned facilities of the 2424 

persistently low-performing school; 2425 

(II) Gives priority enrollment to students who are enrolled 2426 

in, or are eligible to attend and are living in the attendance 2427 

area of, the persistently low-performing school that the school 2428 

of hope operates, consistent with the enrollment lottery 2429 

exemption provided under s. 1002.333(5)(c); and 2430 

(III) Meets the requirements of its performance-based 2431 

agreement pursuant to s. 1002.333. 2432 

4. Implement a franchise model school in which a highly 2433 

effective principal, pursuant to s. 1012.34, leads the 2434 

persistently low-performing school in addition to the 2435 

principal’s currently assigned school. The franchise model 2436 

school principal may allocate resources and personnel between 2437 

the schools he or she leads. The persistently low-performing 2438 

school is eligible for funding from the hope supplemental 2439 

services allocation established under s. 1011.62(16). 2440 

(c) Implementation of the turnaround option is no longer 2441 

required if the school improves to a grade of “C” or higher. 2442 

(d) If a school earning two consecutive grades of “D” or a 2443 

grade of “F” does not improve to a grade of “C” or higher after 2444 

2 full school years of implementing the turnaround option 2445 

selected by the school district under paragraph (b), the school 2446 

district must implement another turnaround option. 2447 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 86 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

Implementation of the turnaround option must begin the school 2448 

year following the implementation period of the existing 2449 

turnaround option, unless the state board determines that the 2450 

school is likely to improve to a grade of “C” or higher if 2451 

additional time is provided to implement the existing turnaround 2452 

option. 2453 

Section 30. Present subsections (16) and (17) of section 2454 

1011.62, Florida Statutes, are redesignated as subsections (19) 2455 

and (20), respectively, new subsections (16) and (17) and 2456 

subsection (18) are added to that section, and paragraph (a) of 2457 

subsection (4) and subsection (14) of that section are amended, 2458 

to read: 2459 

1011.62 Funds for operation of schools.—If the annual 2460 

allocation from the Florida Education Finance Program to each 2461 

district for operation of schools is not determined in the 2462 

annual appropriations act or the substantive bill implementing 2463 

the annual appropriations act, it shall be determined as 2464 

follows: 2465 

(4) COMPUTATION OF DISTRICT REQUIRED LOCAL EFFORT.—The 2466 

Legislature shall prescribe the aggregate required local effort 2467 

for all school districts collectively as an item in the General 2468 

Appropriations Act for each fiscal year. The amount that each 2469 

district shall provide annually toward the cost of the Florida 2470 

Education Finance Program for kindergarten through grade 12 2471 

programs shall be calculated as follows: 2472 

(a) Estimated taxable value calculations.— 2473 

1.a. Not later than 2 working days before July 19, the 2474 

Department of Revenue shall certify to the Commissioner of 2475 

Education its most recent estimate of the taxable value for 2476 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 87 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

school purposes in each school district and the total for all 2477 

school districts in the state for the current calendar year 2478 

based on the latest available data obtained from the local 2479 

property appraisers. The value certified shall be the taxable 2480 

value for school purposes for that year, and no further 2481 

adjustments shall be made, except those made pursuant to 2482 

paragraphs (c) and (d), or an assessment roll change required by 2483 

final judicial decisions as specified in paragraph (19)(b) 2484 

(16)(b). Not later than July 19, the Commissioner of Education 2485 

shall compute a millage rate, rounded to the next highest one 2486 

one-thousandth of a mill, which, when applied to 96 percent of 2487 

the estimated state total taxable value for school purposes, 2488 

would generate the prescribed aggregate required local effort 2489 

for that year for all districts. The Commissioner of Education 2490 

shall certify to each district school board the millage rate, 2491 

computed as prescribed in this subparagraph, as the minimum 2492 

millage rate necessary to provide the district required local 2493 

effort for that year. 2494 

b. The General Appropriations Act shall direct the 2495 

computation of the statewide adjusted aggregate amount for 2496 

required local effort for all school districts collectively from 2497 

ad valorem taxes to ensure that no school district’s revenue 2498 

from required local effort millage will produce more than 90 2499 

percent of the district’s total Florida Education Finance 2500 

Program calculation as calculated and adopted by the 2501 

Legislature, and the adjustment of the required local effort 2502 

millage rate of each district that produces more than 90 percent 2503 

of its total Florida Education Finance Program entitlement to a 2504 

level that will produce only 90 percent of its total Florida 2505 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 88 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

Education Finance Program entitlement in the July calculation. 2506 

2. On the same date as the certification in sub-2507 

subparagraph 1.a., the Department of Revenue shall certify to 2508 

the Commissioner of Education for each district: 2509 

a. Each year for which the property appraiser has certified 2510 

the taxable value pursuant to s. 193.122(2) or (3), if 2511 

applicable, since the prior certification under sub-subparagraph 2512 

1.a. 2513 

b. For each year identified in sub-subparagraph a., the 2514 

taxable value certified by the appraiser pursuant to s. 2515 

193.122(2) or (3), if applicable, since the prior certification 2516 

under sub-subparagraph 1.a. This is the certification that 2517 

reflects all final administrative actions of the value 2518 

adjustment board. 2519 

(14) QUALITY ASSURANCE GUARANTEE.—The Legislature may 2520 

annually in the General Appropriations Act determine a 2521 

percentage increase in funds per K-12 unweighted FTE as a 2522 

minimum guarantee to each school district. The guarantee shall 2523 

be calculated from prior year base funding per unweighted FTE 2524 

student which shall include the adjusted FTE dollars as provided 2525 

in subsection (19) (16), quality guarantee funds, and actual 2526 

nonvoted discretionary local effort from taxes. From the base 2527 

funding per unweighted FTE, the increase shall be calculated for 2528 

the current year. The current year funds from which the 2529 

guarantee shall be determined shall include the adjusted FTE 2530 

dollars as provided in subsection (19) (16) and potential 2531 

nonvoted discretionary local effort from taxes. A comparison of 2532 

current year funds per unweighted FTE to prior year funds per 2533 

unweighted FTE shall be computed. For those school districts 2534 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 89 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

which have less than the legislatively assigned percentage 2535 

increase, funds shall be provided to guarantee the assigned 2536 

percentage increase in funds per unweighted FTE student. Should 2537 

appropriated funds be less than the sum of this calculated 2538 

amount for all districts, the commissioner shall prorate each 2539 

district’s allocation. This provision shall be implemented to 2540 

the extent specifically funded. 2541 

(16) HOPE SUPPLEMENTAL SERVICES ALLOCATION.-The hope 2542 

supplemental services allocation is created to provide district-2543 

managed turnaround schools, as required under s. 1008.33(4)(a), 2544 

charter schools authorized under s. 1008.33(4)(b)2., district-2545 

managed charter schools authorized under s. 1008.33(4)(b)3.a., 2546 

schools of hope authorized under s. 1008.33(4)(b)3.b., and 2547 

franchise model schools as authorized under s. 1008.33(4)(b)4., 2548 

with funds to offer services designed to improve the overall 2549 

academic and community welfare of the schools’ students and 2550 

their families. 2551 

(a) Services funded by the allocation may include, but are 2552 

not limited to, tutorial and after-school programs, student 2553 

counseling, nutrition education, and parental counseling. In 2554 

addition, services may also include models that develop a 2555 

culture that encourages students to complete high school and to 2556 

attend college or career training, set high academic 2557 

expectations, inspire character development, and include an 2558 

extended school day and school year. 2559 

(b) Prior to distribution of the allocation, a school 2560 

district, for a district turnaround school and persistently low-2561 

performing schools that use a franchise model; a hope operator, 2562 

for a school of hope; or the charter school governing board for 2563 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 90 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

a charter school, as applicable, shall develop and submit a plan 2564 

for implementation to its respective governing body for approval 2565 

no later than August 1 of the fiscal year. 2566 

(c) At a minimum, the plans required under paragraph (b) 2567 

must: 2568 

1. Establish comprehensive support services that develop 2569 

family and community partnerships; 2570 

2. Establish clearly defined and measurable high academic 2571 

and character standards; 2572 

3. Increase parental involvement and engagement in the 2573 

child’s education; 2574 

4. Describe how instructional personnel will be identified, 2575 

recruited, retained, and rewarded; 2576 

5. Provide professional development that focuses on 2577 

academic rigor, direct instruction, and creating high academic 2578 

and character standards; and 2579 

6. Provide focused instruction to improve student academic 2580 

proficiency, which may include additional instruction time 2581 

beyond the normal school day or school year. 2582 

(d) Each school district and hope operator shall submit 2583 

approved plans to the commissioner by September 1 of each fiscal 2584 

year. 2585 

(e) For the 2018-2019 fiscal year, a school that is 2586 

selected to receive funding in the 2017-2018 fiscal year 2587 

pursuant to s. 1002.333(10)(c) shall receive $2,000 per FTE. A 2588 

district-managed turnaround school required under s. 2589 

1008.33(4)(a), charter school authorized under s. 2590 

1008.33(4)(b)2., district-managed charter school authorized 2591 

under s. 1008.33(4)(b)3.a., school of hope authorized under s. 2592 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 91 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

1008.33(4)(b)3.b., and franchise model school authorized under 2593 

s. 1008.33(4)(b)4. are eligible for the remaining funds based on 2594 

the school’s unweighted FTE, up to $2,000 per FTE or as provided 2595 

in the General Appropriations Act. 2596 

(f) For the 2019-2020 fiscal year and thereafter, each 2597 

school district’s allocation shall be based on the unweighted 2598 

FTE student enrollment at the eligible schools and a per-FTE 2599 

funding amount of up to $2,000 per FTE or as provided in the 2600 

General Appropriations Act. If the calculated funds for 2601 

unweighted FTE student enrollment at the eligible schools exceed 2602 

the per-FTE funds appropriated, the allocation of funds to each 2603 

school district must be prorated based on each school district’s 2604 

share of the total unweighted FTE student enrollment for the 2605 

eligible schools. 2606 

(17) MENTAL HEALTH ASSISTANCE ALLOCATION.—The mental health 2607 

assistance allocation is created to provide supplemental funding 2608 

to assist school districts in establishing or expanding 2609 

comprehensive school-based mental health programs that increase 2610 

awareness of mental health issues among children and school-age 2611 

youth; train educators and other school staff in detecting and 2612 

responding to mental health issues; and connect children, youth, 2613 

and families who may experience behavioral health issues with 2614 

appropriate services. These funds may be allocated annually in 2615 

the General Appropriations Act to each eligible school district 2616 

and developmental research school based on each entity’s 2617 

proportionate share of Florida Education Finance Program base 2618 

funding. The district funding allocation must include a minimum 2619 

amount as specified in the General Appropriations Act. Upon 2620 

submission and approval of a plan that includes the elements 2621 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 92 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

specified in paragraph (b), charter schools are also entitled to 2622 

a proportionate share of district funding for this program. The 2623 

allocated funds may not supplant funds that are provided for 2624 

this purpose from other operating funds and may not be used to 2625 

increase salaries or provide bonuses. 2626 

(a) Prior to the distribution of the allocation: 2627 

1. The district must annually develop and submit a detailed 2628 

plan outlining the local program and planned expenditures to the 2629 

district school board for approval. 2630 

2. A charter school must annually develop and submit a 2631 

detailed plan outlining the local program and planned 2632 

expenditures of the funds in the plan to its governing body for 2633 

approval. After the plan is approved by the governing body, it 2634 

must be provided to its school district for submission to the 2635 

commissioner. 2636 

(b) The plans required under paragraph (a) must include, at 2637 

a minimum, all of the following elements: 2638 

1. A collaborative effort or partnership between the school 2639 

district and at least one local community program or agency 2640 

involved in mental health to provide or to improve prevention, 2641 

diagnosis, and treatment services for students; 2642 

2. Programs to assist students in dealing with bullying, 2643 

trauma, and violence; 2644 

3. Strategies or programs to reduce the likelihood of at-2645 

risk students developing social, emotional, or behavioral health 2646 

problems or substance use disorders; 2647 

4. Strategies to improve the early identification of 2648 

social, emotional, or behavioral problems or substance use 2649 

disorders and to improve the provision of early intervention 2650 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 93 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

services; 2651 

5. Strategies to enhance the availability of school-based 2652 

crisis intervention services and appropriate referrals for 2653 

students in need of mental health services; and 2654 

6. Training opportunities for school personnel in the 2655 

techniques and supports needed to identify students who have 2656 

trauma histories and who have or are at risk of having a mental 2657 

illness, and in the use of referral mechanisms that effectively 2658 

link such students to appropriate treatment and intervention 2659 

services in the school and in the community. 2660 

(c) The districts shall submit approved plans to the 2661 

commissioner by August 1 of each fiscal year. 2662 

(d) Beginning September 30, 2019, and by each September 30 2663 

thereafter, each entity that receives an allocation under this 2664 

subsection shall submit to the commissioner, in a format 2665 

prescribed by the department, a final report on its program 2666 

outcomes and its expenditures for each element of the program. 2667 

(18) FUNDING COMPRESSION ALLOCATION.—The Legislature may 2668 

provide an annual funding compression allocation in the General 2669 

Appropriations Act. The allocation is created to provide 2670 

additional funding to school districts and developmental 2671 

research schools whose total funds per FTE in the prior year 2672 

were less than the statewide average. Using the most recent 2673 

prior year FEFP calculation for each eligible school district, 2674 

the total funds per FTE shall be subtracted from the state 2675 

average funds per FTE, not including any adjustments made 2676 

pursuant to paragraph (19)(b). The resulting funds per FTE 2677 

difference, or a portion thereof, as designated in the General 2678 

Appropriations Act, shall then be multiplied by the school 2679 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 94 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

district’s total unweighted FTE to provide the allocation. If 2680 

the calculated funds are greater than the amount included in the 2681 

General Appropriations Act, they must be prorated to the 2682 

appropriation amount based on each participating school 2683 

district’s share. 2684 

Section 31. Subsection (5) of section 1011.69, Florida 2685 

Statutes, is amended to read: 2686 

1011.69 Equity in School-Level Funding Act.— 2687 

(5) After providing Title I, Part A, Basic funds to schools 2688 

above the 75 percent poverty threshold, which may include high 2689 

schools above the 50 percent threshold as allowed by federal 2690 

law, school districts shall provide any remaining Title I, Part 2691 

A, Basic funds directly to all eligible schools as provided in 2692 

this subsection. For purposes of this subsection, an eligible 2693 

school is a school that is eligible to receive Title I funds, 2694 

including a charter school. The threshold for identifying 2695 

eligible schools may not exceed the threshold established by a 2696 

school district for the 2016-2017 school year or the statewide 2697 

percentage of economically disadvantaged students, as determined 2698 

annually. 2699 

(a) Prior to the allocation of Title I funds to eligible 2700 

schools, a school district may withhold funds only as follows: 2701 

1. One percent for parent involvement, in addition to the 2702 

one percent the district must reserve under federal law for 2703 

allocations to eligible schools for parent involvement; 2704 

2. A necessary and reasonable amount for administration;, 2705 

3. which includes The district’s approved indirect cost 2706 

rate, not to exceed a total of 8 percent; and 2707 

4.3. A reasonable and necessary amount to provide: 2708 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 95 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

a. Homeless programs; 2709 

b. Delinquent and neglected programs; 2710 

c. Prekindergarten programs and activities; 2711 

d. Private school equitable services; and 2712 

e. Transportation for foster care children to their school 2713 

of origin or choice programs; and. 2714 

5. A necessary and reasonable amount for eligible schools 2715 

to provide: 2716 

a. Extended learning opportunities, such as summer school, 2717 

before-school and after-school programs, and additional class 2718 

periods of instruction during the school day; and 2719 

b. Supplemental academic and enrichment services, staff 2720 

development, and planning and curriculum, as well as wrap-around 2721 

services. 2722 

(b) All remaining Title I funds shall be distributed to all 2723 

eligible schools in accordance with federal law and regulation. 2724 

To maximize the efficient use of resources, school districts may 2725 

allow eligible schools, not including charter schools, to An 2726 

eligible school may use funds under this subsection for 2727 

district-level to participate in discretionary educational 2728 

services provided by the school district. 2729 

Section 32. Subsection (5) of section 1011.71, Florida 2730 

Statutes, is amended to read: 2731 

1011.71 District school tax.— 2732 

(5) Effective July 1, 2008, A school district may expend, 2733 

subject to the provisions of s. 200.065, up to $150 $100 per 2734 

unweighted full-time equivalent student from the revenue 2735 

generated by the millage levy authorized by subsection (2) to 2736 

fund, in addition to expenditures authorized in paragraphs 2737 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 96 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

(2)(a)-(j), expenses for the following: 2738 

(a) The purchase, lease-purchase, or lease of driver’s 2739 

education vehicles; motor vehicles used for the maintenance or 2740 

operation of plants and equipment; security vehicles; or 2741 

vehicles used in storing or distributing materials and 2742 

equipment. 2743 

(b) Payment of the cost of premiums, as defined in s. 2744 

627.403, for property and casualty insurance necessary to insure 2745 

school district educational and ancillary plants. As used in 2746 

this paragraph, casualty insurance has the same meaning as in s. 2747 

624.605(1)(d), (f), (g), (h), and (m). Operating revenues that 2748 

are made available through the payment of property and casualty 2749 

insurance premiums from revenues generated under this subsection 2750 

may be expended only for nonrecurring operational expenditures 2751 

of the school district. 2752 

Section 33. Section 1012.315, Florida Statutes, is amended 2753 

to read: 2754 

1012.315 Disqualification from employment.—A person is 2755 

ineligible for educator certification, and instructional 2756 

personnel and school administrators, as defined in s. 1012.01, 2757 

are ineligible for employment in any position that requires 2758 

direct contact with students in a district school system, 2759 

charter school, or private school that accepts scholarship 2760 

students under s. 1002.385, s. 1002.39, or s. 1002.395, or 2761 

another state scholarship program under chapter 1002, if the 2762 

person, instructional personnel, or school administrator has 2763 

been convicted of: 2764 

(1) Any felony offense prohibited under any of the 2765 

following statutes: 2766 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 97 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

(a) Section 393.135, relating to sexual misconduct with 2767 

certain developmentally disabled clients and reporting of such 2768 

sexual misconduct. 2769 

(b) Section 394.4593, relating to sexual misconduct with 2770 

certain mental health patients and reporting of such sexual 2771 

misconduct. 2772 

(c) Section 415.111, relating to adult abuse, neglect, or 2773 

exploitation of aged persons or disabled adults. 2774 

(d) Section 782.04, relating to murder. 2775 

(e) Section 782.07, relating to manslaughter, aggravated 2776 

manslaughter of an elderly person or disabled adult, aggravated 2777 

manslaughter of a child, or aggravated manslaughter of an 2778 

officer, a firefighter, an emergency medical technician, or a 2779 

paramedic. 2780 

(f) Section 784.021, relating to aggravated assault. 2781 

(g) Section 784.045, relating to aggravated battery. 2782 

(h) Section 784.075, relating to battery on a detention or 2783 

commitment facility staff member or a juvenile probation 2784 

officer. 2785 

(i) Section 787.01, relating to kidnapping. 2786 

(j) Section 787.02, relating to false imprisonment. 2787 

(k) Section 787.025, relating to luring or enticing a 2788 

child. 2789 

(l) Section 787.04(2), relating to leading, taking, 2790 

enticing, or removing a minor beyond the state limits, or 2791 

concealing the location of a minor, with criminal intent pending 2792 

custody proceedings. 2793 

(m) Section 787.04(3), relating to leading, taking, 2794 

enticing, or removing a minor beyond the state limits, or 2795 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 98 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

concealing the location of a minor, with criminal intent pending 2796 

dependency proceedings or proceedings concerning alleged abuse 2797 

or neglect of a minor. 2798 

(n) Section 790.115(1), relating to exhibiting firearms or 2799 

weapons at a school-sponsored event, on school property, or 2800 

within 1,000 feet of a school. 2801 

(o) Section 790.115(2)(b), relating to possessing an 2802 

electric weapon or device, destructive device, or other weapon 2803 

at a school-sponsored event or on school property. 2804 

(p) Section 794.011, relating to sexual battery. 2805 

(q) Former s. 794.041, relating to sexual activity with or 2806 

solicitation of a child by a person in familial or custodial 2807 

authority. 2808 

(r) Section 794.05, relating to unlawful sexual activity 2809 

with certain minors. 2810 

(s) Section 794.08, relating to female genital mutilation. 2811 

(t) Chapter 796, relating to prostitution. 2812 

(u) Chapter 800, relating to lewdness and indecent 2813 

exposure. 2814 

(v) Section 806.01, relating to arson. 2815 

(w) Section 810.14, relating to voyeurism. 2816 

(x) Section 810.145, relating to video voyeurism. 2817 

(y) Section 812.014(6), relating to coordinating the 2818 

commission of theft in excess of $3,000. 2819 

(z) Section 812.0145, relating to theft from persons 65 2820 

years of age or older. 2821 

(aa) Section 812.019, relating to dealing in stolen 2822 

property. 2823 

(bb) Section 812.13, relating to robbery. 2824 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 99 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

(cc) Section 812.131, relating to robbery by sudden 2825 

snatching. 2826 

(dd) Section 812.133, relating to carjacking. 2827 

(ee) Section 812.135, relating to home-invasion robbery. 2828 

(ff) Section 817.563, relating to fraudulent sale of 2829 

controlled substances. 2830 

(gg) Section 825.102, relating to abuse, aggravated abuse, 2831 

or neglect of an elderly person or disabled adult. 2832 

(hh) Section 825.103, relating to exploitation of an 2833 

elderly person or disabled adult. 2834 

(ii) Section 825.1025, relating to lewd or lascivious 2835 

offenses committed upon or in the presence of an elderly person 2836 

or disabled person. 2837 

(jj) Section 826.04, relating to incest. 2838 

(kk) Section 827.03, relating to child abuse, aggravated 2839 

child abuse, or neglect of a child. 2840 

(ll) Section 827.04, relating to contributing to the 2841 

delinquency or dependency of a child. 2842 

(mm) Section 827.071, relating to sexual performance by a 2843 

child. 2844 

(nn) Section 843.01, relating to resisting arrest with 2845 

violence. 2846 

(oo) Chapter 847, relating to obscenity. 2847 

(pp) Section 874.05, relating to causing, encouraging, 2848 

soliciting, or recruiting another to join a criminal street 2849 

gang. 2850 

(qq) Chapter 893, relating to drug abuse prevention and 2851 

control, if the offense was a felony of the second degree or 2852 

greater severity. 2853 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 100 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

(rr) Section 916.1075, relating to sexual misconduct with 2854 

certain forensic clients and reporting of such sexual 2855 

misconduct. 2856 

(ss) Section 944.47, relating to introduction, removal, or 2857 

possession of contraband at a correctional facility. 2858 

(tt) Section 985.701, relating to sexual misconduct in 2859 

juvenile justice programs. 2860 

(uu) Section 985.711, relating to introduction, removal, or 2861 

possession of contraband at a juvenile detention facility or 2862 

commitment program. 2863 

(2) Any misdemeanor offense prohibited under any of the 2864 

following statutes: 2865 

(a) Section 784.03, relating to battery, if the victim of 2866 

the offense was a minor. 2867 

(b) Section 787.025, relating to luring or enticing a 2868 

child. 2869 

(3) Any criminal act committed in another state or under 2870 

federal law which, if committed in this state, constitutes an 2871 

offense prohibited under any statute listed in subsection (1) or 2872 

subsection (2). 2873 

(4) Any delinquent act committed in this state or any 2874 

delinquent or criminal act committed in another state or under 2875 

federal law which, if committed in this state, qualifies an 2876 

individual for inclusion on the Registered Juvenile Sex Offender 2877 

List under s. 943.0435(1)(h)1.d. 2878 

Section 34. Paragraphs (b) and (c) of subsection (3) of 2879 

section 1012.731, Florida Statutes, are amended to read: 2880 

1012.731 The Florida Best and Brightest Teacher Scholarship 2881 

Program.— 2882 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 101 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

(3) 2883 

(b)1. In order to demonstrate eligibility for an award, an 2884 

eligible classroom teacher must submit to the school district, 2885 

no later than November 1, an official record of his or her 2886 

qualifying assessment score and, beginning with the 2020-2021 2887 

school year, an official transcript demonstrating that he or she 2888 

graduated cum laude or higher with a baccalaureate degree, if 2889 

applicable. Once a classroom teacher is deemed eligible by the 2890 

school district, the teacher shall remain eligible as long as he 2891 

or she remains employed by the school district as a classroom 2892 

teacher at the time of the award and receives an annual 2893 

performance evaluation rating of highly effective pursuant to s. 2894 

1012.34 or is evaluated as highly effective based on a 2895 

commissioner-approved student learning growth formula pursuant 2896 

to s. 1012.34(8) for the 2019-2020 school year or thereafter. 2897 

2. A school district employee who, in the prior school 2898 

year, was rated highly effective and met the eligibility 2899 

requirements under this section as a classroom teacher, is 2900 

eligible to receive a scholarship award during the current 2901 

school year if he or she maintains employment with the school 2902 

district. 2903 

(c) Notwithstanding the requirements of this subsection, 2904 

for the 2017-2018, 2018-2019, and 2019-2020 school years, any 2905 

classroom teacher who: 2906 

1. Was evaluated as highly effective pursuant to s. 1012.34 2907 

in the school year immediately preceding the year in which the 2908 

scholarship will be awarded shall receive a scholarship of 2909 

$1200, including a classroom teacher who received an award 2910 

pursuant to paragraph (a). 2911 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 102 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

2. Was evaluated as effective pursuant to s. 1012.34 in the 2912 

school year immediately preceding the year in which the 2913 

scholarship will be awarded a scholarship of up to $800. If the 2914 

number of eligible classroom teachers under this subparagraph 2915 

exceeds the total allocation, the department shall prorate the 2916 

per-teacher scholarship amount. 2917 

 2918 

This paragraph expires July 1, 2020. 2919 

Section 35. Subsections (2), (3), and (4) of section 2920 

1012.732, Florida Statutes, are amended to read: 2921 

1012.732 The Florida Best and Brightest Principal 2922 

Scholarship Program.— 2923 

(2) There is created the Florida Best and Brightest 2924 

Principal Scholarship Program to be administered by the 2925 

Department of Education. The program shall provide categorical 2926 

funding for scholarships to be awarded to school principals, as 2927 

defined in s. 1012.01(3)(c)1., who are serving as a franchise 2928 

model school principal or who have recruited and retained a high 2929 

percentage of best and brightest teachers. 2930 

(3)(a) A school principal identified pursuant to s. 2931 

1012.731(4)(c) is eligible to receive a scholarship under this 2932 

section if he or she has served as school principal at his or 2933 

her school for at least 2 consecutive school years including the 2934 

current school year and his or her school has a ratio of best 2935 

and brightest teachers to other classroom teachers that is at 2936 

the 80th percentile or higher for schools within the same grade 2937 

group, statewide, including elementary schools, middle schools, 2938 

high schools, and schools with a combination of grade levels. 2939 

(b) A principal of a franchise model school, as defined in 2940 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 103 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

s. 1002.334, is eligible to receive a scholarship under this 2941 

section. 2942 

(4) Annually, by February 1, the department shall identify 2943 

eligible school principals and disburse funds to each school 2944 

district for each eligible school principal to receive a 2945 

scholarship. 2946 

(a) A scholarship of $10,000 $5,000 must be awarded to each 2947 

franchise model school principal who is every eligible under 2948 

paragraph (3)(b). 2949 

(b) A scholarship of $5,000 must be awarded to each school 2950 

principal assigned to a Title I school and a scholarship of 2951 

$4,000 to each every eligible school principal who is not 2952 

assigned to a Title I school and who is eligible under paragraph 2953 

(3)(a). 2954 

Section 36. Paragraph (e) of subsection (1) of section 2955 

1012.796, Florida Statutes, is amended to read: 2956 

1012.796 Complaints against teachers and administrators; 2957 

procedure; penalties.— 2958 

(1) 2959 

(e) If allegations arise against an employee who is 2960 

certified under s. 1012.56 and employed in an educator-2961 

certificated position in any public school, charter school or 2962 

governing board thereof, or private school that accepts 2963 

scholarship students under s. 1002.385, s. 1002.39, or s. 2964 

1002.395, or another state scholarship program under chapter 2965 

1002, the school shall file in writing with the department a 2966 

legally sufficient complaint within 30 days after the date on 2967 

which the subject matter of the complaint came to the attention 2968 

of the school. A complaint is legally sufficient if it contains 2969 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 104 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

ultimate facts that show a violation has occurred as provided in 2970 

s. 1012.795 and defined by rule of the State Board of Education. 2971 

The school shall include all known information relating to the 2972 

complaint with the filing of the complaint. This paragraph does 2973 

not limit or restrict the power and duty of the department to 2974 

investigate complaints, regardless of the school’s untimely 2975 

filing, or failure to file, complaints and followup reports. 2976 

Section 37. Present paragraphs (a) through (d) of 2977 

subsection (1) of section 1013.31, Florida Statutes, are 2978 

redesignated as paragraphs (b) through (e), respectively, and a 2979 

new paragraph (a) is added to that subsection, to read: 2980 

1013.31 Educational plant survey; localized need 2981 

assessment; PECO project funding.— 2982 

(1) At least every 5 years, each board shall arrange for an 2983 

educational plant survey, to aid in formulating plans for 2984 

housing the educational program and student population, faculty, 2985 

administrators, staff, and auxiliary and ancillary services of 2986 

the district or campus, including consideration of the local 2987 

comprehensive plan. The Department of Education shall document 2988 

the need for additional career and adult education programs and 2989 

the continuation of existing programs before facility 2990 

construction or renovation related to career or adult education 2991 

may be included in the educational plant survey of a school 2992 

district or Florida College System institution that delivers 2993 

career or adult education programs. Information used by the 2994 

Department of Education to establish facility needs must 2995 

include, but need not be limited to, labor market data, needs 2996 

analysis, and information submitted by the school district or 2997 

Florida College System institution. 2998 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 105 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

(a) Educational plant survey and localized need assessment 2999 

for capital outlay purposes.—A district may only use funds from 3000 

the following sources for educational, auxiliary, and ancillary 3001 

plant capital outlay purposes without needing a survey 3002 

recommendation: 3003 

1. The local capital outlay improvement fund, consisting of 3004 

funds that come from and are a part of the district’s basic 3005 

operating budget; 3006 

2. If a board decides to build an educational, auxiliary, 3007 

or ancillary facility without a survey recommendation and the 3008 

taxpayers approve a bond referendum, the voted bond referendum; 3009 

3. One-half cent sales surtax revenue; 3010 

4. One cent local governmental surtax revenue; 3011 

5. Impact fees; and 3012 

6. Private gifts or donations. 3013 

Section 38. Paragraph (e) is added to subsection (2) of 3014 

section 1013.385, Florida Statutes, to read: 3015 

1013.385 School district construction flexibility.— 3016 

(2) A resolution adopted under this section may propose 3017 

implementation of exceptions to requirements of the uniform 3018 

statewide building code for the planning and construction of 3019 

public educational and ancillary plants adopted pursuant to ss. 3020 

553.73 and 1013.37 relating to: 3021 

(e) Any other provisions that limit the ability of a school 3022 

to operate in a facility on the same basis as a charter school 3023 

pursuant to s. 1002.33(18) if the regional planning council 3024 

determines that there is sufficient shelter capacity within the 3025 

school district as documented in the Statewide Emergency Shelter 3026 

Plan. 3027 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 106 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

Section 39. Subsection (3) of section 1013.62, Florida 3028 

Statutes, is amended, and paragraph (c) is added to subsection 3029 

(1) of that section, to read: 3030 

1013.62 Charter schools capital outlay funding.— 3031 

(1) Charter school capital outlay funding shall consist of 3032 

revenue resulting from the discretionary millage authorized in 3033 

s. 1011.71(2) and state funds when such funds are appropriated 3034 

in the General Appropriations Act. 3035 

(c) It is the intent of the Legislature that the public 3036 

interest be protected by prohibiting personal financial 3037 

enrichment by owners, operators, managers, real estate 3038 

developers, and other affiliated parties of charter schools. 3039 

Therefore, a charter school is not eligible for a funding 3040 

allocation unless the chair of the governing board and the chief 3041 

administrative officer of the charter school annually certify 3042 

under oath that the funds will be used solely and exclusively 3043 

for constructing, renovating, or improving charter school 3044 

facilities that are: 3045 

1. Owned by a school district, a political subdivision of 3046 

the state, a municipality, a Florida College System institution, 3047 

or a state university; 3048 

2. Owned by an organization that is qualified as an exempt 3049 

organization under s. 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code 3050 

whose articles of incorporation specify that, upon the 3051 

organization’s dissolution, the subject property will be 3052 

transferred to a school district, a political subdivision of the 3053 

state, a municipality, a Florida College System institution, or 3054 

a state university; or 3055 

3. Owned by and leased, at a fair market value in the 3056 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 107 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

school district in which the charter school is located, from a 3057 

person or entity that is not an affiliated party of the charter 3058 

school. For the purposes of this subparagraph, the term 3059 

“affiliated party of the charter school” means the applicant for 3060 

the charter school pursuant to s. 1002.33; the governing board 3061 

of the charter school or a member of the governing board; the 3062 

charter school owner; the charter school principal; an employee 3063 

of the charter school; an independent contractor of the charter 3064 

school or the governing board of the charter school; a relative, 3065 

as defined in s. 1002.33(24)(a)2., of a charter school governing 3066 

board member, a charter school owner, a charter school 3067 

principal, a charter school employee, or an independent 3068 

contractor of a charter school or charter school governing 3069 

board; a subsidiary corporation, a service corporation, an 3070 

affiliated corporation, a parent corporation, a limited 3071 

liability company, a limited partnership, a trust, a 3072 

partnership, or a related party that, individually or through 3073 

one or more entities, shares common ownership or control and 3074 

directly or indirectly manages, administers, controls, or 3075 

oversees the operation of the charter school; or any person or 3076 

entity, individually or through one or more entities that share 3077 

common ownership, which directly or indirectly manages, 3078 

administers, controls, or oversees the operation of any of the 3079 

foregoing. 3080 

(3) If the school board levies the discretionary millage 3081 

authorized in s. 1011.71(2), the department shall use the 3082 

following calculation methodology to determine the amount of 3083 

revenue that a school district must distribute to each eligible 3084 

charter school: 3085 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 108 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

(a) Reduce the total discretionary millage revenue by the 3086 

school district’s annual debt service obligation incurred as of 3087 

March 1, 2017, and any amount of participation requirement 3088 

pursuant to s. 1013.64(2)(a)8. that is being satisfied by 3089 

revenues raised by the discretionary millage. 3090 

(b) Divide the school district’s adjusted discretionary 3091 

millage revenue by the district’s total capital outlay full-time 3092 

equivalent membership and the total number of unweighted full-3093 

time equivalent students of each eligible charter school to 3094 

determine a capital outlay allocation per full-time equivalent 3095 

student. 3096 

(c) Multiply the capital outlay allocation per full-time 3097 

equivalent student by the total number of full-time equivalent 3098 

students for all of each eligible charter schools within the 3099 

district school to determine the total charter school capital 3100 

outlay allocation for each district charter school. 3101 

(d) If applicable, reduce the capital outlay allocation 3102 

identified in paragraph (c) by the total amount of state funds 3103 

allocated pursuant to subsection (2) to all each eligible 3104 

charter schools within a district school in subsection (2) to 3105 

determine the net total maximum calculated capital outlay 3106 

allocation from local funds. If state funds are not allocated 3107 

pursuant to subsection (2), the amount determined in paragraph 3108 

(c) is equal to the net total calculated capital outlay 3109 

allocation from local funds for each district. 3110 

(e) For each charter school within each district, the net 3111 

capital outlay amount from local funds shall be calculated in 3112 

the same manner as the state funds in paragraphs (2)(a)-(d), 3113 

except that the base charter school per weighted FTE allocation 3114 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 109 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

amount shall be determined by dividing the net total capital 3115 

outlay amount from local funds by the total weighted FTE for all 3116 

eligible charter schools within the district. The per weighted 3117 

FTE allocation amount from local funds shall be multiplied by 3118 

the weighted FTE for each charter school to determine each 3119 

charter school’s capital outlay allocation from local funds. 3120 

(f)(e) School districts shall distribute capital outlay 3121 

funds to charter schools no later than February 1 of each year, 3122 

beginning on February 1, 2018, for the 2017-2018 fiscal year. 3123 

Section 40. Effective July 1, 2019, subsection (13) of 3124 

section 212.08, Florida Statutes, is amended to read: 3125 

212.08 Sales, rental, use, consumption, distribution, and 3126 

storage tax; specified exemptions.—The sale at retail, the 3127 

rental, the use, the consumption, the distribution, and the 3128 

storage to be used or consumed in this state of the following 3129 

are hereby specifically exempt from the tax imposed by this 3130 

chapter. 3131 

(13) No transactions shall be exempt from the tax imposed 3132 

by this chapter except those expressly exempted herein. All laws 3133 

granting tax exemptions, to the extent they may be inconsistent 3134 

or in conflict with this chapter, including, but not limited to, 3135 

the following designated laws, shall yield to and be superseded 3136 

by the provisions of this subsection: ss. 125.019, 153.76, 3137 

154.2331, 159.15, 159.31, 159.50, 159.708, 163.385, 163.395, 3138 

215.76, 243.33, 315.11, 348.65, 348.762, 349.13, 403.1834, and 3139 

616.07, and 623.09, and the following Laws of Florida, acts of 3140 

the year indicated: s. 31, chapter 30843, 1955; s. 19, chapter 3141 

30845, 1955; s. 12, chapter 30927, 1955; s. 8, chapter 31179, 3142 

1955; s. 15, chapter 31263, 1955; s. 13, chapter 31343, 1955; s. 3143 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 110 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

16, chapter 59-1653; s. 13, chapter 59-1356; s. 12, chapter 61-3144 

2261; s. 19, chapter 61-2754; s. 10, chapter 61-2686; s. 11, 3145 

chapter 63-1643; s. 11, chapter 65-1274; s. 16, chapter 67-1446; 3146 

and s. 10, chapter 67-1681. This subsection does not supersede 3147 

the authority of a local government to adopt financial and local 3148 

government incentives pursuant to s. 163.2517. 3149 

Section 41. For the 2018-2019 fiscal year, the sum of 3150 

$2,596,560 in recurring funds from the General Revenue Fund and 3151 

the sum of $392,134 in nonrecurring funds from the General 3152 

Revenue Fund are appropriated to the Department of Education to 3153 

implement this act as follows: the sum of $2 million in 3154 

recurring funds shall be used to implement the Hope Scholarship 3155 

Program created pursuant to s. 1002.40, Florida Statutes, the 3156 

sum of $596,560 in recurring funds and $142,134 in nonrecurring 3157 

funds shall be used to implement the additional oversight 3158 

requirements pursuant to s. 1002.421, Florida Statutes, and the 3159 

sum of $250,000 in nonrecurring funds shall be used to issue a 3160 

competitive grant award pursuant to s. 1002.395(9), Florida 3161 

Statutes. 3162 

Section 42. The Department of Revenue may, and all 3163 

conditions are deemed met to, adopt emergency rules pursuant to 3164 

ss. 120.536(1) and 120.54, Florida Statutes, to administer this 3165 

act. 3166 

Section 43. Except as otherwise expressly provided in this 3167 

act, this act shall take effect July 1, 2018 3168 

 3169 

================= T I T L E  A M E N D M E N T ================ 3170 

And the title is amended as follows: 3171 

Delete everything before the enacting clause 3172 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 111 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

and insert: 3173 

A bill to be entitled 3174 

An act relating to education; creating s. 212.1832, 3175 

F.S.; authorizing certain persons to receive a tax 3176 

credit for certain contributions to eligible nonprofit 3177 

scholarship-funding organizations for the Hope 3178 

Scholarship Program; providing requirements for motor 3179 

vehicle dealers; requiring the Department of Revenue 3180 

to disregard certain tax credits for specified 3181 

purposes; providing that specified provisions apply to 3182 

certain provisions; amending s. 213.053, F.S.; 3183 

authorizing the Department of Revenue to share 3184 

specified information with eligible nonprofit 3185 

scholarship-funding organizations; providing that 3186 

certain requirements apply to such organizations; 3187 

repealing ch. 623, F.S., relating to private school 3188 

corporations, on a specified date; amending s. 3189 

1001.10, F.S.; revising the private schools to which 3190 

the Department of Education is required to provide 3191 

technical assistance and authorized staff; amending s. 3192 

1001.4205, F.S.; authorizing a member of the State 3193 

Legislature to visit any district school, including 3194 

any charter school, in his or her legislative 3195 

district; amending s. 1002.01, F.S.; revising and 3196 

defining terms; amending s. 1002.20; updating 3197 

educational options and terminology; amending s. 3198 

1002.33, F.S.; extending the period of time for which 3199 

a charter school may defer its opening for specified 3200 

reasons; amending s. 1002.331, F.S.; revising the 3201 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 112 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

requirements for a charter school to be considered a 3202 

high-performing charter school; amending s. 1002.333, 3203 

F.S.; redefining the terms “persistently low-3204 

performing school” and “school of hope”; revising the 3205 

required contents of a school of hope notice of intent 3206 

and performance-based agreement; revising school of 3207 

hope facility requirements; specifying that certain 3208 

schools of hope are eligible to receive hope 3209 

supplemental service allocation funds; requiring the 3210 

State Board of Education to provide awards to all 3211 

eligible schools that meet certain requirements; 3212 

prohibiting a school of hope operator or owner from 3213 

serving as the principal of a school of hope that he 3214 

or she manages; conforming cross-references; creating 3215 

s. 1002.334, F.S.; defining the term “franchise model 3216 

school”; authorizing specified schools to use a 3217 

franchise model school as a turnaround option; 3218 

specifying requirements for a franchise model school 3219 

principal; amending s. 1002.385, F.S.; revising the 3220 

meaning of a rare disease within the definition of a 3221 

“disability” for purposes of the Gardiner Scholarship 3222 

Program; revising requirements for private schools 3223 

that participate in the program; specifying that the 3224 

failure or refusal, rather than the inability of, a 3225 

private school to meet certain requirements 3226 

constitutes a basis for program ineligibility; 3227 

conforming cross-references; amending s. 1002.39, 3228 

F.S.; revising the purpose of department site visits 3229 

at private schools participating in the John M. McKay 3230 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 113 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

Scholarships for Students with Disabilities Program; 3231 

authorizing the department to make followup site 3232 

visits at any time to certain private schools; 3233 

requiring participating private schools to provide a 3234 

specified report from an independent certified public 3235 

accountant under certain circumstances; specifying 3236 

that the failure or refusal, rather than the inability 3237 

of, a private school to meet certain requirements 3238 

constitutes a basis for program ineligibility; 3239 

conforming provisions to changes made by the act; 3240 

amending s. 1002.395, F.S.; revising obligations of 3241 

eligible nonprofit scholarship-funding organizations 3242 

participating in the Florida Tax Credit Scholarship 3243 

Program; specifying that the failure or refusal, 3244 

rather than the inability of, a private school to meet 3245 

certain requirements constitutes a basis for program 3246 

ineligibility; revising the purpose of department site 3247 

visits at private schools participating in the Florida 3248 

Tax Credit Scholarship Program; authorizing the 3249 

department to make followup site visits at any time to 3250 

certain private schools; conforming provisions to 3251 

changes made by the act; creating s. 1002.40, F.S.; 3252 

establishing the Hope Scholarship Program; providing 3253 

the purpose of the program; defining terms; providing 3254 

eligibility requirements; prohibiting the payment of a 3255 

scholarship under certain circumstances; requiring a 3256 

principal to provide copies of a report of physical 3257 

violence or emotional abuse to certain individuals 3258 

within specified timeframes; requiring the principal 3259 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 114 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

to investigate such incidents; requiring a school 3260 

district to notify an eligible student’s parent of the 3261 

program under certain circumstances; requiring a 3262 

school district to provide certain information 3263 

relating to the statewide assessment program; 3264 

providing requirements and obligations for eligible 3265 

private schools; providing Department of Education 3266 

obligations relating to participating students and 3267 

private schools and program requirements; providing 3268 

Commissioner of Education obligations; requiring the 3269 

commissioner to deny, suspend, or revoke a private 3270 

school’s participation in the program or the payment 3271 

of scholarship funds under certain circumstances; 3272 

defining the term “owner or operator”; providing a 3273 

process for review of a decision from the commissioner 3274 

under certain circumstances; providing for the release 3275 

of personally identifiable student information under 3276 

certain circumstances; providing parent and student 3277 

responsibilities for initial and continued 3278 

participation in the program; providing nonprofit 3279 

scholarship-funding organization obligations; 3280 

providing for the calculation of the scholarship 3281 

amount; providing the scholarship amount for students 3282 

transferred to certain public schools; requiring 3283 

verification of specified information before a 3284 

scholarship may be disbursed; providing requirements 3285 

for the scholarship payments; providing funds for 3286 

administrative expenses for certain nonprofit 3287 

scholarship-funding organizations; providing 3288 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 115 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

requirements for administrative expenses; prohibiting 3289 

a nonprofit scholarship-funding organization from 3290 

charging an application fee; providing Auditor General 3291 

obligations; providing requirements for taxpayer 3292 

elections to contribute to the program; requiring the 3293 

Department of Revenue to adopt forms to administer the 3294 

program; providing requirements for certain agents of 3295 

the Department of Revenue and motor vehicle dealers; 3296 

providing reporting requirements for nonprofit 3297 

scholarship-funding organizations relating to taxpayer 3298 

contributions; providing penalties; providing for the 3299 

restitution of specified funds under certain 3300 

circumstances; providing the state is not liable for 3301 

the award or use of program funds; prohibiting 3302 

additional regulations for private schools 3303 

participating in the program beyond those necessary to 3304 

enforce program requirements; requiring the State 3305 

Board of Education to adopt rules to administer the 3306 

program; amending s. 1002.421, F.S.; defining the term 3307 

“owner or operator”; requiring a private school to 3308 

employ or contract with teachers who meet certain 3309 

qualifications and provide information about such 3310 

qualifications to the department and parents; revising 3311 

the conditions under which a private school employee 3312 

may be exempted from background screening 3313 

requirements; specifying that a private school is 3314 

ineligible to participate in certain scholarship 3315 

programs under certain circumstances; requiring the 3316 

department to annually visit a certain percentage of 3317 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 116 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

certain private schools; authorizing the department to 3318 

make certain followup site visits at any time; 3319 

requiring the Division of State Fire Marshal to 3320 

annually provide the department with fire safety 3321 

inspection reports for certain private schools; 3322 

requiring that certain private schools provide the 3323 

department with a report from an independent certified 3324 

public accountant under certain circumstances; 3325 

repealing s. 1002.43, F.S., relating to private 3326 

tutoring programs; amending s. 1002.55, F.S.; 3327 

authorizing an early learning coalition to refuse to 3328 

contract with certain private prekindergarten 3329 

providers; amending s. 1003.01, F.S.; redefining the 3330 

term “regular school attendance”; amending s. 1003.26, 3331 

F.S.; conforming a cross-reference; amending s. 3332 

1003.41, F.S.; revising the requirements for the Next 3333 

Generation Sunshine State Standards to include 3334 

financial literacy; amending s. 1003.4282, F.S.; 3335 

revising the required credits for a standard high 3336 

school diploma to include one-half credit of 3337 

instruction in personal financial literacy and money 3338 

management and seven and one-half, rather than eight, 3339 

credits in electives; creating s. 1003.457, F.S.; 3340 

requiring school districts to provide instruction in 3341 

cardiopulmonary resuscitation (CPR) and the use of an 3342 

automated external defibrillator; requiring students 3343 

to study and practice psychomotor skills associated 3344 

with CPR at least once before graduating from high 3345 

school; requiring the instruction to be a part of a 3346 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 117 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

required curriculum; providing instruction to be based 3347 

on certain programs; providing an exemption; amending 3348 

s. 1003.453, F.S.; conforming provisions to changes 3349 

made by the act; amending s. 1006.061, F.S.; revising 3350 

the applicability of certain child abuse, abandonment, 3351 

and neglect provisions; amending s. 1006.07, F.S.; 3352 

requiring district school boards to formulate and 3353 

prescribe policies and procedures for active shooter 3354 

situations; requiring that active shooter situation 3355 

training for each school be conducted by the law 3356 

enforcement agency or agencies that are designated as 3357 

first responders to the school’s campus; requiring 3358 

each school district to conduct certain assessments in 3359 

a specified format; requiring a district school 3360 

superintendent to provide specified agencies with 3361 

certain findings and certain strategy and activity 3362 

recommendations to improve school safety and security; 3363 

requiring that district school boards and private 3364 

school principals or governing boards allow campus 3365 

tours by such law enforcement agency or agencies at 3366 

specified times and for specified purposes; requiring 3367 

that certain recommendations be documented by such 3368 

board or principal; amending s. 1006.12, F.S.; 3369 

requiring, rather than authorizing, district school 3370 

boards to establish certain school resource officer 3371 

programs; requiring a district school board to 3372 

commission one or more school safety officers at each 3373 

district school facility within the district; amending 3374 

s. 1007.273, F.S.; defining the term “structured 3375 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 118 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

program”; providing additional options for students 3376 

participating in a structured program; prohibiting a 3377 

district school board from limiting the number of 3378 

public school students who may participate in a 3379 

structured program; revising contract requirements; 3380 

requiring each district school board to annually 3381 

notify students in certain grades of certain 3382 

information about the structured program, by a 3383 

specified date; revising provisions relating to 3384 

funding; requiring the state board to enforce 3385 

compliance with certain provisions by a specified date 3386 

each year; providing reporting requirements; amending 3387 

s. 1008.33, F.S.; revising the turnaround options 3388 

available for certain schools; amending s. 1011.62, 3389 

F.S.; creating the hope supplemental services 3390 

allocation; providing the purpose of the allocation; 3391 

specifying the services that may be funded by the 3392 

allocation; providing that implementation plans may 3393 

include certain models; providing requirements for 3394 

implementation plans; providing for the allocation of 3395 

funds in specified fiscal years; creating the mental 3396 

health assistance allocation; providing the purpose of 3397 

the allocation; providing for the annual allocation of 3398 

such funds on a specified basis; prohibiting the use 3399 

of allocated funds to supplant funds provided from 3400 

other operating funds, to increase salaries, or to 3401 

provide bonuses; providing requirements for school 3402 

districts and charter schools; providing that required 3403 

plans must include certain elements; requiring school 3404 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 119 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

districts to annually submit approved plans to the 3405 

Commissioner of Education by a specified date; 3406 

requiring that entities that receive such allocations 3407 

annually submit a final report on program outcomes and 3408 

specific expenditures to the commissioner by a 3409 

specified date; creating the funding compression 3410 

allocation; providing the purpose of the allocation; 3411 

authorizing funding for the annual allocation; 3412 

providing the calculation for the allocation; amending 3413 

s. 1011.69, F.S.; authorizing certain high schools to 3414 

receive Title I funds; providing that a school 3415 

district may withhold Title I funds for specified 3416 

purposes; authorizing certain schools to use Title I 3417 

funds for specified purposes; amending s. 1011.71, 3418 

F.S.; increasing the amount that a school district may 3419 

expend from a specified millage levy for certain 3420 

expenses; amending s. 1012.315, F.S.; revising the 3421 

applicability of certain provisions related to 3422 

disqualification from employment for the conviction of 3423 

specified offenses; amending s. 1012.731, F.S.; 3424 

extending eligibility for the Florida Best and 3425 

Brightest Teacher Scholarship Program to school 3426 

district employees who, in the immediately preceding 3427 

school year, were classroom teachers and met 3428 

eligibility requirements; deleting scholarship awards 3429 

authorized for specific school years; amending s. 3430 

1012.732, F.S.; specifying that a franchise model 3431 

school principal is eligible to receive a Florida Best 3432 

and Brightest Principal scholarship; requiring 3433 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 120 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

specified awards for eligible principals; amending s. 3434 

1012.796, F.S.; revising the applicability of a 3435 

requirement that certain private schools file 3436 

specified reports with the department for certain 3437 

allegations against its employees; amending s. 3438 

1013.31, F.S.; authorizing a district to use certain 3439 

sources of funds for educational, auxiliary, and 3440 

ancillary plant capital outlay purposes without 3441 

needing a survey recommendation; amending s. 1013.385, 3442 

F.S.; providing additional exceptions to certain 3443 

building code regulations for school districts; 3444 

amending s. 1013.62, F.S.; providing legislative 3445 

intent; prohibiting a charter school from being 3446 

eligible for capital outlay funds unless the chair of 3447 

the governing board and the chief administrative 3448 

officer of the charter school annually certify certain 3449 

information; defining the term “affiliated party of 3450 

the charter school”; revising the Department of 3451 

Education’s calculation methodology for a school 3452 

district’s distribution of discretionary millage to 3453 

its eligible charter schools; amending s. 212.08, 3454 

F.S.; conforming a cross-reference; providing 3455 

appropriations; providing appropriations; authorizing 3456 

the Department of Revenue to adopt emergency rules for 3457 

specified purposes; providing effective dates. 3458 



   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 1 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

A bill to be entitled 1 

An act relating to education; amending s. 11.45, F.S.; 2 

revising the duties of the Auditor General; amending 3 

s. 112.313, F.S.; prohibiting former appointed 4 

district school superintendents from conducting 5 

certain lobbying activities; amending s. 112.31455, 6 

F.S.; requiring the governing body of a district 7 

school board to be notified if an officer or employee 8 

of the body owes a certain fine; requiring the 9 

governing body of a district school board to take 10 

specified actions under such circumstances; creating 11 

s. 212.1832, F.S.; authorizing certain persons to 12 

receive a tax credit for certain contributions to 13 

eligible nonprofit scholarship-funding organizations 14 

for the Hope Scholarship Program; providing 15 

requirements for motor vehicle dealers; requiring the 16 

Department of Revenue to disregard certain tax credits 17 

for specified purposes; providing that specified 18 

provisions apply to certain provisions; amending s. 19 

213.053, F.S.; requiring the Department of Revenue to 20 

share specified information with eligible nonprofit 21 

scholarship-funding organizations; providing that 22 

certain requirements apply to such organizations; 23 

creating s. 250.483, F.S.; providing requirements 24 

relating to licensure or qualification of persons 25 

   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 2 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

ordered into active duty; amending s. 446.041, F.S.; 26 

providing duties of the Department of Education; 27 

amending s. 446.081, F.S.; providing construction; 28 

creating s. 683.147, F.S.; designating March 25 of 29 

each year as "Medal of Honor Day"; amending s. 30 

1001.10, F.S.; authorizing the Commissioner of 31 

Education to coordinate resources during an emergency; 32 

amending s. 1001.20, F.S.; requiring the Office of 33 

Inspector General to investigate certain allegations 34 

and reports made by specified individuals; amending s. 35 

1001.39, F.S.; requiring a district school board 36 

member's travel outside of the school district to be 37 

preapproved and meet certain criteria; providing 38 

requirements for such member's request for travel 39 

outside of the state; providing an opportunity for the 40 

public to speak on such travel; amending s. 1001.395, 41 

F.S.; providing that certain requirements for the 42 

salaries of district school board members apply every, 43 

rather than one specific, fiscal year; amending s. 44 

1001.42, F.S.; providing that the standards of ethical 45 

conduct apply to administrative personnel and school 46 

officers; authorizing district school board members to 47 

request and receive specified budget information; 48 

requiring employment of internal auditors in certain 49 

school districts; revising provisions relating to the 50 



   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 3 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

duties of such internal auditors; amending s. 1001.51, 51 

F.S.; revising the duties and responsibilities of 52 

school district superintendents relating to the 53 

organization and operation of schools; amending s. 54 

1002.33, F.S.; revising the criteria for denying high-55 

performing charter school system applications; 56 

revising the requirements for the term of a charter; 57 

revising provisions for the modification of and the 58 

nonrenewal or termination of a charter; revising the 59 

process for resolving contractual disputes; amending 60 

s. 1002.331, F.S.; revising the criteria for 61 

designation as a high-performing charter school; 62 

revising the calculation used to determine facility 63 

capacity for such charter schools; revising the number 64 

of schools that can be established by a high-65 

performing charter school; amending s. 1002.333, F.S.; 66 

providing for certain funds for the Schools of Hope 67 

Program to be carried forward for a specified number 68 

of years; amending s. 1002.37, F.S.; providing that 69 

certain students shall be given priority; requiring 70 

school districts to provide Florida Virtual School 71 

students access to certain examinations and 72 

assessments and certain information; amending s. 73 

1002.385, F.S.; revising eligible expenditures for the 74 

Gardiner Scholarship Program; conforming provisions to 75 

   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 4 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

changes made by the act; amending s. 1002.39, F.S.; 76 

conforming provisions to changes made by the act; 77 

amending s. 1002.395, F.S.; revising the requirements 78 

for an annual report of certain student data for the 79 

Florida Tax Credit Scholarship Program; conforming 80 

provisions to changes made by the act; creating s. 81 

1002.40, F.S.; establishing the Hope Scholarship 82 

Program; providing the purpose of the program; 83 

providing definitions; providing eligibility 84 

requirements; prohibiting the payment of a scholarship 85 

under certain circumstances; requiring a school 86 

principal to investigate a report of physical violence 87 

or emotional abuse; requiring a school district to 88 

notify an eligible student's parent of the program; 89 

requiring a school district to provide certain 90 

information relating to the statewide assessment 91 

program; providing requirements and obligations for 92 

eligible private schools; providing department 93 

obligations relating to participating students and 94 

private schools and program requirements; providing 95 

parent and student responsibilities for initial and 96 

continued participation in the program; providing 97 

eligible nonprofit scholarship-funding organization 98 

obligations; providing for the calculation of the 99 

scholarship amount; providing the scholarship amount 100 



   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 5 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

for students transferred to certain public schools; 101 

requiring verification of specified information before 102 

a scholarship may be disbursed; providing requirements 103 

for the scholarship payments; providing funds for 104 

administrative expenses for certain nonprofit 105 

scholarship-funding organizations; providing 106 

requirements for administrative expenses; prohibiting 107 

an eligible nonprofit scholarship-funding organization 108 

from charging an application fee; providing Auditor 109 

General obligations; providing requirements for 110 

taxpayer elections to contribute to the program; 111 

requiring the Department of Revenue to adopt forms to 112 

administer the program; providing reporting 113 

requirements for eligible nonprofit scholarship-114 

funding organizations relating to taxpayer 115 

contributions; providing requirements for certain 116 

agents of the Department of Revenue and motor vehicle 117 

dealers; providing penalties; providing for the 118 

restitution of specified funds under certain 119 

circumstances; providing that the state is not liable 120 

for the award or use of program funds; prohibiting 121 

additional regulations for private schools 122 

participating in the program beyond those necessary to 123 

enforce program requirements; requiring the State 124 

Board of Education and the Department of Revenue to 125 

   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 6 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

adopt rules to administer the program; creating s. 126 

1002.411, F.S.; establishing reading scholarship 127 

accounts for specified purposes; providing for 128 

eligibility for scholarships; providing for 129 

administration; providing duties of the Department of 130 

Education; providing school district obligations; 131 

specifying options for parents; providing that maximum 132 

funding shall be specified in the General 133 

Appropriations Act; providing for payment of funds; 134 

specifying that no state liability arises from the 135 

award or use of such an account; amending s. 1002.421, 136 

F.S.; providing private school requirements for 137 

participation in educational scholarship programs; 138 

providing background screening requirements and 139 

procedures for owners of private schools; providing 140 

that a private school is ineligible to participate in 141 

an educational scholarship program under certain 142 

circumstances; providing department obligations 143 

relating to educational scholarship programs; 144 

providing commissioner authority and responsibilities 145 

for educational scholarship programs; authorizing the 146 

commissioner to deny, suspend, or revoke a private 147 

school's participation in an educational scholarship 148 

program; amending s. 1003.42, F.S.; revising the 149 

requirements for certain required instruction; 150 



   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 7 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

providing for a character development program that 151 

incorporates the values of the recipients of the 152 

Congressional Medal of Honor; amending s. 1003.576, 153 

F.S.; requiring a specified IEP system to be used 154 

statewide; deleting an obsolete date; amending s. 155 

1006.07, F.S.; revising district school board duties 156 

to include security risk assessments; requiring 157 

certain self-assessments to be in a specified format; 158 

amending s. 1007.271, F.S.; deleting a requirement for 159 

a home education student to provide his or her own 160 

instructional materials; revising the requirements for 161 

home education and private school articulation 162 

agreements; amending s. 1008.22, F.S.; requiring 163 

certain portions of the English Language Arts 164 

assessments to include social studies content; 165 

revising the format requirements for certain statewide 166 

assessments; requiring published assessment items to 167 

be in a format that meets certain criteria; amending 168 

s. 1010.20, F.S.; requiring each school district to 169 

report certain expenditures to the Department of 170 

Education; providing department responsibilities; 171 

amending s. 1010.30, F.S.; requiring certain entities 172 

to provide an audit overview under certain 173 

circumstances; providing for the contents of the 174 

overview; amending ss. 1011.01 and 1011.03, F.S.; 175 

   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 8 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

conforming provisions to changes made by the act; 176 

amending s. 1011.035, F.S.; requiring each district 177 

school board to post on its website certain graphical 178 

representations and a link to a certain web-based 179 

tool; providing requirements for such graphical 180 

representations; amending s. 1011.051, F.S.; requiring 181 

a district school board to limit certain expenditures 182 

by a specified amount if certain financial conditions 183 

exist for a specified period of time; requiring the 184 

department to contract with a third party to conduct 185 

an investigation under certain circumstances; 186 

providing requirements for such investigation; 187 

requiring the results of such investigation to include 188 

certain information and be provided to certain 189 

entities; amending s. 1011.06, F.S.; requiring each 190 

district school board to approve certain expenditures 191 

by complying with specified provisions and amending 192 

its budget; requiring such board to provide a public 193 

explanation for such budget amendments; amending s. 194 

1011.09, F.S.; providing certain expenditure 195 

limitations for a school district that meets specified 196 

criteria; amending s. 1011.10, F.S.; requiring certain 197 

school districts to withhold district school board 198 

member and school district superintendent salaries 199 

until certain conditions are corrected; amending s. 200 



   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 9 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

1011.60, F.S.; conforming cross-references; amending 201 

s. 1011.62, F.S.; renaming the "supplemental academic 202 

instruction categorical fund" as the "supplemental 203 

academic instruction allocation"; requiring certain 204 

school districts to use the allocation for specified 205 

purposes; deleting an obsolete date; deleting a 206 

provision authorizing the Florida State University 207 

School to expend specified funds for certain purposes; 208 

prohibiting the award of certain bonuses to teachers 209 

who fail to maintain the security of certain 210 

examinations or violate certain protocols; authorizing 211 

the state board to adopt rules for specified purposes; 212 

conforming provisions to changes made by the act; 213 

revising the research-based reading instruction 214 

allocation; revising the criteria for establishing the 215 

300 lowest-performing elementary schools; providing 216 

requirements for staffing summer reading camps funded 217 

through the allocation; requiring school districts 218 

that meet specified criteria, rather than all school 219 

districts, to submit a comprehensive reading plan for 220 

specified purposes; deleting provisions for the 221 

release or withholding of funds based on a school 222 

district's comprehensive reading plan; revising a 223 

definition; amending s. 1011.6202, F.S.; renaming the 224 

"Principal Autonomy Pilot Program" as the "Principal 225 

   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 10 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

Autonomy Program"; providing that any school district 226 

may apply to participate in the program; providing 227 

that a school shall retain its exemption from 228 

specified laws under specified circumstances; 229 

requiring a designated leadership team at a 230 

participating school to complete a certain turnaround 231 

program; deleting a provision providing a specified 232 

amount of funds to a participating school district 233 

that completes the turnaround program; authorizing 234 

certain principals to manage additional schools under 235 

the control of an independent governing board; 236 

providing requirements for such schools; providing for 237 

such schools to participate in the program; providing 238 

requirements for such participation; specifying that 239 

no school district liability arises from the 240 

management of such schools; deleting a school's 241 

authority to renew participation in the program; 242 

deleting reporting requirements; providing for 243 

funding; revising the principal eligibility criteria 244 

for a salary supplement through the program; repealing 245 

s. 1011.64, F.S., relating to school district minimum 246 

classroom expenditure requirements; amending s. 247 

1011.69, F.S.; authorizing certain high schools to 248 

receive Title I funds; providing that a school 249 

district may withhold Title I funds for specified 250 



   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 11 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

purposes; authorizing certain schools to use Title I 251 

funds for specified purposes; amending s. 1011.71, 252 

F.S.; prohibiting a school district from withholding 253 

charter school administrative fees under certain 254 

circumstances; amending s. 1012.23, F.S.; prohibiting 255 

a school district superintendent and district school 256 

board from appointing or employing certain individuals 257 

in certain positions; providing an exception; 258 

requiring the Commission on Ethics to investigate 259 

alleged violations; amending s. 1012.2315, F.S.; 260 

requiring certain employee organizations to include 261 

specified information in a specified application and 262 

to petition for recertification for specified 263 

purposes; amending s. 1012.28, F.S.; conforming 264 

provisions to changes made by the act; amending s. 265 

1012.32, F.S.; requiring a district school board to 266 

reimburse certain costs if it fails to notify a 267 

charter school of the eligibility status of certain 268 

persons; amending s. 1012.55, F.S.; requiring the 269 

state board to issue a temporary certificate in 270 

educational leadership to certain persons; providing 271 

that certain instructors may receive the funds through 272 

a specified program; amending s. 1012.56, F.S.; 273 

requiring the state board to adopt certain rules 274 

relating to temporary educator certificates; amending 275 

   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 12 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

s. 1012.562, F.S.; authorizing charter schools and 276 

charter management organizations to offer school 277 

leader preparation programs; amending s. 1012.59, 278 

F.S.; requiring the state board to waive certain fees 279 

for specified persons; amending s. 1012.98, F.S.; 280 

requiring professional development resources to 281 

include sample course-at-a-glance and unit overview 282 

templates; providing requirements for such templates; 283 

amending s. 1013.28, F.S.; requiring school districts 284 

to provide charter schools access to certain property 285 

on the same basis as public schools; prohibiting 286 

certain actions by a charter school without the 287 

written permission of the school district; amending s. 288 

1013.385, F.S.; providing additional exceptions to 289 

certain building code regulations for school 290 

districts; amending s. 1013.62, F.S.; revising 291 

requirements for charter school capital outlay 292 

funding; conforming provisions to changes made by the 293 

act; providing appropriations; authorizing the 294 

Department of Revenue to adopt emergency rules for 295 

specified purposes; providing an effective date. 296 

 297 

Be It Enacted by the Legislature of the State of Florida: 298 

 299 

 Section 1.  Paragraph (k) of subsection (2) of section 300 



   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 13 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

11.45, Florida Statutes, is redesignated as paragraph (l), and a 301 

new paragraph (k) is added to that subsection to read: 302 

 11.45  Definitions; duties; authorities; reports; rules.— 303 

 (2)  DUTIES.—The Auditor General shall: 304 

 (k)  Contact each district school board, as defined in s. 305 

1003.01(1), with the findings and recommendations contained 306 

within the Auditor General's previous operational audit report. 307 

The district school board shall provide the Auditor General with 308 

evidence of the initiation of corrective action within 45 days 309 

after the date it is requested by the Auditor General and 310 

evidence of completion of corrective action within 180 days 311 

after the date it is requested by the Auditor General. If the 312 

district school board fails to comply with the Auditor General's 313 

request or is unable to take corrective action within the 314 

required timeframe, the Auditor General shall notify the 315 

Legislative Auditing Committee. 316 

 317 

The Auditor General shall perform his or her duties 318 

independently but under the general policies established by the 319 

Legislative Auditing Committee. This subsection does not limit 320 

the Auditor General's discretionary authority to conduct other 321 

audits or engagements of governmental entities as authorized in 322 

subsection (3). 323 

 Section 2.  Subsection (14) of section 112.313, Florida 324 

Statutes, is amended to read: 325 

   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 14 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

 112.313  Standards of conduct for public officers, 326 

employees of agencies, and local government attorneys.— 327 

 (14)  LOBBYING BY FORMER LOCAL OFFICERS; PROHIBITION.—A 328 

person who has been elected to any county, municipal, special 329 

district, or school district office or an appointed 330 

superintendent of a school district may not personally represent 331 

another person or entity for compensation before the government 332 

body or agency of which the person was an officer for a period 333 

of 2 years after vacating that office. For purposes of this 334 

subsection: 335 

 (a)  The "government body or agency" of a member of a board 336 

of county commissioners consists of the commission, the chief 337 

administrative officer or employee of the county, and their 338 

immediate support staff. 339 

 (b)  The "government body or agency" of any other county 340 

elected officer is the office or department headed by that 341 

officer, including all subordinate employees. 342 

 (c)  The "government body or agency" of an elected 343 

municipal officer consists of the governing body of the 344 

municipality, the chief administrative officer or employee of 345 

the municipality, and their immediate support staff. 346 

 (d)  The "government body or agency" of an elected special 347 

district officer is the special district. 348 

 (e)  The "government body or agency" of an elected school 349 

district officer is the school district. 350 



   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 15 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

 Section 3.  Subsection (1) of section 112.31455, Florida 351 

Statutes, is amended to read: 352 

 112.31455  Collection methods for unpaid automatic fines 353 

for failure to timely file disclosure of financial interests.— 354 

 (1)  Before referring any unpaid fine accrued pursuant to 355 

s. 112.3144(5) or s. 112.3145(7) to the Department of Financial 356 

Services, the commission shall attempt to determine whether the 357 

individual owing such a fine is a current public officer or 358 

current public employee. If so, the commission may notify the 359 

Chief Financial Officer or the governing body of the appropriate 360 

county, municipality, district school board, or special district 361 

of the total amount of any fine owed to the commission by such 362 

individual. 363 

 (a)  After receipt and verification of the notice from the 364 

commission, the Chief Financial Officer or the governing body of 365 

the county, municipality, district school board, or special 366 

district shall begin withholding the lesser of 10 percent or the 367 

maximum amount allowed under federal law from any salary-related 368 

payment. The withheld payments shall be remitted to the 369 

commission until the fine is satisfied. 370 

 (b)  The Chief Financial Officer or the governing body of 371 

the county, municipality, district school board, or special 372 

district may retain an amount of each withheld payment, as 373 

provided in s. 77.0305, to cover the administrative costs 374 

incurred under this section. 375 

   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 16 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

 Section 4.  Section 212.1832, Florida Statutes, is created 376 

to read: 377 

 212.1832  Credit for contributions to the Hope Scholarship 378 

Program.— 379 

 (1)  Upon adoption of rules, the purchaser of a motor 380 

vehicle shall be granted a credit of 100 percent of an eligible 381 

contribution made to an eligible nonprofit scholarship-funding 382 

organization under s. 1002.40 against any tax imposed by the 383 

state and collected from the purchaser by a dealer, designated 384 

agent, or private tag agent as a result of the purchase or 385 

acquisition of a motor vehicle. For purposes of this subsection, 386 

the term "purchase" does not include the lease or rental of a 387 

motor vehicle. 388 

 (2)  A dealer shall take a credit against any tax imposed 389 

by the state under this chapter on the purchase of a motor 390 

vehicle in an amount equal to the credit granted to the 391 

purchaser under subsection (1). 392 

 (3)  For purposes of the distributions of tax revenue under 393 

s. 212.20, the department shall disregard any tax credits 394 

allowed under this section to ensure that any reduction in tax 395 

revenue received that is attributable to the tax credits results 396 

only in a reduction in distributions to the General Revenue 397 

Fund. The provisions of s. 1002.40 apply to the credit 398 

authorized by this section. 399 

 Section 5.  Subsection (21) is added to section 213.053, 400 



   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 17 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

Florida Statutes, to read: 401 

 213.053  Confidentiality and information sharing.— 402 

 (21)(a)  The department may provide to an eligible 403 

nonprofit scholarship-funding organization, as defined in s. 404 

1002.40, a dealer's name, address, federal employer 405 

identification number, and information related to differences 406 

between credits taken by the dealer pursuant to s. 212.1832(2) 407 

and amounts remitted to the eligible nonprofit scholarship-408 

funding organization under s. 1002.40(13)(b)3. The eligible 409 

nonprofit scholarship-funding organization may use the 410 

information for purposes of recovering eligible contributions 411 

designated for that organization that were collected by the 412 

dealer but never remitted to the organization. 413 

 (b)  Nothing in this subsection authorizes the disclosure 414 

of information if such disclosure is prohibited by federal law. 415 

An eligible nonprofit scholarship-funding organization is bound 416 

by the same requirements of confidentiality and the same 417 

penalties for a violation of the requirements as the department. 418 

 Section 6.  Section 250.483, Florida Statutes, is created 419 

to read: 420 

 250.483  Active duty; licensure or qualification.— 421 

 (1)  If a member of the Florida National Guard or the 422 

United States Armed Forces Reserves seeking licensure or 423 

qualification for a trade, occupation, or profession is ordered 424 

into state active duty or into active duty as defined in this 425 

   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 18 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

chapter, and his or her period of training, study, 426 

apprenticeship, or practical experience is interrupted or the 427 

start thereof is delayed, he or she is entitled to licensure or 428 

qualification under the laws covering his or her licensure or 429 

qualification at the time of entrance into active duty pursuant 430 

to subsection (2). 431 

 (2)  A board of examiners or other qualification board 432 

regulated under general law shall accept periods of training and 433 

practical experience in the Florida National Guard or the United 434 

States Armed Forces Reserves in place of the interrupted or 435 

delayed periods of training, study, apprenticeship, or practical 436 

experience if the board finds the standard and type of work or 437 

training performed in the Florida National Guard or the United 438 

States Armed Forces Reserves to be substantially the same as the 439 

standard and type required under the laws of this state. 440 

 (3)  A member of the Florida National Guard or the United 441 

States Armed Forces Reserves must request licensure or 442 

qualification pursuant to this section by the respective board 443 

of examiners or other qualification board within 6 months after 444 

release from active duty with the Florida National Guard or the 445 

United States Armed Forces Reserves. 446 

 Section 7.  Subsections (7) through (12) of section 447 

446.041, Florida Statutes, are renumbered as subsections (8) 448 

through (13), respectively, and a new subsection (7) is added to 449 

that section to read: 450 



   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 19 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

 446.041  Apprenticeship program, duties of the department.—451 

The department shall: 452 

 (7)  Lead and coordinate outreach efforts to educate 453 

veterans about apprenticeship and career opportunities. 454 

 Section 8.  Subsection (4) is added to section 446.081, 455 

Florida Statutes, to read: 456 

 446.081  Limitation.— 457 

 (4)  Nothing in ss. 446.011-446.092 or in any rules adopted 458 

or contained in any approved apprentice agreement under such 459 

sections invalidates any special provision for veterans, 460 

minority persons, or women in the standards, qualifications, or 461 

operation of the apprenticeship program which is not otherwise 462 

prohibited by any applicable general law, rule, or regulation. 463 

 Section 9.  Section 683.147, Florida Statutes, is created 464 

to read: 465 

 683.147  Medal of Honor Day.— 466 

 (1)  March 25 of each year is designated as "Medal of Honor 467 

Day." 468 

 (2)  The Governor may annually issue a proclamation 469 

designating March 25 as Medal of Honor Day and calling upon 470 

public officials, schools, private organizations, and all 471 

residents of the state to commemorate Medal of Honor Day and 472 

honor recipients of the Congressional Medal of Honor who 473 

distinguished themselves through their conspicuous bravery and 474 

gallantry during wartime, and at considerable risk to their own 475 

   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 20 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

lives, while serving as members of the United States Armed 476 

Forces. 477 

 Section 10.  Subsection (8) is added to section 1001.10, 478 

Florida Statutes, to read: 479 

 1001.10  Commissioner of Education; general powers and 480 

duties.— 481 

 (8)  In the event of an emergency, the commissioner may 482 

coordinate through the most appropriate means of communication 483 

with local school districts, Florida College System 484 

institutions, and satellite offices of the Division of Blind 485 

Services and the Division of Vocational Rehabilitation to assess 486 

the need for resources and assistance to enable each school, 487 

institution, or satellite office to reopen as soon as possible 488 

after considering the health, safety, and welfare of students 489 

and clients. 490 

 Section 11.  Paragraph (e) of subsection (4) of section 491 

1001.20, Florida Statutes, is amended to read: 492 

 1001.20  Department under direction of state board.— 493 

 (4)  The Department of Education shall establish the 494 

following offices within the Office of the Commissioner of 495 

Education which shall coordinate their activities with all other 496 

divisions and offices: 497 

 (e)  Office of Inspector General.—Organized using existing 498 

resources and funds and responsible for promoting 499 

accountability, efficiency, and effectiveness and detecting 500 



   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 21 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

fraud and abuse within school districts, the Florida School for 501 

the Deaf and the Blind, and Florida College System institutions 502 

in Florida. If the Commissioner of Education determines that a 503 

district school board, the Board of Trustees for the Florida 504 

School for the Deaf and the Blind, or a Florida College System 505 

institution board of trustees is unwilling or unable to address 506 

substantiated allegations made by any person relating to waste, 507 

fraud, or financial mismanagement within the school district, 508 

the Florida School for the Deaf and the Blind, or the Florida 509 

College System institution, the office shall conduct, 510 

coordinate, or request investigations into such substantiated 511 

allegations. The office shall investigate allegations or reports 512 

of possible fraud or abuse against a district school board made 513 

by any member of the Cabinet; the presiding officer of either 514 

house of the Legislature; a chair of a substantive or 515 

appropriations committee with jurisdiction; or a member of the 516 

board for which an investigation is sought. The office shall 517 

have access to all information and personnel necessary to 518 

perform its duties and shall have all of its current powers, 519 

duties, and responsibilities authorized in s. 20.055. 520 

 Section 12.  Subsection (1) of section 1001.39, Florida 521 

Statutes, is amended to read: 522 

 1001.39  District school board members; travel expenses.— 523 

 (1)  In addition to the salary provided in s. 1001.395, 524 

each member of a district school board shall be allowed, from 525 

   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 22 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

the district school fund, reimbursement of travel expenses as 526 

authorized in s. 112.061, except as provided that in subsection 527 

(2). any travel outside the district requires prior approval by 528 

the district school board to confirm that such travel is for 529 

official business of the school district and complies with shall 530 

also be governed by the rules of the State Board of Education. 531 

Any request for travel outside the state must include an 532 

itemized list detailing all anticipated travel expenses, 533 

including, but not limited to, the anticipated costs of all 534 

means of travel, lodging, and subsistence. Immediately preceding 535 

a request, the public must have an opportunity to speak on the 536 

specific travel agenda item. 537 

 Section 13.  Subsection (3) of section 1001.395, Florida 538 

Statutes, is amended to read: 539 

 1001.395  District school board members; compensation.— 540 

 (3)  Notwithstanding the provisions of this section and s. 541 

145.19, for the 2010-2011 fiscal year, the salary of each 542 

district school board member shall be the amount calculated 543 

pursuant to subsection (1) or the district's beginning salary 544 

for teachers who hold baccalaureate degrees, whichever is less. 545 

 Section 14.  Subsections (6) and (7), paragraphs (b) and 546 

(l) of subsection (12), and paragraph (b) of subsection (17) of 547 

section 1001.42, Florida Statutes, are amended to read: 548 

 1001.42  Powers and duties of district school board.—The 549 

district school board, acting as a board, shall exercise all 550 



   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 23 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

powers and perform all duties listed below: 551 

 (6) STANDARDS OF ETHICAL CONDUCT FOR INSTRUCTIONAL 552 

PERSONNEL, ADMINISTRATIVE PERSONNEL, AND SCHOOL OFFICERS 553 

ADMINISTRATORS.—Adopt policies establishing standards of ethical 554 

conduct for instructional personnel, administrative personnel, 555 

and school officers administrators. The policies must require 556 

all instructional personnel, administrative personnel, and 557 

school officers administrators, as defined in s. 1012.01, to 558 

complete training on the standards; establish the duty of 559 

instructional personnel, administrative personnel, and school 560 

officers administrators to report, and procedures for reporting, 561 

alleged misconduct by other instructional or administrative 562 

personnel and school officers school administrators which 563 

affects the health, safety, or welfare of a student; and include 564 

an explanation of the liability protections provided under ss. 565 

39.203 and 768.095. A district school board, or any of its 566 

employees, may not enter into a confidentiality agreement 567 

regarding terminated or dismissed instructional or 568 

administrative personnel or school officers administrators, or 569 

personnel or administrators who resign in lieu of termination, 570 

based in whole or in part on misconduct that affects the health, 571 

safety, or welfare of a student, and may not provide 572 

instructional personnel, administrative personnel, or school 573 

officers administrators with employment references or discuss 574 

the personnel's or officers' administrators' performance with 575 

   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 24 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

prospective employers in another educational setting, without 576 

disclosing the personnel's or officers' administrators' 577 

misconduct. Any part of an agreement or contract that has the 578 

purpose or effect of concealing misconduct by instructional 579 

personnel, administrative personnel, or school officers 580 

administrators which affects the health, safety, or welfare of a 581 

student is void, is contrary to public policy, and may not be 582 

enforced. 583 

 (7)  DISQUALIFICATION FROM EMPLOYMENT.—Disqualify 584 

instructional personnel and administrative personnel school 585 

administrators, as defined in s. 1012.01, from employment in any 586 

position that requires direct contact with students if the 587 

personnel or administrators are ineligible for such employment 588 

under s. 1012.315. An elected or appointed school board official 589 

forfeits his or her salary for 1 year if: 590 

 (a)  The school board official knowingly signs and 591 

transmits to any state official a report of alleged misconduct 592 

by instructional personnel or administrative personnel school 593 

administrators which affects the health, safety, or welfare of a 594 

student and the school board official knows the report to be 595 

false or incorrect; or 596 

 (b)  The school board official knowingly fails to adopt 597 

policies that require instructional personnel and administrative 598 

personnel school administrators to report alleged misconduct by 599 

other instructional personnel and administrative personnel 600 



   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 25 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

school administrators, or that require the investigation of all 601 

reports of alleged misconduct by instructional personnel and 602 

administrative personnel school administrators, if the 603 

misconduct affects the health, safety, or welfare of a student. 604 

 (12)  FINANCE.—Take steps to assure students adequate 605 

educational facilities through the financial procedure 606 

authorized in chapters 1010 and 1011 and as prescribed below: 607 

 (b)  Annual budget.— 608 

 1.  Cause to be prepared, adopt, and have submitted to the 609 

Department of Education as required by law and rules of the 610 

State Board of Education, the annual school budget, such budget 611 

to be so prepared and executed as to promote the improvement of 612 

the district school system. 613 

 2.  An individual school board member may request and shall 614 

receive any proposed, tentative, and official budget documents, 615 

including all supporting and background information. 616 

 (l)  Internal auditor.—May or, in the case of a school 617 

district receiving annual federal, state, and local funds in 618 

excess of $500 million, shall employ an internal auditor. The 619 

duties of the internal auditor shall include oversight of every 620 

functional and program area of the school system. 621 

 1.  The internal auditor shall to perform ongoing financial 622 

verification of the financial records of the school district, a 623 

comprehensive risk assessment of all areas of the school system 624 

every 5 years, and other audits and reviews as the district 625 

   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 26 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

school board directs for determining: 626 

 a.  The adequacy of internal controls designed to prevent 627 

and detect fraud, waste, and abuse. 628 

 b.  Compliance with applicable laws, rules, contracts, 629 

grant agreements, district school board-approved policies, and 630 

best practices. 631 

 c.  The efficiency of operations. 632 

 d.  The reliability of financial records and reports. 633 

 e.  The safeguarding of assets. 634 

 f.  Financial solvency. 635 

 g.  Projected revenues and expenditures. 636 

 h.  The rate of change in the general fund balance. 637 

 2.  The internal auditor shall prepare audit reports of his 638 

or her findings and report directly to the district school board 639 

or its designee. 640 

 3.  Any person responsible for furnishing or producing any 641 

book, record, paper, document, data, or sufficient information 642 

necessary to conduct a proper audit or examination which the 643 

internal auditor is by law authorized to perform is subject to 644 

s. 11.47(3) and (4). 645 

 (17)  PUBLIC INFORMATION AND PARENTAL INVOLVEMENT PROGRAM.— 646 

 (b)  Adopt rules to strengthen family involvement and 647 

empowerment pursuant to s. 1002.23. The rules shall be developed 648 

in collaboration with administrative personnel school 649 

administrators, parents, teachers, and community partners. 650 



   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 27 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

 Section 15.  Subsection (6) of section 1001.51, Florida 651 

Statutes, is amended to read: 652 

 1001.51  Duties and responsibilities of district school 653 

superintendent.—The district school superintendent shall 654 

exercise all powers and perform all duties listed below and 655 

elsewhere in the law, provided that, in so doing, he or she 656 

shall advise and counsel with the district school board. The 657 

district school superintendent shall perform all tasks necessary 658 

to make sound recommendations, nominations, proposals, and 659 

reports required by law to be acted upon by the district school 660 

board. All such recommendations, nominations, proposals, and 661 

reports by the district school superintendent shall be either 662 

recorded in the minutes or shall be made in writing, noted in 663 

the minutes, and filed in the public records of the district 664 

school board. It shall be presumed that, in the absence of the 665 

record required in this section, the recommendations, 666 

nominations, and proposals required of the district school 667 

superintendent were not contrary to the action taken by the 668 

district school board in such matters. 669 

 (6)  ESTABLISHMENT, ORGANIZATION, AND OPERATION OF SCHOOLS, 670 

CLASSES, AND SERVICES.—Recommend the establishment, 671 

organization, and operation of such schools, classes, and 672 

services as are needed to provide adequate educational 673 

opportunities for all children in the district. Recommendations 674 

may include the organization and operation of schools by an 675 

   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 28 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

independent governing board to create the optimal learning 676 

environment to address the academic needs of students by giving 677 

instructional personnel freedom from burdensome regulations. To 678 

avoid any conflict of interest regarding the review, approval, 679 

and oversight of the school, members of the governing board may 680 

not be employees of the school district or any school operated 681 

by the governing board. Any school in which all instructional 682 

personnel are employees of an independent governing board shall 683 

operate in accordance with: 684 

 (a)  The contract between the independent governing board 685 

and the district school board. 686 

 (b)  The exemptions from law provided in s. 1011.6202(3)(a) 687 

and (b). 688 

 (c)  The provisions of s. 1011.6202(5)(b) and (c), relating 689 

to tort liability and employer status. 690 

 Section 16.  Paragraphs (d) through (g) of subsection (8) 691 

of section 1002.33, Florida Statutes, are redesignated as 692 

paragraphs (c) through (f), respectively, and paragraph (b) of 693 

subsection (6), paragraphs (a), (d), and (e) of subsection (7), 694 

present paragraphs (a), (b), and (c) of subsection (8), 695 

paragraph (n) of subsection (9), and paragraph (b) of subsection 696 

(20) of that section are amended to read: 697 

 1002.33  Charter schools.— 698 

 (6)  APPLICATION PROCESS AND REVIEW.—Charter school 699 

applications are subject to the following requirements: 700 



   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 29 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

 (b)  A sponsor shall receive and review all applications 701 

for a charter school using the evaluation instrument developed 702 

by the Department of Education. A sponsor shall receive and 703 

consider charter school applications received on or before 704 

August 1 of each calendar year for charter schools to be opened 705 

at the beginning of the school district's next school year, or 706 

to be opened at a time agreed to by the applicant and the 707 

sponsor. A sponsor may not refuse to receive a charter school 708 

application submitted before August 1 and may receive an 709 

application submitted later than August 1 if it chooses. 710 

Beginning in 2018 and thereafter, a sponsor shall receive and 711 

consider charter school applications received on or before 712 

February 1 of each calendar year for charter schools to be 713 

opened 18 months later at the beginning of the school district's 714 

school year, or to be opened at a time agreed to by the 715 

applicant and the sponsor. A sponsor may not refuse to receive a 716 

charter school application submitted before February 1 and may 717 

receive an application submitted later than February 1 if it 718 

chooses. A sponsor may not charge an applicant for a charter any 719 

fee for the processing or consideration of an application, and a 720 

sponsor may not base its consideration or approval of a final 721 

application upon the promise of future payment of any kind. 722 

Before approving or denying any application, the sponsor shall 723 

allow the applicant, upon receipt of written notification, at 724 

least 7 calendar days to make technical or nonsubstantive 725 

   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 30 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

corrections and clarifications, including, but not limited to, 726 

corrections of grammatical, typographical, and like errors or 727 

missing signatures, if such errors are identified by the sponsor 728 

as cause to deny the final application. 729 

 1.  In order to facilitate an accurate budget projection 730 

process, a sponsor shall be held harmless for FTE students who 731 

are not included in the FTE projection due to approval of 732 

charter school applications after the FTE projection deadline. 733 

In a further effort to facilitate an accurate budget projection, 734 

within 15 calendar days after receipt of a charter school 735 

application, a sponsor shall report to the Department of 736 

Education the name of the applicant entity, the proposed charter 737 

school location, and its projected FTE. 738 

 2.  In order to ensure fiscal responsibility, an 739 

application for a charter school shall include a full accounting 740 

of expected assets, a projection of expected sources and amounts 741 

of income, including income derived from projected student 742 

enrollments and from community support, and an expense 743 

projection that includes full accounting of the costs of 744 

operation, including start-up costs. 745 

 3.a.  A sponsor shall by a majority vote approve or deny an 746 

application no later than 90 calendar days after the application 747 

is received, unless the sponsor and the applicant mutually agree 748 

in writing to temporarily postpone the vote to a specific date, 749 

at which time the sponsor shall by a majority vote approve or 750 



   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 31 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

deny the application. If the sponsor fails to act on the 751 

application, an applicant may appeal to the State Board of 752 

Education as provided in paragraph (c). If an application is 753 

denied, the sponsor shall, within 10 calendar days after such 754 

denial, articulate in writing the specific reasons, based upon 755 

good cause, supporting its denial of the application and shall 756 

provide the letter of denial and supporting documentation to the 757 

applicant and to the Department of Education. 758 

 b.  An application submitted by a high-performing charter 759 

school identified pursuant to s. 1002.331 or a high-performing 760 

charter school system identified pursuant to s. 1002.332 may be 761 

denied by the sponsor only if the sponsor demonstrates by clear 762 

and convincing evidence that: 763 

 (I)  The application of a high-performing charter school 764 

does not materially comply with the requirements in paragraph 765 

(a) or, for a high-performing charter school system, the 766 

application does not materially comply with s. 1002.332(2)(b); 767 

 (II)  The charter school proposed in the application does 768 

not materially comply with the requirements in paragraphs 769 

(9)(a)-(f); 770 

 (III)  The proposed charter school's educational program 771 

does not substantially replicate that of the applicant or one of 772 

the applicant's high-performing charter schools; 773 

 (IV)  The applicant has made a material misrepresentation 774 

or false statement or concealed an essential or material fact 775 

   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 32 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

during the application process; or 776 

 (V)  The proposed charter school's educational program and 777 

financial management practices do not materially comply with the 778 

requirements of this section. 779 

 780 

Material noncompliance is a failure to follow requirements or a 781 

violation of prohibitions applicable to charter school 782 

applications, which failure is quantitatively or qualitatively 783 

significant either individually or when aggregated with other 784 

noncompliance. An applicant is considered to be replicating a 785 

high-performing charter school if the proposed school is 786 

substantially similar to at least one of the applicant's high-787 

performing charter schools and the organization or individuals 788 

involved in the establishment and operation of the proposed 789 

school are significantly involved in the operation of replicated 790 

schools. 791 

 c.  If the sponsor denies an application submitted by a 792 

high-performing charter school or a high-performing charter 793 

school system, the sponsor must, within 10 calendar days after 794 

such denial, state in writing the specific reasons, based upon 795 

the criteria in sub-subparagraph b., supporting its denial of 796 

the application and must provide the letter of denial and 797 

supporting documentation to the applicant and to the Department 798 

of Education. The applicant may appeal the sponsor's denial of 799 

the application in accordance with paragraph (c). 800 



   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 33 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

 4.  For budget projection purposes, the sponsor shall 801 

report to the Department of Education the approval or denial of 802 

an application within 10 calendar days after such approval or 803 

denial. In the event of approval, the report to the Department 804 

of Education shall include the final projected FTE for the 805 

approved charter school. 806 

 5.  Upon approval of an application, the initial startup 807 

shall commence with the beginning of the public school calendar 808 

for the district in which the charter is granted. A charter 809 

school may defer the opening of the school's operations for up 810 

to 3 2 years to provide time for adequate facility planning. The 811 

charter school must provide written notice of such intent to the 812 

sponsor and the parents of enrolled students at least 30 813 

calendar days before the first day of school. 814 

 (7)  CHARTER.—The terms and conditions for the operation of 815 

a charter school shall be set forth by the sponsor and the 816 

applicant in a written contractual agreement, called a charter. 817 

The sponsor and the governing board of the charter school shall 818 

use the standard charter contract pursuant to subsection (21), 819 

which shall incorporate the approved application and any addenda 820 

approved with the application. Any term or condition of a 821 

proposed charter contract that differs from the standard charter 822 

contract adopted by rule of the State Board of Education shall 823 

be presumed a limitation on charter school flexibility. The 824 

sponsor may not impose unreasonable rules or regulations that 825 

   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 34 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

violate the intent of giving charter schools greater flexibility 826 

to meet educational goals. The charter shall be signed by the 827 

governing board of the charter school and the sponsor, following 828 

a public hearing to ensure community input. 829 

 (a)  The charter shall address and criteria for approval of 830 

the charter shall be based on: 831 

 1.  The school's mission, the students to be served, and 832 

the ages and grades to be included. 833 

 2.  The focus of the curriculum, the instructional methods 834 

to be used, any distinctive instructional techniques to be 835 

employed, and identification and acquisition of appropriate 836 

technologies needed to improve educational and administrative 837 

performance which include a means for promoting safe, ethical, 838 

and appropriate uses of technology which comply with legal and 839 

professional standards. 840 

 a.  The charter shall ensure that reading is a primary 841 

focus of the curriculum and that resources are provided to 842 

identify and provide specialized instruction for students who 843 

are reading below grade level. The curriculum and instructional 844 

strategies for reading must be consistent with the Next 845 

Generation Sunshine State Standards and grounded in 846 

scientifically based reading research. 847 

 b.  In order to provide students with access to diverse 848 

instructional delivery models, to facilitate the integration of 849 

technology within traditional classroom instruction, and to 850 



   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 35 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

provide students with the skills they need to compete in the 851 

21st century economy, the Legislature encourages instructional 852 

methods for blended learning courses consisting of both 853 

traditional classroom and online instructional techniques. 854 

Charter schools may implement blended learning courses which 855 

combine traditional classroom instruction and virtual 856 

instruction. Students in a blended learning course must be full- 857 

time students of the charter school pursuant to s. 858 

1011.61(1)(a)1. Instructional personnel certified pursuant to s. 859 

1012.55 who provide virtual instruction for blended learning 860 

courses may be employees of the charter school or may be under 861 

contract to provide instructional services to charter school 862 

students. At a minimum, such instructional personnel must hold 863 

an active state or school district adjunct certification under 864 

s. 1012.57 for the subject area of the blended learning course. 865 

The funding and performance accountability requirements for 866 

blended learning courses are the same as those for traditional 867 

courses. 868 

 3.  The current incoming baseline standard of student 869 

academic achievement, the outcomes to be achieved, and the 870 

method of measurement that will be used. The criteria listed in 871 

this subparagraph shall include a detailed description of: 872 

 a.  How the baseline student academic achievement levels 873 

and prior rates of academic progress will be established. 874 

 b.  How these baseline rates will be compared to rates of 875 

   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 36 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

academic progress achieved by these same students while 876 

attending the charter school. 877 

 c.  To the extent possible, how these rates of progress 878 

will be evaluated and compared with rates of progress of other 879 

closely comparable student populations. 880 

 881 

The district school board is required to provide academic 882 

student performance data to charter schools for each of their 883 

students coming from the district school system, as well as 884 

rates of academic progress of comparable student populations in 885 

the district school system. 886 

 4.  The methods used to identify the educational strengths 887 

and needs of students and how well educational goals and 888 

performance standards are met by students attending the charter 889 

school. The methods shall provide a means for the charter school 890 

to ensure accountability to its constituents by analyzing 891 

student performance data and by evaluating the effectiveness and 892 

efficiency of its major educational programs. Students in 893 

charter schools shall, at a minimum, participate in the 894 

statewide assessment program created under s. 1008.22. 895 

 5.  In secondary charter schools, a method for determining 896 

that a student has satisfied the requirements for graduation in 897 

s. 1002.3105(5), s. 1003.4281, or s. 1003.4282. 898 

 6.  A method for resolving conflicts between the governing 899 

board of the charter school and the sponsor. 900 



   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 37 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

 7.  The admissions procedures and dismissal procedures, 901 

including the school's code of student conduct. Admission or 902 

dismissal must not be based on a student's academic performance. 903 

 8.  The ways by which the school will achieve a 904 

racial/ethnic balance reflective of the community it serves or 905 

within the racial/ethnic range of other public schools in the 906 

same school district. 907 

 9.  The financial and administrative management of the 908 

school, including a reasonable demonstration of the professional 909 

experience or competence of those individuals or organizations 910 

applying to operate the charter school or those hired or 911 

retained to perform such professional services and the 912 

description of clearly delineated responsibilities and the 913 

policies and practices needed to effectively manage the charter 914 

school. A description of internal audit procedures and 915 

establishment of controls to ensure that financial resources are 916 

properly managed must be included. Both public sector and 917 

private sector professional experience shall be equally valid in 918 

such a consideration. 919 

 10.  The asset and liability projections required in the 920 

application which are incorporated into the charter and shall be 921 

compared with information provided in the annual report of the 922 

charter school. 923 

 11.  A description of procedures that identify various 924 

risks and provide for a comprehensive approach to reduce the 925 

   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 38 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

impact of losses; plans to ensure the safety and security of 926 

students and staff; plans to identify, minimize, and protect 927 

others from violent or disruptive student behavior; and the 928 

manner in which the school will be insured, including whether or 929 

not the school will be required to have liability insurance, 930 

and, if so, the terms and conditions thereof and the amounts of 931 

coverage. 932 

 12.  The term of the charter which shall provide for 933 

cancellation of the charter if insufficient progress has been 934 

made in attaining the student achievement objectives of the 935 

charter and if it is not likely that such objectives can be 936 

achieved before expiration of the charter. The initial term of a 937 

charter shall be for 4 or 5 years, excluding 1 planning year. In 938 

order to facilitate access to long-term financial resources for 939 

charter school construction, charter schools that are operated 940 

by a municipality or other public entity as provided by law are 941 

eligible for up to a 15-year charter, subject to approval by the 942 

district school board. A charter lab school is eligible for a 943 

charter for a term of up to 15 years. In addition, to facilitate 944 

access to long-term financial resources for charter school 945 

construction, charter schools that are operated by a private, 946 

not-for-profit, s. 501(c)(3) status corporation are eligible for 947 

up to a 15-year charter, subject to approval by the district 948 

school board. Such long-term charters remain subject to annual 949 

review and may be terminated during the term of the charter, but 950 



   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 39 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

only according to the provisions set forth in subsection (8). 951 

 13.  The facilities to be used and their location. The 952 

sponsor may not require a charter school to have a certificate 953 

of occupancy or a temporary certificate of occupancy for such a 954 

facility earlier than 15 calendar days before the first day of 955 

school. 956 

 14.  The qualifications to be required of the teachers and 957 

the potential strategies used to recruit, hire, train, and 958 

retain qualified staff to achieve best value. 959 

 15.  The governance structure of the school, including the 960 

status of the charter school as a public or private employer as 961 

required in paragraph (12)(i). 962 

 16.  A timetable for implementing the charter which 963 

addresses the implementation of each element thereof and the 964 

date by which the charter shall be awarded in order to meet this 965 

timetable. 966 

 17.  In the case of an existing public school that is being 967 

converted to charter status, alternative arrangements for 968 

current students who choose not to attend the charter school and 969 

for current teachers who choose not to teach in the charter 970 

school after conversion in accordance with the existing 971 

collective bargaining agreement or district school board rule in 972 

the absence of a collective bargaining agreement. However, 973 

alternative arrangements shall not be required for current 974 

teachers who choose not to teach in a charter lab school, except 975 

   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 40 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

as authorized by the employment policies of the state university 976 

which grants the charter to the lab school. 977 

 18.  Full disclosure of the identity of all relatives 978 

employed by the charter school who are related to the charter 979 

school owner, president, chairperson of the governing board of 980 

directors, superintendent, governing board member, principal, 981 

assistant principal, or any other person employed by the charter 982 

school who has equivalent decisionmaking authority. For the 983 

purpose of this subparagraph, the term "relative" means father, 984 

mother, son, daughter, brother, sister, uncle, aunt, first 985 

cousin, nephew, niece, husband, wife, father-in-law, mother-in-986 

law, son-in-law, daughter-in-law, brother-in-law, sister-in-law, 987 

stepfather, stepmother, stepson, stepdaughter, stepbrother, 988 

stepsister, half brother, or half sister. 989 

 19.  Implementation of the activities authorized under s. 990 

1002.331 by the charter school when it satisfies the eligibility 991 

requirements for a high-performing charter school. A high-992 

performing charter school shall notify its sponsor in writing by 993 

March 1 if it intends to increase enrollment or expand grade 994 

levels the following school year. The written notice shall 995 

specify the amount of the enrollment increase and the grade 996 

levels that will be added, as applicable. 997 

 (d)   A charter may be modified during its initial term or 998 

any renewal term upon the recommendation of the sponsor or the 999 

charter school's governing board and the approval of both 1000 



   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 41 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

parties to the agreement. Modification during any term may 1001 

include, but is not limited to, consolidation of multiple 1002 

charters into a single charter if the charters are operated 1003 

under the same governing board and physically located on the 1004 

same campus, regardless of the renewal cycle. A charter school 1005 

with a grade of "C" or higher that closes as part of a 1006 

consolidation shall be reported by the school district as a 1007 

consolidation. 1008 

 (e)  A charter may be terminated by a charter school's 1009 

governing board through voluntary closure. The decision to cease 1010 

operations must be determined at a public meeting. The governing 1011 

board shall notify the parents and sponsor of the public meeting 1012 

in writing before the public meeting. The governing board must 1013 

notify the sponsor, parents of enrolled students, and the 1014 

department in writing within 24 hours after the public meeting 1015 

of its determination. The notice shall state the charter 1016 

school's intent to continue operations or the reason for the 1017 

closure and acknowledge that the governing board agrees to 1018 

follow the procedures for dissolution and reversion of public 1019 

funds pursuant to paragraphs (8)(d)-(f) and (9)(o) paragraphs 1020 

(8)(e)-(g) and (9)(o). 1021 

 (8)  CAUSES FOR NONRENEWAL OR TERMINATION OF CHARTER.— 1022 

 (a)  The sponsor shall make student academic achievement 1023 

for all students the most important factor when determining 1024 

whether to renew or terminate the charter. The sponsor may also 1025 

   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 42 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

choose not to renew or may terminate the charter if the sponsor 1026 

finds that one of the grounds set forth below exists by clear 1027 

and convincing evidence for any of the following grounds: 1028 

 1.  Failure to participate in the state's education 1029 

accountability system created in s. 1008.31, as required in this 1030 

section, or failure to meet the requirements for student 1031 

performance stated in the charter. 1032 

 2.  Failure to meet generally accepted standards of fiscal 1033 

management. 1034 

 3.  Material violation of law. 1035 

 4.  Other good cause shown. 1036 

 (b)  At least 90 days before renewing, nonrenewing, or 1037 

terminating a charter, the sponsor shall notify the governing 1038 

board of the school of the proposed action in writing. The 1039 

notice shall state in reasonable detail the grounds for the 1040 

proposed action and stipulate that the school's governing board 1041 

may, within 14 calendar days after receiving the notice, request 1042 

a hearing. The hearing shall be conducted at the sponsor's 1043 

election in accordance with one of the following procedures: 1044 

 1.  A direct hearing conducted by the sponsor within 60 1045 

days after receipt of the request for a hearing. The hearing 1046 

shall be conducted in accordance with ss. 120.569 and 120.57. 1047 

The sponsor shall decide upon nonrenewal or termination by a 1048 

majority vote. The sponsor's decision shall be a final order; or 1049 

 2.  A hearing conducted by an administrative law judge 1050 



   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 43 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

assigned by the Division of Administrative Hearings. The hearing 1051 

shall be conducted within 90 60 days after receipt of the 1052 

request for a hearing and in accordance with chapter 120. The 1053 

administrative law judge's final recommended order shall be 1054 

submitted to the sponsor. The administrative law judge shall 1055 

award the prevailing party reasonable attorney fees and costs 1056 

incurred during the administrative proceeding and any appeals A 1057 

majority vote by the sponsor shall be required to adopt or 1058 

modify the administrative law judge's recommended order. The 1059 

sponsor shall issue a final order. 1060 

 (c) The final order shall state the specific reasons for 1061 

the sponsor's decision. The sponsor shall provide its final 1062 

order to the charter school's governing board and the Department 1063 

of Education no later than 10 calendar days after its issuance. 1064 

The charter school's governing board may, within 30 calendar 1065 

days after receiving the sponsor's final order, appeal the 1066 

decision pursuant to s. 120.68. 1067 

 (9)  CHARTER SCHOOL REQUIREMENTS.— 1068 

 (n)1.  The director and a representative of the governing 1069 

board of a charter school that has earned a grade of "D" or "F" 1070 

pursuant to s. 1008.34 shall appear before the sponsor to 1071 

present information concerning each contract component having 1072 

noted deficiencies. The director and a representative of the 1073 

governing board shall submit to the sponsor for approval a 1074 

school improvement plan to raise student performance. Upon 1075 

   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 44 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

approval by the sponsor, the charter school shall begin 1076 

implementation of the school improvement plan. The department 1077 

shall offer technical assistance and training to the charter 1078 

school and its governing board and establish guidelines for 1079 

developing, submitting, and approving such plans. 1080 

 2.a.  If a charter school earns three consecutive grades 1081 

below a "C," the charter school governing board shall choose one 1082 

of the following corrective actions: 1083 

 (I)  Contract for educational services to be provided 1084 

directly to students, instructional personnel, and school 1085 

administrators, as prescribed in state board rule; 1086 

 (II)  Contract with an outside entity that has a 1087 

demonstrated record of effectiveness to operate the school; 1088 

 (III)  Reorganize the school under a new director or 1089 

principal who is authorized to hire new staff; or 1090 

 (IV)  Voluntarily close the charter school. 1091 

 b.  The charter school must implement the corrective action 1092 

in the school year following receipt of a third consecutive 1093 

grade below a "C." 1094 

 c.  The sponsor may annually waive a corrective action if 1095 

it determines that the charter school is likely to improve a 1096 

letter grade if additional time is provided to implement the 1097 

intervention and support strategies prescribed by the school 1098 

improvement plan. Notwithstanding this sub-subparagraph, a 1099 

charter school that earns a second consecutive grade of "F" is 1100 



   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 45 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

subject to subparagraph 3. 1101 

 d.  A charter school is no longer required to implement a 1102 

corrective action if it improves to a "C" or higher. However, 1103 

the charter school must continue to implement strategies 1104 

identified in the school improvement plan. The sponsor must 1105 

annually review implementation of the school improvement plan to 1106 

monitor the school's continued improvement pursuant to 1107 

subparagraph 4. 1108 

 e.  A charter school implementing a corrective action that 1109 

does not improve to a "C" or higher after 2 full school years of 1110 

implementing the corrective action must select a different 1111 

corrective action. Implementation of the new corrective action 1112 

must begin in the school year following the implementation 1113 

period of the existing corrective action, unless the sponsor 1114 

determines that the charter school is likely to improve to a "C" 1115 

or higher if additional time is provided to implement the 1116 

existing corrective action. Notwithstanding this sub-1117 

subparagraph, a charter school that earns a second consecutive 1118 

grade of "F" while implementing a corrective action is subject 1119 

to subparagraph 3. 1120 

 3.  A charter school's charter contract is automatically 1121 

terminated if the school earns two consecutive grades of "F" 1122 

after all school grade appeals are final unless: 1123 

 a.  The charter school is established to turn around the 1124 

performance of a district public school pursuant to s. 1125 

   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 46 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

1008.33(4)(b)2. Such charter schools shall be governed by s. 1126 

1008.33; 1127 

 b.  The charter school serves a student population the 1128 

majority of which resides in a school zone served by a district 1129 

public school subject to s. 1008.33(4) and the charter school 1130 

earns at least a grade of "D" in its third year of operation. 1131 

The exception provided under this sub-subparagraph does not 1132 

apply to a charter school in its fourth year of operation and 1133 

thereafter; or 1134 

 c.  The state board grants the charter school a waiver of 1135 

termination. The charter school must request the waiver within 1136 

15 days after the department's official release of school 1137 

grades. The state board may waive termination if the charter 1138 

school demonstrates that the Learning Gains of its students on 1139 

statewide assessments are comparable to or better than the 1140 

Learning Gains of similarly situated students enrolled in nearby 1141 

district public schools. The waiver is valid for 1 year and may 1142 

only be granted once. Charter schools that have been in 1143 

operation for more than 5 years are not eligible for a waiver 1144 

under this sub-subparagraph. 1145 

 1146 

The sponsor shall notify the charter school's governing board, 1147 

the charter school principal, and the department in writing when 1148 

a charter contract is terminated under this subparagraph. The 1149 

letter of termination must meet the requirements of paragraph 1150 



   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 47 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

(8)(c). A charter terminated under this subparagraph must follow 1151 

the procedures for dissolution and reversion of public funds 1152 

pursuant to paragraphs (8)(d)-(f) and (9)(o) paragraphs (8)(e)-1153 

(g) and (9)(o). 1154 

 4.  The director and a representative of the governing 1155 

board of a graded charter school that has implemented a school 1156 

improvement plan under this paragraph shall appear before the 1157 

sponsor at least once a year to present information regarding 1158 

the progress of intervention and support strategies implemented 1159 

by the school pursuant to the school improvement plan and 1160 

corrective actions, if applicable. The sponsor shall communicate 1161 

at the meeting, and in writing to the director, the services 1162 

provided to the school to help the school address its 1163 

deficiencies. 1164 

 5.  Notwithstanding any provision of this paragraph except 1165 

sub-subparagraphs 3.a.-c., the sponsor may terminate the charter 1166 

at any time pursuant to subsection (8). 1167 

 (20)  SERVICES.— 1168 

 (b)  If goods and services are made available to the 1169 

charter school through the contract with the school district, 1170 

they shall be provided to the charter school at a rate no 1171 

greater than the district's actual cost unless mutually agreed 1172 

upon by the charter school and the sponsor in a contract 1173 

negotiated separately from the charter. When mediation has 1174 

failed to resolve disputes over contracted services or 1175 

   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 48 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

contractual matters not included in the charter, an appeal may 1176 

be made to an administrative law judge appointed by the Division 1177 

of Administrative Hearings. The administrative law judge has 1178 

final order authority to rule on the dispute. The administrative 1179 

law judge shall award the prevailing party reasonable attorney 1180 

fees and costs incurred during the mediation process, 1181 

administrative proceeding, and any appeals, to be paid by the 1182 

party whom the administrative law judge rules against for a 1183 

dispute resolution hearing before the Charter School Appeal 1184 

Commission. To maximize the use of state funds, school districts 1185 

shall allow charter schools to participate in the sponsor's bulk 1186 

purchasing program if applicable. 1187 

 Section 17.  Subsection (1), paragraph (a) of subsection 1188 

(2), and paragraph (b) of subsection (3) of section 1002.331, 1189 

Florida Statutes, are amended to read: 1190 

 1002.331  High-performing charter schools.— 1191 

 (1)  A charter school is a high-performing charter school 1192 

if it: 1193 

 (a)  Received at least two school grades of "A" and no 1194 

school grade below "B," pursuant to s. 1008.34, during each of 1195 

the previous 3 school years or received at least two consecutive 1196 

school grades of "A" in the most recent 2 school years. 1197 

 (b)  Received an unqualified opinion on each annual 1198 

financial audit required under s. 218.39 in the most recent 3 1199 

fiscal years for which such audits are available. 1200 



   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 49 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

 (c)  Did not receive a financial audit that revealed one or 1201 

more of the financial emergency conditions set forth in s. 1202 

218.503(1) in the most recent 3 fiscal years for which such 1203 

audits are available. However, this requirement is deemed met 1204 

for a charter school-in-the-workplace if there is a finding in 1205 

an audit that the school has the monetary resources available to 1206 

cover any reported deficiency or that the deficiency does not 1207 

result in a deteriorating financial condition pursuant to s. 1208 

1002.345(1)(a)3. 1209 

 1210 

For purposes of determining initial eligibility, the 1211 

requirements of paragraphs (b) and (c) only apply for the most 1212 

recent 2 fiscal years if the charter school earns two 1213 

consecutive grades of "A." A virtual charter school established 1214 

under s. 1002.33 is not eligible for designation as a high-1215 

performing charter school. 1216 

 (2)  A high-performing charter school is authorized to: 1217 

 (a)  Increase its student enrollment once per school year 1218 

to more than the capacity identified in the charter, but student 1219 

enrollment may not exceed the current facility capacity of the 1220 

facility at the time of enrollment. Facility capacity for 1221 

purposes of grade level expansion shall include any improvements 1222 

to an existing facility or any new facility in which a majority 1223 

of the students of the high-performing charter school will 1224 

enroll. 1225 

   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 50 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

 1226 

A high-performing charter school shall notify its sponsor in 1227 

writing by March 1 if it intends to increase enrollment or 1228 

expand grade levels the following school year. The written 1229 

notice shall specify the amount of the enrollment increase and 1230 

the grade levels that will be added, as applicable. If a charter 1231 

school notifies the sponsor of its intent to expand, the sponsor 1232 

shall modify the charter within 90 days to include the new 1233 

enrollment maximum and may not make any other changes. The 1234 

sponsor may deny a request to increase the enrollment of a high-1235 

performing charter school if the commissioner has declassified 1236 

the charter school as high-performing. If a high-performing 1237 

charter school requests to consolidate multiple charters, the 1238 

sponsor shall have 40 days after receipt of that request to 1239 

provide an initial draft charter to the charter school. The 1240 

sponsor and charter school shall have 50 days thereafter to 1241 

negotiate and notice the charter contract for final approval by 1242 

the sponsor. 1243 

 (3) 1244 

 (b)  A high-performing charter school may not establish 1245 

more than two one charter schools school within the state under 1246 

paragraph (a) in any year. A subsequent application to establish 1247 

a charter school under paragraph (a) may not be submitted unless 1248 

each charter school established in this manner achieves high-1249 

performing charter school status. However, a high-performing 1250 



   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 51 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

charter school may establish more than one charter school within 1251 

the state under paragraph (a) in any year if it operates in the 1252 

area of a persistently low-performing school and serves students 1253 

from that school. 1254 

 Section 18.  Paragraph (d) is added to subsection (10) of 1255 

section 1002.333, Florida Statutes, to read: 1256 

 1002.333  Persistently low-performing schools.— 1257 

 (10)  SCHOOLS OF HOPE PROGRAM.—The Schools of Hope Program 1258 

is created within the Department of Education. 1259 

 (d)  Notwithstanding s. 216.301 and pursuant to s. 216.351, 1260 

funds allocated for the purpose of this subsection which are not 1261 

disbursed by June 30 of the fiscal year in which the funds are 1262 

allocated may be carried forward for up to 5 years after the 1263 

effective date of the original appropriation. 1264 

 Section 19.  Paragraph (b) of subsection (1) and present 1265 

paragraph (c) of subsection (9) of section 1002.37, Florida 1266 

Statutes, are amended, and a new paragraph (c) is added to 1267 

subsection (9) of that section, to read: 1268 

 1002.37  The Florida Virtual School.— 1269 

 (1) 1270 

 (b)  The mission of the Florida Virtual School is to 1271 

provide students with technology-based educational opportunities 1272 

to gain the knowledge and skills necessary to succeed. The 1273 

school shall serve any student in the state who meets the 1274 

profile for success in this educational delivery context and 1275 

   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 52 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

shall give priority to: 1276 

 1.  Students who need expanded access to courses in order 1277 

to meet their educational goals, such as home education students 1278 

and students in inner-city and rural high schools who do not 1279 

have access to higher-level courses. 1280 

 2.  Students seeking accelerated access in order to obtain 1281 

a high school diploma at least one semester early. 1282 

 3.  Students who are children of an active duty member of 1283 

the United States Armed Forces who is not stationed in this 1284 

state whose home of record or state of legal residence is 1285 

Florida. 1286 

 1287 

The board of trustees of the Florida Virtual School shall 1288 

identify appropriate performance measures and standards based on 1289 

student achievement that reflect the school's statutory mission 1290 

and priorities, and shall implement an accountability system for 1291 

the school that includes assessment of its effectiveness and 1292 

efficiency in providing quality services that encourage high 1293 

student achievement, seamless articulation, and maximum access. 1294 

 (9) 1295 

 (c)  Industry certification examinations, national 1296 

assessments, and statewide assessments offered by the school 1297 

district shall be available to all Florida Virtual School 1298 

students. 1299 

 (d)(c)  Unless an alternative testing site is mutually 1300 



   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 53 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

agreed to by the Florida Virtual School and the school district 1301 

or as contracted under s. 1008.24, all industry certification 1302 

examinations, national assessments, and statewide assessments 1303 

must be taken at the school to which the student would be 1304 

assigned according to district school board attendance areas. A 1305 

school district must provide the student with access to the 1306 

school's testing facilities and the date and time of the 1307 

administration of each examination or assessment. 1308 

 Section 20.  Paragraph (e) of subsection (2), paragraphs 1309 

(d) and (h) of subsection (5), subsection (8), paragraph (c) of 1310 

subsection (9), paragraph (a) of subsection (10), and paragraph 1311 

(a) of subsection (11) of section 1002.385, Florida Statutes, 1312 

are amended, and paragraph (p) is added to subsection (5) of 1313 

that section, to read: 1314 

 1002.385  The Gardiner Scholarship.— 1315 

 (2)  DEFINITIONS.—As used in this section, the term: 1316 

 (e)  "Eligible nonprofit scholarship-funding organization" 1317 

or "organization" means a nonprofit scholarship-funding 1318 

organization that is approved pursuant to s. 1002.395(15) s. 1319 

1002.395(16). 1320 

 (5)  AUTHORIZED USES OF PROGRAM FUNDS.—Program funds must 1321 

be used to meet the individual educational needs of an eligible 1322 

student and may be spent for the following purposes: 1323 

 (d)  Enrollment in, or Tuition or fees associated with 1324 

full-time or part-time enrollment in, a home education program, 1325 

   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 54 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

an eligible private school, an eligible postsecondary 1326 

educational institution or a program offered by the 1327 

postsecondary institution, a private tutoring program authorized 1328 

under s. 1002.43, a virtual program offered by a department-1329 

approved private online provider that meets the provider 1330 

qualifications specified in s. 1002.45(2)(a), the Florida 1331 

Virtual School as a private paying student, or an approved 1332 

online course offered pursuant to s. 1003.499 or s. 1004.0961. 1333 

 (h)  Tuition and fees for part-time tutoring services 1334 

provided by a person who holds a valid Florida educator's 1335 

certificate pursuant to s. 1012.56; a person who holds an 1336 

adjunct teaching certificate pursuant to s. 1012.57; a person 1337 

who has a bachelor's degree or a graduate degree in the subject 1338 

area in which instruction is given; or a person who has 1339 

demonstrated a mastery of subject area knowledge pursuant to s. 1340 

1012.56(5). As used in this paragraph, the term "part-time 1341 

tutoring services" does not qualify as regular school attendance 1342 

as defined in s. 1003.01(13)(e). 1343 

 (p)  Tuition or fees associated with enrollment in a 1344 

nationally or internationally recognized research-based training 1345 

program for a child with a neurological disorder or brain 1346 

damage. 1347 

 1348 

A provider of any services receiving payments pursuant to this 1349 

subsection may not share, refund, or rebate any moneys from the 1350 



   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 55 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

Gardiner Scholarship with the parent or participating student in 1351 

any manner. A parent, student, or provider of any services may 1352 

not bill an insurance company, Medicaid, or any other agency for 1353 

the same services that are paid for using Gardiner Scholarship 1354 

funds. 1355 

 (8)  PRIVATE SCHOOL ELIGIBILITY AND OBLIGATIONS.—An 1356 

eligible private school may be sectarian or nonsectarian and 1357 

shall: 1358 

 (a)  Comply with all requirements for private schools 1359 

participating in state school choice scholarship programs 1360 

pursuant to s. 1002.421. 1361 

 (b)  Provide to the organization, upon request, all 1362 

documentation required for the student's participation, 1363 

including the private school's and student's fee schedules. 1364 

 (c)  Be academically accountable to the parent for meeting 1365 

the educational needs of the student by: 1366 

 1.  At a minimum, annually providing to the parent a 1367 

written explanation of the student's progress. 1368 

 (b)1.2.  Annually administer or make administering or 1369 

making provision for students participating in the program in 1370 

grades 3 through 10 to take one of the nationally norm-1371 

referenced tests identified by the Department of Education or 1372 

the statewide assessments pursuant to s. 1008.22. Students with 1373 

disabilities for whom standardized testing is not appropriate 1374 

are exempt from this requirement. A participating private school 1375 

   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 56 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

shall report a student's scores to the parent. 1376 

 2.3.  Administer Cooperating with the scholarship student 1377 

whose parent chooses to have the student participate in the 1378 

statewide assessments pursuant to s. 1008.22 or, if a private 1379 

school chooses to offer the statewide assessments, administering 1380 

the assessments at the school. 1381 

 a.  A participating private school may choose to offer and 1382 

administer the statewide assessments to all students who attend 1383 

the private school in grades 3 through 10 and must. 1384 

 b.  A participating private school shall submit a request 1385 

in writing to the Department of Education by March 1 of each 1386 

year in order to administer the statewide assessments in the 1387 

subsequent school year. 1388 

 (d)  Employ or contract with teachers who have regular and 1389 

direct contact with each student receiving a scholarship under 1390 

this section at the school's physical location. 1391 

 (e)  Provide a report from an independent certified public 1392 

accountant who performs the agreed-upon procedures developed 1393 

under s. 1002.395(6)(o) if the private school receives more than 1394 

$250,000 in funds from scholarships awarded under this section 1395 

in a state fiscal year. A private school subject to this 1396 

paragraph must annually submit the report by September 15 to the 1397 

organization that awarded the majority of the school's 1398 

scholarship funds. The agreed-upon procedures must be conducted 1399 

in accordance with attestation standards established by the 1400 



   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 57 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

American Institute of Certified Public Accountants. 1401 

 1402 

If a private school fails is unable to meet the requirements of 1403 

this subsection or s. 1002.421 or has consecutive years of 1404 

material exceptions listed in the report required under 1405 

paragraph (e), the commissioner may determine that the private 1406 

school is ineligible to participate in the scholarship program. 1407 

 (9)  DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION OBLIGATIONS.—The department 1408 

shall: 1409 

 (c)  Investigate any written complaint of a violation of 1410 

this section by a parent, a student, a private school, a public 1411 

school or a school district, an organization, a provider, or 1412 

another appropriate party in accordance with the process 1413 

established by s. 1002.421 s. 1002.395(9)(f). 1414 

 (10)  COMMISSIONER OF EDUCATION AUTHORITY AND OBLIGATIONS.— 1415 

 (a)  The Commissioner of Education: 1416 

 1.  May suspend or revoke program participation or use of 1417 

program funds by the student or participation or eligibility of 1418 

an organization, eligible private school, eligible postsecondary 1419 

educational institution, approved provider, or other party for a 1420 

violation of this section. 1421 

 2.  May determine the length of, and conditions for 1422 

lifting, a suspension or revocation specified in this 1423 

subsection. 1424 

 3.  May recover unexpended program funds or withhold 1425 

   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 58 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

payment of an equal amount of program funds to recover program 1426 

funds that were not authorized for use. 1427 

 4.  Shall deny or terminate program participation upon a 1428 

parent's forfeiture of a Gardiner Scholarship pursuant to 1429 

subsection (11). 1430 

 (11)  PARENT AND STUDENT RESPONSIBILITIES FOR PROGRAM 1431 

PARTICIPATION.—A parent who applies for program participation 1432 

under this section is exercising his or her parental option to 1433 

determine the appropriate placement or the services that best 1434 

meet the needs of his or her child. The scholarship award for a 1435 

student is based on a matrix that assigns the student to support 1436 

Level III services. If a parent receives an IEP and a matrix of 1437 

services from the school district pursuant to subsection (7), 1438 

the amount of the payment shall be adjusted as needed, when the 1439 

school district completes the matrix. 1440 

 (a)  To satisfy or maintain program eligibility, including 1441 

eligibility to receive and spend program payments, the parent 1442 

must sign an agreement with the organization and annually submit 1443 

a notarized, sworn compliance statement to the organization to: 1444 

 1.  Affirm that the student is enrolled in a program that 1445 

meets regular school attendance requirements as provided in s. 1446 

1003.01(13)(b)-(d). 1447 

 2.  Affirm that the program funds are used only for 1448 

authorized purposes serving the student's educational needs, as 1449 

described in subsection (5). 1450 



   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 59 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

 3.  Affirm that the parent is responsible for the education 1451 

of his or her student by, as applicable: 1452 

 a.  Requiring the student to take an assessment in 1453 

accordance with paragraph (8)(b) paragraph (8)(c); 1454 

 b.  Providing an annual evaluation in accordance with s. 1455 

1002.41(1)(c); or 1456 

 c.  Requiring the child to take any preassessments and 1457 

postassessments selected by the provider if the child is 4 years 1458 

of age and is enrolled in a program provided by an eligible 1459 

Voluntary Prekindergarten Education Program provider. A student 1460 

with disabilities for whom a preassessment and postassessment is 1461 

not appropriate is exempt from this requirement. A participating 1462 

provider shall report a student's scores to the parent. 1463 

 4.  Affirm that the student remains in good standing with 1464 

the provider or school if those options are selected by the 1465 

parent. 1466 

 1467 

A parent who fails to comply with this subsection forfeits the 1468 

Gardiner Scholarship. 1469 

 Section 21.  Subsections (8) through (14) of section 1470 

1002.39, Florida Statutes, are renumbered as subsections (7) 1471 

through (13), respectively, and paragraph (b) of subsection (2), 1472 

paragraph (h) of subsection (3), and present subsections (6), 1473 

(7), and (8) of that section are amended to read: 1474 

 1002.39  The John M. McKay Scholarships for Students with 1475 

   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 60 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

Disabilities Program.—There is established a program that is 1476 

separate and distinct from the Opportunity Scholarship Program 1477 

and is named the John M. McKay Scholarships for Students with 1478 

Disabilities Program. 1479 

 (2)  JOHN M. MCKAY SCHOLARSHIP ELIGIBILITY.—The parent of a 1480 

student with a disability may request and receive from the state 1481 

a John M. McKay Scholarship for the child to enroll in and 1482 

attend a private school in accordance with this section if: 1483 

 (b)  The parent has obtained acceptance for admission of 1484 

the student to a private school that is eligible for the program 1485 

under subsection (7) subsection (8) and has requested from the 1486 

department a scholarship at least 60 days before the date of the 1487 

first scholarship payment. The request must be communicated 1488 

directly to the department in a manner that creates a written or 1489 

electronic record of the request and the date of receipt of the 1490 

request. The department must notify the district of the parent's 1491 

intent upon receipt of the parent's request. 1492 

 (3)  JOHN M. MCKAY SCHOLARSHIP PROHIBITIONS.—A student is 1493 

not eligible for a John M. McKay Scholarship: 1494 

 (h)  While he or she is not having regular and direct 1495 

contact with his or her private school teachers at the school's 1496 

physical location unless he or she is enrolled in the private 1497 

school's transition-to-work program pursuant to subsection (9) 1498 

subsection (10); or 1499 

 (6)  DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION OBLIGATIONS.—The department 1500 



   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 61 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

shall: 1501 

 (a)  Establish a toll-free hotline that provides parents 1502 

and private schools with information on participation in the 1503 

John M. McKay Scholarships for Students with Disabilities 1504 

Program. 1505 

 (b)  Annually verify the eligibility of private schools 1506 

that meet the requirements of subsection (8). 1507 

 (c)  Establish a process by which individuals may notify 1508 

the department of any violation by a parent, private school, or 1509 

school district of state laws relating to program participation. 1510 

The department shall conduct an inquiry of any written complaint 1511 

of a violation of this section, or make a referral to the 1512 

appropriate agency for an investigation, if the complaint is 1513 

signed by the complainant and is legally sufficient. A complaint 1514 

is legally sufficient if it contains ultimate facts that show 1515 

that a violation of this section or any rule adopted by the 1516 

State Board of Education has occurred. In order to determine 1517 

legal sufficiency, the department may require supporting 1518 

information or documentation from the complainant. A department 1519 

inquiry is not subject to the requirements of chapter 120. 1520 

 (d)  Require an annual, notarized, sworn compliance 1521 

statement by participating private schools certifying compliance 1522 

with state laws and shall retain such records. 1523 

 (e)  cross-check the list of participating scholarship 1524 

students with the public school enrollment lists prior to each 1525 

   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 62 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

scholarship payment to avoid duplication. 1526 

 (f)1.  Conduct random site visits to private schools 1527 

participating in the John M. McKay Scholarships for Students 1528 

with Disabilities Program. The purpose of the site visits is 1529 

solely to verify the information reported by the schools 1530 

concerning the enrollment and attendance of students, the 1531 

credentials of teachers, background screening of teachers, and 1532 

teachers' fingerprinting results, which information is required 1533 

by rules of the State Board of Education, subsection (8), and s. 1534 

1002.421. The Department of Education may not make more than 1535 

three random site visits each year and may not make more than 1536 

one random site visit each year to the same private school. 1537 

 2.  Annually, by December 15, report to the Governor, the 1538 

President of the Senate, and the Speaker of the House of 1539 

Representatives the Department of Education's actions with 1540 

respect to implementing accountability in the scholarship 1541 

program under this section and s. 1002.421, any substantiated 1542 

allegations or violations of law or rule by an eligible private 1543 

school under this program concerning the enrollment and 1544 

attendance of students, the credentials of teachers, background 1545 

screening of teachers, and teachers' fingerprinting results and 1546 

the corrective action taken by the Department of Education. 1547 

 (7)  COMMISSIONER OF EDUCATION AUTHORITY AND OBLIGATIONS.— 1548 

 (a)  The Commissioner of Education: 1549 

 1.  Shall deny, suspend, or revoke a private school's 1550 



   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 63 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

participation in the scholarship program if it is determined 1551 

that the private school has failed to comply with the provisions 1552 

of this section. However, if the noncompliance is correctable 1553 

within a reasonable amount of time and if the health, safety, or 1554 

welfare of the students is not threatened, the commissioner may 1555 

issue a notice of noncompliance which provides the private 1556 

school with a timeframe within which to provide evidence of 1557 

compliance before taking action to suspend or revoke the private 1558 

school's participation in the scholarship program. 1559 

 2.  May deny, suspend, or revoke a private school's 1560 

participation in the scholarship program if the commissioner 1561 

determines that an owner or operator of the private school is 1562 

operating or has operated an educational institution in this 1563 

state or in another state or jurisdiction in a manner contrary 1564 

to the health, safety, or welfare of the public. 1565 

 a.  In making such a determination, the commissioner may 1566 

consider factors that include, but are not limited to, acts or 1567 

omissions by an owner or operator which led to a previous denial 1568 

or revocation of participation in an education scholarship 1569 

program; an owner's or operator's failure to reimburse the 1570 

Department of Education for scholarship funds improperly 1571 

received or retained by a school; imposition of a prior criminal 1572 

sanction related to an owner's or operator's management or 1573 

operation of an educational institution; imposition of a civil 1574 

fine or administrative fine, license revocation or suspension, 1575 

   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 64 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

or program eligibility suspension, termination, or revocation 1576 

related to an owner's or operator's management or operation of 1577 

an educational institution; or other types of criminal 1578 

proceedings in which an owner or operator was found guilty of, 1579 

regardless of adjudication, or entered a plea of nolo contendere 1580 

or guilty to, any offense involving fraud, deceit, dishonesty, 1581 

or moral turpitude. 1582 

 b.  For purposes of this subparagraph, the term "owner or 1583 

operator" includes an owner, operator, superintendent, or 1584 

principal of, or a person who has equivalent decisionmaking 1585 

authority over, a private school participating in the 1586 

scholarship program. 1587 

 (b)  The commissioner's determination is subject to the 1588 

following: 1589 

 1.  If the commissioner intends to deny, suspend, or revoke 1590 

a private school's participation in the scholarship program, the 1591 

department shall notify the private school of such proposed 1592 

action in writing by certified mail and regular mail to the 1593 

private school's address of record with the department. The 1594 

notification shall include the reasons for the proposed action 1595 

and notice of the timelines and procedures set forth in this 1596 

paragraph. 1597 

 2.  The private school that is adversely affected by the 1598 

proposed action shall have 15 days from receipt of the notice of 1599 

proposed action to file with the department's agency clerk a 1600 



   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 65 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

request for a proceeding pursuant to ss. 120.569 and 120.57. If 1601 

the private school is entitled to a hearing under s. 120.57(1), 1602 

the department shall forward the request to the Division of 1603 

Administrative Hearings. 1604 

 3.  Upon receipt of a request referred pursuant to this 1605 

paragraph, the director of the Division of Administrative 1606 

Hearings shall expedite the hearing and assign an administrative 1607 

law judge who shall commence a hearing within 30 days after the 1608 

receipt of the formal written request by the division and enter 1609 

a recommended order within 30 days after the hearing or within 1610 

30 days after receipt of the hearing transcript, whichever is 1611 

later. Each party shall be allowed 10 days in which to submit 1612 

written exceptions to the recommended order. A final order shall 1613 

be entered by the agency within 30 days after the entry of a 1614 

recommended order. The provisions of this subparagraph may be 1615 

waived upon stipulation by all parties. 1616 

 (c)  The commissioner may immediately suspend payment of 1617 

scholarship funds if it is determined that there is probable 1618 

cause to believe that there is: 1619 

 1.  An imminent threat to the health, safety, or welfare of 1620 

the students; or 1621 

 2.  Fraudulent activity on the part of the private school. 1622 

Notwithstanding s. 1002.22, in incidents of alleged fraudulent 1623 

activity pursuant to this section, the Department of Education's 1624 

Office of Inspector General is authorized to release personally 1625 

   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 66 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

identifiable records or reports of students to the following 1626 

persons or organizations: 1627 

 a.  A court of competent jurisdiction in compliance with an 1628 

order of that court or the attorney of record in accordance with 1629 

a lawfully issued subpoena, consistent with the Family 1630 

Educational Rights and Privacy Act, 20 U.S.C. s. 1232g. 1631 

 b.  A person or entity authorized by a court of competent 1632 

jurisdiction in compliance with an order of that court or the 1633 

attorney of record pursuant to a lawfully issued subpoena, 1634 

consistent with the Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act, 1635 

20 U.S.C. s. 1232g. 1636 

 c.  Any person, entity, or authority issuing a subpoena for 1637 

law enforcement purposes when the court or other issuing agency 1638 

has ordered that the existence or the contents of the subpoena 1639 

or the information furnished in response to the subpoena not be 1640 

disclosed, consistent with the Family Educational Rights and 1641 

Privacy Act, 20 U.S.C. s. 1232g, and 34 C.F.R. s. 99.31. 1642 

 1643 

The commissioner's order suspending payment pursuant to this 1644 

paragraph may be appealed pursuant to the same procedures and 1645 

timelines as the notice of proposed action set forth in 1646 

paragraph (b). 1647 

 (7)(8)  PRIVATE SCHOOL ELIGIBILITY AND OBLIGATIONS.—To be 1648 

eligible to participate in the John M. McKay Scholarships for 1649 

Students with Disabilities Program, a private school may be 1650 



   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 67 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

sectarian or nonsectarian and must: 1651 

 (a)  Comply with all requirements for private schools 1652 

participating in state school choice scholarship programs 1653 

pursuant to s. 1002.421. 1654 

 (b)  Provide to the department all documentation required 1655 

for a student's participation, including the private school's 1656 

and student's fee schedules, at least 30 days before any 1657 

quarterly scholarship payment is made for the student pursuant 1658 

to paragraph (10)(e) paragraph (11)(e). A student is not 1659 

eligible to receive a quarterly scholarship payment if the 1660 

private school fails to meet this deadline. 1661 

 (c)  Be academically accountable to the parent for meeting 1662 

the educational needs of the student by: 1663 

 1.  At a minimum, annually providing to the parent a 1664 

written explanation of the student's progress. 1665 

 2.  Cooperating with the scholarship student whose parent 1666 

chooses to participate in the statewide assessments pursuant to 1667 

s. 1008.22. 1668 

 (d)  Maintain in this state a physical location where a 1669 

scholarship student regularly attends classes. 1670 

 1671 

If The inability of a private school fails to meet the 1672 

requirements of this subsection or s. 1002.421, the commissioner 1673 

may determine that the private school is ineligible shall 1674 

constitute a basis for the ineligibility of the private school 1675 

   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 68 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

to participate in the scholarship program as determined by the 1676 

department. 1677 

 Section 22.  Subsections (12) through (16) of section 1678 

1002.395, Florida Statutes, are renumbered as subsections (11) 1679 

through (15), respectively, and paragraph (f) of subsection (2), 1680 

paragraphs (n), (o), and (p) of subsection (6), and present 1681 

subsections (8), (9), and (11) of that section are amended to 1682 

read: 1683 

 1002.395  Florida Tax Credit Scholarship Program.— 1684 

 (2)  DEFINITIONS.—As used in this section, the term: 1685 

 (f)  "Eligible nonprofit scholarship-funding organization" 1686 

means a state university; or an independent college or 1687 

university that is eligible to participate in the William L. 1688 

Boyd, IV, Florida Resident Access Grant Program, located and 1689 

chartered in this state, is not for profit, and is accredited by 1690 

the Commission on Colleges of the Southern Association of 1691 

Colleges and Schools; or is a charitable organization that: 1692 

 1.  Is exempt from federal income tax pursuant to s. 1693 

501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code; 1694 

 2.  Is a Florida entity formed under chapter 605, chapter 1695 

607, or chapter 617 and whose principal office is located in the 1696 

state; and 1697 

 3.  Complies with subsections (6) and (15) subsections (6) 1698 

and (16). 1699 

 (6)  OBLIGATIONS OF ELIGIBLE NONPROFIT SCHOLARSHIP-FUNDING 1700 



   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 69 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

ORGANIZATIONS.—An eligible nonprofit scholarship-funding 1701 

organization: 1702 

 (n)  Must prepare and submit quarterly reports to the 1703 

Department of Education pursuant to paragraph (9)(i) paragraph 1704 

(9)(m). In addition, an eligible nonprofit scholarship-funding 1705 

organization must submit in a timely manner any information 1706 

requested by the Department of Education relating to the 1707 

scholarship program. 1708 

 (o)1.a.  Must participate in the joint development of 1709 

agreed-upon procedures to be performed by an independent 1710 

certified public accountant as required under paragraph (8)(e) 1711 

if the scholarship-funding organization provided more than 1712 

$250,000 in scholarship funds to an eligible private school 1713 

under this section during the 2009-2010 state fiscal year. The 1714 

agreed-upon procedures must uniformly apply to all private 1715 

schools and must determine, at a minimum, whether the private 1716 

school has been verified as eligible by the Department of 1717 

Education under s. 1002.421 paragraph (9)(c); has an adequate 1718 

accounting system, system of financial controls, and process for 1719 

deposit and classification of scholarship funds; and has 1720 

properly expended scholarship funds for education-related 1721 

expenses. During the development of the procedures, the 1722 

participating scholarship-funding organizations shall specify 1723 

guidelines governing the materiality of exceptions that may be 1724 

found during the accountant's performance of the procedures. The 1725 

   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 70 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

procedures and guidelines shall be provided to private schools 1726 

and the Commissioner of Education by March 15, 2011. 1727 

 b.  Must participate in a joint review of the agreed-upon 1728 

procedures and guidelines developed under sub-subparagraph a., 1729 

by February of each biennium 2013 and biennially thereafter, if 1730 

the scholarship-funding organization provided more than $250,000 1731 

in scholarship funds to an eligible private school under this 1732 

chapter section during the state fiscal year preceding the 1733 

biennial review. If the procedures and guidelines are revised, 1734 

the revisions must be provided to private schools and the 1735 

Commissioner of Education by March 15 of the year in which the 1736 

revisions were completed. The revised agreed-upon procedures 1737 

shall take effect the subsequent school year. For the 2018-2019 1738 

school year only, the joint review of the agreed-upon procedures 1739 

must be completed and the revisions submitted to the 1740 

commissioner no later than September 15, 2018. The revised 1741 

procedures are applicable to the 2018-2019 school year, 2013, 1742 

and biennially thereafter. 1743 

 c.  Must monitor the compliance of a private school with  1744 

s. 1002.421(1)(q) paragraph (8)(e) if the scholarship-funding 1745 

organization provided the majority of the scholarship funding to 1746 

the school. For each private school subject to s. 1002.421(1)(q) 1747 

paragraph (8)(e), the appropriate scholarship-funding 1748 

organization shall annually notify the Commissioner of Education 1749 

by October 30, 2011, and annually thereafter of: 1750 



   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 71 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

 (I)  A private school's failure to submit a report required 1751 

under s. 1002.421(1)(q) paragraph (8)(e); or 1752 

 (II)  Any material exceptions set forth in the report 1753 

required under s. 1002.421(1)(q) paragraph (8)(e). 1754 

 2.  Must seek input from the accrediting associations that 1755 

are members of the Florida Association of Academic Nonpublic 1756 

Schools and the Department of Education when jointly developing 1757 

the agreed-upon procedures and guidelines under sub-subparagraph 1758 

1.a. and conducting a review of those procedures and guidelines 1759 

under sub-subparagraph 1.b. 1760 

 (p)  Must maintain the surety bond or letter of credit 1761 

required by subsection (15) subsection (16). The amount of the 1762 

surety bond or letter of credit may be adjusted quarterly to 1763 

equal the actual amount of undisbursed funds based upon 1764 

submission by the organization of a statement from a certified 1765 

public accountant verifying the amount of undisbursed funds. The 1766 

requirements of this paragraph are waived if the cost of 1767 

acquiring a surety bond or letter of credit exceeds the average 1768 

10-year cost of acquiring a surety bond or letter of credit by 1769 

200 percent. The requirements of this paragraph are waived for a 1770 

state university; or an independent college or university which 1771 

is eligible to participate in the William L. Boyd, IV, Florida 1772 

Resident Access Grant Program, located and chartered in this 1773 

state, is not for profit, and is accredited by the Commission on 1774 

Colleges of the Southern Association of Colleges and Schools. 1775 

   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 72 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

 1776 

Information and documentation provided to the Department of 1777 

Education and the Auditor General relating to the identity of a 1778 

taxpayer that provides an eligible contribution under this 1779 

section shall remain confidential at all times in accordance 1780 

with s. 213.053. 1781 

 (8)  PRIVATE SCHOOL ELIGIBILITY AND OBLIGATIONS.—An 1782 

eligible private school may be sectarian or nonsectarian and 1783 

must: 1784 

 (a)  Comply with all requirements for private schools 1785 

participating in state school choice scholarship programs 1786 

pursuant to s. 1002.421. 1787 

 (b)  Provide to the eligible nonprofit scholarship-funding 1788 

organization, upon request, all documentation required for the 1789 

student's participation, including the private school's and 1790 

student's fee schedules. 1791 

 (c)  Be academically accountable to the parent for meeting 1792 

the educational needs of the student by: 1793 

 1.  At a minimum, annually providing to the parent a 1794 

written explanation of the student's progress. 1795 

 (b)1.2.  Annually administer or make administering or 1796 

making provision for students participating in the scholarship 1797 

program in grades 3 through 10 to take one of the nationally 1798 

norm-referenced tests identified by the Department of Education 1799 

or the statewide assessments pursuant to s. 1008.22. Students 1800 



   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 73 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

with disabilities for whom standardized testing is not 1801 

appropriate are exempt from this requirement. A participating 1802 

private school must report a student's scores to the parent. A 1803 

participating private school must annually report by August 15 1804 

the scores of all participating students to a state university 1805 

the Learning System Institute described in paragraph (9)(f) 1806 

paragraph (9)(j). 1807 

 2.  Administer 3.  Cooperating with the scholarship student 1808 

whose parent chooses to have the student participate in the 1809 

statewide assessments pursuant to s. 1008.22 or, if a private 1810 

school chooses to offer the statewide assessments, administering 1811 

the assessments at the school. 1812 

 a.  A participating private school may choose to offer and 1813 

administer the statewide assessments to all students who attend 1814 

the private school in grades 3 through 10 and. 1815 

 b.  A participating private school must submit a request in 1816 

writing to the Department of Education by March 1 of each year 1817 

in order to administer the statewide assessments in the 1818 

subsequent school year. 1819 

 (d)  Employ or contract with teachers who have regular and 1820 

direct contact with each student receiving a scholarship under 1821 

this section at the school's physical location. 1822 

 (e)  Provide a report from an independent certified public 1823 

accountant who performs the agreed-upon procedures developed 1824 

under paragraph (6)(o) if the private school receives more than 1825 

   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 74 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

$250,000 in funds from scholarships awarded under this section 1826 

in a state fiscal year. A private school subject to this 1827 

paragraph must annually submit the report by September 15 to the 1828 

scholarship-funding organization that awarded the majority of 1829 

the school's scholarship funds. The agreed-upon procedures must 1830 

be conducted in accordance with attestation standards 1831 

established by the American Institute of Certified Public 1832 

Accountants. 1833 

 1834 

If a private school fails is unable to meet the requirements of 1835 

this subsection or s. 1002.421 or has consecutive years of 1836 

material exceptions listed in the report required under 1837 

paragraph (e), the commissioner may determine that the private 1838 

school is ineligible to participate in the scholarship program 1839 

as determined by the Department of Education. 1840 

 (9)  DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION OBLIGATIONS.—The Department of 1841 

Education shall: 1842 

 (a)  Annually submit to the department and division, by 1843 

March 15, a list of eligible nonprofit scholarship-funding 1844 

organizations that meet the requirements of paragraph (2)(f). 1845 

 (b)  Annually verify the eligibility of nonprofit 1846 

scholarship-funding organizations that meet the requirements of 1847 

paragraph (2)(f). 1848 

 (c)  Annually verify the eligibility of private schools 1849 

that meet the requirements of subsection (8). 1850 



   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 75 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

 (c)(d)  Annually verify the eligibility of expenditures as 1851 

provided in paragraph (6)(d) using the audit required by 1852 

paragraph (6)(m) and s. 11.45(2)(l) s. 11.45(2)(k). 1853 

 (e)  Establish a toll-free hotline that provides parents 1854 

and private schools with information on participation in the 1855 

scholarship program. 1856 

 (f)  Establish a process by which individuals may notify 1857 

the Department of Education of any violation by a parent, 1858 

private school, or school district of state laws relating to 1859 

program participation. The Department of Education shall conduct 1860 

an inquiry of any written complaint of a violation of this 1861 

section, or make a referral to the appropriate agency for an 1862 

investigation, if the complaint is signed by the complainant and 1863 

is legally sufficient. A complaint is legally sufficient if it 1864 

contains ultimate facts that show that a violation of this 1865 

section or any rule adopted by the State Board of Education has 1866 

occurred. In order to determine legal sufficiency, the 1867 

Department of Education may require supporting information or 1868 

documentation from the complainant. A department inquiry is not 1869 

subject to the requirements of chapter 120. 1870 

 (g)  Require an annual, notarized, sworn compliance 1871 

statement by participating private schools certifying compliance 1872 

with state laws and shall retain such records. 1873 

 (d)(h)  Cross-check the list of participating scholarship 1874 

students with the public school enrollment lists to avoid 1875 

   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 76 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

duplication. 1876 

 (e)(i)  Maintain a list of nationally norm-referenced tests 1877 

identified for purposes of satisfying the testing requirement in 1878 

subparagraph (8)(b)1 subparagraph (8)(c)2. The tests must meet 1879 

industry standards of quality in accordance with State Board of 1880 

Education rule. 1881 

 (f)(j)  Issue a project grant award to a state university 1882 

the Learning System Institute at the Florida State University, 1883 

to which participating private schools must report the scores of 1884 

participating students on the nationally norm-referenced tests 1885 

or the statewide assessments administered by the private school 1886 

in grades 3 through 10. The project term is 2 years, and the 1887 

amount of the project is up to $250,000 $500,000 per year. The 1888 

project grant award must be reissued in 2-year intervals in 1889 

accordance with this paragraph. 1890 

 1.  The state university Learning System Institute must 1891 

annually report to the Department of Education on the student 1892 

performance of participating students: 1893 

 a.  On a statewide basis. The report shall also include, to 1894 

the extent possible, a comparison of scholarship students' 1895 

performance to the statewide student performance of public 1896 

school students with socioeconomic backgrounds similar to those 1897 

of students participating in the scholarship program. To 1898 

minimize costs and reduce time required for the state 1899 

university's Learning System Institute's analysis and 1900 



   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 77 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

evaluation, the Department of Education shall coordinate with 1901 

the state university Learning System Institute to provide data 1902 

to the state university Learning System Institute in order to 1903 

conduct analyses of matched students from public school 1904 

assessment data and calculate control group student performance 1905 

using an agreed-upon methodology with the state university 1906 

Learning System Institute; and 1907 

 b.  On an individual school basis. The annual report must 1908 

include student performance for each participating private 1909 

school in which at least 51 percent of the total enrolled 1910 

students in the private school participated in the Florida Tax 1911 

Credit Scholarship Program in the prior school year. The report 1912 

shall be according to each participating private school, and for 1913 

participating students, in which there are at least 30 1914 

participating students who have scores for tests administered. 1915 

If the state university Learning System Institute determines 1916 

that the 30-participating-student cell size may be reduced 1917 

without disclosing personally identifiable information, as 1918 

described in 34 C.F.R. s. 99.12, of a participating student, the 1919 

state university Learning System Institute may reduce the 1920 

participating-student cell size, but the cell size must not be 1921 

reduced to less than 10 participating students. The department 1922 

shall provide each private school's prior school year's student 1923 

enrollment information to the state university Learning System 1924 

Institute no later than June 15 of each year, or as requested by 1925 

   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 78 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

the state university Learning System Institute. 1926 

 2.  The sharing and reporting of student performance data 1927 

under this paragraph must be in accordance with requirements of 1928 

ss. 1002.22 and 1002.221 and 20 U.S.C. s. 1232g, the Family 1929 

Educational Rights and Privacy Act, and the applicable rules and 1930 

regulations issued pursuant thereto, and shall be for the sole 1931 

purpose of creating the annual report required by subparagraph 1932 

1. All parties must preserve the confidentiality of such 1933 

information as required by law. The annual report must not 1934 

disaggregate data to a level that will identify individual 1935 

participating schools, except as required under sub-subparagraph 1936 

1.b., or disclose the academic level of individual students. 1937 

 3.  The annual report required by subparagraph 1. shall be 1938 

published by the Department of Education on its website. 1939 

 (g)(k)  Notify an eligible nonprofit scholarship-funding 1940 

organization of any of the organization's identified students 1941 

who are receiving educational scholarships pursuant to chapter 1942 

1002. 1943 

 (h)(l)  Notify an eligible nonprofit scholarship-funding 1944 

organization of any of the organization's identified students 1945 

who are receiving tax credit scholarships from other eligible 1946 

nonprofit scholarship-funding organizations. 1947 

 (i)(m)  Require quarterly reports by an eligible nonprofit 1948 

scholarship-funding organization regarding the number of 1949 

students participating in the scholarship program, the private 1950 



   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 79 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

schools at which the students are enrolled, and other 1951 

information deemed necessary by the Department of Education. 1952 

 (n)1.  Conduct site visits to private schools participating 1953 

in the Florida Tax Credit Scholarship Program. The purpose of 1954 

the site visits is solely to verify the information reported by 1955 

the schools concerning the enrollment and attendance of 1956 

students, the credentials of teachers, background screening of 1957 

teachers, and teachers' fingerprinting results. The Department 1958 

of Education may not make more than seven site visits each year; 1959 

however, the department may make additional site visits at any 1960 

time to any school that has received a notice of noncompliance 1961 

or a notice of proposed action within the previous 2 years. 1962 

 2.  Annually, by December 15, report to the Governor, the 1963 

President of the Senate, and the Speaker of the House of 1964 

Representatives the Department of Education's actions with 1965 

respect to implementing accountability in the scholarship 1966 

program under this section and s. 1002.421, any substantiated 1967 

allegations or violations of law or rule by an eligible private 1968 

school under this program concerning the enrollment and 1969 

attendance of students, the credentials of teachers, background 1970 

screening of teachers, and teachers' fingerprinting results and 1971 

the corrective action taken by the Department of Education. 1972 

 (j)(o)  Provide a process to match the direct certification 1973 

list with the scholarship application data submitted by any 1974 

nonprofit scholarship-funding organization eligible to receive 1975 

   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 80 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

the 3-percent administrative allowance under paragraph (6)(j). 1976 

 (p)  Upon the request of a participating private school, 1977 

provide at no cost to the school the statewide assessments 1978 

administered under s. 1008.22 and any related materials for 1979 

administering the assessments. Students at a private school may 1980 

be assessed using the statewide assessments if the addition of 1981 

those students and the school does not cause the state to exceed 1982 

its contractual caps for the number of students tested and the 1983 

number of testing sites. The state shall provide the same 1984 

materials and support to a private school that it provides to a 1985 

public school. A private school that chooses to administer 1986 

statewide assessments under s. 1008.22 shall follow the 1987 

requirements set forth in ss. 1008.22 and 1008.24, rules adopted 1988 

by the State Board of Education to implement those sections, and 1989 

district-level testing policies established by the district 1990 

school board.  1991 

 (11)  COMMISSIONER OF EDUCATION AUTHORITY AND OBLIGATIONS.— 1992 

 (a)1.  The Commissioner of Education shall deny, suspend,  1993 

or revoke a private school's participation in the scholarship 1994 

program if it is determined that the private school has failed 1995 

to comply with the provisions of this section. However, in 1996 

instances in which the noncompliance is correctable within a 1997 

reasonable amount of time and in which the health, safety, or 1998 

welfare of the students is not threatened, the commissioner may 1999 

issue a notice of noncompliance that shall provide the private 2000 



   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 81 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

school with a timeframe within which to provide evidence of 2001 

compliance prior to taking action to suspend or revoke the 2002 

private school's participation in the scholarship program. 2003 

 2.  The Commissioner of Education may deny, suspend, or 2004 

revoke a private school's participation in the scholarship 2005 

program if the commissioner determines that: 2006 

 a.  An owner or operator of a private school has exhibited 2007 

a previous pattern of failure to comply with this section or s. 2008 

1002.421; or 2009 

 b.  An owner or operator of the private school is operating 2010 

or has operated an educational institution in this state or 2011 

another state or jurisdiction in a manner contrary to the 2012 

health, safety, or welfare of the public. 2013 

 2014 

In making the determination under this subparagraph, the 2015 

commissioner may consider factors that include, but are not 2016 

limited to, acts or omissions by an owner or operator that led 2017 

to a previous denial or revocation of participation in an 2018 

education scholarship program; an owner's or operator's failure 2019 

to reimburse the Department of Education or a nonprofit 2020 

scholarship-funding organization for scholarship funds 2021 

improperly received or retained by a school; imposition of a 2022 

prior criminal sanction, civil fine, administrative fine, 2023 

license revocation or suspension, or program eligibility 2024 

suspension, termination, or revocation related to an owner's or 2025 

   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 82 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

operator's management or operation of an educational 2026 

institution; or other types of criminal proceedings in which the 2027 

owner or operator was found guilty of, regardless of 2028 

adjudication, or entered a plea of nolo contendere or guilty to, 2029 

any offense involving fraud, deceit, dishonesty, or moral 2030 

turpitude. 2031 

 (b)  The commissioner's determination is subject to the 2032 

following: 2033 

 1.  If the commissioner intends to deny, suspend, or revoke 2034 

a private school's participation in the scholarship program, the 2035 

Department of Education shall notify the private school of such 2036 

proposed action in writing by certified mail and regular mail to 2037 

the private school's address of record with the Department of 2038 

Education. The notification shall include the reasons for the 2039 

proposed action and notice of the timelines and procedures set 2040 

forth in this paragraph. 2041 

 2.  The private school that is adversely affected by the 2042 

proposed action shall have 15 days from receipt of the notice of 2043 

proposed action to file with the Department of Education's 2044 

agency clerk a request for a proceeding pursuant to ss. 120.569 2045 

and 120.57. If the private school is entitled to a hearing under 2046 

s. 120.57(1), the Department of Education shall forward the 2047 

request to the Division of Administrative Hearings. 2048 

 3.  Upon receipt of a request referred pursuant to this 2049 

paragraph, the director of the Division of Administrative 2050 



   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 83 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

Hearings shall expedite the hearing and assign an administrative 2051 

law judge who shall commence a hearing within 30 days after the 2052 

receipt of the formal written request by the division and enter 2053 

a recommended order within 30 days after the hearing or within 2054 

30 days after receipt of the hearing transcript, whichever is 2055 

later. Each party shall be allowed 10 days in which to submit 2056 

written exceptions to the recommended order. A final order shall 2057 

be entered by the agency within 30 days after the entry of a 2058 

recommended order. The provisions of this subparagraph may be 2059 

waived upon stipulation by all parties. 2060 

 (c)  The commissioner may immediately suspend payment of 2061 

scholarship funds if it is determined that there is probable 2062 

cause to believe that there is: 2063 

 1.  An imminent threat to the health, safety, and welfare 2064 

of the students; 2065 

 2.  A previous pattern of failure to comply with this 2066 

section or s. 1002.421; or 2067 

 3.  Fraudulent activity on the part of the private school. 2068 

Notwithstanding s. 1002.22, in incidents of alleged fraudulent 2069 

activity pursuant to this section, the Department of Education's 2070 

Office of Inspector General is authorized to release personally 2071 

identifiable records or reports of students to the following 2072 

persons or organizations: 2073 

 a.  A court of competent jurisdiction in compliance with an 2074 

order of that court or the attorney of record in accordance with 2075 

   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 84 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

a lawfully issued subpoena, consistent with the Family 2076 

Educational Rights and Privacy Act, 20 U.S.C. s. 1232g. 2077 

 b.  A person or entity authorized by a court of competent 2078 

jurisdiction in compliance with an order of that court or the 2079 

attorney of record pursuant to a lawfully issued subpoena, 2080 

consistent with the Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act, 2081 

20 U.S.C. s. 1232g. 2082 

 c.  Any person, entity, or authority issuing a subpoena for 2083 

law enforcement purposes when the court or other issuing agency 2084 

has ordered that the existence or the contents of the subpoena 2085 

or the information furnished in response to the subpoena not be 2086 

disclosed, consistent with the Family Educational Rights and 2087 

Privacy Act, 20 U.S.C. s. 1232g, and 34 C.F.R. s. 99.31. 2088 

 2089 

The commissioner's order suspending payment pursuant to this 2090 

paragraph may be appealed pursuant to the same procedures and 2091 

timelines as the notice of proposed action set forth in 2092 

paragraph (b). 2093 

 Section 23.  Section 1002.40, Florida Statutes, is created 2094 

to read: 2095 

 1002.40  The Hope Scholarship Program.— 2096 

 (1)  PURPOSE.—The Hope Scholarship Program is established 2097 

to provide the parent of a public school student who was 2098 

subjected to an incident listed in subsection (3) an opportunity 2099 

to transfer the student to another public school or to request a 2100 



   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 85 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

scholarship for the student to enroll in and attend an eligible 2101 

private school. 2102 

 (2)  DEFINITIONS.—As used in this section, the term: 2103 

 (a)  "Dealer" has the same meaning as provided in s. 2104 

212.06. 2105 

 (b)  "Department" means the Department of Education. 2106 

 (c)  "Designated agent" has the same meaning as provided in 2107 

s. 212.06(10).  2108 

 (d)  "Eligible contribution" or "contribution" means a 2109 

monetary contribution from a person purchasing a motor vehicle, 2110 

subject to the restrictions provided in this section, to an 2111 

eligible nonprofit scholarship-funding organization. The person 2112 

making the contribution may not designate a specific student as 2113 

the beneficiary of the contribution. 2114 

 (e)  "Eligible nonprofit scholarship-funding organization" 2115 

or "organization" has the same meaning as provided in s. 2116 

1002.395(2)(f). 2117 

 (f)  "Eligible private school" has the same meaning as 2118 

provided in s. 1002.395(2)(g). 2119 

 (g)  "Motor vehicle" has the same meaning as provided in s. 2120 

320.01(1)(a), but does not include a heavy truck, truck tractor, 2121 

trailer, or motorcycle. 2122 

 (h)  "Parent" means a resident of this state who is a 2123 

parent, as defined in s. 1000.21, and whose student was 2124 

subjected to an incident listed in subsection (3). 2125 

   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 86 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

 (i)  "Program" means the Hope Scholarship Program. 2126 

 (j)  "School" means any educational program or activity 2127 

conducted by a public K-12 educational institution, any school-2128 

related or school-sponsored program or activity, and riding on a 2129 

school bus, as defined in s. 1006.25(1), including waiting at a 2130 

school bus stop. 2131 

 (k)  "Unweighted FTE funding amount" means the statewide 2132 

average total funds per unweighted full-time equivalent funding 2133 

amount that is incorporated by reference in the General 2134 

Appropriations Act, or by a subsequent special appropriations 2135 

act, for the applicable state fiscal year. 2136 

 (3)  PROGRAM ELIGIBILITY.—Beginning with the 2018-2019 2137 

school year, contingent upon available funds, and on a first-2138 

come, first-served basis, a student enrolled in a Florida public 2139 

school in kindergarten through grade 12 is eligible for a 2140 

scholarship under this program if the student has been subjected 2141 

to an incident of battery; harassment; hazing; bullying; 2142 

kidnapping; physical attack; robbery; sexual offenses, 2143 

harassment, assault, or battery; threat or intimidation; or 2144 

fighting at school. 2145 

 (4)  PROGRAM PROHIBITIONS.—Payment of a scholarship to a 2146 

student enrolled in a private school may not be made if a 2147 

student is: 2148 

 (a)  Enrolled in a public school, including, but not 2149 

limited to, the Florida School for the Deaf and the Blind; the 2150 



   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 87 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

College-Preparatory Boarding Academy; a developmental research 2151 

school authorized under s. 1002.32; or a charter school 2152 

authorized under s. 1002.33, s. 1002.331, or s. 1002.332;  2153 

 (b)  Enrolled in a school operating for the purpose of 2154 

providing educational services to youth in the Department of 2155 

Juvenile Justice commitment programs; 2156 

 (c)  Participating in a virtual school, correspondence 2157 

school, or distance learning program that receives state funding 2158 

pursuant to the student's participation unless the participation 2159 

is limited to no more than two courses per school year; or 2160 

 (d)  Receiving any other educational scholarship pursuant 2161 

to this chapter. 2162 

 (5)  TERM OF HOPE SCHOLARSHIP.-For purposes of continuity 2163 

of educational choice, a Hope scholarship shall remain in force 2164 

until the student returns to public school or graduates from 2165 

high school, whichever occurs first. A scholarship student who 2166 

enrolls in a public school or public school program is 2167 

considered to have returned to a public school for the purpose 2168 

of determining the end of the scholarship's term. 2169 

 (6)  SCHOOL DISTRICT OBLIGATIONS; PARENTAL OPTIONS.— 2170 

 (a)  Upon receipt of a report of an incident listed in 2171 

subsection (3), the school principal shall provide a copy of the 2172 

report to the parent and investigate the incident to determine 2173 

if the incident must be reported as required by s. 1006.09(6). 2174 

Upon conclusion of the investigation or within 15 days after the 2175 

   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 88 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

incident was reported, whichever occurs first, the school 2176 

district shall notify the parent of the program and offer the 2177 

parent an opportunity to enroll his or her student in another 2178 

public school or to request and receive a scholarship to attend 2179 

an eligible private school, subject to available funding. A 2180 

parent who chooses to enroll his or her student in a public 2181 

school located outside the district in which the student resides 2182 

pursuant to s. 1002.31 shall be eligible for a scholarship to 2183 

transport the student as provided in paragraph (11)(b). 2184 

 (b)  For each student participating in the program in an 2185 

eligible private school who chooses to participate in the 2186 

statewide assessments under s. 1008.22 or the Florida Alternate 2187 

Assessment, the school district in which the student resides 2188 

must notify the student and his or her parent about the 2189 

locations and times to take all statewide assessments. 2190 

 (7)  PRIVATE SCHOOL ELIGIBILITY AND OBLIGATIONS.—An 2191 

eligible private school may be sectarian or nonsectarian and 2192 

shall: 2193 

 (a)  Comply with all requirements for private schools 2194 

participating in state school choice scholarship programs 2195 

pursuant to this section and s. 1002.421. 2196 

 (b)1.  Annually administer or make provision for students 2197 

participating in the program in grades 3 through 10 to take one 2198 

of the nationally norm-referenced tests identified by the 2199 

department or the statewide assessments pursuant to s. 1008.22. 2200 



   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 89 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

Students with disabilities for whom standardized testing is not 2201 

appropriate are exempt from this requirement. A participating 2202 

private school shall report a student's scores to his or her 2203 

parent. 2204 

 2.  Administer the statewide assessments pursuant to s. 2205 

1008.22 if a private school chooses to offer the statewide 2206 

assessments. A participating private school may choose to offer 2207 

and administer the statewide assessments to all students who 2208 

attend the private school in grades 3 through 10 and must submit 2209 

a request in writing to the department by March 1 of each year 2210 

in order to administer the statewide assessments in the 2211 

subsequent school year. 2212 

  2213 

If a private school fails to meet the requirements of this 2214 

subsection or s. 1002.421, the commissioner may determine that 2215 

the private school is ineligible to participate in the program. 2216 

 (8)  DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION OBLIGATIONS.—The department 2217 

shall: 2218 

 (a)  Cross-check the list of participating scholarship 2219 

students with the public school enrollment lists to avoid 2220 

duplication.   2221 

 (b)  Maintain a list of nationally norm-referenced tests 2222 

identified for purposes of satisfying the testing requirement in 2223 

paragraph (9)(f). The tests must meet industry standards of 2224 

quality in accordance with State Board of Education rule. 2225 

   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 90 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

 (c)  Require quarterly reports by an eligible nonprofit 2226 

scholarship-funding organization regarding the number of 2227 

students participating in the program, the private schools in 2228 

which the students are enrolled, and other information deemed 2229 

necessary by the department. 2230 

 (d)  Contract with an independent entity to provide an 2231 

annual evaluation of the program by: 2232 

 1.  Reviewing the school climate and code of student 2233 

conduct of each public school from which 10 or more students 2234 

transferred to another public school or private school using the 2235 

Hope scholarship to determine areas in the school or school 2236 

district procedures involving reporting, investigating, and 2237 

communicating a parent's and student's rights that are in need 2238 

of improvement. At a minimum, the review must include:  2239 

 a.  An assessment of the investigation time and quality of 2240 

the response of the school and the school district. 2241 

 b.  An assessment of the effectiveness of communication 2242 

procedures with the students involved in an incident, the 2243 

students' parents, and the school and school district personnel. 2244 

 c.  An analysis of school incident and discipline data. 2245 

 d.  The challenges and obstacles relating to implementing 2246 

recommendations from the review.  2247 

 2.  Reviewing the school climate and code of student 2248 

conduct of each public school to which a student transferred if 2249 

the student was from a school identified in subparagraph 1. in 2250 



   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 91 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

order to identify best practices and make recommendations to a 2251 

public school at which the incidents occurred.  2252 

 3.  Reviewing the performance of participating students 2253 

enrolled in a private school in which at least 51 percent of the 2254 

total enrolled students in the prior school year participated in 2255 

the program and in which there are at least 10 participating 2256 

students who have scores for tests administered. 2257 

 4.  Surveying the parents of participating students to 2258 

determine academic, safety, and school climate satisfaction and 2259 

to identify any challenges to or obstacles in addressing the 2260 

incident or relating to the use of the scholarship. 2261 

 (9)  PARENT AND STUDENT RESPONSIBILITIES FOR PROGRAM 2262 

PARTICIPATION.—A parent who applies for a Hope scholarship is 2263 

exercising his or her parental option to place his or her 2264 

student in an eligible private school. 2265 

 (a)  The parent must select an eligible private school and 2266 

apply for the admission of his or her student. 2267 

 (b)  The parent must inform the student's school district 2268 

when the parent withdraws his or her student to attend an 2269 

eligible private school.  2270 

 (c)  Any student participating in the program must remain 2271 

in attendance throughout the school year unless excused by the 2272 

school for illness or other good cause. 2273 

 (d)  Each parent and each student has an obligation to the 2274 

private school to comply with such school's published policies. 2275 

   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 92 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

 (e)  Upon reasonable notice to the department and the 2276 

school district, the parent may remove the student from the 2277 

private school and place the student in a public school in 2278 

accordance with this section. 2279 

 (f)  The parent must ensure that the student participating 2280 

in the program takes the norm-referenced assessment offered by 2281 

the private school. The parent may also choose to have the 2282 

student participate in the statewide assessments pursuant to s. 2283 

1008.22. If the parent requests that the student take the 2284 

statewide assessments pursuant to s. 1008.22 and the private 2285 

school has not chosen to offer and administer the statewide 2286 

assessments, the parent is responsible for transporting the 2287 

student to the assessment site designated by the school 2288 

district. 2289 

 (g)  Upon receipt of a scholarship warrant, the parent to 2290 

whom the warrant is made must restrictively endorse the warrant 2291 

to the private school for deposit into the account of such 2292 

school. If payment is made by funds transfer in accordance with 2293 

paragraph (11)(d), the parent must approve each payment before 2294 

the scholarship funds may be deposited. The parent may not 2295 

designate any entity or individual associated with the 2296 

participating private school as the parent's attorney in fact to 2297 

endorse a scholarship warrant or approve a funds transfer. A 2298 

parent who fails to comply with this paragraph forfeits the 2299 

scholarship. 2300 



   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 93 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

 (10)  OBLIGATIONS OF ELIGIBLE NONPROFIT SCHOLARSHIP-FUNDING 2301 

ORGANIZATIONS.—An eligible nonprofit scholarship-funding 2302 

organization may establish scholarships for eligible students 2303 

by: 2304 

 (a)  Receiving applications and determining student 2305 

eligibility in accordance with the requirements of this section. 2306 

 (b)  Notifying parents of their receipt of a scholarship on 2307 

a first-come, first-served basis, based upon available funds. 2308 

 (c)  Establishing a date by which the parent of a 2309 

participating student must confirm continuing participation in 2310 

the program. 2311 

 (d)  Awarding scholarship funds to eligible students, 2312 

giving priority to renewing students from the previous year. 2313 

 (e)  Preparing and submitting quarterly reports to the 2314 

department pursuant to paragraph (8)(c). In addition, an 2315 

eligible nonprofit scholarship-funding organization must submit 2316 

in a timely manner any information requested by the department 2317 

relating to the program. 2318 

 (f)  Notifying the department of any violation of this 2319 

section. 2320 

 (11)  FUNDING AND PAYMENT.— 2321 

 (a)  The maximum amount awarded to a student enrolled in an 2322 

eligible private school shall be determined as a percentage of 2323 

the unweighted FTE funding amount for that state fiscal year and 2324 

thereafter as follows: 2325 

   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 94 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

 1.  Eighty-eight percent for a student enrolled in 2326 

kindergarten through grade 5. 2327 

 2.  Ninety-two percent for a student enrolled in grade 6 2328 

through grade 8. 2329 

 3.  Ninety-six percent for a student enrolled in grade 9 2330 

through grade 12. 2331 

 (b)  The maximum amount awarded to a student enrolled in a 2332 

public school located outside of the district in which the 2333 

student resides shall be $750. 2334 

 (c)  When a student enters the program, the eligible 2335 

nonprofit scholarship-funding organization must receive all 2336 

documentation required for the student's participation, 2337 

including a copy of the report of the incident received pursuant 2338 

to subsection (6) and the private school's and student's fee 2339 

schedules. The initial payment shall be made after verification 2340 

of admission acceptance, and subsequent payments shall be made 2341 

upon verification of continued enrollment and attendance at the 2342 

private school. 2343 

 (d)  Payment of the scholarship by the eligible nonprofit 2344 

scholarship-funding organization may be by individual warrant 2345 

made payable to the student's parent or by funds transfer, 2346 

including, but not limited to, debit cards, electronic payment 2347 

cards, or any other means of payment that the department deems 2348 

to be commercially viable or cost-effective. If payment is made 2349 

by warrant, the warrant must be delivered by the eligible 2350 



   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 95 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

nonprofit scholarship-funding organization to the private school 2351 

of the parent's choice, and the parent shall restrictively 2352 

endorse the warrant to the private school. If payments are made 2353 

by funds transfer, the parent must approve each payment before 2354 

the scholarship funds may be deposited. The parent may not 2355 

designate any entity or individual associated with the 2356 

participating private school as the parent's attorney in fact to 2357 

endorse a scholarship warrant or approve a funds transfer. 2358 

 (e)  An eligible nonprofit scholarship-funding organization 2359 

shall obtain verification from the private school of a student's 2360 

continued attendance at the school for each period covered by a 2361 

scholarship payment. 2362 

 (f)  Payment of the scholarship shall be made by the 2363 

eligible nonprofit scholarship-funding organization no less 2364 

frequently than on a quarterly basis.  2365 

 (g)  An eligible nonprofit scholarship-funding organization 2366 

may use up to 3 percent of eligible contributions received 2367 

during the state fiscal year in which such contributions are 2368 

collected for administrative expenses if the organization has 2369 

operated as an eligible nonprofit scholarship-funding 2370 

organization for at least the preceding 3 fiscal years and did 2371 

not have any findings of material weakness or material 2372 

noncompliance in its most recent audit under s. 1002.395(6)(m). 2373 

Such administrative expenses must be reasonable and necessary 2374 

for the organization's management and distribution of eligible 2375 

   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 96 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

contributions under this section. Funds authorized under this 2376 

paragraph may not be used for lobbying or political activity or 2377 

expenses related to lobbying or political activity. Up to one-2378 

third of the funds authorized for administrative expenses under 2379 

this paragraph may be used for expenses related to the 2380 

recruitment of contributions. An eligible nonprofit scholarship-2381 

funding organization may not charge an application fee. 2382 

 (h)  Moneys received pursuant to this section do not 2383 

constitute taxable income to the qualified student or his or her 2384 

parent. 2385 

 (12)  OBLIGATIONS OF THE AUDITOR GENERAL.— 2386 

 (a)  The Auditor General shall conduct an annual 2387 

operational audit of accounts and records of each organization 2388 

that participates in the program. As part of this audit, the 2389 

Auditor General shall verify, at a minimum, the total number of 2390 

students served and transmit that information to the department. 2391 

The Auditor General shall provide the commissioner with a copy 2392 

of each annual operational audit performed pursuant to this 2393 

paragraph within 10 days after the audit is finalized. 2394 

 (b)  The Auditor General shall notify the department of any 2395 

organization that fails to comply with a request for 2396 

information. 2397 

 (13)  SCHOLARSHIP FUNDING TAX CREDITS— 2398 

 (a)  A tax credit is available under s. 212.1832(1) for use 2399 

by a person that makes an eligible contribution. Each eligible 2400 



   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 97 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

contribution is limited to a single payment of $105 per motor 2401 

vehicle purchased at the time of purchase of a motor vehicle or 2402 

a single payment of $105 per motor vehicle purchased at the time 2403 

of registration of a motor vehicle that was not purchased from a 2404 

dealer. Payments of contributions shall be made to a dealer at 2405 

the time of purchase of a motor vehicle or to a designated agent 2406 

or private tag agent at the time of registration of a motor 2407 

vehicle that was not purchased from a dealer. An eligible 2408 

contribution shall be accompanied by a contribution election 2409 

form provided by the Department of Revenue. The form shall 2410 

include, at a minimum, a brief description of the Hope 2411 

Scholarship Program and a section allowing the consumer to 2412 

designate, from all participating scholarship funding 2413 

organizations, which organization will receive his or her 2414 

donation. For purposes of this subsection, the term "purchase" 2415 

does not include the lease or rental of a motor vehicle. 2416 

 (b)  A dealer, designated agent, or private tag agent 2417 

shall: 2418 

 1.  Provide the purchaser the contribution election form, 2419 

as provided by the Department of Revenue, at the time of 2420 

purchase of a motor vehicle or at the time of registration of a 2421 

motor vehicle that was not purchased from a dealer. 2422 

 2.  Collect eligible contributions. 2423 

 3.  Using a form provided by the Department of Revenue, 2424 

which shall include the dealer's or agent's federal employer 2425 

   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 98 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

identification number, remit to an organization no later than 2426 

the date the return filed pursuant to s. 212.11 is due the total 2427 

amount of contributions made to that organization and collected 2428 

during the preceding reporting period. The dealer or agent shall 2429 

also report this information to the Department of Revenue no 2430 

later than the date the return filed pursuant to s. 212.11 is 2431 

due. 2432 

 4.  Report to the Department of Revenue on each return 2433 

filed pursuant to s. 212.11 the total amount of credits granted 2434 

under s. 212.1832 for the preceding reporting period. 2435 

 (c)  An organization shall report to the Department of 2436 

Revenue, on or before the 20th day of each month, the total 2437 

amount of contributions received pursuant to paragraph (b) in 2438 

the preceding calendar month on a form provided by the 2439 

Department of Revenue. Such report shall include: 2440 

 1.  The federal employer identification number of each 2441 

designated agent, private tag agent, or dealer who remitted 2442 

contributions to the organization during that reporting period. 2443 

 2.  The amount of contributions received from each 2444 

designated agent, private tag agent, or dealer during that 2445 

reporting period. 2446 

 (d)  A person who, with the intent to unlawfully deprive or 2447 

defraud the program of its moneys or the use or benefit thereof, 2448 

fails to remit a contribution collected under this section is 2449 

guilty of theft, punishable as follows: 2450 



   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 99 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

 1.  If the total amount stolen is less than $300, the 2451 

offense is a misdemeanor of the second degree, punishable as 2452 

provided in s. 775.082 or s. 775.083. Upon a second conviction, 2453 

the offender is guilty of a misdemeanor of the first degree, 2454 

punishable as provided in s. 775.082 or s. 775.083. Upon a third 2455 

or subsequent conviction, the offender is guilty of a felony of 2456 

the third degree, punishable as provided in s. 775.082, s. 2457 

775.083, or s. 775.084. 2458 

 2.  If the total amount stolen is $300 or more, but less 2459 

than $20,000, the offense is a felony of the third degree, 2460 

punishable as provided in s. 775.082, s. 775.083, or s. 775.084. 2461 

 3.  If the total amount stolen is $20,000 or more, but less 2462 

than $100,000, the offense is a felony of the second degree, 2463 

punishable as provided in s. 775.082, s. 775.083, or s. 775.084. 2464 

 4.  If the total amount stolen is $100,000 or more, the 2465 

offense is a felony of the first degree, punishable as provided 2466 

in s. 775.082, s. 775.083, or s. 775.084. 2467 

 (e)  A person convicted of an offense under paragraph (d) 2468 

shall be ordered by the sentencing judge to make restitution to 2469 

the organization in the amount that was stolen from the program. 2470 

 (f)  Upon a finding that a dealer failed to remit a 2471 

contribution under subparagraph (b)3. for which the dealer 2472 

claimed a credit pursuant to s. 212.1832(2), the Department of 2473 

Revenue shall notify the dealer of such finding and request 2474 

evidence from the dealer that demonstrates the remittance 2475 

   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 100 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

obligation was met within 30 days after such notice was issued. 2476 

If, within 30 days after such notice was issued, the dealer 2477 

fails to provide evidence to the Department of Revenue that the 2478 

contribution in question was remitted, the Department of Revenue 2479 

may impose a civil fine in an amount equal to twice the amount 2480 

of contributions the dealer failed to remit, which fine shall be 2481 

transferred into the General Revenue Fund. If the fine is not 2482 

paid within 60 days after it is imposed, the Department of 2483 

Revenue may bring a civil action under s. 120.69 to recover such 2484 

fine. 2485 

 (g)  Any dealer, designated agent, private tag agent, or 2486 

organization that fails to timely submit reports to the 2487 

Department of Revenue as required in paragraphs (b) and (c) is 2488 

subject to a penalty of $1,000 for every month, or part thereof, 2489 

the report is not provided, up to a maximum amount of $10,000. 2490 

Such penalty shall be collected by the Department of Revenue and 2491 

shall be transferred into the General Revenue Fund. Such penalty 2492 

must be settled or compromised if it is determined by the 2493 

Department of Revenue that the noncompliance is due to 2494 

reasonable cause and not due to willful negligence, willful 2495 

neglect, or fraud. 2496 

 (14)  LIABILITY.—The state is not liable for the award of 2497 

or any use of awarded funds under this section. 2498 

 (15)  SCOPE OF AUTHORITY.—This section does not expand the 2499 

regulatory authority of this state, its officers, or any school 2500 



   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 101 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

district to impose additional regulation on participating 2501 

private schools beyond those reasonably necessary to enforce 2502 

requirements expressly set forth in this section. 2503 

 (16)  RULES.—The State Board of Education shall adopt rules 2504 

to administer this section, except the Department of Revenue 2505 

shall adopt rules to administer subsection (13). 2506 

 Section 24.  Section 1002.411, Florida Statutes, is created 2507 

to read: 2508 

 1002.411  Reading scholarship accounts.— 2509 

 (1)  READING SCHOLARSHIP ACCOUNTS.—Reading scholarship 2510 

accounts are established to provide educational options for 2511 

students. 2512 

 (2)  ELIGIBILITY.—Contingent upon available funds, and on a 2513 

first-come, first-served basis, each student in grades 3 through 2514 

5 who is enrolled in a Florida public school is eligible for a 2515 

reading scholarship account if the student scored below a Level 2516 

3 on the grade 3 or grade 4 statewide, standardized English 2517 

Language Arts (ELA) assessment in the prior school year. 2518 

 (3)  PARENT AND STUDENT RESPONSIBILITIES FOR 2519 

PARTICIPATION.— 2520 

 (a)  For an eligible student to receive a reading 2521 

scholarship account, the student's parent must: 2522 

 1.  Submit an application to an eligible nonprofit 2523 

scholarship-funding organization by the deadline established by 2524 

such organization; and 2525 

   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 102 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

 2.  Submit eligible expenses to the eligible nonprofit 2526 

scholarship-funding organization for reimbursement of qualifying 2527 

expenditures, which may include: 2528 

 a.  Instructional materials. 2529 

 b.  Curriculum. As used in this sub-subparagraph, the term 2530 

"curriculum" means a complete course of study for a particular 2531 

content area or grade level, including any required supplemental 2532 

materials and associated online instruction. 2533 

 c.  Tuition and fees for part-time tutoring services 2534 

provided by a person who holds a baccalaureate or graduate 2535 

degree in the subject area; a person who holds an adjunct 2536 

teaching certificate pursuant to s. 1012.57; or a person who has 2537 

demonstrated a mastery of subject area knowledge pursuant to s. 2538 

1012.56(5). 2539 

 d.  Fees for summer education programs. 2540 

 e.  Fees for after-school education programs. 2541 

 f.  Specialized services by approved providers or by a 2542 

hospital in this state which are selected by the parent. These 2543 

specialized services may include, but are not limited to: 2544 

 (I)  Applied behavior analysis services as provided in ss. 2545 

627.6686 and 641.31098. 2546 

 (II)  Services provided by speech-language pathologists as 2547 

defined in s. 468.1125. 2548 

 (III)  Occupational therapy services as defined in s. 2549 

468.203. 2550 



   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 103 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

 (IV)  Services provided by physical therapists as defined 2551 

in s. 486.021. 2552 

 (V)  Services provided by listening and spoken language 2553 

specialists and an appropriate acoustical environment for a 2554 

child who is deaf or hard of hearing and who has received an 2555 

implant or assistive hearing device.  2556 

 2557 

A provider of any services receiving payments pursuant to this 2558 

subparagraph may not share any moneys from the reading 2559 

scholarship with, or provide a refund or rebate of any moneys 2560 

from such scholarship to, the parent or participating student in 2561 

any manner. A parent, student, or provider of any services may 2562 

not bill an insurance company, Medicaid, or any other agency for 2563 

the same services that are paid for using reading scholarship 2564 

funds. 2565 

 (b)  The parent is responsible for the payment of all 2566 

eligible expenses in excess of the amount in the account in 2567 

accordance with the terms agreed to between the parent and any 2568 

providers and may not receive any refund or rebate of any 2569 

expenditures made in accordance with paragraph (a). 2570 

 (4)  ADMINISTRATION.—An eligible nonprofit scholarship-2571 

funding organization participating in the Florida Tax Credit 2572 

Scholarship Program established by s. 1002.395 may establish 2573 

reading scholarship accounts for eligible students in accordance 2574 

with the requirements of eligible nonprofit scholarship-funding 2575 

   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 104 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

organizations under this chapter. 2576 

 (5)  DEPARTMENT OBLIGATIONS.—The department shall have the 2577 

same duties imposed by this chapter upon the department 2578 

regarding oversight of scholarship programs administered by an 2579 

eligible nonprofit scholarship-funding organization. 2580 

 (6)  SCHOOL DISTRICT OBLIGATIONS; PARENTAL OPTIONS.—By 2581 

September 30, the school district shall notify the parent of 2582 

each student in grades 3 through 5 who scored below a level 3 on 2583 

the statewide, standardized ELA assessment in the prior school 2584 

year of the process to request and receive a reading 2585 

scholarship, subject to available funds. 2586 

 (7)  ACCOUNT FUNDING AND PAYMENT.— 2587 

 (a)  The maximum amount granted for an eligible student 2588 

shall be provided in the General Appropriations Act. 2589 

 (b)  One hundred percent of the funds appropriated for the 2590 

reading scholarship accounts shall be released to the department 2591 

at the beginning of the first quarter of each fiscal year. 2592 

 (c)  Upon notification from the eligible nonprofit 2593 

scholarship-funding organization that a student has been 2594 

determined eligible for a reading scholarship, the department 2595 

shall release the student's scholarship funds to such 2596 

organization to be deposited into the student's account. 2597 

 (d)  Accrued interest in the student's account is in 2598 

addition to, and not part of, the awarded funds. Account funds 2599 

include both the awarded funds and accrued interest. 2600 



   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 105 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

 (e)  The eligible nonprofit scholarship-funding 2601 

organization may develop a system for payment of scholarship 2602 

funds by funds transfer, including, but not limited to, debit 2603 

cards, electronic payment cards, or any other means of payment 2604 

that the department deems to be commercially viable or cost-2605 

effective. A student's scholarship award may not be reduced for 2606 

debit card or electronic payment fees. Commodities or services 2607 

related to the development of such a system shall be procured by 2608 

competitive solicitation unless they are purchased from a state 2609 

term contract pursuant to s. 287.056.  2610 

 (f)  Payment of the scholarship shall be made by the 2611 

eligible nonprofit scholarship-funding organization no less 2612 

frequently than on a quarterly basis. 2613 

 (g)  In addition to funds appropriated for scholarships and 2614 

subject to a separate, specific legislative appropriation, an 2615 

organization may receive an amount equivalent to not more than 3 2616 

percent of the amount of each scholarship from state funds for 2617 

administrative expenses if the organization has operated as a 2618 

nonprofit entity for at least the preceding 3 fiscal years and 2619 

did not have any findings of material weakness or material 2620 

noncompliance in its most recent audit under s. 1002.395. Such 2621 

administrative expenses must be reasonable and necessary for the 2622 

organization's management and distribution of scholarships under 2623 

this section. Funds authorized under this paragraph may not be 2624 

used for lobbying or political activity or expenses related to 2625 

   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 106 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

lobbying or political activity. An organization may not charge 2626 

an application fee for a scholarship. Administrative expenses 2627 

may not be deducted from funds appropriated for scholarships. 2628 

 (h)  Moneys received pursuant to this section do not 2629 

constitute taxable income to the qualified student or his or her 2630 

parent. 2631 

 (i)  A student's scholarship account must be closed and any 2632 

remaining funds shall revert to the state after: 2633 

 1.  Denial or revocation of scholarship eligibility by the 2634 

commissioner for fraud or abuse, including, but not limited to, 2635 

the student or student's parent accepting any payment, refund, 2636 

or rebate, in any manner, from a provider of any services 2637 

received pursuant to subsection (3); or 2638 

 2.  Three consecutive fiscal years in which an account has 2639 

been inactive. 2640 

 (8)  LIABILITY.—No liability shall arise on the part of the 2641 

state based on the award or use of a reading scholarship 2642 

account. 2643 

 Section 25.  Section 1002.421, Florida Statutes, is amended 2644 

to read: 2645 

 1002.421  Accountability of private schools participating 2646 

in State school choice scholarship program accountability and 2647 

oversight programs.— 2648 

 (1)  PRIVATE SCHOOL ELIGIBILITY AND OBLIGATIONS.—A Florida 2649 

private school participating in the Florida Tax Credit 2650 



   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 107 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

Scholarship Program established pursuant to s. 1002.395 or an 2651 

educational scholarship program established pursuant to this 2652 

chapter must be a Florida private school as defined in s. 2653 

1002.01(2), be registered, and be in compliance comply with all 2654 

requirements of this section in addition to private school 2655 

requirements outlined in s. 1002.42, specific requirements 2656 

identified within respective scholarship program laws, and other 2657 

provisions of Florida law that apply to private schools, and 2658 

must:. 2659 

 (2)  A private school participating in a scholarship 2660 

program must be a Florida private school as defined in s. 2661 

1002.01(2), must be registered in accordance with s. 1002.42, 2662 

and must: 2663 

 (a)  Comply with the antidiscrimination provisions of 42 2664 

U.S.C. s. 2000d. 2665 

 (b)  Notify the department of its intent to participate in 2666 

a scholarship program. 2667 

 (c)  Notify the department of any change in the school's 2668 

name, school director, mailing address, or physical location 2669 

within 15 days after the change. 2670 

 (d)  Provide to the department or scholarship-funding 2671 

organization all documentation required for a student's 2672 

participation, including the private school's and student's 2673 

individual fee schedule, and Complete student enrollment and 2674 

attendance verification requirements, including use of an online 2675 

   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 108 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

attendance verification as required by the department or 2676 

scholarship-funding organization form, prior to scholarship 2677 

payment. 2678 

 (e)  Annually complete and submit to the department a 2679 

notarized scholarship compliance statement certifying that all 2680 

school employees and contracted personnel with direct student 2681 

contact have undergone background screening pursuant to s. 2682 

943.0542 and have met the screening standards of s. 435.04. 2683 

 (f)  Demonstrate fiscal soundness and accountability by: 2684 

 1.  Being in operation for at least 3 school years or 2685 

obtaining a surety bond or letter of credit for the amount equal 2686 

to the scholarship funds for any quarter and filing the surety 2687 

bond or letter of credit with the department. 2688 

 2.  Requiring the parent of each scholarship student to 2689 

personally restrictively endorse the scholarship warrant to the 2690 

school or approve a funds transfer before any funds are 2691 

deposited for a student. The school may not act as attorney in 2692 

fact for the parent of a scholarship student under the authority 2693 

of a power of attorney executed by such parent, or under any 2694 

other authority, to endorse a scholarship warrant or approve a 2695 

funds transfer warrants on behalf of such parent. 2696 

 (g)  Meet applicable state and local health, safety, and 2697 

welfare laws, codes, and rules, including: 2698 

 1.  Firesafety. 2699 

 2.  Building safety. 2700 



   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 109 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

 (h)  Employ or contract with teachers who hold 2701 

baccalaureate or higher degrees, have at least 3 years of 2702 

teaching experience in public or private schools, or have 2703 

special skills, knowledge, or expertise that qualifies them to 2704 

provide instruction in subjects taught. 2705 

 (i)  Maintain a physical location in the state at which 2706 

each student has regular and direct contact with teachers. 2707 

 (j)  Publish on the school's website, or in a written 2708 

format, information for parents regarding the school, including, 2709 

but not limited to, programs, services, and the qualifications 2710 

of classroom teachers. 2711 

 (k)  At a minimum, provide the parent of each scholarship 2712 

student with a written explanation of the student's progress on 2713 

a quarterly basis. 2714 

 (l)  Cooperate with a student whose parent chooses to 2715 

participate in the statewide assessments pursuant to s. 1008.22. 2716 

 (m)(i)  Require each employee and contracted personnel with 2717 

direct student contact, upon employment or engagement to provide 2718 

services, to undergo a state and national background screening, 2719 

pursuant to s. 943.0542, by electronically filing with the 2720 

Department of Law Enforcement a complete set of fingerprints 2721 

taken by an authorized law enforcement agency or an employee of 2722 

the private school, a school district, or a private company who 2723 

is trained to take fingerprints and deny employment to or 2724 

terminate an employee if he or she fails to meet the screening 2725 

   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 110 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

standards under s. 435.04. Results of the screening shall be 2726 

provided to the participating private school. For purposes of 2727 

this paragraph: 2728 

 1.  An "employee or contracted personnel with direct 2729 

student contact" means any employee or contracted personnel who 2730 

has unsupervised access to a scholarship student for whom the 2731 

private school is responsible. 2732 

 2.  The costs of fingerprinting and the background check 2733 

shall not be borne by the state. 2734 

 3.  Continued employment of an employee or contracted 2735 

personnel after notification that he or she has failed the 2736 

background screening under this paragraph shall cause a private 2737 

school to be ineligible for participation in a scholarship 2738 

program. 2739 

 4.  An employee or contracted personnel holding a valid 2740 

Florida teaching certificate who has been fingerprinted pursuant 2741 

to s. 1012.32 is not required to comply with the provisions of 2742 

this paragraph. 2743 

 5.(3)(a)  All fingerprints submitted to the Department of 2744 

Law Enforcement as required by this section shall be retained by 2745 

the Department of Law Enforcement in a manner provided by rule 2746 

and entered in the statewide automated biometric identification 2747 

system authorized by s. 943.05(2)(b). Such fingerprints shall 2748 

thereafter be available for all purposes and uses authorized for 2749 

arrest fingerprints entered in the statewide automated biometric 2750 



   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 111 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

identification system pursuant to s. 943.051. 2751 

 6.(b)  The Department of Law Enforcement shall search all 2752 

arrest fingerprints received under s. 943.051 against the 2753 

fingerprints retained in the statewide automated biometric 2754 

identification system under subparagraph 5 paragraph (a). Any 2755 

arrest record that is identified with the retained fingerprints 2756 

of a person subject to the background screening under this 2757 

section shall be reported to the employing school with which the 2758 

person is affiliated. Each private school participating in a 2759 

scholarship program is required to participate in this search 2760 

process by informing the Department of Law Enforcement of any 2761 

change in the employment or contractual status of its personnel 2762 

whose fingerprints are retained under subparagraph 5 paragraph 2763 

(a). The Department of Law Enforcement shall adopt a rule 2764 

setting the amount of the annual fee to be imposed upon each 2765 

private school for performing these searches and establishing 2766 

the procedures for the retention of private school employee and 2767 

contracted personnel fingerprints and the dissemination of 2768 

search results. The fee may be borne by the private school or 2769 

the person fingerprinted. 2770 

 7.(c)  Employees and contracted personnel whose 2771 

fingerprints are not retained by the Department of Law 2772 

Enforcement under subparagraphs 5. and 6. paragraphs (a) and (b) 2773 

are required to be refingerprinted and must meet state and 2774 

national background screening requirements upon reemployment or 2775 

   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 112 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

reengagement to provide services in order to comply with the 2776 

requirements of this section. 2777 

 8.(d)  Every 5 years following employment or engagement to 2778 

provide services with a private school, employees or contracted 2779 

personnel required to be screened under this section must meet 2780 

screening standards under s. 435.04, at which time the private 2781 

school shall request the Department of Law Enforcement to 2782 

forward the fingerprints to the Federal Bureau of Investigation 2783 

for national processing. If the fingerprints of employees or 2784 

contracted personnel are not retained by the Department of Law 2785 

Enforcement under subparagraph 5. paragraph (a), employees and 2786 

contracted personnel must electronically file a complete set of 2787 

fingerprints with the Department of Law Enforcement. Upon 2788 

submission of fingerprints for this purpose, the private school 2789 

shall request that the Department of Law Enforcement forward the 2790 

fingerprints to the Federal Bureau of Investigation for national 2791 

processing, and the fingerprints shall be retained by the 2792 

Department of Law Enforcement under subparagraph 5 paragraph 2793 

(a). 2794 

 (4)  A private school that accepts scholarship students 2795 

under s. 1002.39 or s. 1002.395 must: 2796 

 (a)  Disqualify instructional personnel and school 2797 

administrators, as defined in s. 1012.01, from employment in any 2798 

position that requires direct contact with students if the 2799 

personnel or administrators are ineligible for such employment 2800 



   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 113 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

under s. 1012.315. 2801 

 (n)(b)  Adopt policies establishing standards of ethical 2802 

conduct for instructional personnel and school administrators. 2803 

The policies must require all instructional personnel and school 2804 

administrators, as defined in s. 1012.01, to complete training 2805 

on the standards; establish the duty of instructional personnel 2806 

and school administrators to report, and procedures for 2807 

reporting, alleged misconduct by other instructional personnel 2808 

and school administrators which affects the health, safety, or 2809 

welfare of a student; and include an explanation of the 2810 

liability protections provided under ss. 39.203 and 768.095. A 2811 

private school, or any of its employees, may not enter into a 2812 

confidentiality agreement regarding terminated or dismissed 2813 

instructional personnel or school administrators, or personnel 2814 

or administrators who resign in lieu of termination, based in 2815 

whole or in part on misconduct that affects the health, safety, 2816 

or welfare of a student, and may not provide the instructional 2817 

personnel or school administrators with employment references or 2818 

discuss the personnel's or administrators' performance with 2819 

prospective employers in another educational setting, without 2820 

disclosing the personnel's or administrators' misconduct. Any 2821 

part of an agreement or contract that has the purpose or effect 2822 

of concealing misconduct by instructional personnel or school 2823 

administrators which affects the health, safety, or welfare of a 2824 

student is void, is contrary to public policy, and may not be 2825 

   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 114 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

enforced. 2826 

 (o)(c)  Before employing instructional personnel or school 2827 

administrators in any position that requires direct contact with 2828 

students, conduct employment history checks of each of the 2829 

personnel's or administrators' previous employers, screen the 2830 

personnel or administrators through use of the educator 2831 

screening tools described in s. 1001.10(5), and document the 2832 

findings. If unable to contact a previous employer, the private 2833 

school must document efforts to contact the employer. 2834 

 (p)  Require each owner or operator of the private school, 2835 

prior to employment or engagement to provide services, to 2836 

undergo level 2 background screening as provided under chapter 2837 

435. For purposes of this paragraph, the term "owner or 2838 

operator" means an owner, operator, superintendent, or principal 2839 

of, or a person with equivalent decisionmaking authority over, a 2840 

private school participating in a scholarship program 2841 

established pursuant to this chapter. The fingerprints for the 2842 

background screening must be electronically submitted to the 2843 

Department of Law Enforcement and may be taken by an authorized 2844 

law enforcement agency or a private company who is trained to 2845 

take fingerprints. However, the complete set of fingerprints of 2846 

an owner or operator may not be taken by the owner or operator. 2847 

The owner or operator shall provide a copy of the results of the 2848 

state and national criminal history check to the Department of 2849 

Education. The cost of the background screening may be borne by 2850 



   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 115 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

the owner or operator. 2851 

 1.  Every 5 years following employment or engagement to 2852 

provide services, each owner or operator must meet level 2 2853 

screening standards as described in s. 435.04, at which time the 2854 

owner or operator shall request the Department of Law 2855 

Enforcement to forward the fingerprints to the Federal Bureau of 2856 

Investigation for level 2 screening. If the fingerprints of an 2857 

owner or operator are not retained by the Department of Law 2858 

Enforcement under subparagraph 2., the owner or operator must 2859 

electronically file a complete set of fingerprints with the 2860 

Department of Law Enforcement. Upon submission of fingerprints 2861 

for this purpose, the owner or operator shall request that the 2862 

Department of Law Enforcement forward the fingerprints to the 2863 

Federal Bureau of Investigation for level 2 screening, and the 2864 

fingerprints shall be retained by the Department of Law 2865 

Enforcement under subparagraph 2. 2866 

 2.  Fingerprints submitted to the Department of Law 2867 

Enforcement as required by this paragraph must be retained by 2868 

the Department of Law Enforcement in a manner approved by rule 2869 

and entered in the statewide automated biometric identification 2870 

system authorized by s. 943.05(2)(b). The fingerprints must 2871 

thereafter be available for all purposes and uses authorized for 2872 

arrest fingerprints entered in the statewide automated biometric 2873 

identification system pursuant to s. 943.051. 2874 

 3.  The Department of Law Enforcement shall search all 2875 

   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 116 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

arrest fingerprints received under s. 943.051 against the 2876 

fingerprints retained in the statewide automated biometric 2877 

identification system under subparagraph 2. Any arrest record 2878 

that is identified with an owner's or operator's fingerprints 2879 

must be reported to the owner or operator, who must report to 2880 

the Department of Education. Any costs associated with the 2881 

search shall be borne by the owner or operator. 2882 

 4.  An owner or operator who fails the level 2 background 2883 

screening is not eligible to participate in a scholarship 2884 

program under this chapter. 2885 

 5.  In addition to the offenses listed in s. 435.04, a 2886 

person required to undergo background screening pursuant to this 2887 

part or authorizing statutes must not have an arrest awaiting 2888 

final disposition for, must not have been found guilty of, or 2889 

entered a plea of nolo contendere to, regardless of 2890 

adjudication, and must not have been adjudicated delinquent for, 2891 

and the record must not have been sealed or expunged for, any of 2892 

the following offenses or any similar offense of another 2893 

jurisdiction: 2894 

 a.  Any authorizing statutes, if the offense was a felony. 2895 

 b.  This chapter, if the offense was a felony. 2896 

 c.  Section 409.920, relating to Medicaid provider fraud. 2897 

 d.  Section 409.9201, relating to Medicaid fraud. 2898 

 e.  Section 741.28, relating to domestic violence. 2899 

 f.  Section 817.034, relating to fraudulent acts through 2900 



   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 117 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

mail, wire, radio, electromagnetic, photoelectronic, or 2901 

photooptical systems. 2902 

 g.  Section 817.234, relating to false and fraudulent 2903 

insurance claims. 2904 

 h.  Section 817.505, relating to patient brokering. 2905 

 i.  Section 817.568, relating to criminal use of personal 2906 

identification information. 2907 

 j.  Section 817.60, relating to obtaining a credit card 2908 

through fraudulent means. 2909 

 k.  Section 817.61, relating to fraudulent use of credit 2910 

cards, if the offense was a felony. 2911 

 l.  Section 831.01, relating to forgery. 2912 

 m.  Section 831.02, relating to uttering forged 2913 

instruments. 2914 

 n.  Section 831.07, relating to forging bank bills, checks, 2915 

drafts, or promissory notes. 2916 

 o.  Section 831.09, relating to uttering forged bank bills, 2917 

checks, drafts, or promissory notes. 2918 

 p.  Section 831.30, relating to fraud in obtaining 2919 

medicinal drugs. 2920 

 q.  Section 831.31, relating to the sale, manufacture, 2921 

delivery, or possession with the intent to sell, manufacture, or 2922 

deliver any counterfeit controlled substance, if the offense was 2923 

a felony. 2924 

 6.  At least 30 calendar days before a transfer of 2925 

   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 118 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

ownership of a private school, the owner or operator shall 2926 

notify the parent of each scholarship student. 2927 

 7.  The owner or operator of a private school that has been 2928 

deemed ineligible to participate in a scholarship program 2929 

pursuant to this chapter may not transfer ownership or 2930 

management authority of the school to a relative in order to 2931 

participate in a scholarship program as the same school or a new 2932 

school. For purposes of this subparagraph, the term "relative" 2933 

means father, mother, son, daughter, grandfather, grandmother, 2934 

brother, sister, uncle, aunt, cousin, nephew, niece, husband, 2935 

wife, father-in-law, mother-in-law, son-in-law, daughter-in-law, 2936 

brother-in-law, sister-in-law, stepfather, stepmother, stepson, 2937 

stepdaughter, stepbrother, stepsister, half-brother, or half-2938 

sister. 2939 

 (q)  Provide a report from an independent certified public 2940 

accountant who performs the agreed-upon procedures developed 2941 

pursuant to s. 1002.395(6)(o) if the private school receives 2942 

more than $250,000 in funds from scholarships awarded under this 2943 

chapter in a state fiscal year. A private school subject to this 2944 

subsection must annually submit the report by September 15 to 2945 

the scholarship-funding organization that awarded the majority 2946 

of the school's scholarship funds. However, a school that 2947 

receives more than $250,000 in scholarship funds only through 2948 

the John M. McKay Scholarship for Students with Disabilities 2949 

Program pursuant to s. 1002.39 must submit the report by 2950 



   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 119 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

September 15 to the department. The agreed-upon procedures must 2951 

be conducted in accordance with attestation standards 2952 

established by the American Institute of Certified Public 2953 

Accountants. 2954 

 2955 

The department shall suspend the payment of funds under ss. 2956 

1002.39 and 1002.395 to a private school that knowingly fails to 2957 

comply with this subsection, and shall prohibit the school from 2958 

enrolling new scholarship students, for 1 fiscal year and until 2959 

the school complies. 2960 

 (5)  If The inability of a private school fails to meet the 2961 

requirements of this subsection or has consecutive years of 2962 

material exceptions listed in the report required under 2963 

paragraph (q), the commissioner may determine that the private 2964 

school is ineligible section shall constitute a basis for the 2965 

ineligibility of the private school to participate in a 2966 

scholarship program as determined by the department. 2967 

 (2)  DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION OBLIGATIONS.— 2968 

 (a)  The Department of Education shall: 2969 

 1.  Annually verify the eligibility of private schools that 2970 

meet the requirements of this section, specific requirements 2971 

identified within respective scholarship program laws, and other 2972 

provisions of state law that apply to private schools. 2973 

 2.  Establish a toll-free hotline that provides parents and 2974 

private schools with information on participation in the 2975 

   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 120 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

scholarship programs. 2976 

 3.  Establish a process by which individuals may notify the 2977 

department of any violation by a parent, private school, or 2978 

school district of state laws relating to program participation. 2979 

If the department has reasonable cause to believe that a 2980 

violation of this section or any rule adopted by the State Board 2981 

of Education has occurred, it shall conduct an inquiry or make a 2982 

referral to the appropriate agency for an investigation. A 2983 

department inquiry is not subject to the requirements of chapter 2984 

120. 2985 

 4.  Require an annual, notarized, sworn compliance 2986 

statement from participating private schools certifying 2987 

compliance with state laws, and retain such records. 2988 

 5.  Coordinate with the entities conducting the health 2989 

inspection for a private school to obtain copies of the 2990 

inspection reports. 2991 

 6.  Conduct site visits to private schools entering a 2992 

scholarship program for the first time. Beginning with the 2019-2993 

2020 school year, a private school is not eligible to receive 2994 

scholarship payments until a satisfactory site visit has been 2995 

conducted and the school is in compliance with all other 2996 

requirements of this section.  2997 

 7.  Coordinate with the State Fire Marshal to obtain access 2998 

to fire inspection reports for private schools. The authority 2999 

conducting the fire safety inspection shall certify to the State 3000 



   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 121 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

Fire Marshal that the annual inspection has been completed and 3001 

that the school is in full compliance. The certification shall 3002 

be made electronically or by such other means as directed by the 3003 

State Fire Marshal. 3004 

 8.  Upon the request of a participating private school 3005 

authorized to administer statewide assessments, provide at no 3006 

cost to the school the statewide assessments administered under 3007 

s. 1008.22 and any related materials for administering the 3008 

assessments. Students at a private school may be assessed using 3009 

the statewide assessments if the addition of those students and 3010 

the school does not cause the state to exceed its contractual 3011 

caps for the number of students tested and the number of testing 3012 

sites. The state shall provide the same materials and support to 3013 

a private school that it provides to a public school. A private 3014 

school that chooses to administer statewide assessments under s. 3015 

1008.22 shall follow the requirements set forth in ss. 1008.22 3016 

and 1008.24, rules adopted by the State Board of Education to 3017 

implement those sections, and district-level testing policies 3018 

established by the district school board. 3019 

 (b)  The department may conduct site visits to any private 3020 

school participating in a scholarship program pursuant to this 3021 

chapter that has received a complaint about a violation of state 3022 

law or state board rule pursuant to subparagraph (a)3. or has 3023 

received a notice of noncompliance or a notice of proposed 3024 

action within the previous 2 years. 3025 

   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 122 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

 (c)  Annually, by December 15, the department shall report 3026 

to the Governor, the President of the Senate, and the Speaker of 3027 

the House of Representatives its actions in implementing 3028 

accountability in the scholarship programs under this section, 3029 

any substantiated allegations or violations of law or rule by an 3030 

eligible private school under this section, and the corrective 3031 

action taken. 3032 

 (3)  COMMISSIONER OF EDUCATION AUTHORITY AND OBLIGATIONS.—3033 

The Commissioner of Education: 3034 

 (a)  Shall deny, suspend, or revoke a private school's 3035 

participation in a scholarship program if it is determined that 3036 

the private school has failed to comply with this section or 3037 

exhibits a previous pattern of failure to comply. However, if 3038 

the noncompliance is correctable within a reasonable amount of 3039 

time, not to exceed 45 days, and if the health, safety, or 3040 

welfare of the students is not threatened, the commissioner may 3041 

issue a notice of noncompliance which provides the private 3042 

school with a timeframe within which to provide evidence of 3043 

compliance before taking action to suspend or revoke the private 3044 

school's participation in the scholarship program. 3045 

 (b)  May deny, suspend, or revoke a private school's 3046 

participation in a scholarship program if the commissioner 3047 

determines that an owner or operator of the private school is 3048 

operating or has operated an educational institution in this 3049 

state or in another state or jurisdiction in a manner contrary 3050 



   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 123 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

to the health, safety, or welfare of the public or if the owner 3051 

or operator has exhibited a previous pattern of failure to 3052 

comply with this section or specific requirements identified 3053 

within respective scholarship program laws. For purposes of this 3054 

subsection, the term "owner or operator" has the same meaning as 3055 

provided in paragraph (1)(p). 3056 

 (c)1.  In making such a determination, may consider factors 3057 

that include, but are not limited to, acts or omissions by an 3058 

owner or operator which led to a previous denial, suspension, or 3059 

revocation of participation in a state or federal education 3060 

scholarship program; an owner's or operator's failure to 3061 

reimburse the department or scholarship-funding organization for 3062 

scholarship funds improperly received or retained by a school; 3063 

the imposition of a prior criminal sanction related to an 3064 

owner's or operator's management or operation of an educational 3065 

institution; the imposition of a civil fine or administrative 3066 

fine, license revocation or suspension, or program eligibility 3067 

suspension, termination, or revocation related to an owner's or 3068 

operator's management or operation of an educational 3069 

institution; or other types of criminal proceedings in which an 3070 

owner or operator was found guilty of, regardless of 3071 

adjudication, or entered a plea of nolo contendere or guilty to, 3072 

any offense involving fraud, deceit, dishonesty, or moral 3073 

turpitude. 3074 

 2.  The commissioner's determination is subject to the 3075 

   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 124 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

following: 3076 

 a.  If the commissioner intends to deny, suspend, or revoke 3077 

a private school's participation in the scholarship program, the 3078 

department shall notify the private school of such proposed 3079 

action in writing by certified mail and regular mail to the 3080 

private school's address of record with the department. The 3081 

notification shall include the reasons for the proposed action 3082 

and notice of the timelines and procedures set forth in this 3083 

paragraph. 3084 

 b.  The private school that is adversely affected by the 3085 

proposed action shall have 15 days after receipt of the notice 3086 

of proposed action to file with the department's agency clerk a 3087 

request for a proceeding pursuant to ss. 120.569 and 120.57. If 3088 

the private school is entitled to a hearing under s. 120.57(1), 3089 

the department shall forward the request to the Division of 3090 

Administrative Hearings. 3091 

 c.  Upon receipt of a request referred pursuant to this 3092 

subparagraph, the director of the Division of Administrative 3093 

Hearings shall expedite the hearing and assign an administrative 3094 

law judge who shall commence a hearing within 30 days after the 3095 

receipt of the formal written request by the division and enter 3096 

a recommended order within 30 days after the hearing or within 3097 

30 days after receipt of the hearing transcript, whichever is 3098 

later. Each party shall be allowed 10 days in which to submit 3099 

written exceptions to the recommended order. A final order shall 3100 



   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 125 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

be entered by the agency within 30 days after the entry of a 3101 

recommended order. The provisions of this sub-subparagraph may 3102 

be waived upon stipulation by all parties. 3103 

 (d)  May immediately suspend payment of scholarship funds 3104 

if it is determined that there is probable cause to believe that 3105 

there is: 3106 

 1.  An imminent threat to the health, safety, or welfare of 3107 

the students; 3108 

 2.  A previous pattern of failure to comply with this 3109 

section; or 3110 

 3.  Fraudulent activity on the part of the private school. 3111 

Notwithstanding s. 1002.22, in incidents of alleged fraudulent 3112 

activity pursuant to this section, the department's Office of 3113 

Inspector General is authorized to release personally 3114 

identifiable records or reports of students to the following 3115 

persons or organizations: 3116 

 a.  A court of competent jurisdiction in compliance with an 3117 

order of that court or the attorney of record in accordance with 3118 

a lawfully issued subpoena, consistent with the Family 3119 

Educational Rights and Privacy Act, 20 U.S.C. s. 1232g. 3120 

 b.  A person or entity authorized by a court of competent 3121 

jurisdiction in compliance with an order of that court or the 3122 

attorney of record pursuant to a lawfully issued subpoena, 3123 

consistent with the Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act, 3124 

20 U.S.C. s. 1232g. 3125 

   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 126 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

 c.  Any person, entity, or authority issuing a subpoena for 3126 

law enforcement purposes when the court or other issuing agency 3127 

has ordered that the existence or the contents of the subpoena 3128 

or the information furnished in response to the subpoena not be 3129 

disclosed, consistent with the Family Educational Rights and 3130 

Privacy Act, 20 U.S.C. s. 1232g, and 34 C.F.R. s. 99.31. 3131 

 3132 

The commissioner's order suspending payment pursuant to this 3133 

paragraph may be appealed pursuant to the same procedures and 3134 

timelines as the notice of proposed action set forth in 3135 

subparagraph (c)2. 3136 

 (4)(6)  The inclusion of eligible private schools within 3137 

options available to Florida public school students does not 3138 

expand the regulatory authority of the state, its officers, or 3139 

any school district to impose any additional regulation of 3140 

private schools beyond those reasonably necessary to enforce 3141 

requirements expressly set forth in this section. 3142 

 (5)(7)  The State Board of Education shall adopt rules 3143 

pursuant to ss. 120.536(1) and 120.54 to administer this 3144 

section, including rules to establish a deadline for private 3145 

school applications for participation and timelines for the 3146 

department to conduct site visits. 3147 

 Section 26.  Subsection (2) of section 1003.42, Florida 3148 

Statutes, is amended to read: 3149 

 1003.42  Required instruction.— 3150 



   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 127 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

 (2)  Members of the instructional staff of the public 3151 

schools, subject to the rules of the State Board of Education 3152 

and the district school board, shall teach efficiently and 3153 

faithfully, using the books and materials required that meet the 3154 

highest standards for professionalism and historical accuracy, 3155 

following the prescribed courses of study, and employing 3156 

approved methods of instruction, the following: 3157 

 (a)  The history and content of the Declaration of 3158 

Independence, including national sovereignty, natural law, self-3159 

evident truth, equality of all persons, limited government, 3160 

popular sovereignty, and inalienable rights of life, liberty, 3161 

and property, and how they form the philosophical foundation of 3162 

our government. 3163 

 (b)  The history, meaning, significance, and effect of the 3164 

provisions of the Constitution of the United States and 3165 

amendments thereto, with emphasis on each of the 10 amendments 3166 

that make up the Bill of Rights and how the constitution 3167 

provides the structure of our government. 3168 

 (c)  The arguments in support of adopting our republican 3169 

form of government, as they are embodied in the most important 3170 

of the Federalist Papers. 3171 

 (d)  Flag education, including proper flag display and flag 3172 

salute. 3173 

 (e)  The elements of civil government, including the 3174 

primary functions of and interrelationships between the Federal 3175 

   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 128 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

Government, the state, and its counties, municipalities, school 3176 

districts, and special districts. 3177 

 (f)  The history of the United States, including the period 3178 

of discovery, early colonies, the War for Independence, the 3179 

Civil War, the expansion of the United States to its present 3180 

boundaries, the world wars, and the civil rights movement to the 3181 

present. American history shall be viewed as factual, not as 3182 

constructed, shall be viewed as knowable, teachable, and 3183 

testable, and shall be defined as the creation of a new nation 3184 

based largely on the universal principles stated in the 3185 

Declaration of Independence. 3186 

 (g)  The history of the Holocaust (1933-1945), the 3187 

systematic, planned annihilation of European Jews and other 3188 

groups by Nazi Germany, a watershed event in the history of 3189 

humanity, to be taught in a manner that leads to an 3190 

investigation of human behavior, an understanding of the 3191 

ramifications of prejudice, racism, and stereotyping, and an 3192 

examination of what it means to be a responsible and respectful 3193 

person, for the purposes of encouraging tolerance of diversity 3194 

in a pluralistic society and for nurturing and protecting 3195 

democratic values and institutions. 3196 

 (h)  The history of African Americans, including the 3197 

history of African peoples before the political conflicts that 3198 

led to the development of slavery, the passage to America, the 3199 

enslavement experience, abolition, and the contributions of 3200 



   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 129 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

African Americans to society. Instructional materials shall 3201 

include the contributions of African Americans to American 3202 

society. 3203 

 (i)  The elementary principles of agriculture. 3204 

 (j)  The true effects of all alcoholic and intoxicating 3205 

liquors and beverages and narcotics upon the human body and 3206 

mind. 3207 

 (k)  Kindness to animals. 3208 

 (l)  The history of the state. 3209 

 (m)  The conservation of natural resources. 3210 

 (n)  Comprehensive health education that addresses concepts 3211 

of community health; consumer health; environmental health; 3212 

family life, including an awareness of the benefits of sexual 3213 

abstinence as the expected standard and the consequences of 3214 

teenage pregnancy; mental and emotional health; injury 3215 

prevention and safety; Internet safety; nutrition; personal 3216 

health; prevention and control of disease; and substance use and 3217 

abuse. The health education curriculum for students in grades 7 3218 

through 12 shall include a teen dating violence and abuse 3219 

component that includes, but is not limited to, the definition 3220 

of dating violence and abuse, the warning signs of dating 3221 

violence and abusive behavior, the characteristics of healthy 3222 

relationships, measures to prevent and stop dating violence and 3223 

abuse, and community resources available to victims of dating 3224 

violence and abuse. 3225 

   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 130 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

 (o)  Such additional materials, subjects, courses, or 3226 

fields in such grades as are prescribed by law or by rules of 3227 

the State Board of Education and the district school board in 3228 

fulfilling the requirements of law. 3229 

 (p)  The study of Hispanic contributions to the United 3230 

States. 3231 

 (q)  The study of women's contributions to the United 3232 

States. 3233 

 (r)  The nature and importance of free enterprise to the 3234 

United States economy. 3235 

 (s)  A character-development program in the elementary 3236 

schools, similar to Character First or Character Counts, which 3237 

is secular in nature. Beginning in school year 2004-2005, the 3238 

character-development program shall be required in kindergarten 3239 

through grade 12. Each district school board shall develop or 3240 

adopt a curriculum for the character-development program that 3241 

shall be submitted to the department for approval. The 3242 

character-development curriculum shall stress the qualities of 3243 

patriotism; responsibility; citizenship; kindness; respect for 3244 

authority, life, liberty, and personal property; honesty; 3245 

charity; self-control; racial, ethnic, and religious tolerance; 3246 

and cooperation. The character-development curriculum for grades 3247 

9 through 12 shall, at a minimum, include instruction on 3248 

developing leadership skills, interpersonal skills, organization 3249 

skills, and research skills; creating a resume; developing and 3250 



   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 131 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

practicing the skills necessary for employment interviews; 3251 

conflict resolution, workplace ethics, and workplace law; 3252 

managing stress and expectations; and developing skills that 3253 

enable students to become more resilient and self-motivated. 3254 

 (t)  In order to encourage patriotism, the sacrifices that 3255 

veterans and Medal of Honor recipients have made in serving our 3256 

country and protecting democratic values worldwide. Such 3257 

instruction must occur on or before Medal of Honor Day, 3258 

Veterans' Day, and Memorial Day. Members of the instructional 3259 

staff are encouraged to use the assistance of local veterans and 3260 

Medal of Honor recipients when practicable. 3261 

 3262 

The State Board of Education is encouraged to adopt standards 3263 

and pursue assessment of the requirements of this subsection. A 3264 

character development program that incorporates the values of 3265 

the recipients of the Congressional Medal of Honor and that is 3266 

offered as part of a social studies, English Language Arts, or 3267 

other schoolwide character building and veteran awareness 3268 

initiative meets the requirements of paragraphs (s) and (t). 3269 

 Section 27.  Section 1003.576, Florida Statutes, is amended 3270 

to read: 3271 

 1003.576  Individual education plans for exceptional 3272 

students.—The Department of Education must develop and have an 3273 

operating electronic IEP system in place for potential statewide 3274 

use no later than July 1, 2007. The statewide system shall be 3275 

   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 132 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

developed collaboratively with school districts and must include 3276 

input from school districts currently developing or operating 3277 

electronic IEP systems. 3278 

 Section 28.  Subsection (6) of section 1006.07, Florida 3279 

Statutes, is amended to read: 3280 

 1006.07  District school board duties relating to student 3281 

discipline and school safety.—The district school board shall 3282 

provide for the proper accounting for all students, for the 3283 

attendance and control of students at school, and for proper 3284 

attention to health, safety, and other matters relating to the 3285 

welfare of students, including: 3286 

 (6)  SAFETY AND SECURITY BEST PRACTICES.—Each school 3287 

district shall Use the Safety and Security Best Practices 3288 

developed by the Office of Program Policy Analysis and 3289 

Government Accountability to conduct a security risk assessment 3290 

at each public school and conduct a self-assessment of the 3291 

school districts' current safety and security practices using a 3292 

format prescribed by the department. Based on these assessment 3293 

self-assessment findings, the district school superintendent 3294 

shall provide recommendations to the district school board which 3295 

identify strategies and activities that the district school 3296 

board should implement in order to improve school safety and 3297 

security. Annually, each district school board must receive such 3298 

findings and the superintendent's recommendations the self-3299 

assessment results at a publicly noticed district school board 3300 



   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 133 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

meeting to provide the public an opportunity to hear the 3301 

district school board members discuss and take action on the 3302 

report findings and recommendations. Each district school 3303 

superintendent shall report such findings the self-assessment 3304 

results and school board action to the commissioner within 30 3305 

days after the district school board meeting. 3306 

 Section 29.  Subsection (13) and paragraph (b) of 3307 

subsection (24) of section 1007.271, Florida Statutes, are 3308 

amended to read: 3309 

 1007.271  Dual enrollment programs.— 3310 

 (13)(a)  The dual enrollment program for a home education 3311 

student, including, but not limited to, students with 3312 

disabilities, consists of the enrollment of an eligible home 3313 

education secondary student in a postsecondary course creditable 3314 

toward an associate degree, a career certificate, or a 3315 

baccalaureate degree. To participate in the dual enrollment 3316 

program, an eligible home education secondary student must: 3317 

 1.  Provide proof of enrollment in a home education program 3318 

pursuant to s. 1002.41. 3319 

 2.  Be responsible for his or her own instructional 3320 

materials and transportation unless provided for in the 3321 

articulation agreement. 3322 

 3.  Sign a home education articulation agreement pursuant 3323 

to paragraph (b). 3324 

 (b)  Each postsecondary institution eligible to participate 3325 

   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 134 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

in the dual enrollment program pursuant to s. 1011.62(1)(i) must 3326 

enter into a home education articulation agreement with each 3327 

home education student seeking enrollment in a dual enrollment 3328 

course and the student's parent. By August 1 of each year, the 3329 

eligible postsecondary institution shall complete and submit the 3330 

home education articulation agreement to the Department of 3331 

Education. The home education articulation agreement must 3332 

include, at a minimum: 3333 

 1.  A delineation of courses and programs available to 3334 

dually enrolled home education students. Courses and programs 3335 

may be added, revised, or deleted at any time by the 3336 

postsecondary institution. 3337 

 2.  The initial and continued eligibility requirements for 3338 

home education student participation, not to exceed those 3339 

required of other dually enrolled students. 3340 

 3.  The student's responsibilities for providing his or her 3341 

own instructional materials and transportation. 3342 

 4.  A copy of the statement on transfer guarantees 3343 

developed by the Department of Education under subsection (15). 3344 

 (24) 3345 

 (b)  Each postsecondary institution eligible to participate 3346 

in the dual enrollment program pursuant to s. 1011.62(1)(i) must 3347 

enter into a private school articulation agreement with each 3348 

eligible private school in its geographic service area seeking 3349 

to offer dual enrollment courses to its students, including, but 3350 



   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 135 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

not limited to, students with disabilities. By August 1 of each 3351 

year, the eligible postsecondary institution shall complete and 3352 

submit the private school articulation agreement to the 3353 

Department of Education. The private school articulation 3354 

agreement must include, at a minimum: 3355 

 1.  A delineation of courses and programs available to the 3356 

private school student. The postsecondary institution may add, 3357 

revise, or delete courses and programs at any time. 3358 

 2.  The initial and continued eligibility requirements for 3359 

private school student participation, not to exceed those 3360 

required of other dual enrollment students. 3361 

 3.  The student's responsibilities for providing his or her 3362 

own instructional materials and transportation. 3363 

 4.  A provision clarifying that the private school will 3364 

award appropriate credit toward high school completion for the 3365 

postsecondary course under the dual enrollment program. 3366 

 5.  A provision expressing that costs associated with 3367 

tuition and fees, including registration, and laboratory fees, 3368 

will not be passed along to the student. 3369 

 6.  A provision stating whether the private school will 3370 

compensate the postsecondary institution for the standard 3371 

tuition rate per credit hour for each dual enrollment course 3372 

taken by its students. 3373 

 Section 30.  Paragraphs (a) and (d) of subsection (3) and 3374 

paragraph (a) of subsection (8) of section 1008.22, Florida 3375 

   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 136 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

Statutes, are amended to read: 3376 

 1008.22  Student assessment program for public schools.— 3377 

 (3)  STATEWIDE, STANDARDIZED ASSESSMENT PROGRAM.—The 3378 

Commissioner of Education shall design and implement a 3379 

statewide, standardized assessment program aligned to the core 3380 

curricular content established in the Next Generation Sunshine 3381 

State Standards. The commissioner also must develop or select 3382 

and implement a common battery of assessment tools that will be 3383 

used in all juvenile justice education programs in the state. 3384 

These tools must accurately measure the core curricular content 3385 

established in the Next Generation Sunshine State Standards. 3386 

Participation in the assessment program is mandatory for all 3387 

school districts and all students attending public schools, 3388 

including adult students seeking a standard high school diploma 3389 

under s. 1003.4282 and students in Department of Juvenile 3390 

Justice education programs, except as otherwise provided by law. 3391 

If a student does not participate in the assessment program, the 3392 

school district must notify the student's parent and provide the 3393 

parent with information regarding the implications of such 3394 

nonparticipation. The statewide, standardized assessment program 3395 

shall be designed and implemented as follows: 3396 

 (a)  Statewide, standardized comprehensive assessments.—The 3397 

statewide, standardized Reading assessment shall be administered 3398 

annually in grades 3 through 10. The statewide, standardized 3399 

Writing assessment shall be administered annually at least once 3400 



   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 137 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

at the elementary, middle, and high school levels. When the 3401 

Reading and Writing assessments are replaced by English Language 3402 

Arts (ELA) assessments, ELA assessments shall be administered to 3403 

students in grades 3 through 10. Retake opportunities for the 3404 

grade 10 Reading assessment or, upon implementation, the grade 3405 

10 ELA assessment must be provided. Students taking the ELA 3406 

assessments shall not take the statewide, standardized 3407 

assessments in Reading or Writing. Reading passages and writing 3408 

prompts for ELA assessments shall incorporate grade-level core 3409 

curricula content from social studies be administered online. 3410 

The statewide, standardized Mathematics assessments shall be 3411 

administered annually in grades 3 through 8. Students taking a 3412 

revised Mathematics assessment shall not take the discontinued 3413 

assessment. The statewide, standardized Science assessment shall 3414 

be administered annually at least once at the elementary and 3415 

middle grades levels. In order to earn a standard high school 3416 

diploma, a student who has not earned a passing score on the 3417 

grade 10 Reading assessment or, upon implementation, the grade 3418 

10 ELA assessment must earn a passing score on the assessment 3419 

retake or earn a concordant score as authorized under subsection 3420 

(9). 3421 

 (d)  Implementation schedule.— 3422 

 1.  The Commissioner of Education shall establish and 3423 

publish on the department's website an implementation schedule 3424 

to transition from the statewide, standardized Reading and 3425 

   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 138 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

Writing assessments to the ELA assessments and to the revised 3426 

Mathematics assessments, including the Algebra I and Geometry 3427 

EOC assessments. The schedule must take into consideration 3428 

funding, sufficient field and baseline data, access to 3429 

assessments, instructional alignment, and school district 3430 

readiness to administer the assessments online. All such 3431 

assessments must be delivered through computer-based testing, 3432 

however, the following assessments must be delivered in a 3433 

computer-based format, as follows: the grade 3 Mathematics 3434 

assessment beginning in the 2016-2017 school year; the grade 4 3435 

ELA assessment, beginning in the 2015-2016 school year; and the 3436 

grade 4 Mathematics assessment, beginning in the 2016-2017 3437 

school year. Notwithstanding the requirements of this 3438 

subparagraph, statewide, standardized ELA and mathematics 3439 

assessments in grades 3 through 6 must be delivered only in a 3440 

paper-based format, beginning with the 2017-2018 school year, 3441 

and all such assessments must be paper-based no later than the 3442 

2018-2019 school year, and statewide, standardized ELA and 3443 

mathematics assessments in grades 7 and 8 must be delivered only 3444 

in a paper-based format no later than the 2019-2020 school year. 3445 

 2.  The Department of Education shall publish minimum and 3446 

recommended technology requirements that include specifications 3447 

for hardware, software, networking, security, and broadband 3448 

capacity to facilitate school district compliance with the 3449 

requirements of this section. 3450 



   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 139 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

 (8)  PUBLICATION OF ASSESSMENTS.—To promote transparency in 3451 

the statewide assessment program, in any procurement for the ELA 3452 

assessment in grades 3 through 10 and the mathematics assessment 3453 

in grades 3 through 8, the Department of Education shall solicit 3454 

cost proposals for publication of the state assessments on its 3455 

website in accordance with this subsection. 3456 

 (a)  The department shall publish each assessment 3457 

administered under paragraph (3)(a) and subparagraph (3)(b)1., 3458 

excluding assessment retakes, at least once on a triennial basis 3459 

pursuant to a schedule determined by the Commissioner of 3460 

Education. Each assessment, when published, must have been 3461 

administered during the most recent school year and be in a 3462 

format that facilitates the sharing of assessment items. 3463 

 Section 31.  Subsection (2) of section 1010.20, Florida 3464 

Statutes, is amended to read: 3465 

 1010.20  Cost accounting and reporting for school 3466 

districts.— 3467 

 (2)  COST REPORTING.— 3468 

 (a)  Each district shall report on a district-aggregate 3469 

basis expenditures for inservice training pursuant to s. 3470 

1011.62(3) and for categorical programs as provided in s. 3471 

1011.62(6). 3472 

 (b)  Each district shall report to the department on a 3473 

school-by-school and on an aggregate district basis expenditures 3474 

for: 3475 

   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 140 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

 1.  Each program funded in s. 1011.62(1)(c). 3476 

 2.  Total operating costs as reported pursuant to s. 3477 

1010.215. 3478 

 3.  Expenditures for classroom instruction pursuant to the 3479 

calculation in s. 1010.215(4)(b)1. and 2. 3480 

 (c)  The department shall: 3481 

 1.  Categorize all public schools and public school 3482 

districts into appropriate groups based primarily on average 3483 

full-time equivalent student enrollment as reported on the most 3484 

recent student membership survey under s. 1011.62 and in state 3485 

board rule to determine groups of peer schools and districts. 3486 

 2.  Annually calculate for each public school, public 3487 

school district, and the entire state the percentage of 3488 

classroom expenditures to total operating expenditures reported 3489 

in subparagraphs (b)2. and 3. The results shall be categorized 3490 

pursuant to this paragraph. 3491 

 3.  Annually calculate for all public schools, public 3492 

school districts, and the state the average percentage of 3493 

classroom expenditures to total operating expenditures reported 3494 

in subparagraphs (b)2. and 3. The results shall be categorized 3495 

pursuant to this paragraph. 3496 

 4.  Develop a web-based fiscal transparency tool that 3497 

identifies public schools and public school districts that 3498 

produce high academic achievement based on the ratio of 3499 

classroom instruction expenditures to total expenditures. The 3500 



   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 141 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

fiscal transparency tool shall combine the data calculated 3501 

pursuant to this paragraph with the student performance 3502 

measurements calculated pursuant to s. 1012.34(7) to determine 3503 

the financial efficiency of each public school and public school 3504 

district. The results shall be displayed in an easy-to-use 3505 

format that enables the user to compare performance among public 3506 

schools and public school districts. 3507 

 (d)(c)  The Commissioner of Education shall present to the 3508 

Legislature, prior to the opening of the regular session each 3509 

year, a district-by-district report of the expenditures reported 3510 

pursuant to paragraphs (a) and (b). The report shall include 3511 

total expenditures, a detailed analysis showing expenditures for 3512 

each program, and such other data as may be useful for 3513 

management of the education system. The Commissioner of 3514 

Education shall also compute cost factors relative to the base 3515 

student allocation for each funded program in s. 1011.62(1)(c). 3516 

 Section 32.  Subsection (2) of section 1010.30, Florida 3517 

Statutes, is amended to read: 3518 

 1010.30  Audits required.— 3519 

 (2)  If an audit contains a significant deficiency or 3520 

material weakness finding, the district school board, the 3521 

Florida College System institution board of trustees, or the 3522 

university board of trustees shall conduct an audit overview 3523 

during a public meeting. The audit overview shall describe the 3524 

corrective action to be taken and a timeline for completion of 3525 

   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 142 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

such action. 3526 

 Section 33.  Paragraph (a) of subsection (3) of section 3527 

1011.01, Florida Statutes, is amended to read: 3528 

 1011.01  Budget system established.— 3529 

 (3)(a)  Each district school board and each Florida College 3530 

System institution board of trustees shall prepare, adopt, and 3531 

submit to the Commissioner of Education an annual operating 3532 

budget. Operating budgets shall be prepared and submitted in 3533 

accordance with the provisions of law, rules of the State Board 3534 

of Education, the General Appropriations Act, and for district 3535 

school boards in accordance with the provisions of s. 200.065 3536 

ss. 200.065 and 1011.64. 3537 

 Section 34.  Subsection (2) of section 1011.03, Florida 3538 

Statutes, is amended to read: 3539 

 1011.03  Public hearings; budget to be submitted to 3540 

Department of Education.— 3541 

 (2)  The advertisement of a district that has been required 3542 

by the Legislature to increase classroom expenditures pursuant 3543 

to s. 1011.64 must include the following statement: 3544 

"This proposed budget reflects an increase in classroom 3545 

expenditures as a percent of total current operating 3546 

expenditures of XX percent over the (previous fiscal year) 3547 

fiscal year. This increase in classroom expenditures is required 3548 

by the Legislature because the district has performed below the 3549 

required performance standard on XX of XX student performance 3550 



   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 143 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

standards for the (previous school year) school year. In order 3551 

to achieve the legislatively required level of classroom 3552 

expenditures as a percentage of total operating expenditures, 3553 

the proposed budget includes an increase in overall classroom 3554 

expenditures of $XX,XXX,XXX above the amount spent for this same 3555 

purpose during the (previous fiscal year) fiscal year. In order 3556 

to achieve improved student academic performance, this proposed 3557 

increase is being budgeted for the following activities: 3558 

...(list activities and amount budgeted)...." 3559 

 Section 35.  Subsection (2) of section 1011.035, Florida 3560 

Statutes, is amended to read: 3561 

 1011.035  School district fiscal budget transparency.— 3562 

 (2)  Each district school board shall post on its website a 3563 

plain language version of each proposed, tentative, and official 3564 

budget which describes each budget item in terms that are easily 3565 

understandable to the public and includes: 3566 

 (a)  Graphical representations, for each public school 3567 

within the district and for the school district, of the 3568 

following: 3569 

 1.  Summary financial efficiency data. 3570 

 2.  Fiscal trend information for the previous 3 years on: 3571 

 a.  The ratio of full-time equivalent students to full-time 3572 

equivalent instructional personnel. 3573 

 b.  The ratio of full-time equivalent students to full-time 3574 

equivalent administrative personnel. 3575 

   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 144 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

 c.  The total operating expenditures per full-time 3576 

equivalent student. 3577 

 d.  The total instructional expenditures per full-time 3578 

equivalent student. 3579 

 e.  The general administrative expenditures as a percentage 3580 

of the total budget. 3581 

 f.  The rate of change in the general fund's ending fund 3582 

balance which is not classified as restricted. 3583 

 (b)  A link to the web-based fiscal transparency tool 3584 

developed by the department pursuant to s. 1010.20 to enable 3585 

taxpayers to evaluate the financial efficiency of the school 3586 

district and compare the financial efficiency of the school 3587 

district with other similarly situated school districts. 3588 

 3589 

This information must be prominently posted on the school 3590 

district's website in a manner that is readily accessible to the 3591 

public. 3592 

 Section 36.  Subsections (1) and (2) of section 1011.051, 3593 

Florida Statutes, are amended to read: 3594 

 1011.051  Guidelines for general funds.—The district school 3595 

board shall maintain a general fund ending fund balance that is 3596 

sufficient to address normal contingencies. 3597 

 (1)  If at any time the portion of the general fund's 3598 

ending fund balance not classified as restricted, committed, or 3599 

nonspendable in the district's approved operating budget is 3600 



   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 145 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

projected to fall below 3 percent of projected general fund 3601 

revenues during the current fiscal year, the superintendent 3602 

shall provide written notification to the district school board 3603 

and the Commissioner of Education. If such financial condition 3604 

exists for 2 consecutive fiscal years, the superintendent shall 3605 

reduce the district's administrative expenditures reported 3606 

pursuant to s. 1010.215(4)(a) in proportion to the reduction in 3607 

the general fund's ending balance or the reduction in student 3608 

enrollment, whichever is greater. 3609 

 (2)(a)  If at any time the portion of the general fund's 3610 

ending fund balance not classified as restricted, committed, or 3611 

nonspendable in the district's approved operating budget is 3612 

projected to fall below 2 percent of projected general fund 3613 

revenues during the current fiscal year, the superintendent 3614 

shall provide written notification to the district school board 3615 

and the Commissioner of Education. Within 14 days after 3616 

receiving such notification, if the commissioner determines that 3617 

the district does not have a plan that is reasonably anticipated 3618 

to avoid a financial emergency as determined pursuant to s. 3619 

218.503, the commissioner shall appoint a financial emergency 3620 

board that shall operate under the requirements, powers, and 3621 

duties specified in s. 218.503(3)(g). 3622 

 (b)  If any of the conditions identified in s. 218.503(1) 3623 

existed in the 2015-2016 school year or thereafter, the 3624 

department shall contract with an independent third party to 3625 

   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 146 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

conduct an investigation of all accounts and records to 3626 

determine the cause of the deficit; what efforts, if any, were 3627 

made to avoid the deficit; and whether any of the conditions 3628 

identified in s. 1011.10 have occurred. The investigation must 3629 

include a detailed review and analysis of documents and records, 3630 

including, but not limited to, budget reports, journal entries, 3631 

budget methodologies, staff emails, hard copy records, monthly 3632 

financial statements, quarterly revenue and expenditure reports, 3633 

finance staff job descriptions, and minutes from meetings. The 3634 

results of the investigation must include recommendations for 3635 

corrective action and controls to avoid a reoccurrence of a 3636 

future budget shortfall. A final report shall be provided to the 3637 

district school board, the department, the Legislative Auditing 3638 

Committee, and the district's financial emergency board, if 3639 

applicable. 3640 

 Section 37.  Subsection (2) of section 1011.06, Florida 3641 

Statutes, is amended to read: 3642 

 1011.06  Expenditures.— 3643 

 (2)  EXPENDITURES FROM DISTRICT AND OTHER FUNDS.—3644 

Expenditures from district and all other funds available for the 3645 

public school program of any district shall be authorized by law 3646 

and must be in accordance with procedures prescribed by the 3647 

district school board. A district school board may establish 3648 

policies that allow expenditures to exceed the amount budgeted 3649 

by function and object, provided that the district school board 3650 



   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 147 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

complies with s. 1011.09(4) and approves the expenditure by 3651 

amending and amends the budget at the next scheduled public 3652 

meeting. The district school board must provide a full 3653 

explanation of any amendments at the public meeting within 3654 

timelines established by school board policies. 3655 

 Section 38.  Subsection (4) of section 1011.09, Florida 3656 

Statutes, is amended to read: 3657 

 1011.09  Expenditure of funds by district school board.—All 3658 

state funds apportioned to the credit of any district constitute 3659 

a part of the district school fund of that district and must be 3660 

budgeted and expended under authority of the district school 3661 

board subject to the provisions of law and rules of the State 3662 

Board of Education. 3663 

 (4)  If the financial conditions in s. 1011.051 exist, a 3664 

district school board During the 2009-2010 fiscal year, unless 3665 

otherwise specifically approved by the district school board, 3666 

public funds may not make expenditures be expended for out-of-3667 

state travel outside of the district or cellular phones, 3668 

cellular phone service, personal digital assistants, or any 3669 

other mobile wireless communication device or service, including 3670 

text messaging, whether through purchasing, leasing, 3671 

contracting, or any other method, while the financial conditions 3672 

exist. The expenditure of public funds for art programs, music 3673 

programs, sports programs, and extracurricular programs for 3674 

students is a higher priority than expending funds for employee 3675 

   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 148 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

travel and cellular phones. 3676 

 Section 39.  Subsection (3) is added to section 1011.10, 3677 

Florida Statutes, to read: 3678 

 1011.10  Penalty.— 3679 

 (3)  If any of the conditions identified in s. 218.503(1) 3680 

exist within a school district, the salary of each district 3681 

school board member and district school superintendent, 3682 

calculated pursuant to ss. 1001.395 and 1001.47, shall be 3683 

withheld until the conditions are corrected. 3684 

 Section 40.  Subsection (8) of section 1011.60, Florida 3685 

Statutes, is amended to read: 3686 

 1011.60  Minimum requirements of the Florida Education 3687 

Finance Program.—Each district which participates in the state 3688 

appropriations for the Florida Education Finance Program shall 3689 

provide evidence of its effort to maintain an adequate school 3690 

program throughout the district and shall meet at least the 3691 

following requirements: 3692 

 (8)  MINIMUM CLASSROOM EXPENDITURE REQUIREMENTS.—Comply 3693 

with the minimum classroom expenditure requirements and 3694 

associated reporting pursuant to s. 1011.64. 3695 

 Section 41.  Paragraphs (f), (o), and (t) of subsection 3696 

(1), paragraph (b) of subsection (6), and paragraphs (a), (c), 3697 

and (d) of subsection (9) of section 1011.62, Florida Statutes, 3698 

are amended to read: 3699 

 1011.62  Funds for operation of schools.—If the annual 3700 



   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 149 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

allocation from the Florida Education Finance Program to each 3701 

district for operation of schools is not determined in the 3702 

annual appropriations act or the substantive bill implementing 3703 

the annual appropriations act, it shall be determined as 3704 

follows: 3705 

 (1)  COMPUTATION OF THE BASIC AMOUNT TO BE INCLUDED FOR 3706 

OPERATION.—The following procedure shall be followed in 3707 

determining the annual allocation to each district for 3708 

operation: 3709 

 (f)  Supplemental academic instruction allocation; 3710 

categorical fund.— 3711 

 1.  There is created the supplemental academic instruction 3712 

allocation a categorical fund to provide supplemental academic 3713 

instruction to students in kindergarten through grade 12. This 3714 

paragraph may be cited as the "Supplemental Academic Instruction 3715 

Categorical Fund." 3716 

 2.  The supplemental academic instruction allocation shall 3717 

be provided annually in the Florida Education Finance Program as 3718 

specified in the General Appropriations Act. These funds are 3719 

categorical fund is in addition to the funds appropriated on the 3720 

basis of FTE student membership in the Florida Education Finance 3721 

Program and shall be included in the total potential funds of 3722 

each district. Beginning with the 2018-2019 fiscal year, These 3723 

funds shall be used to provide supplemental academic instruction 3724 

to students enrolled in the K-12 program. each school district 3725 

   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 150 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

that has a school earning a grade of "D" or "F" pursuant to s. 3726 

1008.34 must use that school's portion of the supplemental 3727 

academic instruction allocation to implement the intervention 3728 

and support strategies for school improvement pursuant to s. 3729 

1008.33 and for salary incentives pursuant to s. 1012.2315(3) or 3730 

salary supplements pursuant to s. 1012.22(1)(c)5.c. that are 3731 

provided through a memorandum of understanding between the 3732 

collective bargaining agent and the school board that addresses 3733 

the selection, placement, and expectations of instructional 3734 

personnel and school administrators. For all other schools, the 3735 

school district's use of the supplemental academic instruction 3736 

allocation one or more of the 300 lowest-performing elementary 3737 

schools based on the state reading assessment for the prior year 3738 

shall use these funds, together with the funds provided in the 3739 

district's research-based reading instruction allocation and 3740 

other available funds, to provide an additional hour of 3741 

instruction beyond the normal school day for each day of the 3742 

entire school year for intensive reading instruction for the 3743 

students in each of these schools. This additional hour of 3744 

instruction must be provided by teachers or reading specialists 3745 

who have demonstrated effectiveness in teaching reading or by a 3746 

K-5 mentoring reading program that is supervised by a teacher 3747 

who is effective at teaching reading. Students enrolled in these 3748 

schools who have level 5 assessment scores may participate in 3749 

the additional hour of instruction on an optional basis. 3750 



   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 151 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

Exceptional student education centers shall not be included in 3751 

the 300 schools. The designation of the 300 lowest-performing 3752 

elementary schools must be based on the state reading assessment 3753 

for the prior year. After this requirement has been met, 3754 

supplemental instruction strategies may include, but is are not 3755 

limited to, the: use of a modified curriculum, reading 3756 

instruction, after-school instruction, tutoring, mentoring, a 3757 

reduction in class size, extended school year, intensive skills 3758 

development in summer school, dropout prevention programs as 3759 

defined in ss. 1003.52 and 1003.53(1)(a), (b), and (c), and 3760 

other methods of improving student achievement. Supplemental 3761 

academic instruction may be provided to a student in any manner 3762 

and at any time during or beyond the regular 180-day term 3763 

identified by the school as being the most effective and 3764 

efficient way to best help that student progress from grade to 3765 

grade and to graduate. 3766 

 3.  Categorical funds for supplemental academic instruction 3767 

shall be provided annually in the Florida Education Finance 3768 

Program as specified in the General Appropriations Act. These 3769 

funds shall be provided as a supplement to the funds 3770 

appropriated for the basic funding level and shall be included 3771 

in the total funds of each district. The supplemental academic 3772 

instruction allocation shall consist of a base amount that has a 3773 

workload adjustment based on changes in unweighted FTE. In 3774 

addition, districts that have elementary schools included in the 3775 

   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 152 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

300 lowest-performing schools designation shall be allocated 3776 

additional funds to assist those districts in providing 3777 

intensive reading instruction to students in those schools. The 3778 

amount provided shall be based on each district's level of per-3779 

student funding in the reading instruction allocation and the 3780 

supplemental academic instruction categorical fund and on the 3781 

total FTE for each of the schools. The supplemental academic 3782 

instruction allocation categorical funding shall be recalculated 3783 

during the fiscal year following an updated designation of the 3784 

300 lowest-performing elementary schools and shall be based on 3785 

actual student membership from the FTE surveys. Upon 3786 

recalculation of funding for the supplemental academic 3787 

instruction allocation categorical fund, if the total allocation 3788 

is greater than the amount provided in the General 3789 

Appropriations Act, the allocation shall be prorated to the 3790 

level provided to support the appropriation, based on each 3791 

district's share of the total. 3792 

 4.  Effective with the 1999-2000 fiscal year, Funding on 3793 

the basis of FTE membership beyond the 180-day regular term 3794 

shall be provided in the FEFP only for students enrolled in 3795 

juvenile justice education programs or in education programs for 3796 

juveniles placed in secure facilities or programs under s. 3797 

985.19. Funding for instruction beyond the regular 180-day 3798 

school year for all other K-12 students shall be provided 3799 

through the supplemental academic instruction allocation and 3800 



   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 153 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

other state, federal, and local fund sources with ample 3801 

flexibility for schools to provide supplemental instruction to 3802 

assist students in progressing from grade to grade and 3803 

graduating. 3804 

 5.  The Florida State University School, as a lab school, 3805 

is authorized to expend from its FEFP or Lottery Enhancement 3806 

Trust Fund allocation the cost to the student of remediation in 3807 

reading, writing, or mathematics for any graduate who requires 3808 

remediation at a postsecondary educational institution. 3809 

 6.  Beginning in the 1999-2000 school year, dropout 3810 

prevention programs as defined in ss. 1003.52, 1003.53(1)(a), 3811 

(b), and (c), and 1003.54 shall be included in group 1 programs 3812 

under subparagraph (d)3. 3813 

 (o)  Calculation of additional full-time equivalent 3814 

membership based on successful completion of a career-themed 3815 

course pursuant to ss. 1003.491, 1003.492, and 1003.493, or 3816 

courses with embedded CAPE industry certifications or CAPE 3817 

Digital Tool certificates, and issuance of industry 3818 

certification identified on the CAPE Industry Certification 3819 

Funding List pursuant to rules adopted by the State Board of 3820 

Education or CAPE Digital Tool certificates pursuant to s. 3821 

1003.4203.— 3822 

 1.a.  A value of 0.025 full-time equivalent student 3823 

membership shall be calculated for CAPE Digital Tool 3824 

certificates earned by students in elementary and middle school 3825 

   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 154 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

grades. 3826 

 b.  A value of 0.1 or 0.2 full-time equivalent student 3827 

membership shall be calculated for each student who completes a 3828 

course as defined in s. 1003.493(1)(b) or courses with embedded 3829 

CAPE industry certifications and who is issued an industry 3830 

certification identified annually on the CAPE Industry 3831 

Certification Funding List approved under rules adopted by the 3832 

State Board of Education. A value of 0.2 full-time equivalent 3833 

membership shall be calculated for each student who is issued a 3834 

CAPE industry certification that has a statewide articulation 3835 

agreement for college credit approved by the State Board of 3836 

Education. For CAPE industry certifications that do not 3837 

articulate for college credit, the Department of Education shall 3838 

assign a full-time equivalent value of 0.1 for each 3839 

certification. Middle grades students who earn additional FTE 3840 

membership for a CAPE Digital Tool certificate pursuant to sub-3841 

subparagraph a. may not use the previously funded examination to 3842 

satisfy the requirements for earning an industry certification 3843 

under this sub-subparagraph. Additional FTE membership for an 3844 

elementary or middle grades student may not exceed 0.1 for 3845 

certificates or certifications earned within the same fiscal 3846 

year. The State Board of Education shall include the assigned 3847 

values on the CAPE Industry Certification Funding List under 3848 

rules adopted by the state board. Such value shall be added to 3849 

the total full-time equivalent student membership for grades 6 3850 



   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 155 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

through 12 in the subsequent year. CAPE industry certifications 3851 

earned through dual enrollment must be reported and funded 3852 

pursuant to s. 1011.80. However, if a student earns a 3853 

certification through a dual enrollment course and the 3854 

certification is not a fundable certification on the 3855 

postsecondary certification funding list, or the dual enrollment 3856 

certification is earned as a result of an agreement between a 3857 

school district and a nonpublic postsecondary institution, the 3858 

bonus value shall be funded in the same manner as other nondual 3859 

enrollment course industry certifications. In such cases, the 3860 

school district may provide for an agreement between the high 3861 

school and the technical center, or the school district and the 3862 

postsecondary institution may enter into an agreement for 3863 

equitable distribution of the bonus funds. 3864 

 c.  A value of 0.3 full-time equivalent student membership 3865 

shall be calculated for student completion of the courses and 3866 

the embedded certifications identified on the CAPE Industry 3867 

Certification Funding List and approved by the commissioner 3868 

pursuant to ss. 1003.4203(5)(a) and 1008.44. 3869 

 d.  A value of 0.5 full-time equivalent student membership 3870 

shall be calculated for CAPE Acceleration Industry 3871 

Certifications that articulate for 15 to 29 college credit 3872 

hours, and 1.0 full-time equivalent student membership shall be 3873 

calculated for CAPE Acceleration Industry Certifications that 3874 

articulate for 30 or more college credit hours pursuant to CAPE 3875 

   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 156 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

Acceleration Industry Certifications approved by the 3876 

commissioner pursuant to ss. 1003.4203(5)(b) and 1008.44. 3877 

 2.  Each district must allocate at least 80 percent of the 3878 

funds provided for CAPE industry certification, in accordance 3879 

with this paragraph, to the program that generated the funds. 3880 

This allocation may not be used to supplant funds provided for 3881 

basic operation of the program. 3882 

 3.  For CAPE industry certifications earned in the 2013-3883 

2014 school year and in subsequent years, the school district 3884 

shall distribute to each classroom teacher who provided direct 3885 

instruction toward the attainment of a CAPE industry 3886 

certification that qualified for additional full-time equivalent 3887 

membership under subparagraph 1.: 3888 

 a.  A bonus of $25 for each student taught by a teacher who 3889 

provided instruction in a course that led to the attainment of a 3890 

CAPE industry certification on the CAPE Industry Certification 3891 

Funding List with a weight of 0.1. 3892 

 b.  A bonus of $50 for each student taught by a teacher who 3893 

provided instruction in a course that led to the attainment of a 3894 

CAPE industry certification on the CAPE Industry Certification 3895 

Funding List with a weight of 0.2. 3896 

 c.  A bonus of $75 for each student taught by a teacher who 3897 

provided instruction in a course that led to the attainment of a 3898 

CAPE industry certification on the CAPE Industry Certification 3899 

Funding List with a weight of 0.3. 3900 



   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 157 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

 d.  A bonus of $100 for each student taught by a teacher 3901 

who provided instruction in a course that led to the attainment 3902 

of a CAPE industry certification on the CAPE Industry 3903 

Certification Funding List with a weight of 0.5 or 1.0. 3904 

 3905 

Bonuses awarded pursuant to this paragraph shall be provided to 3906 

teachers who are employed by the district in the year in which 3907 

the additional FTE membership calculation is included in the 3908 

calculation. Bonuses shall be calculated based upon the 3909 

associated weight of a CAPE industry certification on the CAPE 3910 

Industry Certification Funding List for the year in which the 3911 

certification is earned by the student. Any bonus awarded to a 3912 

teacher pursuant to under this paragraph is in addition to any 3913 

regular wage or other bonus the teacher received or is scheduled 3914 

to receive. A bonus may not be awarded to a teacher who fails to 3915 

maintain the security of any CAPE industry certification 3916 

examination or who otherwise violates the security or 3917 

administration protocol of any assessment instrument that may 3918 

result in a bonus being awarded to the teacher under this 3919 

paragraph. 3920 

 (t)  Computation for funding through the Florida Education 3921 

Finance Program.—The State Board of Education may adopt rules 3922 

establishing programs, industry certifications, and courses for 3923 

which the student may earn credit toward high school graduation 3924 

and the criteria under which a student's industry certification 3925 

   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 158 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

or grade may be rescinded. 3926 

 (6)  CATEGORICAL FUNDS.— 3927 

 (b)  If a district school board finds and declares in a 3928 

resolution adopted at a regular meeting of the school board that 3929 

the funds received for any of the following categorical 3930 

appropriations are urgently needed to maintain school board 3931 

specified academic classroom instruction, the school board may 3932 

consider and approve an amendment to the school district 3933 

operating budget transferring the identified amount of the 3934 

categorical funds to the appropriate account for expenditure: 3935 

 1.  Funds for student transportation. 3936 

 2.  Funds for safe schools. 3937 

 3.  Funds for supplemental academic instruction if the 3938 

required additional hour of instruction beyond the normal school 3939 

day for each day of the entire school year has been provided for 3940 

the students in each low-performing elementary school in the 3941 

district pursuant to paragraph (1)(f). 3942 

 3.4.  Funds for research-based reading instruction if the 3943 

required additional hour of instruction beyond the normal school 3944 

day for each day of the entire school year has been provided for 3945 

the students in each low-performing elementary school in the 3946 

district pursuant to paragraph (9)(a). 3947 

 4.5.  Funds for instructional materials if all 3948 

instructional material purchases necessary to provide updated 3949 

materials that are aligned with applicable state standards and 3950 



   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 159 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

course descriptions and that meet statutory requirements of 3951 

content and learning have been completed for that fiscal year, 3952 

but no sooner than March 1. Funds available after March 1 may be 3953 

used to purchase hardware for student instruction. 3954 

 (9)  RESEARCH-BASED READING INSTRUCTION ALLOCATION.— 3955 

 (a)  The research-based reading instruction allocation is 3956 

created to provide comprehensive reading instruction to students 3957 

in kindergarten through grade 12. Each school district that has 3958 

one or more of the 300 lowest-performing elementary schools 3959 

based on a 3-year average of the state reading assessment data 3960 

shall give priority to using that school's portion of the 3961 

allocation to provide providing an additional hour per day of 3962 

intensive reading instruction beyond the normal school day for 3963 

each day of the entire school year for the students in each 3964 

school. The designation of the 300 lowest-performing elementary 3965 

schools must be based on the state reading assessment for the 3966 

prior year. Students enrolled in these schools who earned a have 3967 

level 4 or level 5 score on the statewide, standardized English 3968 

Language Arts assessment for the previous school year scores may 3969 

participate in the additional hour of instruction on an optional 3970 

basis. Exceptional student education centers may not be included 3971 

in the 300 schools. The intensive reading instruction delivered 3972 

in this additional hour and for other students shall include: 3973 

research-based reading instruction that has been proven to 3974 

accelerate progress of students exhibiting a reading deficiency; 3975 

   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 160 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

differentiated instruction based on screening, diagnostic, 3976 

progress monitoring, or student assessment data to meet 3977 

students' specific reading needs; explicit and systematic 3978 

reading strategies to develop phonemic awareness, phonics, 3979 

fluency, vocabulary, and comprehension, with more extensive 3980 

opportunities for guided practice, error correction, and 3981 

feedback; and the integration of social studies, science, and 3982 

mathematics-text reading, text discussion, and writing in 3983 

response to reading. 3984 

 (c)  Funds allocated under this subsection must be used to 3985 

provide a system of comprehensive reading instruction to 3986 

students enrolled in the K-12 programs, which may include the 3987 

following: 3988 

 1.  The provision of An additional hour per day of 3989 

intensive reading instruction to students in the 300 lowest-3990 

performing elementary schools by teachers and reading 3991 

specialists who have demonstrated effectiveness in teaching 3992 

reading as required in paragraph (a). 3993 

 2.  Kindergarten through grade 5 reading intervention 3994 

teachers to provide intensive intervention during the school day 3995 

and in the required extra hour for students identified as having 3996 

a reading deficiency. 3997 

 3.  The provision of Highly qualified reading coaches to 3998 

specifically support teachers in making instructional decisions 3999 

based on student data, and improve teacher delivery of effective 4000 



   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 161 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

reading instruction, intervention, and reading in the content 4001 

areas based on student need. 4002 

 4.  Professional development for school district teachers 4003 

in scientifically based reading instruction, including 4004 

strategies to teach reading in content areas and with an 4005 

emphasis on technical and informational text, to help school 4006 

district teachers earn a certification or an endorsement in 4007 

reading. 4008 

 5.  The provision of Summer reading camps, using only 4009 

teachers or other district personnel who are certified or 4010 

endorsed in reading consistent with s. 1008.25(7)(b)3., for all 4011 

students in kindergarten through grade 2 who demonstrate a 4012 

reading deficiency as determined by district and state 4013 

assessments, and students in grades 3 through 5 who score at 4014 

Level 1 on the statewide, standardized reading assessment or, 4015 

upon implementation, the English Language Arts assessment. 4016 

 6.  The provision of Supplemental instructional materials 4017 

that are grounded in scientifically based reading research as 4018 

identified by the Just Read, Florida! Office pursuant to s. 4019 

1001.215(8). 4020 

 7.  The provision of Intensive interventions for students 4021 

in kindergarten through grade 12 who have been identified as 4022 

having a reading deficiency or who are reading below grade level 4023 

as determined by the statewide, standardized English Language 4024 

Arts assessment. 4025 

   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 162 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

 (d)1.  Each school district that has a school that earns a 4026 

grade below a "B" pursuant to s. 1008.34 shall annually, by a 4027 

date determined by the Department of Education but before May 1, 4028 

school districts shall submit a K-12 comprehensive reading plan 4029 

for the specific use of the research-based reading instruction 4030 

allocation in the format prescribed by the department for review 4031 

and approval by the department as part of the monitoring, 4032 

intervention, and support strategies required under s. 1008.33 4033 

Just Read, Florida! Office created pursuant to s. 1001.215. The 4034 

plan annually submitted by school districts shall be deemed 4035 

approved unless the department rejects the plan on or before 4036 

June 1. If a school district and the Just Read, Florida! Office 4037 

cannot reach agreement on the contents of the plan, the school 4038 

district may appeal to the State Board of Education for 4039 

resolution. School districts shall be allowed reasonable 4040 

flexibility in designing their plans and shall be encouraged to 4041 

offer reading intervention through innovative methods, including 4042 

career academies. The plan format shall be developed with input 4043 

from school district personnel, including teachers and 4044 

principals, and shall provide for allow courses in core, career, 4045 

and alternative programs that deliver intensive reading 4046 

intervention remediation through integrated curricula, provided 4047 

that the interventions are delivered by a teacher who is 4048 

certified or endorsed in deemed highly qualified to teach 4049 

reading or working toward that status. No later than July 1 4050 



   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 163 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

annually, the department shall release the school district's 4051 

allocation of appropriated funds to those districts having 4052 

approved plans. A school district that spends 100 percent of 4053 

this allocation on its approved plan shall be deemed to have 4054 

been in compliance with the plan. The department may withhold 4055 

funds upon a determination that reading instruction allocation 4056 

funds are not being used to implement the approved plan. The 4057 

department shall monitor and track the implementation of each 4058 

district plan, including conducting site visits and collecting 4059 

specific data on expenditures and reading improvement results. 4060 

By February 1 of each year, the department shall report its 4061 

findings to the Legislature. 4062 

 2.  Each school district that has a school designated as 4063 

one of the 300 lowest-performing elementary schools as specified 4064 

in paragraph (a) shall specifically delineate in the 4065 

comprehensive reading plan, or in an addendum to the 4066 

comprehensive reading plan, the implementation design and 4067 

reading intervention strategies that will be used for the 4068 

required additional hour of reading instruction.  4069 

 4070 

The term "reading intervention" may include strategies 4071 

identified by the Just Read, Florida! Office pursuant to s. 4072 

1001.215(8), includes evidence-based strategies frequently used 4073 

to remediate reading deficiencies and also includes individual 4074 

instruction, tutoring, mentoring, or the use of technology that 4075 

   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 164 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

targets specific reading skills and abilities. 4076 

 Section 42.  Section 1011.6202, Florida Statutes, is 4077 

amended to read: 4078 

 1011.6202  Principal Autonomy Pilot Program Initiative.—The 4079 

Principal Autonomy Pilot Program Initiative is created within 4080 

the Department of Education. The purpose of the pilot program is 4081 

to provide a the highly effective principal of a participating 4082 

school with increased autonomy and authority to operate his or 4083 

her school, as well as other schools, in a way that produces 4084 

significant improvements in student achievement and school 4085 

management while complying with constitutional requirements. The 4086 

State Board of Education may, upon approval of a principal 4087 

autonomy proposal, enter into a performance contract with the up 4088 

to seven district school board boards for participation in the 4089 

pilot program. 4090 

 (1)  PARTICIPATING SCHOOL DISTRICTS.—Beginning with the 4091 

2018-2019 school year, contingent upon available funds, and on a 4092 

first-come, first-served basis, a The district school board 4093 

boards in Broward, Duval, Jefferson, Madison, Palm Beach, 4094 

Pinellas, and Seminole Counties may submit, no later than 4095 

December 1, to the state board for approval a principal autonomy 4096 

proposal that exchanges statutory and rule exemptions for an 4097 

agreement to meet performance goals established in the proposal. 4098 

If approved by the state board, the each of these school 4099 

district is districts shall be eligible to participate in the 4100 



   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 165 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

pilot program for 3 years. At the end of the 3 years, the 4101 

performance of all participating schools in the school district 4102 

shall be evaluated. 4103 

 (2)  PRINCIPAL AUTONOMY PROPOSAL.— 4104 

 (a)  To participate in the pilot program, a school district 4105 

must: 4106 

 1.  Identify three schools that received at least two 4107 

school grades of "D" or "F" pursuant to s. 1008.34 during the 4108 

previous 3 school years. 4109 

 2.  Identify three principals who have earned a highly 4110 

effective rating on the prior year's performance evaluation 4111 

pursuant to s. 1012.34, one of whom shall be assigned to each of 4112 

the participating schools. 4113 

 3.  Describe the current financial and administrative 4114 

management of each participating school; identify the areas in 4115 

which each school principal will have increased fiscal and 4116 

administrative autonomy, including the authority and 4117 

responsibilities provided in s. 1012.28(8); and identify the 4118 

areas in which each participating school will continue to follow 4119 

district school board fiscal and administrative policies. 4120 

 4.  Explain the methods used to identify the educational 4121 

strengths and needs of the participating school's students and 4122 

identify how student achievement can be improved. 4123 

 5.  Establish performance goals for student achievement, as 4124 

defined in s. 1008.34(1), and explain how the increased autonomy 4125 

   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 166 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

of principals will help participating schools improve student 4126 

achievement and school management. 4127 

 6.  Provide each participating school's mission and a 4128 

description of its student population. 4129 

 (b)  The state board shall establish criteria, which must 4130 

include the criteria listed in paragraph (a), for the approval 4131 

of a principal autonomy proposal. 4132 

 (c)  A district school board must submit its principal 4133 

autonomy proposal to the state board for approval by December 1 4134 

in order to begin participation in the subsequent school year. 4135 

By February 28 of the school year in which the proposal is 4136 

submitted, the state board shall notify the district school 4137 

board in writing whether the proposal is approved. 4138 

 (3)  EXEMPTION FROM LAWS.— 4139 

 (a)  With the exception of those laws listed in paragraph 4140 

(b), a participating school or a school operated by an 4141 

independent governing board pursuant to subsection (5) is exempt 4142 

from the provisions of chapters 1000-1013 and rules of the state 4143 

board that implement those exempt provisions. 4144 

 (b)  A participating school or a school operated by an 4145 

independent governing board pursuant to subsection (5) shall 4146 

comply with the provisions of chapters 1000-1013, and rules of 4147 

the state board that implement those provisions, pertaining to 4148 

the following: 4149 

 1.  Those laws relating to the election and compensation of 4150 



   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 167 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

district school board members, the election or appointment and 4151 

compensation of district school superintendents, public meetings 4152 

and public records requirements, financial disclosure, and 4153 

conflicts of interest. 4154 

 2.  Those laws relating to the student assessment program 4155 

and school grading system, including chapter 1008. 4156 

 3.  Those laws relating to the provision of services to 4157 

students with disabilities. 4158 

 4.  Those laws relating to civil rights, including s. 4159 

1000.05, relating to discrimination. 4160 

 5.  Those laws relating to student health, safety, and 4161 

welfare. 4162 

 6.  Section 1001.42(4)(f), relating to the uniform opening 4163 

date for public schools. 4164 

 7.  Section 1003.03, governing maximum class size, except 4165 

that the calculation for compliance pursuant to s. 1003.03 is 4166 

the average at the school level for a participating school. 4167 

 8.  Sections 1012.22(1)(c) and 1012.27(2), relating to 4168 

compensation and salary schedules. 4169 

 9.  Section 1012.33(5), relating to workforce reductions 4170 

for annual contracts for instructional personnel. This 4171 

subparagraph does not apply to at-will employees. 4172 

 10.  Section 1012.335, relating to annual contracts for 4173 

instructional personnel hired on or after July 1, 2011. This 4174 

subparagraph does not apply to at-will employees. 4175 

   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 168 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

 11.  Section 1012.34, relating to personnel evaluation 4176 

procedures and criteria. 4177 

 12.  Those laws pertaining to educational facilities, 4178 

including chapter 1013, except that s. 1013.20, relating to 4179 

covered walkways for relocatables, and s. 1013.21, relating to 4180 

the use of relocatable facilities exceeding 20 years of age, are 4181 

eligible for exemption. 4182 

 13.  Those laws pertaining to participating school 4183 

districts, including this section and ss. 1011.69(2) and 4184 

1012.28(8). 4185 

 (c)  A school shall remain exempt, as provided in this 4186 

subsection, beyond the term of the program so long as the school 4187 

receives no grade lower than a "B." 4188 

 (4)  PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT.—Each participating school 4189 

district shall require that the principal of each participating 4190 

school and a designated leadership team selected by the 4191 

principal of the participating school, a three-member leadership 4192 

team from each participating school, and district personnel 4193 

working with each participating school complete a nationally 4194 

recognized school turnaround program which focuses on improving 4195 

leadership, instructional infrastructure, talent management, and 4196 

differentiated support and accountability. The required 4197 

personnel must enroll in the nationally recognized school 4198 

turnaround program upon acceptance into the pilot program. Each 4199 

participating school district shall receive $100,000 from the 4200 



   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 169 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

department for participation in the nationally recognized school 4201 

turnaround program. 4202 

 (5)  DISTRICT-INDEPENDENT AUTONOMOUS SCHOOLS.—To foster the 4203 

development of principal autonomy and autonomous schools, 4204 

participating school districts may expand the impact of 4205 

participating principals by allowing participating principals to 4206 

manage multiple schools under an independent governing board. 4207 

 (a)  A participating principal who successfully completes 4208 

the training required by subsection (4) may manage one or more 4209 

schools that are operated by an independent governing board 4210 

through a contract with the school board. To avoid any conflict 4211 

of interest regarding the review, approval, and oversight of the 4212 

school, members of the governing board may not be employees of 4213 

the school district or any school operated by the governing 4214 

board. 4215 

 (b)  For the purposes of tort liability, the independent 4216 

governing board, autonomous school, and its employees or agents 4217 

shall be governed by s. 768.28. The school board shall not be 4218 

liable for civil damages under state law for the employment 4219 

actions or personal injury, property damage, or death resulting 4220 

from an act or omission of an independent governing board, 4221 

autonomous school, and its employees or agents. 4222 

 (c)  An autonomous school may be a private or a public 4223 

employer. As a public employer, the autonomous school may 4224 

participate in the Florida Retirement System upon application 4225 

   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 170 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

and approval as a covered group under s. 121.021(34). If an 4226 

autonomous school participates in the Florida Retirement System, 4227 

the school's employees shall be compulsory members of the 4228 

Florida Retirement System. 4229 

 (6)(5)  TERM OF PARTICIPATION.—The state board shall 4230 

authorize a school district to participate in the pilot program 4231 

for a period of 3 years commencing with approval of the 4232 

principal autonomy proposal. Authorization to participate in the 4233 

pilot program may be renewed upon action of the state board. The 4234 

state board may revoke authorization to participate in the pilot 4235 

program if the school district fails to meet the requirements of 4236 

this section during the 3-year period. 4237 

 (6)  REPORTING.—Each participating school district shall 4238 

submit an annual report to the state board. The state board 4239 

shall annually report on the implementation of the Principal 4240 

Autonomy Pilot Program Initiative. Upon completion of the pilot 4241 

program's first 3-year term, the Commissioner of Education shall 4242 

submit to the President of the Senate and the Speaker of the 4243 

House of Representatives by December 1 a full evaluation of the 4244 

effectiveness of the pilot program. 4245 

 (7)  FUNDING.—Subject to an annual appropriation, The 4246 

Legislature shall provide an appropriation to the department 4247 

shall fund for the costs of the pilot program to include the, 4248 

including administrative costs and enrollment costs for the 4249 

nationally recognized school turnaround program required in 4250 



   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 171 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

subsection (4), and an additional amount not to exceed of 4251 

$10,000 for each participating principal in each participating 4252 

district as an annual salary supplement for 3 years, a fund for 4253 

the principal's school to be used at the principal's discretion, 4254 

or both, as determined by the district. To be eligible for a 4255 

salary supplement under this subsection, a participating 4256 

principal must: 4257 

 (a)  Be rated "highly effective" as determined by the 4258 

principal's performance evaluation under s. 1012.34; 4259 

 (b)  Be transferred to, or manage pursuant to subsection 4260 

(5), a school that earned a grade of "F" or two three 4261 

consecutive grades of "D" pursuant to s. 1008.34 and provided 4262 

additional authority and responsibilities pursuant to s. 4263 

1012.28(8); and 4264 

 (c)  Have implemented a turnaround option under s. 1008.33 4265 

s. 1008.33(4) at a school as the school's principal or manager. 4266 

The turnaround option must have resulted in the school improving 4267 

by at least one letter grade while he or she was serving as the 4268 

school's principal or manager. 4269 

 (8)  RULEMAKING.—The State Board of Education shall adopt 4270 

rules to administer this section. 4271 

 Section 43.  Section 1011.64, Florida Statutes, is 4272 

repealed. 4273 

 Section 44.  Subsection (5) of section 1011.69, Florida 4274 

Statutes, is amended to read: 4275 

   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 172 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

 1011.69  Equity in School-Level Funding Act.— 4276 

 (5)  After providing Title I, Part A, Basic funds to 4277 

schools above the 75 percent poverty threshold, which may 4278 

include high schools above the 50 percent threshold as permitted 4279 

by federal law, school districts shall provide any remaining 4280 

Title I, Part A, Basic funds directly to all eligible schools as 4281 

provided in this subsection. For purposes of this subsection, an 4282 

eligible school is a school that is eligible to receive Title I 4283 

funds, including a charter school. The threshold for identifying 4284 

eligible schools may not exceed the threshold established by a 4285 

school district for the 2016-2017 school year or the statewide 4286 

percentage of economically disadvantaged students, as determined 4287 

annually. 4288 

 (a)  Prior to the allocation of Title I funds to eligible 4289 

schools, a school district may withhold funds only as follows: 4290 

 1.  One percent for parent involvement, in addition to the 4291 

one percent the district must reserve under federal law for 4292 

allocations to eligible schools for parent involvement; 4293 

 2.  A necessary and reasonable amount for administration, 4294 

which includes the district's indirect cost rate, not to exceed 4295 

a total of 8 percent; and 4296 

 3.  A reasonable and necessary amount to provide: 4297 

 a.  Homeless programs; 4298 

 b.  Delinquent and neglected programs; 4299 

 c.  Prekindergarten programs and activities; 4300 



   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 173 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

 d.  Private school equitable services; and 4301 

 e.  Transportation for foster care children to their school 4302 

of origin or choice programs; and 4303 

 4.  A necessary and reasonable amount, not to exceed 1 4304 

percent, for eligible schools to provide: 4305 

 a.  Extended learning opportunities, such as summer school, 4306 

before-school and after-school programs, and additional class 4307 

periods of instruction during the school day; and  4308 

 b.  Supplemental academic and enrichment services, as well 4309 

as wrap-around services.  4310 

 4311 

Any funds provided by eligible schools pursuant to paragraph (b) 4312 

shall not be included calculation of the 1-percent limitation. 4313 

 (b)  All remaining Title I funds shall be distributed to 4314 

all eligible schools in accordance with federal law and 4315 

regulation. To maximize the efficient use of resources, school 4316 

districts may allow eligible schools, not including charter 4317 

schools, to An eligible school may use funds under this 4318 

subsection for district-level to participate in discretionary 4319 

educational services provided by the school district under 4320 

paragraph (a). 4321 

 Section 45.  Paragraph (e) of subsection (2) of section 4322 

1011.71, Florida Statutes, is amended to read: 4323 

 1011.71  District school tax.— 4324 

 (2)  In addition to the maximum millage levy as provided in 4325 

   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 174 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

subsection (1), each school board may levy not more than 1.5 4326 

mills against the taxable value for school purposes for charter 4327 

schools pursuant to s. 1013.62(3) and for district schools to 4328 

fund: 4329 

 (e)  Payments for educational facilities and sites due 4330 

under a lease-purchase agreement entered into by a district 4331 

school board pursuant to s. 1003.02(1)(f) or s. 1013.15(2), not 4332 

exceeding, in the aggregate, an amount equal to three-fourths of 4333 

the proceeds from the millage levied by a district school board 4334 

pursuant to this subsection. The three-fourths limit is waived 4335 

for lease-purchase agreements entered into before June 30, 2009, 4336 

by a district school board pursuant to this paragraph. If 4337 

payments under lease-purchase agreements in the aggregate, 4338 

including lease-purchase agreements entered into before June 30, 4339 

2009, exceed three-fourths of the proceeds from the millage 4340 

levied pursuant to this subsection, the district school board 4341 

may not withhold the administrative fees authorized by s. 4342 

1002.33(20) from any charter school operating in the school 4343 

district. 4344 

 Section 46.  Subsection (2) of section 1012.23, Florida 4345 

Statutes, is amended to read: 4346 

 1012.23  School district personnel policies.— 4347 

 (2)  A district school superintendent or a district school 4348 

board member may not appoint or not employ or appoint a 4349 

relative, as defined in s. 112.3135, to work under the direct 4350 



   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 175 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

supervision of that district school board member or district 4351 

school superintendent. This subsection does not apply to 4352 

employees appointed or employed before the election or 4353 

appointment of a school board member or a district school 4354 

superintendent. The Commission on Ethics shall accept and 4355 

investigate any alleged violations of this subsection pursuant 4356 

to the procedures in ss. 112.322-112.3241. 4357 

 Section 47.  Subsection (4) of section 1012.2315, Florida 4358 

Statutes, is amended to read: 4359 

 1012.2315  Assignment of teachers.— 4360 

 (4)  COLLECTIVE BARGAINING.—  4361 

 (a)  Notwithstanding provisions of chapter 447 relating to 4362 

district school board collective bargaining, collective 4363 

bargaining provisions may not preclude a school district from 4364 

providing incentives to high-quality teachers and assigning such 4365 

teachers to low-performing schools.  4366 

 (b)1.  In addition to the provisions under s. 447.305(2), 4367 

an employee organization that has been certified as the 4368 

bargaining agent for a unit of instructional personnel as 4369 

defined in s. 1012.01(2) must include for each such certified 4370 

bargaining unit the following information in its application for 4371 

renewal of registration: 4372 

 a.  The number of employees in the bargaining unit who are 4373 

eligible for representation by the employee organization. 4374 

 b.  The number of employees who are represented by the 4375 

   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 176 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

employee organization, specifying the number of members who pay 4376 

dues and the number of members who do not pay dues. 4377 

 2.  Notwithstanding the provisions of chapter 447 relating 4378 

to collective bargaining, an employee organization whose dues 4379 

paying membership is less than 50 percent of the employees 4380 

eligible for representation in the unit, as identified in 4381 

subparagraph 1., must petition the Public Employees Relations 4382 

Commission pursuant to s. 447.307(2) and (3) for recertification 4383 

as the exclusive representative of all employees in the unit 4384 

within 1 month after the date on which the organization applies 4385 

for renewal of registration pursuant to s. 447.305(2). The 4386 

certification of an employee organization that does not comply 4387 

with this paragraph is revoked. 4388 

 Section 48.  Subsection (8) of section 1012.28, Florida 4389 

Statutes, is amended to read: 4390 

 1012.28  Public school personnel; duties of school 4391 

principals.— 4392 

 (8)  The principal of a school participating in the 4393 

Principal Autonomy Pilot Program Initiative under s. 1011.6202 4394 

has the following additional authority and responsibilities: 4395 

 (a)  In addition to the authority provided in subsection 4396 

(6), the authority to select qualified instructional personnel 4397 

for placement or to refuse to accept the placement or transfer 4398 

of instructional personnel by the district school 4399 

superintendent. Placement of instructional personnel at a 4400 



   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 177 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

participating school in a participating school district does not 4401 

affect the employee's status as a school district employee. 4402 

 (b)  The authority to deploy financial resources to school 4403 

programs at the principal's discretion to help improve student 4404 

achievement, as defined in s. 1008.34(1), and meet performance 4405 

goals identified in the principal autonomy proposal submitted 4406 

pursuant to s. 1011.6202. 4407 

 (c)  To annually provide to the district school 4408 

superintendent and the district school board a budget for the 4409 

operation of the participating school that identifies how funds 4410 

provided pursuant to s. 1011.69(2) are allocated. The school 4411 

district shall include the budget in the annual report provided 4412 

to the State Board of Education pursuant to s. 1011.6202(6). 4413 

 Section 49.  Subsection (2) of section 1012.32, Florida 4414 

Statutes, is amended to read: 4415 

 1012.32  Qualifications of personnel.— 4416 

 (2)(a)  Instructional and noninstructional personnel who 4417 

are hired or contracted to fill positions that require direct 4418 

contact with students in any district school system or 4419 

university lab school must, upon employment or engagement to 4420 

provide services, undergo background screening as required under 4421 

s. 1012.465 or s. 1012.56, whichever is applicable. 4422 

 (b)  Instructional and noninstructional personnel who are 4423 

hired or contracted to fill positions in any charter school and 4424 

members of the governing board of any charter school, in 4425 

   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 178 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

compliance with s. 1002.33(12)(g), must, upon employment, 4426 

engagement of services, or appointment, undergo background 4427 

screening as required under s. 1012.465 or s. 1012.56, whichever 4428 

is applicable, by filing with the district school board for the 4429 

school district in which the charter school is located a 4430 

complete set of fingerprints taken by an authorized law 4431 

enforcement agency or an employee of the school or school 4432 

district who is trained to take fingerprints. 4433 

 (c)  Instructional and noninstructional personnel who are 4434 

hired or contracted to fill positions that require direct 4435 

contact with students in an alternative school that operates 4436 

under contract with a district school system must, upon 4437 

employment or engagement to provide services, undergo background 4438 

screening as required under s. 1012.465 or s. 1012.56, whichever 4439 

is applicable, by filing with the district school board for the 4440 

school district to which the alternative school is under 4441 

contract a complete set of fingerprints taken by an authorized 4442 

law enforcement agency or an employee of the school or school 4443 

district who is trained to take fingerprints. 4444 

 (d)  Student teachers and persons participating in a field 4445 

experience pursuant to s. 1004.04(5) or s. 1004.85 in any 4446 

district school system, lab school, or charter school must, upon 4447 

engagement to provide services, undergo background screening as 4448 

required under s. 1012.56. 4449 

 4450 



   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 179 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

Fingerprints shall be submitted to the Department of Law 4451 

Enforcement for statewide criminal and juvenile records checks 4452 

and to the Federal Bureau of Investigation for federal criminal 4453 

records checks. A person subject to this subsection who is found 4454 

ineligible for employment under s. 1012.315, or otherwise found 4455 

through background screening to have been convicted of any crime 4456 

involving moral turpitude as defined by rule of the State Board 4457 

of Education, shall not be employed, engaged to provide 4458 

services, or serve in any position that requires direct contact 4459 

with students. Probationary persons subject to this subsection 4460 

terminated because of their criminal record have the right to 4461 

appeal such decisions. The cost of the background screening may 4462 

be borne by the district school board, the charter school, the 4463 

employee, the contractor, or a person subject to this 4464 

subsection. If the district school board does not notify the 4465 

charter school of the eligibility of governing board members and 4466 

instructional and noninstructional personnel within 14 days 4467 

after the submission of the fingerprints, it shall reimburse the 4468 

cost of background screening. 4469 

 Section 50.  Subsection (4) of section 1012.55, Florida 4470 

Statutes, is amended, and paragraph (e) is added to subsection 4471 

(1) of that section, to read: 4472 

 1012.55  Positions for which certificates required.— 4473 

 (1) 4474 

 (e)1.  The department shall issue a 3-year temporary 4475 

   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 180 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

certificate in educational leadership under s. 1012.56(7) to an 4476 

individual who: 4477 

 a.  Earned a passing score on the Florida Educational 4478 

Leadership Examination. 4479 

 b.  Served as a commissioned or noncommissioned military 4480 

officer in the United States Armed Forces for at least 3 years. 4481 

 c.  Was honorably discharged or has retired from the United 4482 

States Armed Forces. 4483 

 d.  Is employed full time in a position for which an 4484 

educator certificate is required in a Florida public school, 4485 

state-supported school, or nonpublic school that has a Level II 4486 

program under s. 1012.562. 4487 

 2.  A Level II program under s. 1012.562 must accept an 4488 

applicant who holds a temporary certificate under subparagraph 4489 

1. The department shall issue a permanent certification as a 4490 

school principal to an individual who holds a temporary 4491 

certificate under subparagraph 1. and successfully completes the 4492 

Level II program. 4493 

 (4)  A commissioned or noncommissioned military officer who 4494 

is an instructor of junior reserve officer training shall be 4495 

exempt from requirements for teacher certification, except for 4496 

the background screening pursuant to s. 1012.32, if he or she 4497 

meets the following qualifications: 4498 

 (a)  Is retired from active military duty, pursuant to 4499 

chapter 102 of Title 10 U.S.C. 4500 



   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 181 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

 (b)  Satisfies criteria established by the appropriate 4501 

military service for certification by the service as a junior 4502 

reserve officer training instructor. 4503 

 (c)  Has an exemplary military record. 4504 

 4505 

If such instructor is assigned instructional duties other than 4506 

junior reserve officer training, he or she shall hold the 4507 

certificate required by law and rules of the state board for the 4508 

type of service rendered. An instructor of junior reserve 4509 

officer training under this subsection may receive funding 4510 

through the Florida Teachers Classroom Supply Assistance Program 4511 

under s. 1012.71. 4512 

 Section 51.  Subsection (7) of section 1012.56, Florida 4513 

Statutes, is amended to read: 4514 

 1012.56  Educator certification requirements.— 4515 

 (7)  TYPES AND TERMS OF CERTIFICATION.— 4516 

 (a)  The Department of Education shall issue a professional 4517 

certificate for a period not to exceed 5 years to any applicant 4518 

who fulfills one of the following: 4519 

 1.  Meets all the requirements outlined in subsection (2). 4520 

 2.  For a professional certificate covering grades 6 4521 

through 12: 4522 

 a.  Meets the requirements of paragraphs (2)(a)-(h). 4523 

 b.  Holds a master's or higher degree in the area of 4524 

science, technology, engineering, or mathematics. 4525 

   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 182 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

 c.  Teaches a high school course in the subject of the 4526 

advanced degree. 4527 

 d.  Is rated highly effective as determined by the 4528 

teacher's performance evaluation under s. 1012.34, based in part 4529 

on student performance as measured by a statewide, standardized 4530 

assessment or an Advanced Placement, Advanced International 4531 

Certificate of Education, or International Baccalaureate 4532 

examination. 4533 

 e.  Achieves a passing score on the Florida professional 4534 

education competency examination required by state board rule. 4535 

 3.  Meets the requirements of paragraphs (2)(a)-(h) and 4536 

completes a professional preparation and education competence 4537 

program approved by the department pursuant to paragraph (8)(c). 4538 

An applicant who completes the program and is rated highly 4539 

effective as determined by his or her performance evaluation 4540 

under s. 1012.34 is not required to take or achieve a passing 4541 

score on the professional education competency examination in 4542 

order to be awarded a professional certificate. 4543 

 (b)  The department shall issue a temporary certificate to 4544 

any applicant who completes the requirements outlined in 4545 

paragraphs (2)(a)-(f) and completes the subject area content 4546 

requirements specified in state board rule or demonstrates 4547 

mastery of subject area knowledge pursuant to subsection (5) and 4548 

holds an accredited degree or a degree approved by the 4549 

Department of Education at the level required for the subject 4550 



   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 183 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

area specialization in state board rule. 4551 

 (c)  The department shall issue one nonrenewable 2-year 4552 

temporary certificate and one nonrenewable 5-year professional 4553 

certificate to a qualified applicant who holds a bachelor's 4554 

degree in the area of speech-language impairment to allow for 4555 

completion of a master's degree program in speech-language 4556 

impairment. 4557 

 4558 

Each temporary certificate is valid for 3 school fiscal years 4559 

and is nonrenewable. However, the requirement in paragraph 4560 

(2)(g) must be met within 1 calendar year of the date of 4561 

employment under the temporary certificate. Individuals who are 4562 

employed under contract at the end of the 1 calendar year time 4563 

period may continue to be employed through the end of the school 4564 

year in which they have been contracted. A school district shall 4565 

not employ, or continue the employment of, an individual in a 4566 

position for which a temporary certificate is required beyond 4567 

this time period if the individual has not met the requirement 4568 

of paragraph (2)(g). At least 1 year before an individual's 4569 

temporary certificate is set to expire, the department shall 4570 

electronically notify the individual of the date on which his or 4571 

her certificate will expire and provide a list of each method by 4572 

which the qualifications for a professional certificate can be 4573 

completed. The State Board of Education shall adopt rules to 4574 

allow the department to extend the validity period of a 4575 

   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 184 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

temporary certificate for 2 years when the requirements for the 4576 

professional certificate, not including the requirement in 4577 

paragraph (2)(g), were not completed due to the serious illness 4578 

or injury of the applicant, the military service of an 4579 

applicant's spouse, or other extraordinary extenuating 4580 

circumstances. The rules must authorize the department to extend 4581 

the validity period of a temporary certificate or for 1 year if 4582 

the temporary certificateholder is rated effective or highly 4583 

effective based solely on a student learning growth formula 4584 

approved by the Commissioner of Education pursuant to s. 4585 

1012.34(8). The department shall reissue the temporary 4586 

certificate for 2 additional years upon approval by the 4587 

Commissioner of Education. A written request for reissuance of 4588 

the certificate shall be submitted by the district school 4589 

superintendent, the governing authority of a university lab 4590 

school, the governing authority of a state-supported school, or 4591 

the governing authority of a private school. 4592 

 Section 52.  Section 1012.562, Florida Statutes, is amended 4593 

to read: 4594 

 1012.562  Public accountability and state approval of 4595 

school leader preparation programs.—The Department of Education 4596 

shall establish a process for the approval of Level I and Level 4597 

II school leader preparation programs that will enable aspiring 4598 

school leaders to obtain their certificate in educational 4599 

leadership under s. 1012.56. School leader preparation programs 4600 



   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 185 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

must be competency-based, aligned to the principal leadership 4601 

standards adopted by the state board, and open to individuals 4602 

employed by public schools, including charter schools and 4603 

virtual schools. Level I programs may be offered by school 4604 

districts or postsecondary institutions and lead to initial 4605 

certification in educational leadership for the purpose of 4606 

preparing individuals to serve as school administrators. Level 4607 

II programs may be offered by school districts, build upon Level 4608 

I training, and lead to renewal certification as a school 4609 

principal. 4610 

 (1)  PURPOSE.—The purpose of school leader preparation 4611 

programs are to: 4612 

 (a)  Increase the supply of effective school leaders in the 4613 

public schools of this state. 4614 

 (b)  Produce school leaders who are prepared to lead the 4615 

state's diverse student population in meeting high standards for 4616 

academic achievement. 4617 

 (c)  Enable school leaders to facilitate the development 4618 

and retention of effective and highly effective classroom 4619 

teachers. 4620 

 (d)  Produce leaders with the competencies and skills 4621 

necessary to achieve the state's education goals. 4622 

 (e)  Sustain the state system of school improvement and 4623 

education accountability. 4624 

 (2)  LEVEL I PROGRAMS.— 4625 

   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 186 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

 (a)  Initial approval of a Level I program shall be for a 4626 

period of 5 years. A postsecondary institution, or school 4627 

district, charter school, or charter management organization may 4628 

submit to the department in a format prescribed by the 4629 

department an application to establish a Level I school leader 4630 

preparation program. To be approved, a Level I program must: 4631 

 1.  Provide competency-based training aligned to the 4632 

principal leadership standards adopted by the State Board of 4633 

Education. 4634 

 2.  If the program is provided by a postsecondary 4635 

institution, partner with at least one school district. 4636 

 3.  Describe the qualifications that will be used to 4637 

determine program admission standards, including a candidate's 4638 

instructional expertise and leadership potential. 4639 

 4.  Describe how the training provided through the program 4640 

will be aligned to the personnel evaluation criteria under s. 4641 

1012.34. 4642 

 (b)  Renewal of a Level I program's approval shall be for a 4643 

period of 5 years and shall be based upon evidence of the 4644 

program's continued ability to meet the requirements of 4645 

paragraph (a). A postsecondary institution or school district 4646 

must submit an institutional program evaluation plan in a format 4647 

prescribed by the department for a Level I program to be 4648 

considered for renewal. The plan must include: 4649 

 1.  The percentage of personnel who complete the program 4650 



   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 187 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

and are placed in school leadership positions in public schools 4651 

within the state. 4652 

 2.  Results from the personnel evaluations required under 4653 

s. 1012.34 for personnel who complete the program. 4654 

 3.  The passage rate of personnel who complete the program 4655 

on the Florida Education Leadership Examination. 4656 

 4.  The impact personnel who complete the program have on 4657 

student learning as measured by the formulas developed by the 4658 

commissioner pursuant to s. 1012.34(7). 4659 

 5.  Strategies for continuous improvement of the program. 4660 

 6.  Strategies for involving personnel who complete the 4661 

program, other school personnel, community agencies, business 4662 

representatives, and other stakeholders in the program 4663 

evaluation process. 4664 

 7.  Additional data included at the discretion of the 4665 

postsecondary institution or school district. 4666 

 (c)  A Level I program must guarantee the high quality of 4667 

personnel who complete the program for the first 2 years after 4668 

program completion or the person's initial certification as a 4669 

school leader, whichever occurs first. If a person who completed 4670 

the program is evaluated at less than highly effective or 4671 

effective under s. 1012.34 and the person's employer requests 4672 

additional training, the Level I program must provide additional 4673 

training at no cost to the person or his or her employer. The 4674 

training must include the creation of an individualized plan 4675 

   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 188 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

agreed to by the employer that includes specific learning 4676 

outcomes. The Level I program is not responsible for the 4677 

person's employment contract with his or her employer. 4678 

 (3)  LEVEL II PROGRAMS.—Initial approval and subsequent 4679 

renewal of a Level II program shall be for a period of 5 years. 4680 

A school district, charter school, or charter management 4681 

organization may submit to the department in a format prescribed 4682 

by the department an application to establish a Level II school 4683 

leader preparation program or for program renewal. To be 4684 

approved or renewed, a Level II program must: 4685 

 (a)  Demonstrate that personnel accepted into the Level II 4686 

program have: 4687 

 1.  Obtained their certificate in educational leadership 4688 

under s. 1012.56. 4689 

 2.  Earned a highly effective or effective designation 4690 

under s. 1012.34. 4691 

 3.  Satisfactorily performed instructional leadership 4692 

responsibilities as measured by the evaluation system in s. 4693 

1012.34. 4694 

 (b)  Demonstrate that the Level II program: 4695 

 1.  Provides competency-based training aligned to the 4696 

principal leadership standards adopted by the State Board of 4697 

Education. 4698 

 2.  Provides training aligned to the personnel evaluation 4699 

criteria under s. 1012.34 and professional development program 4700 



   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 189 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

in s. 1012.986. 4701 

 3.  Provides individualized instruction using a customized 4702 

learning plan for each person enrolled in the program that is 4703 

based on data from self-assessment, selection, and appraisal 4704 

instruments. 4705 

 4.  Conducts program evaluations and implements program 4706 

improvements using input from personnel who completed the 4707 

program and employers and data gathered pursuant to paragraph 4708 

(2)(b). 4709 

 (c)  Gather and monitor the data specified in paragraph 4710 

(2)(b). 4711 

 (4)  RULES.—The State Board of Education shall adopt rules 4712 

to administer this section. 4713 

 Section 53. Subsection (3) is added to section 1012.59, 4714 

Florida Statutes, to read: 4715 

 1012.59  Certification fees.—  4716 

 (3)  The State Board of Education shall waive initial 4717 

general knowledge, professional education, and subject area 4718 

examination fees and certification fees for: 4719 

 (a)  A member of the United States Armed Forces or a 4720 

reserve component thereof who is serving or has served on active 4721 

duty and the spouse of such a member. 4722 

 (b)  The surviving spouse of a member of the United States 4723 

Armed Forces or a reserve component thereof who was serving on 4724 

active duty at the time of death. 4725 

   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 190 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

 (c)  An honorably discharged veteran of the United States 4726 

Armed Forces or a veteran of a reserve component thereof who 4727 

served on active duty and the spouse or surviving spouse of such 4728 

a veteran.   4729 

 Section 54.  Subsection (11) of section 1012.98, Florida 4730 

Statutes, is amended to read: 4731 

 1012.98  School Community Professional Development Act.— 4732 

 (11)  The department shall disseminate to the school 4733 

community proven model professional development programs that 4734 

have demonstrated success in increasing rigorous and relevant 4735 

content, increasing student achievement and engagement, meeting 4736 

identified student needs, and providing effective mentorship 4737 

activities to new teachers and training to teacher mentors. The 4738 

methods of dissemination must include a web-based statewide 4739 

performance-support system including a database of exemplary 4740 

professional development activities, a listing of available 4741 

professional development resources, training programs, and 4742 

available technical assistance. Professional development 4743 

resources must include sample course-at-a-glance and unit 4744 

overview templates that school districts may use when developing 4745 

curriculum. The templates must provide an organized structure 4746 

for addressing the Florida Standards, grade-level expectations, 4747 

evidence outcomes, and 21st century skills that build to 4748 

students' mastery of the standards at each grade level. Each 4749 

template must support teaching to greater intellectual depth and 4750 



   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 191 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

emphasize transfer and application of concepts, content, and 4751 

skills. At a minimum, each template must: 4752 

 (a)  Provide course or year-long sequencing of concept-4753 

based unit overviews based on the Florida Standards. 4754 

 (b)  Describe the knowledge and vocabulary necessary for 4755 

comprehension. 4756 

 (c)  Promote the instructional shifts required within the 4757 

Florida Standards. 4758 

 (d)  Illustrate the interdependence of grade level 4759 

expectations within and across content areas within a grade. 4760 

 Section 55.  Paragraph (a) of subsection (2) of section 4761 

1013.28, Florida Statutes, is amended to read: 4762 

 1013.28  Disposal of property.— 4763 

 (2)  TANGIBLE PERSONAL PROPERTY.— 4764 

 (a)  Tangible personal property that has been properly 4765 

classified as surplus by a district school board or Florida 4766 

College System institution board of trustees shall be disposed 4767 

of in accordance with the procedure established by chapter 274.  4768 

However, the provisions of chapter 274 shall not be applicable 4769 

to a motor vehicle used in driver education to which title is 4770 

obtained for a token amount from an automobile dealer or 4771 

manufacturer. In such cases, the disposal of the vehicle shall 4772 

be as prescribed in the contractual agreement between the 4773 

automotive agency or manufacturer and the board. Tangible 4774 

personal property that has been properly classified as surplus, 4775 

   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 192 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

marked for disposal, or otherwise unused by a district school 4776 

board shall be provided for a charter school's use on the same 4777 

basis as it is made available to other public schools in the 4778 

district. A charter school receiving property from the school 4779 

district may not sell or dispose of such property without the 4780 

written permission of the school district. 4781 

 Section 56.  Paragraph (e) is added to subsection (2) of 4782 

section 1013.385, Florida Statutes, to read: 4783 

 1013.385  School district construction flexibility.— 4784 

 (2)  A resolution adopted under this section may propose 4785 

implementation of exceptions to requirements of the uniform 4786 

statewide building code for the planning and construction of 4787 

public educational and ancillary plants adopted pursuant to ss. 4788 

553.73 and 1013.37 relating to: 4789 

 (e)  Any other provisions that limit the ability of a 4790 

school to operate in a facility on the same basis as a charter 4791 

school pursuant to s. 1002.33(18) so long as the regional 4792 

planning council determines that there is sufficient shelter 4793 

capacity within the school district as documented in the 4794 

Statewide Emergency Shelter Plan. 4795 

 Section 57.  Subsections (1), (3), and (5) of section 4796 

1013.62, Florida Statutes, are amended to read: 4797 

 1013.62  Charter schools capital outlay funding.— 4798 

 (1)  Charter school capital outlay funding shall consist of 4799 

revenue resulting from the discretionary millage authorized in 4800 



   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 193 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

s. 1011.71(2) and state funds when such funds are appropriated 4801 

in the General Appropriations Act. However, if the amount of 4802 

state funds appropriated for charter school capital outlay in 4803 

any fiscal year is not equal to or is less than the average 4804 

charter school capital outlay funds per unweighted full-time 4805 

equivalent student for the 2018-2019 fiscal year, multiplied by 4806 

the estimated number of charter school students for the 4807 

applicable fiscal year, and adjusted by changes in the Consumer 4808 

Price Index from the previous fiscal year, charter school 4809 

capital outlay funding shall also consist of revenue resulting 4810 

from the discretionary millage authorized in s. 1011.71(2). 4811 

 (a)  To be eligible to receive capital outlay funds, a 4812 

charter school must: 4813 

 1.a.  Have been in operation for 2 or more years; 4814 

 b.  Be governed by a governing board established in the 4815 

state for 2 or more years which operates both charter schools 4816 

and conversion charter schools within the state; 4817 

 c.  Be an expanded feeder chain of a charter school within 4818 

the same school district that is currently receiving charter 4819 

school capital outlay funds; 4820 

 d.  Have been accredited by a regional accrediting 4821 

association as defined by State Board of Education rule; or 4822 

 e.  Serve students in facilities that are provided by a 4823 

business partner for a charter school-in-the-workplace pursuant 4824 

to s. 1002.33(15)(b). 4825 

   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 194 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

 2.  Have an annual audit that does not reveal any of the 4826 

financial emergency conditions provided in s. 218.503(1) for the 4827 

most recent fiscal year for which such audit results are 4828 

available. 4829 

 3.  Have satisfactory student achievement based on state 4830 

accountability standards applicable to the charter school. 4831 

 4.  Have received final approval from its sponsor pursuant 4832 

to s. 1002.33 for operation during that fiscal year. 4833 

 5.  Serve students in facilities that are not provided by 4834 

the charter school's sponsor. 4835 

 (b)  A charter school is not eligible to receive capital 4836 

outlay funds if it was created by the conversion of a public 4837 

school and operates in facilities provided by the charter 4838 

school's sponsor for a nominal fee, or at no charge, or if it is 4839 

directly or indirectly operated by the school district. 4840 

 (3)  If the school board levies the discretionary millage 4841 

authorized in s. 1011.71(2), and the state funds appropriated 4842 

for charter school capital outlay in any fiscal year are not 4843 

equal to or are less than the average charter school capital 4844 

outlay funds per unweighted full-time equivalent student for the 4845 

2018-2019 fiscal year, multiplied by the estimated number of 4846 

charter school students for the applicable fiscal year, and 4847 

adjusted by changes in the Consumer Price Index from the 4848 

previous fiscal year, the department shall use the following 4849 

calculation methodology to determine the amount of revenue that 4850 



   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 195 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

a school district must distribute to each eligible charter 4851 

school: 4852 

 (a)  Reduce the total discretionary millage revenue by the 4853 

school district's annual debt service obligation incurred as of 4854 

March 1, 2017, which has not been subsequently retired, and any 4855 

amount of participation requirement pursuant to s. 4856 

1013.64(2)(a)8. that is being satisfied by revenues raised by 4857 

the discretionary millage. 4858 

 (b)  Divide the school district's adjusted discretionary 4859 

millage revenue by the district's total capital outlay full-time 4860 

equivalent membership and the total number of unweighted full-4861 

time equivalent students of each eligible charter school to 4862 

determine a capital outlay allocation per full-time equivalent 4863 

student. 4864 

 (c)  Multiply the capital outlay allocation per full-time 4865 

equivalent student by the total number of full-time equivalent 4866 

students of each eligible charter school to determine the 4867 

capital outlay allocation for each charter school. 4868 

 (d)  If applicable, reduce the capital outlay allocation 4869 

identified in paragraph (c) by the total amount of state funds 4870 

allocated to each eligible charter school in subsection (2) to 4871 

determine the maximum calculated capital outlay allocation. 4872 

 (e)  School districts shall distribute capital outlay funds 4873 

to charter schools no later than February 1 of each year if 4874 

required by this subsection, beginning on February 1, 2018, for 4875 

   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 196 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

the 2017-2018 fiscal year. 4876 

 4877 

By October 1 of each year, each school district shall certify to 4878 

the department the amount of debt service and participation 4879 

requirement that complies with the requirement of paragraph (a) 4880 

and can be reduced from the total discretionary millage revenue. 4881 

The Auditor General shall verify compliance with the 4882 

requirements of paragraph (a) and s. 1011.71(2)(e) during 4883 

scheduled operational audits of school districts. 4884 

 (5)  If a charter school is nonrenewed or terminated, any 4885 

unencumbered funds and all equipment and property purchased with 4886 

district public funds shall revert to the ownership of the 4887 

district school board, as provided for in s. 1002.33(8)(d) and 4888 

(e) s. 1002.33(8)(e) and (f). In the case of a charter lab 4889 

school, any unencumbered funds and all equipment and property 4890 

purchased with university public funds shall revert to the 4891 

ownership of the state university that issued the charter. The 4892 

reversion of such equipment, property, and furnishings shall 4893 

focus on recoverable assets, but not on intangible or 4894 

irrecoverable costs such as rental or leasing fees, normal 4895 

maintenance, and limited renovations. The reversion of all 4896 

property secured with public funds is subject to the complete 4897 

satisfaction of all lawful liens or encumbrances. If there are 4898 

additional local issues such as the shared use of facilities or 4899 

partial ownership of facilities or property, these issues shall 4900 



   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 197 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

be agreed to in the charter contract prior to the expenditure of 4901 

funds. 4902 

 Section 58.  For the 2018-2019 fiscal year, the sum of 4903 

$19,350,000 in recurring funds from the General Revenue Fund and 4904 

the sum of $850,000 in nonrecurring funds from the General 4905 

Revenue Fund are appropriated to the Department of Education to 4906 

implement this act. Of the recurring funds, $9,700,000 shall be 4907 

used to fund reading scholarship accounts pursuant to s. 4908 

1002.411, Florida Statutes, $300,000 shall be provided as an 4909 

administrative fee pursuant to s. 1002.411(7)(g), Florida 4910 

Statutes, $2,000,000 shall be used to implement the provisions 4911 

of s. 1002.40(8), Florida Statutes, $5,600,000 shall be used to 4912 

implement the provisions of s. 1008.22(3)(d), Florida Statutes, 4913 

$950,000 shall be used to implement the additional oversight 4914 

requirements pursuant to s. 1002.421, Florida Statutes, $250,000 4915 

shall be used to issue a competitive grant award pursuant to s. 4916 

1002.395(9), Florida Statutes, and $550,000 shall be used for 4917 

instructional materials pursuant to s. 1007.271(13), Florida 4918 

Statutes. Of the nonrecurring funds, $750,000 shall be used to 4919 

fund the web-based fiscal transparency tool required pursuant to 4920 

s. 1010.20(2)(c), Florida Statutes, and $100,000 shall be used 4921 

to implement the provisions of s. 1011.051(2)(b), Florida 4922 

Statutes. 4923 

 Section 59.  The Department of Revenue may, and all 4924 

conditions are deemed met to, adopt emergency rules pursuant to 4925 

   

 

CS/HB 7055  2018 

 

 

 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb7055-01-c1 

Page 198 of 198 

F L O R I D A  H O U S E  O F  R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

 

 

 

ss. 120.536(1) and 120.54, Florida Statutes, to administer this 4926 

act.  4927 

 Section 60.  This act shall take effect July 1, 2018. 4928 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 1 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

LEGISLATIVE ACTION 

Senate 

Comm: FAV 

02/21/2018 

 

 

 

 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

 

House 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Committee on Education (Hukill) recommended the following: 

 

Senate Amendment (with title amendment) 1 

 2 

Delete everything after the enacting clause 3 

and insert: 4 

Section 1. Section 212.1832, Florida Statutes, is created 5 

to read: 6 

212.1832 Credit for contributions to the Hope Scholarship 7 

Program.— 8 

(1) Upon adoption of rules, the purchaser of a motor 9 

vehicle shall be granted a credit of 100 percent of an eligible 10 

contribution made to an eligible nonprofit scholarship-funding 11 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 2 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

organization under s. 1002.40 against any tax imposed by the 12 

state and collected from the purchaser by a dealer, designated 13 

agent, or private tag agent as a result of the purchase or 14 

acquisition of a motor vehicle. For purposes of this subsection, 15 

the term “purchase” does not include the lease or rental of a 16 

motor vehicle. 17 

(2) A dealer shall take a credit against any tax imposed by 18 

the state under this chapter on the purchase of a motor vehicle 19 

in an amount equal to the credit granted to the purchaser under 20 

subsection (1). 21 

(3) For purposes of the distributions of tax revenue under 22 

s. 212.20, the department shall disregard any tax credits 23 

allowed under this section to ensure that any reduction in tax 24 

revenue received that is attributable to the tax credits results 25 

only in a reduction in distributions to the General Revenue 26 

Fund. The provisions of s. 1002.40 apply to the credit 27 

authorized by this section. 28 

Section 2. Subsection (21) is added to section 213.053, 29 

Florida Statutes, to read: 30 

213.053 Confidentiality and information sharing.— 31 

(21)(a) The department may provide to an eligible nonprofit 32 

scholarship-funding organization, as defined in s. 1002.40, a 33 

dealer’s name, address, federal employer identification number, 34 

and information related to differences between credits taken by 35 

the dealer pursuant to s. 212.1832(2) and amounts remitted to 36 

the eligible nonprofit scholarship-funding organization under s. 37 

1002.40(13)(b)3. The eligible nonprofit scholarship-funding 38 

organization may use the information for purposes of recovering 39 

eligible contributions designated for that organization that 40 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 3 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

were collected by the dealer but never remitted to the 41 

organization. 42 

(b) Nothing in this subsection authorizes the disclosure of 43 

information if such disclosure is prohibited by federal law. An 44 

eligible nonprofit scholarship-funding organization is bound by 45 

the same requirements of confidentiality and the same penalties 46 

for a violation of the requirements as the department. 47 

Section 3. Effective July 1, 2019, chapter 623, Florida 48 

Statutes, consisting of sections 623.01, 623.02, 623.03, 623.04, 49 

623.05, 623.06, 623.07, 623.08, 623.09, 623.10, 623.11, 623.12, 50 

623.13, and 623.14, is repealed. 51 

Section 4. Subsections (4) and (5) of section 1001.10, 52 

Florida Statutes, are amended to read: 53 

1001.10 Commissioner of Education; general powers and 54 

duties.— 55 

(4) The Department of Education shall provide technical 56 

assistance to school districts, charter schools, the Florida 57 

School for the Deaf and the Blind, and private schools that 58 

accept scholarship students under s. 1002.385, s. 1002.39, or s. 59 

1002.395, or another state scholarship program under chapter 60 

1002 in the development of policies, procedures, and training 61 

related to employment practices and standards of ethical conduct 62 

for instructional personnel and school administrators, as 63 

defined in s. 1012.01. 64 

(5) The Department of Education shall provide authorized 65 

staff of school districts, charter schools, the Florida School 66 

for the Deaf and the Blind, and private schools that accept 67 

scholarship students under s. 1002.385, s. 1002.39, or s. 68 

1002.395, or another state scholarship program under chapter 69 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 4 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

1002 with access to electronic verification of information from 70 

the following employment screening tools: 71 

(a) The Professional Practices’ Database of Disciplinary 72 

Actions Against Educators; and 73 

(b) The Department of Education’s Teacher Certification 74 

Database. 75 

 76 

This subsection does not require the department to provide these 77 

staff with unlimited access to the databases. However, the 78 

department shall provide the staff with access to the data 79 

necessary for performing employment history checks of the 80 

instructional personnel and school administrators included in 81 

the databases. 82 

Section 5. Section 1001.4205, Florida Statutes, is amended 83 

to read: 84 

1001.4205 Visitation of schools by an individual school 85 

board or charter school governing board member.—An individual 86 

member of a district school board may, on any day and at any 87 

time at his or her pleasure, visit any district school in his or 88 

her school district. An individual member of the State 89 

Legislature may, on any day and at any time at his or her 90 

pleasure, visit any district school, including any charter 91 

school, in his or her legislative district. An individual member 92 

of a charter school governing board member may, on any day and 93 

at any time at his or her pleasure, visit any charter school 94 

governed by the charter school’s governing board. 95 

(1) The visiting individual board member must sign in and 96 

sign out at the school’s main office and wear his or her board 97 

or State Legislature identification badge, as applicable, at all 98 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 5 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

times while present on school premises. 99 

(2) The board, the school, or any other person or entity, 100 

including, but not limited to, the principal of the school, the 101 

school superintendent, or any other board member, may not 102 

require the visiting individual board member to provide notice 103 

before visiting the school. 104 

(3) The school may offer, but may not require, an escort to 105 

accompany the a visiting individual board member during the 106 

visit. 107 

(4) A Another board member or a district employee, 108 

including, but not limited to, the superintendent, the school 109 

principal, or the superintendent’s or the principal’s his or her 110 

designee, may not limit the duration or scope of the visit or 111 

direct the a visiting individual board member to leave the 112 

premises. 113 

(5) A board, district, or school administrative policy or 114 

practice may not prohibit or limit the authority granted to the 115 

visiting individual a board member under this section. 116 

Section 6. Section 1002.01, Florida Statutes, is amended to 117 

read: 118 

1002.01 Definitions.— 119 

(1) A “home education program” means the sequentially 120 

progressive instruction of a student directed by his or her 121 

parent in order to satisfy the attendance requirements of ss. 122 

1002.41, 1003.01(13), and 1003.21(1). 123 

(2) A “private school” is a nonpublic school that is 124 

registered in accordance with s. 1002.42 and is defined as an 125 

individual, association, copartnership, or corporation, or 126 

department, division, or section of such organizations, that 127 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 6 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

designates itself as an educational center that includes 128 

kindergarten or a higher grade or as an elementary, secondary, 129 

business, technical, or trade school below college level or any 130 

organization that provides instructional services that meet the 131 

intent of s. 1003.01(13) or that gives preemployment or 132 

supplementary training in technology or in fields of trade or 133 

industry or that offers academic, literary, or career training 134 

below college level, or any combination of the above, including 135 

an institution that performs the functions of the above schools 136 

through correspondence or extension, except those licensed under 137 

the provisions of chapter 1005. A private school may be a 138 

parochial, religious, denominational, for-profit, or nonprofit 139 

school attended by a student in order to satisfy the attendance 140 

requirements of s. 1003.01(13). This definition does not include 141 

home education programs conducted in accordance with s. 1002.41. 142 

(3) For purposes of this chapter, a “scholarship program” 143 

means any one of the following: 144 

(a) The Opportunity Scholarship Program established 145 

pursuant to s. 1002.38. 146 

(b) The Gardiner Scholarship Program established pursuant 147 

to s. 1002.385. 148 

(c) The John M. McKay Scholarships for Students with 149 

Disabilities Program established pursuant to s. 1002.39. 150 

(d) The Florida Tax Credit Scholarship Program established 151 

pursuant to s. 1002.395. 152 

(e) The Hope Scholarship Program established pursuant to s. 153 

1002.40. 154 

Section 7. Paragraph (b) of subsection (2) and subsection 155 

(6) of section 1002.20, Florida Statutes, are amended to read: 156 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 7 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

1002.20 K-12 student and parent rights.—Parents of public 157 

school students must receive accurate and timely information 158 

regarding their child’s academic progress and must be informed 159 

of ways they can help their child to succeed in school. K-12 160 

students and their parents are afforded numerous statutory 161 

rights including, but not limited to, the following: 162 

(2) ATTENDANCE.— 163 

(b) Regular school attendance.—Parents of students who have 164 

attained the age of 6 years by February 1 of any school year but 165 

who have not attained the age of 16 years must comply with the 166 

compulsory school attendance laws. Parents have the option to 167 

comply with the school attendance laws by attendance of the 168 

student in a public school; a private parochial, religious, or 169 

denominational school; a private school; or a home education 170 

program; or a private tutoring program, in accordance with the 171 

provisions of s. 1003.01(13). 172 

(6) EDUCATIONAL CHOICE.— 173 

(a) Public educational school choices.—Parents of public 174 

school students may seek any public educational school choice 175 

options that are applicable and available to students throughout 176 

the state. These options may include controlled open enrollment, 177 

single-gender programs, lab schools, virtual instruction 178 

programs, charter schools, charter technical career centers, 179 

magnet schools, alternative schools, special programs, auditory-180 

oral education programs, advanced placement, dual enrollment, 181 

International Baccalaureate, International General Certificate 182 

of Secondary Education (pre-AICE), CAPE digital tools, CAPE 183 

industry certifications, collegiate high school programs, 184 

Advanced International Certificate of Education, early 185 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 8 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

admissions, credit by examination or demonstration of 186 

competency, the New World School of the Arts, the Florida School 187 

for the Deaf and the Blind, and the Florida Virtual School. 188 

These options may also include the public educational choice 189 

options of the Opportunity Scholarship Program and the McKay 190 

Scholarships for Students with Disabilities Program. 191 

(b) Private educational choices.—The parent of a student 192 

may choose to enroll the student in a private school, as defined 193 

in s. 1002.01(2). Parents of public school students may seek 194 

private educational choice options under certain programs. 195 

1. Under the McKay Scholarships for Students with 196 

Disabilities Program, the parent of a public school student with 197 

a disability may request and receive a McKay Scholarship for the 198 

student to attend a private school in accordance with s. 199 

1002.39. 200 

2. Under the Florida Tax Credit Scholarship Program, the 201 

parent of a student who qualifies for free or reduced-price 202 

school lunch or who is currently placed, or during the previous 203 

state fiscal year was placed, in foster care as defined in s. 204 

39.01 may seek a scholarship from an eligible nonprofit 205 

scholarship-funding organization in accordance with s. 1002.395. 206 

3. Under the Gardiner Scholarship Program Florida Personal 207 

Learning Scholarship Accounts Program, the parent of a student 208 

with a qualifying disability may apply for a Gardiner 209 

Scholarship personal learning scholarship to be used for 210 

individual educational needs in accordance with s. 1002.385. 211 

4. Under the Hope Scholarship Program, the parent of a 212 

student who was the victim of a substantiated incident of 213 

violence or abuse while attending a public school may seek a 214 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 9 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

scholarship for the student to attend a private school in 215 

accordance with s. 1002.40. 216 

(c) Home education.—The parent of a student may choose to 217 

place the student in a home education program, as defined in s. 218 

1002.01(1), in accordance with the provisions of s. 1002.41. 219 

(d) Private tutoring.—The parent of a student may choose to 220 

place the student in a private tutoring program in accordance 221 

with the provisions of s. 1002.43(1). 222 

Section 8. Paragraph (b) of subsection (6) of section 223 

1002.33, Florida Statutes, is amended to read: 224 

1002.33 Charter schools.— 225 

(6) APPLICATION PROCESS AND REVIEW.—Charter school 226 

applications are subject to the following requirements: 227 

(b) A sponsor shall receive and review all applications for 228 

a charter school using the evaluation instrument developed by 229 

the Department of Education. A sponsor shall receive and 230 

consider charter school applications received on or before 231 

August 1 of each calendar year for charter schools to be opened 232 

at the beginning of the school district’s next school year, or 233 

to be opened at a time agreed to by the applicant and the 234 

sponsor. A sponsor may not refuse to receive a charter school 235 

application submitted before August 1 and may receive an 236 

application submitted later than August 1 if it chooses. 237 

Beginning in 2018 and thereafter, a sponsor shall receive and 238 

consider charter school applications received on or before 239 

February 1 of each calendar year for charter schools to be 240 

opened 18 months later at the beginning of the school district’s 241 

school year, or to be opened at a time agreed to by the 242 

applicant and the sponsor. A sponsor may not refuse to receive a 243 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 10 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

charter school application submitted before February 1 and may 244 

receive an application submitted later than February 1 if it 245 

chooses. A sponsor may not charge an applicant for a charter any 246 

fee for the processing or consideration of an application, and a 247 

sponsor may not base its consideration or approval of a final 248 

application upon the promise of future payment of any kind. 249 

Before approving or denying any application, the sponsor shall 250 

allow the applicant, upon receipt of written notification, at 251 

least 7 calendar days to make technical or nonsubstantive 252 

corrections and clarifications, including, but not limited to, 253 

corrections of grammatical, typographical, and like errors or 254 

missing signatures, if such errors are identified by the sponsor 255 

as cause to deny the final application. 256 

1. In order to facilitate an accurate budget projection 257 

process, a sponsor shall be held harmless for FTE students who 258 

are not included in the FTE projection due to approval of 259 

charter school applications after the FTE projection deadline. 260 

In a further effort to facilitate an accurate budget projection, 261 

within 15 calendar days after receipt of a charter school 262 

application, a sponsor shall report to the Department of 263 

Education the name of the applicant entity, the proposed charter 264 

school location, and its projected FTE. 265 

2. In order to ensure fiscal responsibility, an application 266 

for a charter school shall include a full accounting of expected 267 

assets, a projection of expected sources and amounts of income, 268 

including income derived from projected student enrollments and 269 

from community support, and an expense projection that includes 270 

full accounting of the costs of operation, including start-up 271 

costs. 272 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 11 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

3.a. A sponsor shall by a majority vote approve or deny an 273 

application no later than 90 calendar days after the application 274 

is received, unless the sponsor and the applicant mutually agree 275 

in writing to temporarily postpone the vote to a specific date, 276 

at which time the sponsor shall by a majority vote approve or 277 

deny the application. If the sponsor fails to act on the 278 

application, an applicant may appeal to the State Board of 279 

Education as provided in paragraph (c). If an application is 280 

denied, the sponsor shall, within 10 calendar days after such 281 

denial, articulate in writing the specific reasons, based upon 282 

good cause, supporting its denial of the application and shall 283 

provide the letter of denial and supporting documentation to the 284 

applicant and to the Department of Education. 285 

b. An application submitted by a high-performing charter 286 

school identified pursuant to s. 1002.331 or a high-performing 287 

charter school system identified pursuant to s. 1002.332 may be 288 

denied by the sponsor only if the sponsor demonstrates by clear 289 

and convincing evidence that: 290 

(I) The application does not materially comply with the 291 

requirements in paragraph (a); 292 

(II) The charter school proposed in the application does 293 

not materially comply with the requirements in paragraphs 294 

(9)(a)-(f); 295 

(III) The proposed charter school’s educational program 296 

does not substantially replicate that of the applicant or one of 297 

the applicant’s high-performing charter schools; 298 

(IV) The applicant has made a material misrepresentation or 299 

false statement or concealed an essential or material fact 300 

during the application process; or 301 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 12 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

(V) The proposed charter school’s educational program and 302 

financial management practices do not materially comply with the 303 

requirements of this section. 304 

 305 

Material noncompliance is a failure to follow requirements or a 306 

violation of prohibitions applicable to charter school 307 

applications, which failure is quantitatively or qualitatively 308 

significant either individually or when aggregated with other 309 

noncompliance. An applicant is considered to be replicating a 310 

high-performing charter school if the proposed school is 311 

substantially similar to at least one of the applicant’s high-312 

performing charter schools and the organization or individuals 313 

involved in the establishment and operation of the proposed 314 

school are significantly involved in the operation of replicated 315 

schools. 316 

c. If the sponsor denies an application submitted by a 317 

high-performing charter school or a high-performing charter 318 

school system, the sponsor must, within 10 calendar days after 319 

such denial, state in writing the specific reasons, based upon 320 

the criteria in sub-subparagraph b., supporting its denial of 321 

the application and must provide the letter of denial and 322 

supporting documentation to the applicant and to the Department 323 

of Education. The applicant may appeal the sponsor’s denial of 324 

the application in accordance with paragraph (c). 325 

4. For budget projection purposes, the sponsor shall report 326 

to the Department of Education the approval or denial of an 327 

application within 10 calendar days after such approval or 328 

denial. In the event of approval, the report to the Department 329 

of Education shall include the final projected FTE for the 330 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 13 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

approved charter school. 331 

5. Upon approval of an application, the initial startup 332 

shall commence with the beginning of the public school calendar 333 

for the district in which the charter is granted. A charter 334 

school may defer the opening of the school’s operations for up 335 

to 3 2 years to provide time for adequate facility planning. The 336 

charter school must provide written notice of such intent to the 337 

sponsor and the parents of enrolled students at least 30 338 

calendar days before the first day of school. 339 

Section 9. Subsection (1) of section 1002.331, Florida 340 

Statutes, is amended to read: 341 

1002.331 High-performing charter schools.— 342 

(1) A charter school is a high-performing charter school if 343 

it: 344 

(a) Received at least two school grades of “A” and no 345 

school grade below “B,” pursuant to s. 1008.34, during each of 346 

the previous 3 school years or received at least two consecutive 347 

school grades of “A” in the most recent 2 school years. 348 

(b) Received an unqualified opinion on each annual 349 

financial audit required under s. 218.39 in the most recent 3 350 

fiscal years for which such audits are available. 351 

(c) Did not receive a financial audit that revealed one or 352 

more of the financial emergency conditions set forth in s. 353 

218.503(1) in the most recent 3 fiscal years for which such 354 

audits are available. However, this requirement is deemed met 355 

for a charter school-in-the-workplace if there is a finding in 356 

an audit that the school has the monetary resources available to 357 

cover any reported deficiency or that the deficiency does not 358 

result in a deteriorating financial condition pursuant to s. 359 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 14 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

1002.345(1)(a)3. 360 

 361 

For purposes of determining initial eligibility, the 362 

requirements of paragraphs (b) and (c) only apply to the most 363 

recent 2 fiscal years if the charter school earns two 364 

consecutive grades of “A.” A virtual charter school established 365 

under s. 1002.33 is not eligible for designation as a high-366 

performing charter school. 367 

Section 10. Present subsections (11) and (12) of section 368 

1002.333, Florida Statutes, are redesignated as subsections (12) 369 

and (13), respectively, a new subsection (11) is added to that 370 

section, and subsections (1) and (2), paragraph (a) of 371 

subsection (4), paragraphs (b), (g), and (i) of subsection (5), 372 

paragraph (a) of subsection (7), subsection (9), and paragraph 373 

(b) of subsection (10) of that section are amended, to read: 374 

1002.333 Persistently low-performing schools.— 375 

(1) DEFINITIONS.—As used in this section, the term: 376 

(a) “Hope operator” means an entity identified by the 377 

department pursuant to subsection (2). 378 

(b) “Persistently low-performing school” means a school 379 

that has completed 2 school years of a district-managed 380 

turnaround plan required under s. 1008.33(4)(a) and has not 381 

improved its school grade to a “C” or higher, earned three 382 

consecutive grades lower than a “C,” pursuant to s. 1008.34, and 383 

a school that was closed pursuant to s. 1008.33(4) within 2 384 

years after the submission of a notice of intent. 385 

(c) “School of hope” means: 386 

1. A charter school operated by a hope operator which 387 

serves students from one or more persistently low-performing 388 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 15 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

schools; is located in the attendance zone of a persistently 389 

low-performing school or within a 5-mile radius of such school, 390 

whichever is greater; and is a Title I eligible school; or 391 

2. A school operated by a hope operator pursuant to s. 392 

1008.33(4)(b)3.b. s. 1008.33(4)(b)3. 393 

(2) HOPE OPERATOR.—A hope operator is a nonprofit 394 

organization with tax exempt status under s. 501(c)(3) of the 395 

Internal Revenue Code which that operates three or more charter 396 

schools that serve students in grades K-12 in Florida or other 397 

states with a record of serving students from low-income 398 

families and is designated by the State Board of Education as a 399 

hope operator based on a determination that: 400 

(a) The past performance of the hope operator meets or 401 

exceeds the following criteria: 402 

1. The achievement of enrolled students exceeds the 403 

district and state averages of the states in which the 404 

operator’s schools operate; 405 

2. The average college attendance rate at all schools 406 

currently operated by the operator exceeds 80 percent, if such 407 

data is available; 408 

3. The percentage of students eligible for a free or 409 

reduced price lunch under the National School Lunch Act enrolled 410 

at all schools currently operated by the operator exceeds 70 411 

percent; 412 

4. The operator is in good standing with the authorizer in 413 

each state in which it operates; 414 

5. The audited financial statements of the operator are 415 

free of material misstatements and going concern issues; and 416 

6. Other outcome measures as determined by the State Board 417 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 16 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

of Education; 418 

(b) The operator was awarded a United States Department of 419 

Education Charter School Program Grant for Replication and 420 

Expansion of High-Quality Charter Schools within the preceding 3 421 

years before applying to be a hope operator; 422 

(c) The operator receives funding through the National Fund 423 

of the Charter School Growth Fund to accelerate the growth of 424 

the nation’s best charter schools; or 425 

(d) The operator is selected by a district school board in 426 

accordance with s. 1008.33. 427 

 428 

An entity that meets the requirements of paragraph (b), 429 

paragraph (c), or paragraph (d) before the adoption by the state 430 

board of measurable criteria pursuant to paragraph (a) shall be 431 

designated as a hope operator. After the adoption of the 432 

measurable criteria, an entity, including a governing board that 433 

operates a school established pursuant to s. 1008.33(4)(b)3.b. 434 

s. 1008.33(4)(b)3., shall be designated as a hope operator if it 435 

meets the criteria of paragraph (a). 436 

(4) ESTABLISHMENT OF SCHOOLS OF HOPE.—A hope operator 437 

seeking to open a school of hope must submit a notice of intent 438 

to the school district in which a persistently low-performing 439 

school has been identified by the State Board of Education 440 

pursuant to subsection (10). 441 

(a) The notice of intent must include all of the following: 442 

1. An academic focus and plan. 443 

2. A financial plan. 444 

3. Goals and objectives for increasing student achievement 445 

for the students from low-income families. 446 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 17 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

4. A completed or planned community outreach plan. 447 

5. The organizational history of success in working with 448 

students with similar demographics. 449 

6. The grade levels to be served and enrollment 450 

projections. 451 

7. The specific proposed location or geographic area 452 

proposed for the school and its proximity to the persistently 453 

low-performing school or the plan to use the district-owned 454 

facilities of the persistently low-performing school. 455 

8. A staffing plan. 456 

9. An operations plan specifying the operator’s intent to 457 

undertake the operations of the persistently low-performing 458 

school in its entirety or through limited components of the 459 

operations. 460 

(5) PERFORMANCE-BASED AGREEMENT.—The following shall 461 

comprise the entirety of the performance-based agreement: 462 

(b) The location or geographic area proposed for the school 463 

of hope and its proximity to the persistently low-performing 464 

school. 465 

(f)(g) The grounds for termination, including failure to 466 

meet the requirements for student performance established 467 

pursuant to paragraph (d) (e), generally accepted standards of 468 

fiscal management, or material violation of terms of the 469 

agreement. The nonrenewal or termination of a performance-based 470 

agreement must comply with the requirements of s. 1002.33(8). 471 

(h)(i) A provision establishing the initial term as 5 472 

years. The agreement must shall be renewed, upon the request of 473 

the hope operator, unless the school fails to meet the 474 

requirements for student performance established pursuant to 475 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 18 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

paragraph (d) (e) or generally accepted standards of fiscal 476 

management or the school of hope materially violates the law or 477 

the terms of the agreement. 478 

(7) FACILITIES.— 479 

(a)1. A school of hope that meets the definition under 480 

subparagraph (1)(c)1. shall use facilities that comply with the 481 

Florida Building Code, except for the State Requirements for 482 

Educational Facilities. A school of hope that uses school 483 

district facilities must comply with the State Requirements for 484 

Educational Facilities only if the school district and the hope 485 

operator have entered into a mutual management plan for the 486 

reasonable maintenance of such facilities. The mutual management 487 

plan shall contain a provision by which the district school 488 

board agrees to maintain the school facilities in the same 489 

manner as its other public schools within the district. 490 

2. A school of hope that meets the definition under 491 

subparagraph (1)(c)2. and that receives funds from the hope 492 

supplemental services allocation under s. 1011.62(16) shall use 493 

the district-owned facilities of the persistently low-performing 494 

school that the school of hope operates. A school of hope that 495 

uses district-owned facilities must enter into a mutual 496 

management plan with the school district for the reasonable 497 

maintenance of the facilities. The mutual management plan must 498 

contain a provision specifying that the district school board 499 

agrees to maintain the school facilities in the same manner as 500 

other public schools within the district. 501 

 502 

The local governing authority shall not adopt or impose any 503 

local building requirements or site-development restrictions, 504 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 19 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

such as parking and site-size criteria, student enrollment, and 505 

occupant load, that are addressed by and more stringent than 506 

those found in the State Requirements for Educational Facilities 507 

of the Florida Building Code. A local governing authority must 508 

treat schools of hope equitably in comparison to similar 509 

requirements, restrictions, and site planning processes imposed 510 

upon public schools. The agency having jurisdiction for 511 

inspection of a facility and issuance of a certificate of 512 

occupancy or use shall be the local municipality or, if in an 513 

unincorporated area, the county governing authority. If an 514 

official or employee of the local governing authority refuses to 515 

comply with this paragraph, the aggrieved school or entity has 516 

an immediate right to bring an action in circuit court to 517 

enforce its rights by injunction. An aggrieved party that 518 

receives injunctive relief may be awarded reasonable attorney 519 

fees and court costs. 520 

(9) FUNDING.— 521 

(a) Schools of hope shall be funded in accordance with s. 522 

1002.33(17). 523 

(b) Schools of hope shall receive priority in the 524 

department’s Public Charter School Grant Program competitions. 525 

(c) Schools of hope shall be considered charter schools for 526 

purposes of s. 1013.62, except charter capital outlay may not be 527 

used to purchase real property or for the construction of school 528 

facilities. 529 

(d) Schools of hope that meet the definition under 530 

subparagraph (1)(c)1. are eligible to receive funds from the 531 

Schools of Hope Program. 532 

(e) Schools of hope that meet the definition under 533 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 20 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

subparagraph (1)(c)2. are eligible to receive funds from the 534 

hope supplemental services allocation established under s. 535 

1011.62(16). 536 

(10) SCHOOLS OF HOPE PROGRAM.—The Schools of Hope Program 537 

is created within the Department of Education. 538 

(b) A traditional public school that is required to submit 539 

a plan for implementation pursuant to s. 1008.33(4) is eligible 540 

to receive funding for services authorized up to $2,000 per 541 

full-time equivalent student from the hope supplemental services 542 

allocation established under s. 1011.62(16) Schools of Hope 543 

Program based upon the strength of the school’s plan for 544 

implementation and its focus on evidence-based interventions 545 

that lead to student success by providing wrap-around services 546 

that leverage community assets, improve school and community 547 

collaboration, and develop family and community partnerships. 548 

Wrap-around services include, but are not limited to, tutorial 549 

and after-school programs, student counseling, nutrition 550 

education, parental counseling, and adult education. Plans for 551 

implementation may also include models that develop a culture of 552 

attending college, high academic expectations, character 553 

development, dress codes, and an extended school day and school 554 

year. At a minimum, a plan for implementation must: 555 

1. Establish wrap-around services that develop family and 556 

community partnerships. 557 

2. Establish clearly defined and measurable high academic 558 

and character standards. 559 

3. Increase parental involvement and engagement in the 560 

child’s education. 561 

4. Describe how the school district will identify, recruit, 562 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 21 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

retain, and reward instructional personnel. The state board may 563 

waive the requirements of s. 1012.22(1)(c)5., and suspend the 564 

requirements of s. 1012.34, to facilitate implementation of the 565 

plan. 566 

5. Identify a knowledge-rich curriculum that the school 567 

will use that focuses on developing a student’s background 568 

knowledge. 569 

6. Provide professional development that focuses on 570 

academic rigor, direct instruction, and creating high academic 571 

and character standards. 572 

(11) SCHOOLS OF HOPE MANAGEMENT.—A hope operator or the 573 

owner of a school of hope may not serve as the principal of any 574 

school that he or she manages. 575 

Section 11. Section 1002.334, Florida Statutes, is created 576 

to read: 577 

1002.334 Franchise model schools.— 578 

(1) As used in this section, the term “franchise model 579 

school” means a persistently low-performing school, as defined 580 

in s. 1002.333(1)(b), which is led by a highly effective 581 

principal in addition to the principal’s currently assigned 582 

school. If a franchise model school achieves a grade of “C” or 583 

higher, the school may retain its status as a franchise model 584 

school at the discretion of the school district. 585 

(2) A school district that has one or more persistently 586 

low-performing schools may use a franchise model school as a 587 

school turnaround option pursuant to s. 1008.33(4)(b)4. 588 

(3) A franchise model school principal: 589 

(a) Must be rated as highly effective pursuant to s. 590 

1012.34; 591 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 22 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

(b) May lead two or more schools, including a persistently 592 

low-performing school or a school that was considered a 593 

persistently low-performing school before becoming a franchise 594 

model school; 595 

(c) May allocate resources and personnel between the 596 

schools under his or her administration; however, he or she must 597 

expend hope supplemental services allocation funds, authorized 598 

under s. 1011.62(16), at the franchise model school; and 599 

(d) Is eligible to receive a Best and Brightest Principal 600 

award under s. 1012.732. 601 

Section 12. Paragraph (d) of subsection (2), paragraphs (d) 602 

and (h) of subsection (5), subsection (8), and paragraph (a) of 603 

subsection (11) of section 1002.385, Florida Statutes, are 604 

amended to read: 605 

1002.385 The Gardiner Scholarship.— 606 

(2) DEFINITIONS.—As used in this section, the term: 607 

(d) “Disability” means, for a 3- or 4-year-old child or for 608 

a student in kindergarten to grade 12, autism spectrum disorder, 609 

as defined in the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental 610 

Disorders, Fifth Edition, published by the American Psychiatric 611 

Association; cerebral palsy, as defined in s. 393.063(6); Down 612 

syndrome, as defined in s. 393.063(15); an intellectual 613 

disability, as defined in s. 393.063(24); Phelan-McDermid 614 

syndrome, as defined in s. 393.063(28); Prader-Willi syndrome, 615 

as defined in s. 393.063(29); spina bifida, as defined in s. 616 

393.063(40); being a high-risk child, as defined in s. 617 

393.063(23)(a); muscular dystrophy; Williams syndrome; a rare 618 

disease, a disorder that affects diseases which affect patient 619 

populations of fewer than 200,000 individuals or fewer in the 620 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 23 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

United States, as defined by the Orphan Drug Act of 1983, Pub. 621 

L. No. 97-414 National Organization for Rare Disorders; 622 

anaphylaxis; deaf; visually impaired; traumatic brain injured; 623 

hospital or homebound; or identification as dual sensory 624 

impaired, as defined by rules of the State Board of Education 625 

and evidenced by reports from local school districts. The term 626 

“hospital or homebound” includes a student who has a medically 627 

diagnosed physical or psychiatric condition or illness, as 628 

defined by the state board in rule, and who is confined to the 629 

home or hospital for more than 6 months. 630 

(5) AUTHORIZED USES OF PROGRAM FUNDS.—Program funds must be 631 

used to meet the individual educational needs of an eligible 632 

student and may be spent for the following purposes: 633 

(d) Enrollment in, or tuition or fees associated with 634 

enrollment in, a home education program, an eligible private 635 

school, an eligible postsecondary educational institution or a 636 

program offered by the institution, a private tutoring program 637 

authorized under s. 1002.43, a virtual program offered by a 638 

department-approved private online provider that meets the 639 

provider qualifications specified in s. 1002.45(2)(a), the 640 

Florida Virtual School as a private paying student, or an 641 

approved online course offered pursuant to s. 1003.499 or s. 642 

1004.0961. 643 

(h) Tuition and fees for part-time tutoring services 644 

provided by a person who holds a valid Florida educator’s 645 

certificate pursuant to s. 1012.56; a person who holds an 646 

adjunct teaching certificate pursuant to s. 1012.57; or a person 647 

who has demonstrated a mastery of subject area knowledge 648 

pursuant to s. 1012.56(5). As used in this paragraph, the term 649 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 24 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

“part-time tutoring services” does not qualify as regular school 650 

attendance as defined in s. 1003.01(13) s. 1003.01(13)(e). 651 

 652 

A provider of any services receiving payments pursuant to this 653 

subsection may not share, refund, or rebate any moneys from the 654 

Gardiner Scholarship with the parent or participating student in 655 

any manner. A parent, student, or provider of any services may 656 

not bill an insurance company, Medicaid, or any other agency for 657 

the same services that are paid for using Gardiner Scholarship 658 

funds. 659 

(8) PRIVATE SCHOOL ELIGIBILITY AND OBLIGATIONS.—An eligible 660 

private school may be sectarian or nonsectarian and shall: 661 

(a) Comply with all requirements for private schools 662 

participating in state school choice scholarship programs 663 

pursuant to s. 1002.421. 664 

(b) Provide to the organization, upon request, all 665 

documentation required for the student’s participation, 666 

including the private school’s and student’s fee schedules. 667 

(c) Be academically accountable to the parent for meeting 668 

the educational needs of the student by: 669 

1. At a minimum, annually providing to the parent a written 670 

explanation of the student’s progress. 671 

2. Annually administering or making provision for students 672 

participating in the program in grades 3 through 10 to take one 673 

of the nationally norm-referenced tests identified by the 674 

Department of Education or the statewide assessments pursuant to 675 

s. 1008.22. Students with disabilities for whom standardized 676 

testing is not appropriate are exempt from this requirement. A 677 

participating private school shall report a student’s scores to 678 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 25 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

the parent. 679 

3. Cooperating with the scholarship student whose parent 680 

chooses to have the student participate in the statewide 681 

assessments pursuant to s. 1008.22 or, if a private school 682 

chooses to offer the statewide assessments, administering the 683 

assessments at the school. 684 

a. A participating private school may choose to offer and 685 

administer the statewide assessments to all students who attend 686 

the private school in grades 3 through 10. 687 

b. A participating private school shall submit a request in 688 

writing to the Department of Education by March 1 of each year 689 

in order to administer the statewide assessments in the 690 

subsequent school year. 691 

(d) Employ or contract with teachers who have regular and 692 

direct contact with each student receiving a scholarship under 693 

this section at the school’s physical location. 694 

(e) Provide a report from an independent certified public 695 

accountant who performs the agreed-upon procedures developed 696 

under s. 1002.395(6)(o) if the private school receives more than 697 

$250,000 in funds from scholarships awarded under this chapter 698 

section in a state fiscal year. A private school subject to this 699 

paragraph must annually submit the report by September 15 to the 700 

organization that awarded the majority of the school’s 701 

scholarship funds. The agreed-upon procedures must be conducted 702 

in accordance with attestation standards established by the 703 

American Institute of Certified Public Accountants. 704 

 705 

If a private school fails or refuses is unable to meet the 706 

requirements of this subsection or has consecutive years of 707 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 26 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

material exceptions listed in the report required under 708 

paragraph (e), the commissioner may determine that the private 709 

school is ineligible to participate in the program. 710 

(11) PARENT AND STUDENT RESPONSIBILITIES FOR PROGRAM 711 

PARTICIPATION.—A parent who applies for program participation 712 

under this section is exercising his or her parental option to 713 

determine the appropriate placement or the services that best 714 

meet the needs of his or her child. The scholarship award for a 715 

student is based on a matrix that assigns the student to support 716 

Level III services. If a parent receives an IEP and a matrix of 717 

services from the school district pursuant to subsection (7), 718 

the amount of the payment shall be adjusted as needed, when the 719 

school district completes the matrix. 720 

(a) To satisfy or maintain program eligibility, including 721 

eligibility to receive and spend program payments, the parent 722 

must sign an agreement with the organization and annually submit 723 

a notarized, sworn compliance statement to the organization to: 724 

1. Affirm that the student is enrolled in a program that 725 

meets regular school attendance requirements as provided in s. 726 

1003.01(13)(b) or (c) s. 1003.01(13)(b)-(d). 727 

2. Affirm that the program funds are used only for 728 

authorized purposes serving the student’s educational needs, as 729 

described in subsection (5). 730 

3. Affirm that the parent is responsible for the education 731 

of his or her student by, as applicable: 732 

a. Requiring the student to take an assessment in 733 

accordance with paragraph (8)(c); 734 

b. Providing an annual evaluation in accordance with s. 735 

1002.41(1)(c); or 736 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 27 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

c. Requiring the child to take any preassessments and 737 

postassessments selected by the provider if the child is 4 years 738 

of age and is enrolled in a program provided by an eligible 739 

Voluntary Prekindergarten Education Program provider. A student 740 

with disabilities for whom a preassessment and postassessment is 741 

not appropriate is exempt from this requirement. A participating 742 

provider shall report a student’s scores to the parent. 743 

4. Affirm that the student remains in good standing with 744 

the provider or school if those options are selected by the 745 

parent. 746 

 747 

A parent who fails to comply with this subsection forfeits the 748 

Gardiner Scholarship. 749 

Section 13. Subsection (3), paragraph (f) of subsection 750 

(6), and subsection (8) of section 1002.39, Florida Statutes, 751 

are amended to read: 752 

1002.39 The John M. McKay Scholarships for Students with 753 

Disabilities Program.—There is established a program that is 754 

separate and distinct from the Opportunity Scholarship Program 755 

and is named the John M. McKay Scholarships for Students with 756 

Disabilities Program. 757 

(3) JOHN M. MCKAY SCHOLARSHIP PROHIBITIONS.—A student is 758 

not eligible for a John M. McKay Scholarship: 759 

(a) While he or she is enrolled in a school operating for 760 

the purpose of providing educational services to youth in 761 

Department of Juvenile Justice commitment programs; 762 

(b) While he or she is receiving a Florida tax credit 763 

scholarship under s. 1002.395; 764 

(c) While he or she is receiving an educational scholarship 765 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 28 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

pursuant to this chapter; 766 

(d) While he or she is participating in a home education 767 

program as defined in s. 1002.01(1); 768 

(e) While he or she is participating in a private tutoring 769 

program pursuant to s. 1002.43; 770 

(e)(f) While he or she is participating in a virtual 771 

school, correspondence school, or distance learning program that 772 

receives state funding pursuant to the student’s participation 773 

unless the participation is limited to no more than two courses 774 

per school year; 775 

(f)(g) While he or she is enrolled in the Florida School 776 

for the Deaf and the Blind; 777 

(g)(h) While he or she is not having regular and direct 778 

contact with his or her private school teachers at the school’s 779 

physical location unless he or she is enrolled in the private 780 

school’s transition-to-work program pursuant to subsection (10); 781 

or 782 

(h)(i) If he or she has been issued a temporary 504 783 

accommodation plan under s. 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 784 

1973 which is valid for 6 months or less. 785 

(6) DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION OBLIGATIONS.—The department 786 

shall: 787 

(f)1. Conduct random site visits to private schools 788 

participating in the John M. McKay Scholarships for Students 789 

with Disabilities Program as authorized under s. 1002.421(7). 790 

The purposes purpose of the site visits are is solely to verify 791 

compliance with the provisions of subsection (7) aimed at 792 

protecting the health, safety, and welfare of students and to 793 

verify the information reported by the schools concerning the 794 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 29 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

enrollment and attendance of students, the credentials of 795 

teachers, background screening of teachers, and teachers’ 796 

fingerprinting results, which information is required by rules 797 

of the State Board of Education, subsection (8), and s. 798 

1002.421. The Department of Education may not make followup more 799 

than three random site visits at any time to any school that has 800 

received a notice of noncompliance or a notice of proposed 801 

action within the previous 2 years pursuant to subsection (7) 802 

each year and may not make more than one random site visit each 803 

year to the same private school. 804 

2. Annually, by December 15, report to the Governor, the 805 

President of the Senate, and the Speaker of the House of 806 

Representatives the Department of Education’s actions with 807 

respect to implementing accountability in the scholarship 808 

program under this section and s. 1002.421, any substantiated 809 

allegations or violations of law or rule by an eligible private 810 

school under this program concerning the enrollment and 811 

attendance of students, the credentials of teachers, background 812 

screening of teachers, and teachers’ fingerprinting results and 813 

the corrective action taken by the Department of Education. 814 

(8) PRIVATE SCHOOL ELIGIBILITY AND OBLIGATIONS.—To be 815 

eligible to participate in the John M. McKay Scholarships for 816 

Students with Disabilities Program, a private school may be 817 

sectarian or nonsectarian and must: 818 

(a) Comply with all requirements for private schools 819 

participating in state school choice scholarship programs 820 

pursuant to s. 1002.421. 821 

(b) Provide to the department all documentation required 822 

for a student’s participation, including the private school’s 823 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 30 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

and student’s fee schedules, at least 30 days before any 824 

quarterly scholarship payment is made for the student pursuant 825 

to paragraph (11)(e). A student is not eligible to receive a 826 

quarterly scholarship payment if the private school fails to 827 

meet this deadline. 828 

(c) Be academically accountable to the parent for meeting 829 

the educational needs of the student by: 830 

1. At a minimum, annually providing to the parent a written 831 

explanation of the student’s progress. 832 

2. Cooperating with the scholarship student whose parent 833 

chooses to participate in the statewide assessments pursuant to 834 

s. 1008.22. 835 

(d) Maintain in this state a physical location where a 836 

scholarship student regularly attends classes. 837 

(e) If the private school that participates in a state 838 

scholarship program under this chapter receives more than 839 

$250,000 in funds from scholarships awarded under chapter 1002 840 

in a state fiscal year, provide an annual report from an 841 

independent certified public accountant who performs the agreed-842 

upon procedures developed under s. 1002.395(6)(o). Such a 843 

private school must annually submit the required report by 844 

September 15 to the organization that awarded the majority of 845 

the school’s scholarship funds. The agreed-upon procedures must 846 

be conducted in accordance with attestation standards 847 

established by the American Institute of Certified Public 848 

Accountants. 849 

 850 

The failure or refusal inability of a private school to meet the 851 

requirements of this subsection shall constitute a basis for the 852 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 31 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

ineligibility of the private school to participate in the 853 

scholarship program as determined by the department. 854 

Section 14. Subsection (4), paragraph (o) of subsection 855 

(6), subsection (8), and paragraph (n) of subsection (9) of 856 

section 1002.395, Florida Statutes, are amended to read: 857 

1002.395 Florida Tax Credit Scholarship Program.— 858 

(4) SCHOLARSHIP PROHIBITIONS.—A student is not eligible for 859 

a scholarship while he or she is: 860 

(a) Enrolled in a school operating for the purpose of 861 

providing educational services to youth in Department of 862 

Juvenile Justice commitment programs; 863 

(b) Receiving a scholarship from another eligible nonprofit 864 

scholarship-funding organization under this section; 865 

(c) Receiving an educational scholarship pursuant to 866 

chapter 1002; 867 

(d) Participating in a home education program as defined in 868 

s. 1002.01(1); 869 

(e) Participating in a private tutoring program pursuant to 870 

s. 1002.43; 871 

(e)(f) Participating in a virtual school, correspondence 872 

school, or distance learning program that receives state funding 873 

pursuant to the student’s participation unless the participation 874 

is limited to no more than two courses per school year; or 875 

(f)(g) Enrolled in the Florida School for the Deaf and the 876 

Blind. 877 

(6) OBLIGATIONS OF ELIGIBLE NONPROFIT SCHOLARSHIP-FUNDING 878 

ORGANIZATIONS.—An eligible nonprofit scholarship-funding 879 

organization: 880 

(o)1.a. Must participate in the joint development of 881 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 32 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

agreed-upon procedures to be performed by an independent 882 

certified public accountant as required under paragraph (8)(e) 883 

if the scholarship-funding organization provided more than 884 

$250,000 in scholarship funds to an eligible private school 885 

under this chapter section during the 2009-2010 state fiscal 886 

year. The agreed-upon procedures must uniformly apply to all 887 

private schools and must determine, at a minimum, whether the 888 

private school has been verified as eligible by the Department 889 

of Education under paragraph (9)(c); has an adequate accounting 890 

system, system of financial controls, and process for deposit 891 

and classification of scholarship funds; and has properly 892 

expended scholarship funds for education-related expenses. 893 

During the development of the procedures, the participating 894 

scholarship-funding organizations shall specify guidelines 895 

governing the materiality of exceptions that may be found during 896 

the accountant’s performance of the procedures. The procedures 897 

and guidelines shall be provided to private schools and the 898 

Commissioner of Education by March 15, 2011. 899 

b. Must participate in a joint review of the agreed-upon 900 

procedures and guidelines developed under sub-subparagraph a., 901 

by February 2013 and biennially thereafter, if the scholarship-902 

funding organization provided more than $250,000 in scholarship 903 

funds to an eligible private school under this chapter section 904 

during the state fiscal year preceding the biennial review. If 905 

the procedures and guidelines are revised, the revisions must be 906 

provided to private schools and the Commissioner of Education by 907 

March 15, 2013, and biennially thereafter. 908 

c. Must monitor the compliance of a private school with 909 

paragraph (8)(e) if the scholarship-funding organization 910 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 33 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

provided the majority of the scholarship funding to the school. 911 

For each private school subject to paragraph (8)(e), the 912 

appropriate scholarship-funding organization shall notify the 913 

Commissioner of Education by October 30, 2011, and annually 914 

thereafter of: 915 

(I) A private school’s failure to submit a report required 916 

under paragraph (8)(e); or 917 

(II) Any material exceptions set forth in the report 918 

required under paragraph (8)(e). 919 

2. Must seek input from the accrediting associations that 920 

are members of the Florida Association of Academic Nonpublic 921 

Schools when jointly developing the agreed-upon procedures and 922 

guidelines under sub-subparagraph 1.a. and conducting a review 923 

of those procedures and guidelines under sub-subparagraph 1.b. 924 

 925 

Information and documentation provided to the Department of 926 

Education and the Auditor General relating to the identity of a 927 

taxpayer that provides an eligible contribution under this 928 

section shall remain confidential at all times in accordance 929 

with s. 213.053. 930 

(8) PRIVATE SCHOOL ELIGIBILITY AND OBLIGATIONS.—An eligible 931 

private school may be sectarian or nonsectarian and must: 932 

(a) Comply with all requirements for private schools 933 

participating in state school choice scholarship programs 934 

pursuant to s. 1002.421. 935 

(b) Provide to the eligible nonprofit scholarship-funding 936 

organization, upon request, all documentation required for the 937 

student’s participation, including the private school’s and 938 

student’s fee schedules. 939 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 34 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

(c) Be academically accountable to the parent for meeting 940 

the educational needs of the student by: 941 

1. At a minimum, annually providing to the parent a written 942 

explanation of the student’s progress. 943 

2. Annually administering or making provision for students 944 

participating in the scholarship program in grades 3 through 10 945 

to take one of the nationally norm-referenced tests identified 946 

by the Department of Education or the statewide assessments 947 

pursuant to s. 1008.22. Students with disabilities for whom 948 

standardized testing is not appropriate are exempt from this 949 

requirement. A participating private school must report a 950 

student’s scores to the parent. A participating private school 951 

must annually report by August 15 the scores of all 952 

participating students to the Learning System Institute 953 

described in paragraph (9)(j). 954 

3. Cooperating with the scholarship student whose parent 955 

chooses to have the student participate in the statewide 956 

assessments pursuant to s. 1008.22 or, if a private school 957 

chooses to offer the statewide assessments, administering the 958 

assessments at the school. 959 

a. A participating private school may choose to offer and 960 

administer the statewide assessments to all students who attend 961 

the private school in grades 3 through 10. 962 

b. A participating private school must submit a request in 963 

writing to the Department of Education by March 1 of each year 964 

in order to administer the statewide assessments in the 965 

subsequent school year. 966 

(d) Employ or contract with teachers who have regular and 967 

direct contact with each student receiving a scholarship under 968 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 35 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

this section at the school’s physical location. 969 

(e) Provide a report from an independent certified public 970 

accountant who performs the agreed-upon procedures developed 971 

under paragraph (6)(o) if the private school receives more than 972 

$250,000 in funds from scholarships awarded under this chapter 973 

section in a state fiscal year. A private school subject to this 974 

paragraph must annually submit the report by September 15 to the 975 

scholarship-funding organization that awarded the majority of 976 

the school’s scholarship funds. The agreed-upon procedures must 977 

be conducted in accordance with attestation standards 978 

established by the American Institute of Certified Public 979 

Accountants. 980 

 981 

If a private school fails or refuses is unable to meet the 982 

requirements of this subsection or has consecutive years of 983 

material exceptions listed in the report required under 984 

paragraph (e), the commissioner may determine that the private 985 

school is ineligible to participate in the scholarship program 986 

as determined by the Department of Education. 987 

(9) DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION OBLIGATIONS.—The Department of 988 

Education shall: 989 

(n)1. Conduct site visits to private schools participating 990 

in the Florida Tax Credit Scholarship Program as authorized 991 

under s. 1002.421(7). The purposes purpose of the site visits 992 

are is solely to verify compliance with the provisions of 993 

subsection (11) aimed at protecting the health, safety, and 994 

welfare of students and to verify the information reported by 995 

the schools concerning the enrollment and attendance of 996 

students, the credentials of teachers, background screening of 997 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 36 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

teachers, and teachers’ fingerprinting results. The Department 998 

of Education may not make more than seven site visits each year; 999 

however, The department may make followup additional site visits 1000 

at any time to any school that, pursuant to subsection (11), has 1001 

received a notice of noncompliance or a notice of proposed 1002 

action within the previous 2 years. 1003 

2. Annually, by December 15, report to the Governor, the 1004 

President of the Senate, and the Speaker of the House of 1005 

Representatives the Department of Education’s actions with 1006 

respect to implementing accountability in the scholarship 1007 

program under this section and s. 1002.421, any substantiated 1008 

allegations or violations of law or rule by an eligible private 1009 

school under this program concerning the enrollment and 1010 

attendance of students, the credentials of teachers, background 1011 

screening of teachers, and teachers’ fingerprinting results and 1012 

the corrective action taken by the Department of Education. 1013 

Section 15. Section 1002.40, Florida Statutes, is created 1014 

to read: 1015 

1002.40 The Hope Scholarship Program.— 1016 

(1) PURPOSE.—The Hope Scholarship Program is established to 1017 

provide the parent of a public school student who was the victim 1018 

of a substantiated incident of violence or abuse, as listed in 1019 

subsection (3), an opportunity to transfer the student to 1020 

another public school that has capacity or to request and 1021 

receive a scholarship for the student to enroll in and attend an 1022 

eligible private school. 1023 

(2) DEFINITIONS.—As used in this section, the term: 1024 

(a) “Department” means the Department of Education. 1025 

(b) “Eligible contribution” or “contribution” means a 1026 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 37 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

monetary contribution from a person required to pay sales and 1027 

use tax on the purchase or acquisition of a motor vehicle, 1028 

subject to the restrictions provided in this section, to an 1029 

eligible nonprofit scholarship-funding organization. The 1030 

taxpayer making the contribution may not designate a specific 1031 

student as the beneficiary of the contribution. 1032 

(c) “Eligible nonprofit scholarship-funding organization” 1033 

or “organization” has the same meaning as provided in s. 1034 

1002.395(2)(f), as determined by the department. 1035 

(d) “Eligible private school” has the same meaning as 1036 

provided in s. 1002.395(2)(g), as determined by the department. 1037 

(e) “Motor vehicle” has the same meaning as provided in s. 1038 

320.01(1)(a), but does not include heavy trucks, truck tractors, 1039 

trailers, and motorcycles. 1040 

(f) “Parent” means a resident of this state who is a 1041 

parent, as defined in s. 1000.21, and whose public school 1042 

student was the victim of a reported incident, as listed in 1043 

subsection (3). 1044 

(g) “Principal” means the principal or his or her designee. 1045 

(h) “Program” means the Hope Scholarship Program. 1046 

(i) “School” includes any educational program or activity 1047 

conducted by a public K-12 educational institution, any school-1048 

related or school-sponsored program or activity, and riding on a 1049 

school bus, as defined in s. 1006.25(1), including waiting at a 1050 

school bus stop. 1051 

(j) “Unweighted FTE funding amount” means the statewide 1052 

average total funds per unweighted full-time equivalent funding 1053 

amount that is incorporated by reference in the General 1054 

Appropriations Act for the applicable state fiscal year. 1055 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 38 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

(3) PROGRAM ELIGIBILITY.—Beginning with the 2018-2019 1056 

school year, contingent upon available funds, and on a first-1057 

come, first-served basis, a student enrolled full time in a 1058 

Florida public school in kindergarten through grade 12 is 1059 

eligible for a scholarship under this program if all of the 1060 

following conditions are met: 1061 

(a) The student is the victim of a substantiated incident 1062 

of battery; harassment; hazing; bullying; kidnapping; physical 1063 

attack; robbery; sexual offenses, harassment, assault, or 1064 

battery; threat or intimidation; or fighting at school. 1065 

(b) The incident is formally reported by the victim or the 1066 

victim’s parent to the principal. 1067 

(c) Through an investigation, the principal finds that the 1068 

incident is substantiated. 1069 

(d) The principal’s investigation remains open or the 1070 

district’s resolution of issues related to the incident remain 1071 

unresolved after timely notification, deliberative evaluation, 1072 

and 30 days of responsible and appropriate action taken in 1073 

accordance with paragraph (5)(a). 1074 

(4) PROGRAM PROHIBITIONS.—Payment of a scholarship may not 1075 

be made if a student is: 1076 

(a) Enrolled in a public school, including, but not limited 1077 

to, the Florida School for the Deaf and the Blind; the College-1078 

Preparatory Boarding Academy; the Florida Virtual School; a 1079 

developmental research school authorized under s. 1002.32; or a 1080 

charter school authorized under s. 1002.33, s. 1002.331, s. 1081 

1002.332, or s. 1002.333; 1082 

(b) Enrolled in a school operating for the purpose of 1083 

providing educational services to youth in the Department of 1084 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 39 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

Juvenile Justice commitment programs; 1085 

(c) Participating in a virtual school, correspondence 1086 

school, or distance learning program that receives state funding 1087 

pursuant to the student’s participation unless the participation 1088 

is limited to no more than two courses per school year; 1089 

(d) Receiving any other educational scholarship pursuant to 1090 

this chapter; or 1091 

(e) Participating in a home education program, as defined 1092 

in s. 1002.01. 1093 

(5) SCHOOL DISTRICT OBLIGATIONS; PARENTAL OPTIONS.— 1094 

(a)1. Within 24 hours after receipt of a formal report of 1095 

an incident listed in subsection (3)(a), the principal shall 1096 

provide a copy of the report to the victim’s parent and the 1097 

alleged offender’s parent. The report must include a statement 1098 

of the expected investigative actions and the timeline for 1099 

reporting the outcome of the investigation. Within 24 hours 1100 

after receipt of the formal report, the principal must also 1101 

provide the superintendent with a copy of the report and 1102 

verification that the parents of the victim and the alleged 1103 

offender have been provided a copy of the incident report and 1104 

other required information. 1105 

2. In accordance with s. 1006.09, the principal must 1106 

investigate the incident to determine if the incident is 1107 

substantiated or unsubstantiated, and if the incident must be 1108 

reported. The principal may, at his or her discretion, determine 1109 

the extent to which each student was engaged in instigating, 1110 

initiating, or reacting to a physical altercation, and may 1111 

consider such information when evaluating and determining 1112 

appropriate disciplinary actions and investigation outcomes. 1113 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 40 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

3. During the investigation period, the principal and the 1114 

superintendent shall take all necessary actions to continue the 1115 

educational services of students involved in the reported 1116 

incident while taking every reasonable precaution to keep the 1117 

alleged offender separated from the victim or any sibling of the 1118 

victim while on school grounds or on school transportation, 1119 

pursuant to ss. 1006.09, 1006.13, and 1006.147, as appropriate. 1120 

4. Upon the principal’s determination that an alleged 1121 

incident is unsubstantiated or the resolution of issues related 1122 

to a substantiated incident or within 15 days after the incident 1123 

was reported, whichever occurs first, the principal must report 1124 

to the victim’s parent and the alleged offender’s parent the 1125 

findings, outcome, or status of the investigation. The principal 1126 

shall continue to provide such reports to the parents at least 1127 

every 15 days until the investigation concludes and issues 1128 

associated with the incident are resolved. 1129 

5. If the principal’s investigation into the incident 1130 

remains open more than 30 days after the date a substantiated 1131 

incident was reported or issues associated with the incident 1132 

remain unresolved, the school district, in accordance with the 1133 

school district’s code of student conduct, shall: 1134 

a. Notify the victim’s parent of the availability of the 1135 

program and offer that parent an opportunity to enroll his or 1136 

her student in another public school or to request and receive a 1137 

scholarship to attend an eligible private school, subject to 1138 

available funding; and 1139 

b. Provide the victim’s parent with a written notification 1140 

of the result of the principal’s investigation of the alleged 1141 

incident. The parent must provide such notification to the 1142 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 41 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

scholarship-funding organization that verifies the student’s 1143 

eligibility. 1144 

6. To facilitate timely, appropriate, and fiscally 1145 

accountable scholarship payments, school districts must report 1146 

and verify student enrollment information during and outside of 1147 

regular FTE student enrollment survey periods, as requested by 1148 

the department pursuant to paragraph (7)(d). 1149 

(b)1. A parent who, pursuant to s. 1002.31, chooses to 1150 

enroll his or her student in a Florida public school located 1151 

outside the district in which the student resides shall be 1152 

eligible for a scholarship under paragraph (11)(b) to transport 1153 

the student. 1154 

2. For each student participating in the program in a 1155 

private school who chooses to participate in the statewide 1156 

assessments under s. 1008.22 or the Florida Alternate 1157 

Assessment, the school district in which the student resides 1158 

must notify the student and his or her parent about the 1159 

locations and times to take all statewide assessments. 1160 

(6) PRIVATE SCHOOL ELIGIBILITY AND OBLIGATIONS.—An eligible 1161 

private school may be sectarian or nonsectarian and shall: 1162 

(a) Meet the definition of a private school in s. 1002.01 1163 

and comply with all requirements for private schools 1164 

participating in state school choice scholarship programs 1165 

pursuant to this section and s. 1002.421. 1166 

(b) Provide to the organization and the department, upon 1167 

request, all documentation required for the student’s 1168 

participation, including, but not limited to, the private 1169 

school’s and the student’s fee schedules. 1170 

(c) Be academically accountable to the parent for meeting 1171 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 42 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

the educational needs of the student by: 1172 

1. At a minimum, annually providing to the parent a written 1173 

explanation of the student’s progress. 1174 

2. Annually administering or making provision for students 1175 

participating in the program in grades 3 through 10 to take one 1176 

of the nationally norm-referenced tests identified by the 1177 

department or the statewide assessments pursuant to s. 1008.22. 1178 

Students with disabilities for whom standardized testing is not 1179 

appropriate are exempt from this requirement. A participating 1180 

private school shall report a student’s scores to his or her 1181 

parent. 1182 

3. Cooperating with the student whose parent chooses to 1183 

have the student participate in the statewide assessments 1184 

pursuant to s. 1008.22 or, if a private school chooses to offer 1185 

the statewide assessments, administering the assessments at the 1186 

school. 1187 

a. A participating private school may choose to offer and 1188 

administer the statewide assessments to all students who attend 1189 

the private school in grades 3 through 10. 1190 

b. A participating private school shall submit a request in 1191 

writing to the department by March 1 of each year in order to 1192 

administer the statewide assessments in the subsequent school 1193 

year. 1194 

(d) Employ or contract with teachers who have regular and 1195 

direct contact with each student receiving a scholarship under 1196 

this section at the school’s physical location. 1197 

(e) Maintain in this state a physical location where a 1198 

scholarship student regularly attends classes. 1199 

(f) Provide a report from an independent certified public 1200 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 43 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

accountant who performs the agreed-upon procedures developed 1201 

under s. 1002.395(6)(o) if the private school receives more than 1202 

$250,000 in funds from scholarships awarded under this section 1203 

in a state fiscal year. A private school subject to this 1204 

paragraph must annually submit the report by September 15 to the 1205 

organization that awarded the majority of the school’s 1206 

scholarship funds. The agreed-upon procedures must be conducted 1207 

in accordance with attestation standards established by the 1208 

American Institute of Certified Public Accountants. 1209 

 1210 

The failure of a private school to meet the requirements of this 1211 

subsection constitutes a basis for the ineligibility of the 1212 

private school to participate in the program, as determined by 1213 

the department. 1214 

(7) DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION OBLIGATIONS.—The department 1215 

shall: 1216 

(a) Establish a toll-free hotline that provides parents and 1217 

private schools with information on participation in the 1218 

program. 1219 

(b) Annually verify the eligibility of private schools that 1220 

meet the requirements of subsection (6). 1221 

(c) Require an annual notarized and sworn compliance 1222 

statement by participating private schools certifying compliance 1223 

with state laws and retain such records. 1224 

(d) Cross-check the list of participating students with the 1225 

public school enrollment lists and participation lists in other 1226 

scholarship programs established under this chapter before each 1227 

scholarship payment to avoid duplication. 1228 

(e) Maintain a list of nationally norm-referenced tests 1229 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 44 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

identified for purposes of satisfying the testing requirement in 1230 

paragraph (9)(f). The tests must meet industry standards of 1231 

quality in accordance with State Board of Education rule. 1232 

(f) Require quarterly reports by an eligible nonprofit 1233 

scholarship-funding organization regarding the number of 1234 

students participating in the scholarship program, the private 1235 

schools in which the students are enrolled, and other 1236 

information deemed necessary by the department. 1237 

(g) Contract with an independent entity to provide an 1238 

annual evaluation of the program by: 1239 

1. Reviewing the school climate and code of student conduct 1240 

of each public school that reported the occurrence of a monthly 1241 

average of 10 or more substantiated incidents to determine areas 1242 

in the school or school district procedures involving reporting, 1243 

investigating, and communicating a parent’s and student’s rights 1244 

which are in need of improvement. At a minimum, the review must 1245 

include: 1246 

a. An assessment of the investigation time and quality of 1247 

the response of the school and the school district; 1248 

b. An assessment of the effectiveness of communication 1249 

procedures with the students involved in an incident, the 1250 

students’ parents, and the school and school district personnel; 1251 

c. An analysis of school incident and discipline data; and 1252 

d. The challenges and obstacles relating to implementing 1253 

recommendations from this review. 1254 

2. Reviewing the school climate and code of student conduct 1255 

of each public school a student transferred to if the student 1256 

was from a school identified in subparagraph 1. in order to 1257 

identify best practices and make recommendations to a public 1258 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 45 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

school at which the incidents occurred. 1259 

3. Reviewing the performance of participating students 1260 

enrolled in a private school in which the majority of the 1261 

school’s total enrolled students in the prior school year 1262 

participated in one or more scholarship programs, as defined in 1263 

s. 1002.01, in which there are at least 10 participating 1264 

students who have scores for tests administered; and reviewing 1265 

the school climate and code of student conduct of the private 1266 

school if one or more scholarship participants were involved in 1267 

a reported incident at the school during the prior school year. 1268 

4. Surveying the parents of participating students to 1269 

determine academic, safety, and school climate satisfaction and 1270 

to identify any challenges or obstacles in addressing the 1271 

incident or relating to the use of the scholarship. 1272 

(h) Upon the request of a participating private school, 1273 

provide at no cost to the school the statewide assessments 1274 

administered under s. 1008.22 and any related materials for 1275 

administering the assessments. Students at a private school may 1276 

be assessed using the statewide assessments if the addition of 1277 

those students and the school does not cause the state to exceed 1278 

its contractual caps for the number of students tested and the 1279 

number of testing sites. The state shall provide the same 1280 

materials and support to a private school that it provides to a 1281 

public school. A private school that chooses to administer 1282 

statewide assessments under s. 1008.22 shall follow the 1283 

requirements set forth in ss. 1008.22 and 1008.24, rules adopted 1284 

by the State Board of Education to implement those sections, and 1285 

district-level testing policies established by the district 1286 

school board. 1287 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 46 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

(i) Establish a process by which individuals may notify the 1288 

department of any violation by a parent, private school, or 1289 

school district of state laws relating to program participation. 1290 

The department shall conduct an inquiry or make a referral to 1291 

the appropriate agency for an investigation of any written 1292 

complaint of a violation of this section if the complaint is 1293 

signed by the complainant and is legally sufficient. A complaint 1294 

is legally sufficient if such complaint contains ultimate facts 1295 

that show that a violation of this section or any rule adopted 1296 

by the State Board of Education pursuant to this section has 1297 

occurred. In order to determine legal sufficiency, the 1298 

department may require supporting information or documentation 1299 

from the complainant. A department inquiry is not subject to the 1300 

requirements of chapter 120. 1301 

(j)1. Conduct site visits to participating private schools. 1302 

The purpose of the site visits is solely to verify the 1303 

information reported by the schools concerning the enrollment 1304 

and attendance of students, the credentials of teachers, 1305 

background screening of teachers, teachers’ fingerprinting 1306 

results, and other conditions required pursuant to s. 1002.421 1307 

and this section. The department may not make more than seven 1308 

site visits each year; however, the department may make 1309 

additional site visits at any time to a school that is the 1310 

subject of a violation complaint submitted pursuant to paragraph 1311 

(i), is identified by an organization for a known or suspected 1312 

violation, or has received a notice of noncompliance or a notice 1313 

of proposed action within the current year or the previous 2 1314 

years. 1315 

2. Annually, by December 15, report to the Governor, the 1316 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 47 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

President of the Senate, and the Speaker of the House of 1317 

Representatives the department’s actions with respect to 1318 

implementing accountability in the program under this section 1319 

and s. 1002.421, any substantiated allegations or violations of 1320 

law or rule by an eligible private school under this program, 1321 

and the corrective action taken by the department. 1322 

(8) COMMISSIONER OF EDUCATION AUTHORITY AND OBLIGATIONS.— 1323 

(a) The Commissioner of Education: 1324 

1. Shall deny, suspend, or revoke a private school’s 1325 

participation in the program if it is determined that the 1326 

private school has failed to comply with the provisions of this 1327 

section. However, if the noncompliance is correctable within a 1328 

reasonable amount of time and if the health, safety, or welfare 1329 

of the students is not threatened, the commissioner may issue a 1330 

notice of noncompliance which provides the private school with a 1331 

timeframe within which to provide evidence of compliance before 1332 

taking action to suspend or revoke the private school’s 1333 

participation in the program. 1334 

2. May deny, suspend, or revoke a private school’s 1335 

participation in the program if the commissioner determines that 1336 

an owner or operator of the private school is operating or has 1337 

operated an educational institution in this state or in another 1338 

state or jurisdiction in a manner contrary to the health, 1339 

safety, or welfare of the public. 1340 

a. In making such a determination, the commissioner may 1341 

consider factors that include, but are not limited to, acts or 1342 

omissions by an owner or operator which led to a previous denial 1343 

or revocation of participation in an education scholarship 1344 

program; an owner’s or operator’s failure to reimburse the 1345 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 48 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

department for scholarship funds improperly received or retained 1346 

by a school; imposition of a prior criminal sanction related to 1347 

an owner’s or operator’s management or operation of an 1348 

educational institution; imposition of a civil fine or 1349 

administrative fine, license revocation or suspension, or 1350 

program eligibility suspension, termination, or revocation 1351 

related to an owner’s or operator’s management or operation of 1352 

an educational institution; or other types of criminal 1353 

proceedings in which an owner or operator was found guilty of, 1354 

regardless of adjudication, or entered a plea of nolo contendere 1355 

or guilty to, any offense involving fraud, deceit, dishonesty, 1356 

or moral turpitude. 1357 

b. For purposes of this subparagraph, the term “owner or 1358 

operator” includes an owner, operator, superintendent, or 1359 

principal of, or a person who has equivalent decisionmaking 1360 

authority over, a private school participating in the 1361 

scholarship program. 1362 

(b) The commissioner’s determination is subject to the 1363 

following: 1364 

1. If the commissioner intends to deny, suspend, or revoke 1365 

a private school’s participation in the program, the department 1366 

shall notify the private school of such proposed action in 1367 

writing by certified mail and regular mail to the private 1368 

school’s address of record with the department. The notification 1369 

shall include the reasons for the proposed action and notice of 1370 

the timelines and procedures set forth in this paragraph. 1371 

2. The private school that is adversely affected by the 1372 

proposed action shall have 15 days after receipt of the notice 1373 

of proposed action to file with the department’s agency clerk a 1374 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 49 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

request for a proceeding pursuant to ss. 120.569 and 120.57. If 1375 

the private school is entitled to a hearing under s. 120.57(1), 1376 

the department shall refer the request to the Division of 1377 

Administrative Hearings. 1378 

3. Upon receipt of a request referred pursuant to this 1379 

paragraph, the director of the Division of Administrative 1380 

Hearings shall expedite the hearing and assign an administrative 1381 

law judge who shall commence a hearing within 30 days after the 1382 

receipt of the formal written request by the division and enter 1383 

a recommended order within 30 days after the hearing or within 1384 

30 days after receipt of the hearing transcript, whichever is 1385 

later. Each party shall be allowed 10 days in which to submit 1386 

written exceptions to the recommended order. A final order shall 1387 

be entered by the agency within 30 days after the entry of a 1388 

recommended order. The provisions of this subparagraph may be 1389 

waived upon stipulation by all parties. 1390 

(c) The commissioner may immediately suspend payment of 1391 

scholarship funds if it is determined that there is probable 1392 

cause to believe that there is: 1393 

1. An imminent threat to the health, safety, or welfare of 1394 

the students; or 1395 

2. Fraudulent activity on the part of the private school. 1396 

Notwithstanding s. 1002.22, in incidents of alleged fraudulent 1397 

activity pursuant to this section, the department’s Office of 1398 

Inspector General is authorized to release personally 1399 

identifiable records or reports of students to the following 1400 

persons or organizations: 1401 

a. A court of competent jurisdiction in compliance with an 1402 

order of that court or the attorney of record in accordance with 1403 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 50 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

a lawfully issued subpoena, consistent with the Family 1404 

Educational Rights and Privacy Act, 20 U.S.C. s. 1232g. 1405 

b. A person or entity authorized by a court of competent 1406 

jurisdiction in compliance with an order of that court or the 1407 

attorney of record pursuant to a lawfully issued subpoena, 1408 

consistent with the Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act, 1409 

20 U.S.C. s. 1232g. 1410 

c. Any person, entity, or authority issuing a subpoena for 1411 

law enforcement purposes when the court or other issuing agency 1412 

has ordered that the existence or the contents of the subpoena 1413 

or the information furnished in response to the subpoena not be 1414 

disclosed, consistent with the Family Educational Rights and 1415 

Privacy Act, 20 U.S.C. s. 1232g, and 34 C.F.R. s. 99.31. 1416 

 1417 

The commissioner’s suspension of payment pursuant to this 1418 

paragraph may be appealed pursuant to the same procedures and 1419 

timelines as the notice of proposed action set forth in 1420 

paragraph (b). 1421 

(9) PARENT AND STUDENT RESPONSIBILITIES FOR PROGRAM 1422 

PARTICIPATION.—A parent who applies for a Hope Scholarship is 1423 

exercising his or her parental option to place his or her 1424 

student in an eligible private school. 1425 

(a) The parent must select an eligible private school and 1426 

apply for the admission of his or her student. 1427 

(b) The parent must inform the student’s school district 1428 

when the parent withdraws his or her student to attend an 1429 

eligible private school. 1430 

(c) Any student participating in the program must comply 1431 

with the regular attendance requirements of s. 1003.01(13) and 1432 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 51 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

remain in attendance throughout the school year unless excused 1433 

by the school for illness or other good cause. 1434 

(d) Each parent and each student has an obligation to the 1435 

private school to comply with the private school’s published 1436 

policies. 1437 

(e) Upon reasonable notice to the department and the school 1438 

district, the parent may remove the student from the private 1439 

school and place the student in a public school in accordance 1440 

with this section. 1441 

(f) The parent must ensure that the student participating 1442 

in the program takes the norm-referenced assessment offered by 1443 

the private school. The parent may also choose to have the 1444 

student participate in the statewide assessments pursuant to s. 1445 

1008.22. If the parent requests that the student participating 1446 

in the program take the statewide assessments pursuant to s. 1447 

1008.22 and the private school has not chosen to offer and 1448 

administer the statewide assessments, the parent is responsible 1449 

for transporting the student to the assessment site designated 1450 

by the school district. 1451 

(g) Upon receipt of a scholarship warrant, the parent to 1452 

whom the warrant is made must restrictively endorse the warrant 1453 

to the private school for deposit into the account of the 1454 

private school. The parent may not designate any entity or 1455 

individual associated with the participating private school as 1456 

the parent’s attorney in fact to endorse a scholarship warrant. 1457 

A parent who fails to comply with this paragraph forfeits the 1458 

scholarship. 1459 

(10) OBLIGATIONS OF NONPROFIT SCHOLARSHIP-FUNDING 1460 

ORGANIZATIONS.—An organization may establish scholarships for 1461 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 52 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

eligible students by: 1462 

(a) Receiving applications and determining student 1463 

eligibility in accordance with the requirements of this section. 1464 

(b) Notifying parents of their receipt of a scholarship on 1465 

a first-come, first-served basis, based upon available funds. 1466 

(c) Preparing and submitting quarterly and annual reports 1467 

to the department pursuant to paragraphs (7)(f) and (g). In 1468 

addition, an eligible nonprofit scholarship-funding organization 1469 

must submit in a timely manner any information requested by the 1470 

department relating to the scholarship program. 1471 

(d) Notifying the department of any known or suspected 1472 

violation of this section by a private school, parent, or 1473 

student. 1474 

(11) FUNDING AND PAYMENT.— 1475 

(a) The maximum amount awarded to a student enrolled in an 1476 

eligible private school shall be determined as a percentage of 1477 

the unweighted FTE funding amount for that state fiscal year and 1478 

thereafter as follows: 1479 

1. Eighty-eight percent for a student enrolled in 1480 

kindergarten through grade 5. 1481 

2. Ninety-two percent for a student enrolled in grade 6 1482 

through grade 8. 1483 

3. Ninety-six percent for a student enrolled in grade 9 1484 

through grade 12. 1485 

(b) The maximum amount awarded to a student enrolled in a 1486 

Florida public school located outside of the district in which 1487 

the student resides shall be $750. 1488 

(c) When a student enters the program, the organization 1489 

must receive all documentation required for the student’s 1490 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 53 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

participation, including a copy of the report of the 1491 

substantiated incident received pursuant to subsection (5) and 1492 

the private school’s and the student’s fee schedules. The 1493 

initial payment shall be made after verification of admission 1494 

acceptance, and subsequent payments shall be made upon 1495 

verification of continued enrollment and attendance at the 1496 

private school. 1497 

(d) Payment of the scholarship by the eligible nonprofit 1498 

scholarship-funding organization may be by individual warrant 1499 

made payable to the student’s parent or by funds transfer made 1500 

by debit cards, electronic payment cards, or other means of 1501 

payment which the department deems to be commercially viable or 1502 

cost-effective. If payment is made by warrant, the warrant must 1503 

be delivered by the eligible nonprofit scholarship-funding 1504 

organization to the private school of the parent’s choice, and 1505 

the parent shall restrictively endorse the warrant to the 1506 

private school. If payment is made by funds transfer, the parent 1507 

must approve each payment before the scholarship funds may be 1508 

deposited. The parent may not designate any entity or individual 1509 

associated with the participating private school as the parent’s 1510 

attorney in fact to endorse a scholarship warrant or approve a 1511 

funds transfer. 1512 

(e) An eligible nonprofit scholarship-funding organization 1513 

shall obtain verification from the private school of a student’s 1514 

continued attendance at the school for each period covered by a 1515 

scholarship payment. 1516 

(f) Payment of the scholarship shall be made by the 1517 

eligible nonprofit scholarship-funding organization no less 1518 

frequently than on a quarterly basis. 1519 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 54 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

(g) An organization may use up to 3 percent of eligible 1520 

contributions received during the state fiscal year in which 1521 

such contributions are collected for administrative expenses if 1522 

the organization has operated as an eligible nonprofit 1523 

scholarship-funding organization for at least the preceding 3 1524 

fiscal years and did not have any findings of material weakness 1525 

or material noncompliance in its most recent audit under s. 1526 

1002.395(6)(m). Such administrative expenses must be reasonable 1527 

and necessary for the organization’s management and distribution 1528 

of eligible contributions under this section. Funds authorized 1529 

under this paragraph may not be used for lobbying or political 1530 

activity or expenses related to lobbying or political activity. 1531 

Up to one-third of the funds authorized for administrative 1532 

expenses under this paragraph may be used for expenses related 1533 

to the recruitment of contributions from taxpayers. An eligible 1534 

nonprofit scholarship-funding organization may not charge an 1535 

application fee. 1536 

(h) Moneys received pursuant to this section do not 1537 

constitute taxable income to the qualified student or his or her 1538 

parent. 1539 

(12) OBLIGATIONS OF THE AUDITOR GENERAL.— 1540 

(a) The Auditor General shall conduct an annual operational 1541 

audit of accounts and records of each organization that 1542 

participates in the program. As part of this audit, the Auditor 1543 

General shall verify, at a minimum, the total number of students 1544 

served and transmit that information to the department. The 1545 

Auditor General shall provide the commissioner with a copy of 1546 

each annual operational audit performed pursuant to this 1547 

subsection within 10 days after the audit is finalized. 1548 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 55 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

(b) The Auditor General shall notify the department of any 1549 

organization that fails to comply with a request for 1550 

information. 1551 

(13) SCHOLARSHIP FUNDING TAX CREDITS.— 1552 

(a) A tax credit is available under s. 212.1832 for use by 1553 

a taxpayer that makes an eligible contribution to the program. 1554 

Each eligible contribution is limited to a single payment of $20 1555 

at the time of purchase of a motor vehicle or a single payment 1556 

of $20 at the time of registration of a motor vehicle that was 1557 

not purchased from a dealer. An eligible contribution shall be 1558 

accompanied by an election to contribute to the program and 1559 

shall be made by the purchaser at the time of purchase or at the 1560 

time of registration on a form provided by the Department of 1561 

Revenue. Payments of contributions shall be made to a dealer, as 1562 

defined in chapter 212, at the time of purchase of a motor 1563 

vehicle or to an agent of the Department of Revenue, as 1564 

designated by s. 212.06(10), at the time of registration of a 1565 

motor vehicle that was not purchased from a dealer. 1566 

(b) A tax collector or any person or firm authorized to 1567 

sell or issue a motor vehicle license who is designated as an 1568 

agent of the Department of Revenue pursuant to s. 212.06(10) or 1569 

who is a dealer shall: 1570 

1. Provide the purchaser the contribution election form, as 1571 

prescribed by the Department of Revenue, at the time of purchase 1572 

of a motor vehicle or at the time of registration of a motor 1573 

vehicle that was not purchased from a dealer. 1574 

2. Collect eligible contributions. 1575 

3. Using a form provided by the Department of Revenue, 1576 

which shall include the dealer’s or agent’s federal employer 1577 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 56 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

identification number, remit to an organization on or before the 1578 

20th day of each month the total amount of contributions made to 1579 

that organization and collected during the preceding calendar 1580 

month. 1581 

4. Report on each return filed with the Department of 1582 

Revenue the total amount of credits allowed under s. 212.1832 1583 

during the preceding calendar month. 1584 

(c) An organization shall report to the Department of 1585 

Revenue, on or before the 20th day of each month, the total 1586 

amount of contributions received pursuant to paragraph (b) in 1587 

the preceding calendar month on a form provided by the 1588 

Department of Revenue. Such report shall include the federal 1589 

employer identification number of each tax collector, authorized 1590 

agent of the Department of Revenue, or dealer who remitted 1591 

contributions to the organization during that reporting period. 1592 

(d) A person who, with intent to unlawfully deprive or 1593 

defraud the program of its moneys or the use or benefit thereof, 1594 

fails to remit a contribution collected under this section is 1595 

guilty of theft of charitable funds, punishable as follows: 1596 

1. If the total amount stolen is less than $300, the 1597 

offense is a misdemeanor of the second degree, punishable as 1598 

provided in s. 775.082 or s. 775.083. Upon a second conviction, 1599 

the offender is guilty of a misdemeanor of the first degree, 1600 

punishable as provided in s. 775.082 or s. 775.083. Upon a third 1601 

or subsequent conviction, the offender is guilty of a felony of 1602 

the third degree, punishable as provided in s. 775.082, s. 1603 

775.083, or s. 775.084. 1604 

2. If the total amount stolen is $300 or more, but less 1605 

than $20,000, the offense is a felony of the third degree, 1606 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 57 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

punishable as provided in s. 775.082, s. 775.083, or s. 775.084. 1607 

3. If the total amount stolen is $20,000 or more, but less 1608 

than $100,000, the offense is a felony of the second degree, 1609 

punishable as provided in s. 775.082, s. 775.083, or s. 775.084. 1610 

4. If the total amount stolen is $100,000 or more, the 1611 

offense is a felony of the first degree, punishable as provided 1612 

in s. 775.082, s. 775.083, or s. 775.084. 1613 

(e) A person convicted of an offense under paragraph (d) 1614 

shall be ordered by the sentencing judge to make restitution to 1615 

the organization in the amount that was stolen from the program. 1616 

(14) LIABILITY.—The state is not liable for the award or 1617 

any use of awarded funds under this section. 1618 

(15) SCOPE OF AUTHORITY.—This section does not expand the 1619 

regulatory authority of this state, its officers, or any school 1620 

district to impose additional regulation on participating 1621 

private schools beyond those reasonably necessary to enforce 1622 

requirements expressly set forth in this section. 1623 

(16) RULES.—The State Board of Education shall adopt rules 1624 

to administer this section. 1625 

Section 16. Present subsection (7) of section 1002.421, 1626 

Florida Statutes, is amended and redesignated as subsection 1627 

(11), a new subsection (7) and subsections (8), (9), and (10) 1628 

are added to that section, and subsection (1), paragraphs (h) 1629 

and (i) of subsection (2), and subsections (4) and (5) of that 1630 

section are amended, to read: 1631 

1002.421 Accountability of private schools participating in 1632 

state school choice scholarship programs.— 1633 

(1)(a) A Florida private school participating in the 1634 

Florida Tax Credit Scholarship Program established pursuant to 1635 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 58 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

s. 1002.395 or an educational scholarship program established 1636 

pursuant to this chapter must comply with all requirements of 1637 

this section in addition to private school requirements outlined 1638 

in s. 1002.42, specific requirements identified within 1639 

respective scholarship program laws, and other provisions of 1640 

Florida law that apply to private schools. 1641 

(b) For purposes of this section, the term “owner or 1642 

operator” includes an owner, operator, superintendent, or 1643 

principal of an eligible private school or a person with 1644 

equivalent decisionmaking authority over an eligible private 1645 

school. 1646 

(2) A private school participating in a scholarship program 1647 

must be a Florida private school as defined in s. 1002.01(2), 1648 

must be registered in accordance with s. 1002.42, and must: 1649 

(h) Employ or contract with teachers who: 1650 

1. Unless otherwise specified under this paragraph, hold 1651 

baccalaureate or higher degrees, have at least 3 years of 1652 

teaching experience in public or private schools, or have 1653 

objectively identified special skills, knowledge, or expertise 1654 

that qualifies them to provide instruction in subjects taught. 1655 

2. Hold baccalaureate or higher degrees from a regionally 1656 

or nationally accredited college or university in the United 1657 

States or from a recognized college or university in another 1658 

country. This subparagraph applies to full-time teachers hired 1659 

after July 1, 2018, who are teaching students in grade 2 or 1660 

above. 1661 

 1662 

The private school must report to the department, in a format 1663 

developed by the department, the qualifications of each teacher 1664 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 59 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

hired by the school, including, but not limited to, an 1665 

explanation of the objectively identified special skills or 1666 

expertise of such teachers, as applicable. Additionally, the 1667 

private school must provide to the parent of each scholarship 1668 

student, on the school’s website or on a written form provided 1669 

by the school, the qualifications of each classroom teacher. 1670 

(i) Require each employee and contracted personnel with 1671 

direct student contact, upon employment or engagement to provide 1672 

services, to undergo a state and national background screening, 1673 

pursuant to s. 943.0542, by electronically filing with the 1674 

Department of Law Enforcement a complete set of fingerprints 1675 

taken by an authorized law enforcement agency or an employee of 1676 

the private school, a school district, or a private company who 1677 

is trained to take fingerprints and deny employment to or 1678 

terminate an employee if he or she fails to meet the screening 1679 

standards under s. 435.04. Results of the screening shall be 1680 

provided to the participating private school. For purposes of 1681 

this paragraph: 1682 

1. An “employee or contracted personnel with direct student 1683 

contact” means any employee or contracted personnel who has 1684 

unsupervised access to a scholarship student for whom the 1685 

private school is responsible. 1686 

2. The costs of fingerprinting and the background check 1687 

shall not be borne by the state. 1688 

3. Continued employment of an employee or contracted 1689 

personnel after notification that he or she has failed the 1690 

background screening under this paragraph shall cause a private 1691 

school to be ineligible for participation in a scholarship 1692 

program. 1693 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 60 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

4. An employee or contracted personnel holding a valid 1694 

Florida teaching certificate who has been fingerprinted pursuant 1695 

to s. 1012.32 and who is not ineligible for employment pursuant 1696 

to s. 1012.315 is not required to comply with the provisions of 1697 

this paragraph. 1698 

(4) A private school that accepts scholarship students 1699 

under this chapter s. 1002.39 or s. 1002.395 must: 1700 

(a) Disqualify instructional personnel and school 1701 

administrators, as defined in s. 1012.01, from employment in any 1702 

position that requires direct contact with students if the 1703 

personnel or administrators are ineligible for such employment 1704 

under s. 1012.315. 1705 

(b) Adopt and faithfully implement policies establishing 1706 

standards of ethical conduct for instructional personnel and 1707 

school administrators. The policies must require all 1708 

instructional personnel and school administrators, as defined in 1709 

s. 1012.01, to complete training on the standards; establish the 1710 

duty of instructional personnel and school administrators to 1711 

report, and procedures for reporting, alleged misconduct by 1712 

other instructional personnel and school administrators which 1713 

affects the health, safety, or welfare of a student; and include 1714 

an explanation of the liability protections provided under ss. 1715 

39.203 and 768.095. A private school, or any of its employees, 1716 

may not enter into a confidentiality agreement regarding 1717 

terminated or dismissed instructional personnel or school 1718 

administrators, or personnel or administrators who resign in 1719 

lieu of termination, based in whole or in part on misconduct 1720 

that affects the health, safety, or welfare of a student, and 1721 

may not provide the instructional personnel or school 1722 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 61 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

administrators with employment references or discuss the 1723 

personnel’s or administrators’ performance with prospective 1724 

employers in another educational setting, without disclosing the 1725 

personnel’s or administrators’ misconduct. Any part of an 1726 

agreement or contract that has the purpose or effect of 1727 

concealing misconduct by instructional personnel or school 1728 

administrators which affects the health, safety, or welfare of a 1729 

student is void, is contrary to public policy, and may not be 1730 

enforced. 1731 

(c) Before employing instructional personnel or school 1732 

administrators in any position that requires direct contact with 1733 

students, conduct employment history checks of each of the 1734 

personnel’s or administrators’ previous employers, screen the 1735 

personnel or administrators through use of the educator 1736 

screening tools described in s. 1001.10(5), and document the 1737 

findings. If unable to contact a previous employer, the private 1738 

school must document efforts to contact the employer. 1739 

 1740 

The department shall suspend the payment of funds under this 1741 

chapter ss. 1002.39 and 1002.395 to a private school that 1742 

knowingly fails or refuses to comply with this subsection, and 1743 

shall prohibit the school from enrolling new scholarship 1744 

students, for 1 fiscal year and until the school complies. 1745 

(5) The failure or refusal inability of a private school to 1746 

meet the requirements of this section shall constitute a basis 1747 

for the ineligibility of the private school to participate in a 1748 

scholarship program as determined by the department. 1749 

Additionally, a private school is ineligible to participate in a 1750 

state scholarship program under this chapter if the owner or 1751 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 62 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

operator of the private school was a debtor in a voluntary or 1752 

involuntary bankruptcy petition within the most recent 5 years. 1753 

(7)(a) The department must annually visit at least 5 1754 

percent, and may annually visit up to 7 percent, of the private 1755 

schools that participate in the state scholarship programs under 1756 

this chapter. Site visits required under subsection (8) are not 1757 

included in the annual site visits authorized under this 1758 

paragraph. 1759 

(b) The purposes of the site visits are to verify 1760 

compliance with the provisions of this section aimed at 1761 

protecting the health, safety, and welfare of students and to 1762 

verify the information reported by the schools concerning the 1763 

enrollment and attendance of students, the credentials of 1764 

teachers, background screening of teachers, and teachers’ 1765 

fingerprinting results, as required by rules of the State Board 1766 

of Education and this section. 1767 

(c) The department may make followup site visits at any 1768 

time to any school that has received a notice of noncompliance 1769 

or a notice of proposed action within the previous 2 years, or 1770 

for a cause that affects the health, safety, and welfare of a 1771 

student. 1772 

(8)(a) The department shall visit each private school that 1773 

notifies the department of the school’s intent to participate in 1774 

a state scholarship program under this chapter. 1775 

(b) The purpose of the site visit is to determine that the 1776 

school meets the applicable state and local health, safety, and 1777 

welfare codes and rules pursuant to this section. 1778 

(9) The Division of State Fire Marshal shall annually 1779 

provide to the department a fire safety inspection report, 1780 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 63 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

prepared by the local fire departments or by entities with whom 1781 

they contract to perform fire safety inspections of private 1782 

schools, for each private school that participates in a state 1783 

scholarship program under this chapter. 1784 

(10) If a private school that participates in a state 1785 

scholarship program under this chapter receives more than 1786 

$250,000 in funds from the scholarships awarded under this 1787 

chapter in a state fiscal year, the school must provide to the 1788 

department a report of the balance sheet and statement of income 1789 

expenditures in accordance with generally accepted accounting 1790 

procedures from an independent certified public accountant who 1791 

performs the agreed-upon procedures. 1792 

(11)(7) The State Board of Education shall adopt rules 1793 

pursuant to ss. 120.536(1) and 120.54 to administer and enforce 1794 

this section. 1795 

Section 17. Section 1002.43, Florida Statutes, is repealed. 1796 

Section 18. Subsection (5) of section 1002.55, Florida 1797 

Statutes, is amended to read: 1798 

1002.55 School-year prekindergarten program delivered by 1799 

private prekindergarten providers.— 1800 

(5)(a) Notwithstanding paragraph (3)(b), a private 1801 

prekindergarten provider may not participate in the Voluntary 1802 

Prekindergarten Education Program if the provider has child 1803 

disciplinary policies that do not prohibit children from being 1804 

subjected to discipline that is severe, humiliating, 1805 

frightening, or associated with food, rest, toileting, spanking, 1806 

or any other form of physical punishment as provided in s. 1807 

402.305(12). 1808 

(b) Notwithstanding any other provision of law, if a 1809 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 64 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

private prekindergarten provider has been cited for a class I 1810 

violation, as defined by rule, the coalition may refuse to 1811 

contract with the provider. 1812 

Section 19. Subsection (13) of section 1003.01, Florida 1813 

Statutes, is amended to read: 1814 

1003.01 Definitions.—As used in this chapter, the term: 1815 

(13) “Regular school attendance” means the actual 1816 

attendance of a student during the school day as defined by law 1817 

and rules of the State Board of Education. Regular attendance 1818 

within the intent of s. 1003.21 may be achieved by a student’s 1819 

full-time attendance in one of the following options: 1820 

(a) A public school supported by public funds, including, 1821 

but not limited to, the Florida School for the Deaf and the 1822 

Blind, the Florida Virtual School, a developmental research 1823 

school, and a charter school established pursuant to chapter 1824 

1002.; 1825 

(b) A parochial, religious, or denominational school; 1826 

(b)(c) A private school, as defined in s. 1002.01(2) and in 1827 

compliance with s. 1002.42, including, but not limited to, a 1828 

private parochial, religious, or denominational school; and a 1829 

private school supported in whole or in part by tuition charges 1830 

or by endowments or gifts. This option includes an eligible 1831 

private school in which a student attends as a participant in a 1832 

scholarship program, as defined in s. 1002.01(3).; 1833 

(c)(d) A home education program, as defined in s. 1834 

1002.01(1), which that meets the requirements of chapter 1002.; 1835 

or 1836 

(e) A private tutoring program that meets the requirements 1837 

of chapter 1002. 1838 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 65 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

Section 20. Paragraph (f) of subsection (1) of section 1839 

1003.26, Florida Statutes, is amended to read: 1840 

1003.26 Enforcement of school attendance.—The Legislature 1841 

finds that poor academic performance is associated with 1842 

nonattendance and that school districts must take an active role 1843 

in promoting and enforcing attendance as a means of improving 1844 

student performance. It is the policy of the state that each 1845 

district school superintendent be responsible for enforcing 1846 

school attendance of all students subject to the compulsory 1847 

school age in the school district and supporting enforcement of 1848 

school attendance by local law enforcement agencies. The 1849 

responsibility includes recommending policies and procedures to 1850 

the district school board that require public schools to respond 1851 

in a timely manner to every unexcused absence, and every absence 1852 

for which the reason is unknown, of students enrolled in the 1853 

schools. District school board policies shall require the parent 1854 

of a student to justify each absence of the student, and that 1855 

justification will be evaluated based on adopted district school 1856 

board policies that define excused and unexcused absences. The 1857 

policies must provide that public schools track excused and 1858 

unexcused absences and contact the home in the case of an 1859 

unexcused absence from school, or an absence from school for 1860 

which the reason is unknown, to prevent the development of 1861 

patterns of nonattendance. The Legislature finds that early 1862 

intervention in school attendance is the most effective way of 1863 

producing good attendance habits that will lead to improved 1864 

student learning and achievement. Each public school shall 1865 

implement the following steps to promote and enforce regular 1866 

school attendance: 1867 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 66 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

(1) CONTACT, REFER, AND ENFORCE.— 1868 

(f)1. If the parent of a child who has been identified as 1869 

exhibiting a pattern of nonattendance enrolls the child in a 1870 

home education program pursuant to chapter 1002, the district 1871 

school superintendent shall provide the parent a copy of s. 1872 

1002.41 and the accountability requirements of this paragraph. 1873 

The district school superintendent shall also refer the parent 1874 

to a home education review committee composed of the district 1875 

contact for home education programs and at least two home 1876 

educators selected by the parent from a district list of all 1877 

home educators who have conducted a home education program for 1878 

at least 3 years and who have indicated a willingness to serve 1879 

on the committee. The home education review committee shall 1880 

review the portfolio of the student, as defined by s. 1002.41, 1881 

every 30 days during the district’s regular school terms until 1882 

the committee is satisfied that the home education program is in 1883 

compliance with s. 1002.41(1)(b). The first portfolio review 1884 

must occur within the first 30 calendar days of the 1885 

establishment of the program. The provisions of subparagraph 2. 1886 

do not apply once the committee determines the home education 1887 

program is in compliance with s. 1002.41(1)(b). 1888 

2. If the parent fails to provide a portfolio to the 1889 

committee, the committee shall notify the district school 1890 

superintendent. The district school superintendent shall then 1891 

terminate the home education program and require the parent to 1892 

enroll the child in an attendance option that meets the 1893 

definition of “regular school attendance” under s. 1894 

1003.01(13)(a) or (b) s. 1003.01(13)(a), (b), (c), or (e), 1895 

within 3 days. Upon termination of a home education program 1896 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 67 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

pursuant to this subparagraph, the parent shall not be eligible 1897 

to reenroll the child in a home education program for 180 1898 

calendar days. Failure of a parent to enroll the child in an 1899 

attendance option as required by this subparagraph after 1900 

termination of the home education program pursuant to this 1901 

subparagraph shall constitute noncompliance with the compulsory 1902 

attendance requirements of s. 1003.21 and may result in criminal 1903 

prosecution under s. 1003.27(2). Nothing contained herein shall 1904 

restrict the ability of the district school superintendent, or 1905 

the ability of his or her designee, to review the portfolio 1906 

pursuant to s. 1002.41(1)(b). 1907 

Section 21. Paragraph (d) of subsection (2) of section 1908 

1003.41, Florida Statutes, is amended and paragraph (f) is added 1909 

to that subsection, to read: 1910 

1003.41 Next Generation Sunshine State Standards.— 1911 

(2) Next Generation Sunshine State Standards must meet the 1912 

following requirements: 1913 

(d) Social Studies standards must establish specific 1914 

curricular content for, at a minimum, geography, United States 1915 

and world history, government, civics, humanities, and 1916 

economics, including financial literacy. Financial literacy 1917 

includes the knowledge, understanding, skills, behaviors, 1918 

attitudes, and values that will enable a student to make 1919 

responsible and effective financial decisions on a daily basis. 1920 

Financial literacy instruction shall be an integral part of 1921 

instruction throughout the entire economics course and include 1922 

information regarding earning income; buying goods and services; 1923 

saving and financial investing; taxes; the use of credit and 1924 

credit cards; budgeting and debt management, including student 1925 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 68 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

loans and secured loans; banking and financial services; 1926 

planning for one’s financial future, including higher education 1927 

and career planning; credit reports and scores; and fraud and 1928 

identity theft prevention. The requirements for financial 1929 

literacy specified under this paragraph do not apply to students 1930 

entering grade 9 in the 2018-2019 school year and thereafter. 1931 

(f) Effective for students entering grade 9 in the 2018-1932 

2019 school year and thereafter, financial literacy standards 1933 

must establish specific curricular content for, at a minimum, 1934 

personal financial literacy and money management. Financial 1935 

literacy includes instruction in the areas specified in s. 1936 

1003.4282(3)(h). 1937 

Section 22. Paragraphs (d) and (g) of subsection (3) of 1938 

section 1003.4282, Florida Statutes, are amended, and paragraph 1939 

(h) is added to that subsection, to read: 1940 

1003.4282 Requirements for a standard high school diploma.— 1941 

(3) STANDARD HIGH SCHOOL DIPLOMA; COURSE AND ASSESSMENT 1942 

REQUIREMENTS.— 1943 

(d) Three credits in social studies.—A student must earn 1944 

one credit in United States History; one credit in World 1945 

History; one-half credit in economics, which must include 1946 

financial literacy; and one-half credit in United States 1947 

Government. The United States History EOC assessment constitutes 1948 

30 percent of the student’s final course grade. However, for a 1949 

student entering grade 9 in the 2018-2019 school year or 1950 

thereafter, financial literacy is not a required component of 1951 

the one-half credit in economics. 1952 

(g) Eight Credits in Electives.—School districts must 1953 

develop and offer coordinated electives so that a student may 1954 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 69 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

develop knowledge and skills in his or her area of interest, 1955 

such as electives with a STEM or liberal arts focus. Such 1956 

electives must include opportunities for students to earn 1957 

college credit, including industry-certified career education 1958 

programs or series of career-themed courses that result in 1959 

industry certification or articulate into the award of college 1960 

credit, or career education courses for which there is a 1961 

statewide or local articulation agreement and which lead to 1962 

college credit. A student entering grade 9 before the 2018-2019 1963 

school year must earn eight credits in electives. A student 1964 

entering grade 9 in the 2018-2019 school year or thereafter must 1965 

earn seven and one-half credits in electives. 1966 

(h) One-half credit in personal financial literacy.—1967 

Beginning with students entering grade 9 in the 2018-2019 school 1968 

year, each student shall earn one-half credit in personal 1969 

financial literacy and money management. This instruction must 1970 

include discussion of or instruction in the following: 1971 

1. Types of bank accounts offered, opening and managing a 1972 

bank account, and assessing the quality of a depository 1973 

institution’s services. 1974 

2. Balancing a checkbook. 1975 

3. Basic principles of money management, such as spending, 1976 

credit, credit scores, and managing debt, including retail and 1977 

credit card debt. 1978 

4. Completing a loan application. 1979 

5. Receiving an inheritance and related implications. 1980 

6. Basic principles of personal insurance policies. 1981 

7. Computing federal income taxes. 1982 

8. Local tax assessments. 1983 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 70 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

9. Computing interest rates by various mechanisms. 1984 

10. Simple contracts. 1985 

11. Contesting an incorrect billing statement. 1986 

12. Types of savings and investments. 1987 

13. State and federal laws concerning finance. 1988 

Section 23. Section 1003.457, Florida Statutes, is created 1989 

to read: 1990 

1003.457 Instruction in cardiopulmonary resuscitation.— 1991 

(1) Each school district shall provide instruction in 1992 

cardiopulmonary resuscitation (CPR) and the use of an automated 1993 

external defibrillator. Students shall study and practice the 1994 

psychomotor skills associated with performing CPR at least once 1995 

before graduating from high school. The instruction shall be a 1996 

part of the physical education curriculum or another required 1997 

curriculum selected by the school district. 1998 

(2) The instruction shall be based on an instructional 1999 

program established by: 2000 

(a) The American Heart Association; 2001 

(b) The American Red Cross; or 2002 

(c) Another nationally recognized program that uses the 2003 

most current evidence-based emergency cardiovascular care 2004 

guidelines. 2005 

(3) A student with a disability, as defined in s. 1007.02, 2006 

is exempt from the requirements of this section. 2007 

Section 24. Subsection (3) of section 1003.453, Florida 2008 

Statutes, is amended to read: 2009 

1003.453 School wellness and physical education policies; 2010 

nutrition guidelines.— 2011 

(3) School districts are encouraged to provide basic 2012 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 71 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

training in first aid, including cardiopulmonary resuscitation, 2013 

for all students, beginning in grade 6 and every 2 years 2014 

thereafter. Private and public partnerships for providing 2015 

training or necessary funding are encouraged. 2016 

Section 25. Section 1006.061, Florida Statutes, is amended 2017 

to read: 2018 

1006.061 Child abuse, abandonment, and neglect policy.—Each 2019 

district school board, charter school, and private school that 2020 

accepts scholarship students under s. 1002.385, s. 1002.39, or 2021 

s. 1002.395, or another state scholarship program under chapter 2022 

1002 shall: 2023 

(1) Post in a prominent place in each school a notice that, 2024 

pursuant to chapter 39, all employees and agents of the district 2025 

school board, charter school, or private school have an 2026 

affirmative duty to report all actual or suspected cases of 2027 

child abuse, abandonment, or neglect; have immunity from 2028 

liability if they report such cases in good faith; and have a 2029 

duty to comply with child protective investigations and all 2030 

other provisions of law relating to child abuse, abandonment, 2031 

and neglect. The notice shall also include the statewide toll-2032 

free telephone number of the central abuse hotline. 2033 

(2) Post in a prominent place at each school site and on 2034 

each school’s Internet website, if available, the policies and 2035 

procedures for reporting alleged misconduct by instructional 2036 

personnel or school administrators which affects the health, 2037 

safety, or welfare of a student; the contact person to whom the 2038 

report is made; and the penalties imposed on instructional 2039 

personnel or school administrators who fail to report suspected 2040 

or actual child abuse or alleged misconduct by other 2041 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 72 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

instructional personnel or school administrators. 2042 

(3) Require the principal of the charter school or private 2043 

school, or the district school superintendent, or the 2044 

superintendent’s designee, at the request of the Department of 2045 

Children and Families, to act as a liaison to the Department of 2046 

Children and Families and the child protection team, as defined 2047 

in s. 39.01, when in a case of suspected child abuse, 2048 

abandonment, or neglect or an unlawful sexual offense involving 2049 

a child the case is referred to such a team; except that this 2050 

does not relieve or restrict the Department of Children and 2051 

Families from discharging its duty and responsibility under the 2052 

law to investigate and report every suspected or actual case of 2053 

child abuse, abandonment, or neglect or unlawful sexual offense 2054 

involving a child. 2055 

(4)(a) Post in a prominent place in a clearly visible 2056 

location and public area of the school which is readily 2057 

accessible to and widely used by students a sign in English and 2058 

Spanish that contains: 2059 

1. The statewide toll-free telephone number of the central 2060 

abuse hotline as provided in chapter 39; 2061 

2. Instructions to call 911 for emergencies; and 2062 

3. Directions for accessing the Department of Children and 2063 

Families Internet website for more information on reporting 2064 

abuse, neglect, and exploitation. 2065 

(b) The information in paragraph (a) must be put on at 2066 

least one poster in each school, on a sheet that measures at 2067 

least 11 inches by 17 inches, produced in large print, and 2068 

placed at student eye level for easy viewing. 2069 

 2070 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 73 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

The Department of Education shall develop, and publish on the 2071 

department’s Internet website, sample notices suitable for 2072 

posting in accordance with subsections (1), (2), and (4). 2073 

Section 26. Subsections (4) and (6) of section 1006.07, 2074 

Florida Statutes, are amended, and subsection (7) is added to 2075 

that section, to read: 2076 

1006.07 District school board duties relating to student 2077 

discipline and school safety.—The district school board shall 2078 

provide for the proper accounting for all students, for the 2079 

attendance and control of students at school, and for proper 2080 

attention to health, safety, and other matters relating to the 2081 

welfare of students, including: 2082 

(4) EMERGENCY DRILLS; EMERGENCY PROCEDURES.— 2083 

(a) Formulate and prescribe policies and procedures for 2084 

emergency drills and for actual emergencies, including, but not 2085 

limited to, fires, natural disasters, hostage and active shooter 2086 

situations, and bomb threats, for all the public schools of the 2087 

district which comprise grades K-12. District school board 2088 

policies shall include commonly used alarm system responses for 2089 

specific types of emergencies and verification by each school 2090 

that drills have been provided as required by law and fire 2091 

protection codes. The emergency response agency that is 2092 

responsible for notifying the school district for each type of 2093 

emergency must be listed in the district’s emergency response 2094 

policy. 2095 

(b) Establish model emergency management and emergency 2096 

preparedness procedures, including emergency notification 2097 

procedures pursuant to paragraph (a), for the following life-2098 

threatening emergencies: 2099 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 74 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

1. Weapon-use, and hostage, and active shooter situations. 2100 

The active shooter situation training for each school must be 2101 

conducted by the law enforcement agency or agencies that are 2102 

designated as first responders to the school’s campus. 2103 

2. Hazardous materials or toxic chemical spills. 2104 

3. Weather emergencies, including hurricanes, tornadoes, 2105 

and severe storms. 2106 

4. Exposure as a result of a manmade emergency. 2107 

(6) SAFETY AND SECURITY BEST PRACTICES.—Each school 2108 

district shall: Use the Safety and Security Best Practices 2109 

developed by the Office of Program Policy Analysis and 2110 

Government Accountability to 2111 

(a) Conduct security risk assessments at each public school 2112 

and conduct a self-assessment of the school districts’ current 2113 

safety and security practices using a format prescribed by the 2114 

department. Based on these self-assessment findings, the 2115 

district school superintendent shall provide recommendations to 2116 

the district school board which identify strategies and 2117 

activities that the district school board should implement in 2118 

order to improve school safety and security. Annually each 2119 

district school board must receive such findings and the 2120 

superintendent’s recommendations the self-assessment results at 2121 

a publicly noticed district school board meeting to provide the 2122 

public an opportunity to hear the district school board members 2123 

discuss and take action on the report findings and 2124 

recommendations. Each district school superintendent shall 2125 

report such findings the self-assessment results and school 2126 

board action to the commissioner within 30 days after the 2127 

district school board meeting. 2128 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 75 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

(b) Using a format prescribed by the department, develop a 2129 

plan that includes having a secure, single point of entry onto 2130 

school grounds. 2131 

(7) SAFETY IN CONSTRUCTION PLANNING.—A district school 2132 

board or private school principal or governing board must allow 2133 

the law enforcement agency or agencies that are designated as 2134 

first responders to the school’s or district’s campus to tour 2135 

such campus once every 3 years. Any changes related to school 2136 

safety and emergency issues recommended by a law enforcement 2137 

agency based on a campus tour must be documented by the district 2138 

school board or private school principal or governing board. 2139 

Section 27. Subsection (1) and paragraph (b) of subsection 2140 

(2) section 1006.12, Florida Statutes, are amended to read: 2141 

1006.12 School resource officers and school safety 2142 

officers.— 2143 

(1) District school boards shall may establish school 2144 

resource officer programs, through a cooperative agreement with 2145 

law enforcement agencies or in accordance with subsection (2). 2146 

(a) School resource officers shall be certified law 2147 

enforcement officers, as defined in s. 943.10(1), who are 2148 

employed by a law enforcement agency as defined in s. 943.10(4). 2149 

The powers and duties of a law enforcement officer shall 2150 

continue throughout the employee’s tenure as a school resource 2151 

officer. 2152 

(b) School resource officers shall abide by district school 2153 

board policies and shall consult with and coordinate activities 2154 

through the school principal, but shall be responsible to the 2155 

law enforcement agency in all matters relating to employment, 2156 

subject to agreements between a district school board and a law 2157 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 76 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

enforcement agency. Activities conducted by the school resource 2158 

officer which are part of the regular instructional program of 2159 

the school shall be under the direction of the school principal. 2160 

(2) 2161 

(b) A district school board shall may commission one or 2162 

more school safety officers for the protection and safety of 2163 

school personnel, property, and students at each district school 2164 

facility within the school district. The district school 2165 

superintendent may recommend and the district school board may 2166 

appoint one or more school safety officers. 2167 

Section 28. Section 1007.273, Florida Statutes, is amended 2168 

to read: 2169 

1007.273 Structured high school acceleration programs 2170 

Collegiate high school program.— 2171 

(1) Each Florida College System institution shall work with 2172 

each district school board in its designated service area to 2173 

establish one or more structured programs, including, but not 2174 

limited to, collegiate high school programs. As used in this 2175 

section, the term “structured program” means a structured high 2176 

school acceleration program. 2177 

(1)(2) PURPOSE.—At a minimum, structured collegiate high 2178 

school programs must include an option for public school 2179 

students in grade 11 or grade 12 participating in the structured 2180 

program, for at least 1 full school year, to earn CAPE industry 2181 

certifications pursuant to s. 1008.44, and to successfully 2182 

complete at least 30 credit hours through the dual enrollment 2183 

program under s. 1007.271. The structured program must 2184 

prioritize dual enrollment courses that are applicable toward 2185 

general education core courses or common prerequisite course 2186 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 77 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

requirements under s. 1007.25 over dual enrollment courses 2187 

applicable as electives toward at least the first year of 2188 

college for an associate degree or baccalaureate degree while 2189 

enrolled in the structured program. A district school board may 2190 

not limit the number of eligible public school students who may 2191 

enroll in such structured programs. 2192 

(2)(3) REQUIRED STRUCTURED PROGRAM CONTRACTS.— 2193 

(a) Each district school board and its local Florida 2194 

College System institution shall execute a contract to establish 2195 

one or more structured collegiate high school programs at a 2196 

mutually agreed upon location or locations. Beginning with the 2197 

2015-2016 school year, If the local Florida College System 2198 

institution does not establish a structured program with a 2199 

district school board in its designated service area, another 2200 

Florida College System institution may execute a contract with 2201 

that district school board to establish the structured program. 2202 

The contract must be executed by January 1 of each school year 2203 

for implementation of the structured program during the next 2204 

school year. By August 1, 2018, a contract entered into before 2205 

January 1, 2018, for the 2018-2019 school year must be modified 2206 

to include the provisions of paragraph (b). 2207 

(b) The contract must: 2208 

1.(a) Identify the grade levels to be included in the 2209 

structured collegiate high school program; which must, at a 2210 

minimum, include grade 12. 2211 

2.(b) Describe the structured collegiate high school 2212 

program, including a list of the meta-major academic pathways 2213 

approved pursuant to s. 1008.30(4), which are available to 2214 

participating students through the partner Florida College 2215 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 78 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

System institution or other eligible partner postsecondary 2216 

institutions; the delineation of courses that must, at a 2217 

minimum, include general education core courses and common 2218 

prerequisite course requirements pursuant to s. 1007.25; and 2219 

industry certifications offered, including online course 2220 

availability; the high school and college credits earned for 2221 

each postsecondary course completed and industry certification 2222 

earned; student eligibility criteria; and the enrollment process 2223 

and relevant deadlines;. 2224 

3.(c) Describe the methods, medium, and process by which 2225 

students and their parents are annually informed about the 2226 

availability of the structured collegiate high school program, 2227 

the return on investment associated with participation in the 2228 

structured program, and the information described in 2229 

subparagraphs 1. and 2.; paragraphs (a) and (b). 2230 

4.(d) Identify the delivery methods for instruction and the 2231 

instructors for all courses;. 2232 

5.(e) Identify student advising services and progress 2233 

monitoring mechanisms;. 2234 

6.(f) Establish a program review and reporting mechanism 2235 

regarding student performance outcomes; and. 2236 

7.(g) Describe the terms of funding arrangements to 2237 

implement the structured collegiate high school program pursuant 2238 

to paragraph (5)(a). 2239 

(3) STUDENT PERFORMANCE CONTRACT AND NOTIFICATION.— 2240 

(a)(4) Each student participating in a structured 2241 

collegiate high school program must enter into a student 2242 

performance contract which must be signed by the student, the 2243 

parent, and a representative of the school district and the 2244 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 79 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

applicable Florida College System institution, state university, 2245 

or other institution participating pursuant to subsection (4) 2246 

(5). The performance contract must, at a minimum, specify 2247 

include the schedule of courses, by semester, and industry 2248 

certifications to be taken by the student, if any; student 2249 

attendance requirements;, and course grade requirements; and the 2250 

applicability of such courses to an associate degree or a 2251 

baccalaureate degree. 2252 

(b) By September 1 of each school year, each district 2253 

school board must notify each student enrolled in grades 9, 10, 2254 

11, and 12 in a public school within the school district about 2255 

the structured program, including, but not limited to: 2256 

1. The method for earning college credit through 2257 

participation in the structured program. The notification must 2258 

include website links to the dual enrollment course equivalency 2259 

list approved by the State Board of Education; the common degree 2260 

program prerequisite requirements published by the Articulation 2261 

Coordinating Committee pursuant to s. 1007.01(3)(f); the 2262 

industry certification articulation agreements adopted by the 2263 

State Board of Education in rule; and the approved meta-major 2264 

academic pathways of the partner Florida College System 2265 

institution and other eligible partner postsecondary 2266 

institutions participating pursuant to subsection (4); and 2267 

2. The estimated cost savings to students and their 2268 

families resulting from students successfully completing 30 2269 

credit hours applicable toward general education core courses or 2270 

common prerequisite course requirements before graduating from 2271 

high school versus the cost of earning such credit hours after 2272 

graduating from high school. 2273 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 80 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

(4)(5) AUTHORIZED STRUCTURED PROGRAM CONTRACTS.—In addition 2274 

to executing a contract with the local Florida College System 2275 

institution under this section, a district school board may 2276 

execute a contract to establish a structured collegiate high 2277 

school program with a state university or an institution that is 2278 

eligible to participate in the William L. Boyd, IV, Florida 2279 

Resident Access Grant Program, that is a nonprofit independent 2280 

college or university located and chartered in this state, and 2281 

that is accredited by the Commission on Colleges of the Southern 2282 

Association of Colleges and Schools to grant baccalaureate 2283 

degrees. Such university or institution must meet the 2284 

requirements specified under subsections (2) (3) and (3). A 2285 

charter school may execute a contract directly with the local 2286 

Florida College System institution or another institution as 2287 

authorized under this section to establish a structured program 2288 

at a mutually agreed upon location (4). 2289 

(5) FUNDING.— 2290 

(a)(6) The structured collegiate high school program shall 2291 

be funded pursuant to ss. 1007.271 and 1011.62. The State Board 2292 

of Education shall enforce compliance with this section by 2293 

withholding the transfer of funds for the school districts and 2294 

the Florida College System institutions in accordance with s. 2295 

1008.32. Annually, by December 31, the State Board of Education 2296 

shall enforce compliance with this section by withholding the 2297 

transfer of funds for the Florida College System institutions in 2298 

accordance with s. 1008.32 2299 

(b) A student who enrolls in the structured program and 2300 

successfully completes at least 30 college credit hours during a 2301 

school year through the dual enrollment program under s. 2302 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 81 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

1007.271 generates a 0.5 full-time equivalent (FTE) bonus. A 2303 

student who enrolls in the structured program and successfully 2304 

completes an additional 30 college credit hours during a school 2305 

year, resulting in at least 60 college credit hours through the 2306 

dual enrollment program under s. 1007.271 applicable toward 2307 

fulfilling the requirements for an associate in arts degree or 2308 

an associate in science degree or a baccalaureate degree 2309 

pursuant to the student performance contract under subsection 2310 

(3), before graduating from high school, generates an additional 2311 

0.5 FTE bonus. Each district school board that is a contractual 2312 

partner with a Florida College System institution or other 2313 

eligible postsecondary institution shall report to the 2314 

commissioner the total FTE bonus for each structured program for 2315 

the students from that school district. The total FTE bonus 2316 

shall be added to each school district’s total weighted FTE for 2317 

funding in the subsequent fiscal year. 2318 

(c) For any industry certification a student attains under 2319 

this section, the FTE bonus shall be calculated and awarded in 2320 

accordance with s. 1011.62(1)(o). 2321 

(6) REPORTING REQUIREMENTS.— 2322 

(a) By September 1 of each school year, each district 2323 

school superintendent shall report to the commissioner, at a 2324 

minimum, the following information on each structured program 2325 

administered during the prior school year: 2326 

1. The number of students in public schools within the 2327 

school district who enrolled in the structured program, and the 2328 

partnering postsecondary institutions pursuant to subsections 2329 

(2) and (4); 2330 

2. The total and average number of dual enrollment courses 2331 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 82 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

completed, high school and college credits earned, standard high 2332 

school diplomas and associate and baccalaureate degrees awarded, 2333 

and the number of industry certifications attained, if any, by 2334 

the students who enrolled in the structured program; 2335 

3. The projected student enrollment in the structured 2336 

program during the next school year; and 2337 

4. Any barriers to executing contracts to establish one or 2338 

more structured programs. 2339 

(b) By November 30 of each school year, the commissioner 2340 

must report to the Governor, the President of the Senate, and 2341 

the Speaker of the House of Representatives the status of 2342 

structured programs, including, at a minimum, a summary of 2343 

student enrollment and completion information pursuant to this 2344 

subsection; barriers, if any, to establishing such programs; and 2345 

recommendations for expanding access to such programs statewide. 2346 

Section 29. Paragraph (c) of subsection (3) and subsection 2347 

(4) of section 1008.33, Florida Statutes, are amended to read: 2348 

1008.33 Authority to enforce public school improvement.— 2349 

(3) 2350 

(c) The state board shall adopt by rule a differentiated 2351 

matrix of intervention and support strategies for assisting 2352 

traditional public schools identified under this section and 2353 

rules for implementing s. 1002.33(9)(n), relating to charter 2354 

schools. 2355 

1. The intervention and support strategies must address 2356 

efforts to improve student performance through one or more of 2357 

the following strategies: and may include 2358 

a. Improvement planning; 2359 

b. Leadership quality improvement; 2360 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 83 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

c. Educator quality improvement; 2361 

d. Professional development; 2362 

e. Curriculum review, pacing, and alignment across grade 2363 

levels to improve background knowledge in social studies, 2364 

science, and the arts; and 2365 

f. The use of continuous improvement and monitoring plans 2366 

and processes. 2367 

2. In addition, The state board may prescribe reporting 2368 

requirements to review and monitor the progress of the schools. 2369 

The rule must define the intervention and support strategies for 2370 

school improvement for schools earning a grade of “D” or “F” and 2371 

the roles for the district and department. 2372 

(4)(a) The state board shall apply intensive intervention 2373 

and support strategies tailored to the needs of schools earning 2374 

two consecutive grades of “D” or a grade of “F.” In the first 2375 

full school year after a school initially earns two consecutive 2376 

grades of “D” or a grade of “F,” the school district must 2377 

immediately implement intervention and support strategies 2378 

prescribed in rule under paragraph (3)(c) and, by September 1, 2379 

provide the department with the memorandum of understanding 2380 

negotiated pursuant to s. 1001.42(21) and, by October 1, a 2381 

district-managed turnaround plan for approval by the state 2382 

board. The district-managed turnaround plan may include a 2383 

proposal for the district to implement an extended school day, a 2384 

summer program, or a combination of an extended school day and 2385 

summer program. Upon approval by the state board, the school 2386 

district must implement the plan for the remainder of the school 2387 

year and continue the plan for 1 full school year. The state 2388 

board may allow a school an additional year of implementation 2389 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 84 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

before the school must implement a turnaround option required 2390 

under paragraph (b) if it determines that the school is likely 2391 

to improve to a grade of “C” or higher after the first full 2392 

school year of implementation. 2393 

(b) Unless an additional year of implementation is provided 2394 

pursuant to paragraph (a), a school that has completed 2 school 2395 

years of a district-managed turnaround plan required under 2396 

paragraph (a) and has not improved its school grade to a “C” or 2397 

higher, pursuant to s. 1008.34, earns three consecutive grades 2398 

below a “C” must implement one of the following options: 2399 

1. Reassign students to another school and monitor the 2400 

progress of each reassigned student.; 2401 

2. Close the school and reopen the school as one or more 2402 

charter schools, each with a governing board that has a 2403 

demonstrated record of effectiveness. Such charter schools are 2404 

eligible for funding from the hope supplemental services 2405 

allocation established by s. 1011.62(16).; or 2406 

3. Contract with an outside entity that has a demonstrated 2407 

record of effectiveness to operate the school. An outside entity 2408 

may include: 2409 

a. A district-managed charter school in which all 2410 

instructional personnel are not employees of the school 2411 

district, but are employees of an independent governing board 2412 

composed of members who did not participate in the review or 2413 

approval of the charter. A district-managed charter school is 2414 

eligible for funding from the hope supplemental services 2415 

allocation established by s. 1011.62(16); or 2416 

b. A hope operator that submits to a school district a 2417 

notice of intent of a performance-based agreement pursuant to s. 2418 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 85 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

1002.333. A school of hope established pursuant to this sub-2419 

subparagraph is eligible for funding from the hope supplemental 2420 

services allocation for up to 5 years, beginning in the school 2421 

year in which the school of hope is established, if the school 2422 

of hope: 2423 

(I) Is established at the district-owned facilities of the 2424 

persistently low-performing school; 2425 

(II) Gives priority enrollment to students who are enrolled 2426 

in, or are eligible to attend and are living in the attendance 2427 

area of, the persistently low-performing school that the school 2428 

of hope operates, consistent with the enrollment lottery 2429 

exemption provided under s. 1002.333(5)(c); and 2430 

(III) Meets the requirements of its performance-based 2431 

agreement pursuant to s. 1002.333. 2432 

4. Implement a franchise model school in which a highly 2433 

effective principal, pursuant to s. 1012.34, leads the 2434 

persistently low-performing school in addition to the 2435 

principal’s currently assigned school. The franchise model 2436 

school principal may allocate resources and personnel between 2437 

the schools he or she leads. The persistently low-performing 2438 

school is eligible for funding from the hope supplemental 2439 

services allocation established under s. 1011.62(16). 2440 

(c) Implementation of the turnaround option is no longer 2441 

required if the school improves to a grade of “C” or higher. 2442 

(d) If a school earning two consecutive grades of “D” or a 2443 

grade of “F” does not improve to a grade of “C” or higher after 2444 

2 full school years of implementing the turnaround option 2445 

selected by the school district under paragraph (b), the school 2446 

district must implement another turnaround option. 2447 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 86 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

Implementation of the turnaround option must begin the school 2448 

year following the implementation period of the existing 2449 

turnaround option, unless the state board determines that the 2450 

school is likely to improve to a grade of “C” or higher if 2451 

additional time is provided to implement the existing turnaround 2452 

option. 2453 

Section 30. Present subsections (16) and (17) of section 2454 

1011.62, Florida Statutes, are redesignated as subsections (19) 2455 

and (20), respectively, new subsections (16) and (17) and 2456 

subsection (18) are added to that section, and paragraph (a) of 2457 

subsection (4) and subsection (14) of that section are amended, 2458 

to read: 2459 

1011.62 Funds for operation of schools.—If the annual 2460 

allocation from the Florida Education Finance Program to each 2461 

district for operation of schools is not determined in the 2462 

annual appropriations act or the substantive bill implementing 2463 

the annual appropriations act, it shall be determined as 2464 

follows: 2465 

(4) COMPUTATION OF DISTRICT REQUIRED LOCAL EFFORT.—The 2466 

Legislature shall prescribe the aggregate required local effort 2467 

for all school districts collectively as an item in the General 2468 

Appropriations Act for each fiscal year. The amount that each 2469 

district shall provide annually toward the cost of the Florida 2470 

Education Finance Program for kindergarten through grade 12 2471 

programs shall be calculated as follows: 2472 

(a) Estimated taxable value calculations.— 2473 

1.a. Not later than 2 working days before July 19, the 2474 

Department of Revenue shall certify to the Commissioner of 2475 

Education its most recent estimate of the taxable value for 2476 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 87 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

school purposes in each school district and the total for all 2477 

school districts in the state for the current calendar year 2478 

based on the latest available data obtained from the local 2479 

property appraisers. The value certified shall be the taxable 2480 

value for school purposes for that year, and no further 2481 

adjustments shall be made, except those made pursuant to 2482 

paragraphs (c) and (d), or an assessment roll change required by 2483 

final judicial decisions as specified in paragraph (19)(b) 2484 

(16)(b). Not later than July 19, the Commissioner of Education 2485 

shall compute a millage rate, rounded to the next highest one 2486 

one-thousandth of a mill, which, when applied to 96 percent of 2487 

the estimated state total taxable value for school purposes, 2488 

would generate the prescribed aggregate required local effort 2489 

for that year for all districts. The Commissioner of Education 2490 

shall certify to each district school board the millage rate, 2491 

computed as prescribed in this subparagraph, as the minimum 2492 

millage rate necessary to provide the district required local 2493 

effort for that year. 2494 

b. The General Appropriations Act shall direct the 2495 

computation of the statewide adjusted aggregate amount for 2496 

required local effort for all school districts collectively from 2497 

ad valorem taxes to ensure that no school district’s revenue 2498 

from required local effort millage will produce more than 90 2499 

percent of the district’s total Florida Education Finance 2500 

Program calculation as calculated and adopted by the 2501 

Legislature, and the adjustment of the required local effort 2502 

millage rate of each district that produces more than 90 percent 2503 

of its total Florida Education Finance Program entitlement to a 2504 

level that will produce only 90 percent of its total Florida 2505 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 88 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

Education Finance Program entitlement in the July calculation. 2506 

2. On the same date as the certification in sub-2507 

subparagraph 1.a., the Department of Revenue shall certify to 2508 

the Commissioner of Education for each district: 2509 

a. Each year for which the property appraiser has certified 2510 

the taxable value pursuant to s. 193.122(2) or (3), if 2511 

applicable, since the prior certification under sub-subparagraph 2512 

1.a. 2513 

b. For each year identified in sub-subparagraph a., the 2514 

taxable value certified by the appraiser pursuant to s. 2515 

193.122(2) or (3), if applicable, since the prior certification 2516 

under sub-subparagraph 1.a. This is the certification that 2517 

reflects all final administrative actions of the value 2518 

adjustment board. 2519 

(14) QUALITY ASSURANCE GUARANTEE.—The Legislature may 2520 

annually in the General Appropriations Act determine a 2521 

percentage increase in funds per K-12 unweighted FTE as a 2522 

minimum guarantee to each school district. The guarantee shall 2523 

be calculated from prior year base funding per unweighted FTE 2524 

student which shall include the adjusted FTE dollars as provided 2525 

in subsection (19) (16), quality guarantee funds, and actual 2526 

nonvoted discretionary local effort from taxes. From the base 2527 

funding per unweighted FTE, the increase shall be calculated for 2528 

the current year. The current year funds from which the 2529 

guarantee shall be determined shall include the adjusted FTE 2530 

dollars as provided in subsection (19) (16) and potential 2531 

nonvoted discretionary local effort from taxes. A comparison of 2532 

current year funds per unweighted FTE to prior year funds per 2533 

unweighted FTE shall be computed. For those school districts 2534 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 89 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

which have less than the legislatively assigned percentage 2535 

increase, funds shall be provided to guarantee the assigned 2536 

percentage increase in funds per unweighted FTE student. Should 2537 

appropriated funds be less than the sum of this calculated 2538 

amount for all districts, the commissioner shall prorate each 2539 

district’s allocation. This provision shall be implemented to 2540 

the extent specifically funded. 2541 

(16) HOPE SUPPLEMENTAL SERVICES ALLOCATION.-The hope 2542 

supplemental services allocation is created to provide district-2543 

managed turnaround schools, as required under s. 1008.33(4)(a), 2544 

charter schools authorized under s. 1008.33(4)(b)2., district-2545 

managed charter schools authorized under s. 1008.33(4)(b)3.a., 2546 

schools of hope authorized under s. 1008.33(4)(b)3.b., and 2547 

franchise model schools as authorized under s. 1008.33(4)(b)4., 2548 

with funds to offer services designed to improve the overall 2549 

academic and community welfare of the schools’ students and 2550 

their families. 2551 

(a) Services funded by the allocation may include, but are 2552 

not limited to, tutorial and after-school programs, student 2553 

counseling, nutrition education, and parental counseling. In 2554 

addition, services may also include models that develop a 2555 

culture that encourages students to complete high school and to 2556 

attend college or career training, set high academic 2557 

expectations, inspire character development, and include an 2558 

extended school day and school year. 2559 

(b) Prior to distribution of the allocation, a school 2560 

district, for a district turnaround school and persistently low-2561 

performing schools that use a franchise model; a hope operator, 2562 

for a school of hope; or the charter school governing board for 2563 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 90 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

a charter school, as applicable, shall develop and submit a plan 2564 

for implementation to its respective governing body for approval 2565 

no later than August 1 of the fiscal year. 2566 

(c) At a minimum, the plans required under paragraph (b) 2567 

must: 2568 

1. Establish comprehensive support services that develop 2569 

family and community partnerships; 2570 

2. Establish clearly defined and measurable high academic 2571 

and character standards; 2572 

3. Increase parental involvement and engagement in the 2573 

child’s education; 2574 

4. Describe how instructional personnel will be identified, 2575 

recruited, retained, and rewarded; 2576 

5. Provide professional development that focuses on 2577 

academic rigor, direct instruction, and creating high academic 2578 

and character standards; and 2579 

6. Provide focused instruction to improve student academic 2580 

proficiency, which may include additional instruction time 2581 

beyond the normal school day or school year. 2582 

(d) Each school district and hope operator shall submit 2583 

approved plans to the commissioner by September 1 of each fiscal 2584 

year. 2585 

(e) For the 2018-2019 fiscal year, a school that is 2586 

selected to receive funding in the 2017-2018 fiscal year 2587 

pursuant to s. 1002.333(10)(c) shall receive $2,000 per FTE. A 2588 

district-managed turnaround school required under s. 2589 

1008.33(4)(a), charter school authorized under s. 2590 

1008.33(4)(b)2., district-managed charter school authorized 2591 

under s. 1008.33(4)(b)3.a., school of hope authorized under s. 2592 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 91 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

1008.33(4)(b)3.b., and franchise model school authorized under 2593 

s. 1008.33(4)(b)4. are eligible for the remaining funds based on 2594 

the school’s unweighted FTE, up to $2,000 per FTE or as provided 2595 

in the General Appropriations Act. 2596 

(f) For the 2019-2020 fiscal year and thereafter, each 2597 

school district’s allocation shall be based on the unweighted 2598 

FTE student enrollment at the eligible schools and a per-FTE 2599 

funding amount of up to $2,000 per FTE or as provided in the 2600 

General Appropriations Act. If the calculated funds for 2601 

unweighted FTE student enrollment at the eligible schools exceed 2602 

the per-FTE funds appropriated, the allocation of funds to each 2603 

school district must be prorated based on each school district’s 2604 

share of the total unweighted FTE student enrollment for the 2605 

eligible schools. 2606 

(17) MENTAL HEALTH ASSISTANCE ALLOCATION.—The mental health 2607 

assistance allocation is created to provide supplemental funding 2608 

to assist school districts in establishing or expanding 2609 

comprehensive school-based mental health programs that increase 2610 

awareness of mental health issues among children and school-age 2611 

youth; train educators and other school staff in detecting and 2612 

responding to mental health issues; and connect children, youth, 2613 

and families who may experience behavioral health issues with 2614 

appropriate services. These funds may be allocated annually in 2615 

the General Appropriations Act to each eligible school district 2616 

and developmental research school based on each entity’s 2617 

proportionate share of Florida Education Finance Program base 2618 

funding. The district funding allocation must include a minimum 2619 

amount as specified in the General Appropriations Act. Upon 2620 

submission and approval of a plan that includes the elements 2621 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 92 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

specified in paragraph (b), charter schools are also entitled to 2622 

a proportionate share of district funding for this program. The 2623 

allocated funds may not supplant funds that are provided for 2624 

this purpose from other operating funds and may not be used to 2625 

increase salaries or provide bonuses. 2626 

(a) Prior to the distribution of the allocation: 2627 

1. The district must annually develop and submit a detailed 2628 

plan outlining the local program and planned expenditures to the 2629 

district school board for approval. 2630 

2. A charter school must annually develop and submit a 2631 

detailed plan outlining the local program and planned 2632 

expenditures of the funds in the plan to its governing body for 2633 

approval. After the plan is approved by the governing body, it 2634 

must be provided to its school district for submission to the 2635 

commissioner. 2636 

(b) The plans required under paragraph (a) must include, at 2637 

a minimum, all of the following elements: 2638 

1. A collaborative effort or partnership between the school 2639 

district and at least one local community program or agency 2640 

involved in mental health to provide or to improve prevention, 2641 

diagnosis, and treatment services for students; 2642 

2. Programs to assist students in dealing with bullying, 2643 

trauma, and violence; 2644 

3. Strategies or programs to reduce the likelihood of at-2645 

risk students developing social, emotional, or behavioral health 2646 

problems or substance use disorders; 2647 

4. Strategies to improve the early identification of 2648 

social, emotional, or behavioral problems or substance use 2649 

disorders and to improve the provision of early intervention 2650 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 93 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

services; 2651 

5. Strategies to enhance the availability of school-based 2652 

crisis intervention services and appropriate referrals for 2653 

students in need of mental health services; and 2654 

6. Training opportunities for school personnel in the 2655 

techniques and supports needed to identify students who have 2656 

trauma histories and who have or are at risk of having a mental 2657 

illness, and in the use of referral mechanisms that effectively 2658 

link such students to appropriate treatment and intervention 2659 

services in the school and in the community. 2660 

(c) The districts shall submit approved plans to the 2661 

commissioner by August 1 of each fiscal year. 2662 

(d) Beginning September 30, 2019, and by each September 30 2663 

thereafter, each entity that receives an allocation under this 2664 

subsection shall submit to the commissioner, in a format 2665 

prescribed by the department, a final report on its program 2666 

outcomes and its expenditures for each element of the program. 2667 

(18) FUNDING COMPRESSION ALLOCATION.—The Legislature may 2668 

provide an annual funding compression allocation in the General 2669 

Appropriations Act. The allocation is created to provide 2670 

additional funding to school districts and developmental 2671 

research schools whose total funds per FTE in the prior year 2672 

were less than the statewide average. Using the most recent 2673 

prior year FEFP calculation for each eligible school district, 2674 

the total funds per FTE shall be subtracted from the state 2675 

average funds per FTE, not including any adjustments made 2676 

pursuant to paragraph (19)(b). The resulting funds per FTE 2677 

difference, or a portion thereof, as designated in the General 2678 

Appropriations Act, shall then be multiplied by the school 2679 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 94 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

district’s total unweighted FTE to provide the allocation. If 2680 

the calculated funds are greater than the amount included in the 2681 

General Appropriations Act, they must be prorated to the 2682 

appropriation amount based on each participating school 2683 

district’s share. 2684 

Section 31. Subsection (5) of section 1011.69, Florida 2685 

Statutes, is amended to read: 2686 

1011.69 Equity in School-Level Funding Act.— 2687 

(5) After providing Title I, Part A, Basic funds to schools 2688 

above the 75 percent poverty threshold, which may include high 2689 

schools above the 50 percent threshold as allowed by federal 2690 

law, school districts shall provide any remaining Title I, Part 2691 

A, Basic funds directly to all eligible schools as provided in 2692 

this subsection. For purposes of this subsection, an eligible 2693 

school is a school that is eligible to receive Title I funds, 2694 

including a charter school. The threshold for identifying 2695 

eligible schools may not exceed the threshold established by a 2696 

school district for the 2016-2017 school year or the statewide 2697 

percentage of economically disadvantaged students, as determined 2698 

annually. 2699 

(a) Prior to the allocation of Title I funds to eligible 2700 

schools, a school district may withhold funds only as follows: 2701 

1. One percent for parent involvement, in addition to the 2702 

one percent the district must reserve under federal law for 2703 

allocations to eligible schools for parent involvement; 2704 

2. A necessary and reasonable amount for administration;, 2705 

3. which includes The district’s approved indirect cost 2706 

rate, not to exceed a total of 8 percent; and 2707 

4.3. A reasonable and necessary amount to provide: 2708 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 95 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

a. Homeless programs; 2709 

b. Delinquent and neglected programs; 2710 

c. Prekindergarten programs and activities; 2711 

d. Private school equitable services; and 2712 

e. Transportation for foster care children to their school 2713 

of origin or choice programs; and. 2714 

5. A necessary and reasonable amount for eligible schools 2715 

to provide: 2716 

a. Extended learning opportunities, such as summer school, 2717 

before-school and after-school programs, and additional class 2718 

periods of instruction during the school day; and 2719 

b. Supplemental academic and enrichment services, staff 2720 

development, and planning and curriculum, as well as wrap-around 2721 

services. 2722 

(b) All remaining Title I funds shall be distributed to all 2723 

eligible schools in accordance with federal law and regulation. 2724 

To maximize the efficient use of resources, school districts may 2725 

allow eligible schools, not including charter schools, to An 2726 

eligible school may use funds under this subsection for 2727 

district-level to participate in discretionary educational 2728 

services provided by the school district. 2729 

Section 32. Subsection (5) of section 1011.71, Florida 2730 

Statutes, is amended to read: 2731 

1011.71 District school tax.— 2732 

(5) Effective July 1, 2008, A school district may expend, 2733 

subject to the provisions of s. 200.065, up to $150 $100 per 2734 

unweighted full-time equivalent student from the revenue 2735 

generated by the millage levy authorized by subsection (2) to 2736 

fund, in addition to expenditures authorized in paragraphs 2737 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 96 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

(2)(a)-(j), expenses for the following: 2738 

(a) The purchase, lease-purchase, or lease of driver’s 2739 

education vehicles; motor vehicles used for the maintenance or 2740 

operation of plants and equipment; security vehicles; or 2741 

vehicles used in storing or distributing materials and 2742 

equipment. 2743 

(b) Payment of the cost of premiums, as defined in s. 2744 

627.403, for property and casualty insurance necessary to insure 2745 

school district educational and ancillary plants. As used in 2746 

this paragraph, casualty insurance has the same meaning as in s. 2747 

624.605(1)(d), (f), (g), (h), and (m). Operating revenues that 2748 

are made available through the payment of property and casualty 2749 

insurance premiums from revenues generated under this subsection 2750 

may be expended only for nonrecurring operational expenditures 2751 

of the school district. 2752 

Section 33. Section 1012.315, Florida Statutes, is amended 2753 

to read: 2754 

1012.315 Disqualification from employment.—A person is 2755 

ineligible for educator certification, and instructional 2756 

personnel and school administrators, as defined in s. 1012.01, 2757 

are ineligible for employment in any position that requires 2758 

direct contact with students in a district school system, 2759 

charter school, or private school that accepts scholarship 2760 

students under s. 1002.385, s. 1002.39, or s. 1002.395, or 2761 

another state scholarship program under chapter 1002, if the 2762 

person, instructional personnel, or school administrator has 2763 

been convicted of: 2764 

(1) Any felony offense prohibited under any of the 2765 

following statutes: 2766 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 97 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

(a) Section 393.135, relating to sexual misconduct with 2767 

certain developmentally disabled clients and reporting of such 2768 

sexual misconduct. 2769 

(b) Section 394.4593, relating to sexual misconduct with 2770 

certain mental health patients and reporting of such sexual 2771 

misconduct. 2772 

(c) Section 415.111, relating to adult abuse, neglect, or 2773 

exploitation of aged persons or disabled adults. 2774 

(d) Section 782.04, relating to murder. 2775 

(e) Section 782.07, relating to manslaughter, aggravated 2776 

manslaughter of an elderly person or disabled adult, aggravated 2777 

manslaughter of a child, or aggravated manslaughter of an 2778 

officer, a firefighter, an emergency medical technician, or a 2779 

paramedic. 2780 

(f) Section 784.021, relating to aggravated assault. 2781 

(g) Section 784.045, relating to aggravated battery. 2782 

(h) Section 784.075, relating to battery on a detention or 2783 

commitment facility staff member or a juvenile probation 2784 

officer. 2785 

(i) Section 787.01, relating to kidnapping. 2786 

(j) Section 787.02, relating to false imprisonment. 2787 

(k) Section 787.025, relating to luring or enticing a 2788 

child. 2789 

(l) Section 787.04(2), relating to leading, taking, 2790 

enticing, or removing a minor beyond the state limits, or 2791 

concealing the location of a minor, with criminal intent pending 2792 

custody proceedings. 2793 

(m) Section 787.04(3), relating to leading, taking, 2794 

enticing, or removing a minor beyond the state limits, or 2795 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 98 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

concealing the location of a minor, with criminal intent pending 2796 

dependency proceedings or proceedings concerning alleged abuse 2797 

or neglect of a minor. 2798 

(n) Section 790.115(1), relating to exhibiting firearms or 2799 

weapons at a school-sponsored event, on school property, or 2800 

within 1,000 feet of a school. 2801 

(o) Section 790.115(2)(b), relating to possessing an 2802 

electric weapon or device, destructive device, or other weapon 2803 

at a school-sponsored event or on school property. 2804 

(p) Section 794.011, relating to sexual battery. 2805 

(q) Former s. 794.041, relating to sexual activity with or 2806 

solicitation of a child by a person in familial or custodial 2807 

authority. 2808 

(r) Section 794.05, relating to unlawful sexual activity 2809 

with certain minors. 2810 

(s) Section 794.08, relating to female genital mutilation. 2811 

(t) Chapter 796, relating to prostitution. 2812 

(u) Chapter 800, relating to lewdness and indecent 2813 

exposure. 2814 

(v) Section 806.01, relating to arson. 2815 

(w) Section 810.14, relating to voyeurism. 2816 

(x) Section 810.145, relating to video voyeurism. 2817 

(y) Section 812.014(6), relating to coordinating the 2818 

commission of theft in excess of $3,000. 2819 

(z) Section 812.0145, relating to theft from persons 65 2820 

years of age or older. 2821 

(aa) Section 812.019, relating to dealing in stolen 2822 

property. 2823 

(bb) Section 812.13, relating to robbery. 2824 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 99 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

(cc) Section 812.131, relating to robbery by sudden 2825 

snatching. 2826 

(dd) Section 812.133, relating to carjacking. 2827 

(ee) Section 812.135, relating to home-invasion robbery. 2828 

(ff) Section 817.563, relating to fraudulent sale of 2829 

controlled substances. 2830 

(gg) Section 825.102, relating to abuse, aggravated abuse, 2831 

or neglect of an elderly person or disabled adult. 2832 

(hh) Section 825.103, relating to exploitation of an 2833 

elderly person or disabled adult. 2834 

(ii) Section 825.1025, relating to lewd or lascivious 2835 

offenses committed upon or in the presence of an elderly person 2836 

or disabled person. 2837 

(jj) Section 826.04, relating to incest. 2838 

(kk) Section 827.03, relating to child abuse, aggravated 2839 

child abuse, or neglect of a child. 2840 

(ll) Section 827.04, relating to contributing to the 2841 

delinquency or dependency of a child. 2842 

(mm) Section 827.071, relating to sexual performance by a 2843 

child. 2844 

(nn) Section 843.01, relating to resisting arrest with 2845 

violence. 2846 

(oo) Chapter 847, relating to obscenity. 2847 

(pp) Section 874.05, relating to causing, encouraging, 2848 

soliciting, or recruiting another to join a criminal street 2849 

gang. 2850 

(qq) Chapter 893, relating to drug abuse prevention and 2851 

control, if the offense was a felony of the second degree or 2852 

greater severity. 2853 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 100 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

(rr) Section 916.1075, relating to sexual misconduct with 2854 

certain forensic clients and reporting of such sexual 2855 

misconduct. 2856 

(ss) Section 944.47, relating to introduction, removal, or 2857 

possession of contraband at a correctional facility. 2858 

(tt) Section 985.701, relating to sexual misconduct in 2859 

juvenile justice programs. 2860 

(uu) Section 985.711, relating to introduction, removal, or 2861 

possession of contraband at a juvenile detention facility or 2862 

commitment program. 2863 

(2) Any misdemeanor offense prohibited under any of the 2864 

following statutes: 2865 

(a) Section 784.03, relating to battery, if the victim of 2866 

the offense was a minor. 2867 

(b) Section 787.025, relating to luring or enticing a 2868 

child. 2869 

(3) Any criminal act committed in another state or under 2870 

federal law which, if committed in this state, constitutes an 2871 

offense prohibited under any statute listed in subsection (1) or 2872 

subsection (2). 2873 

(4) Any delinquent act committed in this state or any 2874 

delinquent or criminal act committed in another state or under 2875 

federal law which, if committed in this state, qualifies an 2876 

individual for inclusion on the Registered Juvenile Sex Offender 2877 

List under s. 943.0435(1)(h)1.d. 2878 

Section 34. Paragraphs (b) and (c) of subsection (3) of 2879 

section 1012.731, Florida Statutes, are amended to read: 2880 

1012.731 The Florida Best and Brightest Teacher Scholarship 2881 

Program.— 2882 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 101 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

(3) 2883 

(b)1. In order to demonstrate eligibility for an award, an 2884 

eligible classroom teacher must submit to the school district, 2885 

no later than November 1, an official record of his or her 2886 

qualifying assessment score and, beginning with the 2020-2021 2887 

school year, an official transcript demonstrating that he or she 2888 

graduated cum laude or higher with a baccalaureate degree, if 2889 

applicable. Once a classroom teacher is deemed eligible by the 2890 

school district, the teacher shall remain eligible as long as he 2891 

or she remains employed by the school district as a classroom 2892 

teacher at the time of the award and receives an annual 2893 

performance evaluation rating of highly effective pursuant to s. 2894 

1012.34 or is evaluated as highly effective based on a 2895 

commissioner-approved student learning growth formula pursuant 2896 

to s. 1012.34(8) for the 2019-2020 school year or thereafter. 2897 

2. A school district employee who, in the prior school 2898 

year, was rated highly effective and met the eligibility 2899 

requirements under this section as a classroom teacher, is 2900 

eligible to receive a scholarship award during the current 2901 

school year if he or she maintains employment with the school 2902 

district. 2903 

(c) Notwithstanding the requirements of this subsection, 2904 

for the 2017-2018, 2018-2019, and 2019-2020 school years, any 2905 

classroom teacher who: 2906 

1. Was evaluated as highly effective pursuant to s. 1012.34 2907 

in the school year immediately preceding the year in which the 2908 

scholarship will be awarded shall receive a scholarship of 2909 

$1200, including a classroom teacher who received an award 2910 

pursuant to paragraph (a). 2911 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 102 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

2. Was evaluated as effective pursuant to s. 1012.34 in the 2912 

school year immediately preceding the year in which the 2913 

scholarship will be awarded a scholarship of up to $800. If the 2914 

number of eligible classroom teachers under this subparagraph 2915 

exceeds the total allocation, the department shall prorate the 2916 

per-teacher scholarship amount. 2917 

 2918 

This paragraph expires July 1, 2020. 2919 

Section 35. Subsections (2), (3), and (4) of section 2920 

1012.732, Florida Statutes, are amended to read: 2921 

1012.732 The Florida Best and Brightest Principal 2922 

Scholarship Program.— 2923 

(2) There is created the Florida Best and Brightest 2924 

Principal Scholarship Program to be administered by the 2925 

Department of Education. The program shall provide categorical 2926 

funding for scholarships to be awarded to school principals, as 2927 

defined in s. 1012.01(3)(c)1., who are serving as a franchise 2928 

model school principal or who have recruited and retained a high 2929 

percentage of best and brightest teachers. 2930 

(3)(a) A school principal identified pursuant to s. 2931 

1012.731(4)(c) is eligible to receive a scholarship under this 2932 

section if he or she has served as school principal at his or 2933 

her school for at least 2 consecutive school years including the 2934 

current school year and his or her school has a ratio of best 2935 

and brightest teachers to other classroom teachers that is at 2936 

the 80th percentile or higher for schools within the same grade 2937 

group, statewide, including elementary schools, middle schools, 2938 

high schools, and schools with a combination of grade levels. 2939 

(b) A principal of a franchise model school, as defined in 2940 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 103 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

s. 1002.334, is eligible to receive a scholarship under this 2941 

section. 2942 

(4) Annually, by February 1, the department shall identify 2943 

eligible school principals and disburse funds to each school 2944 

district for each eligible school principal to receive a 2945 

scholarship. 2946 

(a) A scholarship of $10,000 $5,000 must be awarded to each 2947 

franchise model school principal who is every eligible under 2948 

paragraph (3)(b). 2949 

(b) A scholarship of $5,000 must be awarded to each school 2950 

principal assigned to a Title I school and a scholarship of 2951 

$4,000 to each every eligible school principal who is not 2952 

assigned to a Title I school and who is eligible under paragraph 2953 

(3)(a). 2954 

Section 36. Paragraph (e) of subsection (1) of section 2955 

1012.796, Florida Statutes, is amended to read: 2956 

1012.796 Complaints against teachers and administrators; 2957 

procedure; penalties.— 2958 

(1) 2959 

(e) If allegations arise against an employee who is 2960 

certified under s. 1012.56 and employed in an educator-2961 

certificated position in any public school, charter school or 2962 

governing board thereof, or private school that accepts 2963 

scholarship students under s. 1002.385, s. 1002.39, or s. 2964 

1002.395, or another state scholarship program under chapter 2965 

1002, the school shall file in writing with the department a 2966 

legally sufficient complaint within 30 days after the date on 2967 

which the subject matter of the complaint came to the attention 2968 

of the school. A complaint is legally sufficient if it contains 2969 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 104 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

ultimate facts that show a violation has occurred as provided in 2970 

s. 1012.795 and defined by rule of the State Board of Education. 2971 

The school shall include all known information relating to the 2972 

complaint with the filing of the complaint. This paragraph does 2973 

not limit or restrict the power and duty of the department to 2974 

investigate complaints, regardless of the school’s untimely 2975 

filing, or failure to file, complaints and followup reports. 2976 

Section 37. Present paragraphs (a) through (d) of 2977 

subsection (1) of section 1013.31, Florida Statutes, are 2978 

redesignated as paragraphs (b) through (e), respectively, and a 2979 

new paragraph (a) is added to that subsection, to read: 2980 

1013.31 Educational plant survey; localized need 2981 

assessment; PECO project funding.— 2982 

(1) At least every 5 years, each board shall arrange for an 2983 

educational plant survey, to aid in formulating plans for 2984 

housing the educational program and student population, faculty, 2985 

administrators, staff, and auxiliary and ancillary services of 2986 

the district or campus, including consideration of the local 2987 

comprehensive plan. The Department of Education shall document 2988 

the need for additional career and adult education programs and 2989 

the continuation of existing programs before facility 2990 

construction or renovation related to career or adult education 2991 

may be included in the educational plant survey of a school 2992 

district or Florida College System institution that delivers 2993 

career or adult education programs. Information used by the 2994 

Department of Education to establish facility needs must 2995 

include, but need not be limited to, labor market data, needs 2996 

analysis, and information submitted by the school district or 2997 

Florida College System institution. 2998 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 105 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

(a) Educational plant survey and localized need assessment 2999 

for capital outlay purposes.—A district may only use funds from 3000 

the following sources for educational, auxiliary, and ancillary 3001 

plant capital outlay purposes without needing a survey 3002 

recommendation: 3003 

1. The local capital outlay improvement fund, consisting of 3004 

funds that come from and are a part of the district’s basic 3005 

operating budget; 3006 

2. If a board decides to build an educational, auxiliary, 3007 

or ancillary facility without a survey recommendation and the 3008 

taxpayers approve a bond referendum, the voted bond referendum; 3009 

3. One-half cent sales surtax revenue; 3010 

4. One cent local governmental surtax revenue; 3011 

5. Impact fees; and 3012 

6. Private gifts or donations. 3013 

Section 38. Paragraph (e) is added to subsection (2) of 3014 

section 1013.385, Florida Statutes, to read: 3015 

1013.385 School district construction flexibility.— 3016 

(2) A resolution adopted under this section may propose 3017 

implementation of exceptions to requirements of the uniform 3018 

statewide building code for the planning and construction of 3019 

public educational and ancillary plants adopted pursuant to ss. 3020 

553.73 and 1013.37 relating to: 3021 

(e) Any other provisions that limit the ability of a school 3022 

to operate in a facility on the same basis as a charter school 3023 

pursuant to s. 1002.33(18) if the regional planning council 3024 

determines that there is sufficient shelter capacity within the 3025 

school district as documented in the Statewide Emergency Shelter 3026 

Plan. 3027 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 106 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

Section 39. Subsection (3) of section 1013.62, Florida 3028 

Statutes, is amended, and paragraph (c) is added to subsection 3029 

(1) of that section, to read: 3030 

1013.62 Charter schools capital outlay funding.— 3031 

(1) Charter school capital outlay funding shall consist of 3032 

revenue resulting from the discretionary millage authorized in 3033 

s. 1011.71(2) and state funds when such funds are appropriated 3034 

in the General Appropriations Act. 3035 

(c) It is the intent of the Legislature that the public 3036 

interest be protected by prohibiting personal financial 3037 

enrichment by owners, operators, managers, real estate 3038 

developers, and other affiliated parties of charter schools. 3039 

Therefore, a charter school is not eligible for a funding 3040 

allocation unless the chair of the governing board and the chief 3041 

administrative officer of the charter school annually certify 3042 

under oath that the funds will be used solely and exclusively 3043 

for constructing, renovating, or improving charter school 3044 

facilities that are: 3045 

1. Owned by a school district, a political subdivision of 3046 

the state, a municipality, a Florida College System institution, 3047 

or a state university; 3048 

2. Owned by an organization that is qualified as an exempt 3049 

organization under s. 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code 3050 

whose articles of incorporation specify that, upon the 3051 

organization’s dissolution, the subject property will be 3052 

transferred to a school district, a political subdivision of the 3053 

state, a municipality, a Florida College System institution, or 3054 

a state university; or 3055 

3. Owned by and leased, at a fair market value in the 3056 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 107 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

school district in which the charter school is located, from a 3057 

person or entity that is not an affiliated party of the charter 3058 

school. For the purposes of this subparagraph, the term 3059 

“affiliated party of the charter school” means the applicant for 3060 

the charter school pursuant to s. 1002.33; the governing board 3061 

of the charter school or a member of the governing board; the 3062 

charter school owner; the charter school principal; an employee 3063 

of the charter school; an independent contractor of the charter 3064 

school or the governing board of the charter school; a relative, 3065 

as defined in s. 1002.33(24)(a)2., of a charter school governing 3066 

board member, a charter school owner, a charter school 3067 

principal, a charter school employee, or an independent 3068 

contractor of a charter school or charter school governing 3069 

board; a subsidiary corporation, a service corporation, an 3070 

affiliated corporation, a parent corporation, a limited 3071 

liability company, a limited partnership, a trust, a 3072 

partnership, or a related party that, individually or through 3073 

one or more entities, shares common ownership or control and 3074 

directly or indirectly manages, administers, controls, or 3075 

oversees the operation of the charter school; or any person or 3076 

entity, individually or through one or more entities that share 3077 

common ownership, which directly or indirectly manages, 3078 

administers, controls, or oversees the operation of any of the 3079 

foregoing. 3080 

(3) If the school board levies the discretionary millage 3081 

authorized in s. 1011.71(2), the department shall use the 3082 

following calculation methodology to determine the amount of 3083 

revenue that a school district must distribute to each eligible 3084 

charter school: 3085 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 108 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

(a) Reduce the total discretionary millage revenue by the 3086 

school district’s annual debt service obligation incurred as of 3087 

March 1, 2017, and any amount of participation requirement 3088 

pursuant to s. 1013.64(2)(a)8. that is being satisfied by 3089 

revenues raised by the discretionary millage. 3090 

(b) Divide the school district’s adjusted discretionary 3091 

millage revenue by the district’s total capital outlay full-time 3092 

equivalent membership and the total number of unweighted full-3093 

time equivalent students of each eligible charter school to 3094 

determine a capital outlay allocation per full-time equivalent 3095 

student. 3096 

(c) Multiply the capital outlay allocation per full-time 3097 

equivalent student by the total number of full-time equivalent 3098 

students for all of each eligible charter schools within the 3099 

district school to determine the total charter school capital 3100 

outlay allocation for each district charter school. 3101 

(d) If applicable, reduce the capital outlay allocation 3102 

identified in paragraph (c) by the total amount of state funds 3103 

allocated pursuant to subsection (2) to all each eligible 3104 

charter schools within a district school in subsection (2) to 3105 

determine the net total maximum calculated capital outlay 3106 

allocation from local funds. If state funds are not allocated 3107 

pursuant to subsection (2), the amount determined in paragraph 3108 

(c) is equal to the net total calculated capital outlay 3109 

allocation from local funds for each district. 3110 

(e) For each charter school within each district, the net 3111 

capital outlay amount from local funds shall be calculated in 3112 

the same manner as the state funds in paragraphs (2)(a)-(d), 3113 

except that the base charter school per weighted FTE allocation 3114 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 109 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

amount shall be determined by dividing the net total capital 3115 

outlay amount from local funds by the total weighted FTE for all 3116 

eligible charter schools within the district. The per weighted 3117 

FTE allocation amount from local funds shall be multiplied by 3118 

the weighted FTE for each charter school to determine each 3119 

charter school’s capital outlay allocation from local funds. 3120 

(f)(e) School districts shall distribute capital outlay 3121 

funds to charter schools no later than February 1 of each year, 3122 

beginning on February 1, 2018, for the 2017-2018 fiscal year. 3123 

Section 40. Effective July 1, 2019, subsection (13) of 3124 

section 212.08, Florida Statutes, is amended to read: 3125 

212.08 Sales, rental, use, consumption, distribution, and 3126 

storage tax; specified exemptions.—The sale at retail, the 3127 

rental, the use, the consumption, the distribution, and the 3128 

storage to be used or consumed in this state of the following 3129 

are hereby specifically exempt from the tax imposed by this 3130 

chapter. 3131 

(13) No transactions shall be exempt from the tax imposed 3132 

by this chapter except those expressly exempted herein. All laws 3133 

granting tax exemptions, to the extent they may be inconsistent 3134 

or in conflict with this chapter, including, but not limited to, 3135 

the following designated laws, shall yield to and be superseded 3136 

by the provisions of this subsection: ss. 125.019, 153.76, 3137 

154.2331, 159.15, 159.31, 159.50, 159.708, 163.385, 163.395, 3138 

215.76, 243.33, 315.11, 348.65, 348.762, 349.13, 403.1834, and 3139 

616.07, and 623.09, and the following Laws of Florida, acts of 3140 

the year indicated: s. 31, chapter 30843, 1955; s. 19, chapter 3141 

30845, 1955; s. 12, chapter 30927, 1955; s. 8, chapter 31179, 3142 

1955; s. 15, chapter 31263, 1955; s. 13, chapter 31343, 1955; s. 3143 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 110 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

16, chapter 59-1653; s. 13, chapter 59-1356; s. 12, chapter 61-3144 

2261; s. 19, chapter 61-2754; s. 10, chapter 61-2686; s. 11, 3145 

chapter 63-1643; s. 11, chapter 65-1274; s. 16, chapter 67-1446; 3146 

and s. 10, chapter 67-1681. This subsection does not supersede 3147 

the authority of a local government to adopt financial and local 3148 

government incentives pursuant to s. 163.2517. 3149 

Section 41. For the 2018-2019 fiscal year, the sum of 3150 

$2,596,560 in recurring funds from the General Revenue Fund and 3151 

the sum of $392,134 in nonrecurring funds from the General 3152 

Revenue Fund are appropriated to the Department of Education to 3153 

implement this act as follows: the sum of $2 million in 3154 

recurring funds shall be used to implement the Hope Scholarship 3155 

Program created pursuant to s. 1002.40, Florida Statutes, the 3156 

sum of $596,560 in recurring funds and $142,134 in nonrecurring 3157 

funds shall be used to implement the additional oversight 3158 

requirements pursuant to s. 1002.421, Florida Statutes, and the 3159 

sum of $250,000 in nonrecurring funds shall be used to issue a 3160 

competitive grant award pursuant to s. 1002.395(9), Florida 3161 

Statutes. 3162 

Section 42. The Department of Revenue may, and all 3163 

conditions are deemed met to, adopt emergency rules pursuant to 3164 

ss. 120.536(1) and 120.54, Florida Statutes, to administer this 3165 

act. 3166 

Section 43. Except as otherwise expressly provided in this 3167 

act, this act shall take effect July 1, 2018 3168 

 3169 

================= T I T L E  A M E N D M E N T ================ 3170 

And the title is amended as follows: 3171 

Delete everything before the enacting clause 3172 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 111 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

and insert: 3173 

A bill to be entitled 3174 

An act relating to education; creating s. 212.1832, 3175 

F.S.; authorizing certain persons to receive a tax 3176 

credit for certain contributions to eligible nonprofit 3177 

scholarship-funding organizations for the Hope 3178 

Scholarship Program; providing requirements for motor 3179 

vehicle dealers; requiring the Department of Revenue 3180 

to disregard certain tax credits for specified 3181 

purposes; providing that specified provisions apply to 3182 

certain provisions; amending s. 213.053, F.S.; 3183 

authorizing the Department of Revenue to share 3184 

specified information with eligible nonprofit 3185 

scholarship-funding organizations; providing that 3186 

certain requirements apply to such organizations; 3187 

repealing ch. 623, F.S., relating to private school 3188 

corporations, on a specified date; amending s. 3189 

1001.10, F.S.; revising the private schools to which 3190 

the Department of Education is required to provide 3191 

technical assistance and authorized staff; amending s. 3192 

1001.4205, F.S.; authorizing a member of the State 3193 

Legislature to visit any district school, including 3194 

any charter school, in his or her legislative 3195 

district; amending s. 1002.01, F.S.; revising and 3196 

defining terms; amending s. 1002.20; updating 3197 

educational options and terminology; amending s. 3198 

1002.33, F.S.; extending the period of time for which 3199 

a charter school may defer its opening for specified 3200 

reasons; amending s. 1002.331, F.S.; revising the 3201 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 112 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

requirements for a charter school to be considered a 3202 

high-performing charter school; amending s. 1002.333, 3203 

F.S.; redefining the terms “persistently low-3204 

performing school” and “school of hope”; revising the 3205 

required contents of a school of hope notice of intent 3206 

and performance-based agreement; revising school of 3207 

hope facility requirements; specifying that certain 3208 

schools of hope are eligible to receive hope 3209 

supplemental service allocation funds; requiring the 3210 

State Board of Education to provide awards to all 3211 

eligible schools that meet certain requirements; 3212 

prohibiting a school of hope operator or owner from 3213 

serving as the principal of a school of hope that he 3214 

or she manages; conforming cross-references; creating 3215 

s. 1002.334, F.S.; defining the term “franchise model 3216 

school”; authorizing specified schools to use a 3217 

franchise model school as a turnaround option; 3218 

specifying requirements for a franchise model school 3219 

principal; amending s. 1002.385, F.S.; revising the 3220 

meaning of a rare disease within the definition of a 3221 

“disability” for purposes of the Gardiner Scholarship 3222 

Program; revising requirements for private schools 3223 

that participate in the program; specifying that the 3224 

failure or refusal, rather than the inability of, a 3225 

private school to meet certain requirements 3226 

constitutes a basis for program ineligibility; 3227 

conforming cross-references; amending s. 1002.39, 3228 

F.S.; revising the purpose of department site visits 3229 

at private schools participating in the John M. McKay 3230 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 113 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

Scholarships for Students with Disabilities Program; 3231 

authorizing the department to make followup site 3232 

visits at any time to certain private schools; 3233 

requiring participating private schools to provide a 3234 

specified report from an independent certified public 3235 

accountant under certain circumstances; specifying 3236 

that the failure or refusal, rather than the inability 3237 

of, a private school to meet certain requirements 3238 

constitutes a basis for program ineligibility; 3239 

conforming provisions to changes made by the act; 3240 

amending s. 1002.395, F.S.; revising obligations of 3241 

eligible nonprofit scholarship-funding organizations 3242 

participating in the Florida Tax Credit Scholarship 3243 

Program; specifying that the failure or refusal, 3244 

rather than the inability of, a private school to meet 3245 

certain requirements constitutes a basis for program 3246 

ineligibility; revising the purpose of department site 3247 

visits at private schools participating in the Florida 3248 

Tax Credit Scholarship Program; authorizing the 3249 

department to make followup site visits at any time to 3250 

certain private schools; conforming provisions to 3251 

changes made by the act; creating s. 1002.40, F.S.; 3252 

establishing the Hope Scholarship Program; providing 3253 

the purpose of the program; defining terms; providing 3254 

eligibility requirements; prohibiting the payment of a 3255 

scholarship under certain circumstances; requiring a 3256 

principal to provide copies of a report of physical 3257 

violence or emotional abuse to certain individuals 3258 

within specified timeframes; requiring the principal 3259 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 114 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

to investigate such incidents; requiring a school 3260 

district to notify an eligible student’s parent of the 3261 

program under certain circumstances; requiring a 3262 

school district to provide certain information 3263 

relating to the statewide assessment program; 3264 

providing requirements and obligations for eligible 3265 

private schools; providing Department of Education 3266 

obligations relating to participating students and 3267 

private schools and program requirements; providing 3268 

Commissioner of Education obligations; requiring the 3269 

commissioner to deny, suspend, or revoke a private 3270 

school’s participation in the program or the payment 3271 

of scholarship funds under certain circumstances; 3272 

defining the term “owner or operator”; providing a 3273 

process for review of a decision from the commissioner 3274 

under certain circumstances; providing for the release 3275 

of personally identifiable student information under 3276 

certain circumstances; providing parent and student 3277 

responsibilities for initial and continued 3278 

participation in the program; providing nonprofit 3279 

scholarship-funding organization obligations; 3280 

providing for the calculation of the scholarship 3281 

amount; providing the scholarship amount for students 3282 

transferred to certain public schools; requiring 3283 

verification of specified information before a 3284 

scholarship may be disbursed; providing requirements 3285 

for the scholarship payments; providing funds for 3286 

administrative expenses for certain nonprofit 3287 

scholarship-funding organizations; providing 3288 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 115 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

requirements for administrative expenses; prohibiting 3289 

a nonprofit scholarship-funding organization from 3290 

charging an application fee; providing Auditor General 3291 

obligations; providing requirements for taxpayer 3292 

elections to contribute to the program; requiring the 3293 

Department of Revenue to adopt forms to administer the 3294 

program; providing requirements for certain agents of 3295 

the Department of Revenue and motor vehicle dealers; 3296 

providing reporting requirements for nonprofit 3297 

scholarship-funding organizations relating to taxpayer 3298 

contributions; providing penalties; providing for the 3299 

restitution of specified funds under certain 3300 

circumstances; providing the state is not liable for 3301 

the award or use of program funds; prohibiting 3302 

additional regulations for private schools 3303 

participating in the program beyond those necessary to 3304 

enforce program requirements; requiring the State 3305 

Board of Education to adopt rules to administer the 3306 

program; amending s. 1002.421, F.S.; defining the term 3307 

“owner or operator”; requiring a private school to 3308 

employ or contract with teachers who meet certain 3309 

qualifications and provide information about such 3310 

qualifications to the department and parents; revising 3311 

the conditions under which a private school employee 3312 

may be exempted from background screening 3313 

requirements; specifying that a private school is 3314 

ineligible to participate in certain scholarship 3315 

programs under certain circumstances; requiring the 3316 

department to annually visit a certain percentage of 3317 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 116 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

certain private schools; authorizing the department to 3318 

make certain followup site visits at any time; 3319 

requiring the Division of State Fire Marshal to 3320 

annually provide the department with fire safety 3321 

inspection reports for certain private schools; 3322 

requiring that certain private schools provide the 3323 

department with a report from an independent certified 3324 

public accountant under certain circumstances; 3325 

repealing s. 1002.43, F.S., relating to private 3326 

tutoring programs; amending s. 1002.55, F.S.; 3327 

authorizing an early learning coalition to refuse to 3328 

contract with certain private prekindergarten 3329 

providers; amending s. 1003.01, F.S.; redefining the 3330 

term “regular school attendance”; amending s. 1003.26, 3331 

F.S.; conforming a cross-reference; amending s. 3332 

1003.41, F.S.; revising the requirements for the Next 3333 

Generation Sunshine State Standards to include 3334 

financial literacy; amending s. 1003.4282, F.S.; 3335 

revising the required credits for a standard high 3336 

school diploma to include one-half credit of 3337 

instruction in personal financial literacy and money 3338 

management and seven and one-half, rather than eight, 3339 

credits in electives; creating s. 1003.457, F.S.; 3340 

requiring school districts to provide instruction in 3341 

cardiopulmonary resuscitation (CPR) and the use of an 3342 

automated external defibrillator; requiring students 3343 

to study and practice psychomotor skills associated 3344 

with CPR at least once before graduating from high 3345 

school; requiring the instruction to be a part of a 3346 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 117 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

required curriculum; providing instruction to be based 3347 

on certain programs; providing an exemption; amending 3348 

s. 1003.453, F.S.; conforming provisions to changes 3349 

made by the act; amending s. 1006.061, F.S.; revising 3350 

the applicability of certain child abuse, abandonment, 3351 

and neglect provisions; amending s. 1006.07, F.S.; 3352 

requiring district school boards to formulate and 3353 

prescribe policies and procedures for active shooter 3354 

situations; requiring that active shooter situation 3355 

training for each school be conducted by the law 3356 

enforcement agency or agencies that are designated as 3357 

first responders to the school’s campus; requiring 3358 

each school district to conduct certain assessments in 3359 

a specified format; requiring a district school 3360 

superintendent to provide specified agencies with 3361 

certain findings and certain strategy and activity 3362 

recommendations to improve school safety and security; 3363 

requiring that district school boards and private 3364 

school principals or governing boards allow campus 3365 

tours by such law enforcement agency or agencies at 3366 

specified times and for specified purposes; requiring 3367 

that certain recommendations be documented by such 3368 

board or principal; amending s. 1006.12, F.S.; 3369 

requiring, rather than authorizing, district school 3370 

boards to establish certain school resource officer 3371 

programs; requiring a district school board to 3372 

commission one or more school safety officers at each 3373 

district school facility within the district; amending 3374 

s. 1007.273, F.S.; defining the term “structured 3375 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 118 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

program”; providing additional options for students 3376 

participating in a structured program; prohibiting a 3377 

district school board from limiting the number of 3378 

public school students who may participate in a 3379 

structured program; revising contract requirements; 3380 

requiring each district school board to annually 3381 

notify students in certain grades of certain 3382 

information about the structured program, by a 3383 

specified date; revising provisions relating to 3384 

funding; requiring the state board to enforce 3385 

compliance with certain provisions by a specified date 3386 

each year; providing reporting requirements; amending 3387 

s. 1008.33, F.S.; revising the turnaround options 3388 

available for certain schools; amending s. 1011.62, 3389 

F.S.; creating the hope supplemental services 3390 

allocation; providing the purpose of the allocation; 3391 

specifying the services that may be funded by the 3392 

allocation; providing that implementation plans may 3393 

include certain models; providing requirements for 3394 

implementation plans; providing for the allocation of 3395 

funds in specified fiscal years; creating the mental 3396 

health assistance allocation; providing the purpose of 3397 

the allocation; providing for the annual allocation of 3398 

such funds on a specified basis; prohibiting the use 3399 

of allocated funds to supplant funds provided from 3400 

other operating funds, to increase salaries, or to 3401 

provide bonuses; providing requirements for school 3402 

districts and charter schools; providing that required 3403 

plans must include certain elements; requiring school 3404 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 119 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

districts to annually submit approved plans to the 3405 

Commissioner of Education by a specified date; 3406 

requiring that entities that receive such allocations 3407 

annually submit a final report on program outcomes and 3408 

specific expenditures to the commissioner by a 3409 

specified date; creating the funding compression 3410 

allocation; providing the purpose of the allocation; 3411 

authorizing funding for the annual allocation; 3412 

providing the calculation for the allocation; amending 3413 

s. 1011.69, F.S.; authorizing certain high schools to 3414 

receive Title I funds; providing that a school 3415 

district may withhold Title I funds for specified 3416 

purposes; authorizing certain schools to use Title I 3417 

funds for specified purposes; amending s. 1011.71, 3418 

F.S.; increasing the amount that a school district may 3419 

expend from a specified millage levy for certain 3420 

expenses; amending s. 1012.315, F.S.; revising the 3421 

applicability of certain provisions related to 3422 

disqualification from employment for the conviction of 3423 

specified offenses; amending s. 1012.731, F.S.; 3424 

extending eligibility for the Florida Best and 3425 

Brightest Teacher Scholarship Program to school 3426 

district employees who, in the immediately preceding 3427 

school year, were classroom teachers and met 3428 

eligibility requirements; deleting scholarship awards 3429 

authorized for specific school years; amending s. 3430 

1012.732, F.S.; specifying that a franchise model 3431 

school principal is eligible to receive a Florida Best 3432 

and Brightest Principal scholarship; requiring 3433 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for HB 7055 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì903516$Î903516 

 

Page 120 of 120 

2/21/2018 12:33:40 PM 581-03449-18 

specified awards for eligible principals; amending s. 3434 

1012.796, F.S.; revising the applicability of a 3435 

requirement that certain private schools file 3436 

specified reports with the department for certain 3437 

allegations against its employees; amending s. 3438 

1013.31, F.S.; authorizing a district to use certain 3439 

sources of funds for educational, auxiliary, and 3440 

ancillary plant capital outlay purposes without 3441 

needing a survey recommendation; amending s. 1013.385, 3442 

F.S.; providing additional exceptions to certain 3443 

building code regulations for school districts; 3444 

amending s. 1013.62, F.S.; providing legislative 3445 

intent; prohibiting a charter school from being 3446 

eligible for capital outlay funds unless the chair of 3447 

the governing board and the chief administrative 3448 

officer of the charter school annually certify certain 3449 

information; defining the term “affiliated party of 3450 

the charter school”; revising the Department of 3451 

Education’s calculation methodology for a school 3452 

district’s distribution of discretionary millage to 3453 

its eligible charter schools; amending s. 212.08, 3454 

F.S.; conforming a cross-reference; providing 3455 

appropriations; providing appropriations; authorizing 3456 

the Department of Revenue to adopt emergency rules for 3457 

specified purposes; providing effective dates. 3458 



The Florida Senate

Z-Z-G-

APPEARANCE RECORD
(Deliver BOTH copies of this form to the Senator or Senate Professional Staff conducting the meeting)

Meeting Date

Topic

Name

Job Title T:£q)SLail' & A VqcaTS

Address

T 

Street

Bill Number (if applicable)

Amendment Barcode (if applicable)

Phone 6 

City

Speaking: 1    or | [Against

State

| 1 Information

Email
Zip

Waive Speaking: CZ] In Support I I Against
(The Chair will read this information into the record.)

Representing    o/ c     

Appearing at request of Chair: I I Yes [71 No Lobbyist registered with Legislature: 0Yes E  No

While it is a Senate tradition to encourage  ublic testimony, time may not  ermit all persons wishing to speak to be heard at this
meeting. Those who do speak may be asked to limit their remarks so that as many persons as possible can be heard.

This form is part of the public record for this meeting. S-001 (10/14/14)



The Florida Senate

APPEARANCE RECORD
(Deliver BOTH copies of this form to the Senator or Senate Professional Staff conducting the meeting)

Meeting Date

Topic _

Name  l )r ., \

Job Title

Address

o nD WcubC

7 fninAnConbTx}

f rundo
Speaking: [ jpor [ Against | 1 Information

Representing

Bill Number (if applicable)

Amendment Barcode (if applicable)

L 3 Xu
i Zip

Phone 407 DX  ?(M

Email rCSOi l '

Waive Speaking: In Support I i Against
(The Chair will read this information into the record.)

NoAppearing at request of Chair: I I Yes l~ > No Lobbyist registered with Legislature: dives

While it is a Senate tradition to encourage public testimony, time may not  ermit all persons wishing to speak to be heard at this
meeting. Those who do s eak may be asked to limit their remarks so that as many persons as possible can be heard.

This form is part of the public record for this meeting. S-001 (10/14/14)



The Florida Senate

9 30
APPEARANCE RECORD

(Deliver BOTH copies of this form to the Senator or Senate Professional Staff conducting the meeting)

Meetin  Date

Topic I / i) ca-ii's 

Name .) /p  ) Tintf,
s

Ti0iTnG7

Job Title C  xlc
Address \ ( X ( (K i nrD C p/t -a.I Vt X f

TVlftnrlo Pi.
Cify  State Zip

Bill NumBer If applicable)

Amendment Barcode (if applicable)

Speaking: | [por 1 [Against Information

Representing ft>p i  ( xYTPr

Phone

Email

I 
In Support 1 [AgainsCJ

(The Chair will read this information into the record.)

No
["771 | |

Yes UKJNo Lobbyist registered with Legislature: | |Yes

While it is a Senate tradition to encourage  ublic testimony, time may not  ermit all persons wishing to speak to be heard at this
meeting. Those who do speak may be asked to limit their remarks so that as many persons as possible can be heard.

This form is part of the public record for this meeting. S-001 (10/14/14)



Duplicate

.r !

The Florida Senate

APPEARANCE RECORD
(Deliver BOTH copies of this form to the Senator or Senate Professional Staff conducting the meeting)

Meeting Date

Topic f ; ( ,.> I,'Cl I 

Name i ¦ i ?

Job Title iVfT;.' l,{ t  ' ii

Address
Street

-  * i- v: -  Nr

f >   >     
City State

Speaking:   For 1 [A ainst i 1 Information

Representing i  ! Hk- ;

Bill Number (if applicable)

'7£(i  
Amendment Barcode (if applicable)

Phone 7 >1 > y J t

Emaill   j ::I >;?i   ju ; / (-   c r>iL'(
Zip

Waive Speaking: In Support I I A ainst
(The Chair will read this information into the record.)

J (
* /

Appearing at request of Chair: I I Yes \7 No Lobbyist registered with Legislature: Yes No

While it is a Senate tradition to encourage public testimony, time may not  ermit all persons wishing to speak to be heard at this
meeting. Those who do speak may be asked to limit their remarks so that as many persons as possible can be heard.

This form is part of the public record for this meeting. S-001 (10/14/14)



The Florida Senate

aaoi
Meetinguate

APPEARANCE RECORD
(Deliver BOTH copies of this form to the Senator or Senate Professional Staff conducting the meeting)

Topic JC .

Bill Number hfapplicable)

A Amendment Barcode (if applicable)

Name T - ( CL 

Job Title

Address

\  c)l( )i7>   (3rur   
l   nrla oP  / ilAJq Phone C fi   ?)SS'7(p 

njn m
Phone

Email n l    S(a)Tfonc A  Jg

Speaking:   For 1 [Against 1 | Information Waive Spea ing:
I .   Q

I I Against)In Support

Representing L

(The Chair will read this information into the record.)

Appearing at request of Chair: I I Yes  JMo Lobbyist registered with Legislature: I I Yes No

While it is a Senate tradition to encourage public testimony, time may not permit all persons wishing to speak to be heard at this
meeting. Those who do speak may be asked to limit their remarks so that as many persons as possible can be heard.

This form is part of the public record for this meeting. S-001 (10/14/14)



The Florida Senate

APPEARANCE RECORD
(Deliver BOTH copies of this form to t e Senator or Senate Professional Staff conducting the meeting) 7055 

Meeting Date

Topic

Bill Number (if applicable)

q(q   y
Amendment Barcode (if applicable)

Name <   f h )r O QlA    \

Job Title &Sj JLA  a  Y7., 7 ct- ;grC  tD 

Address   Phone 7  - 6   , / pY3
Street

Email
City State Zip

Waive Speakin ,Support | (AgainstSpeaking:   For | [Against | |Information
(The Chair will read  s i formation into the record.)

q  Wo/ l&  Yo   iRepresenting

Appearing at request of Chair: I I Yes   No Lobbyist registered with Legislature: 3ves Dno
While it is a Senate tradition to encourage  ublic testimony, time may not permit all  ersons wishing to speak to be heard at this
meeting. Those who do speak may be asked to limit their remarks so that as many persons as possible can be heard.

This form is part of the public record for this meeting. S-001 (10/14/14)



The Florida Senate

am
Meeting Date

APPEARANCE RECORD
(Deliver BOTH copies of this form to the Senator or Senate Professional Staff conducting the meeting)

Topic

Bill Number (if applicable)

(blh(cO.

Name ,1 AuTt- ll  .1   

Job Title QlSOh- An  C  ir
Address A T7  rl  rlc) ( i? TrA

Street .

r rlrm<\o ft,  2  

Amendment Barcode (if applicable)

Phone tyQ'7 7bQLf 

Email TfSdlofe i gift m'd

Speaking:   For I I Aga inst | 1 Information

Representing O t  a

71 | | ti
Waive Speaking: l(Yj In Support | (Against  
(The Chair will read this information into the record.)

Appearing at request of Chair: Lobbyist registered with Legislature: I I Yes No

While it is a Senate tradition to encourage public testimony, time may not permit all persons wishing to speak to be heard at this
meeting. Those who do speak may be asked to limit their remarks so that as many persons as possible can be heard.

This form is part of the public record for this meeting. S-001 (10/14/14)



The Florida Senate

2- Z&- /£

APPEARANCE RECORD ......
(Deliver BOTH copies of this form to the Senator or Senate Professional Staff conducting the meeting) / O o

Meeting Date

Topic

Name

Bill Number (if applicable)

Amendment Barcode (if applicable)

ShtrP hCNf ti  

Job Title  g9>C? foti   c  6   f 

Address
Street

Phone

Email

7\p-7, 639-

City State Zip

Speaking: f For | [Against | |Information Waive Speaking:   In Support 1 1 A ainst
(The Chair will read thisinformation into the record.)

Representing i ieuis-

Appearing at request of Chair:   y es 0No Lobbyist registered with Legislature:  ives I I No

While it is a Senate tradition to encourage public testimony, time may not permit all persons wishing to speak to be heard at this
meeting. Those who do speak may be asked to limit their remarks so that as many persons as possible can be heard.

This form is part of the public record for this meeting. S-001 (10/14/14)



Duplicate

Z/zvf/t

The Florida Senate

APPEARANCE RECORD
(Deliver BOTH copies of this form to the Senator or Senate Professional Staff conducting the meeting)

Meeting Date

Topic

Name (/ 

Job Title

Address /35
Street

'-1c k< k  \ d 
City

Speaking: _ £ For EZIAgainst I I

State

Information

Representing fori fa PfC'CtO

*7 ?!

Bill Number (if applicable)

9i3  
Amendment Barcode (if applicable)

Phone fi' o ~ 2  

Email
Z/p

Waive Speaking: dl In Support I I A ainst
(The Chair will read this information into the record.)

Appearing at request of Chair: O Yes    No Lobbyist registered with Legislature: Yes Q No

While it is a Senate tradition to encourage public testimony, time may not permit all persons wishing to speak to be heard at this
meeting. Those who do speak may be asked to limit their remarks so that as many persons as possible can be heard.

This form is part of the public record for this meeting. S-001 (10/14/14)



Duplicate

n r -

The Florida Senate

APPEARANCE RECORD
(Deliver BOTH copies of this form to the Senator or Senate Professional Staff conducting the meeting)

Meeting Date Bill Number (if applicable)

J

Amendment Barcode (if applicable)

Name  . ''  

Job Title 1'     '  \i 1G
-.   /s' ! '

Address ¦- - - r -- ¦ (' ' . ft Ki Phone • i

Street I

. 1 iG F  Email i /      7
* x   t

City ' State Zip

Speaking: For Against Information Waive Speaking: | | In Support   A ainst
(The Chair will read this information intd fhe record.)

Representing    

Appearing at request of Chair: Q Yes O No Lobbyist registered with Legislature: Oves Q No

While it is a Senate tradition to encourage public testimony, time may not permit all persons wishing to speak to be heard at this
meeting. Those who do speak may be asked to limit their remarks so that as many persons as possible can be heard.

This form is part of the public record for this meeting. S-001 (10/14/14)



Duplicate

lu p.

The Florida Senate

APPEARANCE RECORD
(Deliver BOTH copies of this form to the Senator or Senate Professional Staff conducting the meeting)

Me ting [pate

Topic

Name

Job Title C v

Address j 3( I 5 
Street

Speaking

City

: I I For Against

State

Information

Representing jL if

Numfier (if

Phone

Email
Zip

Bill Numtfer (if ap licable)

AAVW to 
Amendment Barcode (if applicable)

:  In Support I A ainstWaive Speaking
(The Chair will read this information into the record.)

Appearing at request of Chair: I I Yes I I No Lobbyist registered with Legislature: I I Yes I f,No

While it is a Senate tradition to encourage public testimony, time may not permit all persons wishing to speak to be heard at this
meeting. Those who do speak may be asked to limit their remarks so that as many persons as possible can be heard.

This form is part of the public record for this meeting. S-001 (10/14/14)



Duplicate

i'-  .t

The F orida Senate

APPEARANCE RECORD
(Deliver BOTH copies of this form to the Senator or Senate Professional Staff conducting the meeting)

Meeting Date Bill Number (if applicable)

Amendment Barcode (if applicable)

Name

Job Title Pi.'. .1

Address f -   P-• f o ou jU • Phone    
Street

Email
City State

Speaking:   For [ Against 1 1 Information

Zip

Waive Speaking:   In Support I 1 A ainst
(The Chair will read this information into the record.)

Representing

Appearing at request of Chair: Yes   No Lobbyist registered with Legislature: Yes No

While it is a Senate tradition to encourage  ublic testimony, time may not permit all persons wishing to speak to be heard at this
meeting. Those who do speak may be asked to limit their remarks so that as many persons as possible can be heard.

This form is part of the public record for this meeting. S-001 (10/14/14)



The Florida Senate

/1  \f\%
APPEARANCE RECORD

(Deliver BOTH copies of this form to the Senator or Senate Professional Staff conducting the meeting)

7o 5 
Meeting Date Bill Number (if applicable)

Topic   

Name

Amendment Barcode (if applicable)

Job Title

Address s   Qf\ Phone

Tr! gsSSe    L 3,1  oM Email
City State Zip  

Speaking: | |For | [Against | 1 Information Waive Speaking:   In Support PiAaainst

Representing

(The Chair will read this information into the record.)

Appearing at request of Chair: I I Yes
t  

No Lobbyist registered with Legislature: I I Yes No

While it is a Senate tradition to encourage  ublic testimony, time may not  ermit all persons wishing to speak to be heard at this
meeting. Those who do speak may be asked to limit their remarks so that as many persons as possible can be heard.

This form is part of the public record for this meeting. S-001 (10/14/14)



The Florida Senate

APPEARANCE RECORD
(Deli er BOTH copies of this form to the Senator or Senate Professional Staff conducting the meeting)

Meeting Date

Topic  

Name

Job Title

Address .OS <df\
Street

City State

Speaking:   For [ Against | |Information

Representing c,fyl V- 

Appearing at request of Chair: I I Yes

Bill Number (if applicable)

(XI3 10
Amendment Barcode (if applicable)

Phone

Email
Zip

Waive Speaking:     In Support Lj/J Against
(The Chair will read this information into the record.)

No Lobbyist registered with Legislature: Dyes I  INo

While it is a Senate tradition to encourage  ublic testimony, time may not permit all persons wishing to speak to be heard at this
meeting. Those who do speak may be asked to limit their remarks so that as many persons as possible can be heard.

This form is part of the public record for this meeting. S-001 (10/14/14)



The Florida Senate

APPEARANCE RECORD
(Deliver BOTH copies of this form to the Senator or Senate Professional Staff conducting the meeting)

ti-fe 7Q S
Meeting Dab

Topic ,  TC- •

Name  i M  

/Ho s 
6?0g4 0w  fel

Bill Number (if applicable)

1  >M-2.0

Amendment Barcode (if applicable)

Job Title   P  rzgcpo*-, gpuc no  Pou< 

Address loo  s|.   >V -  r.  Phone • 31   1
Street

City State Zip

Speaking: Q For [ Against | |Information

t s  ac iScmki

Email

Waive Speaking: CZI In Support U   Against
(The Chair will read this information into the record.)

I  A ains

Representing

Appearing at request of Chair: Lobbyist registered with Legislature: E ves
While it is a Senate tradition to encourage public testimony, time may not permit all persons wishing to speak to be heard at this
meeting. Those who do speak may be asked to limit their remarks so that as many persons as possible can be heard.

This form is part of the public record for this meeting. S-001 (10/14/14)



The Florida Senate

APPEARA CE RECORD
(Deliver BOTH copies of this form to the Senator or Senate Professional Staff conducting the meeting)

Meeting Date Bill Number (if applicable)

Topic   Amendment Barcode (if applicable)

Name ». ¦, ;, <

Job Title »   r f' ; ,i 

Address   ;c    Phone 
Street

, .c   1 Email 

City State Zip

Speaking: For 1  Against Q Information Waive Speaking: | | In Support | | Against
(The Chair will read this information into the record.)

Representing   r,   -       

Appearing at request of Chair: Q Yes No Lobbyist registered with Legislature: Q Yes  7] No

While it is a Senate tradition to encourage public testimony, time may not permit all persons wishing to speak to be heard at this
meeting. Those who do speak may be asked to limit their remarks so that as many persons as possible can be heard.

This form is part of the  ublic record for this meeting. S-001 (10/14/14)



Duplicate

1 |vo\ '4

The Florida Senate

APPEARANCE RECORD
(Deliver BOTH copies of this form to the Senator or Senate Professional Staff conducting the meeting)

Meeting Date Bill Number (if applicable)

X \ . \ -  V  7.   
Topic         Amendment Barcode (if applicable)

Name -         >

Job Title    cX e>v   t \

Address -  s c otn    Phone  * -0"  )

Street

V (   A> > , Email      >  
S(afe Z/p

to* .x> 

City State

Speaking: For [U Against EZ1i Information Waive Speaking: EZ] In Support I I A ainst
(The Chair will read this information into the record.)

Representing \   o x   

Appearing at request of Chair: ( ZI Yes |3 No Lobbyist registered with

While it is a Senate tradition to encourage public testimony, time may not permit all persons wishing to speak to be heard at this
meeting. Those who do speak may be asked to limit their remarks so that as many persons as possible can be heard.

This form is part of the public record for this meeting. s-001 (10/14/14)



The Florida Senate

APPEARANCE RECORD
(Deliver BOTH copies of this form to the Senator or Senate Professional Staff conducting the meeting)

Meeting Date

Topic

Name

Job Title

Address
Street

cE State

Speaking: ( jpor [ Against | 1 Information

Representing

Appearing at request of Chair: I I Yes vlo

HR 1c
Bill Number (if applicable)

Amendment Bar ode (if applicable)

Phone

Email
Zip

Waive Speaking:     In Support  Against
(The Chair will read this information into the record.)

Lobbyist registered with Legislature: I I Yes No

While it is a Senate tradition to encourage  ublic testimony, time may not permit all persons wishing to speak to be heard at this
meeting. Those who do speak may be asked to limit their remarks so that as many persons as possible can be heard.

This form is part of the public record for this meeting. S-001 (10/14/14)



The Florida Senate

APPEARANCE RECORD
(Deliver BOTH copies of this form to the Senator or Senate Professional Staff conducting the meeting)

Meeting Date

Topic

Name

'xux

1 A) ?br

Job Title

Address

jir e     u c ifbf

Street / j J  --

±-L

s J r:

Speaking:   For | [Against | |Information

Representing h i i.   /•

Bill Number (if applicable)

Amendment Barcode (if applicable)

Phone " 5 /0

Email e !<an J  nrfhi/ft.
cJ

Waive Speaking:     In Support 1 1 A ainst
(The Chair will read this information into the record.)

Zip

Appearing at request of Chair: I Ives  ~ o Lobbyist registered with Legislature:  y es Sno

While it is a Senate tradition to encourage public testimony, time may not  ermit all persons wishing to speak to be heard at this
meeting. Those who do speak may be asked to limit their remarks so that as many persons as possible can be heard.

This form is part of the public record for this meeting. S-001 (10/14/14)



Duplicate

The Florida Senate

APPEARANCE RECORD
(Deliver BOTH copies of this form to the Senator or Senate Professional Staff conducting the meeting)

Meeting Date

Topic

Name

Job Title

Address

i i

Stree

v€ \A'
City State

Speaking:   For { Against I I Information

Representing

Bill Number (if applicable)

AA iM76 
Amendment Barcode (if applicable)

Phone

Emai|
Zip

m
In Support 1/ I A ainst

(The Chair will read this information into the record.)

Appearing at request of Chair: QvesQNo Lobbyist registered with Legislature: I I Yes I I No

While it is a Senate tradition to encourage public testimony, time may not permit all persons wishing to speak to be heard at this
meeting. Those who do speak may be asked to limit their remarks so that as many persons as possible can be heard.

This form is part of the public record for this meeting. S-001 (10/14/14)



Duplicate

The Florida Senate

APPEARANCE RECORD
(Deliver BOTH copies of this form to the Senator or Senate Professional Staff conducting the meeting)

Meeting Date

Topic

Name _ 6o  ijj  tM/IlSJ

Job Title

Address

Speaking

City

:   For (gainst

State

I I Information

Representing

Bill Number (if applicable)

A A mno 
Amendment Barcode (if applicable)

Phone  /3  >V   olb

Email
Z p

In Support I   ainst
(The Chair will read this information into the record.)

Appearing at request of Chair: I 1 Yes I I No Lobbyist registered with Legislature: I I Yes No

While it is a Senate tradition to encourage public testimony, time may not permit ail persons wishing to speak to be heard at this
meeting. Those who do speak may be asked to limit their remarks so that as many persons as possible can be heard.

This form is part of the public record for this meeting. S-001 (10/14/14)



Duplicate

The Florida Senate

APPEARANCE RECORD
(Deliver BOTH copies of this form to the Senator or Senate Professional Staff conducting the meeting) /

Bill Number (if applicable)

Amendment Barcode (if applicable)

Name  , Vb f 0\  E

Job Title 

Address 
Street

rcyvf
City

Speaking: EZI For

State

1 1 Information

Phon  0   < " S30 ?

3   L S> Email
Zip

Waive Speaking: CZI In Support  Against
(The Chair will read this information into the record.)

Representing

Appearing at request of Chair: Lobbyist registered with Legislature: YesQtfo

While it is a Senate tradition to encourage public testimony, time may not permit all persons wishing to speak to be heard at this
meeting. Those who do speak may be asked to limit their remarks so that as many persons as possible can be heard.

This form is part of the public record for this meeting. S-001 (10/14/14)



Meeting Date

Duplicate

The Florida Senate

APPEARANCE RECORD
(Deli er BOTH copies of this form to the Senator or Senate Professional Staff conducting the meeting) r

Bill Number (if applicable)

Name ¦ /

Job Title I 4 T
,. /  

# /

Address /  /  A . , Phone
Street f  

1
j .

l / f - Email

City State Zip

Speaking: I I For
w

Against | | Information Waive Speaking:
(The Chair will read

Representing
C . 1  

Amendment Barcode (if applicable)

L; ,
{  ¦

:  In Support I/VI A ainst

Appearing at request of Chair: I I Yes I I No Lobbyist registered with Legislature: I I Yes I I No

While it is a Senate tradition to encourage public testimony, time may not permit all persons wishing to speak to be heard at this
meeting. Those who do speak may be asked to limit their remarks so that as many persons as possible can be heard.

This form is part of the public record for this meeting. S-001 (10/14/14)



The Florida Senate

i. • 2o • i

APPEARANCE RECORD
(Deliver BOTH copies of this form to the Senator or Senate Professional Staff conducting the meeting)

Meeting Date

Topic   r  cA Vi OnJ   oJ$ S: (  7 O  

Name \A/\U ia   / \ -   > 

H- > ?OS ~

Bill Number (if applicable)

Amendment Barcode (if applicable)

Job Title ~Plf gCPO  . -S  c V~ic*-si pb to  

Address \0   sj. •  Phone ~ 2>>3 \
Street

Email (£)
City  Stete Z/p   J

Speaking: For Against | 1 Information Waive Speaking:   ] In Support CZlAgainst
(The Chair will read this information into the record.)

Representing N > 5<?tv

Appearing at request of Chair: I I Yes  d No Lobbyist registered with Legislature: I I Yes No

While it is a Senate tradition to encourage public testimony, time may not  ermit all persons wishing to speak to be heard at this
meeting. Those who do speak may be asked to limit their remarks so that as many persons as possible can be heard.

This form is part of the public record for this meeting. S-001 (10/14/14)



The Florida Senate

APPEARANCE RECORD
(Deliver BOTH copies of this form to the Senator or Senate Professional Staff conducting the meeting)

Meeting Date Bill Number (if applicable)

Topic

Name

Amendment Barcode (if applicable)

Job Title

Address
Street

City State

Speaking:    For | [Against | [information

Phone

Email
Zip

Waive Speaking: I I In Support 1 1 A ainst
(The Chair will read this information into the record.)

Representing

Appearing at request of Chair: I I Yes K No Lobbyist registered with Legislature: 1 |Yes:  '

While it is a Senate tradition to encourage public testimony, time may not permit all persons wishing to speak to be heard at this
meeting. Those who do speak may be asked to limit their remarks so that as many persons as possible can be heard.

This form is part of the public record for this meeting. S-001 (10/14/14)



The Florida Senate

APPEARA CE RECORD
(Deliver BOTH copies of this form to the Senator or Senate Professional Staff conducting the meeting)

M  etint/D&te

Topic  " /?£

7\n
Bill Number (if applicable)

sn
' \ * i ~

Name Qa/1
A     /

Amendment Barcode (if applicable)

Job Title (W iTAMlCAli /  //AaAJ jPs  

Address   /?' /  &    Phone

J) j; s/./  _ Email     
State W

Speaking: [VI For | [Against | | Information

Representing Ar J  j   (2>  /A)A

Waive Speaking: Q In Support | | Against
(The Chair will read this information into the record.)

/
Appearing at request of Chair: Q Yes Q No Lobbyist registered with Legislature: Q Yes f   o

While it is a Senate tradition to encourage public testimony, time may not permit all persons wishing to speak to be heard at this
meeting. Those who do speak may be asked to limit their remarks so that as many persons as possible can be heard.

This form is part of the public record for this meeting. S-001 (10/14/14)



The Florida Senate

APPEARANCE RECORD

2 
(Deliver BOTH copies of this form to the Senator or Senate Professional Staff conducting the meeting)

/-te7©5 
Meeting Date

Topic

Name OkAJfifW

Job Title LEsi}S>usn\t 6

Bill Number (if applicable)

i- Q r
Amendment Barcode (if applicable)

Address 
Street

Phone    9

Email
City

Speaking: f fpor | [Against | |

State

Information

Zip

Waive Speaking: In Support 1 1 Against
(The Chair will read this information into the record.)

Representing  q/c   p  

Appearing at request of Chair: I I Yes   No Lobbyist registered with Legislature: [  Yes I Ino

While it is a Senate tradition to encourage public testimony, time may not permit all persons wishing to speak to be heard at this
meeting. Those who do speak may be asked to limit their remarks so that as many persons as possible can be heard.

This form is part of the public record for this meeting. S-001 (10/14/14)



The Florida Senate

APPEARANCE RECORD
(Deliver BOTH copies of this form to the Senator or Senate Professional Staff conducting the meeting)

Meeting Date

Topic

Name

Job Title

Address . . . •   '- >~ iJ  :  a     ...

Street

t~~'f

Bill Number (if applicable)

Amendment Barcode (if applicable)

Phone ;;   -

Email ,
City State Zip

Speaking:   For | [Against 1 |Information

Representing

Waive Speaking:   In Support 1 1 Against
(The Chair will read this information into the record.)

Appearing at request of Chair: I I Yes No Lobbyist registered with Legislature: I I Yes P Ino

While it is a Senate tradition to encourage public testimony, time may not permit all persons wishing to speak to be heard at this
meeting. Those who do speak may be asked to limit their remarks so that as many persons as possible can be heard.

This form is part of the public record for this meeting. S-001 (10/14/14)



Duplicate

The Florida Senate

APPEARANCE RECORD
(Deliver BOTH copies of this form to the Senator or Senate Professional Staff conducting the meeting).

Meeting Date

Topic CcuH& )

Speaking

City

:   For Against

State

I I Information

Representing

Bill Number (if applicable)

(/ £ 

Name l/\l J 

Job Title /)/  JP  
Address  i) ->3 /

Street 

hj P - SSS SP

Amendment Barcode (if applicable)

Phone

Zip
Email \t\i&Odjo dod J )poiK - ,Aid

~lpD l K CffljM/vhj I -S

Waive Speaking: I I In Support I I A ainst
(The Chair will read this information into the record.)

Appearing at request of Chair: I I Yes  ; No Lobbyist registered with Legislature: j ZlYes I I No

While it is a Senate tradition to encourage public testimony, time may not permit all persons wishing to speak to be heard at this
meeting. Those who do speak may be asked to limit their remarks so that as many persons as possible can be heard.

This form is part of the public record for this meeting. S-001 (10/14/14)



Duplicate

2

The Florida Senate

APPEARANCE RECORD
(Deliver BOTH copies of this form to the Senator or Senate Professional Staff conducting the meeting)

Meeting Date

Topic

Name

l oklCt uh (fY ) - Af  /  Ikj 'lb MlOCOjfliM (if applicable)

Bill Number (if applicable)

lo n Su II i m 
Job Title

Address

Uai ovi

Street

(M) 56 3rd Af-g-7

| U,L
City State

Speaking: EZ] For I I A ainst   ¦ nformation

)rdu)ard  

Phone

Email  6h,n (Sail i a/l 6 bw<?i 
Zip     5

Waive Speaking; Z ln Support 1 1 A ainst
(The Chair will read this information into the record.)

Representing

Appearing at request of Chair: Q Yes No Lobbyist registered with Legislature:i  YesONo

While it is a Senate tradition to encourage public testimony, time may not permit all persons wishing to speak to be heard at this
meeting. Those who do speak may be asked to limit their remarks so that as many persons as possible can be heard.

This form is part of the public record for this meeting. S-001 (10/14/14)



The Florida Senate

* -2 0 J.ohtr 
Meeting Date

APPEARANCE RECORD
(Deliver BOTH copies of this form to the Senator or Senate Professional Staff conducting the meeting)

Topic tiv f tel count on-fi'nmc/' /  
„ rioncy run-b

cty hey -Alien /J

hI £> ~7 o 6 5
Bill Number (if applicable)

0  (5 T Q? 
Amendment Barcode (if applicable)

Name 

Job Title

Address

Sfu  n-h

c*istl<b<*b  Ct'hc/e Phone y5 -$ £~7  
Street

-T  cihciSSct £J 
City State

Speaking: i For | [Against | | Information

3 2-10  Email COVHnW«Ktn TSO
zip   ( anQil-CoH

Waive Gpcaking:   In Support |  gainst
(The Chair will read this information into the record.)

Representing

Appearing at request of Chair:    Yes    No Lobbyist registered with Legislature: HU Yes HU No

While it is a Senate tradition to encourage public testimony, time may not  ermit all persons wishing to speak to be heard at this
meeting. Those who do speak may be asked to limit their remarks so that as many persons as possible can be heard.

This form is part of the public record for this meeting. S-001 (10/14/14)



The Florida Senate

Meeting Date

APPEARANCE RECORD
(Deliver BOTH copies of this form to the Senator or Senate Professional Staff conducting the meeting)

Bill N mber (if applicable)

Name

Job Title

Address lOccAmX  UJxxL
Street  . / J '

1  H 

Amendment Barcode (if applicable)

Phone

Email
City State Zip -- I

_ I I I

Speaking: |_ For | |Against | |Information Waive Speaking:   In Support 1 I A ainst
(The Chair will read this information into the record.)

Representing The  thdo/ij  MO/i  au  

NoAppearing at request of Chair: I I Yes E No Lobbyist registered with Legislature:  y«.[0

While it is a Senate tradition to encourage public testimony, time may not permit all persons wishing to speak to be hearcTat this
meeting. Those who do speak may be asked to limit their remarks so that as many persons as possible can be heard.

This form is part of the public record for this meeting. S-001 (10/14/14)



The Florida Senate

APPEARANCE RECORD
(Deliver BOTH copies of this form to the Senator or Senate Professional Staff conducting the meeting)

eeting  Date

i c/  - j Topic 7

Name L E SM

,K
Bill Number (if applicable)

'll    z     
/ n ID sj 

Amendment Barcode (if applicable)

Job Title

Address

'e f /e  rh r

Street

i e ! f
City

1)/ s if

Phone S3 S

/
/ Email
State Zip

Waive Speaking:

ct

In Support 1 1 A ainstSpeaking: Qpor Q Against | | Information

Representing  / rld*

Appearing at request of Chair:   Yes IS] No Lobbyist registered with Legislature: I Ives [3no

While it is a Senate tradition to encourage  ublic testimony, time may not  ermit all persons wishing to speak to be heard at this
meeting. Those who do speak may be asked to limit their remarks so that as many persons as possible can be heard.

(The Chair will read mis information into the record.)

T is form is part of the public record for this meeting. S-001 (10/14/14)



The Florida Senate

n
Meeting Date

Topic / .  

APPEARANCE RECORD
(Deliver BOTH copies of this form to the Senator or Senate Professional Staff conducting the meeting)

Bill Number (if applicable)

Amendment Barcode (if applicable)

Name C, /t phArv-Cj 0 I O S

Job Title

Address Phone

7 7 637

Street

City State Zip  

Speaking: [ [For |  Against | | Information Waive Speaking: \   In Support EZIAgainst
(The Chair will read this information into the record.)

Representing CT W tVV    o o    

Appearing at request of Chair: I lYes I Hno Lobbyist registered with Legislature: 0  es I I No

While it is a Senate tradition to encourage public testimony, time may not permit all persons wishing to speak to be heard at this
meeting. Those who do speak may be asked to limit their remarks so that as many persons as possible can be heard.

This form is part of the public record for this meeting. S-001 (10/14/14)



The Florida Senate

3 - o-l ?
Meeting Date

Topic   (  t T t~J

APPEARANCE RECORD
(Deliver BOTH copies of t is form to the Senator or Senate Professional Staff conducting the meeting)

Name    ,ce,.  A

Job Title Y P . "s  e

Address O  \n (k 
Street

City State

Speaking: 1 [por _\/Against | | Information

10 
Bill Number (if applicable)

Amendment Barcode (if applicable)

., t o i

Phone

Email io   .- -k   

Zip
/.1 11 •Lem

Waive Speaking:   In Support I I A ainst
(The Chair will read this information into the record.)

Representing %[or"cLcC   _ V  \Jc  C .t ,  C.0i4 rLLC » &  

Appearing at request of Chair: I Ives No Lobbyist registered with Legislature: Yes No

While it is a Senate tradition to encourage public testimony, time may not permit all persons wishing to speak to be heard at this
meeting. Those who do speak may be asked to limit their remarks so that as many persons as possible can be heard.

This form is part of the public record for this meeting. S-001 (10/14/14)



The Florida Senate

dkc>]i 
APPEARANCE RECORD

(Deliver BOTH copies of this form to the Senator or Senate Professional Staff conducting the meeting)

Meeting Date

cludJ   e D

Bill Number (if applicable)

Topic

Name  iS 0 A //  7/ i  

Amendment Barcode (if applicable)

Job Title Lphhu  rST

Address  4A  P(A) < 

I /   A   A6l>  b L 

Phone ~2l) 2  

lall / *Email
City State

Speaking: d] For J> ]Against Q Information

Zip

Waive Speaking: C~| In Support 1 J Against
(The Chair will read this information ipm the record.)

Representing ¥PflfcihA (IftitA/d// M  LAfdgpg/jdgAff
t .    C    | {   |

Appearing at request of Chair: LJYes | I No Lobbyist registered with Legislature: | |Yes | I No

While it is a Senate tradition to encourage public testimony, time may not permit all persons wishing to speak to be heard at this
meeting. Those who do speak may be asked to limit their remarks so that as many persons as possible can be heard.

This form is part of the  ublic record for this meeting. S-001 (10/14/14)



Duplicate

The Florida Senate

APPEARANCE RECORD
(Deliver BOTH copies of this form to the Senator or Senate Professional Staff conducting the meeting)

Bill Number (if applicable)

Amendment Barcode (if applicable)

?72> -?.i- hw  Phone _

Speaking: IZZIpor [ Against I I Information

Representing

Appearing at request of Chair

Waive Speaking:
r

In Support dUgainst
(The Chair will readJnmihformation into the record.)

Lobbyist registered with Legislature

While it is a Senate tradition to encourage public testimony, time may not permit all persons wishing to speak to be heard at this
meeting. Those who do speak may be asked to limit their remarks so that as many persons as possible can be heard.

This form is part of the public record for this meeting. S-001 (10/14/14)



The Florida Senate

02/20/2018

APPEARANCE RECORD
(Deliver BOTH copies of this form to the Senator or Senate Professional Staff conducting the meeting)

HB7055

Meeting Date

Topic Education - Teacher's Unions

Bill Number (if applicable)

826696 

Amendment Barcode (if applicable)

Name Anna Fusco

Job Title President, Broward County Teachers Union

Address N. University Drive phone 954-415-4464

Street

Tamarac FL 33321 Email afusco@btuonline.com

State Zip

Speaking: [ ]For 0 Against | | Information

Representing Broward County Teachers Union

Waive Speaking:   In Support l l A ainst
(The Chair will read this information into the record.)

Appearing at request of Chair:  Yes 0] No Lobbyist registered with Legislature:  res Dno

While it is a Senate tradition to encourage public testi ony, time may not permit all persons wishing to speak to be heard at this

meeting. Those who do speak may be asked to limit their remarks so that as many persons as possible can be heard.

This form is part of the public record for this meeting. S-001 (10/14/14)



Duplicate

J-

The Florida Senate

APPEARANCE RECORD
(Deliver BOTH copies of this form to the Senator or Senate Professional Staff conducting the meeting)

Meeting Date

Topic wc noA

Bill Number (if applicable)
• *7 /

!tis cs  1 2 

Amendment Barcode (if applicable)

Name I

Job Title. Si//? GihuemM  rh! /ffi&iYs

Address &1Z flvlfat  
Street

j  j(e k f 
State

Phone

ZS11 Email la/r -   tsc .

Speaking:  *For I I A ainst I I Information

Representing ( ni(/\ cJ&fla

Waive Speaking: diln Support I I A ainst
(The Chair will read this information into the record.)

Appearing at request of Chair: I I Yes I I No Lobbyist registered with Legislature: >5s.Yes CZI No

While it is a Senate tradition to encourage  ublic testimony, time may not  ermit all persons wishing to speak to be heard at this
meeting. Those who do speak may be asked to limit their remarks so that as many persons as possible can be heard.

This form is part of the public record for this meeting. S-001 (10/14/14)



Duplicate

. . '

' Meeting Date

The Florida Senate

APPEARANCE RECORD
(Deliver BOTH copies of this form to the Senator or Senate Professional Staff conducting the meeting)

(2 s /  fr 7,9 S S
Bill Number (if applicable)

L ? \ (5  ~ s > f \  ) t l  Topic

Name

Job Title V  \l3    c r 

Address ' .'A'i  O        i\le

9   l _Lz2-

Amendment Barcode (if applicable)

Phone
Street

2Xl c,

City

Speaking:   For

State

Against EZI Information

Email [ ( >(Q ~  5  f 
Zip

Representing   1 

Waive Speaking: CZ] In Support I I A ainst
(The Chair will read this information into the record.)

Appearing at request of Chair: I I Yes I I No Lobbyist registered with Legislature: I I Yes   No

While it is a Senate tradition to encourage public testimony, time may not  ermit all persons wishing to speak to be heard at this
meeting. Those who do speak may be asked to limit their remarks so that as many persons as possible can be heard.

This form is part of the public record for this meeting. s-001 (10/14/14)



Duplicate

'0/ )

The Florida Senate

APPEARANCE RECORD
(Deliver BOTH copies of this form to t e Senator or Senate Professional Staff conducting the meeting)

Meeting Date

Topic

Name ft) cm\s   OvA

Job Title

Address 106 A 
Street

FZ 
City State

Speaking: For I I A ainst I I Information

V 'g  OS'
Bill Number (if applicable)

Amendment Barcode (if applicable)

Phone €>)     5 ~

5Z O [ Email . om

Z/p

Waive Speaking: C lln Support 1 1 A ainst
(The Chair will read this information into the record.)

Representing

Appearing at request of Chair: I I Yes 2 No Lobbyist registered with Legislature: 2 Yes [2 No

While it is a Senate tradition to encourage public testimony, time may not permit all persons wishing to speak to be heard at this
meeting. Those who do speak may be asked to limit their remarks so that as many persons as possible can be heard.

This form is part of the public record for this meeting. S-001 (10/14/14)



Duplicate

The Florida Senate

APPEARANCE RECORD
(Deliver BOTH copies of this form to the Senator or Senate Professional Staff conducting the meeting)

Topic _ (H 

Name Vri

Bill Number (if applicable)

Amendment Barcode (if applicable)

Job Title

Address
Street

Phone

Email
City State Zip

Speaking: .}£ For I I A ainst I I Information

Representing

Waive Speaking: C  In Support I I A ainst
(The Chair will read this information into the record.)

t o£   d/  0   tT l Sc i  t  u\ .A/ Cti

Appearing at request of Chair: Q Yes No Lobbyist registered with Legislature: Yes No

While it is a Senate tradition to encourage  ublic testimony, time may not  ermit all persons wishing to speak to be heard at this
meeting. Those who do speak may be asked to limit their remarks so that as many persons as possible can be heard.

This form is part of the public record for this meeting. S-001 (10/14/14)



The Florida Senate

APPEARANCE RECORD
(Deliver BOTH copies of this form to the Senator or Senate Professional Staff conducting the meeting)

Meeting Date Bill Number (if a plicable)

Topic \ Amendment Barcode (if applicable)

Name Tv%. > i}
;1

Job Title i/f. I f <;4-

Address
i

r V1 \ CTt Phone
Street

Email
City

Speaking: [ Jpor | [Against

State

| | Information

Zip

Waive Speaking: In Support l I A ainst
(The Chair will read this information into the record.)

Representing

Appearing at request of Chair: I I Yes I I No Lobbyist registered with Legislature: I Ives C no

While it is a Senate tradition to encourage public testimony, time may not  ermit all persons wishing to speak to be heard at this
meeting. Those who do speak may be asked to limit their remarks so that as many persons as possible can be heard.

This form is part of the public record for this meeting. S-001 (10/14/14)



The Florida Senate 

BILL ANALYSIS AND FISCAL IMPACT STATEMENT 
(This document is based on the provisions contained in the legislation as of the latest date listed below.) 

Prepared By: The Professional Staff of the Committee on Education  

 

BILL:  CS/SB 1804 

INTRODUCER: Education Committee and Senator Stargel 

SUBJECT:  School District Accountability 

DATE:  February 21, 2018 

 

 ANALYST  STAFF DIRECTOR  REFERENCE  ACTION 

1. Olenick, Bouck  Graf  ED  Fav/CS 

2.     AP   

3.     RC   

 

Please see Section IX. for Additional Information: 

COMMITTEE SUBSTITUTE - Substantial Changes 

 

I. Summary: 

CS/SB 1804 increases fiscal accountability and expands fiscal transparency requirements for 

district school boards. Specifically, the bill: 

 Increases fiscal accountability requirements by: 

o Adding to the Auditor General’s (AG’s) duties, the requirement for the AG to contact 

each district school board with findings and recommendations contained within the AG’s 

previous operational audit report; and specifies compliance requirements for the district 

school boards. 

o Requiring the Department of Education’s (DOE’s) Inspector General to investigate 

allegations and reports of possible fraud or abuse against a district school board made by 

specified entities. 

o Requiring school districts receiving annual federal, state, and local funds in excess of 

over $500 million to employ an internal auditor. 

 Expands fiscal transparency by: 

o Requiring district school boards to provide a full explanation of any budget amendments 

at the boards’ next scheduled public meeting. 

o Modifying the information that each district school board must post on its website to add 

graphical representations, for each public school within the district and for the school 

district, of financial efficiency data and 3-year fiscal trend information. 

o Specifying additional information that each school district must report to the DOE 

including the total operating costs and expenditures for classroom instruction. 

REVISED:         



BILL: CS/SB 1804   Page 2 

 

o Requiring the DOE to calculate specified expenditure information for each public school, 

school district, and the state; and develop a web-based fiscal transparency tool that 

identifies public schools and districts that produce high academic achievement based on 

the ratio of classroom instruction expenditures to total expenditures. 

o Requiring the DOE to contract with an independent third party to conduct an 

investigation of all accounts and records for specified purposes. 

o Requiring the withholding of each district school board member’s and district school 

superintendent’s salaries, with some exceptions, if any of the financial conditions 

specified in law exist, until such conditions are corrected.  

o Requires prior approval by the district school board for reimbursement of out-of-district 

travel expenses that exceed $500, and requires a detailed itemized list of all anticipated 

travel expenses for any travel outside the state. 

 

Additionally, the bill applies the restriction on lobbying for 2 years after vacating office to 

appointed school district superintendents, which currently applies to locally elected school 

district officers; and prohibits a district superintendent from appointing or employing a relative 

to work under his or her direct supervision. 

 

The bill appropriates $850,000 in nonrecurring funds from the General Revenue Fund to the 

DOE to implement this act. 

 

The bill takes effect July 1, 2018. 

II. Present Situation: 

The present situation for the relevant portions of the bill is discussed in the Effect of Proposed 

Changes section of this bill analysis. 

III. Effect of Proposed Changes: 

Florida law specifies audit and oversight requirements for district school boards. 

 

Fiscal Accountability 

Auditor General 

Present Situation 

The Auditor General (AG) or a Certificated Public Accountant (CPA) is required to perform 

annual financial audits of district school boards.1 If the AG does not perform a financial audit of 

a district school board, the school board must have a financial audit completed within nine 

months of its fiscal year end by an independent CPA.2 The scope of financial audits includes an 

examination of the financial statements, the issuance of a report on compliance and internal 

                                                 
1 State of Florida Auditor General, Summary of Significant Findings and Financial Trends Identified in District School Board 

Audit Reports for the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2016,(June, 2016), at 1, available at 

https://flauditor.gov/pages/pdf_files/2018-030.pdf. Section 11.45(2), F.S. and s. 218.39(1), F.S. 
2 Section 218.39(1), F.S. 



BILL: CS/SB 1804   Page 3 

 

control in accordance with generally accepted government auditing standards, and the issuance 

of a report on compliance and internal control for each major Federal program.3 

 

The AG also conducts operational audits of district school boards in accordance with 

Government Auditing Standards at least every 3 years.4 Operational audits must include an 

evaluation of management’s performance in establishing and maintaining internal controls, 

including controls designed to prevent and detect fraud, waste, and abuse, and in administering 

assigned responsibilities.5 
 

The AG is required to report material weaknesses in internal control and significant control 

deficiencies that are disclosed during the course of a financial audit.6 A material weakness is a 

deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control such that there is a reasonable 

possibility that a material misstatement of the financial statements would not be prevented or 

detected and corrected on a timely basis.7 A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a 

combination of deficiencies in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, yet 

important enough to merit attention.8 The AG must report material noncompliance or abuse that 

has a material effect on a financial statement audit.9 
 

The AG must annually compile and transmit a summary of significant findings and financial 

trends to the Senate President, the Speaker of the House of Representatives, and the Legislative 

Auditing Committee (LAC).10 If an audit contains any significant findings, district school boards 

must conduct an audit overview during a public meeting.11 

 

The AG has authority to perform follow-up procedures necessary to determine a district school 

board’s progress in addressing the findings and recommendations in the previous audit report.12 

The AG must also notify the LAC of any financial or operational audit report which indicates 

that a district school board failed to take full corrective action in response to a finding included 

in the two preceding financial or operational audits.13 

 

Upon notification, the LAC may direct a school board to provide a written statement explaining 

the reason the school board failed to take corrective action or, if the school board intends to take 

full corrective action, describing the corrective action and state when it will occur.14 If the LAC 

determines that the written statement is not sufficient, it may require the chair of the school 

                                                 
3 State of Florida Auditor General, Summary of Significant Findings and Financial Trends Identified in District School Board 

Audit Reports for the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2016,(June 2016), at 1, available at 

https://flauditor.gov/pages/pdf_files/2018-030.pdf. Section 11.45(1)(c), F.S. 
4 Id. Section 11.45(2)(f), F.S. 
5 Id. at (1)(g). 
6 Id. 
7 State of Florida Auditor General, Summary of Significant Findings and Financial Trends Identified in District School Board 

Audit Reports for the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2016, at 2, available at https://flauditor.gov/pages/pdf_files/2018-030.pdf. 
8 Id. 
9 Id. 
10 Section 11.45(7)(f), F.S. See also s. 11.40, F.S. 
11 Section 1010.30(2), F.S. 
12 Section 11.45(2)(j), F.S. 
13 Id. at (7)(j)1. 
14 Id. 



BILL: CS/SB 1804   Page 4 

 

board to appear before the committee.15 If the LAC determines that the school board has failed to 

take full corrective action for which there is no justifiable reason or has failed to comply with 

committee requests, the committee must refer the matter to the State Board of Education (state 

board) to proceed in accordance with its oversight enforcement authority.16 
 

On February 2, 2014, the LAC conducted a workshop on Financial Oversight for District School 

Boards.17 As part of its presentation, the AG’s office recommended that operational audits 

include testing for previous operational audit findings with questionable costs.18 

 

Effect of Proposed Changes 

The bill adds to the AG’s duties, the requirement for the AG to contact each district school board 

with findings and recommendations contained within the AG’s previous operational audit report. 

 

Additionally, the bill: 

 Requires the district school board to provide the Auditor General with evidence of the 

initiation of corrective action within 45 days after the date it is requested by the AG and 

evidence of completion of corrective action within 180 days after the date it is requested by 

the AG. 

 Specifies that if the district school board fails to comply with the AG’s request or is unable to 

take corrective action within the required timeframe, the AG must notify the LAC. 

 

The bill also modifies the requirement for district school boards, the Florida College System 

institution board of trustees, and the university board of trustees to conduct an audit overview 

during a public meeting to provide that such audit overview must be conducted by the specified 

entities if an audit contains a finding classified as a significant deficiency or material weakness, 

rather than a significant finding. The bill requires the audit overview to describe the corrective 

action to be taken and a timeline for the completion of such action. 

 

Accordingly, the bill may assist with the identification of significant deficiencies and material 

weaknesses, which may facilitate appropriate corrective action to remedy the identified 

deficiencies by the district school boards, and enhance the school districts’ internal controls. 

 

Inspector General 

Present Situation 

Each state agency is required to have an Inspector General (IG),19 including the DOE, to provide 

a central point for the coordination of activities that promote accountability, integrity, and 

efficiency in government.20 The Office of the Chief Inspector General (CIG) is within the 

                                                 
15 Id at (7)(j)2. 
16 Sections 11.45(7)(j)3, and 1008.32, F.S. 
17 Joint Legislative Auditing Committee, Meeting Packet, (Feb. 10, 2014), at 1, available at 

http://www.leg.state.fl.us/Data/Committees/Joint/JCLA/Meetingpackets/021014.pdf. 
18 Id. at 111 of 159. 
19 Section 20.055(2), F.S. 
20 Id. 



BILL: CS/SB 1804   Page 5 

 

Executive Office of the Governor.21 The CIG monitors the activities of the agency inspectors 

general under the Governor’s jurisdiction.22 

 

The DOE’s IG is responsible for promoting accountability, efficiency, and effectiveness and 

detecting fraud and abuse within school districts.23 If the commissioner determines that the 

district school board is unwilling or unable to address substantiated allegations made by any 

person relating to waste, fraud, or financial mismanagement, the office must conduct, coordinate, 

or request investigations into such substantiated allegations.24 

 

Effect of Proposed Changes 

The bill requires the DOE’s IG to investigate allegations and reports of possible fraud or abuse 

against a district school board made by: 

 Any member of the Cabinet; 

 Any presiding officer of the Senate or the House; 

 A chair of a substantive or appropriations committee with appropriate jurisdiction; or 

 A member of the board for which investigation is sought. 

 

Internal Auditor 

Present Situation 

Currently, district school boards may employ an internal auditor to perform ongoing financial 

verification of the financial records of the school district.25 The internal auditor must report 

directly to the district school board or its designee.26 

 

Bay, Brevard, Broward, Clay, Duval, Escambia, Hillsborough, Lake, Lee, Leon, Marion, Martin, 

Miami Dade, Orange, Palm Beach, Pasco, Pinellas, and Polk district school boards employ 

internal auditors.27 

 

On February 2, 2014, as part of its presentation to the LAC, the AG’s office recommended that 

school districts of a specified size employ internal auditors to periodically report on the 

effectiveness of budgetary control procedures.28 

 

Effect of Proposed Changes 

The bill requires school districts receiving annual federal, state, and local funds in excess of over 

$500 million to employ an internal auditor. The bill specifies that the duties of the internal 

auditor must include oversight of every functional and program area of the school system. 

 

                                                 
21 Section 14.32(1), F.S. 
22 Id. 
23 Section 1001.20(4)(e), F.S. 
24 Section 1001.20(4)(e), F.S. 
25 Section 1001.42(12)(l), F.S. 
26 Id. 
27 Phone Interview with the Florida Office of Auditor General staff (Feb. 19, 2018). 
28 Joint Legislative Auditing Committee, Meeting Packet, February 10, 2014 (Feb. 2014), at 110 and 114, available at 

http://www.leg.state.fl.us/Data/Committees/Joint/JCLA/Meetingpackets/021014.pdf. 



BILL: CS/SB 1804   Page 6 

 

Additionally, the bill requires the internal auditor to perform a comprehensive risk assessment of 

all areas of the school system every 5 years, and conduct other audits and reviews as the district 

school board directs to determine: 

 The adequacy of internal controls designed to prevent and detect fraud, waste, and abuse. 

 Compliance with applicable laws, rules, contracts, grant agreements, district school board-

approved policies, and best practices. 

 The efficiency of operations. 

 The reliability of financial records and reports. 

 The safeguarding of assets. 

 Financial solvency. 

 Projected revenues and expenditures. 

 The rate of change in the general fund balance. 

 

The bill also requires the internal auditor to prepare audit reports of his or her findings and 

establishes penalties for a failure to produce financial records to the internal auditor.29 

 

Cost Accounting and Reporting 

Present Situation 

Each school district must account for expenditures of all state, local, and federal funds on a 

school-by-school and a district-aggregate basis in accordance with the manual developed by the 

DOE or as provided by law.30 Each district must report on a district-aggregate basis expenditures 

for inservice training and categorical programs; and on a school-by school basis and aggregate 

district basis for each program funded by the state for the operation of schools.31 Additionally, 

the commissioner must present to the Legislature a district-by-district report of the expenditures 

reported.32 

 

Each district must expend at least the percent of the funds generated by each of the programs 

listed on the aggregate total school costs for such programs:33 

 Ninety percent for kindergarten and grades 1, 2, and 3. 

 Eighty percent for grades 4, 5, 6, 7, and 8. 

 Eighty percent for grades 9, 10, 11, and 12. 

 Ninety percent for programs for exceptional students, on an aggregate program basis. 

 Eighty percent for grades 7 through 12 career education programs, on an aggregate program 

basis. 

 Eighty percent for students-at-risk programs, on an aggregate program basis. 

 Ninety-percent for juvenile justice programs, on an aggregate program basis. 

                                                 
29 Section 11.47(3), F.S. Any person who willfully fails or refuses to furnish or produce any book, record, paper, document, 

data, or sufficient information necessary to a proper audit or examination which the Auditor General or the Office of Program 

Policy Analysis and Government Accountability is by law authorized to perform is guilty of a misdemeanor of the first 

degree. Section 11.47(4), F.S. 
30 Section 1010.20(1), F.S. 
31 Id at (2)(a)-(b). 
32 Id. at (2)(c), F.S. 
33 Section 1010.20(1)-(3), F.S. 



BILL: CS/SB 1804   Page 7 

 

Effect of Proposed Changes 

The bill modifies the expenditure reporting requirements for the school districts to specify that 

such expenditures must be reported to the DOE. The bill also specifies additional information 

that each school district must report to the DOE including the total operating costs and 

expenditures for classroom instruction. 

 

The bill requires the DOE to: 

 Categorize all public schools and districts into appropriate groups based primarily on average 

full-time equivalent (FTE) student enrollment as reported on the most recent student 

membership survey and in the state board rule to determine groups of peer schools and 

districts. 

 Annually calculate for each public school, district, and for the entire state, the percentage of 

classroom expenditures to total operating cost expenditures. 

 Annually calculate for all public schools, districts, and the state, the average percentage of 

classroom expenditures to total operating cost and expenditures. 

 Develop a web-based fiscal transparency tool that identifies public schools and districts that 

produce high academic achievement based on the ratio of classroom instruction expenditures 

to total expenditures. The fiscal transparency tool must combine this data with the student 

performance measurements to determine the financial efficiency of each public school and 

district. The results must be displayed in an easy-to-use format that enables the user to 

compare performance among public schools and districts. 

 

Fiscal Transparency 

School districts are required to account for expenditures for all state, local, and federal funds on a 

school-by-school and a district aggregate basis.34 

 

District School Board Budget Transparency 

Present Situation 

Each district school board must prepare, adopt, and submit an annual operating budget to the 

commissioner.35 Estimated expenditures in a school district’s tentative budget cannot exceed 

estimated income.36 District expenditures must be limited to amount budgeted under the 

classification of accounts provided for each fund and to the total amount of the budget after the 

same have been amended as prescribed by law and rules of the state board.37 However, a district 

school board may establish policies that allow expenditures to exceed the amount budgeted by 

function and object, provided that the district school board approves the expenditure and amends 

the budget within timelines established by school board policies.38 

 

Each district school board must post on its website a plain language version of each proposed, 

tentative, and official budget which describes each budget item in terms that are easily 

                                                 
34 Section 1010.20(1), F.S. 
35 Section 1011.01(3)(a), F.S. 
36 Section 1011.02(4), F.S. 
37 Section 1011.06(1), F.S. 
38 Id. at (2). 



BILL: CS/SB 1804   Page 8 

 

understandable to the public.39 This information must be prominently posted on the school 

district’s website in a manner that is readily accessible to the public.40 

 

Effect of Proposed Changes 

The bill requires district budget amendments to occur at the district school board’s next 

scheduled public meeting. Additionally, the bill requires district school boards to provide a full 

explanation of any budget amendments at the public meeting. 

 

The bill changes the school district budget transparency requirements to school district fiscal 

transparency requirements. The bill also modifies the information that each district school board 

must prominently post on its website to add graphical representations, for each public school 

within the district and for the school district, of the following: 

 Summary of financial efficiency data. 

 Three-year fiscal trend information on: 

o The ratio of FTE students to FTE instructional personnel. 

o The ratio of FTE students to FTE administrative personnel. 

o The total operating expenditures per FTE student. 

o The total instructional expenditures per FTE student. 

o The general administrative expenditures as a percentage of total budget. 

o The rate of change in the general fund’s ending fund balance not classified as restricted. 

 

Accordingly, the bill may provide the public with information on district school board budget 

and financial information on each public school. Additionally, the bill authorizes an individual 

school board member to request proposed, tentative, and official budget documents, including all 

supporting and background information. The bill also requires such documents to be provided to 

such board member. 

 

General Funds Guidelines 

Present Situation 

The district school board must maintain a general fund ending fund balance that is sufficient to 

address normal contingencies.41 If at any time the portion of the general fund’s ending fund 

balance not classified as restricted, committed, or nonspendable in the district’s approved 

operating budget is projected to fall below 3 percent of projected general fund revenues during 

the current fiscal year, the district school superintendent must provide written notification to the 

district school board and the Commissioner of Education.42 

 

Effect of Proposed Changes 

For a district school board that has an ending fund balance that falls below the 3 percent 

threshold for 2 consecutive years, the bill requires district school superintendent to reduce the 

district school board’s administration expenditures in proportion to the reduction in the general 

fund’s ending balance or the reduction in student enrollment, whichever is greater. The bill also 

                                                 
39 Section 1011.035(2), F.S. 
40 Id. 
41 Section 1011.051, F.S. 
42 Id. at (1). 



BILL: CS/SB 1804   Page 9 

 

prohibits any district school board with an ending fund balance below the 3 percent threshold 

from making expenditures for travel outside of the district and other expenses enumerated in law, 

while the specified financial conditions exist. 

 

Financial Emergency 

Present Situation 

District school boards are subject to review and oversight by the commissioner when the district 

is unable to timely pay current debts and liabilities.43 A district school board is in a state of 

financial emergency when the district is unable to timely pay current debts and liabilities and 

state assistance is needed for corrective action.44 While in a state of financial emergency, the 

Governor or the commissioner may implement measures which:45 

 Requires commissioner approval of the district school board’s budget; 

 Prohibits a district school board from issuing debt; 

 Requires inspections and reviews of district school board records, reports and information; 

 Establishes a financial emergency board to oversee the activities of the district school board; 

and 

 Requires a plan of action that will cause the district school board to no longer be in a 

financial emergency. 

 

Effect of Proposed Changes 

The bill requires the DOE to contract with an independent third party to conduct an investigation 

of all accounts and records to determine the cause of the deficit, what efforts, if any, were made 

to avoid the deficit, and whether any of the specified financial conditions have occurred. The bill 

specifies that the investigation must include a detailed review and analysis of documents and 

records, including, but not limited to, budget reports, journal entries, budget methodologies, staff 

e-mails, hard copy records, monthly financial statements, quarterly revenue and expenditure 

reports, finance staff job descriptions, and minutes from meetings. Additionally, the results of the 

investigation must include recommendations for corrective action and controls to avoid a 

reoccurrence of a future budget shortfall. The bill requires a final report to be provided to the 

district school board, the department, the Legislative Auditing Committee, and the district’s 

financial emergency board, if applicable. Accordingly, the bill may increase the specified 

entities’ knowledge of the district school boards’ financial solvency status. 

 

The bill also requires the withholding of each district school board member’s and district school 

superintendent’s salaries if any of the financial conditions specified in law exist, until such 

conditions are corrected. However, the bill provides that the salary withholding provision does 

not apply to a district school board member or district superintendent elected or appointed within 

1 year after the identification of the specified financial conditions if he or she did not participate 

in the approval or preparation of the final school district budget adopted before the identification 

of such conditions. 

                                                 
43 Section 218.503(1), F.S. 
44 Id. at (1) and (3). 
45 Id. at (3)(a)-(h)1. 



BILL: CS/SB 1804   Page 10 

 

School District Minimum Classroom Expenditure Requirements 

Present Situation 

The Legislature may require any school district that fails to meet minimum academic 

performance standards to increase emphasis on classroom instruction activities from operating 

funds, including, but not limited to, those provided for the operation of schools.46 In determining 

the classroom expenditure requirement, the DOE is required to calculate the total K-12 operating 

and classroom instruction expenditures for each district and the percentage of classroom 

expenditures to total operating expenditures for each district and the state.47 School districts 

required to increase emphasis on classroom activities must submit a final report to the DOE 

explaining proposed budget actions and the district’s level of compliance with spending 

requirements.48 

 

Effect of Proposed Changes 

The bill repeals s. 1011.64, F.S., regarding school district minimum classroom expenditure 

requirements. However, the bill specifies additional requirements for the reporting of classroom 

expenditures. 

 

Ethical and Other Fiscal Issues 

Lobbying 

Present Situation 

A person who has been elected to any county, municipal, special district, or school district office 

may not personally represent another person or entity for compensation before the government 

body or agency of which the person was an officer for a period of 2 years after vacating that 

office.49 

 

Effect of Proposed Changes 

The bill applies the restriction on lobbying for 2 years after vacating office to appointed school 

district superintendents,50 which currently applies to locally elected school district officers. 

 

District School Board Member Salary 

Present Situation 

Each member of the district school board must receive a base salary, the amounts indicated in 

law, based on the population of the county the district school board member serves.51 In addition, 

compensation must be made for population increments over the minimum for each population 

                                                 
46 Section 1011.64(1), F.S. 
47 Id. at 3(b)1. 
48 Id. at (4). 
49 Section 112.313(14), F.S. 
50 Currently, there are 26 appointed district school superintendents and 41 elected district school superintendents. Florida 

Department of Education, Florida Public School Superintendents, http://www.fldoe.org/accountability/data-sys/school-dis-

data/superintendents.stml (last visited Feb. 18, 2018). 
51 Section 1001.395(1), F.S. 



BILL: CS/SB 1804   Page 11 

 

group, which shall be determined by multiplying the population in excess of the minimum for the 

group times the group rate.52 

 

Effect of Proposed Changes 

The bill aligns school board member salaries with the beginning teacher salaries or the amount 

calculated by statute, whichever is less. In fiscal year 2016-17, the average salary for district 

school board member exceeded the beginning average salary for teachers in the following 12 of 

the 67 school districts in the state: Alachua ($782), Broward ($739), Dade ($850), Duval 

($1,810), Hillsborough ($3,554), Lee ($1,525), Leon ($434), Marion ($528), Orange ($1,091), 

Palm Beach ($747), Pinellas ($544), and Volusia ($416).53 

 

District School Board Member Travel Expenses 

Present Situation 

Each district school board member is reimbursed for authorized travel expenses. Any travel 

outside the district must also be governed by the rules of the state board.54 

 

Effect of Proposed Changes 

The bill requires prior approval by the district school board for reimbursement of out-of-district 

travel expenses that exceed $500. Additionally, the bill requires the district school board to 

confirm that such travel is for official business of the school district and complies with the rules 

of the state board. 

 

The bill also requires the district school board to include in any request for travel outside the 

state, a detailed itemized list of all anticipated travel expenses; and requires the public to be 

provided an opportunity to speak on the specific travel agenda item. 

 

Financial Disclosure Fines 

Present Situation 

Currently, the Commission on Ethics (COE) determines whether a person owing a public 

financial disclosure fine is a public officer or public employee.55 If the COE determines that the 

person is a current public officer or public employee, the commission may notify the Chief 

Financial Officer (CFO) or governing body of the amount owed.56 

 

Effect of Proposed Changes 

The bill: 

 Adds district school boards to the entities whom the COE may contact regarding owed fines. 

 Modifies collection methods for fines for failure to timely file disclosure of financial interest 

to require district school boards to withhold a specified amount of funding from employee 

salaries. 

                                                 
52 Id. 
53 Email, Florida Department of Education (Feb. 19, 2018). 
54 Section 1001.39, F.S. 
55 Sections 112.3144(5) and (7), and 112.3145(7), F.S. 
56 Section 112.31455(1), F.S. 



BILL: CS/SB 1804   Page 12 

 

 Authorizes district school boards to retain a portion of the withheld funds to cover 

administrative costs. 

 

School District Personnel Policies 

Present Situation 

Except as otherwise provided by law or the State Constitution, district school boards may adopt 

rules governing personnel matters, including the assignment of duties and responsibilities for all 

district employees.57 However, a district school board member may not employ or appoint a 

relative to work under the direct supervision of the district school board member.58 

 

Effect of Proposed Changes 

The bill provides that a district superintendent is also prohibited from appointing or employing a 

relative, as specified in law, to work under his or her direct supervision. The bill clarifies that this 

prohibition does not apply to employees appointed or employed before the election or 

appointment of a school board member or district school superintendent. 

 

Additionally, the bill requires the COE to accept and investigate any alleged violations of the 

specified prohibition against appointing or employing a relative. 

 

Standards of Ethical Conduct 

Present Situation 

District school boards are required to adopt policies establishing standards of ethical conduct for 

instructional personnel and school administrators.59 The policies must require all instructional 

personnel and school administrators to complete specific training, establish the duty of 

instructional personnel and school administrators to report, and procedures for reporting 

misconduct which affects the health, safety, or welfare of a student.60 Current law prohibits 

district school boards, instructors, and administrators from entering into confidentiality 

agreements regarding termination, dismissal, or resignation based on specified misconduct.61 

District school boards are prohibited from providing employment references or discussing the 

performance of instructors or administrators with prospective employers in another educational 

setting without disclosing misconduct.62 Any part of an agreement that conceals instructor or 

administrator misconduct is void.63 

 

Effect of Proposed Changes 

The bill extends the standards of ethical conduct to apply to administrative personnel and school 

officers. Accordingly, the bill clarifies that such personnel and officers are subject to ethics 

                                                 
57 Section 1012.23(1), F.S. 
58 Id. at (2). The term “relative” includes father, mother, son, daughter, brother, sister, uncle, aunt, first cousin, nephew, niece, 

husband, wife, father-in-law, mother-in-law, son-in-law, daughter-in-law, brother-in-law, sister-in-law, stepfather, 

stepmother, stepson, stepdaughter, stepbrother, stepsister, half-brother, or half-sister. Section 112.3135(1)(d), F.S. 
59 Section 1001.42(6), F.S. 
60 Id. 
61 Id. 
62 Id. 
63 Id. 



BILL: CS/SB 1804   Page 13 

 

standards, including training, reporting procedures, reference requirements and contract 

requirements. 

 

The bill takes effect July 1, 2018. 

IV. Constitutional Issues: 

A. Municipality/County Mandates Restrictions: 

None. 

B. Public Records/Open Meetings Issues: 

None. 

C. Trust Funds Restrictions: 

None. 

V. Fiscal Impact Statement: 

A. Tax/Fee Issues: 

None. 

B. Private Sector Impact: 

None. 

C. Government Sector Impact: 

CS for SB 1804 appropriates $850,000 in nonrecurring funds from the General Revenue 

Fund to the Department of Education to implement this act. 

VI. Technical Deficiencies: 

None. 

VII. Related Issues: 

None. 

VIII. Statutes Affected: 

This bill substantially amends the following sections of the Florida Statutes: 11.45, 112.313, 

112.31455, 1001.20, 1001.39, 1001.395, 1001.42, 1010.20, 1010.30, 1011.01, 1011.03, 

1011.035, 1011.051, 1011.06, 1011.09, 1011.10, 1011.60, and 1012.23. 

This bill repeals section 1011.64 of the Florida Statutes. 



BILL: CS/SB 1804   Page 14 

 

IX. Additional Information: 

A. Committee Substitute – Statement of Substantial Changes: 
(Summarizing differences between the Committee Substitute and the prior version of the bill.) 

CS by Education on February 20, 2018: 

The committee substitute maintains the substance of the bill with modifications to: 

 Fiscal accountability requirements by: 

o Adding to the Auditor General’s (AG’s) duties, the requirement for the AG to 

contact each district school board with findings and recommendations contained 

within the AG’s previous operational audit report; and specifies compliance 

requirements for the district school boards. 

o Requiring the Department of Education to contract with an independent third 

party to conduct an investigation, which must include specified review and 

analysis of documents and records. 

 Fiscal transparency requirements by: 

o Authorizing an individual school board member to request proposed, tentative, 

and official budget documents, including all supporting and background 

information; and requiring such documents to be provided to such board member. 

o Providing that the salary withholding provision does not apply to a district school 

board member or district superintendent elected or appointed within 1 year after 

the identification of the specified financial conditions if he or she did not 

participate in the approval or preparation of the final school district budget 

adopted before the identification of such conditions. 

o Specifying prior approval by the district school board for reimbursement of out-

of-district travel expenses that exceed $500; and requiring a detailed itemized list 

of all anticipated travel expenses for any travel outside the state and additionally, 

requiring the public to be provided an opportunity to speak on the specific travel 

agenda item. 

 Appropriates $850,000 in nonrecurring funds from the General Revenue Fund to the 

DOE to implement this act. 

B. Amendments: 

None. 

This Senate Bill Analysis does not reflect the intent or official position of the bill’s introducer or the Florida Senate. 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. SB 1804 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì419978mÎ419978 

 

Page 1 of 22 

2/19/2018 10:22:35 AM 581-03317A-18 

LEGISLATIVE ACTION 

Senate 

Comm: FAV 

02/20/2018 

 

 

 

 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

 

House 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Committee on Education (Stargel) recommended the following: 

 

Senate Amendment (with title amendment) 1 

 2 

Delete everything after the enacting clause 3 

and insert: 4 

Section 1. Paragraph (k) of subsection (2) of section 5 

11.45, Florida Statutes, is redesignated as paragraph (l), and a 6 

new paragraph (k) is added to that subsection, to read: 7 

11.45 Definitions; duties; authorities; reports; rules.— 8 

(2) DUTIES.—The Auditor General shall: 9 

(k) Contact each district school board, as defined in s. 10 

1003.01(1), with the findings and recommendations contained 11 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. SB 1804 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì419978mÎ419978 

 

Page 2 of 22 

2/19/2018 10:22:35 AM 581-03317A-18 

within the Auditor General’s previous operational audit report. 12 

The district school board shall provide the Auditor General with 13 

evidence of the initiation of corrective action within 45 days 14 

after the date it is requested by the Auditor General and 15 

evidence of completion of corrective action within 180 days 16 

after the date it is requested by the Auditor General. If the 17 

district school board fails to comply with the Auditor General’s 18 

request or is unable to take corrective action within the 19 

required timeframe, the Auditor General shall notify the 20 

Legislative Auditing Committee. 21 

 22 

The Auditor General shall perform his or her duties 23 

independently but under the general policies established by the 24 

Legislative Auditing Committee. This subsection does not limit 25 

the Auditor General’s discretionary authority to conduct other 26 

audits or engagements of governmental entities as authorized in 27 

subsection (3). 28 

Section 2. Subsection (14) of section 112.313, Florida 29 

Statutes, is amended to read: 30 

112.313 Standards of conduct for public officers, employees 31 

of agencies, and local government attorneys.— 32 

(14) LOBBYING BY FORMER LOCAL OFFICERS; PROHIBITION.—A 33 

person who has been elected to any county, municipal, special 34 

district, or school district office or appointed superintendent 35 

of a school district may not personally represent another person 36 

or entity for compensation before the government body or agency 37 

of which the person was an officer for a period of 2 years after 38 

vacating that office. For purposes of this subsection: 39 

(a) The “government body or agency” of a member of a board 40 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. SB 1804 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì419978mÎ419978 

 

Page 3 of 22 

2/19/2018 10:22:35 AM 581-03317A-18 

of county commissioners consists of the commission, the chief 41 

administrative officer or employee of the county, and their 42 

immediate support staff. 43 

(b) The “government body or agency” of any other county 44 

elected officer is the office or department headed by that 45 

officer, including all subordinate employees. 46 

(c) The “government body or agency” of an elected municipal 47 

officer consists of the governing body of the municipality, the 48 

chief administrative officer or employee of the municipality, 49 

and their immediate support staff. 50 

(d) The “government body or agency” of an elected special 51 

district officer is the special district. 52 

(e) The “government body or agency” of an elected school 53 

district officer is the school district. 54 

Section 3. Subsection (1) of section 112.31455, Florida 55 

Statutes, is amended to read: 56 

112.31455 Collection methods for unpaid automatic fines for 57 

failure to timely file disclosure of financial interests.— 58 

(1) Before referring any unpaid fine accrued pursuant to s. 59 

112.3144(5) or s. 112.3145(7) to the Department of Financial 60 

Services, the commission shall attempt to determine whether the 61 

individual owing such a fine is a current public officer or 62 

current public employee. If so, the commission may notify the 63 

Chief Financial Officer or the governing body of the appropriate 64 

county, municipality, district school board, or special district 65 

of the total amount of any fine owed to the commission by such 66 

individual. 67 

(a) After receipt and verification of the notice from the 68 

commission, the Chief Financial Officer or the governing body of 69 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. SB 1804 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì419978mÎ419978 

 

Page 4 of 22 

2/19/2018 10:22:35 AM 581-03317A-18 

the county, municipality, district school board, or special 70 

district shall begin withholding the lesser of 10 percent or the 71 

maximum amount allowed under federal law from any salary-related 72 

payment. The withheld payments shall be remitted to the 73 

commission until the fine is satisfied. 74 

(b) The Chief Financial Officer or the governing body of 75 

the county, municipality, district school board, or special 76 

district may retain an amount of each withheld payment, as 77 

provided in s. 77.0305, to cover the administrative costs 78 

incurred under this section. 79 

Section 4. Paragraph (e) of subsection (4) of section 80 

1001.20, Florida Statutes, is amended to read: 81 

1001.20 Department under direction of state board.— 82 

(4) The Department of Education shall establish the 83 

following offices within the Office of the Commissioner of 84 

Education which shall coordinate their activities with all other 85 

divisions and offices: 86 

(e) Office of Inspector General.—Organized using existing 87 

resources and funds and responsible for promoting 88 

accountability, efficiency, and effectiveness and detecting 89 

fraud and abuse within school districts, the Florida School for 90 

the Deaf and the Blind, and Florida College System institutions 91 

in Florida. If the Commissioner of Education determines that a 92 

district school board, the Board of Trustees for the Florida 93 

School for the Deaf and the Blind, or a Florida College System 94 

institution board of trustees is unwilling or unable to address 95 

substantiated allegations made by any person relating to waste, 96 

fraud, or financial mismanagement within the school district, 97 

the Florida School for the Deaf and the Blind, or the Florida 98 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. SB 1804 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì419978mÎ419978 

 

Page 5 of 22 

2/19/2018 10:22:35 AM 581-03317A-18 

College System institution, the office shall conduct, 99 

coordinate, or request investigations into such substantiated 100 

allegations. The office shall investigate allegations or reports 101 

of possible fraud or abuse against a district school board made 102 

by any member of the Cabinet; the presiding officer of either 103 

house of the Legislature; a chair of a substantive or 104 

appropriations committee with jurisdiction; or a member of the 105 

board for which an investigation is sought. The office shall 106 

have access to all information and personnel necessary to 107 

perform its duties and shall have all of its current powers, 108 

duties, and responsibilities authorized in s. 20.055. 109 

Section 5. Subsection (1) of section 1001.39, Florida 110 

Statutes, is amended to read: 111 

1001.39 District school board members; travel expenses.— 112 

(1) In addition to the salary provided in s. 1001.395, each 113 

member of a district school board shall be allowed, from the 114 

district school fund, reimbursement of travel expenses as 115 

authorized in s. 112.061, except as provided that in subsection 116 

(2). any travel outside the district that exceeds $500 requires 117 

prior approval by the district school board to confirm that such 118 

travel is for official business of the school district and 119 

complies with shall also be governed by the rules of the State 120 

Board of Education. Any request for travel outside the state 121 

must include an itemized list detailing all anticipated travel 122 

expenses, including, but not limited to, the anticipated costs 123 

of all means of travel, lodging, and subsistence. Immediately 124 

preceding a request, the public must have an opportunity to 125 

speak on the specific travel agenda item. 126 

Section 6. Subsection (3) of section 1001.395, Florida 127 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. SB 1804 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì419978mÎ419978 

 

Page 6 of 22 

2/19/2018 10:22:35 AM 581-03317A-18 

Statutes, is amended to read: 128 

1001.395 District school board members; compensation.— 129 

(3) Notwithstanding the provisions of this section and s. 130 

145.19, for the 2010-2011 fiscal year, the salary of each 131 

district school board member shall be the amount calculated 132 

pursuant to subsection (1) or the district’s beginning salary 133 

for teachers who hold baccalaureate degrees, whichever is less. 134 

Section 7. Subsections (6) and (7), paragraphs (b) and (l) 135 

of subsection (12), and paragraph (b) of subsection (17) of 136 

section 1001.42, Florida Statutes, are amended to read: 137 

1001.42 Powers and duties of district school board.—The 138 

district school board, acting as a board, shall exercise all 139 

powers and perform all duties listed below: 140 

(6) STANDARDS OF ETHICAL CONDUCT FOR INSTRUCTIONAL 141 

PERSONNEL, ADMINISTRATIVE PERSONNEL, AND SCHOOL OFFICERS 142 

ADMINISTRATORS.—Adopt policies establishing standards of ethical 143 

conduct for instructional personnel, administrative personnel, 144 

and school officers administrators. The policies must require 145 

all instructional personnel, administrative personnel, and 146 

school officers administrators, as defined in s. 1012.01, to 147 

complete training on the standards; establish the duty of 148 

instructional personnel, administrative personnel, and school 149 

officers administrators to report, and procedures for reporting, 150 

alleged misconduct by other instructional or administrative 151 

personnel and school officers administrators which affects the 152 

health, safety, or welfare of a student; and include an 153 

explanation of the liability protections provided under ss. 154 

39.203 and 768.095. A district school board, or any of its 155 

employees, may not enter into a confidentiality agreement 156 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. SB 1804 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì419978mÎ419978 

 

Page 7 of 22 

2/19/2018 10:22:35 AM 581-03317A-18 

regarding terminated or dismissed instructional or 157 

administrative personnel or school officers administrators, or 158 

personnel or administrators who resign in lieu of termination, 159 

based in whole or in part on misconduct that affects the health, 160 

safety, or welfare of a student, and may not provide 161 

instructional personnel, administrative personnel, or school 162 

officers administrators with employment references or discuss 163 

the personnel’s or officers’ administrators’ performance with 164 

prospective employers in another educational setting, without 165 

disclosing the personnel’s or officers’ administrators’ 166 

misconduct. Any part of an agreement or contract that has the 167 

purpose or effect of concealing misconduct by instructional 168 

personnel, administrative personnel, or school officers 169 

administrators which affects the health, safety, or welfare of a 170 

student is void, is contrary to public policy, and may not be 171 

enforced. 172 

(7) DISQUALIFICATION FROM EMPLOYMENT.—Disqualify 173 

instructional personnel and administrative personnel school 174 

administrators, as defined in s. 1012.01, from employment in any 175 

position that requires direct contact with students if the 176 

personnel or administrators are ineligible for such employment 177 

under s. 1012.315. An elected or appointed school board official 178 

forfeits his or her salary for 1 year if: 179 

(a) The school board official knowingly signs and transmits 180 

to any state official a report of alleged misconduct by 181 

instructional personnel or administrative personnel school 182 

administrators which affects the health, safety, or welfare of a 183 

student and the school board official knows the report to be 184 

false or incorrect; or 185 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. SB 1804 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì419978mÎ419978 

 

Page 8 of 22 

2/19/2018 10:22:35 AM 581-03317A-18 

(b) The school board official knowingly fails to adopt 186 

policies that require instructional personnel and administrative 187 

personnel school administrators to report alleged misconduct by 188 

other instructional personnel and administrative personnel 189 

school administrators, or that require the investigation of all 190 

reports of alleged misconduct by instructional personnel and 191 

administrative personnel school administrators, if the 192 

misconduct affects the health, safety, or welfare of a student. 193 

(12) FINANCE.—Take steps to assure students adequate 194 

educational facilities through the financial procedure 195 

authorized in chapters 1010 and 1011 and as prescribed below: 196 

(b) Annual budget.— 197 

1. Cause to be prepared, adopt, and have submitted to the 198 

Department of Education as required by law and rules of the 199 

State Board of Education, the annual school budget, such budget 200 

to be so prepared and executed as to promote the improvement of 201 

the district school system. 202 

2. An individual school board member may request and shall 203 

receive any proposed, tentative, and official budget documents, 204 

including all supporting and background information. 205 

(l) Internal auditor.—May or, in the case of a school 206 

district receiving annual federal, state, and local funds in 207 

excess of $500 million, shall employ an internal auditor. The 208 

duties of the internal auditor shall include oversight of every 209 

functional and program area of the school system. 210 

1. The internal auditor shall to perform ongoing financial 211 

verification of the financial records of the school district, a 212 

comprehensive risk assessment of all areas of the school system 213 

every 5 years, and other audits and reviews as the district 214 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. SB 1804 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì419978mÎ419978 

 

Page 9 of 22 

2/19/2018 10:22:35 AM 581-03317A-18 

school board directs for determining: 215 

a. The adequacy of internal controls designed to prevent 216 

and detect fraud, waste, and abuse. 217 

b. Compliance with applicable laws, rules, contracts, grant 218 

agreements, district school board-approved policies, and best 219 

practices. 220 

c. The efficiency of operations. 221 

d. The reliability of financial records and reports. 222 

e. The safeguarding of assets. 223 

f. Financial solvency. 224 

g. Projected revenues and expenditures. 225 

h. The rate of change in the general fund balance. 226 

2. The internal auditor shall prepare audit reports of his 227 

or her findings and report directly to the district school board 228 

or its designee. 229 

3. Any person responsible for furnishing or producing any 230 

book, record, paper, document, data, or sufficient information 231 

necessary to conduct a proper audit or examination which the 232 

internal auditor is by law authorized to perform is subject to 233 

the provisions of s. 11.47(3) and (4). 234 

(17) PUBLIC INFORMATION AND PARENTAL INVOLVEMENT PROGRAM.— 235 

(b) Adopt rules to strengthen family involvement and 236 

empowerment pursuant to s. 1002.23. The rules shall be developed 237 

in collaboration with administrative personnel school 238 

administrators, parents, teachers, and community partners. 239 

Section 8. Subsection (2) of section 1010.20, Florida 240 

Statutes, is amended to read: 241 

1010.20 Cost accounting and reporting for school 242 

districts.— 243 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. SB 1804 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì419978mÎ419978 

 

Page 10 of 22 

2/19/2018 10:22:35 AM 581-03317A-18 

(2) COST REPORTING.— 244 

(a) Each district shall report on a district-aggregate 245 

basis expenditures for inservice training pursuant to s. 246 

1011.62(3) and for categorical programs as provided in s. 247 

1011.62(6). 248 

(b) Each district shall report to the department on a 249 

school-by-school and on an aggregate district basis expenditures 250 

for: 251 

1. Each program funded in s. 1011.62(1)(c). 252 

2. Total operating costs as reported pursuant to s. 253 

1010.215. 254 

3. Expenditures for classroom instruction pursuant to the 255 

calculation in s. 1010.215(4)(b)1. and 2. 256 

(c) The department shall: 257 

1. Categorize all public schools and districts into 258 

appropriate groups based primarily on average full-time 259 

equivalent student enrollment as reported on the most recent 260 

student membership survey under s. 1011.62 and in state board 261 

rule to determine groups of peer schools and districts. 262 

2. Annually calculate for each public school, district, and 263 

for the entire state, the percentage of classroom expenditures 264 

to total operating costs expenditures reported in subparagraphs 265 

(b)2. and 3. The results shall be categorized pursuant to this 266 

paragraph. 267 

3. Annually calculate for all public schools, districts, 268 

and the state, the average percentage of classroom expenditures 269 

to total operating costs and expenditures reported in 270 

subparagraphs (b)2. and 3. The results shall be categorized 271 

pursuant to this paragraph. 272 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. SB 1804 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì419978mÎ419978 

 

Page 11 of 22 

2/19/2018 10:22:35 AM 581-03317A-18 

4. Develop a web-based fiscal transparency tool that 273 

identifies public schools and districts that produce high 274 

academic achievement based on the ratio of classroom instruction 275 

expenditures to total expenditures. The fiscal transparency tool 276 

shall combine the data calculated pursuant to this paragraph 277 

with the student performance measurements calculated pursuant to 278 

s. 1012.34(7) to determine the financial efficiency of each 279 

public school and district. The results shall be displayed in an 280 

easy-to-use format that enables the user to compare performance 281 

among public schools and districts. 282 

(d)(c) The Commissioner of Education shall present to the 283 

Legislature, prior to the opening of the regular session each 284 

year, a district-by-district report of the expenditures reported 285 

pursuant to paragraphs (a) and (b). The report shall include 286 

total expenditures, a detailed analysis showing expenditures for 287 

each program, and such other data as may be useful for 288 

management of the education system. The Commissioner of 289 

Education shall also compute cost factors relative to the base 290 

student allocation for each funded program in s. 1011.62(1)(c). 291 

Section 9. Subsection (2) of section 1010.30, Florida 292 

Statutes, is amended to read: 293 

1010.30 Audits required.— 294 

(2) If an audit contains a significant deficiency or 295 

material weakness finding, the district school board, the 296 

Florida College System institution board of trustees, or the 297 

university board of trustees shall conduct an audit overview 298 

during a public meeting. The audit overview shall describe the 299 

corrective action to be taken and a timeline for completion of 300 

such action. 301 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. SB 1804 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì419978mÎ419978 

 

Page 12 of 22 

2/19/2018 10:22:35 AM 581-03317A-18 

Section 10. Paragraph (a) of subsection (3) of section 302 

1011.01, Florida Statutes, is amended to read: 303 

1011.01 Budget system established.— 304 

(3)(a) Each district school board and each Florida College 305 

System institution board of trustees shall prepare, adopt, and 306 

submit to the Commissioner of Education an annual operating 307 

budget. Operating budgets shall be prepared and submitted in 308 

accordance with the provisions of law, rules of the State Board 309 

of Education, the General Appropriations Act, and for district 310 

school boards in accordance with the provisions of s. 200.065 311 

ss. 200.065 and 1011.64. 312 

Section 11. Subsection (2) of section 1011.03, Florida 313 

Statutes, is amended to read: 314 

1011.03 Public hearings; budget to be submitted to 315 

Department of Education.— 316 

(2) The advertisement of a district that has been required 317 

by the Legislature to increase classroom expenditures pursuant 318 

to s. 1011.64 must include the following statement: 319 

“This proposed budget reflects an increase in classroom 320 

expenditures as a percent of total current operating 321 

expenditures of XX percent over the (previous fiscal year) 322 

fiscal year. This increase in classroom expenditures is required 323 

by the Legislature because the district has performed below the 324 

required performance standard on XX of XX student performance 325 

standards for the (previous school year) school year. In order 326 

to achieve the legislatively required level of classroom 327 

expenditures as a percentage of total operating expenditures, 328 

the proposed budget includes an increase in overall classroom 329 

expenditures of $XX,XXX,XXX above the amount spent for this same 330 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. SB 1804 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì419978mÎ419978 

 

Page 13 of 22 

2/19/2018 10:22:35 AM 581-03317A-18 

purpose during the (previous fiscal year) fiscal year. In order 331 

to achieve improved student academic performance, this proposed 332 

increase is being budgeted for the following activities: 333 

...(list activities and amount budgeted)....” 334 

Section 12. Section 1011.035, Florida Statutes, is amended 335 

to read: 336 

1011.035 School district fiscal budget transparency.— 337 

(1) It is important for school districts to provide 338 

budgetary transparency to enable taxpayers, parents, and 339 

education advocates to obtain school district budget and related 340 

information in a manner that is simply explained and easily 341 

understandable. Budgetary transparency leads to more responsible 342 

spending, more citizen involvement, and improved accountability. 343 

A budget that is not transparent, accessible, and accurate 344 

cannot be properly analyzed, its implementation thoroughly 345 

monitored, or its outcomes evaluated. 346 

(2) Each district school board shall post on its website a 347 

plain language version of each proposed, tentative, and official 348 

budget which describes each budget item in terms that are easily 349 

understandable to the public and includes: 350 

(a) Graphical representations, for each public school 351 

within the district and for the school district, of the 352 

following: 353 

1. Summary financial efficiency data. 354 

2. Fiscal trend information for the previous 3 years on: 355 

a. The ratio of full-time equivalent students to full-time 356 

equivalent instructional personnel. 357 

b. The ratio of full-time equivalent students to full-time 358 

equivalent administrative personnel. 359 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. SB 1804 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì419978mÎ419978 

 

Page 14 of 22 

2/19/2018 10:22:35 AM 581-03317A-18 

c. The total operating expenditures per full-time 360 

equivalent student. 361 

d. The total instructional expenditures per full-time 362 

equivalent student. 363 

e. The general administrative expenditures as a percentage 364 

of total budget. 365 

f. The rate of change in the general fund’s ending fund 366 

balance not classified as restricted. 367 

(b) A link to the web-based fiscal transparency tool 368 

developed by the department pursuant to s. 1010.20 to enable 369 

taxpayers to evaluate the financial efficiency of the school 370 

district and compare the financial efficiency of the school 371 

district with other similarly situated school districts. 372 

 373 

This information must be prominently posted on the school 374 

district’s website in a manner that is readily accessible to the 375 

public. 376 

(3) Each district school board is encouraged to post the 377 

following information on its website: 378 

(a) Timely information as to when a budget hearing will be 379 

conducted. 380 

(b) Each contract between the district school board and the 381 

teachers’ union. 382 

(c) Each contract between the district school board and 383 

noninstructional staff. 384 

(d) Each contract exceeding $35,000 between the school 385 

board and a vendor of services, supplies, or programs or for the 386 

purchase or lease of lands, facilities, or properties. 387 

(e) Each contract exceeding $35,000 that is an emergency 388 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. SB 1804 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì419978mÎ419978 

 

Page 15 of 22 

2/19/2018 10:22:35 AM 581-03317A-18 

procurement or is with a single source as authorized under s. 389 

287.057(3). 390 

(f) Recommendations of the citizens’ budget advisory 391 

committee. 392 

(g) Current and archived video recordings of each district 393 

school board meeting and workshop. 394 

(4) The website should contain links to: 395 

(a) Help explain or provide background information on 396 

various budget items that are required by state or federal law. 397 

(b) Allow users to navigate to related sites to view 398 

supporting details. 399 

(c) Enable taxpayers, parents, and education advocates to 400 

send e-mails asking questions about the budget and enable others 401 

to view the questions and responses. 402 

Section 13. Section 1011.051, Florida Statutes, is amended 403 

to read: 404 

1011.051 Guidelines for general funds.—The district school 405 

board shall maintain a general fund ending fund balance that is 406 

sufficient to address normal contingencies. 407 

(1) If at any time the portion of the general fund’s ending 408 

fund balance not classified as restricted, committed, or 409 

nonspendable in the district’s approved operating budget is 410 

projected to fall below 3 percent of projected general fund 411 

revenues during the current fiscal year, the superintendent 412 

shall provide written notification to the district school board 413 

and the Commissioner of Education. If such financial condition 414 

exists for 2 consecutive fiscal years, the superintendent shall 415 

reduce the district’s administrative expenditures reported 416 

pursuant to s. 1010.215(4)(a) in proportion to the reduction in 417 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. SB 1804 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì419978mÎ419978 

 

Page 16 of 22 

2/19/2018 10:22:35 AM 581-03317A-18 

the general fund’s ending balance or the reduction in student 418 

enrollment, whichever is greater. 419 

(2)(a) If at any time the portion of the general fund’s 420 

ending fund balance not classified as restricted, committed, or 421 

nonspendable in the district’s approved operating budget is 422 

projected to fall below 2 percent of projected general fund 423 

revenues during the current fiscal year, the superintendent 424 

shall provide written notification to the district school board 425 

and the Commissioner of Education. Within 14 days after 426 

receiving such notification, if the commissioner determines that 427 

the district does not have a plan that is reasonably anticipated 428 

to avoid a financial emergency as determined pursuant to s. 429 

218.503, the commissioner shall appoint a financial emergency 430 

board that shall operate under the requirements, powers, and 431 

duties specified in s. 218.503(3)(g). 432 

(b) If any of the conditions identified in s. 218.503(1) 433 

existed in the 2015-2016 school year or thereafter, the 434 

department shall contract with an independent third party to 435 

conduct an investigation of all accounts and records to 436 

determine the cause of the deficit, what efforts, if any, were 437 

made to avoid the deficit, and whether any of the conditions 438 

identified in s. 1011.10 have occurred. The investigation must 439 

include a detailed review and analysis of documents and records, 440 

including, but not limited to, budget reports, journal entries, 441 

budget methodologies, staff e-mails, hard copy records, monthly 442 

financial statements, quarterly revenue and expenditure reports, 443 

finance staff job descriptions, and minutes from meetings. The 444 

results of the investigation must include recommendations for 445 

corrective action and controls to avoid a reoccurrence of a 446 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. SB 1804 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì419978mÎ419978 

 

Page 17 of 22 

2/19/2018 10:22:35 AM 581-03317A-18 

future budget shortfall. A final report shall be provided to the 447 

district school board, the department, the Legislative Auditing 448 

Committee, and the district’s financial emergency board, if 449 

applicable. 450 

Section 14. Subsection (2) of section 1011.06, Florida 451 

Statutes, is amended to read: 452 

1011.06 Expenditures.— 453 

(2) EXPENDITURES FROM DISTRICT AND OTHER FUNDS.—454 

Expenditures from district and all other funds available for the 455 

public school program of any district shall be authorized by law 456 

and must be in accordance with procedures prescribed by the 457 

district school board. A district school board may establish 458 

policies that allow expenditures to exceed the amount budgeted 459 

by function and object, provided that the district school board 460 

complies with s. 1011.09(4) and approves the expenditure by 461 

amending and amends the budget at the next scheduled public 462 

meeting. The district school board must provide a full 463 

explanation of any amendments at the public meeting within 464 

timelines established by school board policies. 465 

Section 15. Subsection (4) of section 1011.09, Florida 466 

Statutes, is amended to read: 467 

1011.09 Expenditure of funds by district school board.—All 468 

state funds apportioned to the credit of any district constitute 469 

a part of the district school fund of that district and must be 470 

budgeted and expended under authority of the district school 471 

board subject to the provisions of law and rules of the State 472 

Board of Education. 473 

(4) If the financial conditions in s. 1011.051 exist, a 474 

district school board During the 2009-2010 fiscal year, unless 475 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. SB 1804 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì419978mÎ419978 

 

Page 18 of 22 

2/19/2018 10:22:35 AM 581-03317A-18 

otherwise specifically approved by the district school board, 476 

public funds may not make expenditures be expended for out-of-477 

state travel outside of the district or cellular phones, 478 

cellular phone service, personal digital assistants, or any 479 

other mobile wireless communication device or service, including 480 

text messaging, whether through purchasing, leasing, 481 

contracting, or any other method, while the financial conditions 482 

exist. The expenditure of public funds for art programs, music 483 

programs, sports programs, and extracurricular programs for 484 

students is a higher priority than expending funds for employee 485 

travel and cellular phones. 486 

Section 16. Subsection (3) is added to section 1011.10, 487 

Florida Statutes, to read: 488 

1011.10 Penalty.— 489 

(3) If any of the conditions identified in s. 218.503(1) 490 

exist within a school district, the salary of each district 491 

school board member and district superintendent, calculated 492 

pursuant to ss. 1001.395 and 1001.47, shall be withheld until 493 

the conditions are corrected. This subsection does not apply to 494 

a district school board member or district superintendent 495 

elected or appointed within 1 year after the identification of 496 

the conditions in s. 218.503(1) if he or she did not participate 497 

in the approval or preparation of the final school district 498 

budget adopted before the identification of such conditions. 499 

Section 17. Subsection (8) of section 1011.60, Florida 500 

Statutes, is amended to read: 501 

1011.60 Minimum requirements of the Florida Education 502 

Finance Program.—Each district which participates in the state 503 

appropriations for the Florida Education Finance Program shall 504 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. SB 1804 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì419978mÎ419978 

 

Page 19 of 22 

2/19/2018 10:22:35 AM 581-03317A-18 

provide evidence of its effort to maintain an adequate school 505 

program throughout the district and shall meet at least the 506 

following requirements: 507 

(8) MINIMUM CLASSROOM EXPENDITURE REQUIREMENTS.—Comply with 508 

the minimum classroom expenditure requirements and associated 509 

reporting pursuant to s. 1011.64. 510 

Section 18. Section 1011.64, Florida Statutes, is repealed. 511 

Section 19. Subsection (2) of section 1012.23, Florida 512 

Statutes, is amended to read: 513 

1012.23 School district personnel policies.— 514 

(2) The district school superintendent or a district school 515 

board member may not appoint or employ or appoint a relative, as 516 

defined in s. 112.3135, to work under the direct supervision of 517 

that district school board member or district school 518 

superintendent. The limitations of this subsection do not apply 519 

to employees appointed or employed before the election or 520 

appointment of a school board member or district school 521 

superintendent. The Commission on Ethics shall accept and 522 

investigate any alleged violations of this section pursuant to 523 

the procedures contained in ss. 112.322-112.3241. 524 

Section 20. Paragraph (d) of subsection (9) of section 525 

1002.395, Florida Statutes, is amended to read: 526 

1002.395 Florida Tax Credit Scholarship Program.— 527 

(9) DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION OBLIGATIONS.—The Department of 528 

Education shall: 529 

(d) Annually verify the eligibility of expenditures as 530 

provided in paragraph (6)(d) using the audit required by 531 

paragraph (6)(m) and s. 11.45(2)(l) s. 11.45(2)(k). 532 

Section 21. For the 2018-2019 fiscal year, the sum of 533 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. SB 1804 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì419978mÎ419978 

 

Page 20 of 22 

2/19/2018 10:22:35 AM 581-03317A-18 

$850,000 in nonrecurring funds from the General Revenue Fund is 534 

appropriated to the Department of Education to implement the 535 

provisions of this act. 536 

Section 22. This act shall take effect July 1, 2018. 537 

 538 

================= T I T L E  A M E N D M E N T ================ 539 

And the title is amended as follows: 540 

Delete everything before the enacting clause 541 

and insert: 542 

A bill to be entitled 543 

An act relating to school district accountability; 544 

amending s. 11.45, F.S.; revising the duties of the 545 

Auditor General; amending s. 112.313, F.S.; 546 

prohibiting former appointed district school 547 

superintendents from conducting certain lobbying 548 

activities; amending s. 112.31455, F.S.; requiring the 549 

governing body of a district school board to be 550 

notified if an officer or employee of the body owes a 551 

certain fine; requiring the governing body of a 552 

district school board to take specified actions under 553 

such circumstances; amending s. 1001.20, F.S.; 554 

requiring the Office of Inspector General to 555 

investigate certain allegations and reports made by 556 

specified individuals; amending s. 1001.39, F.S.; 557 

requiring certain district school board member travel 558 

outside of the school district to be preapproved and 559 

meet certain criteria; providing requirements for a 560 

school board member’s request for travel outside of 561 

the state; providing an opportunity for the public to 562 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. SB 1804 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì419978mÎ419978 

 

Page 21 of 22 

2/19/2018 10:22:35 AM 581-03317A-18 

speak on such travel; amending s. 1001.395, F.S.; 563 

providing that certain requirements for the salaries 564 

of district school board members apply every fiscal 565 

year, rather than one specific fiscal year; amending 566 

s. 1001.42, F.S.; providing that the standards of 567 

ethical conduct apply to administrative personnel and 568 

school officers; authorizing district school board 569 

members to request and receive specified budget 570 

information; requiring employment of internal auditors 571 

in certain school districts; revising provisions 572 

relating to the duties of such internal auditors; 573 

amending s. 1010.20, F.S.; requiring each school 574 

district to report certain expenditures to the 575 

Department of Education; providing department 576 

responsibilities; amending s. 1010.30, F.S.; requiring 577 

certain entities to provide an audit overview under 578 

certain circumstances; providing the contents of the 579 

overview; amending ss. 1011.01 and 1011.03, F.S.; 580 

conforming cross-references; amending s. 1011.035, 581 

F.S.; requiring each district school board to post on 582 

its website certain graphical representations and a 583 

link to a certain web-based tool on the department’s 584 

website; providing requirements for such graphical 585 

representations; amending s. 1011.051, F.S.; requiring 586 

a district school board to limit certain expenditures 587 

by a specified amount if certain financial conditions 588 

exist for a specified period of time; requiring the 589 

department to contract with a third party to conduct 590 

an investigation under certain circumstances; 591 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. SB 1804 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì419978mÎ419978 

 

Page 22 of 22 

2/19/2018 10:22:35 AM 581-03317A-18 

providing requirements for such investigation; 592 

requiring the results of such investigation to include 593 

certain information and be provided to certain 594 

entities; amending s. 1011.06, F.S.; requiring each 595 

district school board to approve certain expenditures 596 

by amending its budget and provide a public 597 

explanation for such budget amendments; amending s. 598 

1011.09, F.S.; providing certain expenditure 599 

limitations for a school district that meets specified 600 

criteria; amending s. 1011.10, F.S.; requiring certain 601 

school districts to withhold certain district school 602 

board member and school district superintendent 603 

salaries until certain conditions are met; amending s. 604 

1011.60, F.S.; conforming cross-references; repealing 605 

s. 1011.64, F.S., relating to school district minimum 606 

classroom expenditure requirements; amending s. 607 

1012.23, F.S.; prohibiting a school district 608 

superintendent and district school board from 609 

appointing or employing certain individuals in certain 610 

positions; providing an exception; requiring the 611 

Commission on Ethics to investigate alleged 612 

violations; amending s. 1002.395, F.S.; conforming a 613 

cross-reference; providing a contingent appropriation; 614 

providing an effective date. 615 



Florida Senate - 2018 SB 1804 

 

 

  

By Senator Stargel 

 

 

 

 

 

22-01165A-18 20181804__ 

 Page 1 of 19  

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

A bill to be entitled 1 

An act relating to school district accountability; 2 

amending s. 11.45, F.S.; revising the duties of the 3 

Auditor General; amending s. 112.313, F.S.; 4 

prohibiting former appointed district school 5 

superintendents from conducting certain lobbying 6 

activities; amending s. 112.31455, F.S.; requiring the 7 

governing body of a district school board be notified 8 

if an officer or employee of the body owes a certain 9 

fine; requiring the governing body of a district 10 

school board to take specified actions under such 11 

circumstances; amending s. 1001.20, F.S.; requiring 12 

the Office of Inspector General to investigate certain 13 

allegations and reports made by specified individuals; 14 

amending s. 1001.39, F.S.; requiring a district school 15 

board member’s travel outside of the school district 16 

to be preapproved and meet certain criteria; amending 17 

s. 1001.395, F.S.; providing that certain requirements 18 

for the salaries of district school board members 19 

apply every fiscal year, rather than one specific 20 

fiscal year; amending s. 1001.42, F.S.; providing that 21 

the standards of ethical conduct apply to 22 

administrative personnel and school officers; 23 

requiring employment of internal auditors in certain 24 

school districts; revising provisions relating to the 25 

duties of such internal auditors; amending s. 1010.20, 26 

F.S.; requiring each school district to report certain 27 

expenditures to the Department of Education; providing 28 

department responsibilities; amending s. 1010.30, 29 

Florida Senate - 2018 SB 1804 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

22-01165A-18 20181804__ 

 Page 2 of 19  

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

F.S.; requiring certain entities to provide an audit 30 

overview under certain circumstances; providing the 31 

contents of the overview; amending ss. 1011.01 and 32 

1011.03, F.S.; conforming cross-references; amending 33 

s. 1011.035, F.S.; requiring each district school 34 

board to post on its website certain graphical 35 

representations and a link to a certain web-based tool 36 

on the department’s website; providing requirements 37 

for such graphical representations; amending s. 38 

1011.051, F.S.; requiring a district school board to 39 

limit certain expenditures by a specified amount if 40 

certain financial conditions exist for a specified 41 

period of time; requiring the department to contract 42 

with a third party to conduct a forensic audit under 43 

certain circumstances; requiring the results of such 44 

audit to be provided to certain entities; amending s. 45 

1011.06, F.S.; requiring each district school board to 46 

approve certain expenditures by amending its budget 47 

and provide a public explanation for such budget 48 

amendments; amending s. 1011.09, F.S.; providing 49 

certain expenditure limitations for a school district 50 

that meets specified criteria; amending s. 1011.10, 51 

F.S.; requiring certain school districts to withhold 52 

district school board member and school district 53 

superintendent salaries until certain conditions are 54 

met; amending s. 1011.60, F.S.; conforming cross-55 

references; repealing s. 1011.64, F.S., relating to 56 

school district minimum classroom expenditure 57 

requirements; amending s. 1012.23, F.S.; prohibiting a 58 



Florida Senate - 2018 SB 1804 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

22-01165A-18 20181804__ 

 Page 3 of 19  

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

school district superintendent and district school 59 

board from appointing or employing certain individuals 60 

in certain positions; providing an exception; 61 

requiring the Commission on Ethics to investigate 62 

alleged violations; providing an effective date. 63 

  64 

Be It Enacted by the Legislature of the State of Florida: 65 

 66 

Section 1. Paragraph (j) of subsection (2) of section 67 

11.45, Florida Statutes, is amended to read: 68 

11.45 Definitions; duties; authorities; reports; rules.— 69 

(2) DUTIES.—The Auditor General shall: 70 

(j) Conduct audits of local governmental entities when 71 

determined to be necessary by the Auditor General, when directed 72 

by the Legislative Auditing Committee, or when otherwise 73 

required by law. No later than 18 months after the release of 74 

the audit report, the Auditor General shall: 75 

1. Perform such appropriate followup procedures as he or 76 

she deems necessary to determine the audited entity’s progress 77 

in addressing the findings and recommendations contained within 78 

the Auditor General’s previous report. 79 

2. Perform such appropriate followup procedures to 80 

determine a district school board’s progress in addressing 81 

findings and recommendations that require corrective action 82 

contained within the Auditor General’s previous report. The 83 

Commissioner of Education shall be notified of the district 84 

school board’s progress. 85 

 86 

The Auditor General shall notify each member of the audited 87 

Florida Senate - 2018 SB 1804 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

22-01165A-18 20181804__ 

 Page 4 of 19  

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

entity’s governing body and the Legislative Auditing Committee 88 

of the results of his or her determination. 89 

 90 

The Auditor General shall perform his or her duties 91 

independently but under the general policies established by the 92 

Legislative Auditing Committee. This subsection does not limit 93 

the Auditor General’s discretionary authority to conduct other 94 

audits or engagements of governmental entities as authorized in 95 

subsection (3). 96 

Section 2. Subsection (14) of section 112.313, Florida 97 

Statutes, is amended to read: 98 

112.313 Standards of conduct for public officers, employees 99 

of agencies, and local government attorneys.— 100 

(14) LOBBYING BY FORMER LOCAL OFFICERS; PROHIBITION.—A 101 

person who has been elected to any county, municipal, special 102 

district, or school district office or appointed superintendent 103 

of a school district may not personally represent another person 104 

or entity for compensation before the government body or agency 105 

of which the person was an officer for a period of 2 years after 106 

vacating that office. For purposes of this subsection: 107 

(a) The “government body or agency” of a member of a board 108 

of county commissioners consists of the commission, the chief 109 

administrative officer or employee of the county, and their 110 

immediate support staff. 111 

(b) The “government body or agency” of any other county 112 

elected officer is the office or department headed by that 113 

officer, including all subordinate employees. 114 

(c) The “government body or agency” of an elected municipal 115 

officer consists of the governing body of the municipality, the 116 



Florida Senate - 2018 SB 1804 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

22-01165A-18 20181804__ 

 Page 5 of 19  

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

chief administrative officer or employee of the municipality, 117 

and their immediate support staff. 118 

(d) The “government body or agency” of an elected special 119 

district officer is the special district. 120 

(e) The “government body or agency” of an elected school 121 

district officer is the school district. 122 

Section 3. Subsection (1) of section 112.31455, Florida 123 

Statutes, is amended to read: 124 

112.31455 Collection methods for unpaid automatic fines for 125 

failure to timely file disclosure of financial interests.— 126 

(1) Before referring any unpaid fine accrued pursuant to s. 127 

112.3144(5) or s. 112.3145(7) to the Department of Financial 128 

Services, the commission shall attempt to determine whether the 129 

individual owing such a fine is a current public officer or 130 

current public employee. If so, the commission may notify the 131 

Chief Financial Officer or the governing body of the appropriate 132 

county, municipality, district school board, or special district 133 

of the total amount of any fine owed to the commission by such 134 

individual. 135 

(a) After receipt and verification of the notice from the 136 

commission, the Chief Financial Officer or the governing body of 137 

the county, municipality, district school board, or special 138 

district shall begin withholding the lesser of 10 percent or the 139 

maximum amount allowed under federal law from any salary-related 140 

payment. The withheld payments shall be remitted to the 141 

commission until the fine is satisfied. 142 

(b) The Chief Financial Officer or the governing body of 143 

the county, municipality, district school board, or special 144 

district may retain an amount of each withheld payment, as 145 

Florida Senate - 2018 SB 1804 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

22-01165A-18 20181804__ 

 Page 6 of 19  

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

provided in s. 77.0305, to cover the administrative costs 146 

incurred under this section. 147 

Section 4. Paragraph (e) of subsection (4) of section 148 

1001.20, Florida Statutes, is amended to read: 149 

1001.20 Department under direction of state board.— 150 

(4) The Department of Education shall establish the 151 

following offices within the Office of the Commissioner of 152 

Education which shall coordinate their activities with all other 153 

divisions and offices: 154 

(e) Office of Inspector General.—Organized using existing 155 

resources and funds and responsible for promoting 156 

accountability, efficiency, and effectiveness and detecting 157 

fraud and abuse within school districts, the Florida School for 158 

the Deaf and the Blind, and Florida College System institutions 159 

in Florida. If the Commissioner of Education determines that a 160 

district school board, the Board of Trustees for the Florida 161 

School for the Deaf and the Blind, or a Florida College System 162 

institution board of trustees is unwilling or unable to address 163 

substantiated allegations made by any person relating to waste, 164 

fraud, or financial mismanagement within the school district, 165 

the Florida School for the Deaf and the Blind, or the Florida 166 

College System institution, the office shall conduct, 167 

coordinate, or request investigations into such substantiated 168 

allegations. The office shall investigate allegations or reports 169 

of possible fraud or abuse against a district school board made 170 

by any member of the Cabinet; the presiding officer of either 171 

house of the Legislature; a chair of a substantive or 172 

appropriations committee with jurisdiction; or a member of the 173 

board for which an investigation is sought. The office shall 174 



Florida Senate - 2018 SB 1804 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

22-01165A-18 20181804__ 

 Page 7 of 19  

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

have access to all information and personnel necessary to 175 

perform its duties and shall have all of its current powers, 176 

duties, and responsibilities authorized in s. 20.055. 177 

Section 5. Subsection (1) of section 1001.39, Florida 178 

Statutes, is amended to read: 179 

1001.39 District school board members; travel expenses.— 180 

(1) In addition to the salary provided in s. 1001.395, each 181 

member of a district school board shall be allowed, from the 182 

district school fund, reimbursement of travel expenses as 183 

authorized in s. 112.061, except as provided that in subsection 184 

(2). any travel outside the district requires prior approval by 185 

the district school board to confirm that such travel is for 186 

official business of the school district and complies with shall 187 

also be governed by the rules of the State Board of Education. 188 

Section 6. Subsection (3) of section 1001.395, Florida 189 

Statutes, is amended to read: 190 

1001.395 District school board members; compensation.— 191 

(3) Notwithstanding the provisions of this section and s. 192 

145.19, for the 2010-2011 fiscal year, the salary of each 193 

district school board member shall be the amount calculated 194 

pursuant to subsection (1) or the district’s beginning salary 195 

for teachers who hold baccalaureate degrees, whichever is less. 196 

Section 7. Subsections (6) and (7), paragraph (l) of 197 

subsection (12), and paragraph (b) of subsection (17) of section 198 

1001.42, Florida Statutes, are amended to read: 199 

1001.42 Powers and duties of district school board.—The 200 

district school board, acting as a board, shall exercise all 201 

powers and perform all duties listed below: 202 

(6) STANDARDS OF ETHICAL CONDUCT FOR INSTRUCTIONAL 203 

Florida Senate - 2018 SB 1804 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

22-01165A-18 20181804__ 

 Page 8 of 19  

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

PERSONNEL, ADMINISTRATIVE PERSONNEL, AND SCHOOL OFFICERS 204 

ADMINISTRATORS.—Adopt policies establishing standards of ethical 205 

conduct for instructional personnel, administrative personnel, 206 

and school officers administrators. The policies must require 207 

all instructional personnel, administrative personnel, and 208 

school officers administrators, as defined in s. 1012.01, to 209 

complete training on the standards; establish the duty of 210 

instructional personnel, administrative personnel, and school 211 

officers administrators to report, and procedures for reporting, 212 

alleged misconduct by other instructional or administrative 213 

personnel and school officers school administrators which 214 

affects the health, safety, or welfare of a student; and include 215 

an explanation of the liability protections provided under ss. 216 

39.203 and 768.095. A district school board, or any of its 217 

employees, may not enter into a confidentiality agreement 218 

regarding terminated or dismissed instructional or 219 

administrative personnel or school officers administrators, or 220 

personnel or administrators who resign in lieu of termination, 221 

based in whole or in part on misconduct that affects the health, 222 

safety, or welfare of a student, and may not provide 223 

instructional personnel, administrative personnel, or school 224 

officers administrators with employment references or discuss 225 

the personnel’s or officers’ administrators’ performance with 226 

prospective employers in another educational setting, without 227 

disclosing the personnel’s or officers’ administrators’ 228 

misconduct. Any part of an agreement or contract that has the 229 

purpose or effect of concealing misconduct by instructional 230 

personnel, administrative personnel, or school officers 231 

administrators which affects the health, safety, or welfare of a 232 



Florida Senate - 2018 SB 1804 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

22-01165A-18 20181804__ 

 Page 9 of 19  

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

student is void, is contrary to public policy, and may not be 233 

enforced. 234 

(7) DISQUALIFICATION FROM EMPLOYMENT.—Disqualify 235 

instructional personnel and administrative personnel school 236 

administrators, as defined in s. 1012.01, from employment in any 237 

position that requires direct contact with students if the 238 

personnel or administrators are ineligible for such employment 239 

under s. 1012.315. An elected or appointed school board official 240 

forfeits his or her salary for 1 year if: 241 

(a) The school board official knowingly signs and transmits 242 

to any state official a report of alleged misconduct by 243 

instructional personnel or administrative personnel school 244 

administrators which affects the health, safety, or welfare of a 245 

student and the school board official knows the report to be 246 

false or incorrect; or 247 

(b) The school board official knowingly fails to adopt 248 

policies that require instructional personnel and administrative 249 

personnel school administrators to report alleged misconduct by 250 

other instructional personnel and administrative personnel 251 

school administrators, or that require the investigation of all 252 

reports of alleged misconduct by instructional personnel and 253 

administrative personnel school administrators, if the 254 

misconduct affects the health, safety, or welfare of a student. 255 

(12) FINANCE.—Take steps to assure students adequate 256 

educational facilities through the financial procedure 257 

authorized in chapters 1010 and 1011 and as prescribed below: 258 

(l) Internal auditor.—May or, in the case of a school 259 

district receiving annual federal, state, and local funds in 260 

excess of $500 million, shall employ an internal auditor. The 261 

Florida Senate - 2018 SB 1804 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

22-01165A-18 20181804__ 

 Page 10 of 19  

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

duties of the internal auditor shall include oversight of every 262 

functional and program area of the school system. 263 

1. The internal auditor shall to perform ongoing financial 264 

verification of the financial records of the school district, a 265 

comprehensive risk assessment of all areas of the school system 266 

every 5 years, and other audits and reviews as the district 267 

school board directs for determining: 268 

a. The adequacy of internal controls designed to prevent 269 

and detect fraud, waste, and abuse. 270 

b. Compliance with applicable laws, rules, contracts, grant 271 

agreements, district school board-approved policies, and best 272 

practices. 273 

c. The efficiency of operations. 274 

d. The reliability of financial records and reports. 275 

e. The safeguarding of assets. 276 

f. Financial solvency. 277 

g. Projected revenues and expenditures. 278 

h. The rate of change in the general fund balance. 279 

2. The internal auditor shall prepare audit reports of his 280 

or her findings and report directly to the district school board 281 

or its designee. 282 

3. Any person responsible for furnishing or producing any 283 

book, record, paper, document, data, or sufficient information 284 

necessary to conduct a proper audit or examination which the 285 

internal auditor is by law authorized to perform is subject to 286 

the provisions of s. 11.47(3) and (4). 287 

(17) PUBLIC INFORMATION AND PARENTAL INVOLVEMENT PROGRAM.— 288 

(b) Adopt rules to strengthen family involvement and 289 

empowerment pursuant to s. 1002.23. The rules shall be developed 290 



Florida Senate - 2018 SB 1804 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

22-01165A-18 20181804__ 

 Page 11 of 19  

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

in collaboration with administrative personnel school 291 

administrators, parents, teachers, and community partners. 292 

Section 8. Subsection (2) of section 1010.20, Florida 293 

Statutes, is amended to read: 294 

1010.20 Cost accounting and reporting for school 295 

districts.— 296 

(2) COST REPORTING.— 297 

(a) Each district shall report on a district-aggregate 298 

basis expenditures for inservice training pursuant to s. 299 

1011.62(3) and for categorical programs as provided in s. 300 

1011.62(6). 301 

(b) Each district shall report to the department on a 302 

school-by-school and on an aggregate district basis expenditures 303 

for: 304 

1. Each program funded in s. 1011.62(1)(c). 305 

2. Total operating costs as reported pursuant to s. 306 

1010.215. 307 

3. Expenditures for classroom instruction pursuant to the 308 

calculation in s. 1010.215(4)(b)1. and 2. 309 

(c) The department shall: 310 

1. Categorize all public schools and districts into 311 

appropriate groups based primarily on average full-time 312 

equivalent student enrollment as reported on the most recent 313 

student membership survey under s. 1011.62 and in state board 314 

rule to determine groups of peer schools and districts. 315 

2. Annually calculate for each public school, district, and 316 

for the entire state, the percentage of classroom expenditures 317 

to total operating expenditures reported in subparagraphs (b)2. 318 

and 3. The results shall be categorized pursuant to this 319 

Florida Senate - 2018 SB 1804 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

22-01165A-18 20181804__ 

 Page 12 of 19  

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

paragraph. 320 

3. Annually calculate for all public schools, districts, 321 

and the state, the average percentage of classroom expenditures 322 

to total operating expenditures reported in subparagraphs (b)2. 323 

and 3. The results shall be categorized pursuant to this 324 

paragraph. 325 

4. Develop a web-based fiscal transparency tool that 326 

identifies public schools and districts that produce high 327 

academic achievement based on the ratio of classroom instruction 328 

expenditures to total expenditures. The fiscal transparency tool 329 

shall combine the data calculated pursuant to this paragraph 330 

with the student performance measurements calculated pursuant to 331 

s. 1012.34(7) to determine the financial efficiency of each 332 

public school and district. The results shall be displayed in an 333 

easy to use format that enables the user to compare performance 334 

among public schools and districts. 335 

(d)(c) The Commissioner of Education shall present to the 336 

Legislature, prior to the opening of the regular session each 337 

year, a district-by-district report of the expenditures reported 338 

pursuant to paragraphs (a) and (b). The report shall include 339 

total expenditures, a detailed analysis showing expenditures for 340 

each program, and such other data as may be useful for 341 

management of the education system. The Commissioner of 342 

Education shall also compute cost factors relative to the base 343 

student allocation for each funded program in s. 1011.62(1)(c). 344 

Section 9. Subsection (2) of section 1010.30, Florida 345 

Statutes, is amended to read: 346 

1010.30 Audits required.— 347 

(2) If an audit contains a significant deficiency or 348 



Florida Senate - 2018 SB 1804 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

22-01165A-18 20181804__ 

 Page 13 of 19  

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

material weakness finding, the district school board, the 349 

Florida College System institution board of trustees, or the 350 

university board of trustees shall conduct an audit overview 351 

during a public meeting. The audit overview shall describe the 352 

corrective action to be taken and a timeline for completion of 353 

such action. 354 

Section 10. Paragraph (a) of subsection (3) of section 355 

1011.01, Florida Statutes, is amended to read: 356 

1011.01 Budget system established.— 357 

(3)(a) Each district school board and each Florida College 358 

System institution board of trustees shall prepare, adopt, and 359 

submit to the Commissioner of Education an annual operating 360 

budget. Operating budgets shall be prepared and submitted in 361 

accordance with the provisions of law, rules of the State Board 362 

of Education, the General Appropriations Act, and for district 363 

school boards in accordance with the provisions of s. 200.065 364 

ss. 200.065 and 1011.64. 365 

Section 11. Subsection (2) of section 1011.03, Florida 366 

Statutes, is amended to read: 367 

1011.03 Public hearings; budget to be submitted to 368 

Department of Education.— 369 

(2) The advertisement of a district that has been required 370 

by the Legislature to increase classroom expenditures pursuant 371 

to s. 1011.64 must include the following statement: 372 

“This proposed budget reflects an increase in classroom 373 

expenditures as a percent of total current operating 374 

expenditures of XX percent over the (previous fiscal year) 375 

fiscal year. This increase in classroom expenditures is required 376 

by the Legislature because the district has performed below the 377 

Florida Senate - 2018 SB 1804 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

22-01165A-18 20181804__ 

 Page 14 of 19  

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

required performance standard on XX of XX student performance 378 

standards for the (previous school year) school year. In order 379 

to achieve the legislatively required level of classroom 380 

expenditures as a percentage of total operating expenditures, 381 

the proposed budget includes an increase in overall classroom 382 

expenditures of $XX,XXX,XXX above the amount spent for this same 383 

purpose during the (previous fiscal year) fiscal year. In order 384 

to achieve improved student academic performance, this proposed 385 

increase is being budgeted for the following activities: 386 

...(list activities and amount budgeted)....” 387 

Section 12. Subsection (2) of section 1011.035, Florida 388 

Statutes, is amended, and paragraph (d) is added to subsection 389 

(4) of that section, to read: 390 

1011.035 School district fiscal budget transparency.— 391 

(2) Each district school board shall post on its website a 392 

plain language version of each proposed, tentative, and official 393 

budget which describes each budget item in terms that are easily 394 

understandable to the public and includes graphical 395 

representations, for each public school within the district and 396 

for the school district, of the following: 397 

(a) Summary financial efficiency data. 398 

(b) Fiscal trend information for the previous 3 years on: 399 

1. The ratio of full-time equivalent students to full-time 400 

equivalent instructional personnel. 401 

2. The ratio of full-time equivalent students to full-time 402 

equivalent administrative personnel. 403 

3. The total operating expenditures per full-time 404 

equivalent student. 405 

4. The total instructional expenditures per full-time 406 



Florida Senate - 2018 SB 1804 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

22-01165A-18 20181804__ 

 Page 15 of 19  

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

equivalent student. 407 

5. The general administrative expenditures as a percentage 408 

of the total budget. 409 

6. The rate of change in the general fund’s ending fund 410 

balance not classified as restricted. 411 

 412 

This information must be prominently posted on the school 413 

district’s website in a manner that is readily accessible to the 414 

public. 415 

(4) The website should contain links to: 416 

(d) The web-based fiscal transparency tool developed by the 417 

department pursuant to s. 1010.20 to enable taxpayers to 418 

evaluate the financial efficiency of the school district and 419 

compare the financial efficiency of the school district with 420 

other similarly situated school districts. 421 

Section 13. Subsections (1) and (2) of section 1011.051, 422 

Florida Statutes, are amended to read: 423 

1011.051 Guidelines for general funds.—The district school 424 

board shall maintain a general fund ending fund balance that is 425 

sufficient to address normal contingencies. 426 

(1) If at any time the portion of the general fund’s ending 427 

fund balance not classified as restricted, committed, or 428 

nonspendable in the district’s approved operating budget is 429 

projected to fall below 3 percent of projected general fund 430 

revenues during the current fiscal year, the superintendent 431 

shall provide written notification to the district school board 432 

and the Commissioner of Education. If such financial condition 433 

exists for 2 consecutive fiscal years, the superintendent shall 434 

reduce the district’s administration expenditures reported 435 

Florida Senate - 2018 SB 1804 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

22-01165A-18 20181804__ 

 Page 16 of 19  

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

pursuant to s. 1010.215(4)(a) in proportion to the reduction in 436 

the general fund’s ending balance or the reduction in student 437 

enrollment, whichever is greater. 438 

(2)(a) If at any time the portion of the general fund’s 439 

ending fund balance not classified as restricted, committed, or 440 

nonspendable in the district’s approved operating budget is 441 

projected to fall below 2 percent of projected general fund 442 

revenues during the current fiscal year, the superintendent 443 

shall provide written notification to the district school board 444 

and the Commissioner of Education. Within 14 days after 445 

receiving such notification, if the commissioner determines that 446 

the district does not have a plan that is reasonably anticipated 447 

to avoid a financial emergency as determined pursuant to s. 448 

218.503, the commissioner shall appoint a financial emergency 449 

board that shall operate under the requirements, powers, and 450 

duties specified in s. 218.503(3)(g). 451 

(b) If any of the conditions identified in s. 218.503(1) 452 

existed in the 2015-2016 school year or thereafter, the 453 

department shall contract with an independent third party to 454 

conduct a forensic audit of all accounts and records which shall 455 

include a financial solvency analysis that encompasses 456 

techniques to prevent and detect fraud, waste, and abuse. The 457 

forensic audit must also collect evidence to determine if any of 458 

the conditions identified in s. 1011.10 have occurred. The 459 

results of the forensic audit shall be provided to the district 460 

school board, the department, the Legislative Auditing 461 

Committee, and the district’s financial emergency board, if 462 

applicable. 463 

Section 14. Subsection (2) of section 1011.06, Florida 464 



Florida Senate - 2018 SB 1804 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

22-01165A-18 20181804__ 

 Page 17 of 19  

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

Statutes, is amended to read: 465 

1011.06 Expenditures.— 466 

(2) EXPENDITURES FROM DISTRICT AND OTHER FUNDS.—467 

Expenditures from district and all other funds available for the 468 

public school program of any district shall be authorized by law 469 

and must be in accordance with procedures prescribed by the 470 

district school board. A district school board may establish 471 

policies that allow expenditures to exceed the amount budgeted 472 

by function and object, provided that the district school board 473 

complies with s. 1011.09(4) and approves the expenditure by 474 

amending and amends the budget at the next scheduled public 475 

meeting. The district school board must provide a full 476 

explanation of any amendments at the public meeting within 477 

timelines established by school board policies. 478 

Section 15. Subsection (4) of section 1011.09, Florida 479 

Statutes, is amended to read: 480 

1011.09 Expenditure of funds by district school board.—All 481 

state funds apportioned to the credit of any district constitute 482 

a part of the district school fund of that district and must be 483 

budgeted and expended under authority of the district school 484 

board subject to the provisions of law and rules of the State 485 

Board of Education. 486 

(4) If the financial conditions in s. 1011.051 exist, a 487 

district school board During the 2009-2010 fiscal year, unless 488 

otherwise specifically approved by the district school board, 489 

public funds may not make expenditures be expended for out-of-490 

state travel outside of the district or cellular phones, 491 

cellular phone service, personal digital assistants, or any 492 

other mobile wireless communication device or service, including 493 

Florida Senate - 2018 SB 1804 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

22-01165A-18 20181804__ 

 Page 18 of 19  

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

text messaging, whether through purchasing, leasing, 494 

contracting, or any other method, while the financial conditions 495 

in s. 1011.051 exist. The expenditure of public funds for art 496 

programs, music programs, sports programs, and extracurricular 497 

programs for students is a higher priority than expending funds 498 

for employee travel and cellular phones. 499 

Section 16. Subsection (3) is added to section 1011.10, 500 

Florida Statutes, to read: 501 

1011.10 Penalty.— 502 

(3) If any of the conditions identified in s. 218.503(1) 503 

exist within a school district, the salary of each district 504 

school board member and district superintendent, calculated 505 

pursuant to ss. 1001.395 and 1001.47, shall be withheld until 506 

the conditions are corrected. 507 

Section 17. Subsection (8) of section 1011.60, Florida 508 

Statutes, is amended to read: 509 

1011.60 Minimum requirements of the Florida Education 510 

Finance Program.—Each district which participates in the state 511 

appropriations for the Florida Education Finance Program shall 512 

provide evidence of its effort to maintain an adequate school 513 

program throughout the district and shall meet at least the 514 

following requirements: 515 

(8) MINIMUM CLASSROOM EXPENDITURE REQUIREMENTS.—Comply with 516 

the minimum classroom expenditure requirements and associated 517 

reporting pursuant to s. 1011.64. 518 

Section 18. Section 1011.64, Florida Statutes, is repealed. 519 

Section 19. Subsection (2) of section 1012.23, Florida 520 

Statutes, is amended to read: 521 

1012.23 School district personnel policies.— 522 



Florida Senate - 2018 SB 1804 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

22-01165A-18 20181804__ 

 Page 19 of 19  

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

(2) Neither the district school superintendent nor a 523 

district school board member may appoint or not employ or 524 

appoint a relative, as defined in s. 112.3135, to work under the 525 

direct supervision of that district school board member or 526 

district school superintendent. The limitations of this 527 

subsection do not apply to employees appointed or employed 528 

before the election or appointment of a school board member or 529 

district school superintendent. The Commission on Ethics shall 530 

accept and investigate any alleged violations of this section 531 

pursuant to the procedures contained in ss. 112.322-112.3241. 532 

Section 20. This act shall take effect July 1, 2018. 533 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. SB 1804 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì419978mÎ419978 

 

Page 1 of 22 

2/19/2018 10:22:35 AM 581-03317A-18 

LEGISLATIVE ACTION 

Senate 

Comm: FAV 

02/20/2018 

 

 

 

 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

 

House 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Committee on Education (Stargel) recommended the following: 

 

Senate Amendment (with title amendment) 1 

 2 

Delete everything after the enacting clause 3 

and insert: 4 

Section 1. Paragraph (k) of subsection (2) of section 5 

11.45, Florida Statutes, is redesignated as paragraph (l), and a 6 

new paragraph (k) is added to that subsection, to read: 7 

11.45 Definitions; duties; authorities; reports; rules.— 8 

(2) DUTIES.—The Auditor General shall: 9 

(k) Contact each district school board, as defined in s. 10 

1003.01(1), with the findings and recommendations contained 11 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. SB 1804 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì419978mÎ419978 

 

Page 2 of 22 

2/19/2018 10:22:35 AM 581-03317A-18 

within the Auditor General’s previous operational audit report. 12 

The district school board shall provide the Auditor General with 13 

evidence of the initiation of corrective action within 45 days 14 

after the date it is requested by the Auditor General and 15 

evidence of completion of corrective action within 180 days 16 

after the date it is requested by the Auditor General. If the 17 

district school board fails to comply with the Auditor General’s 18 

request or is unable to take corrective action within the 19 

required timeframe, the Auditor General shall notify the 20 

Legislative Auditing Committee. 21 

 22 

The Auditor General shall perform his or her duties 23 

independently but under the general policies established by the 24 

Legislative Auditing Committee. This subsection does not limit 25 

the Auditor General’s discretionary authority to conduct other 26 

audits or engagements of governmental entities as authorized in 27 

subsection (3). 28 

Section 2. Subsection (14) of section 112.313, Florida 29 

Statutes, is amended to read: 30 

112.313 Standards of conduct for public officers, employees 31 

of agencies, and local government attorneys.— 32 

(14) LOBBYING BY FORMER LOCAL OFFICERS; PROHIBITION.—A 33 

person who has been elected to any county, municipal, special 34 

district, or school district office or appointed superintendent 35 

of a school district may not personally represent another person 36 

or entity for compensation before the government body or agency 37 

of which the person was an officer for a period of 2 years after 38 

vacating that office. For purposes of this subsection: 39 

(a) The “government body or agency” of a member of a board 40 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. SB 1804 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì419978mÎ419978 

 

Page 3 of 22 

2/19/2018 10:22:35 AM 581-03317A-18 

of county commissioners consists of the commission, the chief 41 

administrative officer or employee of the county, and their 42 

immediate support staff. 43 

(b) The “government body or agency” of any other county 44 

elected officer is the office or department headed by that 45 

officer, including all subordinate employees. 46 

(c) The “government body or agency” of an elected municipal 47 

officer consists of the governing body of the municipality, the 48 

chief administrative officer or employee of the municipality, 49 

and their immediate support staff. 50 

(d) The “government body or agency” of an elected special 51 

district officer is the special district. 52 

(e) The “government body or agency” of an elected school 53 

district officer is the school district. 54 

Section 3. Subsection (1) of section 112.31455, Florida 55 

Statutes, is amended to read: 56 

112.31455 Collection methods for unpaid automatic fines for 57 

failure to timely file disclosure of financial interests.— 58 

(1) Before referring any unpaid fine accrued pursuant to s. 59 

112.3144(5) or s. 112.3145(7) to the Department of Financial 60 

Services, the commission shall attempt to determine whether the 61 

individual owing such a fine is a current public officer or 62 

current public employee. If so, the commission may notify the 63 

Chief Financial Officer or the governing body of the appropriate 64 

county, municipality, district school board, or special district 65 

of the total amount of any fine owed to the commission by such 66 

individual. 67 

(a) After receipt and verification of the notice from the 68 

commission, the Chief Financial Officer or the governing body of 69 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. SB 1804 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì419978mÎ419978 

 

Page 4 of 22 

2/19/2018 10:22:35 AM 581-03317A-18 

the county, municipality, district school board, or special 70 

district shall begin withholding the lesser of 10 percent or the 71 

maximum amount allowed under federal law from any salary-related 72 

payment. The withheld payments shall be remitted to the 73 

commission until the fine is satisfied. 74 

(b) The Chief Financial Officer or the governing body of 75 

the county, municipality, district school board, or special 76 

district may retain an amount of each withheld payment, as 77 

provided in s. 77.0305, to cover the administrative costs 78 

incurred under this section. 79 

Section 4. Paragraph (e) of subsection (4) of section 80 

1001.20, Florida Statutes, is amended to read: 81 

1001.20 Department under direction of state board.— 82 

(4) The Department of Education shall establish the 83 

following offices within the Office of the Commissioner of 84 

Education which shall coordinate their activities with all other 85 

divisions and offices: 86 

(e) Office of Inspector General.—Organized using existing 87 

resources and funds and responsible for promoting 88 

accountability, efficiency, and effectiveness and detecting 89 

fraud and abuse within school districts, the Florida School for 90 

the Deaf and the Blind, and Florida College System institutions 91 

in Florida. If the Commissioner of Education determines that a 92 

district school board, the Board of Trustees for the Florida 93 

School for the Deaf and the Blind, or a Florida College System 94 

institution board of trustees is unwilling or unable to address 95 

substantiated allegations made by any person relating to waste, 96 

fraud, or financial mismanagement within the school district, 97 

the Florida School for the Deaf and the Blind, or the Florida 98 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. SB 1804 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì419978mÎ419978 

 

Page 5 of 22 

2/19/2018 10:22:35 AM 581-03317A-18 

College System institution, the office shall conduct, 99 

coordinate, or request investigations into such substantiated 100 

allegations. The office shall investigate allegations or reports 101 

of possible fraud or abuse against a district school board made 102 

by any member of the Cabinet; the presiding officer of either 103 

house of the Legislature; a chair of a substantive or 104 

appropriations committee with jurisdiction; or a member of the 105 

board for which an investigation is sought. The office shall 106 

have access to all information and personnel necessary to 107 

perform its duties and shall have all of its current powers, 108 

duties, and responsibilities authorized in s. 20.055. 109 

Section 5. Subsection (1) of section 1001.39, Florida 110 

Statutes, is amended to read: 111 

1001.39 District school board members; travel expenses.— 112 

(1) In addition to the salary provided in s. 1001.395, each 113 

member of a district school board shall be allowed, from the 114 

district school fund, reimbursement of travel expenses as 115 

authorized in s. 112.061, except as provided that in subsection 116 

(2). any travel outside the district that exceeds $500 requires 117 

prior approval by the district school board to confirm that such 118 

travel is for official business of the school district and 119 

complies with shall also be governed by the rules of the State 120 

Board of Education. Any request for travel outside the state 121 

must include an itemized list detailing all anticipated travel 122 

expenses, including, but not limited to, the anticipated costs 123 

of all means of travel, lodging, and subsistence. Immediately 124 

preceding a request, the public must have an opportunity to 125 

speak on the specific travel agenda item. 126 

Section 6. Subsection (3) of section 1001.395, Florida 127 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. SB 1804 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì419978mÎ419978 

 

Page 6 of 22 

2/19/2018 10:22:35 AM 581-03317A-18 

Statutes, is amended to read: 128 

1001.395 District school board members; compensation.— 129 

(3) Notwithstanding the provisions of this section and s. 130 

145.19, for the 2010-2011 fiscal year, the salary of each 131 

district school board member shall be the amount calculated 132 

pursuant to subsection (1) or the district’s beginning salary 133 

for teachers who hold baccalaureate degrees, whichever is less. 134 

Section 7. Subsections (6) and (7), paragraphs (b) and (l) 135 

of subsection (12), and paragraph (b) of subsection (17) of 136 

section 1001.42, Florida Statutes, are amended to read: 137 

1001.42 Powers and duties of district school board.—The 138 

district school board, acting as a board, shall exercise all 139 

powers and perform all duties listed below: 140 

(6) STANDARDS OF ETHICAL CONDUCT FOR INSTRUCTIONAL 141 

PERSONNEL, ADMINISTRATIVE PERSONNEL, AND SCHOOL OFFICERS 142 

ADMINISTRATORS.—Adopt policies establishing standards of ethical 143 

conduct for instructional personnel, administrative personnel, 144 

and school officers administrators. The policies must require 145 

all instructional personnel, administrative personnel, and 146 

school officers administrators, as defined in s. 1012.01, to 147 

complete training on the standards; establish the duty of 148 

instructional personnel, administrative personnel, and school 149 

officers administrators to report, and procedures for reporting, 150 

alleged misconduct by other instructional or administrative 151 

personnel and school officers administrators which affects the 152 

health, safety, or welfare of a student; and include an 153 

explanation of the liability protections provided under ss. 154 

39.203 and 768.095. A district school board, or any of its 155 

employees, may not enter into a confidentiality agreement 156 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. SB 1804 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì419978mÎ419978 

 

Page 7 of 22 

2/19/2018 10:22:35 AM 581-03317A-18 

regarding terminated or dismissed instructional or 157 

administrative personnel or school officers administrators, or 158 

personnel or administrators who resign in lieu of termination, 159 

based in whole or in part on misconduct that affects the health, 160 

safety, or welfare of a student, and may not provide 161 

instructional personnel, administrative personnel, or school 162 

officers administrators with employment references or discuss 163 

the personnel’s or officers’ administrators’ performance with 164 

prospective employers in another educational setting, without 165 

disclosing the personnel’s or officers’ administrators’ 166 

misconduct. Any part of an agreement or contract that has the 167 

purpose or effect of concealing misconduct by instructional 168 

personnel, administrative personnel, or school officers 169 

administrators which affects the health, safety, or welfare of a 170 

student is void, is contrary to public policy, and may not be 171 

enforced. 172 

(7) DISQUALIFICATION FROM EMPLOYMENT.—Disqualify 173 

instructional personnel and administrative personnel school 174 

administrators, as defined in s. 1012.01, from employment in any 175 

position that requires direct contact with students if the 176 

personnel or administrators are ineligible for such employment 177 

under s. 1012.315. An elected or appointed school board official 178 

forfeits his or her salary for 1 year if: 179 

(a) The school board official knowingly signs and transmits 180 

to any state official a report of alleged misconduct by 181 

instructional personnel or administrative personnel school 182 

administrators which affects the health, safety, or welfare of a 183 

student and the school board official knows the report to be 184 

false or incorrect; or 185 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. SB 1804 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì419978mÎ419978 

 

Page 8 of 22 

2/19/2018 10:22:35 AM 581-03317A-18 

(b) The school board official knowingly fails to adopt 186 

policies that require instructional personnel and administrative 187 

personnel school administrators to report alleged misconduct by 188 

other instructional personnel and administrative personnel 189 

school administrators, or that require the investigation of all 190 

reports of alleged misconduct by instructional personnel and 191 

administrative personnel school administrators, if the 192 

misconduct affects the health, safety, or welfare of a student. 193 

(12) FINANCE.—Take steps to assure students adequate 194 

educational facilities through the financial procedure 195 

authorized in chapters 1010 and 1011 and as prescribed below: 196 

(b) Annual budget.— 197 

1. Cause to be prepared, adopt, and have submitted to the 198 

Department of Education as required by law and rules of the 199 

State Board of Education, the annual school budget, such budget 200 

to be so prepared and executed as to promote the improvement of 201 

the district school system. 202 

2. An individual school board member may request and shall 203 

receive any proposed, tentative, and official budget documents, 204 

including all supporting and background information. 205 

(l) Internal auditor.—May or, in the case of a school 206 

district receiving annual federal, state, and local funds in 207 

excess of $500 million, shall employ an internal auditor. The 208 

duties of the internal auditor shall include oversight of every 209 

functional and program area of the school system. 210 

1. The internal auditor shall to perform ongoing financial 211 

verification of the financial records of the school district, a 212 

comprehensive risk assessment of all areas of the school system 213 

every 5 years, and other audits and reviews as the district 214 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. SB 1804 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì419978mÎ419978 

 

Page 9 of 22 

2/19/2018 10:22:35 AM 581-03317A-18 

school board directs for determining: 215 

a. The adequacy of internal controls designed to prevent 216 

and detect fraud, waste, and abuse. 217 

b. Compliance with applicable laws, rules, contracts, grant 218 

agreements, district school board-approved policies, and best 219 

practices. 220 

c. The efficiency of operations. 221 

d. The reliability of financial records and reports. 222 

e. The safeguarding of assets. 223 

f. Financial solvency. 224 

g. Projected revenues and expenditures. 225 

h. The rate of change in the general fund balance. 226 

2. The internal auditor shall prepare audit reports of his 227 

or her findings and report directly to the district school board 228 

or its designee. 229 

3. Any person responsible for furnishing or producing any 230 

book, record, paper, document, data, or sufficient information 231 

necessary to conduct a proper audit or examination which the 232 

internal auditor is by law authorized to perform is subject to 233 

the provisions of s. 11.47(3) and (4). 234 

(17) PUBLIC INFORMATION AND PARENTAL INVOLVEMENT PROGRAM.— 235 

(b) Adopt rules to strengthen family involvement and 236 

empowerment pursuant to s. 1002.23. The rules shall be developed 237 

in collaboration with administrative personnel school 238 

administrators, parents, teachers, and community partners. 239 

Section 8. Subsection (2) of section 1010.20, Florida 240 

Statutes, is amended to read: 241 

1010.20 Cost accounting and reporting for school 242 

districts.— 243 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. SB 1804 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì419978mÎ419978 

 

Page 10 of 22 

2/19/2018 10:22:35 AM 581-03317A-18 

(2) COST REPORTING.— 244 

(a) Each district shall report on a district-aggregate 245 

basis expenditures for inservice training pursuant to s. 246 

1011.62(3) and for categorical programs as provided in s. 247 

1011.62(6). 248 

(b) Each district shall report to the department on a 249 

school-by-school and on an aggregate district basis expenditures 250 

for: 251 

1. Each program funded in s. 1011.62(1)(c). 252 

2. Total operating costs as reported pursuant to s. 253 

1010.215. 254 

3. Expenditures for classroom instruction pursuant to the 255 

calculation in s. 1010.215(4)(b)1. and 2. 256 

(c) The department shall: 257 

1. Categorize all public schools and districts into 258 

appropriate groups based primarily on average full-time 259 

equivalent student enrollment as reported on the most recent 260 

student membership survey under s. 1011.62 and in state board 261 

rule to determine groups of peer schools and districts. 262 

2. Annually calculate for each public school, district, and 263 

for the entire state, the percentage of classroom expenditures 264 

to total operating costs expenditures reported in subparagraphs 265 

(b)2. and 3. The results shall be categorized pursuant to this 266 

paragraph. 267 

3. Annually calculate for all public schools, districts, 268 

and the state, the average percentage of classroom expenditures 269 

to total operating costs and expenditures reported in 270 

subparagraphs (b)2. and 3. The results shall be categorized 271 

pursuant to this paragraph. 272 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. SB 1804 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì419978mÎ419978 

 

Page 11 of 22 

2/19/2018 10:22:35 AM 581-03317A-18 

4. Develop a web-based fiscal transparency tool that 273 

identifies public schools and districts that produce high 274 

academic achievement based on the ratio of classroom instruction 275 

expenditures to total expenditures. The fiscal transparency tool 276 

shall combine the data calculated pursuant to this paragraph 277 

with the student performance measurements calculated pursuant to 278 

s. 1012.34(7) to determine the financial efficiency of each 279 

public school and district. The results shall be displayed in an 280 

easy-to-use format that enables the user to compare performance 281 

among public schools and districts. 282 

(d)(c) The Commissioner of Education shall present to the 283 

Legislature, prior to the opening of the regular session each 284 

year, a district-by-district report of the expenditures reported 285 

pursuant to paragraphs (a) and (b). The report shall include 286 

total expenditures, a detailed analysis showing expenditures for 287 

each program, and such other data as may be useful for 288 

management of the education system. The Commissioner of 289 

Education shall also compute cost factors relative to the base 290 

student allocation for each funded program in s. 1011.62(1)(c). 291 

Section 9. Subsection (2) of section 1010.30, Florida 292 

Statutes, is amended to read: 293 

1010.30 Audits required.— 294 

(2) If an audit contains a significant deficiency or 295 

material weakness finding, the district school board, the 296 

Florida College System institution board of trustees, or the 297 

university board of trustees shall conduct an audit overview 298 

during a public meeting. The audit overview shall describe the 299 

corrective action to be taken and a timeline for completion of 300 

such action. 301 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. SB 1804 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì419978mÎ419978 

 

Page 12 of 22 

2/19/2018 10:22:35 AM 581-03317A-18 

Section 10. Paragraph (a) of subsection (3) of section 302 

1011.01, Florida Statutes, is amended to read: 303 

1011.01 Budget system established.— 304 

(3)(a) Each district school board and each Florida College 305 

System institution board of trustees shall prepare, adopt, and 306 

submit to the Commissioner of Education an annual operating 307 

budget. Operating budgets shall be prepared and submitted in 308 

accordance with the provisions of law, rules of the State Board 309 

of Education, the General Appropriations Act, and for district 310 

school boards in accordance with the provisions of s. 200.065 311 

ss. 200.065 and 1011.64. 312 

Section 11. Subsection (2) of section 1011.03, Florida 313 

Statutes, is amended to read: 314 

1011.03 Public hearings; budget to be submitted to 315 

Department of Education.— 316 

(2) The advertisement of a district that has been required 317 

by the Legislature to increase classroom expenditures pursuant 318 

to s. 1011.64 must include the following statement: 319 

“This proposed budget reflects an increase in classroom 320 

expenditures as a percent of total current operating 321 

expenditures of XX percent over the (previous fiscal year) 322 

fiscal year. This increase in classroom expenditures is required 323 

by the Legislature because the district has performed below the 324 

required performance standard on XX of XX student performance 325 

standards for the (previous school year) school year. In order 326 

to achieve the legislatively required level of classroom 327 

expenditures as a percentage of total operating expenditures, 328 

the proposed budget includes an increase in overall classroom 329 

expenditures of $XX,XXX,XXX above the amount spent for this same 330 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. SB 1804 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì419978mÎ419978 

 

Page 13 of 22 

2/19/2018 10:22:35 AM 581-03317A-18 

purpose during the (previous fiscal year) fiscal year. In order 331 

to achieve improved student academic performance, this proposed 332 

increase is being budgeted for the following activities: 333 

...(list activities and amount budgeted)....” 334 

Section 12. Section 1011.035, Florida Statutes, is amended 335 

to read: 336 

1011.035 School district fiscal budget transparency.— 337 

(1) It is important for school districts to provide 338 

budgetary transparency to enable taxpayers, parents, and 339 

education advocates to obtain school district budget and related 340 

information in a manner that is simply explained and easily 341 

understandable. Budgetary transparency leads to more responsible 342 

spending, more citizen involvement, and improved accountability. 343 

A budget that is not transparent, accessible, and accurate 344 

cannot be properly analyzed, its implementation thoroughly 345 

monitored, or its outcomes evaluated. 346 

(2) Each district school board shall post on its website a 347 

plain language version of each proposed, tentative, and official 348 

budget which describes each budget item in terms that are easily 349 

understandable to the public and includes: 350 

(a) Graphical representations, for each public school 351 

within the district and for the school district, of the 352 

following: 353 

1. Summary financial efficiency data. 354 

2. Fiscal trend information for the previous 3 years on: 355 

a. The ratio of full-time equivalent students to full-time 356 

equivalent instructional personnel. 357 

b. The ratio of full-time equivalent students to full-time 358 

equivalent administrative personnel. 359 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. SB 1804 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì419978mÎ419978 

 

Page 14 of 22 

2/19/2018 10:22:35 AM 581-03317A-18 

c. The total operating expenditures per full-time 360 

equivalent student. 361 

d. The total instructional expenditures per full-time 362 

equivalent student. 363 

e. The general administrative expenditures as a percentage 364 

of total budget. 365 

f. The rate of change in the general fund’s ending fund 366 

balance not classified as restricted. 367 

(b) A link to the web-based fiscal transparency tool 368 

developed by the department pursuant to s. 1010.20 to enable 369 

taxpayers to evaluate the financial efficiency of the school 370 

district and compare the financial efficiency of the school 371 

district with other similarly situated school districts. 372 

 373 

This information must be prominently posted on the school 374 

district’s website in a manner that is readily accessible to the 375 

public. 376 

(3) Each district school board is encouraged to post the 377 

following information on its website: 378 

(a) Timely information as to when a budget hearing will be 379 

conducted. 380 

(b) Each contract between the district school board and the 381 

teachers’ union. 382 

(c) Each contract between the district school board and 383 

noninstructional staff. 384 

(d) Each contract exceeding $35,000 between the school 385 

board and a vendor of services, supplies, or programs or for the 386 

purchase or lease of lands, facilities, or properties. 387 

(e) Each contract exceeding $35,000 that is an emergency 388 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. SB 1804 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì419978mÎ419978 

 

Page 15 of 22 

2/19/2018 10:22:35 AM 581-03317A-18 

procurement or is with a single source as authorized under s. 389 

287.057(3). 390 

(f) Recommendations of the citizens’ budget advisory 391 

committee. 392 

(g) Current and archived video recordings of each district 393 

school board meeting and workshop. 394 

(4) The website should contain links to: 395 

(a) Help explain or provide background information on 396 

various budget items that are required by state or federal law. 397 

(b) Allow users to navigate to related sites to view 398 

supporting details. 399 

(c) Enable taxpayers, parents, and education advocates to 400 

send e-mails asking questions about the budget and enable others 401 

to view the questions and responses. 402 

Section 13. Section 1011.051, Florida Statutes, is amended 403 

to read: 404 

1011.051 Guidelines for general funds.—The district school 405 

board shall maintain a general fund ending fund balance that is 406 

sufficient to address normal contingencies. 407 

(1) If at any time the portion of the general fund’s ending 408 

fund balance not classified as restricted, committed, or 409 

nonspendable in the district’s approved operating budget is 410 

projected to fall below 3 percent of projected general fund 411 

revenues during the current fiscal year, the superintendent 412 

shall provide written notification to the district school board 413 

and the Commissioner of Education. If such financial condition 414 

exists for 2 consecutive fiscal years, the superintendent shall 415 

reduce the district’s administrative expenditures reported 416 

pursuant to s. 1010.215(4)(a) in proportion to the reduction in 417 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. SB 1804 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì419978mÎ419978 

 

Page 16 of 22 

2/19/2018 10:22:35 AM 581-03317A-18 

the general fund’s ending balance or the reduction in student 418 

enrollment, whichever is greater. 419 

(2)(a) If at any time the portion of the general fund’s 420 

ending fund balance not classified as restricted, committed, or 421 

nonspendable in the district’s approved operating budget is 422 

projected to fall below 2 percent of projected general fund 423 

revenues during the current fiscal year, the superintendent 424 

shall provide written notification to the district school board 425 

and the Commissioner of Education. Within 14 days after 426 

receiving such notification, if the commissioner determines that 427 

the district does not have a plan that is reasonably anticipated 428 

to avoid a financial emergency as determined pursuant to s. 429 

218.503, the commissioner shall appoint a financial emergency 430 

board that shall operate under the requirements, powers, and 431 

duties specified in s. 218.503(3)(g). 432 

(b) If any of the conditions identified in s. 218.503(1) 433 

existed in the 2015-2016 school year or thereafter, the 434 

department shall contract with an independent third party to 435 

conduct an investigation of all accounts and records to 436 

determine the cause of the deficit, what efforts, if any, were 437 

made to avoid the deficit, and whether any of the conditions 438 

identified in s. 1011.10 have occurred. The investigation must 439 

include a detailed review and analysis of documents and records, 440 

including, but not limited to, budget reports, journal entries, 441 

budget methodologies, staff e-mails, hard copy records, monthly 442 

financial statements, quarterly revenue and expenditure reports, 443 

finance staff job descriptions, and minutes from meetings. The 444 

results of the investigation must include recommendations for 445 

corrective action and controls to avoid a reoccurrence of a 446 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. SB 1804 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì419978mÎ419978 

 

Page 17 of 22 

2/19/2018 10:22:35 AM 581-03317A-18 

future budget shortfall. A final report shall be provided to the 447 

district school board, the department, the Legislative Auditing 448 

Committee, and the district’s financial emergency board, if 449 

applicable. 450 

Section 14. Subsection (2) of section 1011.06, Florida 451 

Statutes, is amended to read: 452 

1011.06 Expenditures.— 453 

(2) EXPENDITURES FROM DISTRICT AND OTHER FUNDS.—454 

Expenditures from district and all other funds available for the 455 

public school program of any district shall be authorized by law 456 

and must be in accordance with procedures prescribed by the 457 

district school board. A district school board may establish 458 

policies that allow expenditures to exceed the amount budgeted 459 

by function and object, provided that the district school board 460 

complies with s. 1011.09(4) and approves the expenditure by 461 

amending and amends the budget at the next scheduled public 462 

meeting. The district school board must provide a full 463 

explanation of any amendments at the public meeting within 464 

timelines established by school board policies. 465 

Section 15. Subsection (4) of section 1011.09, Florida 466 

Statutes, is amended to read: 467 

1011.09 Expenditure of funds by district school board.—All 468 

state funds apportioned to the credit of any district constitute 469 

a part of the district school fund of that district and must be 470 

budgeted and expended under authority of the district school 471 

board subject to the provisions of law and rules of the State 472 

Board of Education. 473 

(4) If the financial conditions in s. 1011.051 exist, a 474 

district school board During the 2009-2010 fiscal year, unless 475 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. SB 1804 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì419978mÎ419978 

 

Page 18 of 22 

2/19/2018 10:22:35 AM 581-03317A-18 

otherwise specifically approved by the district school board, 476 

public funds may not make expenditures be expended for out-of-477 

state travel outside of the district or cellular phones, 478 

cellular phone service, personal digital assistants, or any 479 

other mobile wireless communication device or service, including 480 

text messaging, whether through purchasing, leasing, 481 

contracting, or any other method, while the financial conditions 482 

exist. The expenditure of public funds for art programs, music 483 

programs, sports programs, and extracurricular programs for 484 

students is a higher priority than expending funds for employee 485 

travel and cellular phones. 486 

Section 16. Subsection (3) is added to section 1011.10, 487 

Florida Statutes, to read: 488 

1011.10 Penalty.— 489 

(3) If any of the conditions identified in s. 218.503(1) 490 

exist within a school district, the salary of each district 491 

school board member and district superintendent, calculated 492 

pursuant to ss. 1001.395 and 1001.47, shall be withheld until 493 

the conditions are corrected. This subsection does not apply to 494 

a district school board member or district superintendent 495 

elected or appointed within 1 year after the identification of 496 

the conditions in s. 218.503(1) if he or she did not participate 497 

in the approval or preparation of the final school district 498 

budget adopted before the identification of such conditions. 499 

Section 17. Subsection (8) of section 1011.60, Florida 500 

Statutes, is amended to read: 501 

1011.60 Minimum requirements of the Florida Education 502 

Finance Program.—Each district which participates in the state 503 

appropriations for the Florida Education Finance Program shall 504 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. SB 1804 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì419978mÎ419978 

 

Page 19 of 22 

2/19/2018 10:22:35 AM 581-03317A-18 

provide evidence of its effort to maintain an adequate school 505 

program throughout the district and shall meet at least the 506 

following requirements: 507 

(8) MINIMUM CLASSROOM EXPENDITURE REQUIREMENTS.—Comply with 508 

the minimum classroom expenditure requirements and associated 509 

reporting pursuant to s. 1011.64. 510 

Section 18. Section 1011.64, Florida Statutes, is repealed. 511 

Section 19. Subsection (2) of section 1012.23, Florida 512 

Statutes, is amended to read: 513 

1012.23 School district personnel policies.— 514 

(2) The district school superintendent or a district school 515 

board member may not appoint or employ or appoint a relative, as 516 

defined in s. 112.3135, to work under the direct supervision of 517 

that district school board member or district school 518 

superintendent. The limitations of this subsection do not apply 519 

to employees appointed or employed before the election or 520 

appointment of a school board member or district school 521 

superintendent. The Commission on Ethics shall accept and 522 

investigate any alleged violations of this section pursuant to 523 

the procedures contained in ss. 112.322-112.3241. 524 

Section 20. Paragraph (d) of subsection (9) of section 525 

1002.395, Florida Statutes, is amended to read: 526 

1002.395 Florida Tax Credit Scholarship Program.— 527 

(9) DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION OBLIGATIONS.—The Department of 528 

Education shall: 529 

(d) Annually verify the eligibility of expenditures as 530 

provided in paragraph (6)(d) using the audit required by 531 

paragraph (6)(m) and s. 11.45(2)(l) s. 11.45(2)(k). 532 

Section 21. For the 2018-2019 fiscal year, the sum of 533 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. SB 1804 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì419978mÎ419978 

 

Page 20 of 22 

2/19/2018 10:22:35 AM 581-03317A-18 

$850,000 in nonrecurring funds from the General Revenue Fund is 534 

appropriated to the Department of Education to implement the 535 

provisions of this act. 536 

Section 22. This act shall take effect July 1, 2018. 537 

 538 

================= T I T L E  A M E N D M E N T ================ 539 

And the title is amended as follows: 540 

Delete everything before the enacting clause 541 

and insert: 542 

A bill to be entitled 543 

An act relating to school district accountability; 544 

amending s. 11.45, F.S.; revising the duties of the 545 

Auditor General; amending s. 112.313, F.S.; 546 

prohibiting former appointed district school 547 

superintendents from conducting certain lobbying 548 

activities; amending s. 112.31455, F.S.; requiring the 549 

governing body of a district school board to be 550 

notified if an officer or employee of the body owes a 551 

certain fine; requiring the governing body of a 552 

district school board to take specified actions under 553 

such circumstances; amending s. 1001.20, F.S.; 554 

requiring the Office of Inspector General to 555 

investigate certain allegations and reports made by 556 

specified individuals; amending s. 1001.39, F.S.; 557 

requiring certain district school board member travel 558 

outside of the school district to be preapproved and 559 

meet certain criteria; providing requirements for a 560 

school board member’s request for travel outside of 561 

the state; providing an opportunity for the public to 562 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. SB 1804 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì419978mÎ419978 

 

Page 21 of 22 

2/19/2018 10:22:35 AM 581-03317A-18 

speak on such travel; amending s. 1001.395, F.S.; 563 

providing that certain requirements for the salaries 564 

of district school board members apply every fiscal 565 

year, rather than one specific fiscal year; amending 566 

s. 1001.42, F.S.; providing that the standards of 567 

ethical conduct apply to administrative personnel and 568 

school officers; authorizing district school board 569 

members to request and receive specified budget 570 

information; requiring employment of internal auditors 571 

in certain school districts; revising provisions 572 

relating to the duties of such internal auditors; 573 

amending s. 1010.20, F.S.; requiring each school 574 

district to report certain expenditures to the 575 

Department of Education; providing department 576 

responsibilities; amending s. 1010.30, F.S.; requiring 577 

certain entities to provide an audit overview under 578 

certain circumstances; providing the contents of the 579 

overview; amending ss. 1011.01 and 1011.03, F.S.; 580 

conforming cross-references; amending s. 1011.035, 581 

F.S.; requiring each district school board to post on 582 

its website certain graphical representations and a 583 

link to a certain web-based tool on the department’s 584 

website; providing requirements for such graphical 585 

representations; amending s. 1011.051, F.S.; requiring 586 

a district school board to limit certain expenditures 587 

by a specified amount if certain financial conditions 588 

exist for a specified period of time; requiring the 589 

department to contract with a third party to conduct 590 

an investigation under certain circumstances; 591 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. SB 1804 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì419978mÎ419978 

 

Page 22 of 22 

2/19/2018 10:22:35 AM 581-03317A-18 

providing requirements for such investigation; 592 

requiring the results of such investigation to include 593 

certain information and be provided to certain 594 

entities; amending s. 1011.06, F.S.; requiring each 595 

district school board to approve certain expenditures 596 

by amending its budget and provide a public 597 

explanation for such budget amendments; amending s. 598 

1011.09, F.S.; providing certain expenditure 599 

limitations for a school district that meets specified 600 

criteria; amending s. 1011.10, F.S.; requiring certain 601 

school districts to withhold certain district school 602 

board member and school district superintendent 603 

salaries until certain conditions are met; amending s. 604 

1011.60, F.S.; conforming cross-references; repealing 605 

s. 1011.64, F.S., relating to school district minimum 606 

classroom expenditure requirements; amending s. 607 

1012.23, F.S.; prohibiting a school district 608 

superintendent and district school board from 609 

appointing or employing certain individuals in certain 610 

positions; providing an exception; requiring the 611 

Commission on Ethics to investigate alleged 612 

violations; amending s. 1002.395, F.S.; conforming a 613 

cross-reference; providing a contingent appropriation; 614 

providing an effective date. 615 



The Florida Senate

APPEARANCE RECORD
(Deliver BOTH copies of this form to the Senator or Senate Professional Staff conducting the meeting)

Meeting Date Bill Number (if applicable)

Topic S B
Name /\i(2 (]  f .

Job Title

/V   /,   j

C rtri  oz f lii f j J/ f/ w 

Address
Street

City  
j/iA/L C? f~ L.
[   S ate

/vr 
Zip

Amendment Barcode (if applicable)

f

Phone J.U-2ST} ~  Q

Representing

st | (Information Waive Speaking: | |In Support | (Against
(The Chair will read this information into the record.)

Ci A-/  A  c x 

Appearing at request of Chair: | (Yes b jNo Lobbyist registered with Legislature: | |Yes  y JjO 

While it is a Senate tradition to encourage public testimony, time may not permit all persons wishing to speak to be heard at this
meeting. Those who do speak may be asked to limit their remarks so that as many persons as possible can be heard.

This form is part of the public record for this meeting.



The Florida Senate

APPEARANCE RECORD
0 I   (Deliver BOTH copies of this form to the Senator or Senate Professional Staff conducting the meeting)

Meeting Date

Topic Jfi //
Name _ ( '  ~i C / o

T Cf

Bill Number (if applicable)

Amendment Barcode (if applicable)

Job Title

Address

c i  /ftt  C  -e/

Street

Phone

Email
City State Zip

Speaking: For   Against | |Information

Representing '  ~c>/

Waive Speaking:  ln Support I I A ainst
(The Chair will read m sinformation into the record.)

F

Appearing at request of Chair: I I Yes I~X1no Lobbyist registered with Legislature:   Yes EZIno

While it is a Senate tradition to encourage public testimony, time may not permit all persons wishing to speak to be heard at this
meeting. Those who do speak may be asked to limit their remarks so that as many persons as possible can be heard.

This form is part of the public record for this meeting. S-001 (10/14/14)



\ A black and white copy of this document is not officialmm

STATE OF FLORIDA
DEPARTMENT OF STATE

Division of Elections

I, Ken Detzner, Secretary of State,

do hereby certify t at

Marva Brown Johnson

is duly appointed a member of the

State Boar  of Education

for a term beginning on the Twelfth day of January, A.D., 2018,

until the Thirty-First day of December, A.D., 2021 and is subject

to be confirmed by the Senate during the next regular session of

the Le islature.

DSDE 99 {3/03)

Given under my hand  nd the Great Seal of the

State of Florida, at Tallahassee, the Capital, this

the Ninth day of February, A.D., 2d 18.

Secretary of State

/The original document has a reflective line mark in paper. Hold at an an le to view when diet



Rick Scott
Governor

RECEIVED
'..I ;r

20W JAN 19 PH 2--53

Ja uary 12,2018

Secretary Kenneth W. Detzner

Secretary of State

State of Florida

R, A. Gray Building, Room 316

500 South Bronough Street

Talla assee, Florida 32399-0250

Dear Secretary Detzner:

Please be advised I have made the following reappointment u der the provisions of

Section 1001.01, Florida Statutes:

as a member of the State Bo rd of Education, subject to confirmatio  by the Senate. This

appointment is effective January 12,2018, for a term ending December 31,2021.

Mrs. Marva Brown Johnso 

2335 Tillman Avenue

Winter Garden, Florida 34787

Governor

RS/cr

THE CAPITOL
Tallahassee, Florida 32399 • (850)717-9249



OATH OF OFFICE HAND DELIVERE
(Art. II. § 5(b), Fla. Const.),:    ED

STATE OF FLORIDA 18 FEB  9 AH 10: 48

County of .  mvioU ,    L CTIffliS
0  secretary of state

I do solemnly swear (or affirm) that I will support, protect, and defend the Constitution and

Government of the United States an  of the State of Florida; that I am duly qualified to hold

office under the Constitution of the State, and that I will well and faithfully perform the duties of

Florida State Board of Education

(Title of Office)

on which I am now about to enter, so help me Go .

[NOTE; If you affirm,  ou may omit the words  so heljpnme God.  See § 92.52, Fla. St t]

Sworn to and subscribed before me this % day of

/aJtZL,  /j   L jjG -
Signature of Officer Administering'

P T#¥-CRE R¥

tm

W l i®foN#FF94918S
EXPIRES January 10.2020

Print, Type, o  Stamp Commissioned Name of Notary fuEIic

P rson lly Known E2 OR Produced Identification D

Type of Ide tification Produced    

ACCEPTANCE

I  ccept the office listed in the above O th of Office.

Mailing Address: CD Home 0 Office  

2251 Lucien Way

Street or Post Office Box

Maitland, Florida 32751

City, State, Zip Code

rva Brown Johnson

DS-DE 56 (Rev. 02/10)



CERTIFICATION

STATE OF FLORIDA
COUNTY OF

Before me, the undersigned Notary Public of Florida, personally appeared

who, after being duty sworn, say: (1) that he/she has carefully and personally prepared or read

the ans ebs to the foregoing questions; (2) that the information contained in said answers is

comp ete and true; and (3) that he/she will, as an appointee, fully support the Constitutions of the

Uni ed States/and oi/fhe State of/Florida.

Sign ture of Applicant-Affiant

Sworn to and subscribed before me this

of Notary Public-State of Florida

day of. ' ehnia-ti . 2fti!

TARA KENT JACKSON
ls>: J# }»!Commission #GG 023420

-C!ober 7,2020
(Print, Type, or Stamp Commissioned Name of Notary rubn  Thru TmFaini h    ,fTn

My commission expires: 

Personally Known Q OR Produced Identification

Type of Identification Produced  

(seal)



£65
STATE OF FLORIDA

EPARTMENT OF STATE

Division of Elections

I, Ken Detzner, Secretary of State,

do hereby certify that

Michael H. Olenick

is duly appointed a member of the

State Board of Education

for a term beginning on the Second day of February, A.D,, 2018,

until the Thirty-First day of December, A.D., 2020 and is subject

to be confirmed by the Senate during the next regular session of

the Legislature.

mm '

Given under my hand and the Great Seal of the

tate of Florida, at Tallahassee, the Capital, this

the Sixth day of F bruary, A.D.r 2018.

AT- 

tS i j-

is 3  
Secretary of State

DSDE 99 (3/03)

\

i  e origmal document has a reflec ve lin  mark in paper. Hold at an angle to view when checki t



HAND DELIVERED
REnm/L-r

Rick Scott
Governor

Febr ary 2,2018

Secretary Kenneth W. Detzner

Secretary of State

State of Florida

R. A. Gra  Buildin , Room 316

500 South Brenough Street

Tallahassee, Florida 32399-0250

Dear Secretary Detzner:

Please be advised I have made the following reappointment under the provisions of

Sectio  1001.01, Florida Statutes:

as a member of the State Board of Educatio , subject to confirmatio  by the Senate. This

appointment is effective Februar  2,2018, for a term ending December 31,2020.

Mr. Michael Olenick

2215 Southwest Mayflower Drive

Palm City, Florida 34990

Governor

RS/cr

THE CAPITOL
Taiiaha  pf FinRinA.T9.TQ9 • fTSO  717-Q949



OATH OF OFFICE  ......
(Art. H. § 5(b), Fla. Const.)   ~   D

STATE OF FLORIDA 18 FEB -6 PH 2  00

County of Msrtin l lC JOHS
SECRETARY OF STATE

1 do solemnly swear (or affirm) that I will support, protect, and defend the Constitution and

Government of the Unite  States and of the State of Florida; that I am duly qualified to hold

office under the Constitution of the State, and that I will well an  faithfully perform the duties of

Member State Board of Education

(Title of Office)

on  hich I am now about to enter, so help me Go .

fNOTE: If you affirm, you may omit the words  so help me God.  See § 92.52, Fla. Stat.]

Signatur 

Sworn to and subscribed before me this    day of

\U\i i u  xoa   I _(
Sig ature of Officer A mini tering ](mth or of Notary Public

Print, type, or Stamp CommissionedjName of Notary Public

Personally Known   OR Produced Identification

Type of Identification Produced V~   )\

ACCEPTANCE

1 accept the  ffice li  ed in the above Oath of Office.

Mailing Address: 0 Home Q Office

2215 SW Mayflower Dr
Street or Post Office Box

Palm City FL 34990

City, State, Zip Code

Michael H Olenick

Prin  Name

Si n ture

DS-DE 56 (Rev. 11/16)



CERTIFICATION

STATE OF FLORIDA
COUNTY OF /nA   (rj

Before me, t e undersi ned Notary Public of Florida, personally appeared

,

who, after being duty sworn, say: (1) that he/she has carefully and personally prepared or read

the answers to the foregoing questions; (2) that the information contai ed in said answers is

complete and true; and (3) that he/she will, as an appointee, fully support the Constitutions of the

United States and of the State of Florida.

Signat re of Applicant-Affiant

Sworn to and subscribed before me this day of 11  ilU-r2Q_ 5

ij

(Print, Type, or stamp  ommissionea Name of Notary Public)

My commission expires:  \
Personally Known    OR Produced Identification HU

(seal)



Ses

STATE OF FLORIDA
DEPARTMENT OF STATE

Division of Elections

I, Ken Detzner, Secretary of State,

do hereby certify that

Andy Tuck

is duly appointed a member of the

State Board of E ucation

for a term begin ing on the Twelfth day of Januar , A.D., 2018,

until the Thirty-First day of December, A.D., 2021 and is subject

to be confirmed by the Senate during the next regul r session of

the Legislature.

Given under my h nd and the Great Seal of the

State of Florida  at Tallahassee, the Capital, this

the  wenty-Ninth d y of J mmy, A.D., 2018.

¦¦.
¦}&*=

©

I igi 

DSDE 99 <3 03>

|fsef§i§§ 

I The oiit ial document has a reflective line mark in >er. Hold at an anele to view when c eckim



January 12,2018

Secretary Kenneth W. Detzner

Secretary of State

State of Florida

R. A. Gray B ilding, Room 316

500 South Bronough Street

Tallahassee, Florida 32399-0250

Dear Secretary Detzner:

Please be advised I have made die following reappointment under the provisio s of

Section 1001,01, Florida Statutes:

as a  embe  of the State Bo rd of Education, subject to confirmation by the Senate, This

appointment is effective January 12,2018, for a term ending December 31,2021.

Mr, Andy Tuck

1611 Sandwedge Court

Sebring, Florida 33872

Sincerely 

Rick Scott

Gove  o 

RS/cr

THE CAPITOL
Tallahassee, Florida 32399 • (850)717-9249



OATH OF OFFICE
(Art. II. § 5(b), Fla. Const.)

STATE OF FLORIDA

County of

MPAx mVmt

W8JM2S Mto g

0,vrSz  s

I do solemnly swear (or affirm) that I will support, protect, and defend the Constitution and

Government of the United States  nd of the State of Florida; that 1 am duly qualified to hold

office under the Constitution of the State, and that I will well and faithfully perform the duties of

fSoar-J? A/VeJbey S   . fck&Qfc-P
(Title of Office) ' 

on which I am no  about to enter, so help me God,

[NOTE: If you affirm, you may omit the words  so  elp me God.  See § 92.52, Fla. Stat.J

Signature

Sworn to and subscribed before me this day of
MICHAEL ERIC CAVE

* MY COMMISSION #GG 0 3152

EXPIRES: Novembers,    ignatfre of O ficer Administering Oath o  of Notary Public
SO'idsd Thnj Budg#: Nol iy Services

f ?L.cfr(h£t c/ Jz
P i t  Type, or Stamp Commission d Name of Notary Public

y tf.

Personally Know  CZl OR Produced Identificatio  1)2

Type of Identification Produced C  6   f      &

ACCEPTANCE

I accept the office listed in the above Oath of Office.

Mailing Address: Home D Office

)   11 .
Street or Post Office Box

SeJzorl 
Cit , State, Zip c 

Print name as you desire com ission issued

Signature

DS-DE 56 (Rev. 02/10)



CERTIFICATION

STATE OF FLORIDA » I /j
COUNTY OF UlJ A

Before me, the undersigned Notary Public of Florida, personally appeared
,P& Yfofl-O Mdfl-Ew f  CK.,

who, after b ing duty sworn, say: (1) that he/she has carefully and personally prepared or read

the answers to the foregoing questions; (2) that the information contained in said answers is

complete and true; and (3) that he/she will, as an appointee, fully support the Constitutions of the

United States and of the State of Florida

Sworn to and subscribed before me this day of  , 201  

Signature of Notary Public-State of Florida
MICHAEL ERIC CAVE

Y COMMISSION # GG 043152
EXPIRES: Novembers, 2020

Bonded Thru Budget Notary Services

(Print, Type, or Stamp Commissioned Name of Notary Public)

My commission expires.    A/W.

Personally Known O OR Produced Identification 12

Type of Identification Produced    2-Ce f e

(seal)





Rick Scott
Governor FEB -5 m 9:22

February 1,2018

Secretary Kenneth W. Detzner

Secretary of State

State of Florida

R. A. Gray Building, Room 316

500 South Bronough Street

Tallahassee, Florida 32399-0250

Dear Secretary Detzner:

Please be advised I have amended the following appointment under the provisions of

Section 1001.01, Florida Statutes:

as a member of the State Board of Education, succeeding Rebecca Fish an lipse , subject

to confir ation by the Senate. This appointment is effective January 12,2018, for a term

ending December 31,2021.

Mr. Joseph Spencer York

184 Lamplighter Lane

Ponte Vedra Beach, Florida 32082

Sincerely,

Rick Scott

Gove  or

RS/cr

THE CAPITOL
Tallahassee, Florida 32399 • (850)717-9249



STATE OF FLORIDA

County of Duval

OATH OF OFFICE
(Art. IL § 5(b), Fla. Const)

i D
18 JAN 24 PH 3: 56

OlV.   •  ..r LLcCTIONS
SECR TARY OF STATE

I do solemnly swear (or affirm) that I will support, protect, and defend the Constitution and

Government of the United States and of the State of Florida; that I am duly qualified to hold

office under the Constitution of the State, and that I will well and faithfully perform the duties of

Florida State Board of Education

(Title of Office)

on which I am now about to enter, so help me God.

[NOTE; If you affirm,

Signature of Officer Administering Oath or of Notary Public

AnfteltL Leu h-cn
Print, Type, or Stamp Commissioned Name of Notary Public

Personally Known OR Produced Identification D

Type of Ide tification Produced   

I *  t*** i/ ]

ANGEU  EUSCHEN
Nolafy Pub,lc ' S,ata of Fior,d 3

1 Commis$ion # FF 962620

I «y Comm. Expires Fet> 18, 202 

ACCEPTANCE

I accept the office listed in the above O th of Office.

Mailing Address  d Home 0 Office

10375 Centurion Parkway N

Street or Post Office Box

Jacksonville, FI 32256

City, State, Zip Code

DS-DE 56 (Rev. 02/10)



CERTIFICATION

STATE OF FLORIDA
COUNTY OF l) raJ.

Before me, the undersigned Notary Public of Florida, personally appeared

'Si- Ci K ;,

who, after being duty sworn, say: (1) that lie/she has carefully and personally prepared or read

the answers to the foregoing questions; (2) that the information contained in said answers is

complete and true; and (3) that he/she will, as an appointee, fully support the Constitutions of the

Sworn to and subscribed before me this day ofr J  20  .

Signature of Notary Public-State of Florida

Rmelau Letisch-en 
(Print, iype, or Stamp Commissioned Name of Notary Public)

My commission expires:  hfiidyV /   ) 2q2-D 

angela leuschen
ir  = Notary Pub,ic    ate of FloriFlorida >

Cofnm»ssion # FF 962620 >
My Cofnrn> Expires Feb 18,2020 ,

i ip       ,

Personally Known { ] OR Produced Identification I I

Type of Identification Produced 

(seal)



_s

STATE OF FLORIDA
DEPARTMENT OF STATE

Divisio  of Elections

I, Ken Detzner, Secretary of State,

do hereby certify that

Timothy M. Cerio

is duly appointed a member of the

Board of Governors of the State University

System

for a term beginni g on the Twenty-Seventh day of October,

A.D., 2017, until the Sixth day of January, A.D., 2024 and is

subject to be confirmed by the Senate during the next regular

session of the Legislature,

Given under my hand and the Great Se   of the

State of Florida, at Tallahass e, th  C pit l, this

the Twentieth d y of D cember, A.D., 2017.

>  r*/ ;

DSDE 99 (3/03)

kDita 
Secretary o  State

(a fe -SSci



Rick Scott
Governor

October 27,2017

Secretary Kenneth W. Detzner

Secretary of St te

State of Florida

K. A. Gray Building, Room 316

500 South Bronou h Street

Tallahassee, Florida 32399-0250
/

Dear Secretary Detzner:

Please be advised I have made the following appoin ment un er the provisions of

Article IX, Sec. 7, FL Constitution:

as a me ber of  he Bo rd of Governors of the State University Syste , succeedi g Richar 

A. Beard, subject to confirmation by the Senate. This ap ointment is effective October 27,

2017, for a term ending January 6,2024.

Mr. Ti othy M. Cerio

11412 Turkey Roost Road

Tallahassee, Florida 32317

Sincerely,

Rick Scott

Governor

RS/cr

THE CAPITOL
Taii hawf Fiorida  9399 # 717-9749



OATH OF OFFICE
(Art. IE § 5(b), Fla. Const.)

STATE OF FLORIDA

County of Leon  

I do solemnly swear (or affirm) that I will support, protect, and defend the Constitution and

Government of the United States and of the State of Florida; that I am duly qualified to hold

office under the Constitution of the State, and that I will well and faithfully perform the duties of

Governor, Florida Board of Governors

(Title of Office)

on which I am now about to enter, so help me God.

[NOTE: If you affirm, you may omit the w*

DAWN RENEE  W"51*1
C mmission It FF 942184

me God.  See § 92.52, Fla. St t.J

to and subscribed before me this of . c'X>)rl.

ignature of Offic r Administering Oath or of Notary Public

Print, Type, or Stamp Commi sioned Name of Notary P blic

P rs  ally Known OR Produced Identification El

Type of Identific ti n Produced   

ACCEPTANCE

I accept the office listed in the  bove O th of Office.

Mailing Address: E  Home 0 Office

301 S. Bronough St., Ste 600

Street or Post Office Box

Tallahassee, FL 32301

City, State, Zip Code

DS-DE56 (Rev. 11/16)



CERTIFICATION

STATE OF FLORIDA
COUNTY OF I  OfY

Befqrc me, the  ndersigned Notary Public of Florida, personally appeared

who, after bein  duty swo  , say: (1) that he/she has carefully and personally prepared or read

the answers to the foregoing questions; (2) that the information contained in said answers is

complete and true; and (3) that he/she will, as an appointee, fully support the Constitutions of the

United States and ofjth  te of.Florida.

Signatui fppncant-Affiant

Sworn to and subscribed before me this day of \m  . 20 \ A.

r  

2
ignature of Notary Public-State of Florida

LU)

(Print, Type, or Stamp Commissioned Name of Notary Public)

My commission expires:     

Personally Known [u OR Produced Identification  

Type of Identification Produced  

DAWN RENEE WILKINSON
IH 1*1 Dommission # FF 942184

Expires December 8,2019
Bonded Thru Troy Fan InwrSfwa 000-335-7019

(seal)



i  A black and white copy of this document is not official!

<

STATE OF FLORIDA
DEPARTMENT OF STATE

Division of Elections

I, Ken Detzner, Secretary of State,

do hereby certify t at

Patricia Frost

is duly ap ointed a member of the

Board of Governors of the State University

System

for a term beginning on the Twenty-Seventh day of October,

A.D., 2017, until the Sixth day of January, A.D., 2024 and is

subject to be confirmed by the Senate during the ne t regular

session of the Legislature.

Given under my hand and the Gr at Seal of the

tate of Florid , at T ll hass e, th  Capital, thi 

the Fifte nth da  of December, A.D., 2017.

Dita'*
Secretary of State

D DE 99 (3/03)

' llj

n

I The orit document  as a reflective line mark in paper. Hold at an angle to view when checkins



Rick Scott
Governor

October 27,201 

Secretary Kenneth W. Detzner

Secretar  of State

State of Florida

R. A. Gray Building, Room 316

500 South Bronough Street

Tallahassee, Florida 32399-0250

Dear Secretary Detzner:

Please be advised I have made the following reappoi tment u der the provisions of

Article IX, Sec. 7, FL Constitution:

as a member of the Board of Gove  ors of  he State University System, subject to

confir ation by the Senate. This appoi tment is effective October 27,2017, for a term

endi g January 6,2024.

Mrs. Patricia L. Frost

21 Star Island

Mi mi Beach, Florida 33139

Sincerely,

Rick Scott

Gove  or

RS/cr

THE CAPITOL
rv r r \ -r i ~r 4



OATH OF OFFICE  SSr rsWE
( rt It § 5(h), FJa. Const.)

STATE OF FLORIDA

Count) of  llA nt -

17 DEC -8 AM 9*  8

DlVlSl n Ur L tUllOilS
TALLAHASSEE. FL

I do solemnly swear (or affirm) that 1 will support, protect, and defend the Constitution and

Government of the United States and of the State  f Florida; that 1 a  duly qualified to hold

office under the Constitution of the State, and that I w ill well and faithfull  perform the duties of

(Title ofOffice) If / 

on  hich 1 a  no  about to enter, so help  e God.

(NO E: If you affirm,  ou ma ds  kso help me 92.52, Fla. Stat.J

e mi1 thts fj  a) of  0*7

omM-mg Oath c YNORR

MY COMMISSION #FF 165345
MJss EXPIRES: October 2T, 2018

Prim, Type, or Slump Commissioned Sam

rsonally K own  roduced I entification D

yp  of  f nltficution     uc d -   

ACCEPTANCE

1 accept the office fisted in the above Oat  of Office.

Mailing Address: ')S| dome 0 Office

1  T H JZ  A/Ob
Street or Post Office Box

JWtM*] f /tif F-l, 33/ y
Cit>. State, Zip Code  

DS-DE 56 (Rev. 11/16)



CERTIFICATION

STATE OF FLORIDA . a
county of /Ml Ac nf<~DAi) -

Before me, the undersigned Notary Public of Florida, personally appeared

/  r/erCJ/      ,

who, after being duty sworn, say: (1) that he/she has carefully and personally prepared or read

the answers to the foregoing questions; (2) that the information contained in said answers is
)port the Constitutions of the

Sworn to and subscribed before me this   day of 2022Z •

imm . CAROLYN ORR
/ . A t' i wvrnwuissinwaPP

EXPIRES; October 21,2018
Bonded Thru Notary Public Undetwrifeis

MY COMMISSION #FF 165345

(Print, T pe, or Stamp Commissioned Name of Notary Public)

My commission expires: . ,/  

Personally Known Q OR Produced Identification  Personally Known

Type of Identification Produced

(seal)



STATE OF FLORIDA
DEPARTMENT OF STATE

Division of Elections

I, Ken Detzner, Secretary of State,

do hereby certify that

Ned C. Lautenbach

is duly appointed a member of the

Board of Governors of the State University

System

for a term beginning on the Twenty-Seventh day of October,

A.D., 2017, until the Sixth day of January, A.D., 2020 and is

subject to be confirmed by the Sen te during the next regular

session of the Legislature.

Given under my hand and the Great Seal of the

State of Florida, at Tallah ssee, the Capital  this

the Sixth day of Decemb r, A.D., 2017.

• --=3 . - i 'Vijqxsr  .£
b*. O ti 

Secretary of St te

DSDE 99 (3/03)

oH

o i-i

'i

I The origi al document has a reflective line mark in paper. Hold at an an le to view when checkin 



Rick Scott
Governor

October XI, 2017

Secretary Kenneth W. Detzner

Secretary of State

State of Florida

R. A. Gray Buildi g, Room 316

500 South Bro ough Street

Tallahassee, Florida 32399-0250

Dear Secretary Detzner:

Please be advised 1 have made the following appointmen  un er  he provisions of

Article IX, Sec, 7, FL Constitution:

as a member of the Board of Governors of the State University System, filli g   vaca t seat,

subject to confirmation by the Senate. This appointment is effective October 27,2017, and

ending January 6,2020,

Mr; Ned C. Lautenbach

1801 Galleon Drive

Naples, Florida 34102

Sincerely,

Rick Scott

Governor

RS/cr

THE CAPITOL
/Oirri>  71 ~t r\r i j n



OATH OF OFFICE
(Art. II. § 5(b), Fla. Const.)

STATE OF FLORIDA

County of ¦,  

RECEIVED
reparimun:  r

2BH DEC -5 PH   15

i isioHOF aec is

I do solemnly swear (or affirm) that I will support, protect, and defend the Constitution and

Govern ent of the United St tes and of the State of Florida; th t I am duly qualified to hold

office under the Constitution of the State, and that I will well and faithfully perfor  the duties of

7>?- faS/dw   A 'fl    ifjv  i tpj, h syj)7/>7 a  f 11
(Title of O fice)

on which I  m now about to enter, so help me God.

[NOTE: If you affirm, you may omit the words  so help me Go .  See § 92.52, Fla. Stat]

Signature

Swo   to cm subscribed before me this °f _  v  Jl J

Signature )  Office  Ad inist ring Oath or of Not ry Public

Hoc I I/r  - llYhr  
-JL- .   fll    

ROCHELLE KtNCH€ 
\ Noury Pu lic • St«  o( Florida   Print, Type, or St mp Commissio ed Name of Notary P blic

*| commlit m # 06 05W7® 1  
Produced Identification \2C

5 A  jm vJ-¥  gnVH PPIVtl W  w V

comm E,<p<r,, 0ic  2020 Personally Kn wn Q OR

Type of Ide tification Prod ced U i fY   h r.i Vx     

ACCEPTANCE

I accept the office listed in the above Oath of Office.

Mailing Ad ress: 15 Home   Office

/#£/ CaUa
Street or Post Office Box

City, State, Zip Code

Pri t Nam  

Sign ture

DS-DE 56 (Rev. 11/16)



CERTIFICATION

STATE OF FLORID
COUNTY OF

Before me, the undersigned Notary Public of Florida, personally appearedietore me, me undersigned wotary

who, after being duty sworn, say: (1) that he/she has carefully and personally prepared or read

the answers to the foregoing questions; (2) that the information contained in said answers is

complete and true; and (3) that he/she will, as an appointee, fully support the Constitutions of the

United States and of the State of Florida.

Signature of Applicant-Affiant

Sworn to and subscribed before me this , day of.

IA&jLSjl
Signature of Notary Public-State of Florida

U Dch<g ( S.

,2( £l.

(Print, Type, or Stamp Commissioned Name of Notary Public)

My commission expiresl&oao

Personally Known Q OR Produced Identification K

Fl bnve s Lu  s   -
Type of Identification Produced.



m  
tes

®! o

ll
m s »

|IS

STATE OF FLORIDA
DEPARTMENT OF STATE

Division of Elections

I, Ken Detzner, Secretary of State,

do hereby certify that

Jay Parakash Somabhai Patel

is duly appointed a member of the

Board of Governors of the State University

System

for a term beginning on the Twenty-Seventh day of October,

A.D., 2017, until the Sixth day of January, A.D., 2019 and is

subject to be confirmed by the Senate during the ne t regular

session of the Legislature.

Given under my hand and the Gr at Seal of the

State of Florida, at T llahassee, the Capit l, this

the Twenty-S cond day of December, A. ., 2017.

Diib*
Secretary of State

DSDE 99 (3/03)

Mmi'IS#
oo-si 

xfcfiSK

original document has a reflective line mark in paper, Hold at an angle to  iew when chec ing. {{*



Rick Scott
Governor

October 27,2017

Secretary Kenneth W. Detzner

Secretary of State

State of Florida

R. A. Gray Building,  oom 316

500 South Bronough Street

Tallahassee, Florida 32399-0250

Dear Secretary Detzner:

Please be advised I have  ade the followi   appoi tment under the provisions of

Article IX, Sec. 7, FL Co stitution:

as a  ember of the Board of Governors of the State University System, succeeding Ned C.

Lautenbach, subject to confirmation by the Senate. This ap ointment is effective October

27,2017, and ending January 6,2019

Mr. Jay Prakash Somabhai Patel

3020 Knotty Pine Drive

Pensacola, Florida, 32505

Si cerely,

Rick Scott

Governor

RS/cr

THE CAPITOL
oooon » locifu "71 "7 n  ao



OATH OF OFFICE
(Art II. § 5(b), Fla. Cons )

STATE OF FLORIDA

County of  Escambia

1 ,   '   jF"*

D
DEC 22 AHlQigg

D!V[,:! '•

I do solemnly swear (or affirm) that I will support, protect, and defend the Constitution and

Government of the Unite  States and of the State of Fl rida; that I am duly qualified to hold

office unde  the Constitution of the State, and that I will well an  faithfully perform the duties of

FL SUS - Board Of Governors  

(Title of Office)

on which 1 am now about to enter, sa-help me God,

[NOTE: If you affirm, you may  nftrThe wor s  so help me God.  See § 92.52, Fla. St t.]

Kendall Burton
Notary Public-State of Florida
Comm. Exp. October 1, 2020

Comm  umber GG 26590

Signatu.

Sworn to and subscribed before me thisis of  7.

Signature of Officer Ad inisteri g Oath or of Notary Public

Pri t, Typ , or Sta p Commissioned Nam  of Notary Public

Personally Know  O OR

Type of Ide tificatio  P oduced

Produced Ide tification

ACCEPTANCE

I  ccept the office lis ed in the above Oa h of Office.

Mailing Address: Q Home D Office

3020 Knotty Pine Drive

Street or Post Office Box

Pensacola, FI 32505

City, State, Zip Code

Jay Prakash S.  atel

DS-DE 56 (Rev. 11/16)



CERTIFICATION

STATE OF FLORIDA
COUNTY OF

Before me, the undersigned Notary Public of Florida, personally appeared
VcdaX S  &>fY\Q- Q Qj>. Ycd-ti,

who, after bein  duty sworn, say: (1) that he/she has carefully and personally prepared or read

the answers to the foregoing questions; (2) that the information contained in said answers is

complete and true; and (3) that he/she will, as an appointee, fully support the Constitutions of the

Sworn to and subscribed before me this day of 2Q_Q

Signature of Notary Public-State of Florida

(Print, Type, or Stamp Commissioned Name of Notary Public)

My commission expires: lOj 1 | 2-CfeQ  

Personally Known   OR Produced Identification 0 

Type of Identification Produced l A P >00 V.

Kendall Burton
Notary Public-State of Florida
Comm. Exp. October 1, 2020

Comm. Number  GG 26590

(seal)



s 

STATE OF FLORIDA
EPARTMENT OF STATE

Division of Elections

I, Ken Detzner, Secretary of State,

do hereby certify that

Zachariah P. Zachariah

is duly appointed a member of the

Board of Governors of the State University

System

for a term beginning on the Twenty-Seventh d y of October,

A.D,, 2017, until the Sixth day of January, A.D., 2019 and is

subject to be confirmed by the Senate during the next regular

session of the Legislature.

Given under my hand and the Gre t Seal of the

State of Florida, at Tall h sse , the Capita  this

the Fifteenth day of Dec mber, A.D., 2017.

Secretary of  tate

DSDE 99 (3/03)



Rick Scott
Governor

October 27,2017

Secretary Kenneth W. Detzner

Secretary of State

State of Florida

R. A. Gray Building, Room 316

500 South Bronough Street

Tall hassee, Flori a 32399-0250

Dear Secretar  Detzner:

Ple se be advised I have made the following appointment under the provisions of

Article IX, Sec. 7, FL Constitution:

as a member of the Boar  of Gove  ors of the Stat  University System, filling a vac nt seat,

subject to confirmation b  the Senate. This appointment is effective October 27,2017, for a

ter  endin  Januar  6,2019.

Dr. Zachariah P. Zachariah

40 Seneca Road

Sea Ranch Lakes, Florida 33308

Sincerely,

Rick Scott

Governor

RS/cr

THE CAPITOL
Ci . m  n - mcrw ~r-i~r n jn



OATH OF OFFICE
(Art. II. § 5(b), Fla. Const.)

rf

STATE OF FLORIDA

County of BROWARD

ndec11 . STAI 
Ct ' 1 AH 9;

0, S/0fv
Si

SEI n
I do solemnly swear (or affirm) that I will support, protect, and defend the Cons itution and

Government of the United St tes and of the State of Florida; that I am duly qualified to hold

office under the Constitution of the State, and that I will well and faithfully perform the duties of

Board of Governors of the State University System

(Title of Office)

on which I am now about to enter, so help me God.

fNOTE: If you affirm, you m y omit help me God.  See § 92.52, Fla. St t.J

Signat re

wo n to and subscribe  b for  me this day of V  ,  OtT .

Signat re of Office  Administe ing Oath otnifSolar  Public
NICNiCOLE ZALUntU

COMMISSION #FF96661»

Print, Type, or Stamp Commis ion d Name ofn my Match Oi, 2020

Personally Known OR Produced Ide tification D

Type of Identification Prod ced   

ACCEPTANCE

I accept the office listed in the above Oath of Office.

Mailing Address: [/] Home D Office

uO S PNea    
Street or Post Office Box

qjic   \j>y  v  
City, State, Zip Code

P.

Print Name  

Sign fur

DS-DE 56 (Rev. 11/16)



CERTIFICATION

STATE OF FLORIDA
COUNTY OF  tSyounGr-ci

Before me, the undersigned Notary Public of Florida, personally appeared

who, a ter being duty sworn, say: (1) that he/she has carefully and personally prepared or read

the answers to the foregoing questions; (2) that the information contained in said answers is

complete and true; and (3) that he/she will, as an appointee, fully support the Constitutions of the

United States and of the State of Florida.

Sworn to and subscribed before me this day of . 20 *1 .

Signature of Notary Public-State of Florida

NICOLE ZALUPSKI
¦£: MY COMMISSION # FF966S1S

EXPIRES March 01.2020

(Print, Type, or Stamp Commissioned Name ofNcfeSy nS  

My commission expires:  to   \-  -O U  

Personally Known 0  OR Produced Identification I I

Type of Identification Produced 

iiff&. N rto fctoNoia'ySofvIc  w

(seal)



STATE OF FLORIDA
I (PI DEPARTMENT OF STATE ~

Division of Election  jff  j

V %M Ken Detzner. Secretary of State,

do hereby certify that » ® jmMWij.

ll® Brad Levine

is duly appointed a member of the fj j| j>

V   Board of Trustees,

Florida Atlantic University

Jo a term beginning on the Twenty-Sixth day of January, A.D.,

2018, until the Sixth day of Januar , A.D., 2023 and is subject tp

be confirmed by the Senate during the next regular session of the

Leg aljjre,  »j g* c ¦ p

Given tinder my hand and the Great Seakofdhe

State of Fl rida, at TdllydtMs eFtJMiGgpifdU
W2ML8m

m m jB 88111



HAND DELIVERED ft/y  v eJ

RECEIVED
D Af>TU   !T C T  

Rick Scott
Governor

..•  i i  ! ntH i U-   iAlE

DIVISION OF ELECTIONS

February 14,2018

Secretar  Ke neth W. Detzner

Secretary of State

State of Florida

R. A. Gray Building,  oom 316

500 South Bronough Street

Tallahassee, Florida 32399-0250

Dear Secretar  Detzner;

Please be advised I have amended the following appointment under the provisions of

Section 1001.71, Florida Statutes:

as a member of the Board of Trustees, Florida Atlantic Universit , succeeding Daniel Eric

Cane, subject to confirmation by the Senate. This appointment is effective January 26,2018,

for a term ending January 6,2023.

Mr. Bradle  M. Levine

800 Hibiscus Street

Boca Raton, Florida 33486

Sincerely,

Governor

RS/cr

THE CAPITOL
Tallahassee, Florida 32399 a (850) 717-9249



OATH OF OFFICE mBElwn.
(Art. II. § 5(b), Fla. Const.) mPARmmWSTAlE

STATE OF FLORIDA

1  .Co nty of

* 7 AM(|t57

I do solemnly swear (or affirm) that I will support, protect, and defend t e Constitution and

Government of the United States and of the State of Florida; that I am duly qualified to hold

office under the Constitution of the State, and that I will well and faithfully perform the duties of

(<n i c   *¦

(Title of Office)

on which I am now about to enter, so help me God.

[NOTE: If you affirm, you may omit the  so help me God.  See § 92.52, Fla. Stat.]

of Officer Administering Oath or ofNotary Public -

A  m*/
§  P fjfht, Type, or Stamp Commissioned Name of Notary Public

\% ,! Bi sonally Known

... ... ..

me this Itjof YP

OR

fo  ssio     A Type of Identification Produced

Produced Identification  

fC CsCes SCp

ACCEPTANCE

I accept the office listed in the above Oath of Office.

Mailing Address: Home D Office

o

Street or Post Office Box

City, State, Zip Code

Print Name

DS-DE 56 (Rev. 11/16)







Rick Scott
Governor

Fe ruary 2,2018

Secretar  K nneth W. Detzner

Secretary of State

State of Florida

R. A. Gray Buildin , Room 316

500 South Bronou h Street

Tallahassee, Florida 32399-0250

Dear Secretary Detzner:

Please be advised I have amended the following reappointment under the provisions

of Section 1001.71, Florida Statutes:

as a member of the Board of Trustees, Florida Atlantic University, subject to confirmation

by the Senate. This appointment is effective January 26,2018, for a term ending January 6,

2021.

Mrs. Mary Beth McDonald

1011 Indian Mound Trail

Vero Beach, Florida 32963

Sincerely,

Rick Scott

Governor

RS/cr

THE CAPITOL
Tall hassee, Florida 32399 • (850) 717-9249



OATH OF
(Art. II. § 5(b)

STATE OF FLORIDA

County of

10FFICE RECEIVED
, Fla. Const.) WPARFMENT OF STAIt

fflIDJMSO /!H9: 3

lVjSIOfi OFELErrif to

I do solemnly swear (or affirm) that I will support, protect, and defend the Constitution and

Government of the United States and of the State of Florida; that 1 am duly qualified to hold

office un er the Constitution of the State, and tha  I will well and faithfully perform the duties of

/rvsTi
(Title of Office)

l i wi   e  <uiu imu uiry  ciiuim me u

J J r/'L  /aJj  /

on which I am now about to enter, so help me God.

[NOTE: If you affirm, you may omit the words  so help me God. 

Signature   

Swtffh to andsubscrh

. Y   v *       *         

'ignature of Officer Administering Oath or of Nota y Public

1 0/V 6/\/~t    .

Print, Type, or Stamp Commission   Name of Nota y Public

Personally Known D OR Produced Identification 0

Type of Identification Produced / > *AJS €>

ACCEPTANCE

I accept the office listed in the above Oath of Office.

Mailing Address: [2 Home D Office

DS-DE 56 (Rev. 11/16)



CERTIFICATION

STATE OF FLO]
COUNTY OF Z jJ L  Q,

Before me, the undersigned Notary Public of Florida, personally appeared

5

who, after being duty sworn, say: (1) that he/she has carefully and personally prepared or read

the answers to the foregoing questions; (2) that the information contained in said answers is

complete and true; and (3) that he/she will, as an appointee, fully support the Constitutions of the

Sworn to and subscribed before me this  c
tL

day of

D
ignature of Notary Public-State of Florida

(Print, Type, or Stamp Commissioned Name of Notary Public)

My commission expires: OC . )*f <D 

Personally Known O OR Produced Identification B

L»c  Type of Identification Produced.

JAMES D ROMANEK
: MY COMMISSION # GG040239

EXPIRES October 19,2020

(seal)



A bJacl< and white copy of this document is nc
.'i*r. VlV A A   »>S*y*Vk AVA .V*Vn AWl JOT

white co y of this doc  ent is not

(MM.

W
Syti
i nj g

a s ct 

p

f| |
bKnv <?   S

d d hd:' 

: = '• .

¦< /  

:X  
" f  

STATE OF FLORIDA
DEPARTMENT OF STATE

ivision of Electio s

I, Ken Detzner, Secretary of St te,

do hereby certify that

Digvijay G ekwail

is duly appointed a member of the

Board of Trustees,

University of Central Florida

for a term beginning on the Second  ay of February, A.D., 2018,

until the Sixth d   of January* A.D., 2023 and is subject to be

confirmed by the Serrate during the next regular session of the

Legislature.

fd: ; '

•A fs ¦{¦

feffA W  
r '-;7h- ..

h. v;  • :¦
A¦•vi  -i L-. ?. >.-:•• - aa;:

AAo A ; r|o3 :rAy ooAF  • .. i

Given under my hand a d the Great Seal of the

State of Florida, at Tallahassee, the Capital, this

At ' the Fiifieerit dcy of February, A.D.,.2018.
''' i:';' " "f;;" :A Oo'.aS' A: AAA

"  '"o ' ' : : ¦.•  

A AA AOAAi

iSAAL-'::: '"® A® A

•- .')o A:oM;  -a'o  - 'if     o Secreta y  f State ;

m



HAND DELIVERED

Rick Scott
Governor

February 2,2018

Secretar  Kenneth W. Detzner

Secretary of State

State of Florida

R. A. Gray Buildin , Room 316

500 South Bronough Street

Tallahassee, Florida 32399-0250

Dear Secretary Detzner:

Please be advised I have made the followi g appoi tment u der  he  rovisio s of

Section 100 ,71, Florida Statutes:

as a member of the Board of Trustees, Universi y of Central Florida, succeeding Clarence

Hunt Brow , subject to confirmation by the Se ate. This appointment is effective February

2,2018, for a term ending Januaiy 6,2023.

Mr. Digvij y L. Gaekwad

11980 Southeast 22nd Avenue Road

Ocala, Florida 34480

Si cerely 

Rick Scott

Governor

RS/cr

THE CAPITOL
Tai i awacccc Ci mr A  ao ioo laezrw -rn-r n A >



k  M |,#/

STATE OF FLORIDA

OATH OF OFFICE received
(Art. II. § 5(b), Fla. Const.) UEPARTMEHT OF STA11

2018 FEB 13 AH 9* 37

County of Marion 01VIS10H OF ELECTIONS
TALLAHASSEE. FL

I do solemnly swear (or affirm) that I will support, protect, and defend the Constitution and

Government of the United States and of the State of Florida; th t I am duly qualified to hold

office un er t e Constitution of the State, and that I will well and faithfully perform t e duties of

on whic  I am now about to enter, so help me God.

[NOTE: If you affirm,  ou may omit the  ords  so help me God.  See § 92.52, Fla. St t.]

JUDITH ft HUOLQW
Notary Public-Stat. ol oUdi

• s CommlMion # H 95®43 

.wlJSJw My Comm. Explraa May 24,202
Bondid 'hrnuahKalkwil Notary  W.

Signature

Swo n to and subscribed before me this jA.dayof ¦r  L. Q2 

nature of Officer Administering Oath or of Notary Public

-k    o  
rint, Type, or Stamp Commi  ioned Name of Notary Public

Per onally Known OR Produced Identification D

Type of Identification Produced

ACCEPTANCE

I accept the office liste  in the above Oath of Office.

Mailing Address: 0 Home D Office

11980 SE 22nd Ave. Rd,   Digvijay Gaekwad

Street or Post Office Bo  Print Name

Ocala, Florida 34480

City, State, Zip Co e Signature

DS-DE 56 (Rev. 11/16)



CERTIFICATION

STATE OF FLORIDA
COUNTY OF //lari 0 tJ

Before me, the undersigned Notary Public of Florida, personally appeared

who, after being duty sworn, say: (1) that he/she has carefully and personally prepared or read

the answers to the foregoing questions; (2) that the information contained in said answers is

complete and true  and (3) that he/she will, as an appointee, fully support the Constitutions of the

United States and of the State of Florida.

Signature of Applicant-Affiant

Sworn to and subscribed before me this day of 70/ 

ignature ol otary Public-state ot Pionaa Judith r. hudlowJUDITH R. HUDLOW

(Print, Type, or Stamp Commissioned Name of N t3iy!TLimTC/

My commission expires:

Personally Known OR Produced Identification F~l

Type of Identification Produced



ml

ill®

So  
•=%.« n  p%s m #25%,  fi'"f» .  j*  i

STATE OF FLORIDA
DEPARTMENT OF STATE

Division of Elections

I, Ken Detzner, Secretary of State,

do hereby certify that

Kathryn Smith Ballard

is duly appointed a member of the

Board of Trustees,

Florida State University

for a term beginning on the Twelfth day of J nuary, A.D., 2018,

until the Sixth day of January, A.D., 2023 and is subject to be

confir ed by the Senate during the next regular session of the

Legislature.

fagBs

Given under my ha d and the Great Seal of the

State of Florida  at Tallahassee, th  Capita , this

the Sixth day of Febr ary, A.D<, 2018.

ag  f' i %. Oyfe 
Secretary of State

DSDE 99 (3/03)

document ha areflectiye line mark i  paper. Hold at an angle to view when cheeldnj

(D
3



Rick Scott
Governor 2J10JAN 19 PH 2=5 

- ; •'.•.il 1 Lis i !f\ |  

OlYISfON OF FLECTIONS
: «  l  s 1  i  i E

January 12,2018

Secretar  Kenneth W, Detzner

Secretary of State

State of Florid 

R. A. Gray Building, Room 316

500 South Bronough Street

Tallahassee, Florida 32399-0250

Dear Secretary Detzner:

Please be advised I have ma e  he following reappointment un er the provisio s of

Section 1001.71, Florida Statutes:

as a member of the Board of Trustees, Florida State University, subject to confirmation by

the Senate, This ap ointment is effective January 12,2018, for a term endi   January 6,

2023.

Mrs. Kathryn Smith Ballard

7445 Heartland Circle

Tallahassee, Florid  32312

Governor

RS/cr

THE CAPITOL
Taii has ff Finpm   939Q • ffiSf   71 7-99,49



HAND DELIVERED

STATE OF FLORIDA

OATH OF OFFICE
(Art. II. § 5(b), Fla. Const.) f' '''ED

18 JAN 31 PM 2=  8

County of  0 DIVi-k • r ELECTIONS
SECRETARY OK STATE

I do solemnly swear (or affirm) that I will support  protect, and defend the Constitution and

Government of the United States and of the State of Florida; that 1 am duly qualified to hold

office under the Constitution of the State, and that I will well and faithfully perform the duties of

Board of Trustees, Florida State University

(Title of Office)

on which 1 am now about to enter, so help me God.

[NOTE: If you affirm, you may omit the  ords  so 92.52, Fla. Stat.

Signature

Sworn to a d subscrib d b for  me this 31  ay of January , 2018

Sigfjmtr  of Offic r Admi ist ri g Oath or of Not n CYNTHIA H DAVIS

IrtMU A DA  . 
Print; Typ , or St mp Commissio ed Name of Notar

:   :*! MY COMMISSION # GO 061491 !
EXPIRES JUWB21 I 

Pmht  ''' Bond d Thru Notary Pubfic Undocwrileis -s

Personally Know  0 OR Produced Ide tification IZ1

Typ  of Identification Produced

ACCEPTANCE

1  ccept the office listed in the above Oath of Office.

Mailing Address: [7] Home DOffice

7445 Heartland Circle

Street or Post Office Box

Tallahassee, FL 32312

City, State, Zip Code

Kathryn Smith Ballard

Signature

DS-DE 56 (Rev. 11/16)



CERTIFICATION

STATE OF FLORIDA
COUNTY OF LEON

Before me, the undersigned Notary Public of Florida, personally appeared

who, after being duty sworn, say: (1) that he/she has carefully and personally prepared or read

the answers to the foregoing questions; (2) that the information contained in said answers is

complete and true; and (3) that he/she will, as an appointee, fully support the Constitutions of the

United States and of the State of Florida.

Sworn to and subscribed before me this 31 day 0f January 20_18

Sign ture of Notary Public-State of I CYNT IA H. DAVIS
A MY COMMISSION # GG 081491

EXPIRES: July 9,2021

CV TWIT-  OAViS
Bonded Thai Notary Public Un erwriters

(Print, Type, or Stamp Commissioned Name of Notary Public)

My commission expires: 

Personally Known [x] OR Produced Identification I I

Type of Identification Produced 

(seal)



m 

3o/5

STATE OF FLORIDA
DEPARTMENT OF STATE

Division of Elections

I, Ken Detzner, Secretary of State,

do hereby certify that

Jorge Gonzalez

is duly appointed a member of the

Board of Trustees,

Florida State University

for a term beginning on the Twelfth day of January, A.D., 2018,

until the Sixth day of January, A.D., 2021 and is subj ct to be

confirmed by the Sen te during the next regula  session of the

Legislature.

Given under my hand and the Gr at Seal of the

State of Florida, at Tallahassee, th  Capital, this

the Ninth day of February, A.D., 2018.

i' l:*:® Oyfc  .
Secretary of State

DSDE 99 {3/03)

S|

3:



Rick Scott
Governor JB18 JAN 19 P  2= 54

January 12,2018

Secretary Kenneth W. Detzner

Secretary of State

Sta e of Florida

R. A. Gray Building, Room 316

500 South Bronough Street

Tallahassee, Florida 32399-0250

Dear Secretary Detzner:

Please he advised I have made  he following appointment under the provisions of

Section 1001.71, Florida Statutes:

as a  e ber of the Board of Trustees, Florid  State University, filli g   v cant seat, subject

to confirmation by the Senate. This appointment is effective January 12,2018, for a term

ending Ja uary 6,2021.

Mr. Jorge Luis Gonzalez

1405 Bayto ne Avenue East

Mirarmar Beach, Florida 32550

Rick Scott

Governor

RS/cr

THE CAPITOL
TaI I A ACCnc O     - incsw -  i



OATH OF OFFICE
(Art. II. § 5(b), Fla. Const.)

STATE OF FLORIDA

County of J / 

HAND DELIVEREI
r-;r-

18 FEB -9 PHI OS

DIVi; .. . ..T  U TIONS
SEC ETARY OF STATE

I do solemnly swear (or affirm) that I will support, protect, and defend the Constitution and

Government of the Unite  States and of the State of Florida; that I am dul  qualified to hold

office under the Constitution of the State, and that I will well and faithfully  erform the duties of

on which 1 a  now about to enter, so help me God.

[NOTE; If  ou affirm, you may omit the words  so help me God.  See § 92.52, Fla. Stat.j

¦ - -  -rffcrfb
QCOMfitA  . CAMP9IU.

Wottry  MWc - State of Fferita
CommtulM # ffF t26184

My Comm. Expim M 2,2020

Sworn to and subscribed before me  it 

Signature of Officer Administering Oatri or of Notary Public

J_£.  

Print, Type, ovStamp Commissioned Name of Notary Public

Personally Known C3  OR Produced Ide tification 0

Type of Identification Produced

ACCEPTANCE

I  ccept the office listed in the above Oath of Office.

Mailing Address: (Hqme  Office

J40.5 ,  
Street or Post Office Box

{Jiir mar  L.j 1,1550
City, State, Zip Code

DSDE 56 (Rev. 11/16)

PRINT RESET



CERTIFICATION

STATE OF FLORIDA  
COUNTY OF Mfr  faTG  

Before me, the undersigned Notary Public of Florida, personally appeared

6UARL&& 7!> K ,
who, after being duty sworn, say: (1) that he/she has carefully and personally prepared or read

the answers to the foregoing questions; (2) that the information contained in said answers is

complete and true; and (3) that he/she will, as an appointee, fully support the Constitutions of the

United States and of the State of Florida.

Sworn to and subscribed before me this r day of "heh(U  ( i>L 20  .

Signature of Notary Public-State of Florida

H  fl [.

nKATHL EN M ANDERS0N
Nik }*  MV COMMISSION # FF963483

E PIRES April 12, 2020

(407) 398-0'03 riofkigNo a Se viec.con1

(Print, Type, or Stamp Commissioned Name of Notary Public)

My commission expires:    

Personally Known 53 or Produced Identification I 1

Type of Identification Produced 

(seal)



fig

STATE OF FLORIDA
DEPARTMENT OF STATE

Division of Elections

I, Ken Detzner, Secretary of State,

do hereby certify that

Stephen M. Smith

is duly appointed a member of the

Board of Trustees,

Florida Gulf Coast Universit 

for a term beginning on the Twenty-Sixth day of January, A.D.,

2018, until the Sixth day of January, A.D., 2021 and is subject to

be confirmed by the Senate during the next regular session of the

Legislature,

'Jthe Eighth d y of February, AD., 2018.

'to.

DSDE99 (3/03)

wm
yiMi

i°«

The



Rick Scott
Governor

January 26,2018

Secretar  Kenneth W. Detzner

Secretary of State

St te of Florida

R. A. Gray Building,  oom 316

500 South Bronoug  Street

Tallahassee, Florida 32399-0250

Dear Secretary Detzner:

Please be advised I have made the following appointment under the provisions of

Section 1001,71, Florida Sta utes:

Mr. Stephen M. Smith

15024 Pratoli o Way

Na les, Florida 34110

as a member of the Board of Trustees, Florida Gulf Coast University, filling a vacant seat,

subject to confirmation by the Sen te. This appointment is effective Januar  26,2018, for a

term ending January 6,2021.

Sincerely,

Rick Sco t

Governor

RS/cr

o 0*

1*4 Gj

tu ZZ

> 3C

UJ m >~U 

CM

UJ f £5<C

o G 

8 S3
<nZc

THE CAPITOL



STATE OF FLORIDA

County of Collier

OATH OF OFFICE
(Art. II. § 5(b), Fla. Const.)

2019JAN 29 AHIQ;h0

D,VT*UA&PI0HS

I do solemnly swear (or affirm) that I will support, protect, a   defend the Constitution and

Government of the United States and of the State of Florida; that 1 am duly qualified to hold

office under the Constitution of the State, and th t I will well and faithfully perform the duties of

Florida Gulf Coast University Board of Trustees

(Title of Office)

on which I am now about to enter, so help me God.

[NOTE: If you affirm, you may omit the words  so help me God.  See § 92.52, Fla. St t.]

ACCEPTANCE

I accept the office listed in the  bove Oath of Office,

Mailing Address: 0 Home D Office

15024 Pratolino Way   Stephen M. Smith

Street or Post Office Box

Naples, Florida 34110

City, State, Zip Code

DS-DE 56 (Rev. 11/16)



CERTIFICATION

STATE OF FLORIDA
COUNTY OF

Before me, the undersigned Notary Public of Florida, personally appeared

6 f £- h<tn Mt> n r  Am* / ?,

who, after being duty sworn, say: (1) that he/she has carefully and personally prepared or read

the answers to the foregoing questions; (2) that the information contained in said answers is

complete and true; and (3) that he/she will, as an appointee, fully support the Constitutions of the

United States and of the State of Florida.

(Print,  ype, or Stamp Commissioned Name of Notary Public)

My commission expires:

Personally Known Q OR Produced Identification

Type of Identification Produced f /or?'  i)r>  r $ 3 e 

(seal)



3t>3*>

STATE OF FLORIDA
DEPARTMENT OF STATE

Division of Elections

I, Ken Detzner, Secretary of State,

do hereby certify that

Gary C. Wendt

is duly appointed a member of the

Board of Trustees,

Florida Polytechnic Universit 

for a term beginning on the Ninth day of November, A.D., 2017,

until the Thirtieth day of June, A.D., 2022 and is subject to be

confirmed by the Senate during the next regular session of the

Le islature.

the Twelfth day of February, A ., 2018.

Secretary of State

DSDE99 <3/03)



Rick Scott
Governor

November 9,2017

Secretary Kenneth W. Detzner

Secretar  of State

State of Florida

R. A. Gray Building, Room 316

500 So th Bronough Street

Tallahassee, Florida 32399-0250

Dear Secretary Detzner:

Please be advised I have made the following reappointment under the provisions of

Section 1001.71, Florida Statutes:

as a member of the Board of Trustees, Florida Polytechnic Universit , subject to

confinnation by the Senate. This appointment is effective November 9,2017, for a term

ending June 30,2022.

Mr, Gary Carl Wendt

3055 Harbor Drive

Fort Lauderdale, Florid  33316

Governor

RS/cr

THE CAPITOL
Tall hassee, Florida 32399 • (850)717-9249



OATH OF OFFICE
(Art. II. § 5(b), Fla. Const.)

STATE OF FLORIDA

County of r H4SSfE n0NS

I do solemnly swear (or affirm) that I will support, protect, and defend the Constitution and

Government of the United States and of the State of Florida; that I am duly qualified to hold

office under the Constitution of the State, and that I will well and faithfully perform the duties of

on which I am now about to enter, so help me God.

[NOTE: If you affirm, you may omit the words  so help me God.  See § 92.52, Fla. Stat.1

DONALD B.MEDALI
MY COMMISSION ffF 162161
EXPIRES: October 29,2018
Bonded Thru BudgelNoiary Ser es

fH ShdrU If
Print, type, o  Stamp Commissioned Name of Notary Public

Pe so ally K ow  J l OR Produced Identification

Type of Ide tification Prod ced   

ACCEPTANCE

I accept the office listed in the above O th of Office.

Mailing Address: Home   office

Street or Post Office Box

CT. fjtL 3S3/ 
City, State, Zip Code

DS-DE 56 (Rev. 11/16)



CE TIFICATION

STATE OF FLORIDA
COUNTY OF 

Before me, the undersigned Notary Public of Florida, personally appeared
C  <. (,

who, after being duty sworn, sayt(l) that he/she has carefully and personally prepared or read

the answers to the foregoing questions; (2) that the infor ation contained in said answers is

complete and true; and (3) that he/she will, as an appointee, fully support the Constitutions of the

United States and of the State of Florida.

Signature  uipplicant-Affiant

Sworn to and subscribed before me this. day of. k
.,20 

Signature of Notary Public-State of Florida

(Print, Type, or Stamp Commissioned Name of Notary Public)

DONALD B.MEpALIE
MY COMMISSION #FF 162161
EXPIRES: October 29,2018
Bonded Thru Budget Notary Services

My commission expires: i ol nM 

Personally Known [2 OR Produced Identification l l

Type of Identification Produced

(seal)



ST

mgi

94

Be
W

81
<u

&£3  il
fi -

I? erei

do hereby certiiy pa 

4!
" 4"

\  s i ...- „„„ .'••  sn  c-    •$ ' s .v   m sn  . . V >?: / % yy,

lor a term beginning o  the Twenty-Sixth day or Januar , A.D.

«  «
Si ti Ir

M '

j  H

Given under my,

State

WeE 
lom

andme Great Seal of the

llakm.smttthe Capita

m
.? v ;         '!'  >ecret£

«SS 
" S-fc
S fO  

i: 

S nUlSi

<T> S>>:

! f

CD ?5> 

S9  
!B»

?t& vo

gn 
• r?
i£B «

I#|
| h fe ®

1

| S ,

I -tm;

ssgps-i* ;

K  t 



hand delivered

Rick Scott
Governor

February 8,2018

Secretary Kenneth W. Detzner

Secretary of State

State of Florida

R. A. Gray Building, Room 316

500 South  ronou h Street

Tallahassee, Florida 32399-0250

Dear Secretary Detzner:

Please be advised I have amended the following appointment tmder the provisions of

Section 1001.71, Florida Statutes:

as a member of the Board of Trustees, University of Florida, succeeding Steven Martin

Scott, subject to confirmation by the Senate. This appointment is effective January 26,2018,

for a term ending January 6,2023.

Thomas George Kuntz

1568 Holts Grove Circle

Winter Park, Florida 32789

Sincerely,

Governor

RS/cr

THE CAPITOL
Tallahassee, Florida 32399 - (850)717-9249



OATH OF OFFICE
(Art. n. § 5(b), Fla. Const)

STATE OF FLORIDA

Coun y of °range

I do solemnly swear (or affirm) that I will support, protect, and defend the Constitution and

Government of the United States and of the State of Florida; that I am duly qualified to hold

office under the Constitution of the State, and that I will well and faithfully perform the duties of

Trustee University of Florida

(Title of Office)

on which I am now about to enter, so help me God.

[NOTE: If you affirm, you may omit the words  so help me God.  See § 92.52, Fla. Stat.]

i
Signature

Sworn to and subscribed before me this     day of

ac 
Sighmure of Officer Administering Oath or of Notary   b

¦tft ifB idWti ufl  iidtr

SW-HOWARD
Notary Public - State of Florida

2 h A _

Print, Type, or Stamp Commissioned Name of Notary F b

Personally Known O   *?/? Produced Identification D

Type of Identification Produced 

Commission # GG 038556
My Comm. Expires Oct 13, 2020

/fc tff.& ?'''' Bonded through National NotaryAssn.
i

ACCEPTANCE

I accept the office listed in the above Oath of Office.

Mailing Address: Q Home 0 Office

400 S. Park Avenue Suite 200

Street or Post Office Box

Winter Park, Florida 32789

City, State, Zip Code

Thomas G. Kuntz

Print Name

L 'rt£mv\r\

Signature

DS-DE 56 (Rev. 11/16)



CERTIFICATION

STATE OF FLORIDA
COUNTY OF

Before me, the undersigned Notary Public of Florida, personally appeared

ThQHnrt k  i z-     ,,

who, after being duty sworn, say: (1) that he/she has carefully and personally prepared or read

the answers to the foregoing questions; (2) that the information contained in said answers is

complete and true; and (3) that he/she will, as an appointee, folly support the Constitutions of the

United States and of the State of Florida.

Signature of Applicant-Affi

Sworn to and subscribed before me this     day of

ignature of  otary Public-State of Florida

(Print, Type, or Stamp Commissioned Name of Notary PubHc     

My commission expires:

Personally Known

JO  ?/ / (3

SUE HO ARD
Notary Public - State of Florida

Commission # GG 038556

>

My Com . Expires Oct 13. 2020
Produced Identificatio  Jte '' Bonde  through National Notary Assn.

Type of Identification Produced

1 SUE HOWARD >

« ( M Public • State of Florida
i | Jj|  | 1 * * *   Commission # GG 038556
i My Comm-  pires Oct 13, 2020  

Bonded through National  otary Assn »
"   m u m m m ¦ ¦ » ¦ ,,





HAND DELIVERED

Rick Scott 20H FEB -8 AH 10: 19
Governor

TH   i  f i? t/VLE •
DIVISION OF ELECTIONS

February 8,2017

Secretar  Kenneth W. Detzner

Secretary of State

State of Florida

R. A. Gray Building, Room 316

500 South Bronough Street

Tallahassee, Florida 32399-0250

Dear Secretary Detzner:

Please be advised I have amended the following appointment under the provisions of

Section 1001.71, Florida Statutes:

as a member of the Board of Trustees, Universit  of North Florida, succeeding Joy Korman,

subject to confirmation by the Senate. This appointment is effective January 7,2018, for a

term ending January 6,2023.

Mr. Thomas Bryan

6247 Ortega Farms Boulevard

Jacksonville, Florida 32244

Sincerely,

Gove  or

RS/cr

THE CAPITOL
Tallahassee, Florida 32399 • (850) 717-9249



OATH OF OFFICE
(Art. II. § 5(b), Fla. Const.)

STATE OF FLORIDA

County of  

I do solemnly swear (or affirm) that I will support, protect, and defend the Constitution and

Government of the United States and of the State of Florida; that I am duly qualified to hold

office under the Constitution of the State, and that I will well and faithfully perform the duties of

(Title of Office)

on which I am now about to enter, so help me God.

[NOTE: If you affirm, you may omit the words  so help me God.  See § 92.52, Fla. Stat.]

MARTHA BAUDENDISTEL

jfr  ] MV COMMISSION # GO 149759
EXPIRES: October 16, 2021

W t 

7 to and s bscribed before me this    day of I/    

Signature ofQfficer Administering Oath or of Notary Public

'MjSuHmma
Print, Type, or Stamp Commissioned Name of Notaiy Public

Personally Known' S  OR Produced Identification I I

Type of Identification Produced   

ACCEPTANCE

I accept the office listed in the above Oath of Office.

Mailing Address:   Home Boffice

S S *7  &   /h  ~

Street or Post Office Box

3J-2SO

City, State, Zip Code

*-s A- V4 /

Print Name

Signature

DS-DE 56 (Rev. 11/16)



CERTIFICATION

STATE OF FLORIDA
COUNTY OF bVVi\L

Before me, the undersigned Notary Public of Florida, personally appeared

5

who, after being duty sworn, say: (1) that he/she has carefully and personally prepared or read

the answers to the foregoing questions; (2) that the information contained in said answers is

complete and true; and (3) that he/she will, as an appointee, fully support the Constitutions of the

United States and of the State of Florida.

Signature of A plicant-Affiant

Swo   to and subscribed before me this day of. Janua 20_

Signature  Notary Public-State of Florida

r /\Je,KOY 

(Print, type, or Stamp Commissioned Name of Notary Public)

My commission expires:/ & /  o/  

Personally Known QJ OR Produced Identification [j

Type of Identification Produced  

vra. nelson
MY eO MfS.Wr# OD 937836

EXPiRES:  eBmarf 6, 2018
Bondad Thai i otaiy UiuniK; Underwriters

(seal)



STATE OF FLORID 
DEPARTMENT OF STATE

Division of Elections

I, Ken Detzner, Secretary of State,

do hereby certify that

Oscar J. Horton

is duly appointed a member of the

Board of Trustees,

University of South Florida

for a term beginning on the Twenty-Fifth day of January, A.D.,

2018, until the Sixth day of January, A.D., 2023 and is subject to

be confirmed by the Senate during the next regular session of the

Legislature.

Given under my hand and the Gre t Seat of the

St te of Florida, at Tallahass e, the Capital this

the Thirty Fir t day of January, A,D., 201B.

Oita*
Secretary of  tate

DSDE 99 (3/03)



State
University
System
o/FLORIDA
Board of Gove  ors

¦ R •• ' ;vED

18 J M 26 PM 12= 30

DlVlbiu.. Or c-LlCTIOMS
SECRETARY OF STATE

Office of the Chancellor

325 West Gaines Street, Suite 1614

Tallahassee, FL  2399

Phone 850.245,0  6

Fax 850.2 5.9685

www.flbog.edu

January 26  2018

MEMORANDUM

To: Ms, Inez Willi ms

From: Cora Merritt

University Trustees Coordinator

Subject Appointme ts to the U iversity Bo rds of Trustees b  the

Board of Governors, January 25,2018

This is to advise you that the Boar  of Governors made the following appointment  to

the University Boards of Trustees, on Thursday, Ja uary 25, 20 8,

To the University of Florida Board of Trustees: Mr. Daniel O Keefe was appoi ted for

term that begah January 25, 2018 and ending January 6, 2023, to the seat previously held

by Mr, David Thomas.

To the U iversity of South Florida Board of Trustees: Mr. Oscar Horto  was appointed

for a term that began January 25,2018 a d ending Janu ry 6,2023, to the seat

previously held by Mr, Stanley Levy,

Attached are copies of the letters from Cha cellor Marshall M. Criser III.

Thank you for your assistance in proc ssi g  hese appointments for their Senate

confirmation. Please call me if you need additional information.

Enclosures

Florida A&M University | Florida Atlantic University | Florida Gulf Coast University I Florida International University

Florida Polytechnic University | Florida State University | New College of Florida I University of Central Florida

University of Florida | University of Nort  Florida ( University of South Flo ida 1 University of West Florida



STATE
UNIVERSITY
System
o/FLORIDA

r  * •J       Q

18 JW126 PH 12=30

UlVi  
SECRL

[';• a.-DTIONS

(ARY OF STATE

Office of the Chancelior

325 West Gaines Street, Suite 1614

Tallahassee, FL 32399

Phone 850.245.0 66

Fax 850.245.9685

ww .flbog.edu

January 26,2018

Mr. Oscar Horto 

6020 Adamo Drive

Tampa, Florida 33619

Dear Mr. Horton:

On Thursday, January 25, 2018, the Florida Board of Governors approved the recommendation

made by its Nomination and Governance Committee to appoint you as a  ember of the

Univer ity of South Fl rida Board of Trustees. Please accept our congra ulations.

The appointment acknowledges y ur  ecord of  ublic service a d numerous career milestones.

Your achievements are sure to provide expertise to t e Sta e Uni ersi y System of Florida and

the University of South Florida as you serve in t e capacity of a trustee. The ap oi t ent,

subject to confirmation    the Florida  enate, your attendance o  a System orientation s ssion,

and annual attendance at the Trustee Sum its cond c ed by the Board of Governors, is for a

term tha  bega  J  uary 25, 2018 and ends on J nuary 6, 2023.

Your role as a trustee is vital to the gove nance and succ ss of our System. Members of the

Board of Governors rely on all the uni ersity trus ees to exercise due diligence in connection

wit  t eir o ersight responsibilities for our universities.

Thank you for your willingness to serve. Wc look forward to working with  ou as a  ember of

the Universi y of South Florida Board  f Trustees.

Sincerely,

c: Ned Lautenbach, Chair, Board of Governors and

Nomination and Gove  ance Commi te 

Brian Lamb, Chair, Board of Trustees

Dr. Judy Genshaft, President, University of South Florida

Dr. Cindy Visot, Board o  Trustees Liaison

Vikki Shirley, Corpo ate  ecretary and Gen ral Counsel

Cora Merri  , University Trustees Coo dinator

Florida A&M University I Florida Atlantic University | Florida Gulf Coast University I Florida Internati nal University

Florida Polytechn c University I Florida State Uni ersi y | Mew College of Florida ! Universi y of Cen r l Florida

University of Florida | Uni ersity of North Florida j University of South Florida I University of West Florida



OATH OF OFFICE
(Art. U. § 5(b), Fla. Const.)

STATE OF FLORIDA

County of i\ A bcrC A  v

"M  to If): 3 J
pc r.

! do solemnly swear (or affirm) that I will support, protect, and defen  the Constitution and  

Government  f the United States and of the State of Florida; that I am duly qualified to hold

office under the Constitution of the State, an  that 1 will well and faithfully pe for  the dutie  of

.o  StUsif Pi nr, (4 FUtaU rJr  Trus freS
(Title of Office)

on which 1 am now about to enter, so help me God.

[NOTE: If you affirm, you may omit the words  so help  e God.  See § 92,52, Fla. Stat.

Notiwy PgWk: Stftta of Florida
. . Tara Lynn Burtte

J My CommlMlon GO 049098
E  ire* 03/00 2021

Sig at re

S  orn to and subscribed before me this    da) of

Signature of Offic r Admi istering Oath or of Notary Public

Print, Type, or St  p Com i sioned Name of  otary Public

Personally Known  roduc d Identification D

Type of Id ntification Produced   

ACCEPTANCE

I accept the office listed in the above Oath of Office.

Mailing Address: CD Home 0l5mce

laOTP Tf Ada  ) T i i - -
Street or Post Office Box

Cf I   
Cit , State, Zip Code

dscarA. U rd rx

DS-DE 56 (Rev, 11/16)



CERTIFICATION

STATE OF FLORIDA
COUNTY OF

TJ

Before me, the undersigned Notary public of Florida, personally appeared
0*  c c  ?

who, after being duty sworn, say: (1) that he/she has carefully and personally prepared or read

the answers to the foregoing questions; (2) that the information contained in said answers is

complete and true; and (3) that he/she will, as an appointee, fully support the Constitutions of the

United States and of the State of Florida.

Signature of A plicant-Affiant

Swo   to and subscribed before me this   )   day of rtf 2'

. / '' l

Signature of Notary Public-State of Florida

(Print, Type, or Stamp Commissioned Name of Notary Public)

My commission expires: 6 3/6  7-0Z-l

Personally Known OR Produced Identification I I

Type of Identification Produced

(seal)



jKPg

mi 

STATE OF FLORIDA
DEPARTMENT OF STATE

Division of Elections

I, Ken Detzner, Secretary of State,

do hereby certify that

Les M. M mu

is duly appointed a member of the

Board of Trustees,

University of South Florida

for a term beginning on the Twelfth d y of J nuar , A.D., 2018,

until the Sixth day of January, A.D., 2023 and is subject to be

confirmed by the Senate during the next regular session of the

Legislature.

11

DSDE 99 (3/03)

Given under my hand and the Great Seal of the

State of Florid , at Tallah ssee, the C pital, this

th  Thirt -First day of Janu ry, A.D., 20 IS 

Secretary of State



Rick Scott
Governor

January 12,2018

Secretary Kenneth W. Detzner

Secretary of State

State of Florida

R. A. Gray Building, Room 316

500 South Bronough Street

Tallahassee, Florida 32399-0250

Dear Secretary Detzner:

Please be advised 1 have made the following appointment under the provisions of

Section 1001.71, Florida Statutes:

as a member of the Board of Trustees, University of South Florida, filling   vacant seat,

subject to confirmation by the Senate. This appointment is effective January 12,2018 for a

term ending January 6,2023.

Mr. Les Marti  Muma

100 Palmetto Road

Belleair, Florida 33756

Sincerely,

Governor

RS/cr

THE CAPITOL
Taiiahassff Fidpida .T9S09 * 71 7_Q?ao



// to '/

STATE OF FLORIDA

County of

OATH OF OFFICE
2BI8ja»29  

oly$io oFFI k0

HASsftPypNS

(Art. II. § 5(b), Fla. Const.)

1 do solemnly swear (or affirm) that I will support, protect, and defend the Constitution and

Government of the United States and of the State of Florida; that I am duly qualified to hold

office under the Constitution of the State, and that I will well and faithfully perform the duties of

/ (Title of Office)

on which I a  now about to enter, so help me God.

[NOTE: If you affirm, you m   omiLthe words  so help me God.  See § 92,52, Fla. Stat.]

Signature ( Officer Admi istering Oath or of Notary Public

JUDYB. NC1
Print, Type, or of Notary P blic

My Comm, Expires Apr 17,2018

Pe sonally Known 1,2488 Produced Identificatio  d

Type of Identification Produced

ACCEPTANCE

of Office.I  cc pt the office listed in the above Oath

Mailing Address: H Home   Office

/OCKKi il  TTZC fifi 
Street or Post Office Box

Cit , State, Zip Code

/fturtA

DS-DE56 (Rev, 11/16)



CERTIFICATION

STATE OF FLORIDA
CO NTY OF

Before me, the undersigned Notary Public of Florida, personally appeared

who, after being duty sworn, say: (1) that he/she has carefully and personally prepared or read

the answers to the foregoing questions; (2) that the information contained in said answers is

complete and true; and (3) that he/she will, as an appointee, fully support the Constitutions of the

Sworn to and subscribed before me this day of

Signature o lic-State of Florida

JUDYB.L NC!
Notary Public, State of Florida

My Comm. Expires Apr 17,2018
No. FF112488

(Print, Type, or Stamp Commissioned Name of Notary Public)

My commission expires:

Personally Known Produced Identification I I

Type of Identification Produced



3ciS
STATE OF FLORIDA

DEPARTMENT OF STATE

Division of Election 

I, Ken Detzner, Secretary of State,

do hereby certify that

Charles Tokarz

is duly appointed a member of the

Board of Trustees,

University of South Florida

for a term beginning on the Twelfth day of January, A.D., 2018,

until the Sixth day of January, A.D., 2021 and is subject to be

confirmed by the Senate during the next regular session of the

Legislature.

State of Florid , at Tall h ssee, th  Capital thm

the Thirteenth day of  ebruary, A. D., 201$ 

I' 

Secretary of State

DSDE 99 <3/03)



Rick Scott
Governor 2111 JAN 19 PH 2:5 

UfVjSlUR ut- tl.iiC I KJNS

January 12,2018

Secretary Kenneth W. Detzner

Secretary of State

State of Florida

R. A, Gray Buildin , Room 316

500 South Bronough Street

Tallahassee, Flori a 32399-0250

Dear Secretary Detz er:

Please be advised I have made the following appointment under the provisions of

Section 1001 1, Florida Statutes:

as a member of the Board of Trustees, University of South Florida, filling a vacant seat,

subject to confirmation by t e Senate,  his appointment is effective January 12,2018 for a

term ending January 6,2021,

Mr. Charles Joseph Tokarz

4721 Oak Ru  Drive

Sarasota, Florida 34243

Sincerely,

Gove  or

RS/cr

THE CAPITOL
Taii  LiAcccn Ci \Dir>  OO JOO - IQfZfW 717 07 0



OATH OF OFFICE
(Art. IF. § 5(b), Fla. Const,)

STATE OF FLORIDA

Countyof Tfcrfr

1 do solemnly swear (or aifirm) that 1 will support, protect, and defend the Constitution and

Gove  ment of the United States and of the State of Florida, that I am  uly qualified to hold

office under the Constitution of the State, and that 1  ill well and faithfully perform the duties of

:jN\VSnSiTV o  S&J TU r Cfc(0  B
(Title of Office)

IlW FJPNSfrF F{

on which 1 am no  about to enter, so  elp me G d.

(NOTE: If you affirm,  ou may omit the words  so help me God.  See § 92.52, Fla. Stat.J

Signature j

wo   to and sybwnbed be/opf   m S 

Stgrfatu  ol Offu vrA midt e mg  ath or  f Solan PuN 

n  k  M 4f!c j 36 
Print, Type, nr Stamp Commissio ed Nama of Nou  \ Public

erson lly Known E- "or ro m e l cntt/n at ton Q

KATHLEEN U ANDERSON

/ fj&V: MY COMMISSION tl FF963403
EXPI ES April 12. 2020

(<107i 3i)B-0 55 Fkwc iNu'a-ySe.'vK « um

T pe of f  nltfh  t ton    du  d

ACCEPTANCE
I accept the office list d in the above Oath of Office.

Mailing Address 0Tlome  office

Ron   ftt f
Street or Post Office Box

dft/teoTTt Ft, 34-243
City, State, Zip Code

c ntiiE  tc'k s'& z-
Print Name

J / .7  .
Signature

DS-DE56 (Rev. 11/16)



CERTIFICATION

STATE OF FLORIDA
COUNTY OF

Before me, the undersigned Notary Public of Florida, personally appeared

5

who, after being duty sworn, say: (1) that he/she has carefully and personally prepared or read

the answers to the foregoing questions; (2) that the information contained in said answers is

complete and true; and (3) that he/she will, as an appointee, fully support the Constitutions of the

United States and of the State of Florida.

Sworn to and subscribed before me this day of _ , 20.

Signarure or in oxary ruDiic-oxaxe or riorida

/ y,  i'io' 

(Print, Type, or Stamp Commissioned Name of Notary Public)

My commission expires:  

Personally Known [Q  OR Produced Identification I I

Type of Identification Produced

(seal)



The Florida Senate 

BILL ANALYSIS AND FISCAL IMPACT STATEMENT 
(This document is based on the provisions contained in the legislation as of the latest date listed below.) 

Prepared By: The Professional Staff of the Committee on Education 

 

BILL:  SB 968 

INTRODUCER:  Senator Brandes 

SUBJECT:  Mastery-Based Education 

DATE:  February 19, 2018 

 

 ANALYST  STAFF DIRECTOR  REFERENCE  ACTION 

1. Bouck  Graf  ED  Pre-meeting 

2.     AED   

3.     AP   

 

I. Summary: 

SB 968 renames the Competency-Based Education Pilot Program as the Mastery-Based 

Education Pilot Program (mastery-based pilot) and: 

 Expands participation in the mastery-based pilot to all school districts. 

 Authorizes district school boards participating in the mastery-based pilot to: 

o Determine and award credit based on student’s mastery of core content and skills. 

o Use an alternative interpretation of letter grades to measure student success in grades  

6-12. 

 Requires the statewide articulation agreement to ensure fair and equitable access for high 

school graduates with mastery-based, nontraditional diplomas and transcripts. 

 

The bill takes effect July 1, 2018. 

II. Present Situation: 

Competency-Based Education Pilot Program 

In 20161 the Legislature created the Competency-Based Education Pilot Program (pilot program) 

within the Department of Education (DOE) to be administered for a period of 5 years, beginning 

with the 2016-2017 school year.2 The purpose of the pilot program is to provide an educational 

environment that allows students to advance to higher levels of learning upon the mastery of 

concepts and skills through statutory exemptions relating to student progression and the 

awarding of credits.3 

 

                                                 
1 Section 1, ch. 2016-149, L.O.F. 
2 Section 1003.4996, F.S. 
3 Id. 

REVISED:         



BILL: SB 968   Page 2 

 

The Lake, Palm Beach, Pinellas, and Seminole County School Districts and the P.K. Yonge 

Developmental Research School may submit an application in a format prescribed by the DOE to 

participate in the pilot program.4 

 

The application to participate in the pilot program must, at a minimum, include:5 

 The vision and timelines for the implementation of competency-based education within the 

school district, including a list of the schools that will participate in the pilot program during 

the first school year and the list of schools that will be integrated into the program in 

subsequent school years. 

 The annual goals and performance outcomes, specified in law, for participating schools. 

 A communication plan for parents and other stakeholders, including local businesses and 

community members. 

 The scope of and timelines for professional development for school instructional and 

administrative personnel. 

 A plan for student progression based on the mastery of content, including mechanisms that 

determine and ensure that a student has satisfied the requirements for grade-level promotion 

and content mastery. 

 A plan for using technology and digital and blended learning to enhance student achievement 

and facilitate the competency-based education system. 

 The proposed allocation of resources for the pilot program at the school and district levels. 

 The recruitment and selection of participating schools. 

 The rules to be waived for participating schools to implement the pilot program.6 

 

Four of the five eligible school districts chose to participate in the pilot program during the 2016-

2017 school year.7 The Seminole County School District elected to use 2016-2017 as a planning 

year only.8 Additionally, while the Lake County School District participated in the pilot program 

in 2016-2017, the district school superintendent decided to suspend the district’s participation in 

2017-2018 to assess the pressing needs of the district, but intends for the school district to 

participate in the pilot program in 2018-2019.9 

 

Definition of Credit 

For the purposes of requirements for high school graduation, one full credit means a minimum of 

135 hours of bona fide instruction in a designated course of study that contains student 

                                                 
4 Section 1003.4996(1), F.S. The P.K. Yonge Developmental Research School is a public school affiliated with the 

University of Florida. P.K. Yonge Developmental Research School at the University of Florida, https://pkyonge.ufl.edu/ (last 

visited Feb. 19, 2018). 
5 Section 1003.4996(2), F.S. 
6 To facilitate innovative practices and to allow local selection of educational methods, the State Board of Education (SBE) 

may authorize the commissioner to waive, upon the request of a district school board, SBE rules that relate to district school 

instruction and school operations, except those rules pertaining to civil rights, and student health, safety, and welfare. Section 

1001.10(3), F.S. The SBE may authorize the commissioner to grant an additional waiver of rules relating to student 

progression and the awarding of credits. Section 1003.4996(2)(i), F.S. 
7 Florida Department of Education, Competency-Based Education Pilot Program, 2016-17 Annual Report (June 9, 2017), at 

1. Email, Florida Department of Education (Feb. 15, 2018). 
8 Id. 
9 Id. 



BILL: SB 968   Page 3 

 

performance standards, except as otherwise provided through the Credit Acceleration Program.10 

For a district school that has been authorized to implement block scheduling by the district 

school board, one full credit means a minimum of 120 hours of bona fide instruction in a 

designated course of study that contains student performance standards for purposes of meeting 

high school graduation requirements.11 

 

The State Board of Education (SBE) is required to determine the number of postsecondary credit 

hours earned through dual enrollment12 that satisfy the requirements of a dual enrollment 

articulation agreement13 and that equal one full credit of the equivalent high school course.14 

 

Middle and High School Grading System 

The grading system and interpretation of letter grades used to measure student success in grade 6 

through grade 12 courses for students in public schools shall be as follows:15 

 Grade “A” equals 90 percent through 100 percent, has a grade point average value of 4, and 

is defined as “outstanding progress.” 

 Grade “B” equals 80 percent through 89 percent, has a grade point average value of 3, and is 

defined as “above average progress.” 

 Grade “C” equals 70 percent through 79 percent, has a grade point average value of 2, and is 

defined as “average progress.” 

 Grade “D” equals 60 percent through 69 percent, has a grade point average value of 1, and is 

defined as “lowest acceptable progress.” 

 Grade “F” equals zero percent through 59 percent, has a grade point average value of zero, 

and is defined as “failure.” 

 Grade “I” equals zero percent, has a grade point average value of zero, and is defined as 

“incomplete.” 

 

For the purposes of class ranking, district school boards may exercise a weighted grading 

system.16 

                                                 
10 Section 1003.436(1), F.S. The Credit Acceleration Program allows a student to earn high school credit in courses required 

for high school graduation through passage of an end-of-course assessment, an Advanced Placement Examination, or a 

College Level Examination Program. Section 1003.4295(3), F.S. 
11 Section 1003.436(1), F.S. 
12 The dual enrollment program is the enrollment of an eligible secondary student or home education student in a 

postsecondary course creditable toward high school completion and a career certificate or an associate or baccalaureate 

degree. Section 1007.271, F.S. 
13 The dual enrollment articulation agreement between a school district and public postsecondary institution must delineate 

the high school credit earned for passage of each dual enrollment course. Section 1007.271(21)(f), F.S. 
14 Section 1003.436(1), F.S. The Commissioner of Education must recommend to the State Board of Education 

postsecondary courses that meet high school graduation requirements and the number of postsecondary semester credit hours 

of instruction and equivalent high school credits that are necessary to meet high school graduation requirements. Section 

1007.271(9), F.S. 
15 Section 1003.437, F.S. 
16 Id. School districts and Florida College System institutions must weigh dual enrollment courses the same as advanced 

placement, International Baccalaureate, and Advanced International Certificate of Education courses when grade point 

averages are calculated. Alternative grade calculation systems, alternative grade weighting systems, and information 

regarding student education options that discriminate against dual enrollment courses are prohibited. Section 1007.271(18), 

F.S. 



BILL: SB 968   Page 4 

 

Statewide Articulation Agreement 

The SBE and the Board of Governors of the State University system are required to enter into a 

statewide articulation agreement, which must preserve Florida’s “2+2” system of articulation, 

facilitate the seamless articulation of student credit across and among Florida’s educational 

entities, and govern, among other provisions, articulation between secondary and postsecondary 

education.17 

III. Effect of Proposed Changes: 

SB 968 renames the Competency-Based Education Pilot Program as the Mastery-Based 

Education Pilot Program (mastery-based pilot) and: 

 Expands participation in the mastery-based pilot to all school districts. 

 Authorizes district school boards participating in the mastery-based pilot to: 

o Determine and award credit based on student’s mastery of core content and skills. 

o Use an alternative interpretation of letter grades to measure student success in grades  

6-12. 

 Requires the statewide articulation agreement to ensure fair and equitable access for high 

school graduates with mastery-based, nontraditional diplomas and transcripts. 

 

Mastery-Based Education Pilot Program 

The bill expands participation in the pilot program to all public school districts.18 The bill 

removes the 2016-2017 school year beginning date for the mastery-based pilot, but maintains the 

five-year timeframe for the mastery-based pilot. 

 

The bill authorizes that, beginning in the 2018-2019 school year, participating school districts 

may amend their applications to include alternatives for: 

 Awarding credit, which must include a verification of the student’s mastery of the applicable 

course content using rigorous scoring rubrics to evaluate the student’s work. 

 The interpretation of middle school and high school letter grades, which may substitute the 

applicable language from the school district’s rigorous scoring rubric. 

 

The bill requires that an application that is amended to include such provisions must be approved 

by the district school board. 

 

                                                 
17 Section 1007.23(1), F.S. 
18 Each county is designated as a school district. Art IX, sec. 4, Fla. Const. and section 1001.30, F.S. For the purposes of 

funding and educational facilities, developmental research (laboratory) schools are designated as special school districts. 

Section 1011.24, F.S. It is unclear, however, if developmental research schools affiliated with Florida Agricultural and 

Mechanical University, Florida Atlantic University, and Florida State University would be eligible to participate in the 

mastery-based pilot under section 1003.4996, F.S. 



BILL: SB 968   Page 5 

 

Definition of Credit 

The bill authorizes district school boards19 participating in the mastery-based pilot to determine 

and award credit based on a student’s mastery of the core content and skills, consistent with the 

Next Generation Sunshine State Standards,20 as approved by the district school board. The bill 

may allow a student to progress more rapidly by completing course competencies without the 

requirement to meet the minimum hours of instruction. 

 

Middle and High School Grading System 

The bill authorizes district school boards21 participating in the mastery-based pilot to use an 

alternative interpretation of letter grades to measure student success in grade 6 through grade 12. 

 

According to the Department of Education and Board of Governors of the State University 

System (BOG), the use of an alternative interpretation of the letter grade system by school 

districts that participate in the pilot program may impact the students’ ability to meet the specific 

minimum grade point average (GPA) requirements for the following:22 

 National Collegiate Athletic Association Division I and II scholarships; 

 Interscholastic extracurricular activities; 

 Bright Futures and other scholarships; and 

 Dual enrollment. 

 

Statewide Articulation Agreement 

The bill requires the statewide articulation agreement to ensure fair and equitable access for high 

school graduates with mastery-based, nontraditional diplomas and transcripts. Accordingly, the 

statewide articulation agreement may likely need to be updated in rule by the State Board of 

Education and in regulation by the BOG. In addition, postsecondary institutions may need to 

update first-time-in-college admissions procedures to revise GPA requirements consistent with 

alternatives to the letter-grade system.23 

 

The bill takes effect July 1, 2018. 

                                                 
19 See supra note 15. It is unclear if the P.K. Yonge Developmental Research School is included in the authorization in the 

bill to award credit based on a student’s mastery of core content and skills. A district school board refers to the president of 

the university, or the president’s designee, only for the purposes of school improvement and accountability. Section 

1002.32(10)(b), F.S. 
20 The Next Generation Sunshine State Standards establish the core content of the curricula to be taught in the state and 

specify the core content knowledge and skills that K-12 public school students are expected to acquire. Standards must be 

rigorous and relevant and provide for the logical, sequential progression of core curricular content that incrementally 

increases a student’s core content knowledge and skills over time. Section 1003.41(1), F.S. 
21 See supra note 16. 
22 Department of Education, 2018 Agency Analysis for SB 968 (Dec. 1, 2017), at 4 and 7, and Board of Governors, 2018 Bill 

Analysis of SB 968 (Dec. 13, 2017), at 4. 
23 Board of Governors, 2018 Bill Analysis of SB 968 (Dec. 13, 2017), at 3-4. 



BILL: SB 968   Page 6 

 

IV. Constitutional Issues: 

A. Municipality/County Mandates Restrictions: 

None. 

B. Public Records/Open Meetings Issues: 

None. 

C. Trust Funds Restrictions: 

None. 

V. Fiscal Impact Statement: 

A. Tax/Fee Issues: 

None. 

B. Private Sector Impact: 

None. 

C. Government Sector Impact: 

None. 

VI. Technical Deficiencies: 

None. 

VII. Related Issues: 

None. 

VIII. Statutes Affected: 

This bill substantially amends the following sections of the Florida Statutes: 1003.436, 1003.437, 

1003.4996, and 1007.23. 

IX. Additional Information: 

A. Committee Substitute – Statement of Changes: 
(Summarizing differences between the Committee Substitute and the prior version of the bill.) 

None. 



BILL: SB 968   Page 7 

 

B. Amendments: 

None. 

This Senate Bill Analysis does not reflect the intent or official position of the bill’s introducer or the Florida Senate. 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. SB 968 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì326084.Î326084 

 

Page 1 of 2 

2/19/2018 10:28:54 AM 581-03369-18 

LEGISLATIVE ACTION 

Senate 

 

 

 

 

 

 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

 

House 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Committee on Education (Brandes) recommended the following: 

 

Senate Amendment (with title amendment) 1 

 2 

Delete line 95 3 

and insert: 4 

the department for approval to participate in the pilot program. 5 

The department may choose up to 10 public school districts to 6 

participate in the pilot program. 7 

 8 

================= T I T L E  A M E N D M E N T ================ 9 

And the title is amended as follows: 10 

Delete line 14 11 



Florida Senate - 2018 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. SB 968 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì326084.Î326084 

 

Page 2 of 2 

2/19/2018 10:28:54 AM 581-03369-18 

and insert: 12 

applications for the program; limiting the number of 13 

school districts the department may choose to 14 

participate in the program; authorizing 15 



Florida Senate - 2018 SB 968 

 

 

  

By Senator Brandes 

 

 

 

 

 

24-01023A-18 2018968__ 

 Page 1 of 6  

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

A bill to be entitled 1 

An act relating to mastery-based education; amending 2 

s. 1003.436, F.S.; authorizing a district school board 3 

participating in the Mastery-Based Education Pilot 4 

Program to award credit based on student mastery of 5 

certain content and skills; amending s. 1003.437, 6 

F.S.; authorizing a district school board 7 

participating in the Mastery-Based Education Pilot 8 

Program to use an alternative interpretation of letter 9 

grades for certain students; amending s. 1003.4996, 10 

F.S.; renaming the Competency-Based Education Pilot 11 

Program as the Mastery-Based Education Pilot Program; 12 

authorizing public school districts to submit 13 

applications for the program; authorizing 14 

participating school districts to amend their 15 

applications to include alternatives for the award 16 

credits and interpretation of letter grades; providing 17 

requirements for such alternatives; amending s. 18 

1007.23, F.S.; requiring the statewide articulation 19 

agreement to ensure fair and equitable access for 20 

students with mastery-based, nontraditional diplomas 21 

and transcripts; providing an effective date. 22 

  23 

Be It Enacted by the Legislature of the State of Florida: 24 

 25 

Section 1. Paragraph (a) of subsection (1) of section 26 

1003.436, Florida Statutes, is amended to read: 27 

1003.436 Definition of “credit.”— 28 

(1)(a) For the purposes of requirements for high school 29 

Florida Senate - 2018 SB 968 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

24-01023A-18 2018968__ 

 Page 2 of 6  

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

graduation, one full credit means a minimum of 135 hours of bona 30 

fide instruction in a designated course of study that contains 31 

student performance standards, except as otherwise provided 32 

through the Credit Acceleration Program (CAP) under s. 33 

1003.4295(3). One full credit means a minimum of 120 hours of 34 

bona fide instruction in a designated course of study that 35 

contains student performance standards for purposes of meeting 36 

high school graduation requirements in a district school that 37 

has been authorized to implement block scheduling by the 38 

district school board. However, district school boards 39 

participating in the Mastery-Based Education Pilot Program under 40 

s. 1003.4996 may determine and award credit based on a student’s 41 

mastery of the core content and skills, consistent with s. 42 

1003.41, as approved by the district school board. The State 43 

Board of Education shall determine the number of postsecondary 44 

credit hours earned through dual enrollment pursuant to s. 45 

1007.271 that satisfy the requirements of a dual enrollment 46 

articulation agreement according to s. 1007.271(21) and that 47 

equal one full credit of the equivalent high school course 48 

identified pursuant to s. 1007.271(9). 49 

Section 2. Section 1003.437, Florida Statutes, is amended 50 

to read: 51 

1003.437 Middle and high school grading system.— 52 

(1) The grading system and interpretation of letter grades 53 

used to measure student success in grade 6 through grade 12 54 

courses for students in public schools shall be as follows: 55 

(a)(1) Grade “A” equals 90 percent through 100 percent, has 56 

a grade point average value of 4, and is defined as “outstanding 57 

progress.” 58 



Florida Senate - 2018 SB 968 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

24-01023A-18 2018968__ 

 Page 3 of 6  

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

(b)(2) Grade “B” equals 80 percent through 89 percent, has 59 

a grade point average value of 3, and is defined as “above 60 

average progress.” 61 

(c)(3) Grade “C” equals 70 percent through 79 percent, has 62 

a grade point average value of 2, and is defined as “average 63 

progress.” 64 

(d)(4) Grade “D” equals 60 percent through 69 percent, has 65 

a grade point average value of 1, and is defined as “lowest 66 

acceptable progress.” 67 

(e)(5) Grade “F” equals zero percent through 59 percent, 68 

has a grade point average value of zero, and is defined as 69 

“failure.” 70 

(f)(6) Grade “I” equals zero percent, has a grade point 71 

average value of zero, and is defined as “incomplete.” 72 

(2) District school boards participating in the Mastery-73 

Based Education Pilot Program under s. 1003.4996 may use an 74 

alternative interpretation of letter grades to measure student 75 

success in grade 6 through grade 12. 76 

 77 

For the purposes of class ranking, district school boards may 78 

exercise a weighted grading system pursuant to s. 1007.271. 79 

Section 3. Section 1003.4996, Florida Statutes, is amended 80 

to read: 81 

1003.4996 Mastery-Based Competency-Based Education Pilot 82 

Program.—Beginning with the 2016-2017 school year, The Mastery-83 

Based Competency-Based Education Pilot Program is created within 84 

the Department of Education to be administered for a period of 5 85 

years. The purpose of the pilot program is to provide an 86 

educational environment that allows students to advance to 87 

Florida Senate - 2018 SB 968 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

24-01023A-18 2018968__ 

 Page 4 of 6  

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

higher levels of learning upon the mastery of concepts and 88 

skills through statutory exemptions relating to student 89 

progression and the awarding of credits. 90 

(1) PARTICIPATION.—The P.K. Yonge Developmental Research 91 

School and public school districts, including, but not limited 92 

to, the Lake, Palm Beach, Pinellas, and Seminole County School 93 

Districts, may submit an application in a format prescribed by 94 

the department to participate in the pilot program. 95 

(2) APPLICATION.—The application to participate in the 96 

pilot program must, at a minimum, include: 97 

(a) The vision and timelines for the implementation of 98 

mastery-based competency-based education within the school 99 

district, including a list of the schools that will participate 100 

in the pilot program during the first school year and the list 101 

of schools that will be integrated into the program in 102 

subsequent school years. 103 

(b) The annual goals and performance outcomes for 104 

participating schools, including, but not limited to: 105 

1. Student performance as defined in s. 1008.34. 106 

2. Promotion and retention rates. 107 

3. Graduation rates. 108 

4. Indicators of college and career readiness. 109 

(c) A communication plan for parents and other 110 

stakeholders, including local businesses and community members. 111 

(d) The scope of and timelines for professional development 112 

for school instructional and administrative personnel. 113 

(e) A plan for student progression based on the mastery of 114 

content, including mechanisms that determine and ensure that a 115 

student has satisfied the requirements for grade-level promotion 116 



Florida Senate - 2018 SB 968 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

24-01023A-18 2018968__ 

 Page 5 of 6  

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

and content mastery. 117 

(f) A plan for using technology and digital and blended 118 

learning to enhance student achievement and facilitate the 119 

mastery-based competency-based education system. 120 

(g) The proposed allocation of resources for the pilot 121 

program at the school and district levels. 122 

(h) The recruitment and selection of participating schools. 123 

(i) The rules to be waived for participating schools 124 

pursuant to subsection (3) to implement the pilot program. 125 

(3) EXEMPTION FROM RULES.—In addition to the waivers 126 

authorized in s. 1001.10(3), the State Board of Education may 127 

authorize the commissioner to grant an additional waiver of 128 

rules relating to student progression and the awarding of 129 

credits. 130 

(4) ALTERNATE CREDIT AND LETTER GRADE SYSTEMS.— 131 

(a) Beginning with the 2018-2019 school year, participating 132 

school districts may amend their applications to include 133 

alternatives for awarding credit, as authorized under s. 134 

1003.436, and for the interpretation of middle school and high 135 

school letter grades, as authorized under s. 1003.437. 136 

1. Alternatives to awarding credit must include a 137 

verification of the student’s mastery of the applicable course 138 

content using rigorous scoring rubrics to evaluate the student’s 139 

work. 140 

2. Alternatives to the interpretation of middle school and 141 

high school letter grades may substitute the applicable language 142 

from the school district’s rigorous scoring rubric. 143 

(b) An application that is amended pursuant to this 144 

subsection must be approved by the district school board. 145 

Florida Senate - 2018 SB 968 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

24-01023A-18 2018968__ 

 Page 6 of 6  

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

(5)(4) STUDENT FUNDING.—Students enrolled in a 146 

participating school shall be reported for and generate funding 147 

pursuant to s. 1011.62. 148 

(6)(5) DEPARTMENT DUTIES.—The department shall: 149 

(a) Compile the student and staff schedules of 150 

participating schools before and after implementation of the 151 

pilot program. 152 

(b) Provide participating schools with access to statewide, 153 

standardized assessments required under s. 1008.22. 154 

(c) Annually, by June 1, provide to the Governor, the 155 

President of the Senate, and the Speaker of the House of 156 

Representatives a report summarizing the activities and 157 

accomplishments of the pilot program and any recommendations for 158 

statutory revisions. 159 

(7)(6) RULES.—The State Board of Education shall adopt 160 

rules to administer this section. 161 

Section 4. Subsection (7) is added to section 1007.23, 162 

Florida Statutes, to read: 163 

1007.23 Statewide articulation agreement.— 164 

(7) The articulation agreement must ensure fair and 165 

equitable access for high school graduates with mastery-based, 166 

nontraditional diplomas and transcripts. 167 

Section 5. This act shall take effect July 1, 2018. 168 



 

 

SENATOR BILL GALVANO 
21st District 

THE FLORIDA SENATE 
 

Tallahassee, Florida  32399-1100 
 

 
COMMITTEES: 
Appropriations Subcommittee on Higher  
   Education, Chair 
Appropriations 
Appropriations Subcommittee on Transportation, 
   Tourism, and Economic Development 
Education 
Governmental Oversight and Accountability 
Rules 
Transportation 
 
JOINT COMMITTEE: 
Joint Legislative Budget Commission 
 

 

 
 REPLY TO: 
   1023 Manatee Avenue West, Suite 201, Bradenton, Florida 34205   (941) 741-3401 
   420 Senate Office Building, 404 South Monroe Street, Tallahassee, Florida 32399-1100  (850) 487-5021 
 

Senate’s Website:  www.flsenate.gov 
 
 

 JOE NEGRON ANITERE FLORES 
 President of the Senate President Pro Tempore 
 

February 20, 2018 

 

 

 

 

Senator Dorothy Hukill 

415 Knott Building 

404 South Monroe Street 

Tallahassee, FL  32399 

 

Dear Madam Chair Hukill: 

 

I am writing to request approval from the meeting of the Committee on Education scheduled 

today, February 20, 2018.  

 

I appreciate your consideration of this request. 

 

Sincerely, 

 

 

 

 

Bill Galvano 

 

 

cc:  Shruti Graf 

      Laureen Zaugg 

 



 

 

SENATOR LAUREN BOOK 
Democratic Leader Pro Tempore 

32nd District 

THE FLORIDA SENATE 
 

Tallahassee, Florida  32399-1100 
 

 
 
 
COMMITTEES: 
Appropriations Subcommittee on the 
   Environment and Natural Resources, Chair 
Appropriations 
Appropriations Subcommittee on Health and 
   Human Services 
Education 
Environmental Preservation and  
   Conservation 
Health Policy 
Rules 
 

 

 
 REPLY TO: 
   967 Nob Hill Road, Plantation, Florida 33324  (954) 424-6674 
   202 Senate Office Building, 404 South Monroe Street, Tallahassee, Florida 32399-1100  (850) 487-5032 
 

Senate’s Website:  www.flsenate.gov 
 
 

 JOE NEGRON ANITERE FLORES 
 President of the Senate President Pro Tempore 
 

February 19, 2018 

 

Chair Dorothy L. Hukill 

Committee on Education  

415 Knott Building 

404 S. Monroe Street 

Tallahassee, FL 32399-1100 

 

Dear Chair Hukill, 

 

I am respectfully requesting an excused absence from the Committee on Education meeting on 

February 20, 2018, scheduled at 11:00am.   

 

I will be attending meetings and proceedings in Broward County related to the mass shooting at 

Marjory Stoneman Douglas High School.   

 

I appreciate your consideration of this request.  Should you have any questions or concerns, 

please feel free to call me directly.  

 

Thank you, 

 
Senator Lauren Book 

Senate District 32 

 

 

 

 

cc: Shruti Graf, Staff Director 

      Laureen Zaugg, Administrative Assistant  

 


	Intro
	Bill and Amendment List Report
	Expanded Agenda (Long)

	Tab 1
	H07055
	ED Bill Analysis 2/21/2018
	826696
	832342
	647426
	877956
	682492
	232740
	291336
	206492
	675602
	913420
	775230
	114228
	467400
	848558
	903516
	07055c1
	903516
	CSHB 7055 & Amendment Appearance Forms.pdf


	Tab 2
	S01804
	ED Bill Analysis 2/21/2018
	419978
	01804__
	419978
	SB 1804 Appearance Forms.pdf


	Tab 3
	A585J
	585-3a.Johnson.pdf

	A585O
	585-3b.Olenick.pdf

	A585T
	585-3c.Tuck.pdf

	A585Y
	585-3d.York.pdf


	Tab 4
	A960C
	960.4a.-Cerio.pdf

	A960F
	960.4b.Frost.pdf

	A960L
	960.4c.Lautenbach.pdf

	A960P
	960.4d.Patel.pdf

	A960Z
	960.4e.Zachariah.pdf


	Tab 5
	A3005L
	3005.5a.Levine.pdf

	A3005M
	3005.5b.McDonald.pdf


	Tab 6
	A3010G
	3010.6.Gaekwad.pdf


	Tab 7
	A3015B
	3015.7a.Ballard.pdf

	A3015G
	3015.7b.Gonzalez.pdf


	Tab 8
	A3020S
	3020.8.Smith.pdf


	Tab 9
	A3033W
	3033.9.Wendt.pdf


	Tab 10
	A3035K
	3035.10.Kuntz.pdf


	Tab 11
	A3040B
	3040.11.Bryan.pdf


	Tab 12
	A3045H
	3045.12a.Horton.pdf

	A3045M
	3045.12b.Muma.pdf

	A3045T
	3045.12c.Tokarz.pdf


	Tab 13
	S00968
	ED Bill Analysis 2/19/2018
	326084
	00968__

	Comment
	Excusal Letter - Seanator Galvano.pdf
	Excusal Letter - Senator Book.docx.pdf





